Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 1215 Waldemar Karwowski Ravindra S. Goonetilleke Shuping Xiong Richard H. M. Goossens Atsuo Murata *Editors*

Advances in Physical, Social & Occupational Ergonomics

Proceedings of the AHFE 2020 Virtual Conferences on Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Social & Occupational Ergonomics and Cross-Cultural Decision Making, July 16–20, 2020, USA



Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing

Volume 1215

Series Editor

Janusz Kacprzyk, Systems Research Institute, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland

Advisory Editors

Nikhil R. Pal, Indian Statistical Institute, Kolkata, India

Rafael Bello Perez, Faculty of Mathematics, Physics and Computing, Universidad Central de Las Villas, Santa Clara, Cuba

Emilio S. Corchado, University of Salamanca, Salamanca, Spain

Hani Hagras, School of Computer Science and Electronic Engineering, University of Essex, Colchester, UK

László T. Kóczy, Department of Automation, Széchenyi István University, Gyor, Hungary

Vladik Kreinovich, Department of Computer Science, University of Texas at El Paso, El Paso, TX, USA

Chin-Teng Lin, Department of Electrical Engineering, National Chiao Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan

Jie Lu, Faculty of Engineering and Information Technology, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Patricia Melin, Graduate Program of Computer Science, Tijuana Institute of Technology, Tijuana, Mexico

Nadia Nedjah, Department of Electronics Engineering, University of Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Ngoc Thanh Nguyen^(D), Faculty of Computer Science and Management, Wrocław University of Technology, Wrocław, Poland

Jun Wang, Department of Mechanical and Automation Engineering, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong

The series "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" contains publications on theory, applications, and design methods of Intelligent Systems and Intelligent Computing. Virtually all disciplines such as engineering, natural sciences, computer and information science, ICT, economics, business, e-commerce, environment, healthcare, life science are covered. The list of topics spans all the areas of modern intelligent systems and computing such as: computational intelligence, soft computing including neural networks, fuzzy systems, evolutionary computing and the fusion of these paradigms, social intelligence, ambient intelligence, computational neuroscience, artificial life, virtual worlds and society, cognitive science and systems, Perception and Vision, DNA and immune based systems, self-organizing and adaptive systems, e-Learning and teaching, human-centered and human-centric computing, recommender systems, intelligent control, robotics and mechatronics including human-machine teaming, knowledge-based paradigms, learning paradigms, machine ethics, intelligent data analysis, knowledge management, intelligent agents, intelligent decision making and support, intelligent network security, trust management, interactive entertainment, Web intelligence and multimedia.

The publications within "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" are primarily proceedings of important conferences, symposia and congresses. They cover significant recent developments in the field, both of a foundational and applicable character. An important characteristic feature of the series is the short publication time and world-wide distribution. This permits a rapid and broad dissemination of research results.

** Indexing: The books of this series are submitted to ISI Proceedings, EI-Compendex, DBLP, SCOPUS, Google Scholar and Springerlink **

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11156

Waldemar Karwowski · Ravindra S. Goonetilleke · Shuping Xiong · Richard H. M. Goossens · Atsuo Murata Editors

Advances in Physical, Social & Occupational Ergonomics

Proceedings of the AHFE 2020 Virtual Conferences on Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Social & Occupational Ergonomics and Cross-Cultural Decision Making, July 16–20, 2020, USA



Editors Waldemar Karwowski Industrial Engineering and Management System University of Central Florida Orlando, FL, USA

Shuping Xiong Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology Daejeon, Korea (Republic of)

Atsuo Murata Okayama University Okayama, Japan Ravindra S. Goonetilleke Department IELM Hong Kong University of Science and Technology Kowloon, Hong Kong

Richard H. M. Goossens Faculty of Industrial Design Engineering Delft University of Technology Delft, Zuid-Holland, The Netherlands

 ISSN 2194-5357
 ISSN 2194-5365
 (electronic)

 Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing
 ISBN 978-3-030-51548-5
 ISBN 978-3-030-51549-2
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2

 1549-2
 (eBook)

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics 2020

AHFE 2020 Series Editors

Tareq Z. Ahram, Florida, USA Waldemar Karwowski, Florida, USA



11th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics and the Affiliated Conferences

Proceedings of the AHFE 2020 Virtual Conferences on Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Social & Occupational Ergonomics and Cross-Cultural Decision Making, July 16–20, 2020, USA

Advances in Neuroergonomics and Cognitive Engineering	Hasan Ayaz and Umer Asgher
Advances in Industrial Design	Giuseppe Di Bucchianico, Cliff Sungsoo Shin, Scott Shim, Shuichi Fukuda, Gianni Montagna and Cristina Carvalho
Advances in Ergonomics in Design	Francisco Rebelo and Marcelo Soares
Advances in Safety Management and Human Performance	Pedro M. Arezes and Ronald L. Boring
Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices	Jay Kalra and Nancy J. Lightner
Advances in Simulation and Digital Human Modeling	Daniel N Cassenti, Sofia Scataglini, Sudhakar L. Rajulu and Julia L. Wright
Advances in Human Factors and Systems Interaction	Isabel L. Nunes
Advances in the Human Side of Service Engineering	Jim Spohrer and Christine Leitner
Advances in Human Factors, Business Management and Leadership	Jussi Ilari Kantola, Salman Nazir and Vesa Salminen
Advances in Human Factors in Robots, Drones and Unmanned Systems	Matteo Zallio
Advances in Human Factors in Cybersecurity	Isabella Corradini, Enrico Nardelli and Tareq Ahram

(continued)

Advances in Human Factors in Training, Education, and Learning Sciences	Salman Nazir, Tareq Ahram and Waldemar Karwowski
Advances in Human Aspects of Transportation	Neville Stanton
Advances in Artificial Intelligence, Software and Systems Engineering	Tareq Ahram
Advances in Human Factors in Architecture, Sustainable Urban Planning and Infrastructure	Jerzy Charytonowicz
Advances in Physical, Social & Occupational Ergonomics	Waldemar Karwowski, Ravindra S. Goonetilleke, Shuping Xiong, Richard H.M. Goossens and Atsuo Murata
Advances in Manufacturing, Production Management and Process Control	Beata Mrugalska, Stefan Trzcielinski, Waldemar Karwowski, Massimo Di Nicolantonio and Emilio Rossi
Advances in Usability, User Experience, Wearable and Assistive Technology	Tareq Ahram and Christianne Falcão
Advances in Creativity, Innovation, Entrepreneurship and Communication of Design	Evangelos Markopoulos, Ravindra S. Goonetilleke, Amic G. Ho and Yan Luximon

(continued)

Preface

The discipline of human factors and ergonomics (HF/E) is concerned with the design of products, process, services, and work systems to assure their productive, safe, and satisfying use by people. Physical ergonomics involves the design of working environments to fit human physical abilities. By understanding the constraints and capabilities of the human body and mind, we can design products, services, and environments that are effective, reliable, safe, and comfortable for everyday use. A thorough understanding of the physical characteristics of a wide range of people is essential in the development of consumer products and systems. Human performance data serve as valuable information to designers and help ensure that the final products will fit the targeted population of end users. Mastering physical ergonomics and safety engineering concepts is fundamental to the creation of products and systems that people can use, avoidance of stresses, and minimization of the risk for accidents. This book focuses on the advances in the physical HF/E, which are a critical aspect in the design of any human-centered technological system.

An exploration of how ergonomics can contribute to the solution of important societal and engineering challenges, advances in social and organizational factors discusses the optimization of sociotechnical systems, including their organizational structures, policies, and processes. It includes coverage of communication, crew resource management, work design, design of working times, teamwork, participatory design, community ergonomics, cooperative work, new work paradigms, organizational culture, virtual organizations, telework, and quality management.

The book also highlights issues with special populations, detailing how to design and adapt products and work situations for these groups. In addition to exploring the challenges faced in optimizing sociotechnical systems, the book underlines themes that play a role in all the challenges and how they are linked to each other. It concludes with an exploration of emotional ergonomics and the important positive effects of making people happy and healthy. With chapter authors from around the globe, the book supplies a broad look at current challenges and possible solutions. This book contains a total of ten sections that covers the following topics. The ideas and practical solutions described in the book are the outcomes of dedicated research by academics and practitioners aiming to advance theory and practice in this dynamic and all-encompassing discipline. A total of ten sections presented in this book:

Physical Ergonomics

- Section 1 Posture Assessment
- Section 2 Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders
- Section 3 Workplace Design and Ergonomics
- Section 4 Ergonomics in Product Design
- Section 5 Risk Assessment and Injury Prevention
- Section 6 Workload Assessment

Social & Occupational Ergonomics

- Section 7 Occupational Ergonomics Analysis and Methods
- Section 8 Social, Legal and Epistemology
- Section 9 Social and Occupational Ergonomics

Cross-Cultural Research

Section 10 Cross-Cultural Decision Making

Each section contains research papers that have been reviewed by members of the International Editorial Board. Our sincere thanks and appreciation to the Board members as listed below:

Physical Ergonomics

- S. Alemany, Spain
- M. Boocock, New Zealand
- E. Cadavid, Colombia
- J. Callaghan, Canada
- P. Dempsey, USA
- R. Feyen, USA
- J. Grobelny, Poland
- T. Hofmann, Germany
- J. James, South Africa
- Z. Jiang, China
- H. Kalkis, Latvia
- K. Kotani, Japan
- Y. Kwon, Korea
- M. Lehto, USA
- C. Lung, Taiwan
- A. Luximon, Hong Kong
- L. Ma, China
- S. Maly, Czech Republic
- S. Muraki, Japan
- M. Nasarwanji, USA

J. Niu, China
E. Occhipinti, Italy
Y. Okada, Japan
H. Pacaiova, Slovak Republic
W. Park, South Korea
G. Paul, Australia
P. Ray, India
Z. Roja, Latvia
L. Saenz, Colombia
L. Shijan, China
J. Sinay, Slovak Republic
S. Xiong, Korea
J. Yang, USA

Social & Occupational Ergonomics

J. Charytonowicz, Poland D. Horn, USA S. Hwang, Taiwan J. Kantola, Finland

- B. Kleiner, USA
- L. Pacholski, Poland
- M. Robertson, USA
- S. Saito, Japan
- M. Smith, USA
- H. Vanharanta, Finland
- Z. Wisniewski, Poland
- R. Yu, China

Cross-Cultural Research

M. Alama, USA U. Asgher, Pakistan E. Cakit, Turkey V. Cavojova, Slovakia A. Cybal-Michalska, Poland A. Divakaran, USA T. Doi, Japan C. Fidopiastis, USA J. Frank, USA M. Hail, USA C. He, China A. Heaton, USA M. Hoffman, USA A. Itoh, Japan D. King, USA G. Klein, USA

Preface

M. Kruger, USA S. Numrich, USA N. Okabe, Japan J. Pfautz, USA P. Picucci, USA E. Raybourn, USA E. Reitz, USA A. Ruvinsky, USA L. Saner, USA D. Scapin, France S. Schatz, USA J. Stodd, UK C. Tajima, Japan J. Urakami, Japan

We hope that this book, which presents the international state of the art in the physical domain of human factors, will serve as a valuable source of theoretical and applied knowledge enabling the human-centered design of a variety of products, services, and systems for global markets.

July 2020

Waldemar Karwowski Ravindra S. Goonetilleke Shuping Xiong Richard H. M. Goossens Atsuo Murata

Contents

Posture Assessment

Gyula Szabó

Comparison of Joint Angle Measurements from Three Types of Motion Capture Systems for Ergonomic Postural Assessment Woojoo Kim, Chunxi Huang, Donghyeok Yun, Daniel Saakes, and Shuping Xiong	3
Quantitative Assessment of Trunk Flexion in Nurses Using WearableInertial Sensor: A Pilot StudyMicaela Porta, Marcello Campagna, Giovanni Marco Mura,and Massimiliano Pau	12
Comparing the Ergonomics of Gestural Interfaces While Running on a Treadmill Matthieu Vallat, Alessandro Silacci, Omar Abou Khaled, Elena Mugellini, Giuseppe Fedele, and Maurizio Caon	19
On the Analysis of the Relationship Between Alkaline Water Usage and Muscle Fatigue Recovery Giacomo Losavio, Bernadette Tamma, Angelo Abbattista, Ilaria Sabina Tatò, Domenico Buongiorno, Giacomo Donato Cascarano, Antonio Brunetti, Irio De Feudis, and Vitoantonio Bevilacqua	26
Posture Assessment and Subjective Scale Agreement in Picking Tasks with Low Masses Olfa Haj Mahmoud, Charles Pontonnier, Georges Dumont, Stéphane Poli, and Franck Multon	32
Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders	
Evolution of a Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorder Risk Assessment Tool. The Case of CERA	41

Physical Load and Preventive Measures in Metal Manufacturing Industry	48
A Convolutional Neural Network Model to Classify the Effects of Vibrations on Biceps Muscles	56
Causes of Work Related Musculoskeletal Disorders in the Textile Industry	63
Construction Ergonomics: Observations	71
Prevalence and Risk Factors Associated with Musculoskeletal Disorders Among Cashew-Nut Shelling Workers in India Krishna Chaitanya Mallampalli, Debayan Dhar, and Swati Pal	79
Effects of Reduced Work Pace on the Risk of Developing Upper-Limb Musculoskeletal Disorders in a Poultry Slaughterhouse Diogo Cunha dos Reis, Adriana Seára Tirloni, and Antônio Renato Pereira Moro	87
Supervisor's Roles and Responsibilities in Preventing Prolonged Disability in Workers with Musculoskeletal Disorders Iuliana Nastasia, Marie-France Coutul, Romain Rives, Jessica Dubé, and Sarah Gaspard	95
An Investigation in Muscle Activity of Student's Neck and Back in Various University Rooms Elahe Abbasi, Pruthviraj Morbale, Sesha Saikrishna Gubbala, Yueqing Li, and Brian Craig	102
Occupational Risk Assessment of Municipal Solid Waste Collectors in a City Subdivision in the Philippines	109
Workplace Design and Ergonomics	
An Empirical Investigation of Factors Influencing Energy Saving Behavior in the Workplace	119

Kine Reegård and Asgeir Drøivoldsmo

Warkplace Design and Engenomie Analysis for Warkers	
with Disabilities	127
Incidence of Varicose Veins and Associated Risk Factors Among Factory Workers to Develop an Ergonomically Sound Workplace Shella Marie Almazan, Dan Joshua Gascon, John Paolo A. Isip, Peren Landayan, Karen E. Laroza, Jairah Heidilene Jose, and Paula A. Vicente	135
Situational Assessment of Noise and Ergonomic Factors in Welding Activities: Implications on the Well-Being of Ghanaian Informal Auto-Mechanics	142
BACKS 2020: Criteria for Occupational Spine Disease in a Social Security Compensation System Jenn Zhueng Tam, Azlan Darus, Zuraida Mohamed, Nizam Jamaluddin, and Mohammed Azman A. Mohammed	149
Subjective and Objective Measures to Assess Postural Instability: Their Linear Correlations and Abilities to Detect Effects of Work-Related Factors Liangjie Guo, Junhui Kou, and Shuping Xiong	159
Modeling the Joint Stiffness Change by Pelvic Tightening Basedon Alignment of Lumbar and PelvisMichihiro Yoshida, Takayuki Tanaka, Yoshio Tsuchiya, and Yuto Kaneko	168
Analysis of Moisture and Sebum of the Skin for Monitoring Wound Healing in Older Nursing Home Residents Wei-Cheng Shen, Yih-Kuen Jan, Chi-Wen Lung, Aqo Anastian, Chang-Wei Hsieh, Hsu-Tang Cheng, Yin-Yin Liao, and Ben-Yi Liau	177
Ergonomics in Product Design	
Estimation of Forearm, Deltoid, and Trapezius Muscle Activities Due to Overuse of Smartphone with and Without Armrest	185
Women's Footwear Sole for the Elderly Produced with Sustainable Material: Friction Coefficient Analysis Rosangela Monteiro dos Santos, João Eduardo Guarnetti dos Santos, Ademir Marques Junior, Flavio Cardoso Ventura, João Victor Gomes dos Santos, Pedro Yuri Kovatch, Luís Carlos Paschoarelli, and Fausto Orsi Medola	192

Contents

Design and Analysis of Chest of Drawers from the Perspective of Child Safety Xinxiong Liu and Yao Li	197
Improved Design of Household Kitchen Waste Composting MachineBased on Human Factors EngineeringJing Qiu and Huabin Wang	207
The Evaluation on Visual Fatigue and Comfort Between the VRHMD and the iPad	213
Risk Assessment and Injury Prevention	
The Indoor Thermal Environment in Fencing Halls:Assessment of the Environmental Conditions Throughan Objective and Subjective ApproachFabio Fantozzi, Giulia Lamberti, Francesco Leccese,and Giacomo Salvadori	223
The Effects of Chemical Protective Clothing on Manual Dexterity Peng-Cheng Sung, Yuan-Shyi Peter Chiu, Yung-Ping Liu, and I-Lung Chen	230
Back and Shoulder Biomechanical Load in Curbside Waste Workers Alessio Silvetti, Lorenzo Fiori, Antonella Tatarelli, Alberto Ranavolo, and Francesco Draicchio	237
Ergonomic Approaches to Reduce the Risk of a Manual Material Handling Task in a Brazilian Poultry Slaughterhouse	244
Ergonomic Assessment of the Lifting Tasks Performed by North Indian Workers in LPG Cylinder Distribution Supply Chain Sachin Kapur and Mahender Singh Kaswan	252
Research on the Influence of Physical Environment in Civil AircraftCabin on Seat ComfortJian-Ping Chen, Jin-Yi Zhi, Zhi-Ruo Lin, Jin Wang, and Li-Li Zhang	259
Ergonomic Methods Adaptation for Risk Evaluation Associated to Musculoskeletal Disorders in Elderly Indigenous Women of the Ecuadorian Highlands Alejandra Lascano, Thalia San Antonio, Anita Larrea, and Marco Ciaccia	266
Analysis of Physiological Signal Characteristics of Persons Working at High Place	274

Contents

Ergonomics of Date Palm Irrigation Work: Algerian Foggara as an Example	282
Mohamed Mokdad, Bouhafs Mebarki, Ibrahim Mokdad, and Lahcen Bouabdallah	202
Analysis of Laboral and Non-laboral Risk Factors of Workers Diagnosed with Lumbar Pathologies. Study of Cases Wilder Alfonso Hernández Duarte and Luis Gabriel Gutiérrez Bernal	289
Ergonomic and Occupant Issues Considering Elderly Female PillionRider Sitting Posture on Motorcycle in Indian Rural/SemiUrban ContextVaibhav Lothe	294
Ergonomics Risk Assessment of Graphics Tablet Users Using the Rapid Upper Limb Assessment Tool	301
Effects of Occupational Stressors on Depressive Symptoms: Longitudinal Study Among Medical Services and Welfare Workers Takumi Iwaasa, Takeshi Sasaki, Toru Yoshikawa, Yuko Ochiai, Tomohide Kubo, Tomoaki Matsuo, Xinxin Liu, and Masaya Takahashi	309
Workload Assessment	
An Evaluation of Numerical Integration Methods for Estimating Cumulative Loading Based on Discrete Spinal Loads Laura Johnen, Alexander Mertens, Verena Nitsch, and Christopher Brandl	319
The Influence of the Relative Working Position as a Function of BodyDimensions on Working Posture, Compression Load on L5/S1and Muscle ActivityChristopher Brandl, Alexander Mertens, and Verena Nitsch	327
Using Simplify-Enable-Leverage-Resource (SELR) to Develop Solutions to Identified Opportunities Lawrence John Henry Schulze	334
Study of the Furniture Used for Students in a Peruvian University Cesar Corrales, Wilmer Atoche, and Jonatan Rojas	341
Ergonomic Evaluation of Agriculture-Related Activities Performed by Ecuadorian Indigenous Women	348
Marco Ciaccia, Cosme Mejía, Christian Vásquez, and Thalia San Antonio	

Social & Occupational Ergonomics Analysis and Methods	
Omax and Fuzzy Logic as Productivity Tools and Ergonomic Analysis in Automotive Maintenance	357
Analysis of Ergonomics Risk Factor Among Cobblersat Jabalpur, IndiaPappu Sharma and Anugrah Engras Bara	365
Determination of Assessment Elements That Restrict REBA Implementations Within Aseptic Areas. A Study Case	373
The Effects of Recovery Method and Refractive Status on the Recovery Process of Visual Fatigue	380
Effect of Air Quality Alerts on Intended Behavior Change	386
Mass and Density of Materials: Knowledge and Perceptions	394
Analysis of the Operation in a Woodwork Shop: Layout Aspects,Work Safety and Interaction with ErgonomicsBeatriz Carvalho Peixoto, Laís Benevides de Almeida,and Valéria Barbosa Gomes	401
An Assessment of Whole-Body Vibrations Exposure in Transport Truck Drivers Rodrigo Domínguez and Jose Dasso	407
Social, Legal and Epistemology	
The Impact of Social Media in Military Recruiting Angel Peralta and Nicholas Caporusso	415
Improvement of Efficiency in the Productivity of an Aerospace, Maritime and Military Company in Tijuana, Baja California; Mexico Mario Raul Sanchez-Matute, Carolina Zayas-Marquez, Marcela Solis-Ouinteros, and Luis Alfredo Avila-Lopez	421

Contents

Impact of Pre-professional Practices on the Excessive MentalWorkload of University Engineering StudentsCesar Corrales, Jonatán Rojas, and Wilmer Atoche	437
Communication of Legal Epistemology Applied to Law Manuel Angulo, Ana Tapia, Janeth Ruiz, Yonaiker Navas, Milton González, and Lilibeth Orrala	445
Human Factors in Ecuadorian Institutions of Higher Education and Their Control Agencies	450
Epistemological Fundamentals of the Conditioned Constitutionality Angela Reyes, Otilia González, Yonaiker Navas, Oscar Arias, Patricia Vallejo, and Sergio Marzo	455
Social and Occupational Ergonomics	
Is Sick Building Syndrome Existing in Thailand? Manutchanok Jongprasithporn, Nantakrit Yodpijit, Tipawan Reangchadchai, and Latthidech Srimuen	461
Proposal for Integration of Urban Planning with the Environment in Daule - Ecuador	468
Corporate Mental Health Program	475
Looking Toward the Future of Mental Workload Research Through the Past: A Bibliometric Analysis of 1990–2020	481
Quality of Work Life and Burnout in Workers of a Health Institution in Guadalajara, México Raquel González-Baltazar, Manuel Pando-Moreno, Silvia G. León-Cortés, Mónica I. Contreras-Estrada, and M. Liliana Hidalgo-González	491
Cross-Cultural Decision Making Focus	
Comparative Analysis of Website Usability Between United States and Japan Toshihisa Doi and Atsuo Murata	501
Attitude Toward Long Working Hours from the Perspectives of Cross-Cultural Difference of Viewing Things and Scarcity-Slack Relation	508
Atsuo Murata and Toshihisa Doi	

A Mixed Methods Case Study: Japanese Sojourners' Intercultural Awareness Chihiro Tajima	515
Effects of Spectral Distribution in Light Sources and Physical Properties of Discrimination Samples on Discrimination of Depth Toshiyuki Wakimizu, Atsuo Murata, and Toshihisa Doi	522
Investigating the Differences in Privacy News Based on Grounded Theory Qingxiao Zheng and Masooda Bashir	528
Creating a Design-Led Guideline on Cultural Heritage for a New Concept of Korean Tea House in Overseas Market Yujin Joung	536
Positive Emotions of Human Service Employees	544
Analysis of the Dissemination of Chinese New Village Culture Based on "Operation Hammer" – Taking Siburan Village as an Example Yeeman Lau and Zongying Tang	552
The Reality of the Globalizing World and Shaping the Professional Identity of an Individual in the World of "Boundaryless" Careers Agnieszka Cybal-Michalska	558
Fashion Design Based on Cross-Cultural CommunicationYixin Zou and Eakachat Joneurairatana	568
Author Index	575

Posture Assessment



Comparison of Joint Angle Measurements from Three Types of Motion Capture Systems for Ergonomic Postural Assessment

Woojoo Kim¹, Chunxi Huang¹, Donghyeok Yun², Daniel Saakes², and Shuping Xiong^{1(⊠)}

 ¹ Human Factors and Ergonomics Lab, Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (KAIST), 291 Daehak-ro, Yuseong-gu, Daejeon 34141, Republic of Korea {xmll324, tracyhuang, shupingx}@kaist.ac.kr
 ² My Design Lab, Department of Industrial Design, Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (KAIST), 291 Daehak-ro, Yuseong-gu, Daejeon 34141, Republic of Korea {dbsehdgur200, saakes}@kaist.ac.kr

Abstract. Observational ergonomic postural assessment methods have been used to evaluate the risks of musculoskeletal disorders. Recently, researchers have actively proposed semiautomatic approaches using motion capture data. This study compared joint angle measurements from optical, inertial, and depth-based motion capture systems, especially for cases with occlusions. Participants performed 6 static postures with different degrees of occlusion while capturing motion data by three motion capture systems. Results showed that the joint angle difference between the three systems was acceptably low in general, but the difference between Kinect and the other two systems was larger, especially in cases with occlusions. The findings indicate that the Kinect-based system is less stable than optical and inertial-based motion capture systems, but it can be used for ergonomic postural assessments in the environment without severe occlusions.

Keywords: Postural assessment · RULA · REBA · Motion capture · Kinect v2

1 Introduction

Musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) are considered as one of the most common workrelated health problems, being the main cause of absence from work in the US [1, 2]. It is critical to minimize MSDs as it damages a person's health and increases medical costs [3]. MSDs occur due to the accumulated musculoskeletal load caused by repetitive improper working postures, thus a worker's posture and movement are important information to determine the risk of musculoskeletal injury [4].

In order to minimize MSDs, observational postural assessment methods which experts evaluate based on the direct observation on-site or video of the workers performing their tasks, have been widely used by industrial practitioners due to the advantages of being simple to use and suitable for a variety of work situations and a large number of subjects at relatively low costs. Among those, Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA) [5] and Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA) [6] are two popular postural assessment tools.

However, the main drawback of these methods is that not only it requires a field expert conducting a time-consuming manual analysis, but also observation and evaluation processes are highly dependent on the input information and the evaluator's subjective judgment, which results in high intra- and inter-rater variability [7, 8]. For instance, a fair intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC < 0.5) was reported on the RULA score from four trained raters [9], and the need for serial assessments by the same rater was suggested to increase the reliability of RULA [10].

To overcome the problems of the observational method, researchers have proposed semiautomatic approaches using motion capture (MoCap) data as input. Optical marker-based and wearable inertial sensor-based [11–13] MoCap systems are generally equipped with high precision but suffer from high equipment cost, need for a skilled technician, and obtrusiveness of body-attached sensors [14, 15], thus considered to be inapplicable in some real work conditions. Accordingly, a low-cost, marker-less, and calibration-free MoCap system utilizing a depth camera such as Kinect has gained attention by researchers. Kinect's validity as a MoCap system is slightly less than more pricy devices but sufficiently reliable for some ergonomic assessments [16–19]. Proposed Kinect-based methods [20–22] calculate necessary joint angles to conduct postural assessments from Kinect-generated center positions of the major body joints.

Some recent studies have attempted to validate joint angles and RULA scores from the Kinect with ones from the optical MoCap system and expert raters [21–24]. However, limited studies have simultaneously compared optical, inertial, and depthbased MoCap systems, especially for cases with occlusions [25, 26] where the tracking capability of Kinect could significantly deteriorate. Therefore, this study aims to compare joint angles necessary for RULA and REBA derived from three different types of MoCap systems (optical, inertial, and depth-based).

2 Methods

2.1 Participants and Experimental Settings

Ten Korean young males (age: 22.0 ± 2.5 , height: 171.6 ± 4.6 cm, weight: 64.5 ± 3.9 kg) participated in the experiment, and all of them were healthy enough to perform required postures. Participants with BMI ≤ 25 were recruited because tight suits for the MoCap systems could not comfortably accommodate people with the endomorph body type. All participants gave consent for the experiment protocol approved by the University Institutional Review Board.

Three different MoCap systems were used. First, Vicon optical MoCap system with eight Vicon MX40+ infrared cameras and 53 body reflective markers was used. Data was recorded with the Vicon Blade 2 software with a frequency of 120 Hz. Second, Xsens MVN Link wearable inertial sensor-based system with 17 inertial sensors was used, and the data was recorded with the Xsens MVN Analyze 2018.2 software with a frequency of 240 Hz. Third, a depth camera-based MoCap system, Microsoft Kinect v2

was mounted on a tripod and positioned at 1.3 m height from the ground and 2.5 m distance from the participant, facing exactly the front (0°) of the participant. The body joint data was recorded by a self-developed data acquisition software based on Kinect for Windows SDK 2.0 with a frequency of 30 Hz.

2.2 Experimental Procedure

After being informed of the experimental procedure, participants were asked to wear the Xsens MoCap suit, and 17 inertial sensors were attached by experimenters. After finishing the calibration process of Xsens to initialize the setup, participants put on a Vicon suit on the top of the Xsens suit, and 53 reflective markers were properly attached at anatomical landmarks by experimenters. No serious interference between two suits that hindered accurate placement of the Xsens sensors and the Vicon markers was found. After calibration for the Vicon system was conducted, subjects were asked to stand at the capturing spot where the Kinect sensor was properly positioned.

During the main experiment session, participants were asked to perform 6 experimental tasks (Fig. 1). Each task was repeated three times. Four tasks ((1)–(3), (5)) used in this study were adapted from postures introduced in previous studies [19, 22, 27]. Task (4) and (6) were added to consider different degrees of clutters or self-occlusions. The human motion data of participants while performing experimental tasks was captured and recorded by three MoCap systems simultaneously (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1. The tested static postures: (1) upright standing, (2) trunk flexion, (3) kneeling above the head, (4) sitting on the ground with legs crossed, (5) elbows on knees, and (6) sitting at the desk



Fig. 2. Human motion data captured from three MoCap systems: Vicon (*left*), Xsens (*middle*), and Kinect (*right*)

2.3 Calculation of Joint Angles

For RULA and REBA analyses, 22 joint angles (neck flexion/side-bending/twisting, trunk flexion/side-bending/twisting, left/right shoulder flexion/abduction/raise, left/right elbow flexion, left/right wrist flexion/deviation/twisting, and left/right knee flexion) are required. Among them, 5 joint angles (neck twisting and left/right wrist deviation/twisting) were excluded from the analysis due to the inability of Kinect for getting accurate measures [22]. The target joint angles to be investigated in this study are for ergonomic postural assessment, hence all joint angles were set to 0 when standing upright as in the case of RULA and REBA. The mean of three trials of the upright standing task of each subject was used to offset the measurements.

While joint angles of Xsens were exported from the MVN Analyze 2019.1 software, joint angles of Vicon and Kinect were calculated from the joint position output. Vectors that are parallel or perpendicular to the coronal, sagittal, and transverse body planes were derived based on left/right shoulder and left/right hip joints, and then used to project other body segment vectors in order to calculate target joint angles. Note that the wrist flexion angle from Kinect was approximately assessed without projection by calculating the angle between the lower arm and hand segments. Interested readers can refer to the study of Manghisi et al. [22] for details.

2.4 Data Processing and Analysis

After data from different systems were equally resampled and synchronized, five consequent non-outlier data frames were extracted and the average values were used for the analysis. It is worthy to note that joints identified by Kinect do not come from a clear anatomical basis, thus counterparts from Vicon were landmarks with the nearest distance during the upright standing posture [19]. The mean absolute difference between joint angles from Vicon, Xsens, and Kinect was computed and compared, and

then analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey post hoc grouping tests were conducted with the significance level of 0.05. All data processing and calculation of statistics were performed using Matlab R2019a, SPSS 25, and Minitab 17.

3 Results and Discussion

Table 1 shows the mean absolute difference of joint angles between three types of MoCap systems. The overall mean absolute joint angle difference across all tasks and joints was the lowest between Vicon and Xsens with a value of 7.5°, followed by 9.4° between Vicon and Kinect, and 10.1° between Xsens and Kinect. The degree of overall difference was not negligible for joint kinematics which may require more accurate joint angle inputs but was considered to be acceptably low for ergonomic postural assessments where joint angle inputs are classified into two to five categories of the score.

Joint angle	MoCap*	Mean absolute difference (°)					
		Task 1	Task 2	Task 3	Task 4	Task 5	Task 6
Neck flexion	V-X	$0.4(0.4)^{a}$	4.3(2.5) ^a	15.7(8.0) ^b	5.4(4.2) ^b	10.5(6.7) ^a	7.0(3.8) ^a
	X-K	$0.5(0.5)^{a}$	12.2(14.2) ^b	$8.5(3.8)^{a}$	$3.3(2.4)^{a}$	20.3(13.5) ^b	9.4(11.3) ^{ab}
	V-K	$0.6(0.5)^{a}$	14.3(13.5) ^b	7.9(7.4) ^a	$8.1(4.8)^{c}$	17.5(9.9) ^b	14.0(9.7) ^b
Neck side-bending	V-X	$0.3(0.3)^{a}$	$2.3(1.8)^{a}$	$1.4(1.2)^{a}$	$2.0(1.4)^{b}$	$1.7(1.4)^{a}$	$1.4(0.8)^{a}$
	X-K	$0.5(0.4)^{b}$	$4.3(3.9)^{b}$	$2.2(1.4)^{b}$	$1.8(1.1)^{b}$	7.2(11.6) ^b	$3.6(5.6)^{a}$
	V-K	$0.3(0.4)^{a}$	3.1(4.4) ^{ab}	$1.2(1.2)^{a}$	$1.3(1.2)^{a}$	7.1(11.9) ^b	$3.2(5.4)^{a}$
Trunk flexion	V-X	0.5(0.3) ^{ab}	6.1(3.3) ^a	4.6(2.9) ^b	3.1(2.5) ^a	5.3(3.1) ^a	2.9(1.9) ^a
	X-K	$0.5(0.3)^{b}$	14.0(8.8) ^c	$3.8(2.3)^{b}$	$3.9(3.0)^{a}$	15.5(6.1) ^b	10.9(10.0) ^b
	V-K	$0.3(0.2)^{a}$	$9.8(5.8)^{b}$	$2.5(1.9)^{a}$	$5.1(2.4)^{b}$	$10.6(4.8)^{b}$	11.3(8.8) ^b
Trunk side-bending	V-X	$0.3(0.2)^{b}$	$1.7(1.2)^{b}$	$1.6(1.3)^{b}$	$2.7(1.4)^{b}$	$3.8(1.9)^{b}$	$1.3(1.0)^{a}$
	X-K	$0.2(0.2)^{b}$	$1.8(1.3)^{b}$	$1.9(1.5)^{b}$	$2.7(1.3)^{b}$	$4.0(2.0)^{b}$	$4.3(5.5)^{b}$
	V-K	$0.1(0.1)^{a}$	$0.3(0.5)^{a}$	$0.5(0.6)^{a}$	$0.4(0.4)^{a}$	$0.2(0.3)^{a}$	3.3(5.5) ^{ab}
Trunk twisting	V-X	$0.8(0.6)^{b}$	$6.2(2.3)^{c}$	$5.0(2.5)^{a}$	$4.5(2.8)^{ab}$	7.3(3.3) ^b	$5.0(2.4)^{a}$
	X-K	$0.8(0.6)^{b}$	$4.3(3.1)^{b}$	$3.6(3.7)^{a}$	$3.3(2.4)^{a}$	$4.4(4.9)^{a}$	$4.4(4.3)^{a}$
	V-K	$0.3(0.2)^{a}$	3.0(2.5) ^a	5.2(3.9) ^a	$4.9(2.5)^{b}$	$5.0(3.5)^{a}$	5.2(3.9) ^a
Left shoulder flexion	V-X	$1.1(0.9)^{b}$	9.6(6.0) ^{ab}	14.0(6.8) ^a	12.5(5.4) ^b	7.4(5.8) ^b	12.7(4.2) ^{ab}
	X-K	$1.1(0.8)^{b}$	9.9(5.9) ^b	13.2(9.1) ^a	$12.0(5.6)^{b}$	$5.1(4.0)^{a}$	15.9(9.0) ^b
	V-K	$0.1(0.2)^{a}$	7.1(7.8) ^a	12.6(8.7) ^a	$3.0(2.1)^{a}$	7.6(7.1) ^b	10.2(9.0) ^a
Right shoulder flexion	V-X	$1.2(1.3)^{b}$	10.6(7.0) ^b	15.2(10.1) ^a	12.5(7.9) ^b	$9.1(6.5)^{a}$	13.1(4.9) ^a
	X-K	$1.0(1.0)^{b}$	10.0(5.9) ^{ab}	15.2 (8.1) ^a	12.8(7.9) ^b	10.4(11.9) ^a	16.3(10.0) ^a
	V-K	$0.4(0.4)^{a}$	$8.5(7.9)^{a}$	14.5(6.8) ^a	$2.0(1.6)^{a}$	10.0(13.6) ^a	11.9(12.9) ^a
Left shoulder	V-X	$1.0(0.7)^{b}$	11.7(3.8) ^c	$6.4(4.4)^{a}$	5.7(3.7) ^a	9.4(5.0) ^b	8.5(3.7) ^a
abduction	X-K	$0.8(0.7)^{ab}$	$4.2(2.9)^{a}$	17.9(9.3) ^b	$5.5(4.2)^{a}$	$4.5(3.3)^{a}$	8.3(8.6) ^a
	V-K	$0.7(0.6)^{a}$	$7.5(3.1)^{b}$	16.6(9.0) ^b	$7.5(5.0)^{a}$	9.1(3.0) ^b	15.5(8.4) ^b
Right shoulder	V-X	1.0(0.9) ^a	10.5(5.6) ^b	5.9(4.6) ^a	6.5(4.5) ^{ab}	10.2(4.8) ^b	9.6(5.1) ^a
abduction	X-K	$1.1(0.9)^{a}$	$7.4(5.7)^{a}$	13.2(8.1) ^b	$5.7(5.1)^{a}$	6.9(7.1) ^a	7.5(6.1) ^a
	V-K	$1.1(1.2)^{a}$	$7.6(4.5)^{a}$	13.7(7.8) ^b	7.6(4.3) ^b	11.0(7.9) ^b	6.9(7.6) ^a
Left shoulder raise	V-X	$0.4(0.5)^{a}$	5.8(5.0) ^a	9.6(5.1) ^a	$2.5(1.8)^{a}$	$4.7(3.3)^{a}$	4.0(2.7) ^a

Table 1. Mean absolute difference (SD) of joint angles between three types of MoCap systems in all tasks and joint angles (*Tukey post-hoc grouping results are indicated by superscript letters*)

(continued)

Joint angle	MoCap*	Mean absolute difference (°)					
		Task 1	Task 2	Task 3	Task 4	Task 5	Task 6
	X-K	$0.4(0.4)^{a}$	11.9(5.4) ^b	10.2(5.5) ^a	5.6(3.4) ^b	10.2(7.5) ^c	12.1(8.1) ^b
	V-K	$0.4(0.5)^{a}$	$6.4(4.3)^{a}$	15.9(8.8) ^b	$5.1(3.9)^{b}$	6.9(7.4) ^b	9.3(8.1) ^b
Right shoulder raise	V-X	$0.4(0.3)^{a}$	$4.0(2.7)^{a}$	$10.2(6.0)^{a}$	$4.4(3.4)^{b}$	$3.5(1.8)^{a}$	$2.4(1.9)^{a}$
	X-K	$0.4(0.3)^{a}$	$10.0(6.2)^{b}$	$12.1(10.4)^{a}$	$2.4(1.6)^{a}$	$6.2(5.3)^{b}$	7.9(10.3) ^b
	V-K	$0.4(0.3)^{a}$	$7.8(5.0)^{b}$	19.7(12.8) ^b	$3.9(3.8)^{b}$	6.8(6.1) ^b	8.8(10.2) ^b
Left elbow flexion	V-X	$1.4(1.5)^{a}$	4.5(2.7) ^{ab}	27.7(14.3) ^c	$14.1(7.5)^{b}$	31.2(13.5) ^b	$9.0(5.0)^{a}$
	X-K	$0.9(0.8)^{a}$	$3.9(2.7)^{a}$	21.1(16.5) ^b	12.8(7.3) ^b	29.2(28.3) ^{ab}	14.2(9.9) ^b
	V-K	$1.0(0.9)^{a}$	5.2(2.4) ^b	10.6(7.0) ^a	5.7(5.7) ^a	17.5(21.1) ^a	11.3(6.0) ^{ab}
Right elbow flexion	V-X	$0.9(1.0)^{a}$	$6.0(3.6)^{a}$	26.2(10.6) ^c	13.4(7.9) ^c	25.8(12.0) ^a	$11.0(4.4)^{a}$
	X-K	$0.6(0.5)^{a}$	5.9(7.3) ^a	19.2(12.6) ^b	9.9(6.9) ^b	26.9(32.2) ^a	18.1(12.9) ^b
	V-K	$0.9(0.6)^{a}$	$7.5(5.3)^{a}$	11.2(11.3) ^a	$4.7(4.9)^{a}$	22.5(23.1) ^a	12.5(8.3) ^a
Left wrist flexion	V-X	$0.5(0.4)^{a}$	$3.5(2.4)^{a}$	9.6(11.2) ^a	$6.4(4.9)^{a}$	18.0(14.3) ^a	9.8(14.6) ^a
	X-K	$1.6(1.2)^{b}$	9.7(16.6) ^b	15.9(18.9) ^{ab}	11.6(9.5) ^b	22.5(13.7) ^{ab}	12.2(14.8) ^a
	V-K	$1.6(1.3)^{b}$	9.4(16.1) ^b	20.6(18.2) ^b	8.6(6.9) ^{ab}	28.5(23.4) ^b	11.6(12.8) ^a
Right wrist flexion	V-X	$0.7(0.8)^{a}$	$3.2(3.8)^{a}$	17.3(17.5) ^a	8.9(6.9) ^a	21.8(15.6) ^a	12.9(15.4) ^a
	X-K	$1.3(1.1)^{b}$	$10.1(8.9)^{b}$	28.1(33.5) ^a	17.1(13.0) ^b	23.1(16.6) ^a	13.1(13.9) ^a
	V-K	$1.8(1.4)^{b}$	$9.9(8.9)^{b}$	31.9(36.5) ^a	13.4(12.6) ^{ab}	29.1(25.2) ^a	10.5(9.4) ^a
Left knee flexion	V-X	$0.2(0.1)^{a}$	$1.8(1.0)^{a}$	13.0(7.2) ^a	9.4(5.8) ^a	8.2(2.7) ^b	12.7(3.4) ^a
	X-K	$0.5(0.3)^{b}$	12.9(9.0) ^b	102.9(28.7) ^c	$16.3(12.4)^{b}$	$5.5(4.3)^{a}$	19.3(14.2) ^a
	V-K	$0.4(0.3)^{b}$	$12.8(8.5)^{b}$	89.9(27.8) ^b	9.3(9.8) ^a	11.5(5.6) ^c	26.9(15.3) ^b
Right knee flexion	V-X	$0.2(0.2)^{a}$	$1.7(1.5)^{a}$	$20.5(5.4)^{b}$	12.9(8.7) ^a	12.8(2.5) ^b	16.6(3.0) ^a
	X-K	$0.4(0.3)^{b}$	10.9(7.0) ^b	23.5(8.7) ^c	29.5(24.3) ^b	$4.6(3.5)^{a}$	25.7(20.2) ^a
	V-K	$0.3(0.3)^{ab}$	$12.1(6.8)^{b}$	$4.9(4.5)^{a}$	25.7(22.1) ^{ab}	13.1(5.8) ^b	36.6(15.8) ^b

Table 1. (continued)

*V: Vicon; X: Xsens; K: Kinect

The range of difference between Vicon and Kinect was generally consistent with previous studies [18, 21], however, the result of this study includes some cases with occlusions which eventually lead to fairly or extremely large joint angle differences (e.g. left knee flexion at task 3).

The difference between Vicon and Xsens tended to be lower or similar compared to the difference between Kinect and the other two systems in most cases, but some obvious exceptions were found in elbow flexion. At more complicated postures with larger degrees of elbow flexion, a large difference $(20^{\circ}-30^{\circ})$ between Xsens and the other two systems was found, and further analysis revealed that Xsens has a tendency to overestimate elbow flexion angles than the other two systems.

There were multiple indications of the low accuracy problem of Kinect when occlusions occurred. The left knee flexion angle at task 3 showed a case of complete occlusion of a body segment, where the left lower leg of the participants was completely hidden from the sensor when knelt down. Kinect assumed the leg was straight not knelt hence generated very large difference. On the other hand, the right knee flexion angle at task 4 and 6 demonstrated cases of partial occlusion of a body segment, where the left leg blocked the right leg at task 4 and the desk blocked the lower body at task 6. The joint angle difference calculated from the occluded body segment was not as high as the case of task 3 but showed a considerable increase in comparison with

other tasks. Finally, task 5 presented a case of partial occlusion of multiple body segments. The lower arms and hands partially blocked the face, the torso, and the upper arms, thereby contributed to the increase in the difference of neck flexion/side-bending, trunk flexion, and elbow flexion angles compared to the other tasks. Therefore, caution is needed when using Kinect for ergonomic postural assessments in the occluded environment.

Among all joint angles, the difference was the largest for knee flexion angles with a mean value of 16.8° , although the difference in knee flexion was highly influenced by the abnormal measurements from Kinect due to the occlusions. The mean difference of the wrist flexion angles to the exclusion of task 3 and 6 that have large knee flexion difference turned out to be the largest with the value of 10.9° , while the difference of knee flexion angles was reduced to 8.9° . The difference in wrist flexion angles was mainly caused by the insecure tracking capability of Kinect for capturing hand joints, indicating the risk of using wrist angle measurements from Kinect for ergonomic postural assessment.

This study has a limitation. The joint center locations from Vicon could be more accurate if the Plug-in Gait biomechanical model of Vicon Nexus was used instead of the labeling skeleton template of Vicon Blade. While Vicon Blade is certainly capable of capturing marker positions accurately, Vicon Nexus has been claimed to be more suitable for biomechanics and movement analysis even though the exact difference is unclear.

4 Conclusion

In this paper, we have compared the joint angle measurements from three types of MoCap systems (optical, inertial, and depth-based). The results showed that the overall difference between systems could be acceptable for ergonomic postural assessments, even though the Kinect tends to be less reliable than the other two systems. Considerable caution is required in case of using the Kinect, however, as the accuracy could decline significantly when body parts are occluded or calculating wrist angles. Different levels of occlusion resulted in different levels of accuracy reduction.

Acknowledgments. This work was funded by The Basic Science Research Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF-2017R1C1B2006811) and K-Vally RED&B Project.

References

- Punnett, L., Wegman, D.H.: Work-related musculoskeletal disorders: the epidemiologic evidence and the debate. J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol. 14, 13–23 (2004). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jelekin.2003.09.015
- Kim, I.J.: The role of ergonomics for construction industry safety and health improvements. J. Ergon. 07 (2017). https://doi.org/10.4172/2165-7556.1000e166
- Bevan, S.: Economic impact of musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) on work in Europe. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Rheumatol. 29, 356–373 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2015.08.002

- Vieira, E.R., Kumar, S.: Working postures: a literature review. J. Occup. Rehabil. 14, 143– 159 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOOR.0000018330
- McAtamney, L., Corlett, E.N.: RULA: a survey method for the investigation of work-related upper limb disorders. Appl. Ergon. 24, 91–99 (1993). https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-6870(93) 90080-s
- Hignett, S., McAtamney, L.: Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA). Appl. Ergon. 31, 201– 205 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-6870(99)00039-3
- Fagarasanu, M., Kumar, S.: Measurement instruments and data collection: a consideration of constructs and biases in ergonomics research. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 30, 355–369 (2002). https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0169-8141(02)00101-4
- Burdorf, A., Derksen, J., Naaktgeboren, B., van Riel, M.: Measurement of trunk bending during work by direct observation and continuous measurement. Appl. Ergon. 23, 263–267 (1992). https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-6870(92)90154-N
- Robertson, M., et al.: The effects of an office ergonomics training and chair intervention on worker knowledge, behavior and musculoskeletal risk. Appl. Ergon. (2009). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.apergo.2007.12.009
- Dockrell, S., et al.: An investigation of the reliability of Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA) as a method of assessment of children's computing posture. Appl. Ergon. 43, 632– 636 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2011.09.009
- Vignais, N., Miezal, M., Bleser, G., Mura, K., Gorecky, D., Marin, F.: Innovative system for real-time ergonomic feedback in industrial manufacturing. Appl. Ergon. 44, 566–574 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2012.11.008
- Battini, D., Persona, A., Sgarbossa, F.: Innovative real-time system to integrate ergonomic evaluations into warehouse design and management. Comput. Ind. Eng. 77, 1–10 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2014.08.018
- Valero, E., Sivanathan, A., Bosché, F., Abdel-Wahab, M.: Musculoskeletal disorders in construction: a review and a novel system for activity tracking with body area network. Appl. Ergon. 54, 120–130 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2015.11.020
- David, G.C.: Ergonomic methods for assessing exposure to risk factors for work-related musculoskeletal disorders. Occup. Med. (Chic. III) 55, 190–199 (2005). https://doi.org/10. 1093/occmed/kqi082
- Trask, C., Mathiassen, S.E., Wahlström, J., Heiden, M., Rezagholi, M.: Data collection costs in industrial environments for three occupational posture exposure assessment methods. BMC Med. Res. Methodol. 12, 89 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-12-89
- Clark, R.A., et al.: Validity of the Microsoft Kinect for assessment of postural control. Gait Posture. 36, 372–377 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2012.03.033
- 17. Dutta, T.: Evaluation of the KinectTM sensor for 3-D kinematic measurement in the workplace. Appl. Ergon. **43**, 645–649 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2011.09.011
- Cai, L., Ma, Y., Xiong, S., Zhang, Y.: Validity and reliability of upper limb functional assessment using the Microsoft Kinect V2 sensor. Appl. Bionics Biomech. 2019, 1–14 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/7175240
- Xu, X., McGorry, R.W.: The validity of the first and second generation Microsoft KinectTM for identifying joint center locations during static postures. Appl. Ergon. 49, 47–54 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2015.01.005
- Diego-Mas, J.A., Alcaide-Marzal, J.: Using KinectTM sensor in observational methods for assessing postures at work. Appl. Ergon. 45, 976–985 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. apergo.2013.12.001
- Plantard, P., Shum, H.P.H., Le Pierres, A.S., Multon, F.: Validation of an ergonomic assessment method using Kinect data in real workplace conditions. Appl. Ergon. 65, 562– 569 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2016.10.015

- Manghisi, V.M., Uva, A.E., Fiorentino, M., Bevilacqua, V., Trotta, G.F., Monno, G.: Real time RULA assessment using Kinect v2 sensor. Appl. Ergon. 65, 481–491 (2017). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2017.02.015
- Cao, W., Zhong, J., Cao, G., He, Z.: Physiological function assessment based on Kinect v2. IEEE Access. 7, 105638–105651 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2932101
- Mariño, C., Santana, R., Vargas, J., Morales, L., Cisneros, L.: Reliability and validity of postural evaluations with Kinect v2 sensor ergonomic evaluation system. Presented at the (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-02828-2_7
- Plantard, P., Shum, H.P.H., Multon, F.: Usability of corrected Kinect measurement for ergonomic evaluation in constrained environment. Int. J. Hum. Factors Model. Simul. 5, 338 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1504/IJHFMS.2017.087018
- Abobakr, A., et al.: RGB-D ergonomic assessment system of adopted working postures. Appl. Ergon. 80, 75–88 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2019.05.004
- IMD, IAD: Ergonomic Assessment Worksheet v1.3.5. http://ergo-mtm.it/upload/pdf/EAWS form v1.3.5_ENG.pdf. Accessed 4 Apr 2019



Quantitative Assessment of Trunk Flexion in Nurses Using Wearable Inertial Sensor: A Pilot Study

Micaela Porta¹, Marcello Campagna², Giovanni Marco Mura¹, and Massimiliano Pau^{1(⊠)}

 ¹ Department of Mechanical, Chemical and Materials Engineering, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy massimiliano.pau@dimem.unica.it
 ² Department of Medical Sciences and Public Health, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy

Abstract. Nurses are at increased risk to develop musculoskeletal disorders (in particular low back pain) due to prolonged exposure to awkward postures, but there is a lack of quantitative objective measurements useful to characterize such postures. In the present study, we employed a single wearable inertial measurement unit (IMU) placed in the low back to monitor trunk flexion of eleven professional nurses working at maternity and cardiology wards during two hours of a regular shift. Trunk movement was analyzed using an exposure variation analysis approach which classifies flexion in three classes (i.e. $30-60^\circ$, $60-90^\circ$ and >90°). The results show that tested nurses spent 3.5% of the monitored time with their trunk flexed between 30 and 60° and 0.2% between 60 and 90° . The IMU-based approach appears suitable to perform long-term monitoring of trunk postures in workers at risk for musculoskeletal disorders, overcoming the limitation of the observational methods and questionnaires.

Keywords: Trunk posture \cdot Inertial sensors \cdot Nurses \cdot Work related musculoskeletal disorders

1 Introduction

Nursing activities, which are characterized by a variety of tasks including patient's handling and transfers, supplies carriage, therapy administration etc. put nurses at high risk of work-related musculoskeletal disorders [1, 2], even considering that they are likely to spend a significant amount of time in awkward postures. Such condition is known to be among the most significant factors associated with the development of musculoskeletal disorders [3, 4]. In particular, epidemiological studies estimated that 50 to 60% of nurses report at least on occurrence of low-back pain (LBP) in the last six months [5]. Thus, a detailed and accurate estimation of the exposure to such critical postures is essential to improve the risk management process related to low back injuries [3, 6]. To date, the assessment of the working conditions is mostly performed by means of self-report measurements and observational methods. The former are easy to use and inexpensive, but biased by the subjective perception of physical work

demand [7]. On the other hand, observational methods suffer from two kinds of issues related to the intrinsic nature of the nursing job: firstly, nurses perform non-cyclical tasks at several different workstations, which makes harder to use videotape techniques. Moreover, the nurse-patient interaction poses critical privacy issues that may arise when a direct observation by a third party is performed. For these reasons, there is the need to have available reliable non-obtrusive tools able to collect data about intensity, frequency and duration of any potentially harmful postures [8]. Recent studies demonstrated that wearable inertial measurement units (IMU) are suitable to quantitatively characterize the position and movement of several body districts during actual occupational tasks [9–11]. Thus, this pilot study aims to apply this approach to assess the postural exposure (especially in terms of trunk flexion) of a cohort of nurses during actual work shifts, using a single miniaturized unit placed in the low back.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Participants

Eleven professional nurses (9F, 2M), with (mean \pm SD) age = 44.8 \pm 6.7 years, height = 153.1 \pm 21.6 cm body mass = 71.0 \pm 31.9 kg and seniority of service 14.5 \pm 10.4 years, currently enrolled at the maternity and cardiology wards of the Policlinico Universitario "D. Casula" (Hospital of the University of Cagliari, Italy) participated to the study on a voluntary basis. At the time of the experimental trials, they were all free from any sign of acute or chronic musculoskeletal condition.

2.2 Experimental Protocol

Workers' trunk posture was assessed using a lightweight miniaturized inertial sensor (G-Sensor, BTS Bioengineering S.p.A., Italy) which includes tri-axial accelerometer, gyroscope and magnetometer. The device was placed on the low back approximately at their first lumbar vertebrae (L1) [12] using a dedicated semi-elastic belt. Participants were also requested to wear two activity trackers validated for clinical use (Actigraph GT3X, ActiGraph Corp., USA) on both wrists to obtain an overall indication about amount and intensity of the physical activity (PA) carried out during the shift. The GT3X device, which is based on a three-axial accelerometer, allows to assess number of steps, percentage of PA spent at different intensities and vector magnitude count (VMC), that is an aggregate measure of movement based on the accelerations recorded on the three axes by the device. All sensors were worn continuously for two hours of regular actual shifts during which nurses performed their common routine tasks.

2.3 Data Processing

Raw accelerations and angular velocities recorded onboard by the low-back IMU at 100 Hz frequency, were processed by means of a custom routine developed in Matlab (R2019a, MathWorks, USA) to estimate and classify trunk flexion angles as follows [14]:

- Class 1: flexion angle = $30^{\circ}-60^{\circ}$
- Class 2: flexion angle = $60^{\circ}-90^{\circ}$
- Class 3: flexion angle > 90°

Subsequently, using an approach based on Exposure Variation Analysis (EVA) [13] duration of exposure to each posture class was calculated, using time periods of 0-2 s, 2-4 s, and > 4 s. At last, we calculated the time spent in each of the combinations of posture class and time period classes in terms of either frequency or percentage of the total working time.

Data acquired from wrist-worn trackers was processed using the dedicated software Actlife (v6.13.4 ActiGraph Corp., USA), to obtain number of steps and PA intensity classification performed on the basis of the cut-points for the acceleration proposed by Hildebrand et al. [14] for wrist-worn devices in healthy adults. Data were processed both considering the entire period of acquisition and separately for the first and second hour to evaluate repeatability. For each outcome measure noted above, descriptive statistics and the coefficient of variation (CV = mean/SD) were calculated. The latter was used to provide an index of inter-subject variability among PA parameters and trunk-flexion patterns. Paired *t*-tests were used to test for differences between the first and the second hours of acquisition. The level of significance was set at p < 0.05, and all statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software (v.20, IBM, Armonk, NY, USA).

3 Results

3.1 General Considerations

Data provided by the wrist-worn activity trackers (reported in Table 1), show a substantial similarity across all the tested operators in terms of number of made per hour and percentage of PA spent at different intensities. In particular, during the acquisition period the participants carried out approximately 1340 steps/h and spent 76.3% of time in moderate to vigorous PA (MVPA), with relatively small inter-subject differences (defined by CV) of 12.2. Such value is in agreement with previous studies which reported that nurses are characterized by an energy expenditure that include up to 90% of MVPA during a regular working day [15].

Parameter	Mean \pm SD	CV
VMC	269576 ± 84467	31.3
Steps	1340 ± 447	33.4
% of Light Intensity PA	23.6 ± 9.3	39.4
% of Moderate Intensity PA	69.2 ± 10.3	14.9
% of Moderate-to-vigorous PA (MVPA)	76.3 ± 9.3	12.2

 Table 1. Physical Activity parameters assessed from wrist-worn accelerometers. Values refer to 1 working hour.

3.2 Trunk Flexion

Processing of trunk accelerations collected by the IMU placed on the low-back, revealed that participants spent approximately 4% of time in flexed posture and the EVA analysis show that, during this period, the patterns of flexion were quite various in terms of both amplitude and duration. In particular, we found that for the 60% of the time the trunk was flexed with angles between 30 and 60° (i.e. Class 2), while 35% of time refer to Class 3 flexion and a negligible percentage was calculated for Class 4 flexion angles.

In terms of duration, most flexion events (approximately 60%) last 1 s or less, 30% of them are in the range 2–4 s and 10% were kept for more than 4 s (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Frequency of trunk flexion classified for amplitude and duration. Vertical axis reports the percentage of the total acquisition time spent in flexed posture.

The analysis of the two hours of monitoring performed separately did not find any significant differences in terms of patterns of flexion considering either only the first or the second hour of monitoring (see Table 2).

At last, it is noteworthy that the analysis of variability suggests that although the working task was found similar in terms of physical profile for all the tested workers (as indicated by the low CV values associated with the PA parameters) some relevant differences exist in terms of trunk movement strategies. In fact, the CV values calculated for the different ranges of trunk flexion are more than double with respect to those associated with PA parameters.

Classes	Mean \pm SD	Mean \pm SD	Mean \pm SD	CV
	All Monitoring	1 st Hour	2 nd Hour	All Monitoring
30–60°	3.5 ± 2.7	2.9 ± 1.7	4.1 ± 4.0	77.7
60–90°	0.2 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.2	51.8
>90°	negligible			

Table 2. Percentage of time spent in different classes of trunk flexion.

4 Discussion and Conclusion

Since low-back disorders (LBD) are among the most common musculoskeletal disorders that affect nurses, the interventions aimed to prevent them, or at least reduce their negative impact, are of crucial importance. In this regard, it appears essential to have available specific tools capable to accurately assess the exposure to the most relevant factors, which are known to influence the risk of LBD onset. Such tools should certainly allow assessing intensity, duration and frequency of relevant movements, but there are other important aspects to consider, such as the intrinsic approach of each individual to the working task according to his/her anthropometry, physical fitness and experience. This can originate a certain degree of variability even when the task is well defined and repetitive.

In this context, our study summarizes the attempt to characterize trunk flexion exposure in nurses during an actual shift, using a simplified non-obtrusive setup composed by a single IMU placed on low back and processing the experimental data according to the EVA approach. Our results show that, on average, nurses spent 3.5% of working time with their trunk flexed between 31° and 60° and only 0.2% of time with trunk flexed between 61° and 90°. According to what previously reported in similar studies, such figures depict a relatively low risk for their tasks. In fact, Hoogendorn et al. [16] and Coenen et al. [17] indicated that workers are at an increased risk of onset of LBD is they spend either more than 10% of their daily shift with a trunk flexion exceeding 30° , or more than 5% of the time with trunk flexion exceeding 60° . Thus, considered as a group, the nurses here tested appear to be at low risk of LBD based on their trunk flexion exposures. Such results are somehow contrasting with previous studies that indicate high levels of flexion in nurses but it should be considered that there is a great variability in the postures according to the ward in which nurses operate. A recent study by Nourollahi et al. [3] show that the percentage of time spent with trunk flexed with angles $\geq 45^{\circ}$ changes dramatically passing from Intensive Care Unit (for which is approximately 60%) to maternity (approximately 10%). The latter ward, which is also one of the cases investigated in the present study, probably represents the less challenging condition in terms of trunk flexion demand.

An interesting aspect of our study is represented by the separate analysis of the first and second hour of working. As no significant differences were found (and this indicates that the intra-subject repeatability is quite good), this suggest that probably a single hour of monitoring might be sufficient to capture the most relevant information about the overall level of exposure. The search for the minimal optimal period of monitoring is a topic that requires further investigations on larger cohorts, as a reduction of this period would allow an easier and faster monitoring of large groups of workers.

Of course, some limitations of the study should be acknowledged. In particular, the choice to use a single IMU to estimate the trunk flexion, although very convenient in terms of minimal disturbance to the operator's work, implies that the spine is modelled as a rigid segment, but of course, this is a rough approximation. In fact, for instance, the thoracic part of the spine might assume a non-neutral posture even when this does not occur for the lumbar part. Such differences cannot be captured by the setup here

employed. In addition, in the present study, we investigated only trunk flexion (being this movement strongly associated with LBD onset) but, in principle, the IMU would allow also the analysis of other movements like lateral bending and axial rotation.

In conclusion, the present pilot study demonstrated that a simple measurement setup based on a single miniaturized IMU, may effectively support the assessment of quantitative details associated with the exposure to non-neutral postures in nurses activities, taking into account the amplitude, duration and frequency of trunk flexion movements. In particular, given the non-repetitive nature of nurse's job, this approach is suitable to highlight the existence of different movement strategies, overcoming the limitations associated with time-consuming observational methods. Future studies should also consider possible asymmetric component of movements (such as combined flexion-rotation or flexion-lateral bending) and the effect of ward type and individual's anthropometry, which are also known to represent a co-factor in the onset of musculoskeletal disorders.

References

- Magnago, T.S., Lisboa, M., Souza, I., Moreira, M.: Musculoskeletal disorders in nursing workers: evidences associated to work conditions. Rev. Bras. Enferm. 60(7), 191–196 (2007)
- Solidaki, E., Chatzi, L., Bitsios, P., Markatzi, I., Plana, E., Castro, F., Palmer, K., Coggon, D., Kogevinas, M.: Work-related and psychological determinants of multisite musculoskeletal pain. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 36(1), 54–56 (2010)
- Nourollahi, M., Afshari, D., Dianat, I.: Awkward trunk postures and their relationship with low back pain in hospital nurses. Work. 59(3), 317–323 (2018)
- Abdollahzade, F., Mohammadi, F., Dianat, I., Asghari, E., Asghari-Jafarabadi, M., Sokhanvar, Z.: Working posture and its predictors in hospital operating room nurses. Health Promot. Perspect. 6(1), 17–22 (2016)
- Bootsman, R., Markopoulos, P., Qi, Q., Wang, Q., Timmermans, A.A.: Wearable technology for posture monitoring at the workplace. Int. J. Hum Comput Stud. 132, 99–111 (2019)
- Burdof, A., van Riel, M.: Design of strategies to assess lumbar posture during work. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 18, 239–249 (1996)
- 7. David, G.C.: Ergonomic methods for assessing exposure to risk factors for work-related musculoskeletal disorders. Occup. Med. **55**, 190–199 (2005)
- 8. Bergman, J.H.M., McGregor, A.H.: Body-worn sensor design: what do patients and clinicians want? Ann. Biomed. Eng. **39**(9), 2299–2312 (2011)
- 9. Shall Jr., M.C., Fethke, N.B., Chen, H.: Evaluation of four sensor locations for physical activity assessment. Appl. Ergon. 53, 103–109 (2016)
- Douphrate, D.I., Fethke, N.B., Nonnenmann, M.W., Rosecrance, J.C., Reynolds, S.J.: Full shift arm inclinometry among dairy parlor workers: a feasibility study in a challenging work environment. Appl. Ergon. 43(3), 604–613 (2012)
- Asante, B.O., Bath, B., Trask, C.: Trunk posture assessment during work tasks at a Canadian recycling center. Int. J. Ind. Ergonom. 68, 297–303 (2018)
- Faber, G.S., Kingma, I., Bruijn, S.M., van Dieen, J.H.: Optimal inertial sensor location for ambulatory measurement of trunk inclination. J. Biomech. 42, 2406–2409 (2009)
- Mathiassen, S.E., Winkel, J.: Quantifying variation in physical load using exposure-vs-time data. Ergonomics 34(12), 1455–1468 (1991)

- Hildebrand, M., Van Hees, V.T., Hansen, B.H., Ekelund, U.: Age group comparability of raw accelerometer output from wrist- and hip-worn monitors. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 46(9), 1816–1824 (2014)
- 15. Lee, Y.S., Huang, Y.C., Kao, Y.H.: Physical activities and correlates of clinical nurses in Taipei municipal hospitals. J Nurs Res. **13**(4), 281–292 (2005)
- Hoogendoorn, W.E., Bongers, P.M., de Vet, H.C., Douwes, M., Koes, B.W., Miedema, M.C., Ariëns, G.A., Bouter, L.M.: Flexion and rotation of the trunk and lifting at work are risk factors for low back pain: results of a prospective cohort study. Spine 25(23), 3087–3092 (2000)
- Coenen, P., Kingma, I., Boot, C.R., Twisk, J.W., Bongers, P.M., van Dieën, J.H.: Cumulative low back load at work as a risk factor of low back pain: a prospective cohort study. J. Occup. Rehabil. 23(1), 11–18 (2013)


Comparing the Ergonomics of Gestural Interfaces While Running on a Treadmill

Matthieu Vallat¹(⊠), Alessandro Silacci¹, Omar Abou Khaled¹, Elena Mugellini¹, Giuseppe Fedele², and Maurizio Caon¹

¹ University of Applied Sciences and Arts Western Switzerland (HES-SO), Fribourg, Switzerland {Matthieu.Vallat, Alessandro.Silacci, Omar.AbouKhaled, Elena.Mugellini, Maurizio.Caon}@hes-so.ch ² Technogym S.P.A., Cesena, Italy gfedele@technogym.com

Abstract. Interactions with treadmills are based on pressing buttons or through a touchscreen. However, these interactions require the user to touch the frontal dashboard of the treadmill while running. Indeed, for each interaction that the runner does, the user needs to break her/his running form to reach the interface. Those actions cost also some additional energy to the runner with a possible impact on performance. Current technologies allow finding a better solution for the runner like gesture-based interaction. This paper presents a comparison of different interaction modalities, including gestures, on a treadmill. The goal of this study is to analyze the ergonomics of gestural interfaces while running on a treadmill. In fact, specific tailored gestures are perceived as more natural and easier to perform while doing an activity and can improve significantly the user experience.

Keywords: Gestural interface · Interaction while running · Treadmills

1 Introduction and Background

Digital technologies in fitness equipment are becoming more and more common. Indeed, they are used for tracking performance, displaying information, interacting with gym equipment and many other uses [1]. These new technologies are influencing how the athlete interacts with her/his context while being at the gym and doing sports [2]. In particular, some research studies explored how alternative interaction modalities can improve the user experience, for instance Run&Tap [3] show a new way to interact with a system while running by touching different points on the body. However, that solution is more oriented for running outside. Therefore, interaction modes while running on a treadmill are still unexplored and also offer new interesting opportunities. We analysed three different interfaces: one gesture-based wearable, the Myo bracelet, one gesture-based environmental, the Leap Motion, as well as a tactile interface as control condition. The Myo was selected because it is wearable and needs little movement to perform a gesture reducing the impact on the runner form. The Leap was selected because although it requires the user to interact in a specific area, the zone in

which movement is captured is fairly large and no considerable effort is required to reach a specific spot. Indeed, this larger interacting area can allow a significant margin of error when doing the gesture in contrast to a tactile interface that requires a lot of precision and aiming to interact with during the activity. The gestures were specifically designed for each interface. Each system has five functions: speed up, speed down, inclination up, inclination down and start/stop. The gestures were designed considering two main factors [4]: the relation to locomotion, running in this case, and the inhibition on interaction that can cause those gestures.

The running form is important when it comes to performance [5]. To create a movement on a treadmill, it is necessary to take an interest to what composes the running economy. The latter is basically the oxygen cost of running at a certain speed. A lot of factors impact the running economy, but we will focus only on the running form. However, for now, we cannot establish the perfect running form. As a matter of fact, only some mechanical key points are known to help a runner having a better running economy [6]. Most of them are from the hips to the toes. It feels intuitive that the runner uses her/his legs to run, so it is difficult to create an interaction with them and the treadmill. The arms are used to balance the body weight during the run. They are, therefore, also used during the activity. On the other hand, it is easier to use them for interaction since they are free. The runner's body is also slightly bent forward. Normally the runner has an interface in the form of a touch screen or buttons in front of her/him. He normally uses her/his steering arm to interact with it.

2 Interfaces

The Myo bracelet can recognize the movements of the user's forearm (the one where the Myo is placed). It analyzes the electrical activity of the muscles, and thus can recognize certain movements (Table 1). The problem with this prototype is the accuracy that the user must have during interactions.

Command	Explanation
Increase the speed	With your Myo-tracked hand, make a right-hand movement with the wrist
Decrease the speed	With your Myo-tracked hand, make a left-hand movement with the wrist
Increase the inclination	With your Myo-tracked hand, make an opening movement
Decrease the inclination	With your Myo-tracked hand, make a closing movement
Soft start/stop	With your Myo-tracked hand, double tap with your fingers

Table 1. The commands used with the Myo and the explanation of the gestures

The Leap motion is a small device equipped with 3 infrared cameras that can model the joint skeleton of one or more hands standing above the sensors (Table 2). The problem with this prototype is that the user must have her/his hands exactly on the Leap motion for it to detect the hands. This creates a restrained area of interaction in the air. This area must be understood by the user, if he/she does not want parasitic movements to be detected.

Command	Explanation
Increase the speed	With one hand above the leap, make a swipe to the right
Decrease the speed	With one hand above the leap, make a swipe to the left
Increase the inclination	With one hand above the leap, make an upward elevation
Decrease the inclination	With one hand above the leap, make a downward elevation
Soft start/stop	With one hand above the leap, make a circle with one of the fingers

Table 2. The commands used with the Leap motion and the explanation of the gestures

Finally, our experiment comprised a tactile interface. The goal is to create a simple interface that looks like a Technogym treadmill dashboard. The interface that we developed was made on JavaFX (Fig. 1). The interface is simple to prevent an excessive workload when interacting with it. The use of colors makes it easy to recognize the buttons during the interaction.

3 User Experiment

For every question in the experiment, we used a 5-point Likert scale [7] ranging from "Strongly disagree" (1) to "Strongly agree" (5). We conducted the study with 12 participants (11 men) with an average age of 24.25 years. We note that our set of participants is well balanced between the ones that run regularly (score 2.9) and those who do not. Notably, the former group also do not often run on treadmills (score 1.6) and usually do not use gestures to interact with systems (score 1.75). Participants were first informed of the experiment content and were asked to start it by answering the introductory questionnaire. We then explained the first interface and how to interact with it. The participant got on the mat, and found her/his running speed, and then she/he tried the interface (Fig. 1) with a few movements. Once she/he had a comfortable speed and is ready, we started the timed test. When the test was completed, she/he had to complete the questionnaire on the interface based on the Software Usability Scale (SUS) [8]. The SUS is a fast and reliable test to determine the usability of a service/system. It consists of 10 questions that also use the Likert scale like all other questions. At the end of each test, the rider must complete a questionnaire per interface which includes:

- Do you need a lot of precision and concentration to do the movements?
- Do the interactions impact on the way of running?
- Are the movements easy and natural to do during the race?

This process is repeated for each type of interface. In a running session, for each type of interface, the runner must do the movement "Start/Stop" 10 times, 10 times "Increase/Decrease" the speed and 10 times "Increase/Decrease" the gradient. Each interaction is timed. This provides an average of time per interface per interaction. In addition, we also note any error (movement not recognize or false movement). In order to compute the average error rate per movement. Interactions are dictated to the user verbally by the examiner.



Fig. 1. On the left the tactile interface on a tablet and on the right the Leap Motion, everything is on the treadmill that will be used by the runner.

4 Results and Discussion

Table 3 shows average timing of the action along with the average error rate per action, for each interface and each movement.

Device	Action	Average time in second	Average error per action	
Tactile	Increase speed	0.74 s (SD = 0.11 s)	18.3%	
	Decrease the speed	0.75 s (SD = 0.088 s)	10%	
	Increase the angle	0.755 s (SD = 0.137 s)	15.8%	
	Decrease the angle	0.747 s (SD = 0.139 s)	16.7%	
	Start/Stop	0.61 s (SD = 1.161 s)	1.7%	
Leap	Increase speed	0.552 s (SD = 0.114 s)	17.5%	
	Decrease the speed	0.563 s (SD = 0.117 s)	33.3%	
	Increase the angle	0. 566 s (SD = 0.126 s)	11.7%	
	Decrease the angle	0.588 s (SD = 0.09 s)	35%	
	Start/Stop (6 people)	1.928 s (SD = 1.194 s)	120%	
Муо	Increase speed	0.507 s (SD = 0.095 s)	5%	
	Decrease the speed	0.5 s (SD = 0.112 s)	10%	
	Increase the angle	-	-	
	Decrease the angle	-	-	
	Start/Stop	-	-	

 Table 3. The results of each interfaces with the average time for each action and the average error per action.

First, it is important to report the difficulties encountered during the tests. Indeed, during the study, we decided to stop testing the "Start/Stop" for the leap. Only half of the participants were timed for their actions (i.e. 6). Indeed, doing a circle with the arm in a specific area while running is not obvious and was not well detected. After too many failures and frustrations of the users, the "Start/Stop" movement was removed from the study for practical reasons. It can also be noted that the actions "Decrease speed" and "Decrease angle" for the Leap have a higher error rate than "Increase speed" and "Increase angle". The reason for this is simple: to reduce the angle/speed, the user must first do the opposite movement to have the hand positioned in the right place. This can be recognized as an increase before performing the decrease gesture (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. On the left, the motion of the hand going up (increase the angle) and down (decrease the angle). On the right the motion of the hand going right (increase the speed) and left (decrease the speed).

The movements "Increase angle", "Decrease angle" and "Start/Stop" were not recognized by the Myo during the run. Indeed, running makes the fingers shake and the hand move so that the "Double tap" of "Start/Stop" is automatically activated, and occurs too often. However, the gesture is not well recognized if it is done voluntarily. "Decrease angle" was also not appropriate, as the movement was to close the fist, and this was the default hand-posture of some of the participants. We had to take these movements out of the study because they were impossible for the participants to do while running and would have slowed down the study and provided unnecessary information. What we can observe on the Myo concerns only the movement with the wrist for the speed up and down that did work properly. We can see that the timing is almost the same, but the error of the left-movement for decreasing the speed (direction of the body) has 2 times the error rate of the right-movement. Our interpretation is that a movement of the wrist towards the inside of the body or the opposite hand with the wrist is more common when running than the movement outside that feels a bit abnormal. So, the runner would not do accidentally the movement outside of her/his wrist but could accidentally do the movement inside.

Ideally, the study should be repeated using other movements specifically designed for running. These movements should be based on runners' feedback and opinions. This would allow implementing gestural interfaces that would be natural and intuitive for the runner while avoiding compromising the running form. At the end of the study it was unanimous for the users that a touch screen-based interface for interacting with a treadmill is not a practical solution (score 4.42). The users preferred the Myo based interface despite the error during the study. As a participant said: "One can interact with the machine without decreasing the running speed." And "You do not have to target a particular area or pay attention to its movements." Or "One can interact with the machine without decreasing the speed because it is more responsive and less restrictive." We can say that the main argument for the Myo was that this interface does not disturb the running and it is quick to react to the user intention. However, the preference for the Myo was not unanimous. Some of the users were not pleased with it because "It is annoying to carry an object on your body during the race." They preferred the Leap because for them it was "It is more natural and easier to use because there is no need to be too precise". So, for some of them wearing a device was perturbing and not a comfortable choice when it comes to a physical exercise.

For the users, both interfaces still interfere with the running motion (score 1.92 for the Leap and score 1.83 for the Myo). However, the movements felt easier and more natural to do while running with the Leap (score 2.58) compared to the Myo (score 2.33). Despite the user-friendliness of the Leap, the users think that it still requires more accuracy and focus to interact with the Leap (score 2.42) than with the Myo (1.83). We think it is partly due to the constraint of the zone where the interaction with the Leap needs to take place compared to the freedom of the Myo where they can perform an interaction anywhere. A small difference that we note is that the Myo bracelet was slightly more responsive (0.06 s less than the Leap). We can say that the error rates of the interfaces are more or less the same (around 1-1.2) except for the "Start/Stop" of the tactile interface. Indeed, the error rate is only (0.017) which is explained by the accessibility of the button. It is in the middle of the interface and is larger than the others.

5 Conclusion

We presented our study where we compared three different interaction modalities to command a treadmill while running, which are: touchscreen, gestural interface in the air based on the Leap device, and a wearable gestural interface based on the Myo armband. The results show that users prefer gestural interfaces, in particular the wearable one, to touchscreens. However, choosing the adequate gestures for an interface is more complex than it seems, and the default gestures implemented in the Leap and in the Myo are not adequate for interacting while running. The movements need to be natural for the runner for not compromising the running form and they also need to be well calibrated for an easy recognition by the system. Not only accuracy is key to the adoption of gestural interfaces for runners but also avoiding false positives should be a priority, since running implies moving the arms and this can interfere with the gestural interface if not properly designed.

References

- 1. Jensen, M.M., Mueller, F.F.: Running with technology: where are we heading? In: Proceedings of the 26th Australian Computer-Human Interaction Conference on Designing Futures: the Future of Design, pp. 527–530, December 2014
- Patel, M., O'Kane, A.A.: Contextual influences on the use and non-use of digital technology while exercising at the gym. In: Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 2923–2932, April 2015
- Hamdan, N.A.H., Kosuru, R.K., Corsten, C., Borchers, J.: Run&Tap: investigation of onbody tapping for runners. In: Proceedings of the 2017 ACM International Conference on Interactive Surfaces and Spaces, pp. 280–286, October 2017
- Marshall, J., Dancu, A., Mueller, F.F.: Interaction in motion: designing truly mobile interaction. In: Proceedings of the 2016 ACM Conference on Designing Interactive Systems, pp. 215–228, June 2016
- Folland, J.P., Allen, S.J., Black, M.I., Handsaker, J.C., Forrester, S.E.: Running technique is an important component of running economy and performance. Med. Sci. Sports Exer. 49(7), 1412 (2017)
- 6. Anderson, T.: Biomechanics and running economy. Sports Med. 22(2), 76-89 (1996)
- Joshi, A., Kale, S., Chandel, S., Pal, D.K.: Likert scale: explored and explained. Br. J. Appl. Sci. Technol. 7(4), 396 (2015)
- 8. Brooke, J.: SUS-A quick and dirty usability scale. Usabil. Eval. Ind. 189(194), 4-7 (1996)



On the Analysis of the Relationship Between Alkaline Water Usage and Muscle Fatigue Recovery

Giacomo Losavio¹, Bernadette Tamma², Angelo Abbattista², Ilaria Sabina Tatò¹, Domenico Buongiorno^{3,4}, Giacomo Donato Cascarano^{3,4}, Antonio Brunetti^{3,4}, Irio De Feudis^{3,4}, and Vitoantonio Bevilacqua^{3,4}(⊠)

¹ Neurology and Neurophysiopathology Unit Medica Sud s.r.l., Viale della Resistenza n. 82, Bari, Italy

{neurologia, ilaria. tato}@medicasud.it

² Medical Division s.r.l., Via Vitantonio Vitone n. 29, 70032 Bitonto, BA, Italy

{direzionescientifica, direzione}@aquasanaitaly.com

Polytechnic University of Bari, Via Edoardo Orabona n. 4, Bari, Italy

{domenico.buongiorno,giacomodonato.cascarano, antonio.brunetti,irio.defeudis,

vitoantonio. bevilacqua}@poliba.it

⁴ Apulian Bioengineering s.r.l., Via delle Violette 14, Modugno, BA, Italy

Abstract. The lactate concentration significantly increases during exercise destabilizing the cellular acid-base balance. In this study, we examined the relationship between alkaline water usage and muscle fatigue recovery measured as the change in lactate concentration. Thirty healthy subjects were asked to pedal on a cycle ergometer for 25 min at a constant pace. At the end of the physical exercise, each subject was asked to drink, in one hour, either one liter of water with a pH equal to 6.9 (control) or one liter of alkaline water with a pH value ranging between 8.5 and 9.3 (experimental). The two conditions were separated by an interval of 24 h. The concentration of the lactate was measured just after the physical exercise and after the water consumption. In control condition, there was not significant change in lactate concentration (p = 0.097), whereas, in the experimental condition, the lactate concentration measured after the alkaline water consumption was significantly lower than the concentration measured just after the physical exercise (p < 0.000001). The observed results have proven the beneficial effects of the alkaline water on the reduction of the lactate concentration thus accelerating the muscle fatigue recovery process.

Keywords: Alkaline water usage \cdot Lactate dehydrogenase \cdot Muscle fatigue recovery

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 26–31, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_4

1 Introduction

In the human body, the production of energy in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is mainly driven by aerobic processes thus needing oxygen. When the level of cellular oxygen is too low, the cells produce energy through anaerobic mechanism with a lower efficiency than the aerobic one [1]. Lactic acid is a by-product of energy production in the anaerobic state, as example during an intense muscular activity [2]. The lactic acid is generated by the interconversion of pyruvate into lactate that is mediated by the lactate dehydrogenase (LDH). Hence, the concentration of lactic acid within the blood can be seen as a direct evaluation of the oxygen availability [3]. Since the lactic acid is a weak acid, it dissociates in water resulting in ion lactate and H^+ . Such accumulation of H^+ is the main cause of the cell acidity increase (Figs. 1 and 2).



Pyruvate

Lactate

Fig. 1. Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) conversion of pyruvate and lactate.



Fig. 2. Lactic acid deprotonation.

In medical practice, the acid-base balance is often underestimated even though it is well known that lifestyle changes, especially in food, produce substantial benefits. An incorrect diet can indeed lead to an acid-base imbalance with consequent negative symptoms, such as cramps, muscle fatigue and accumulation of lactic acid. Basic therapy can be used to treat numerous pathologies and several studies have already focused attention on the benefits deriving from the consumption of alkaline water. However, the relationship between alkaline water usage and muscle fatigue recovery is not yet fully understood. The main goal of this study regards the analysis of the relationship between the usage of alkaline water and muscle fatigue through the quantitative evaluation of hematochemical parameters, in detail we have analyzed the change in concentration of the lactate within the blood after the consumption of two different water: normal water with a pH equal to 6.9 and alkaline water featuring a pH ranging in [8.5–9.3].

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Subjects

Thirty healthy males (age: 30.2 ± 4.1 years old) volunteered to participate as subjects for this study after being fully informed of the procedures and possible side effects. The exclusion criteria were: 1) being a smoker, 2) practicing either amateur or professional physical activity, and 3) suffering from neuromuscular diseases.

2.2 Experimental Protocol

All subjects underwent two experimental conditions presented randomly and unknown both to them and to the clinical staff. Exercise testing was the same in each of the two conditions and consisted in pedaling on a cycle ergometer for 25 min without any resistance at a pace of 15 km/h. At the end of the physical exercise, each subject was asked to drink, in one hour, either one liter of water with a pH equal to 6.9 (control) or one liter of alkaline water with a pH value ranging between 8.5 and 9.3 (experimental). The two conditions were separated by an interval of 24 h.

The alkaline water used in this study has been produced with a domestic reverse osmosis plant equipped with two osmotic membranes characterized by a salt rejection lower than 97.5% and a chlorine tolerance lower than 0.1 ppm. The used domestic plant is also able to remineralize the post-osmotic water by constantly introducing an alkaline concentrate (Patent n. 0000276383; Class I Medical Device BD/RDM 1438157) [4].

The concentration of the LDH within the blood was assessed 1) five minutes before the beginning of the exercise test, 2) two minutes after the end of the exercise test and 3) after the consumption of the defined amount of water (one hour from the end of the physical exercise). The accumulation of LDH was determined by analyzing a peripheral blood sample with the spectrophotometric reader CR 4000 – Callegari [5]. The employed reader has the following technical features: wavelengthequal to 505 nm, sample path length equal to 1.0 cm, volume of the blood sample equal to 5 μ l, and reaction time equal to 180".

3 Results

The difference between the control (water with pH = 6.9) and experimental conditions (water with 8.5 < pH < 9.3) has been assessed comparing the LDH concentration measured just after the end of the exercise test with the LDH level observed after the water consumption (1 h after the end of the exercise test). The statistical significance has been evaluated with a paired t-test (p < .05) and data normality was checked with Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. All statistical analyses have been performed using the IBM SPSS software [6].

Concerning the control condition (see Fig. 3), no significant difference was observed between the LDH concentrations measured after the exercise test (M = 33.7 mg/dl, SD = 16.0 mg/dl) and after water consumption (M = 26.9 mg/dl, SD = 16.4 mg/dl); t(29) = 1.713, p = .097.

Regarding the experimental condition (see Fig. 4), there was a significant difference between the LDH concentrations measured after the exercise test (M = 32.4 mg/dl, SD = 14.7 mg/dl) and after water consumption (M = 20.3 mg/dl, SD = 13.2 mg/dl); t (29) = 7.317, p < .000001.



Fig. 3. Comparison of the LDH concentration after the exercise and the water consumption acquired in the control condition.



Fig. 4. Comparison of the LDH concentration after the exercise and the water consumption acquired in the experimental condition (* indicates p < 0.001).

4 Discussions and Conclusions

In the presented work we have investigated the effect of alkaline water on the muscle fatigue recovery. Thirty healthy subjects were involved in the study and underwent two different conditions: control and experimental. During both conditions, subjects were asked to pedal on a cycle ergometer for 25 min at a constant pace. At the end of the physical exercise, each subject was asked to drink, in one hour, either one liter of water with a pH equal to 6.9 (control) or one liter of alkaline water with a pH value ranging between 8.5 and 9.3 (experimental). The two experimental conditions were separated by an interval of 24 h. The observed results have shown a substantial difference between the effect of the normal (control) and the alkaline water (experimental). The consumption of water with a pH equal to 6.9 had no significant effect on the lactate concentration. Infact, the levels of lactate measured both just after the exercise test and after the water consumption, i.e. after one hour from the end of the physical exercise, were comparable (p = 0.097). Differently, we observed a significant decrease in the lactate concentration when subjects drank alkaline water (p < .000001). These results have proven the significant effect of the alkaline water consumption on the reduction of the lactate concentration. According to such evidence, future studies might prove that the regular consumption of alkaline water has beneficial effects on the muscle fatigue recovery due to its relationship with the lactate concentration. Future studies will also investigate the effect of the alkaline water on the muscle fatigue through an objective analysis of the surface electromyographic signals and movement quality [7-10].

Experimental Condition

31

Acknowledgments. This work has been partially funded by the Italian Apulian Region project "RECALL" (Innolabs n. QIRYKE8).

References

- Krustrup, P., Ferguson, R.A., Kjær, M., Bangsbo, J.: ATP and heat production in human skeletal muscle during dynamic exercise: higher efficiency of anaerobic than aerobic ATP resynthesis. J. Physiol. 549(1), 255–269 (2003)
- Bangsbo, J.: Quantification of anaerobic energy production during intense exercise. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 30(1), 47–52 (1998)
- Katz, A.T., Sahlin, K.: Regulation of lactic acid production during exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 65(2), 509–518 (1988)
- 4. https://www.osmolife.it/
- 5. https://www.callegari1930.com/
- 6. https://www.ibm.com/it-it/analytics/spss-statistics-software
- Bevilacqua, V., Trotta, G.F., Loconsole, C., Brunetti, A., Caporusso, N., Bellantuono, G. M., De Feudis, I., Patruno, D., De Marco, D., Venneri, A., Di Vietro, M. Losavio, G., Tatò, S.I.: A RGB-D sensor based tool for assessment and rating of movement disorders. In: International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics, pp. 110–118. Springer, Cham, July 2017
- Buongiorno, D., Trotta, G. F., Bortone, I., Di Gioia, N., Avitto, F., Losavio, G., Bevilacqua, V.: Assessment and rating of movement impairment in Parkinson's disease using a low-cost vision-based system. In: International Conference on Intelligent Computing, pp. 777–788. Springer, Cham, August 2018
- Manghisi, V.M., Uva, A.E., Fiorentino, M., Bevilacqua, V., Trotta, G.F., Monno, G.: Real time RULA assessment using Kinect v2 sensor. Appl. Ergon. 65, 481–491 (2017)
- Buongiorno, D., Barone, F., Berger, D.J., Cesqui, B., Bevilacqua, V., d'Avella, A., Frisoli, A.: Evaluation of a pose-shared synergy-based isometric model for hand force estimation: towards myocontrol. In: Converging Clinical and Engineering Research on Neurorehabilitation II, pp. 953–958. Springer, Cham (2017)



Posture Assessment and Subjective Scale Agreement in Picking Tasks with Low Masses

Olfa Haj Mahmoud^{1,2(⊠)}, Charles Pontonnier², Georges Dumont², Stéphane Poli¹, and Franck Multon³

 ¹ FAURECIA Automotive Seating, Etampes, France {olfa.hajmahmoud, stephane.poli}@faurecia.com
 ² Univ Rennes, CNRS, Inria, IRISA-UMR6974, M2S, 35042 Rennes, France {charles.pontonnier, Georges.Dumont}@irisa.fr
 ³ Inria, Univ Rennes, CNRS, IRISA-UMR6974, M2S, 35042 Rennes, France franck.multon@irisa.fr

Abstract. This study aims at analyzing the relationship between postural assessment and perceived discomfort for picking tasks with low mass (1 kg), involving a wide range of positions/postures. We analyzed the agreement of the different postural scores (mean value, integral value, root mean square value, weighted average time at each RULA level and the % of time per RULA level) with the subjective assessments. The statistical analysis showed no correlation between subjective and postural scores. A few negative correlations were also noticed, especially for time spent at specific levels of postural discomfort compared to subjective feedback. The results showed that the subjective assessment was not correlated with the postural assessment in such low discriminant tasks. Although postural assessment enabled to discriminate the more difficult postures with regard to the experimental conditions, the subjects were unable to report coherent discomfort feedback.

Keywords: Ergonomics · RULA · Motion capture · CP-50

1 Introduction

Assessing arduousness in work environments can be an effective mean to prevent the musculoskeletal disorders (MSD) that affect the different body parts, causing pain and discomfort, thus affecting, the daily work activities. Evaluating arduousness is a complex problem that entails several factors: biomechanical factors such as posture, repetition, force..., and psychosocial factors like stress, social status... [1]. Several tools have been developed in order to quantify ergonomic risks related to biomechanical factors. These methods can be classified into three groups according to the approach used in measurement [2]: (1) self-report, (2) observational [3, 4], and (3) direct measurement methods.

Self-report methods can be presented under different forms such as rating scales i.e. Borg scale [5] and CP-50 [6], checklists, questionnaires and interviews. The measurements using rating scales are based on the person's physical and mental sensitiveness; they vary depending on physical and environmental conditions. Observational methods are also used by ergonomists to evaluate different kinds of risks. NIOSH lifting equation can be used to assess risks mainly based on the load used in manual handling tasks [7]. Occupational Repetitive Actions (OCRA) [8] is mainly used to focus on frequency factors in repetitive tasks. The postural risk can be evaluated by using Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA) method [9] or Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA) [10]. The posture score is divided into two groups: upper arms, lower arms and wrist for the first group and neck, trunk and legs for the second one. This score is adjusted with factors related to load handled and repetitive muscular activity to obtain the postural final scores, which varies from 1 for low risks to 7 for high postural risks in the case of RULA [9]. In all observational methods, the joint angles of different body segments and the load manipulated by the worker are scored using a worksheet corresponding to a collected key posture. The results validity for the observational methods depends on the collected input data [11], inter-rater reliability [12, 13]. To partly tackle this problem, observation could be replaced by direct measurements by using motion capture systems, such as optoelectronic systems or Microsoft Kinect [14, 15]. As arduousness at work is a multivariate phenomenon, assessing arduousness requires combining different methods. We could expect that combining various biomechanical, physiological and psychological factors would be correlated with the subjective feedback of the subject. But this correlation between subjective and objective measurements seems to be quite complex. Chihara et al. [16] reported little agreement between CP-50 and RULA for manual material handling tasks, when using 0 to 10 kg loads. In this paper, we propose to investigate this correlation for picking tasks with low mass, but with a high range of postures/positions, and continuous RULA measurement instead of static ones.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Protocol

We carried-out an experiment with 14 healthy subjects (five females and nine males); age (27.07 \pm 7.6 years), stature (172 \pm 11 cm) and body mass (65.64 \pm 11.24 kg) respectively. The protocol was approved by a French national ethics committee (South West and Overseas 4 Persons Protection Committee) and registered under the reference n° 2019-A00218-49.

The experimental set-up was composed of a four-levels shelf of 40, 100, 170, 230 cm height and 30 cm left, middle and 30 cm right positions. A table was placed either to the right or left depending on the predominant subject hand. Twelve one-liter bottles, numbered from 1 to 12 were placed on the table in a random order. Before starting the experiment, each subject was asked to sign a consent form and was given a brief introduction on what the experiment was about in case he has questions or concerns.

At the beginning of each trial, the experimenter arranged the 12 bottles according to a random combination displayed in front of him. This random combination guaranteed the uniqueness of the order associated with each of the trials and prevented tasklearning effects. Figure 1 represents a subject performing the experimentation. For each trial, the subject was facing the shelf. The bottles were placed on the table on the predominant subject side. The subject grabbed each bottle and placed it in the corresponding place. After placing a bottle, the subject had to evaluate the discomfort of the task according to the CP-50 scale. CP-50 defines five global categories of discomfort defined as follows: very slight discomfort, slight discomfort, discomfort, severe discomfort and very severe discomfort. After choosing a global category, the subject indicated the specific level of discomfort in the category on a 10-points scale. Paper labels were used in this experiment allowing the subject to note the difficulty for each task by placing the labels in front of the bottle. For each bottle, the subjects had to rate discomfort using these labels. The order was to compare the discomfort of picking and placing this bottle at the current placement, to the one in the middle level of the shelf. This latter placement was supposed to be the most comfortable configuration for all subjects, according to the French norm NF X35-109 [17]. More specifically, this norm assumes that the most comfortable position is between 75 cm and 110 cm for handling tasks. The subject returned to the table and took a new bottle for a new placement, and restarted the assessment process, for all the 12 bottles (a trial is defined as a picking and placing a set of 12 bottles). Once all bottles were placed on the shelf, the trial ended followed by a rest period before starting a new trial.



Fig. 1. A subject equipped with the 43 reflective markers following the ISB recommendations [18] facing the shelf, the table on his right and the bottles in a random combination.

An optoelectronic motion capture system Qualisys (composed of 23 12-Mpixels cameras, 200 Hz sampling frequency) was used to track 43 reflective markers placed on standardized anatomical landmarks, following the ISB (International society of Biomechanics) recommendations [18].

2.2 Data Processing

Based on the 3D position of the anatomical landmarks captures with the Qualisys system, joint angles were computed following ISB recommendations [18]. RULA scores were then computed using these joint angles. The RULA method involves adjustments for shoulder abduction\adduction movements, lateral flexion of the trunk. The threshold was set to 20° for the trunk and the wrist as suggested in [15], and 45° for the abduction\adduction of the shoulder. To compare the RULA score with the CP-50 score, both scores were normalized. The RULA score was normalized by the maximum of each score for all the bottles. Similarly, the CP-50 was normalized by the maximum of all placements of a trial. The RULA score was computed continuously all along the task at 200 Hz, whereas CP50 was collected as a unique score for each bottle placement. To obtain a unique postural score derived from RULA for each bottle, we tested different assumptions: the mean value of the continuous RULA score (1), the integral value (2), the Root Mean Square value (3), the weighted average time at each RULA level (4) and the % of time per RULA level (5).

$$Mean = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} RULA(i)}{N}$$
(1)

Integral =
$$\int_{t=1}^{N} RULA(t)dt$$
 (2)

$$RMS = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} RULA^{2}(i)}{N}}$$
(3)

Weighted average time at each RULA level = $\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{7} \alpha_i * count(RULA = i)}{\sum_{i=1}^{7} \alpha_i}$ (4)

% of time per RULA level:
$$\forall i = 1:7, level_i = 100 \frac{count(RULA = i)}{N}$$
 (5)

With

N: total number of frames.

RULA (i): the value of RULA at frame i.

Count (RULA = i): the number of frames where RULA value equals i.

 α_i : weights applied to Count (RULA = i). In this paper we have chosen $\forall i, \alpha_i = i$ to give more weight for important RULA scores.

RULA: The time spent in each score level of RULA.

To explore the correlation between scores derived from RULA and subjective ratings of the discomfort of the task, a principal component analysis (PCA) was performed using a pxm matrix where p is the total number of subjects and m = 6 (5 scores derived from RULA and one CP-50 score). The highest PCA coefficients were selected (leading to explain at least 80% of the variance). To evaluate the consistency of the subjects' ratings for the different trials using the CP-50, an intra-class correlation

coefficient (ICC) was computed. The difference between subjects' responses were also compared. This method allowed to explore how consistent were the ratings with regard to the experimental conditions.

3 Results and Discussion

 Table 1. PCA coefficients for different assumptions and the (%) of total variance for the first three components.

		Coefficient relating to the different assumptions							
Total Variance (%)		Mean	Integral	RMS	Weighted average time	CP- 50	%timeRULA = 4	%timeRULA = 6	%timeRULA = 7
First component	29.57	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.003	0.99	-0.007	0.03	0.01
Second component	25.67	0.25	0.25	0.26	0.10	-0.05	-0.29	0.73	0.05
Third component	23.81	0.11	0.11	0.08	0.03	0.06	0.82	-0.04	-0.03

Table 1 shows the results of the three first components of the PCA that described 79.05% of the total variance. The first component with 29.57% of the total variance was mainly based on CP-50 (99%). All the postural scores derived from RULA appear in the second and third components with 25% for the mean RULA score value, 26% for the root mean square RULA score value. The percentage of time spent at specific RULA levels (% time RULA = 1, 2, 3 and 5) were not significant in these three first components and therefore not reported here. We noticed a few negative correlations especially with the %time spent at RULA score equal to 4. The PCA results reveal that no correlation exists between the CP-50 and the postural scores derived from RULA. The ICC for all subjects and all trials was equal to 0.326, demonstrating a poor consistency of the intra and inter-subjects' ratings (CP-50 answers) with regard to the experimental conditions (bottle location on the shelf). We found poor correlation between CP-50 and postural scores, in agreement with the PCA analysis. Hence, although RULA scores enabled us to distinguish differences between the postures, our results show that discomfort reported by the subjects where inconsistent. Subject did not feel enough changes in the experimental conditions to clearly identify higher levels of discomfort for extreme postures (highest and lowest levels of the shelf for example). The CP-50 scale may also be too complex for such a task and may had resulted in a larger dispersion of the results. Concurrently, the scores derived from RULA logically reached higher levels for - assumed- more extreme postures. In the literature [16] showed a small agreement between CP-50 and RULA scores for handling task with 0 to 10 kg load. Similarly, [19] showed an agreement between RPE and physiological parameters for handling tasks with 23 kg load. Ours results seems to indicate that this agreement vanishes for the lowest load levels (1 kg). This result is in accordance with previous work [3] demonstrating that the heavier the weight is, the higher the correlation between postural and subjective assessment is.

4 Conclusion

In this study, the agreement between postural discomfort scores derived from RULA and self-report discomfort scores was investigated to explain the arduousness of the task. The major findings are:

- 1. The ICC of the subjects CP-50 ratings was low, indicating a poor consistency of the intra and inter subject answers with regard to the experimental conditions (here the postural changes related to the bottle placement).
- 2. The PCA analysis of the scores indicated that the postural assessment and the subject's answers were not correlated, in agreement with previous works.

Future works will involve a simpler rating scale to simplify the assessment for the subjects. The mass will also be increased to check the agreement found in the literature for such a task. The posture holding time will also be extensively investigated, since it is supposed to be a discriminant parameter to evaluate discomfort over time. Another interesting perspective would consist in investigating the subject fatigue with regard to repetitive tasks performed with low loads.

References

- 1. Bridger, R.S.: Introduction to Ergonomics, vol. 53. Taylor & Francis e-Library, New York (2003)
- Spielholz, P., Silverstein, B., Morgan, M., Checkoway, H., Kaufman, J.: Comparison of selfreport, video observation and direct measurement methods for upper extremity musculoskeletal disorder physical risk factors. Ergonomics 44(6), 588–613 (2001)
- Bao, S., Spielholz, P., Howard, N., Silverstein, B.: Force measurement in field ergonomics research and application. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 39(2), 333–340 (2009)
- 4. David, G., Woods, V., Li, G., Buckle, P.: The development of the Quick Exposure Check (QEC) for assessing exposure to risk factors for work-related musculoskeletal disorders. Appl. Ergon. **39**(1), 57–69 (2008)
- 5. Borg, G.: Borg's perceived exertion and pain scales. Human Kinetics, Champaign (1998). 04 vii
- Shen, W., Parsons, K.C.: Validity and reliability of rating scales for seated pressure discomfort. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 20(6), 441–461 (1997)
- Waters Tomas R, Vern, P.-A., Arun, G.: Application Manual for the Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation. PB94-176930 (1994)
- Occhipinti, E.: OCRA: a concise index for the assessment of exposure to repetitive movements of the upper limbs. Ergonomics 41(9), 1290–1311 (1998)
- 9. McAtamney and Nigel Corlett: RULA: a survey method for the investigation of work-related upper limb disorders. Appl. Ergon. **24**(2), 91–99 (1993)
- McAtamney, L., Hignett, S.: Rapid entire body assessment. Handbook Hum. Factors Ergon. Meth. 31, 8-1–8-11 (2004)
- Fagarasanu, M., Kumar, S.: Measurement instruments and data collection: a consideration of constructs and biases in ergonomics research. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 30(6), 355–369 (2002)

- Dockrell, S., O'Grady, E., Bennett, K., Mullarkey, C., Mc Connell, R., Ruddy, R., Twomey, S., Flannery, C.: An investigation of the reliability of Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA) as a method of assessment of children's computing posture. Appl. Ergon. 43(3), 632–636 (2012)
- Robertson, M., Amick, B.C., DeRango, K., Rooney, T., Bazzani, L., Harrist, R., Moore, A.: The effects of an office ergonomics training and chair intervention on worker knowledge, behavior and musculoskeletal risk. Appl. Ergon. 40(1), 124–135 (2009)
- Manghisi, V.M., Uva, A.E., Fiorentino, M., Bevilacqua, V., Trotta, G.F.: Monno: real time RULA assessment using Kinect v2 sensor. Appl. Ergon. 65, 481–491 (2017)
- Plantard, P., Shum, H.P.H., Le Pierres, A.S., Multon, F.: Validation of an ergonomic assessment method using Kinect data in real workplace conditions. Appl. Ergon. 65, 562– 569 (2017)
- Chihara, T., Hoshi, S., Akihiko SEO: 1B2-2 Fundamental Study on formulation of total perceived discomfort for the entire body in the sagittal plane based on joint moment. Jpn. J. Ergon. 5 Supplement, S140–S141 (2014)
- Wu, G., Van Der Helm, F.C.T., Veeger, H.E.J., Makhsous, M., Van Roy, P., Anglin, C., Nagels, J., Karduna, A.R., McQuade, K., Wang, X., Werner, F.W., Buchholz, B.: ISB recommendation on definitions of joint coordinate systems of various joints for the reporting of human joint motion - Part II: shoulder, elbow, wrist and hand. J. Biomech. 38(5), 981–992 (2005)
- Li, K.W., Yu, R., Gao, Y., Maikala, R.V., Tsai, H.H.: Physiological and perceptual responses in male Chinese workers performing combined manual materials handling tasks. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 39(2), 422–427 (2009)
- 19. Norme-NF-X35-109 : Manutention manuelle de charge pour soulever, déplacer et pousser/tirer. Paris, AFNOR, page-17

Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders



Evolution of a Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorder Risk Assessment Tool. The Case of CERA

Gyula Szabó^(⊠)

Bánki Donát Faculty of Mechanical and Safety Engineering, Óbuda University, Budapest, Hungary szabo.gyula@bgk.uni-obuda.hu

Abstract. The Composite Ergonomic Risk Assessment (CERA) is a wellknown and popular tool in Hungary for estimating work-related musculoskeletal risks. CERA applies the requirements of the EN 1005 standard series and implements and practical solutions like discomfort mapping. The original paperpencil version is available in Hungarian, English and Russian, and shortened versions are available for different jobs, e.g. office work, waste sorting and also motion-capture-based versions emerged. This paper describes the further development of this specific tool.

Keywords: Composite Ergonomic Risk Assessment · Musculoskeletal risk assessment · Hungary · Ergonomics · CERA

1 Introduction

According to the particular leading risk factor, professionals used several methodologies to assess wMSDs risk at the time of CERA publication in 2013. The aim of the development of our first paper-pencil tool was to cover all the risk factors for musculoskeletal disorders at the workplace and create a suitable instrument for performing risk assessment as an essential component of the occupational health and safety practice.

Although adaptations and translations of methods known in the international literature have provided state-of-the-art procedures, a genuinely high-level professional work required a domestic ergonomic risk assessment tool. The proliferation of CERA has related to that it is a core material in tertiary occupational health and safety training, in occupational safety inspector training and continuous professional development training for occupational health doctors.

The high-quality Hungarian ergonomics activity declined by the end of the 20th century, and the BME Department of Ergonomics and Psychology served as the only laboratory in the field, focusing mainly on cognitive ergonomics. Foreign companies entering the country following the political changes have brought with them the parent company's work culture and, as part of this, their workplace ergonomic practice and methodology. Local ergonomists responded to this challenge by adopting Western methods and educational materials, conducting studies, and launching workplace

ergonomics development programs. Already in the mid-nineties, it was clear that sooner or later, this professional community has to develop its new ergonomic risk assessment method, to fully grasp its operation and incorporate their experience into it.

More than a decade later, at Óbuda University, emerged an opportunity to develop a new method for risk assessment of work-related musculoskeletal injuries [1]. Virtually the entire domestic ergonomic professional community was involved, tested the most modern instruments to determine the data, explored the available methodology, carried out laboratory and field tests and summarized findings in a study volume [2]. The method and the lateral scientific results were presented at conferences, and thus Hungarian workplace ergonomics became visible again in international professional forums [3].

The method was developed based on domestic practice and solutions that matched both practitioner knowledge and the needs of businesses. The method was named after the US Army Risk Assessment [4], which expresses the completeness of the risk assessment. The English CERA acronym also provides the usual sound of similar methods as REBA or WERA.

Hundreds of CERA evaluations are already made, for job evaluation and, due to its didactic design, for workplace ergonomics training. In addition to the original Hungarian and English versions, it has already been translated into Russian, and the first Russian studies are currently underway.

During the development of CERA, Hungarian ergonomists explored the limitations of risk assessment of the work-related musculoskeletal diseases and participated in the development of modern prevention tools.

2 The Paper-Based Version of CERA

The paper-based version of CERA implements the requirement of the EN 1005 standard series and consists of five sheets for assessing and summarizing posture [5], force exertion [6], manual lifting [7] and repetitive movements [8]. The design objective was to create an easy-to-use tool which enables professionals to record findings in the workspace while observing and evaluating the activity. Figure 1 shows the basic fivepage paper-pencil version of CERA in English.

The first or summary sheet contains the description of the activity, the duration of the shift, the job identifiers, the portion of the standing/sitting/walking postures and the final results of the additional evaluation sheets. CERA however, it contains the following supplementary elements:

- a simplified discomfort survey evaluates the internal load and at the same time opens an opportunity to worker participation
- in the workplace history section it is possible to record the circumstances of the significant modifications of the particular workplace, and the accidents/illnesses occurring here,
- the development ideas/suggestions section provides space to document the ideas of the evaluators. The evaluation has to be strictly separated from intervention because ad hoc modifications made during the evaluation result in only corrections and prevent the real corrective actions.



Fig. 1. Five-page paper-pencil version of CERA in English

The posture assessment sheet includes an assessment of the position of the various body parts, i.e. the joints angle sometimes with specified angular values, sometimes with the speed of movement, repetition, and supports. Most importantly, the preference is to obtain natural posture and continuous but not too fast and not too frequent movement, whereas extreme postures, poor support, excessive repetition, high frequency give negative results.

CERA uses the traffic light for the evaluation, i.e. red for inadequate, yellow for improvement needed soon, and green for OK.

The second CERA page is for posture assessment which is a compulsory part of performing a CERA assessment. The posture assessment sheet also includes an evaluation of the posture of the wrist to assess repetitive movements in addition to a general assessment of posture.

In the remaining pages serve for the evaluation of effort, manual handling and repetitive movements when the circumstances indicated in the upper right corner of that particular sheet occur during the activity.

When evaluating an effort, after identifying the effort patterns, the level of effort should be determined and then comparing this with the force limits set on the evaluation sheet to determine the levels of risk.

The evaluation of manual handling and repetitive movements begins with verification of the applicability of CERA in that situation by reviewing some risk factors. The principal part is to compare movement characteristics with the critical cases, and finally to determine the risk level for manual handling or in case of repetitive movements for the left and right hands.

3 Workbook Version of the CERA

The CERA workbook version includes the different risk factors separately in a structure similar to the paper-pencil version.

Even the paper-pencil version is available in electronic form (fill-in PDF version), but the workbook version adapts a more advanced concept, contains fewer simplifications/limitations and provides a more accurate evaluation in comparison to the paper-pencil version. For example, to assess the risk of manual lifting the paper-pencil version applies critical cases but the worksheet version calculates with the NIOSH modified lifting equation, instead. Although the workbook version allows for a more accurate evaluation, in practice, the paper pencil-shaped method is still widespread.

4 ErgoCapture

At the time of CERA's development, current leading technical solution for capturing human movements, i.e. for measuring joint angles, was experimenting with 3D camera systems around the world. The Óbuda University research team conducted a VICON - ASUS comparative study and developed its evaluation software called ErgoCapture.

In the laboratory situation controlled both the activity and the users, the research primarily focused on the combined effect of risk factors, the data acquisition and processing possibilities, and the comparison of the feasibility of two instrumentation.

The experiment raised many difficulties and besides the difficulties of using the technique highlighted the potential for developing ergonomic risk assessment methodology. It proved that one of the technologies tested requires so much data processing that only makes it suitable for short-duration investigations in industrial settings. Still, the 3D sensor system was encouraging overall, with ease of use, cumbersome installation, and unproved accuracy of the motion capture.

With the ErgoCapture system, our final goal was to improve body posture evaluations by identifying and evaluating real postures rather than independently evaluating individual joint angles [9].

5 CERA Variants

Depending on the work activity, the CERA assessments often limited to posture evaluation and no repetitive movement or movement assessed and, on the other hand, sometimes certain risk factors for the activity were missing.

As part of CERA's development, the team have developed different versions for some everyday activities, leaving out unnecessary parts of CERA and adding some indirect risk factors that are easy to assess in the workplace.

For extremely demanding work, for manual waste sorting the CERA version shown in Fig. 2 was developed [10]. This job is performed standing, with a very high frequency of arm movements, usually under poor environmental conditions, handling materials of uncertain origin and characteristics, use of personal protective equipment, and often work organisation problems. In the risk assessment sheet, the risk factors







Fig. 3. CERA office

were determined based on a standard analysis of activity [11] and complemented the assessment of posture and repetitive movements.

The two-pages CERA-office shown in Fig. 3 provides an evaluation of display and input devices for a computer workstation, additionally to the more precise and more workplace-appropriate posture assessment than the original CERA version [12].

6 Summary

The Composite Ergonomic Risk Assessment is remarkable in the Hungarian workplace ergonomics. Along with the development and dissemination various versions, an ergonomics language spread about such enabling the work of those involved in job creation to work together. Through CERA development and ErgoCapture enhancement, the team gained experience with state-of-the-art instrumentation and developed solutions for the most diverse situations and identified the need for further development in the field.

References

- Gyula, S.: Evaluation and prevention of work-related musculoskeletal disorders in Hungary, In: Ahran, T.Z., Waldemar, K. (eds.) Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Safety, pp. 195– 202. CRC Press - Taylor and Francis Group, Orlando (2012). ISBN 9781439870389
- Gyula, S. (ed.): Munkahelyi ergonómiai kockázatok csökkentésének lehetőségei, Budapest, Óbuda University (2013). 242 p. ISBN 9786155460012
- Gábor, M., Gyula, S.: Just an other ergonomic tool: the 'Composite Ergonomic Risk Assessment', In: Mijović, B., Salopek Čubrić, I., Čubrić, G., Sušić, A. (eds.) Ergonomics 2013: 5th International Ergonomics Conference, Zadar, Croatian Academy of Sciences and Arts. pp. 169–174 (2013)
- 4. ATP 5–19 Risk Management, Headquarters, Department of the Army (2014). https://armypubs.army.mil/epubs/DR_pubs/DR_a/pdf/web/atp5_19.pdf. (utoljára letöltve 2019. július 13.)
- 5. EN 1005-4:2005+A1:2008 Safety of machinery. Human physical performance. Part 4: Evaluation of working postures and movements in relation to machinery
- 6. EN 1005-3:2002+A1:2008 Safety of machinery. Human physical performance. Part 3: Recommended force limits for machinery operation
- 7. EN 1005-2:2003+A1:2008 Safety of machinery. Human physical performance. Part 2: Manual handling of machinery and component parts of machinery
- 8. EN 1005-5 Safety of machinery Human physical performance Part 5: Risk assessment for repetitive handling at high frequency
- Gyula, S.: ErgoCapture a motion capture based ergonomics risk assessment tool, In: Jang, R., Ahran, T. (eds.) Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics 2014 and the Affiliated Conferences, pp. 313–321. AHFE International, Crakow (2014)
- Eszter, P.V.: Hulladékválogatás ergonómiai vizsgálata, szakdolgozat a munkavédelmi szakember szakirányú továbbképzési szakon (konzulens Szabó Gyula és Földvári Péter). Óbudai Egyetem, Budapest (2017)

- 11. EN 16710-2:2016 Ergonomics methods Part 2: A methodology for work analysis to support design
- Gyula, S., Edit, N.: Development an office ergonomic risk checklist: composite office ergonomic risk assessment (CERA Office), In: Fujita, Y., Alexander, T., Albolino, S., Tartaglia, R., Bagnara, S. (eds.) Proceedings of the 20th Congress of the International Ergonomics Association (IEA 2018), pp. 590–597. Springer, Cham (2019). Paper: Chapter 64, 8 p.



Physical Load and Preventive Measures in Metal Manufacturing Industry

Henrijs Kalkis^{1(⊠)}, Kristine Andza¹, and Zenija Roja²

¹ Faculty of Business, Economics and Management, University of Latvia, Aspazijas blvd. 5, Riga, LV 1050, Latvia henrijs.kalkis@gmail.com, kristine.andza@gmail.com ² Ergonomic Research Center, University of Latvia, Jelgavas street 1, Riga, LV 1004, Latvia zenija.roja@lu.lv

Abstract. In today's advanced work environment, workers are still exposed to ergonomic risks in the work environment and employees are exposed physically hard work that includes moving loads and frequent repetitive movements at fast pace. For the ergonomic risk analysis and workload assessment, three work operations with the high physical activity were selected: the welder's workplace, the ironing board sorting line and the ironing board's packing station. Subjective and objective ergonomics research methods were used. Research results show that employees in selected work operations are exposed to a fast work speed and often, monotonous movements at the sorting line and lifting heavy loads at the ironing board packaging workplace. Improvements in work processes and reduction of ergonomic risks are achieved through organizational and technical solutions that do not require significant material investment.

Keywords: Physical load · Ergonomics · Preventive measures · Manufacturing · Heart rate · Blood pressure

1 Introduction

Metal industry today faces new challenges due to rapid development in technology, global trade, changes in labor market and work content. The European economy is largely industry-based and provides jobs for 32 million people. One of the most important challenges of our time is population growth. Prognosis shows, that by 2050 the population in the age group of 24 to 60 will decrease by 16% [1]. As a result of these changes and the evolution of Industry 4.0 paradigms, manufacturing companies are increasingly seeking to automate manufacturing processes. Robotic equipment is used to make more efficient work processes, manufacturing would require less workforce and the skillset of the workers will also dramatically change. While it is believed that automation and robotics will replace humans, there is still a need for humans to control robots. Robotics and automation allow to achieve higher levels of productivity and accuracy that humans cannot achieve and are used for tasks that people may not be safe to perform and may not be able to perform [2].

Despite today's rapid technical development in the manufacturing industry in today's work environment, workers are still exposed to ergonomic risks in the work environment and employees are exposed physically hard work that includes moving loads and frequent repetitive movements at fast pace [3]. The number of first-time occupational patients is increasing every year in Latvia, in 2018 the number of first-time occupational patients increased by 19% compared to the previous year, the highest number was registered in the manufacturing sector. Musculoskeletal disorders are one of the most common occupational diseases, in total accounting for 529 people [4]. Research results by other authors shows that workers in factories are subjected to physically demanding work, resulting in fatigue and poor work quality [5, 6]. This is in agreement with research findings that manual handling workers who work under increased stress may develop various musculoskeletal disorders [3, 7].

The medium sized metal processing manufacturing plant in Latvia was chosen for the research with the main production of ironing boards. Such metal operations faces various challenges in Latvian market because it is very difficult to automate many processes and work requires hard manual handling, repetitive arm movements, bent positions and physical strain on various body parts. Hence the physical workload analysis and preventive measures are very essential in this sector to reduce ergonomic risks and improve wellbeing and performance.

The aim of the research was to evaluate physical load in metal ironing boards processing operations of welding, sorting and packing as well as to elaborate preventive measures. The study was approved by the Human Ethics and Institutional Review Board at the University of Latvia in 2018.

2 Materials and Methods

In the ergonomic risk analysis, methods were selected to evaluate the physical and static load of the workers as well as the muscular load during the work. In addition, heart rate was assessed using objective assessment methods.

To determine the level of workload the *Key Indicator Methods (KIM)* was used. The KIM - I method determines workload in lifting and handling operations, KIM - II method – workload in pulling and pushing operations, KIM - III method – workload when often hand movements are used [8, 9].

Quick Exposure Check (QEC) method is used in ergonomic risk analysis to identify the effect of workload on the employee musculoskeletal system. The method is based on surveys of employees and expert observation data. QEC considers the condition of the back, shoulders, arms, palms, wrists and neck, as well as other factors such as stress, pace of work, even driving factor when it is related to the work performance. This method allows to determine the risk level of workload for certain body parts [8, 10].

Heart rate monitoring – experimental/ clinical evaluation method to determine the workload the employee is exposed to how dynamic and physically hard is work. This method not only determines the heart rate, but also the consumption of metabolic energy. Heart rate is measured in beats per minute [11, 12]. Heart rate and energy consumption are closely related to the work content and its severity. Classification of energy consumption and heart rate can be seen in Table 1 [12, 13].

Work heaviness category	Heart rate, beat/min	Energy consumption, kcal/min	
		Males	Females
Light work	>90	2.0-4.9	1.5–3.4
Moderately hard work	100	5.0-7.4	3.5-5.4
Hard work	120	7.5–9.9	5.5–7.4
Very hard work	140	10.0–12.4	7.5–9.4
Too hard work	160 and more	12.5 and more	9.5 and more

 Table 1. Work heaviness category classifications based on heart rate and energy consumption [13]

A variety of devices can be used to measure the heart rate. Several equipment was used, such as *Polar RCX5 Heart Rate Monitor*, *Polar H7 Bluetooth Smart Heart Rate Monitor*, *Polar M430*, *Polar A370* un *Polar Vantage M*. The devices capture the heart rate data and convert it into the metabolic energy (kcal/min). The obtained results were processed by a special computer software - Polar Flow.

3 Result and Discussion

For the ergonomic risk and workload analysis, three work operations were selected where the workers were most exposed to physical load, i.e. welders, ironing board sorting line operators, and ironing board packing operators. In each workplace, 5 employees were analyzed, a total of 15 people, of whom 7 were males, 8 were females and they were in the age group of 25-50. The job characteristics in welding operations is to assemble and weld the ironing boards, and to lift heavy welded boards. This results in heavy overload on the hands, shoulders and neck. In the ironing board sorting line, employees need to hang ironing board frames (ironing board feet and board surface) on the automated painting line, which is moving at a certain speed, and afterwards removing, marking and assembling these ironing board parts on the trolley. Hence frequently employees are exposed to constantly lifted arms above the heart level and overload in both hands and shoulders. Workers at the ironing board packaging workplace regularly must pull the ironing board pallets, place the board on the packing line and label it. This work is physically demanding due to the pulling the pallets and lifting the ironing boards on the packing line (the weight of the ironing board can reach 9 kilograms (kg)).

3.1 Subjective Analysis Methods

KIM method results show that risk degree varies from II to III risk level, which means that there are ergonomic risks at the workplaces and employees are exposed to various workload factors. At all workplaces it was found out that workload when employees are lifting and moving heavy loads (KIM – I method) corresponds to risk level III. The weight of heavy loads is variating depending on the workplace. Range is from 1 to 2 kg – ironing board parts in assembling operations, the weight can be 5 kg and 8 to 9 kg when the ironing board is completed. Workload assessment by the KIM – II method

(pulling and moving heavy loads on trolleys) shows that risk lever is higher at the packing workstation, where total weight of pallet can reach 230–350 kg. The III risk level was detected at the welding workplace for the frequent manual operations (KIM – III method).

The QEC method shows that the workload is analyzed work operations ranges from risk level II to III. Welders' workload risk level corresponds to II risk degree and the most stressed parts of the body are the hands and shoulders, as well as the wrists and fingers doing frequent arm and hand movements. Ironing board sorting line worker's correspond to III risk degree, and the most stressed parts of the body are hands and shoulders. Worth to mention, that for sorting line operations an important factor is the pace of work, which affects the workload of employees. At the ironing board's packing station employees are subjected to III risk degree and the highest workload is on the back due to lifting heavy ironing boards during the work process. Results of the KIM and QEC methods are summarized in the Table 2.

Methods		Gender M-male	Ironing board's welding		Ironing board's sorting line		Ironing board's packing station	
		F - female	Score	Risk	Score	Risk	Score	Risk
				level		level		level
KIM	A	М	32.0	III	40.0	III	36.0	III
	В	М	-	-	18.0	II	_	-
		F	-	-	23.4	III	26.0	III
	С	F	42.0	III	21.0	II	15.0	Π
QEC			112.0	II	115.0	III	118.0	Ш

Table 2. Results obtained by subjective methods

Comparing the data obtained from subjective methods, it can be concluded that the KIM and QEC methods have quite similar risk levels, but there are also noticeable differences. Each method has factors to emphasize, for example, the KIM method divides certain activities and can even subdivide and calculate risk levels for females and males (with KIM – II method), whereas the QEC method provides a more detailed assessment of organizational factors, such as work pace and stress, which is also very important when assessing ergonomic risks.

3.2 Methods of Objective Analysis

Heart rate monitoring research results shows, that energy consumption is variable, and the severity of the work is in the range of II to IV risk degree. Hence workers are subjected to high workload. The highest workload is identified at the ironing board sorting line, with an average energy consumption of 8.6 ± 0.6 kcal/ min, which corresponds to risk level IV for females and risk level III for males. At the ironing board packing workplace, the level of workload ranges from III to IV risk degree.

Employees need to lift heavy ironing boards (the weight of the ironing boards depends on customer orders), and can range from 7.5–9.0 kg, and 380 ironing boards are packed and lifted during the shift. Only females are employed in this workplace, so the level of workload is much higher compared to other work operations, for example welders (all males) fall in the II risk level. Results of objective heart rate monitoring data are represented in the Table 3.

Table 3.	Workers heart rate (HR), energy consumption (EC), Pearson's correlation(r) and work
heaviness	category (WHC).

Workers	Mean HR \pm SD,	Range HR,	Mean EC, \pm SD	r	WHC
	beats/min	beats/min	kcal/min		
Ironing board's welders (n=5)	104 ± 4	100–110	6.0 ± 0.9	0.97	II
Ironing board's sorting line (n=5)	113 ± 5	109–120	8.6 ± 0.6	0.90	III/IV
Ironing board's packing station (n=5)	108 ± 4	104–113	7.6 ± 0.5	0.98	IV

Results show that the most burdensome workplaces, according to heart rate monitoring, are the ironing board sorting line and the ironing board packing workstation, where the risk level IV is obtained.

Heart rate monitoring data shows how overloaded an employee is during working hours: lifting loads (ironing board packing and sorting workplace), frequent manual operations (ironing board welding workstation), doing frequent arm movements and going long distances (ironing board sorting workplace).

This results in a high amount of energy consumption and high-risk levels of overload at the work.

3.3 Preventive Measures

During the research, preventive measures were developed based on continuous cycle of improvement idea in manufacturing operations [14]. The main preventive measures were related to organizational rearrangements to distribute and reduce the workload. Technical improvements included new work equipment - adjustable work desks and anti-fatigue mats.

Improving the work process and implementing measures cannot be accomplished without individual training, such as how to properly perform work tasks, how to adjust the work desk, and relaxing exercises during rest breaks.

Additional measurements such as microclimate measurements, chemical measurements (for welders and at workstations near painting lines) are required to understand what additional risk factors may be affecting the worker. Preventive measures are summarized in the Table 4.

Improvement category	Preventive measures
Organizational measures	• Rotation of work operations so that the employee does not have the same and frequent work operations and work severity (the work severity in another work operation must not be higher than in current operation);
	• Informing employees about the balanced work organization and ergonomic solutions at the workplaces;
	• Observe certain rest periods (according to the severity of the work), 15 – 25 min every hour, depending on the task to be performed
Technical improvements/inventory	• Provide lifting tables to avoid awkward working postures (bent back and load in shoulder and neck regions);
	• Use an ergonomic anti-fatigue mat to transfer body weight from one foot to another
Individual measures	• Organize work in such a way that routine work operations can be carried out (at hand stroke > 50 cm) and should not extend beyond 50 cm;
	• Keep body as close as possible to the work area;
	• Adjust workplace to allow enough space to change job positions;
	• For convenient picking up of items and placement in shelves, the worker should be at a comfortable height - from knee to shoulder level;
	• Relaxing and stretching muscles (back, lumbar, shoulder, neck parts) during rest periods to reduce the risk of work related muscular skeletal disorders. Attract certified occupational therapists who can provide proper training of employees
Measurements/anthropometric readings	• Adjust the height of the work surface according to anthropometric data - the height of the worktable should be between 95–109 cm (depending on the height of the employed person);
	• Perform the microclimate measures in the workplace;
	• Perform the laboratory measurements of chemicals at the workplaces, microclimate laboratory measures to evaluate the effectiveness of ventilation and worker exposure

Table 4. Preventive measures at the workplaces

Such preventive measures will pay off for the company, as confirmed by scientific studies [15]. During the work, rest breaks and relaxation and stretching exercises are recommended to relieve the strain on the muscles.

The training of employees on ergonomic solutions and the principles of work organization is required as it was observed that employees frequently don't use ergonomic work principles even if the technology and equipment is provided by the management of the company.

4 Conclusion

It can be concluded that workers in all inspected groups were exposed to ergonomic risks and heavy physical workload. The objective heart rate monitoring data was in accordance with subjective research results and proved the overload for employees at the sorting and packing line operations. Improvements in work processes and reduction of ergonomic risks can be achieved through organizational and technical solutions that do not require significant material investment.

Acknowledgments. This research has been supported by the project "Ergonomic stress indicators in contemporary technological work environment and possibilities of its improvement in social-technical system "Human-Machine-Environment", Agreement No. Nr.1.1.1.2/VIAA/3/ 19/546.

References

- 1. Qin, J., Liu, Y., Grosvenora, R.: A categorical framework of manufacturing for industry 4.0 and beyond. Procedia CIRP (52), 173–178 (2016)
- Bayraktar, O., Ataç, C.: The effects of Industry 4.0 on human resources management. Globalization, Institutions and Socio-Economic Performance Macro and Micro Perspectives, pp. 337–359. Peter Lang (2018)
- 3. Ayub, Y., Shah, Z.A.: Assessment of work related musculoskeletal disorders in manufacturing industry. J. Ergon. (2018)
- 4. State labour inspection 2018 performance review (in Latvian). Riga (2019)
- Hernández, J., Castillo, J., Serratos, J., García-Alcaraz, J.: Relationship between workload and fatigue among mexican assembly operators. Int. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 3(6), 315 (2015)
- Lind, C.: Assessment and design of industrial manual handling to reduce physical ergonomics hazards – use and development of assessment tools. Doctoral thesis (No. 2017:7) KTH Royal Institute of Technology. Technology and Health Unit of Ergonomics (2017)
- Deros, B.M., Daruis, D.D.I., Ismail, A.R., Sawal, N.A., Ghani, J.A.: Work-related musculoskeletal disorders among workers' performing manual material handling work in an automotive manufacturing company. American Journal of Applied Sciences 7(8), 1087– 1092 (2015). 2010 ISSN 1546-9239
- 8. Kalkis, V.: Work environment risk assessment methods (in Latvian). Riga (2008). 242 p.
- Klussmann, A., Steiberg, U., Liebers, F., Gebhardt, H., Rieger, M.A.: The Key Indicator Method for Manual Handling Operations (KIM-MHO) - evaluation of a new method for the assessment of working conditions within a cross-sectional study. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders 11, 272 (2010)
- Li, G., Buckle, P.: A practical method for the assessment of work-related musculoskeletal risks Quick Exposure Check (QEC). In: Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, pp. 1351–1355. SAGE Publications (1998)
- 11. Kalkis, V., Roja, Z., Kalkis, H.: Occupational health and risks at work (in Latvian). Medicinas apgads, Riga (2015). 533 p.
- Michael, S., Graham, K. S., Davis, G.M.: Cardiac autonomic responses during exercise and post-exercise recovery using heart rate variability and systolic time intervals—a review. Front. Physiol. 8 (2017). Article 301

- Roja, Z., Kalkis, V., Vain, A., Kalkis, H., Eglite, M.: Assessment of skeletal muscle fatigue of road maintenance workers based on heart rate monitoring and myotonometry. J. Occupat. Med. Toxicol. 1, 20 (2006). p. 9
- 14. Kalkis, H., Roja, Z.: Strategic model for ergonomics implementation in operations management. J. Ergon. 6(4) (2016)
- Kalkis, H.: Economic analytical methods for work-related MSD cost prediction. Procedia Manuf. 3, 4181–4188 (2015)


A Convolutional Neural Network Model to Classify the Effects of Vibrations on Biceps Muscles

Jen-Yung Tsai¹, Yih-Kuen Jan^{2,3,4}, Ben-Yi Liau⁵, Raden Bagus Reinaldy Subiakto⁶, Chih-Yang Lin⁷, Rimuljo Hendradi⁶, Yi-Chuan Hsu⁸, Quanxin Lin⁹, Hsin-Ting Chang⁹, and Chi-Wen Lung^{2,9(⊠)}

¹ Department of Digital Media Design, Asia University, Taichung, Taiwan
 ² Rehabilitation Engineering Lab, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign,

Champaign, IL, USA

³ Kinesiology & Community Health,

University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Champaign, IL, USA ⁴ Computational Science & Engineering,

University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Champaign, IL, USA

⁵ Department of Biomedical Engineering, Hungkuang University,

Taichung, Taiwan

⁶ Department of Mathematics, Universitas Airlangga, Surabaya, Indonesia

⁷ Department of Electrical Engineering, Yuan Ze University, Taoyuan, Taiwan

⁸ Department of Industrial Design, National United University, Miaoli, Taiwan
 ⁹ Department of Creative Product Design, Asia University, Taichung, Taiwan

cwlung@asia.edu.tw

Abstract. Muscle fatigue occurs after sports activities, repeated actions in a routine job, or a heavy-duty job. It causes soreness and reduces performance in athletes and workers. Various therapies have been developed to reduce muscle fatigue. Vibration therapy has been used to reduce muscle fatigue and delay muscle soreness. However, its effectiveness remains unclear. Ultrasound images provide a non-invasive diagnosis and instant visual examinations. However, it requires extensive training to analyze ultrasound images. The purpose of this study was to develop an automated classification system of ultrasound images using deep learning to assist clinical diagnosis. The ultrasound images of the biceps muscle were measured from four healthy people. The primary objective of the study was to use the convolutional neural network (CNN) models to classify between the vibration control condition (0 Hz) and vibration test conditions (5, 35, and 50 Hz) with subjects in different time duration the pattern (2 and 10-min). These images were preprocessed to resize to 224×224 pixels and augmentation to feed into the dataset, including the augmentation training dataset (74%), validation dataset (15%), and non-augmentation test dataset (11%). This study used the AlexNet, VGG-16, and VGG-19 of CNN models for recognition and classification ultrasound images. These models compared the differences of ultrasound images of biceps after various vibration between two conditions. The results showed that AlexNet has the best performance with the accuracy 82.5%, sensitivity 67.3%, and specificity 99.5% when 10-min 35 Hz local vibration was applied. The deep learning method, AlexNet, shows the potential for automated

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 56–62, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_8

57

classification of biceps ultrasound images for assessing treatment outcomes of vibration therapy.

Keywords: Skeletal muscle fatigue · Ultrasound images · Deep learning

1 Introduction

Skeletal muscle fatigue occurs after sports activities, repeated actions in a routine job, or a heavy-duty job. The vigorous contraction of the muscle group causes skeletal muscle fatigue reflected in weakening the muscle strength and delayed action response [1]. Some report indicates muscle fatigue insufficient energy metabolism, decreased neural signal transport, or weakened muscle fiber contraction [2, 3]. Muscle fiber continuously contracts could intend microdamage and tissue inflammation muscle swelling to cause discomfort and affect strength performance [4]. There are some methods to restoring muscle strength including recovery rest, cold water immersion, massage, and vibration therapy. In other reports, the massage and vibration therapy effects reduce the uncomfortable symptom. [5, 6]. Although vibration therapy increased microcirculation [7] to assists recover muscle fatigue, it requires more studies for vibration frequency and duration.

The ultrasonography provides a low-cost and non-invasive examination to get instant images on the skeletal muscle and soft tissue in the clinic [8]. It has to take extensive training to interpret and analyze ultrasound images from the clinic appliance [9]. Even though a well-trained expert, they could affect clinical diagnosis through eyestrain and inattention. To resolve this problem, the computer-assisted diagnostic tool to screen the lesion to identify large numbers and complex images with the convolutional neural network (CNN) model of deep learning [10, 11].

The hypothesis of the study was that after the frequency and duration of the vibration treatment, the intervention would be changed the soft tissue graphic texture in the ultrasound image. The deep learning of ultrasound images would be used to find the correlation between vibration frequency and time duration affecting muscle fatigue. Through three different CNN models, AlexNet, VGG-16, and VGG-19, the frequency and duration of vibration therapy were classified by CNN presented with ultrasound images in the experiment.

2 Methods

2.1 Participants and Instruments

This study recruited four healthy people for gathering ultrasound images of biceps muscles. The subjects have no orthopedic history and no arm injury reports in the last six months. The research protocol was explained to the subjects who signed an informed consent form. The demographic data of participant were as follow age 28.0 ± 14.7 years, body weight 80.5 ± 14.5 kg, body height 175.5 ± 5.2 cm, body mass index (BMI) 26 ± 3.4 kg/m².

About the measure and data collection, the ultrasonic instrument used in this institute was a Pandora-Care wireless ultrasonic machine (40fps, E-Sono Biotech Co. Ltd., Taoyuan, Taiwan), with a linear probe (B-Mode, 6 MHz and the depth at 4.9 cm) for musculoskeletal scanning. The vibration experiment in this study uses a customized voice coil motor to massage the arm of subjects.

2.2 Data Preparation

Before the experiment, all subjects sit still for a relatively steady body and mood in 10-min. First, subjects straighten the left arm to scan the ultrasound image as a 0 Hz non-vibration image for the control condition. For the vibration condition, the vibrator fixed on the table and placed a cylindrical head on the top-end to protect the subject's skin.

The parameters of the experiment set on three different vibration test conditions at 5, 35, and 50 Hz with two different time duration pattern in 2 and 10-min [12, 13]. After vibration, the subject immediately uses the ultrasound device to get the vibration image as the experimental condition data. Every subject rested at 30 min intervals while receiving another frequency of vibration [14]. All ultrasound images were recorded as video files, and separate into individual images by Premiere PRO CC 2012 (Adobe Inc., San Jose, USA). The images have been review images were applied to resize to 224×224 pixels and augmentation [15]. These images review and filter out the not qualify raw material which was blank, black, or unclear images. It has to take the data augmentation that flip, scale size, rotate raw data images in the training dataset for getting better deep learning efficiency [16].

There were 55,701 original ultrasound images collected in this study, including the control condition and the test condition. After data augmentation, the 120,423 images of data augmentation were fed separately into the different datasets, including three groups: 100,428 training images (74%), 19,995 validation images (15%), and 16,482 test images (11%).

2.3 CNN and Training

This study was used Google Tensorflow as the backend framework for the CNN architecture. The deep learning model was created by Keras and uses the open-source neural network library in Python. The deep learning model was built on AlexNet, VGG-16, VGG-19 to learn the subject's biceps ultrasound images. All of these models were trained on personal computer equipped on Intel i7-7700 CPU and 32 GB DDR4 RAM with an NVIDIA GeForce GTX2080 Super GPU.

2.4 Performance Evaluation

This study uses quantitative accuracy (ACC) to evaluate the model performance of vibration classification. It also could area under the curve (AUC) of receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves for assessing [10, 16]. It used to show the relation between model sensitivity and specificity. In addition, the performance of the model can also be evaluated through the confusion matrix of the binary classification.

3 Results

The preliminary results were as following this study compared the difference of before and after on the ultrasonic images of four healthy person's biceps muscle. The CNN model presents the outstanding effect to classify the vibration of 5, 35, and 50 Hz with a 1 mm amplitude at 2 and 10-min group.

In 2-min duration, the best test accuracy was 87.4% at 50 Hz with VGG 19. The second high accuracy was 80.6% at 35 Hz with AlexNet. In 10-min, the AlexNet present good accuracy was over 80% as 82.5% in 35 Hz and 82.4% in 50 Hz. The deep learning model shows that the ultrasound image of the biceps muscle has a high recognition rate at high-frequency vibrations of 35 Hz and 50 Hz.

This study used the ROC curve to calculate the range of AUC. The highest AUC of vibration testing models in 2-min condition was evaluated as 0.806, 0.857 for 35 Hz and 50 Hz, respectively. The highest AUC of vibration test models in the 10-min was presented in AlexNet at 0.834, 0.814 for 35 Hz and 50 Hz, respectively (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. The biceps muscle of ultrasound images scanned images at different frequency conditions of vibration.

4 Discussion

The ultrasound images were classified by three different models in order to find out the influence of varying vibration and time duration on the biceps muscle. The ultrasound image showed that the muscles of the upper arm surround the humerus with a long head of the biceps, the short head of the biceps and brachialis. On the non-vibration image, the edges of different muscle and tissue areas can be clearly seen. With different time and vibration changes, it shows that the texture of muscle and tissue increased in the ultrasound images [8], as shown in Fig. 2. Although shows from experiments that as time and vibration frequency increases, the model gains the feature extraction to get a better chance to identify the biceps ultrasound images (Table 1).

The deep learning requires a huge amount of images for the dataset for training, validation, and testing. Even if to execute the model of CNN require a high-speed computing process to calculate by GPU [15]. Besides, these datasets also have to set the label to correct images as the ground truth for CNN training [10]. It was the most



Fig. 2. The subject takes the vibration at different frequencies of ultrasound images in 10-min condition (A) 5 Hz; (B) 35 Hz; and (C) 50 Hz.

Duration	Model	Vibration Condition	Train	Test ACC	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUC
2-min	AlexNet	0-50 Hz	96.2%	76.1%	59.4%	94.3%	0.769
		0–35 Hz	95.8%	80.6%*	61.6%	100.0%	0.806#
		0–50 Hz	96.2%	67.0%	37.6%	90.2%	0.857#
	VGG-16	0–50 Hz	94.2%	73.9%	50.1%	100.0%	0.676
		0–35 Hz	86.5%	55.0%	81.7%	27.7%	0.559
		0–50 Hz	96.9%	79.8%	67.6%	89.5%	0.729
	VGG-19	0–50 Hz	97.4%	76.1%	59.4%	94.3%	0.604
		0–35 Hz	84.6%	48.5%	94.5%	1.5%	0.491
		0–50 Hz	97.6%	87.4%*	71.4%	100.0%	0.517
10-min	AlexNet	0–50 Hz	94.6%	73.0%	48.5%	100.0%	0.742
		0–35 Hz	96.6%	82.5%*	67.3%	99.5%	0.834#
		0–50 Hz	94.6%	82.4%*	62.8%	100.0%	0.814#
	VGG-16	0–50 Hz	97.1%	79.9%	61.7%	100.0%	0.738
		0–35 Hz	96.9%	77.4%	58.9%	98.1%	0.727
		0–50 Hz	96.5%	75.7%	48.9%	100.0%	0.706
	VGG-19	0–50 Hz	97.0%	67.0%	37.2%	100.0%	0.594
		0–35 Hz	98.4%	61.0%	45.6%	78.2%	0.568
		0–50 Hz	94.4%	79.7%	57.2%	100.0%	0.644

 Table 1. The ultrasound images of the biceps muscle test result in different vibration conditions and time duration.

Note: ACC, accuracy; AUC, area under the curve; *, higher than 80% in ACC; #, higher than 0.8 in AUC.

challenging task to get the ground truth of medical images in clinical diagnosis. The ground truth was controlled easily on a small scale. Nevertheless, the dataset has to use augmentation to enlarge the quantities in the preprocessing stage. The ultrasound images have been treated in rotating the positive and negative 45 degrees, flipping, and increase the contrast of the image.

The AUC value ranges from 0 to 1, and the larger the value presents the better reference value. If the AUC range falls between $0.8 \leq AUC \leq 0.9$, it means that the performance of the model has an excellent reference value. In this study, the AUC of the CNN model above 0.8 was AlexNet, where the highest AUC was 0.857 at 50 Hz in the 2-min group and the 0.834 at 35 Hz in the 10-min group.

The other tool was the confusion matrix that evaluates the performance of the deep learning model [17]. The highest sensitivity of 94.5% falls on 35 Hz of VGG-19 model in the 2-min group. However, this VGG-19 model's specificity was too low at 1.5% to support it as a good model for ultrasound images. It shows the high sensitivity of 67.3% and specificity 99.5% at the 35 Hz in the 10-min group of the AlexNet model. In this study, the good model has presented a high performance in all aspects of accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, and AUC with the AlexNet model.

For the preliminary study, it shows that different vibration patterns may affect skeletal muscle. However, it was limited by the test sample scale and clinical treatment. The other limitation could be hidden in the factor as microcirculation or neuromuscular. In the future, it can take further steps to study advanced models to recognize medical images. The vibration therapy could use this study results to design the assistive device to help the patient reduce the uncomfortable situations.

5 Conclusion

Compared with the VGG model, AlexNet has higher accuracy and more accurate detection capabilities. This study shows that classic models such as AlexNet have an excellent classification effect on musculoskeletal ultrasound images. The AlexNet presents the best model with ACC 82.5%, AUC 0.834, Sensitivity 67.3%, and Specificity 99.5%. The proposed deep learning method of this study to ultrasound images can be used as an efficient tool to help improve the diagnostic accuracy of muscle fatigue.

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to thank Dr. Charles C.N. Wang and Mr. Chen-Yu Lien M.Sc. for their assistance. This study was supported by the Ministry of Science and Technology of the Republic of China (MOST-108-2221-E-468-018, MOST-108-2813-C-468-018-E), and Asia University Hospital and China Medical University Hospital (ASIA-107-AUH-09).

References

1. Debold, E.P.: Potential molecular mechanisms underlying muscle fatigue mediated by reactive oxygen and nitrogen species. Front. Physiol. 6, 239 (2015)

- Callahan, D.M., Umberger, B.R., Kent, J.A.: Mechanisms of in vivo muscle fatigue in humans: investigating age-related fatigue resistance with a computational model. J. Physiol. 594, 3407–3421 (2016)
- 3. Chen, C.-L., Lung, C.-W., Jan, Y.-K., Liau, B.-Y., Tang, J.-S.: The effects of cupping therapy on reducing fatigue of upper extremity muscles—a pilot study. In: Ahram, T. (ed.) Advances in Human Factors in Sports, Injury Prevention and Outdoor Recreation: Proceedings of the AHFE 2017 International Conference on Human Factors in Sports, Injury Prevention and Outdoor Recreation, July 17–21, 2017, The Westin Bonaventure Hotel, Los Angeles, California, USA, pp. 73–83. Springer, Cham (2018)
- 4. Martin, R.B.: Fatigue microdamage as an essential element of bone mechanics and biology. Calcif. Tissue Int. **73**, 101–107 (2003)
- Dupuy, O., Douzi, W., Theurot, D., Bosquet, L., Dugue, B.: An evidence-based approach for choosing post-exercise recovery techniques to reduce markers of muscle damage, soreness, fatigue, and inflammation: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Front. Physiol. 9, 403 (2018)
- Wiewelhove, T., Schneider, C., Doweling, A., Hanakam, F., Rasche, C., Meyer, T., Kellmann, M., Pfeiffer, M., Ferrauti, A.: Effects of different recovery strategies following a half-marathon on fatigue markers in recreational runners. PLoS ONE 13, e0207313 (2018)
- Ren, W., Pu, F., Luan, H., Duan, Y., Su, H., Fan, Y., Jan, Y.K.: Effects of local vibration with different intermittent durations on skin blood flow responses in diabetic people. Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 7, 310 (2019)
- Shi, J., Zheng, Y.P., Chen, X., Huang, Q.H.: Assessment of muscle fatigue using sonomyography: muscle thickness change detected from ultrasound images. Med. Eng. Phys. 29, 472–479 (2007)
- 9. Favot, M., Courage, C., Mantouffel, J., Amponsah, D.: Ultrasound TRAINING IN THE EMERGENCY MEDICINE CLERKSHIP. West. J. Emerg. Med. 16, 938–942 (2015)
- Rangrej, S.B., Sivaswamy, J.: Assistive lesion-emphasis system: an assistive system for fundus image readers. J. Med. Imaging (Bellingham) 4, 024503 (2017)
- Tsai, J.Y., Jan, Y.K., Liau, B.Y., Subiakto, R.B.R., Hendradi, R., Hsu, Y.C., Chang, H.T., Lung, C.W.: A convolutional neural network model to classify the effects of vibrations on biceps muscles. In: Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing (2021)
- Zhang, C., Wang, W., Anderson, D., Guan, S., Li, G., Xiang, H., Zhao, H., Cheng, B.: Effect of low-frequency vibration on muscle response under different neurointact conditions. Appl. Bionics. Biomech. 2019, 1971045 (2019)
- Veqar, Z., Imtiyaz, S.: Vibration therapy in management of Delayed Onset Muscle Soreness (DOMS). J. Clin. Diagn. Res. 8, Le01–Le04 (2014)
- Ribeiro, L.R., Mesquita, R.B., Vidotto, L.S., Merli, M.F., Carvalho, D.R., de Castro, L.A., Probst, V.S.: Are 30 minutes of rest between two incremental shuttle walking tests enough for cardiovascular variables and perceived exertion to return to baseline values? Braz J Phys Ther 19, 105–113 (2015)
- Krizhevsky, A., Sutskever, I., Hinton, G.E.: Imagenet classification with deep convolutional neural networks. In: Advances in neural information processing systems, pp. 1097–1105. (Year)
- Kim, H.G., Lee, K.M., Kim, E.J., Lee, J.S.: Improvement diagnostic accuracy of sinusitis recognition in paranasal sinus X-ray using multiple deep learning models. Quant Imaging Med. Surg. 9, 942–951 (2019)
- Shi, G., Jiang, Z., Deng, G., Liu, G., Zong, Y., Jiang, C., Chen, Q., Lu, Y., Sun, X.: Automatic classification of anterior chamber angle using ultrasound biomicroscopy and deep learning. Transl. Vis Sci. Technol. 8, 25 (2019)



Causes of Work Related Musculoskeletal Disorders in the Textile Industry

Henrijs Kalkis^{1,2(\Box)}, Zenija Roja³, Gunta Vaisla³, and Inara Roja⁴

 ¹ Faculty of Business, Management and Economics, Department of Management, University of Latvia, Aspazijas blvd. 5, Riga 1050, Latvia henrijs.kalkis@lu.lv
 ² Faculty of European Studies, Riga Stradins University, Dzirciema Street 16, Riga 1007, Latvia henrijs.kalkis@rsu.lv
 ³ The Research Centre of Ergonomics, University of Latvia, Raina blvd. 19, Riga 1586, Latvia zenija.roja@lu.lv, vaisla.gunta@inbox.lv
 ⁴ MFD Healthcare Group, Vienibas gatve 109, Riga 1000, Latvia inara.roja@gmail.com

Abstract. In Latvia textile industry workers suffer from work-related muscular skeletal disorders (WRMSD). The aim of the research is to study the causes of WRMSDs for the tailor's profession in a medium- sized enterprise. This research involved 120 tailors. Modified Standardized Nordic questionnaire, Borg Scale of Perceived Exertion, Key indicator method was used for analysis of physical workload during manual handling operations. Main survey results show that tailors suffer from pain in shoulders, wrists and fingers, have repetitive arm movements in sitting compulsory work position. Accordingly to Key indicator method tailors refer to hard work level but Borg scale results indicates the load between a low and sufficiently heavy load. To conclude tailors are exposed to tension in muscles of the wrist, neck and shoulders, due to the repetitive, monotonous movements performed by hands during the sewing process, which are the main causes of WRMSDs in textile industry.

Keywords: Sewers · Load · Upper limbs · Forced posture

1 Introduction

Textile and clothing production is one of the oldest industries in Latvia. Today it is a highly developed industry with a complex structure, advanced technology and various forms of work organization. It comprises around 4% of total manufacturing turnover, 5.5% of value added and 5%–5.5% of the country's total exports. In Latvia the industry employs about 12 thousand people [1]. Despite the invention of new technologies in the industry, workers still suffer from work-related muscular skeletal disorders (WRMSD) due to forced work postures, intensive work, and monotonous work operations. WRMSDs are disturbances of body anatomical structures, such as muscles,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_9

joints, tendons, ligaments, nerves, bones, and the local blood circulation system. They encompass all forms of ill health of the musculoskeletal system that may be connected with working conditions [2]. These impairments are caused or aggravated primarily by work and by the effects of the immediate environment in which the work is carried out [3]. They mainly affect the back, neck, shoulders, and upper/lower limbs, sometimes knees [4–6].

These disturbances develop over several years, during which workers experience discomfort or even pain in certain parts of the body, and that is associated with loss of working time and a fall in productivity. These diseases are often exacerbated by social risks: smoking, unhealthy lifestyles, insufficient support from employers or employees [7, 8]. Studies have shown that tailors are subjected not only to physical load, but also to mental load, visual effort, precision at work, particularly by coordinating movements of eyes, hands and feet [8, 9].

The aim of the research is to study the causes of WRMSDs in textile industry for the tailor's profession in a medium- sized enterprise in Latvia.

This research involved 120 tailors, only women in different age groups and with different length of service in the profession, all were right handed. The study was approved by the Human Ethics and Institutional Review Board of Riga Stradins University.

2 Methods

Modified Standardized Nordic questionnaire for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms were used in the survey [10]. This questionnaire was modified according to the tailors' profession. The questionnaire was divided into 4 parts: the first part contains socio-demographic factors (e.g., age, gender, length of service in the job, leisure time activities, smoking habits), the second part contains musculoskeletal symptoms (e.g., prevalence, degree of disability) in the period of past 12 months and during the last week, the third part deals with general working conditions (e.g., time pressure, shift work, working posture), and the fourth part includes workload issues. A total of 130 questionnaires were distributed, 120 questionnaires were filled in and returned. The data processing included all questionnaires received. A MS Excel computer program was used to analyze the resulting data.

The Borg Scale of Perceived Exertion was used to evaluate the subjective workload on the tailors' hands [11]. Scale from 6–20 was used for tailors to evaluate how hard they were working in their opinion; it is a "relative" scale.

Hand load was assessed using the Key indicator method for assessing physical workload during manual handling operations (KIM MO). This method was developed and published by the German Federal Institute for Occupational Safety and Health in 2012. KIM MO focuses on determining the physical workloads of workers involved in manual handling operations by addressing seven parameters linked to the work activity, work organization, working conditions, worker's posture, and forces used in carrying out tasks [12]. Interpretation of the results: I risk degree, if score is < 20 (low); II risk degree, if score is 20 - <50 (slightly increased); III risk degree, if score is 50 - <100 (substantially increased); IV risk degree, if score is ≥ 100 points (high) [13].

3 Results and Discussion

The results of the survey showed that tailors (n = 120) fall into the age group of 18–61 years. The majority of tailors (n = 54) are in the age group of 40–61 years, and for majority of tailors the length of service is more than 15 years (51%, n = 61). It should be noted that 32% of the surveyed 120 respondents, mainly in the age group of 29-39, admitted smoking during rest periods at work, as well as after work. Physical activities are regularly done by only 31% of tailors aged 18–28, only occasionally are done by 46% in the age group of 29–39, but 62% of those aged 40–61 do not do any physical activities. All respondents noted that rest breaks were regulated at work, while 45% (n = 54) indicated that their duration was not enough to overcome fatigue. This coincides with other authors' studies that a number of work-organisational factors as well as some personal factors are associated with increased prevalence of upper body disorders even after mutual adjustment for each other, underscoring the multifactor nature of WRMSDs in these workers [14, 15].

Comparing responses on the issue of feeling discomfort or pain over the past 12 months, with responses regarding discomfort or feeling of pain over the last week, one can see (see Fig. 1) that majority of respondents have noted pain in the neck. In the period of 12 months, 71% (n = 85) of respondents have indicated this pain, but over the last week - 25% (n = 30).



Fig. 1. Feeling of pain or discomfort over the past 12 months, compared with the responses provided for feeling of discomfort or pain during the last week.

Shoulder pain in the last 12 months has been reported by 66%, and in the last week - by 23% of respondents, while pain in the wrists and fingers in the last 12 months was reported by 54%, but 19% of respondents felt pain over the last week. In general, when assessing these indicators, it should be concluded that pain or discomfort in the neck area, shoulder, wrists and fingers, and in the lower back are marked equally in both the last 12 months and during the last week. This coincides with the literature analysis, as other authors also have indications of overload of these parts of the body for tailors

[15–18]. The analysis of how long respondents experienced pain in the above mentioned parts of the body over the past 12 months showed that 38% (n = 46) of respondents experienced pain in the neck for more than 30 days, 20% (n = 24) for 8 to 30 days, and 13% (n = 15) of respondents experienced pain for up to 7 days (see Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Duration (days) of discomfort or pain in individual parts of the body over the past 12 months (%)

Regarding the shoulders, 35% (n = 42) of all respondents experienced pain for more than 30 days over the last 12 months, 14% (n = 17) - from 8 to 30 days, and 17% (n = 20) – up to 7 days. In wrists and fingers, 25% (n = 30) of respondents experienced pain for more than 30 days over the last 12 months, 21% (n = 25) felt discomfort or pain from 8 to 30 days, and 8% (n = 10) of respondents up to 7 days. In the last 12 months pain was also felt in the lower back for more than 30 days by 31% (n = 25), between 8 and 30 days by 16% (n = 19), and by 5% (n = 6) of respondents up to 7 days. The literature indicates that long-term pain or discomfort in tailors may be associated with inappropriate ergonomic work equipment [19].

The analysis of discomfort in different parts of the body over the past 12 months compared to the overall length of service of respondents in tailor's profession showed that respondents with the length of service for 0–7 years (n = 34) most frequently experienced discomfort in the last 12 months in the shoulder - 13% (n = 15), in the neck area - 11% (n = 13), and in the wrists and fingers 11% (n = 13), the least discomfort was felt in the elbows - 4% (n = 5), in the lower legs - 3% (n = 4), in the upper legs - 2% (n = 2) and in the knees - 1% (n = 1). The analysis of respondents with the length of service for 8–15 years (n = 61) showed that 43% (n = 51) experienced discomfort in the neck area, 34% (n = 41) in the shoulders and 27% (n = 32) in the wrists and fingers, slightly fewer respondents noted that discomfort was felt in the lower back - 18% (n = 21), in the elbows - 21% (n = 25), in the lower legs and upper legs - 9% (n = 11), in the knees - 4% (n = 5). The analysis of respondents with the

length of service for more than 15 years (n = 25) showed that most of the respondents - 19% (n = 23) experienced discomfort in the shoulder region, slightly less - 18% (n = 21) in the neck area. Discomfort in wrists and fingers was noted by 17% (n = 20) of respondents. Discomfort or pain in the lower back was noted by 16% (n = 19) of those surveyed, in the elbows – by 13% (n = 15), in the lower legs – by 17% (n = 20), in the upper legs by 14% (n = 17) and in the knees - by 16% (n = 19) of respondents. It is mentioned in the literature that the pain is felt more frequently by tailors whose length of service in the profession is more than 10 years [7, 20]. It also coincides with our study, in which more than half of 120 tailors, i.e. 51% of the respondents were with length of service in the profession for over 8 years.

The analysis of the respondents' answers regarding the setting of the workplace shows that 83% (n = 100) of respondents are satisfied with sufficient area under the table for a comfortable position of legs. Of the respondents, 67% (n = 80) indicated that the chair was not adjusted for convenience, but 58% (n = 70) of respondents are dissatisfied with the area of the workspace per an employee. Nearly half of the tailors (42% (n = 50)) noted working without the back of the chair. The height of the chair can be adjusted by 57% (n = 68) of the tailors. Similarly it is with adjusting the height of the worktable, as only 53% (n = 64) indicated that it could be adjusted. This suggests the lack of conformity between working conditions and ergonomic requirements that contribute to pain and discomfort in individual parts of the body.

Analysis of respondents' answers about the workload showed that all respondents - 100% (n = 120) - replied that the load mainly went to the head since during the work it was bent downwards, 82% (n = 98) of respondents felt fatigue of the body or its individual parts, 63% (n = 76) felt load on the wrists, 40% (n = 48) - on the eyes. At the same time, 38% (n = 46) of the tailors indicated that severe head or neck turns were necessary during work.

The analysis of respondents' answers regarding the workplace revealed that mostly respondents were unsatisfied with the adjustment of the working chair to height and comfort, 67% (n = 80) indicated that the chair was not adapted to the comfort of the respondent, and 58% (n = 70) indicated that the area of the workplace per employee was insufficient, 42% (n = 50) indicated that the chair did not have a backrest, 43% (n = 52) indicated that the chair could not be adjusted for height, 48% (n = 58) indicated that the work table was not suitable for respondent's height, 43% (n = 56) indicated that the height of the work table could not be adjusted.

It was also mentioned in the literature that often tailors did not have ergonomic working environment, adjustable work table and work chair. Often, the tailors sit on an unsuitable working chair that has no back and its height cannot be adjusted. Inappropriate arrangement of work place for a tailor is a reason for the development of WRMSDs and occupational diseases [7, 19, 21, 22]. In order to reduce the development of WRMSD, the pain in different parts of the body and the fatigue caused by work, tailors must be provided with an ergonomic workplace [19, 23].

On the Borg scale, the workload of tailors corresponds to 12–13 points. Of the 120 tailors, 50 (42%) indicated that the load corresponds to 12 points, which is between a low load and a sufficiently heavy load. Overall, this load intensity category was identified by respondents aged 29 to 61. The youngest respondents of the age group 18–39 have indicated the load of 9 points. Assessing older respondents in the age group

51–61, we found that 5% of them indicated 11 points, but 13% in this age group 12 points. Previous studies suggested that the prevalence of WRMSDs in the upper body increases with years of employment as a sewing machine operator [24, 25].

Using Key indicator method for assessing physical workload during manual handling operations (KIM MO), the load on the arms has been identified to be at risk degree III. This means that the load is significant (see Table 1).

Description of handling operation	Indicators	Points
The force applied is moderate, load on fingers and hands – turning of materials 30–60 (no./min)	Force (F)	3
Process of work strictly regulated/monotonous movements during working cycle or operations	Organisation (O)	1
Parts can be small, draught, noise from sewing machines	Conditions (C)	0,5
Restricted working position – sitting only	Positional (P)	2
Hand movements limited - frequent changes in joint positions, frequent grip at a certain distance from the body	Hand movement (M)	1
Time rating points >360 min	Intensity (I)	6
Total ((F + O + C + P + M) \times I = 7.5 \times 6) =	1	45

Table 1. Assessment of frequent hand movements in tailor's work

In this study it was found out that the Key indicator method results that tailors refer to hard work level is not in accordance with Borg scale results. Hence, the authors recommend using objective research methods in addition to subjective research approach.

4 Conclusion

Tailors are seriously exposed to tension in various muscle groups, in particular the muscles of the wrist, neck and shoulders, due to the repetitive, monotonous movements performed by hands during the sewing process, which are the main causes of WRMSDs in textile industry. Considering the fact that psychosocial risks impact WRMSDs, the research will be continued with analysis of psychosocial risk indicators in tailor's profession.

Acknowledgments. This research has been supported by the project "Ergonomic stress indicators in contemporary technological work environment and possibilities of its improvement in social-technical system "Human-Machine-Environment"", Agreement No. Nr.1.1.1.2/VIAA/ 3/19/546.

References

- 1. Central Statistical Bureau of Latvia. https://www.csb.gov.lv
- 2. Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety. https://www.ccohs.ca/
- 3. Guide for assessing the quality of risk assessments and risk management measures with regard to prevention of MSDs. European Commission (2018). 33 p.
- Wang, P.C., Harrison, R.J., Yu, F., Rempel, D.M., Ritz, B.R.: Follow-up of neck and shoulder pain among sewing machine operators: the Los Angeles garment study. Am. J. Ind. Med. 53(4), 352–360 (2010)
- Chan, J., Janowitz, I., Lashuay, N., Stern, A., Fong, K., Harrison, R.: Preventing musculoskeletal disorders in garment workers: preliminary results regarding ergonomics risk factors and proposed interventions among sewing machine operators in the San Francisco Bay area. Appl. Occup. Environ. Hyg. 17(4), 247–253 (2002)
- Punnett, L., Robins, J.M., Wegman, D.H., Keyserling, W.M.: Soft tissue disorders in the upper limbs of female garment workers. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 2, 417–425 (1985)
- Kaergaard, A., Andersen, J.: Musculoskeletal disorders of the neck and shoulders in female sewing machine operators: prevalence, incidence, and prognosis. Occup. Environ. Med. 57 (8), 528–534 (2000)
- Brisson, C., Vinet, A., Vezina, M.: Disability among female garment workers. A comparison with a national sample. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health. 15(5), 323–328 (1989)
- Vihma, T., Nurminen, M., Mutanen, P.: Sewing-machine operators' work and musculoskeletal complaints. Ergonomics 25, 295–298 (1982)
- Kuorinka, I., Jonsson, B., Kilbom, A., Vinterberg, H., Bierisng-Sörensen, F., Andersson, G., Jørgensen, K.: Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. Appl. Ergon. 18, 1–352 (1987)
- Borg, G.A.: Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 14, 377– 381 (1982)
- Klussmann, A., Steiberg, U., Liebers, F., Gebhardt, H., Rieger, M.A.: The Key Indicator Method for Manual Handling Operations (KIM-MHO) - evaluation of a new method for the assessment of working conditions within a cross-sectional study. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders. 11, 272 (2010)
- Federal Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (BAuA). https://www.baua.de/EN/ Topics/Work-design/Physical-workload/Key-indicator-method/pdf/KIM-MHO-Manual-Handling-Operations.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=4
- Wang, P.C., Rempel, D.M., Harrison, R.J., Chan, J., Ritz, B.R.: Work-organisational and personal factors associated with upper body musculoskeletal disorders among sewing machine operators. Occup. Environ. Med. 64(12), 806–813 (2007)
- Schibye, B., Skov, T., Ekner, D., Christiansen, J.U., Sjøgaard, G.: Musculoskeletal symptoms among sewing machine operators. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 21(6), 427– 443 (1995)
- 16. A European campaign on musculoskeletal disorders. Work-related musculoskeletal disorders: prevention report. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2008). 110 p.
- 17. Kalkis, V., Roja, Z., Roja, I., Kalkis, H.: The effects of a medical hypnotherapy on clothing industry employees suffering from chronic pain. J. Occupat. Med. Toxicol. 8, 25 (2013)
- Junior, A.S.: The risk of developing repetitive stress injury in seamstresses, in the clothing industry, under the perspective of ergonomic work analysis: a case study. Work 41, 1670– 1676 (2012)
- Ikemefuna, A.N., Akanbi, O.G.: Tailor's chair and musculoskeletal disorders in Nigeria. Afr. J. Online 22, 2 (2010)

- Banerjee, S., Bandyopadhyay, L., Dasgupta, A., Paul, B., Chattopadhyay, O.: Work Related musculoskeletal morbidity among tailors: a cross sectional study in a slum of Kolkata. Kathmandu Univ. Med. J. 56(4), 305–310 (2016)
- Hassan, K., Khalid, M., Zafar, S., Ahmad, A., Gilani, A.S., Imran, A.: Prevalence, risk factors, description and intensity of neck pain in sewing machine operators. Int. J. Sci. Eng. Res. 8(7), 1040–1047 (2017)
- Dwivedi, P., Kiran, U.V.: Musculoskeletal discomfort among tailors. J. Hum. Soc. Sci. 21 (4), 10–12 (2016)
- 23. Kalkis, V., Roja, Z., Kalkis, H.: Occupational health and risks at work (in Latvian). Medicinas apgads, Riga (2015). 533 p
- Grobler, S.H., Mostert, K., Becker, P.: The impact of a change in work posture from seated to stand-up on work-related musculoskeletal disorders among sewing-machine operators. Am. J. Ind. Med. 61(8), 699–711 (2018)
- Andersen, J.H., Gaardboe, O.: Musculoskeletal disorders of the neck and upper limb among sewing machine operators: a clinical investigation. Am. J. Ind. Med. 24(6), 689–700 (1993)



Construction Ergonomics: Observations

John Smallwood^(IM)

Department of Construction Management, Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University, PO Box 77000, Port Elizabeth 6031, South Africa john.smallwood@mandela.ac.za

Abstract. Construction entails exposure to a range of ergonomics hazards and risks. The study entailed observations of activities on several construction sites. Findings include that most construction activities entail exposure to a range of ergonomics hazards and risks, and that aspects/interventions can contribute to an improvement of construction ergonomics. Conclusions include: construction is physically demanding; construction activities are hazardous in terms of ergonomics; HIRAs, if conducted, are not effective, and there is a need to implement ergonomics interventions. Recommendations include: the level of awareness relative to construction ergonomics must be raised; designers must deliberate their general design, details, and specification within the context of construction ergonomics; HIRAs must be conducted prior to the commencement of all activities; the construction process and its activities must be reengineered, and employer and professional associations, and statutory councils should develop and or promote construction ergonomics-related continuing professional development (CPD) courses.

Keywords: Construction · Ergonomics · Hazards · Observations · Risks

1 Introduction

Construction is physically demanding [1]. The nature of construction work helps to explain why injuries, such as strains, sprains, and WMSDs, are so prevalent in the industry. Execution of tasks by construction workers requires lifting heavy loads, performing repetitive tasks, frequent bending and twisting of the body, working above shoulder height, working below knee level, manual handling of heavy and irregular-sized loads, adopting awkward work postures, working in confined spaces, holding the same position for long, forceful exertion and working under hot and cold temperatures/weather, which are inherent H&S risks and unfavourable ergonomic practices [2, 3].

The South African Construction Regulations [4] require in general that contractors must identify the hazards and the risks to which persons may be exposed.

The aforementioned highlight the relevance of construction ergonomics and given that limited, if any, activity-focused construction ergonomics studies have been

W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 71-78, 2020.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_10

undertaken in South Africa, such an exploratory study was conducted, the objectives being to determine the:

- · extent to which activities expose the worker or workers to hazards, and
- potential of aspects/interventions to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics during the activities.

2 Review of the Literature

2.1 Legislation and Recommendations

The Construction Regulations [4] lay down important requirements with respect to clients and designers. Designers are required to, inter alia: inform the client of any known or anticipated dangers or hazards relating to the construction work, and make available all relevant information required for the safe execution of the work upon being designed or when the design is changed, and modify the design or make use of substitute materials where the design necessitates the use of dangerous procedures or materials hazardous to H&S.

The South African Ergonomics Regulations [5] require that before an activity that may expose workers to ergonomics risks is commenced, an employer must have an ergonomic risk assessment conducted. Such a risk assessment must include: a complete hazard identification; identification of all the persons who may be affected and how they will be affected by the ergonomic risks; the analysis and evaluation of the ergonomic risks, and the prioritization of the ergonomic risks.

In terms of the South African Construction Regulations [4] contractors must identify the hazards and the risks to which persons may be exposed. They must then analyze and evaluate the hazards and the risks using a documented method, and produce a plan and applicable safe work procedures (SWPs) to mitigate, reduce, or control the hazards and risks.

2.2 Ergonomic Problems in Construction

Previous research conducted in South Africa investigated, inter alia, the frequency at which ergonomic problems are encountered in construction [6–8]. The top 10/18 problems are ranked in Table 1 based upon a mean score (MS) with a minimum value of 1.00, and a maximum value of 5.00, which in turn are based upon percentage responses to a response range 'never' to 'daily'. Mean MSs computed from the MSs from the four sample strata are also presented. The * denotes the findings originate from the study [6], ** denote from study [7], and *** denote from study [8].

Problem	GC*		Worker	Worker*		r**	BPGC*	***	Mean	
	MS	R	MS	R	MS	R	MS	R	MS	R
Repetitive movements	4.29	1	4.56	1	3.97	3	4.78	1	4.40	1
Climbing and descending	3.88	2	4.01	4	4.23	1	4.56	2	4.17	2
Handling heavy materials	3.63	4=	3.68	10=	4.00	2	4.44	3	3.94	3
Use of body force	3.80	3	3.82	8	3.77	5	4.00	9	3.85	4
Exposure to noise	3.53	7	3.93	6	3.65	6	4.11	6=	3.81	5
Bending or twisting the back	2.96	11	4.47	2	3.38	7	4.22	4=	3.76	6
Reaching overhead	3.61	6	3.99	5	3.00	13	4.11	6=	3.68	7
Reaching away from the body	3.41	8	4.19	3	3.03	12	3.63	12	3.57	8
Working in awkward positions	2.70	12	3.85	7	3.30	9	4.22	4=	3.52	9
Handling heavy equipment	3.03	10	3.17	13	3.87	4	3.78	10	3.46	10

Table 1. Frequency at which ergonomics problems are encountered during construction.

2.3 Improving Construction Ergonomics

Table 2 indicates the potential of the top 10/13 aspects/interventions to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics during the various project phases in terms of percentage responses to a scale of 1 (minor) to 5 (major), and a MS ranging between 1.00 and 5.00. The findings emanate from a study conducted among architectural technologists in South Africa [9]. The letters inserted within parentheses denote whether the aspect/intervention is construction (C), design (D), procurement (P), or multi-phase related. It is notable that all the MSs are above the midpoint of 3.00, which indicates that in general the respondents can be deemed to perceive the various aspects/interventions to have the potential to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics during the various project phases.

Aspect/Intervention	Respon	MS	R					
	Unsure	Unsure Minor Major						
		1	2	3	4	5	1	
Safe working procedures (C)	2.7	2.7	0.0	10.8	21.6	62.2	4.44	1
General design (D)	0.0	0.0	0.0	13.5	32.4	54.1	4.41	2
Awareness (C & D)	2.7	0.0	5.4	8.1	35.1	48.6	4.31	3
Constructability (general) (D)	0.0	0.0	8.3	11.1	41.7	38.9	4.11	4
Details (D)	0.0	0.0	5.6	16.7	44.4	33.3	4.08	5
Contractor planning (C)	2.7	2.7	10.8	8.1	35.1	40.5	4.03	6
Design of construction equipment (C)	5.7	0.0	11.4	14.3	37.1	31.4	3.94	7
Specification (D)	2.8	5.6	5.6	19.4	33.3	33.3	3.86	8
Reengineering (C, D & P)	19.4	2.8	11.1	16.7	22.2	27.8	3.76	9
Design of tools (C)	5.6	0.0	19.4	13.9	36.1	25.0	3.71	10

Table 2. Potential of various aspects/interventions to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics during the various project phases.

3 Research

3.1 Research Method and Sample Stratum

The sample stratum consisted of 4 projects being undertaken by the regional entity of a national general contractor, and their plant yard. The regional entity's H&S Coordinator conducted 13 observations of various activities: manual loading of rubble; fixing of drywall screens using screws; painting inside ducts by means of ladder access; tiling; demolition of ceilings and partitions; manual excavation; mechanical excavation of hard rock using a hydraulic breaker; casting concrete; painting at ground level; tree felling using an excavator with a mulcher attachment; erecting hoarding; tree felling using a chainsaw, and manually offloading of scaffold.

The mean duration of the observations was 43.5 min, the shortest was 9 min, and the longest was 87 min.

3.2 Research Findings

Table 3 indicates the extent to which activities expose the worker or workers to hazards, in terms of percentage responses to 'does not' and a scale of 1 (minor) to 5 (major), and a MS ranging between 0.00 and 5.00. Given that a 'does not' option was provided, the scale effectively consists of six points, and hence the MS range.

It is notable that only 6/17 MSs are above the midpoint of 2.50, which indicates the activities expose the worker or workers to such hazards to a major as opposed to a minor extent.

It is notable that no MSs fall within the range of > $4.17 \leq 5.00$ - between a near major to major extent/major extent.

Only 2/17 (11.8%) MSs are > $3.34 \le 4.17$, which indicates the activities expose the worker or workers to such hazards between some extent to a near major extent/near major extent - repetitive movements, and bending or twisting the back.

4/17 (23.6%) MSs are > $2.50 \le 3.34$, which indicates the activities expose the worker or workers to such hazards between a near minor extent to some extent/some extent - reaching away from the body, working in humid conditions, working in hot conditions, and exposure to noise.

6/17 (35.4%) MSs are > $1.67 \le 2.50$, which indicates the activities expose the worker or workers to such hazards between a minor to near minor extent/near minor extent - climbing and descending, staying in the same position for long periods, reaching overhead, working in awkward positions, use of body force, and handling heavy materials.

3/17 (17.7%) MSs are > 0.83 ≤ 1.67 , which indicates the frequency the activities expose a worker or workers to such hazards is between does not to a minor/minor extent - vibrating equipment, working in cramped positions, and handling heavy equipment.

2/17 (11.8%) MSs are > $0.00 \le 0.83$, which indicates the frequency the activities expose a worker or workers to such hazards is between does not to a minor extent - working in wet conditions, and working in cold conditions.

Seven of the top ten hazards are among the top ten identified in previous South African studies [6-8] - repetitive movements, bending or twisting the back, reaching away from the body, exposure to noise, climbing and descending, reaching overhead, and working in awkward positions.

Hazard	Respons	se (%)						MS	R
	Unsure	DN	Mino	r	Major				
			1	2	3	4	5		
Repetitive movements	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	38.5	38.5	23.1	3.85	1
Bending or twisting the back	0.0	9.1	9.1	0.0	9.1	63.6	9.1	3.36	2
Reaching away from the body	0.0	10.0	10.0	0.0	30.0	40.0	10.0	3.10	3
Working in humid conditions	0.0	30.8	0.0	0.0	7.7	38.5	23.1	2.92	4
Working in hot conditions	0.0	30.8	0.0	0.0	7.7	38.5	23.1	2.92	5
Exposure to noise	0.0	7.7	23.1	23.1	7.7	15.4	23.1	2.69	6
Climbing and descending	0.0	23.1	7.7	15.4	23.1	15.4	15.4	2.46	7
Staying in the same position for	0.0	18.2	27.3	9.1	18.2	0.0	27.3	2.36	8
long periods									
Reaching overhead	0.0	27.3	9.1	18.2	9.1	27.3	9.1	2.27	9
Working in awkward positions	0.0	33.3	8.3	0.0	16.7	41.7	0.0	2.25	10
Use of body force	0.0	15.4	23.1	15.4	23.1	15.4	7.7	2.23	11
Handling heavy materials	0.0	30.0	10.0	20.0	30.0	10.0	0.0	1.80	12
Vibrating equipment	0.0	53.8	7.7	7.7	7.7	15.4	7.7	1.46	13

Table 3. Extent to which activities expose the worker or workers to hazards.

(continued)

Hazard	Respons	Response (%)							
	Unsure	DN	Minor Major						
			1	2	3	4	5		
Working in cramped positions	0.0	63.6	0.0	0.0	9.1	27.3	0.0	1.36	14
Handling heavy equipment	0.0	58.3	0.0	33.3	8.3	0.0	0.0	0.92	15
Working in wet conditions	0.0	83.3	0.0	8.3	0.0	0.0	8.3	0.58	16
Working in cold conditions	0.0	84.6	0.0	0.0	7.7	7.7	0.0	0.54	17

Table 3. (continued)

Table 4 indicates the potential of aspects/interventions to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics during the activity, in terms of percentage responses to 'does not' and a scale of 1 (minor) to 5 (major), and a MS ranging between 0.00 and 5.00.

It is notable that only 5/16 (31.3%) MSs are above the midpoint of 2.50, which indicates the aspects/interventions have major as opposed to minor potential to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics during the activities.

It is notable that no MSs fall within the range of > $4.17 \leq 5.00$ - between near major potential to major potential/major potential.

4/16 (25.0%) MSs are > $3.34 \le 4.17$, which indicates the aspects/interventions have between potential to near major/near major potential to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics during the activities - hazard identification and risk assessment, safe work procedures, workplace organisation, and contractor planning. It is notable that these four aspects/interventions are all construction-related and that HIRAs and SWPs feature prominently in legisation and regulations.

Only 1/16 (6.3%) MSs is > $2.50 \le 3.34$, which indicates awareness has between near minor potential to potential/potential to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics during the activities. Awareness is a multi-stakeholder aspect i.e. client, designer, and contractor-related. It is also applicable to construction project managers (CPMs), quantity surveyors, material manufacturers, and H&S inspectors.

4/16 (25.0%) MSs are > 1.67 \leq 2.50, which indicates the aspects/interventions have between minor to near minor/near minor potential to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics during the activities minor to near minor extent/near minor extent - mechanisation, general design, specification, and details. Three aspects/interventions are design-related, and one is both design and construction-related.

5/16 (31.3%) MSs are > 0.83 \leq 1.67, which indicates the potential of the aspects/interventions to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics during the activities is between does not and minor/minor - design of tools, design of equipment (construction), reengineering of design, reengineering of construction, and constructability (general). Four aspects/interventions are design-related, and one is both design and construction-related.

2/16 (12.5%) MSs are > 0.00 \leq 0.83, which indicates the potential of the aspects/interventions to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics

during the activities is between does not and minor - workshops on site, and prefabrication. One aspect/intervention is design-related, and one is construction-related.

Five of the top ten aspects/interventions among the top ten identified in a previous South African study [9] - safe work procedures (SWPs), Awareness (C, D &C), general design (D), specification (D), and design of tools (D). However, three included in the current study, namely HIRA (C), workplace organisation (C), and contractor planning (C) were npt included in the previous study.

Aspect/Intervention	Respons	Response (%)							
	Unsure	WN	Minor Major						
			1	2	3	4	5		
Hazard identification and risk	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	15.4	84.6	0.0	3.85	1
assessment (HIRA) (C)									
Safe work procedures (SWPs) (C)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	15.4	84.6	0.0	3.85	2
Workplace organisation (C)	0.0	0.0	7.7	7.7	7.7	61.5	15.4	3.69	3
Contractor planning (C)	0.0	0.0	7.7	7.7	30.8	46.2	7.7	3.38	4
Awareness (C, D &C)	0.0	0.0	7.7	15.4	23.1	46.2	7.7	3.31	5
Mechanisation (D & C)	16.7	16.7	16.7	8.3	16.7	25.0	0.0	2.20	6
General design (D)	0.0	30.8	0.0	23.1	15.4	30.8	0.0	2.15	7
Specification (D)	0.0	30.8	7.7	7.7	30.8	23.1	0.0	2.08	8
Details (D)	0.0	30.8	15.4	15.4	15.4	23.1	0.0	1.85	9
Design of tools (D)	8.3	33.3	16.7	16.7	16.7	8.3	0.0	1.45	10
Design of equipment (construction)	0.0	50.0	8.3	16.7	16.7	8.3	0.0	1.25	11
(D)									
Reengineering of design (D)	15.4	53.8	0.0	0.0	23.1	7.7	0.0	1.18	12
Reengineering of construction (C)	7.7	61.5	0.0	7.7	15.4	7.7	0.0	1.00	13
Constructability (general) (D)	0.0	69.2	7.7	0.0	7.7	15.4	0.0	0.92	14
Workshops on site (C)	9.1	63.6	9.1	0.0	9.1	9.1	0.0	0.80	15
Prefabrication (D)	0.0	84.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	15.4	0.0	0.62	16

 Table 4. Potential of aspects/interventions to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics during the activity.

4 Conclusions

Given the extent to which activities expose the worker or workers to hazards, it can be concluded that construction is physically demanding, and that construction activities are hazardous in terms of ergonomics.

Given the existence of ergonomics hazards it can be concluded that HIRAs, if conducted, are not effective.

Given that seven of the top ten hazards encountered are among the top ten identified in previous South African studies, it can be concluded that ergonomics hazards continue to persist in construction, and that there is a need to implement ergonomics interventions. Given that five of the top ten aspects/interventions are among the top ten identified in a previous South African study, it can be concluded that ergonomics hazards can be mitigated. Furthermore, the former conclusion is reinforced by HIRA achieving the highest rank among aspects/interventions.

5 Recommendations

In general, the level of awareness relative to construction ergonomics must be raised among all project stakeholders.

Designers must deliberate their general design, details, and specification within the context of construction ergonomics, and review the former in terms of constructability.

HIRAs must be conducted prior to the commencement of all activities. The construction process and its activities must be reengineered.

All South African statutory built environment councils and professional associa-

tions should evolve construction ergonomics practice notes, and promote continuing professional development (CPD) relative to construction ergonomics.

References

- Ray, S.J., Teizer, J.: Real-time construction worker posture analysis for ergonomics training. Adv. Eng. Inform. 26, 439–455 (2012)
- Smallwood, J.J., Haupt, T.C.: Construction ergonomics; perspectives of female and male production workers. In: 25th Association of Researchers in Construction Management Conference, pp. 1263–1271 (2009)
- Smallwood, J., Ajayi, O.: The impact of training on construction ergonomics knowledge and awareness. ErgonomicsSA 21(1), 23–38 (2009)
- 4. Republic of South Africa: No. R. 84 Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993 Construction Regulations 2014. Government Gazette No. 37305. Pretoria (2014)
- Republic of South Africa: No. R. 1589 Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993 Ergonomics Regulations 2019. Government Gazette No. 42894. Pretoria (2019)
- 6. Smallwood, J.J.: Ergonomics in construction. ErgonomicsSA 9(1), 6-23 (1997)
- Smallwood, J.J., Deacon, C.H., Venter, D.J.L.: Ergonomics in construction: workers' perceptions of strain. ErgonomicsSA 12(1), 2–12 (2000)
- Smallwood, J.J.: Construction Ergonomics: General Contractor (GC) Perceptions. ErgonomicsSA 14(1), 8–18 (2002)
- Smallwood, J.J.: Designing for construction ergonomics. In: 6th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics (AHFE 2015) and the Affiliated Conferences, Las Vegas, 27–31 July, pp. 1817–1824 (2015)



Prevalence and Risk Factors Associated with Musculoskeletal Disorders Among Cashew-Nut Shelling Workers in India

Krishna Chaitanya Mallampalli¹, Debayan Dhar^{1(云)}, and Swati Pal²

¹ Department of Design, Indian Institute of Technology (IIT) Guwahati, Guwahati 781 039, Assam, India

mkchaitanya555@gmail.com, debayan@iitg.ac.in

² Industrial Design Center, Indian Institute of Technology (IIT) Bombay, Powai 400 076, Maharastra, India

Abstract. Cashew-nut shelling is an important operation in cashew industries in India. The work of Cashew-Nut Shelling Workers (CNSWs) is characterized by repetitive movements, prolonged standing, and awkward working posture. However, CNSWs are understudied worker population with respect to musculoskeletal health and risk factors. A cross-sectional study was conducted on 150 CNSWs in cashew industries across three states of India. The objectives of the study are to identify the prevalence of musculoskeletal (MS) disorders and associated risk factors among CNSWs in cashew industries in India. The data were collected using a questionnaire via the standardized Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire (NMQ) and by direct observations of working posture (Rapid Entire Body Assessment [REBA] method) to determine ergonomic risks. The highest prevalence of MS disorders was mainly found in knees (56.0%), lower back (53.3%), shoulders (48.0%), and hands/wrists (47.3%). The REBA grand score (4-7) indicated that most CNSWs' postures were at medium risk level, necessitating further investigation and changes to their working habits and workstations to decrease the level of risk. In addition, the results of multivariate logistic regression models revealed that work-related factors including work experience (>5 years) and working posture, were significantly associated with MS disorders in different body regions. Individual factors including gender (being female), age, and educational level, were also associated with the occurrence of musculoskeletal complaints. These study results indicate the prevalence of MS disorders and emphasize the need for ergonomic design interventions for the prevention of MS disorders among these working populations.

Keywords: Musculoskeletal (MS) disorders · Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA) · Cashew-Nut Shelling Workers (CNSWs) · Cashew industry

1 Introduction

Over the past ten years, the cashew-nut industry has been recognized as an economically important and export-oriented business for many developing countries worldwide, including India. The number of people employed in this sector is gradually increasing. Currently, India plays the most important and dynamic role in cashew production and employment [1]. According to International Nuts and dried fruits Corporation (INC) report, India has produced 0.18 million metric tons of cashew during 2018–19 [2], and half-million workers were employed in these industries throughout the country [3]. However, although the cashew industry in India is accelerating at pace, on the other hand, workers were exposed to various ergonomic risk factors in these industries [4], particularly in cashew-nut shelling operation.

The cashew-nut shelling is an important operation in traditional Indian cashew industries [1, 4], where the main job of the workers is to cut the hard shell of cashew-nut to separate kernels and shells. Shelling work is labor-intensive and tedious because individual cashew-nut is shelled manually using a hand-*cum* pedal-operated shelling unit. These units are mounted over the specially designed table, which is operated by hand and leg simultaneously. Cashew-nut shelling is a highly repetitive task. Moreover, it is performed in a standing work posture. Besides this, the shelling task often involves the coordination of hand and eye, fine manipulative skills, forward inclined neck and trunk, and poor knee posture. Apart from that, other job demands such as achieving target productivity, minimizing kernel damages, and fast working pace, all together, impose physical and psychosocial workloads on CNSWs. Eventually, which may lead to the development of musculoskeletal (MS) disorders in this occupational group.

It is a well-known fact that MS disorders are one of the most common occupational health problems in industrially developed and developing countries [5–7]. MS disorders impose an additional burden on individuals and organizations and also significantly affect workers' performance and quality of working life [7, 8]. According to the American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations (AFL-CIO) report, MS disorder accounted for 29–35% of all occupational injuries in the United States (US) alone, during 1992–2010 [9]. In addition, previous epidemiological studies reported that the occupational factors (including awkward posture, work experience, long duration of work, etc.) and non-occupational factors (including age, educational level, marital status, Body mass index (BMI), etc.) were considered in developing MS disorders [4, 6, 7].

Even though the CNSWs are exposed to various risk factors in cashew industries, unfortunately, these workers have not received much attention in the literature to date. In light of this, more work is needed regarding the occurrence of MS disorders and associated risk factors among CNSWs. An attempt was, therefore, made to address this issue and objectives of the study were to (i) characterize the occurrence and severity of MS disorders among CNSWs (ii) explore MS disorder risk levels associated with typical CNSWs working postures (iii) assess the association between MS disorders and their contributing risk factors (demographic, work-related characteristics, and working postures).

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Study Design, Sample, Procedure

This cross-sectional study was carried out in cashew industries located across three states (Andhra Pradesh, Assam, and Orissa) of India, between May and July 2019. The study included randomly selected 150 workers (48 males and 102 females) from 14 cashew industries. Inclusion criteria were: (i) at least one-year continuous work experience in cashew-nut shelling (ii) age greater than 18 years old. The workers who had a history of previous injuries and pre-existing MS disorders were not included in the study. Participation was voluntary; no money was paid for participation.

2.2 Data Collection

The data were collected using a questionnaire for demographic, work-related, and prevalence of MS disorders. The demographic (gender, age, height, weight, BMI (as weight/height²), marital status, education level, and smoking habit) and work-related characteristics (work experience, daily working time, perceived speed of work, job satisfaction, and satisfaction with design of tool) were recorded.

The presence of MS disorders in different body regions was measured using the standardized Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire (NMQ) [10]. The workers were asked to indicate if they had experienced pain or discomfort in nine different body regions during the past 12 months. Those who reported symptoms were asked to rate the severity of symptoms on a scale (1 - very low pain to 5 - very severe pain) for corresponding body region.

Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA) method [11] was used to evaluate posture in this study. REBA method analyses postural and biomechanical loading by measuring articular angles, observing force or load, repetitive movements, and frequency of changes in postures [11]. In the present study, working postures of CNSWs were evaluated in real-time on-site work observation. These were confirmed with video recording captured during the study.

2.3 Data Analysis

The data analyses were performed using SPSS version 20. (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). The prevalence and severity of symptoms among CNSWs were presented as percentages (%) and mean (SD). The relationship between study variable and MS disorders was assessed using the chi-square test. Gender differences were assessed by binary and ordinal logistic regression analyses (for the prevalence and severity of MS disorders, respectively). Multivariate logistic regression was also performed by including those variables significant in univariate analysis with MS disorders. Odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were used to describe the associations between MS disorders and independent variables. The fit of the models was verified using the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit tests. Statistical significance level, P values < 0.05 were considered for all statistical tests.

3 Results and Discussion

The study sample was comprised of 150 CNSWs, of which the majority (68.0%) were female workers. Generally, most of the cashew industries were dominated by female workers; the possible explanation may be that they are more compliant in their work [4] and also organizations pay lower wages to female workers than male. The mean age of workers was 34.92 years (SD = 9.4 years), and their mean work experience in the job was 6.5 years (SD = 3.2 years). Majority (78.6%) of workers were married and had a mean BMI of 19.53 kg/m^2 (SD = 2.5 kg/m^2). More than half of the works were illiterate (55.3%). This means their work does not require high-level education. The mean daily working time reported was 11.0 h (SD = 1.68 h). This could be explained as the shelling is a slow and time-consuming task; therefore, CNSWs were working for prolonged hours. Sixty-eight percent of workers felt that they were working very fast and only 22.6% of workers reported that they were satisfied with their work. As expected, the majority (80%) of CNSWs reported low-level satisfaction with shelling tool design.

REBA	Neck	Trunk	Leg	Upper	Lower	Wrist	Score	Score	Grand
score				arm	arm		А	В	score
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
1	25.3	-	-	51.3	57.3	-	-	-	_
2	46.7	66.7	45.3	48.7	42.7	40.7	16.0	_	-
3	28.0	33.3	54.7	-	-	59.3	52.0	55.3	_
4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	35.3	68.0
5	-	-	-	-	-	-	32.0	-	22.7
6	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	9.3	_
7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_
8	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	_	-
9	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	9.3
10	-	-	-	_	-	_	_	-	-
≥11	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_

Table 1. Distribution of REBA scores for the study population (n = 150).

The percentages of workers with each REBA score (i.e., score A, score B, and grand score) for different regions are presented in Table 1. The neck score for the workers was 2 (46.7%), which means that the worker's neck was flexed between 10° and 20° angle and also side flexed. The trunk score for most of the workers was 2 (66.7%), indicated that the worker trunk lean forward between 0° and 20° angle. Majority of workers' leg score was 3 (54.7%), which revealed that most of the workers stood on a single leg and other at an angle between 30° and 60° . Most upper arm (51.3%) and lower arm (57.3%) scores for workers were 1, indicated that the upper arm was between 20° flexion and extension and while the lower arm was flexed between

 20° and 100° angle. Most of the worker's wrist score was 3 (59.3%), which means that the wrist of workers flexed/extended more than 15° and also twisted. The percentage of workers with the final REBA grand score of 4 to 7 was 90.7%, which indicates that most of the workers' postures were at medium risk. Hence, further investigation is needed to change their working postures to reduce their risk level.

The prevalence of MS disorders reported by CNSWs in different body regions is presented in Table 2. The severity of symptoms in those body regions was also presented in this table. The main finding of the study was that the prevalence of MS disorders among CNSWs was very high and a total of 78.6% of the CNSWs had experienced some kind of musculoskeletal discomfort in at least one body region during past 12 months preceding the data collection. The most common body regions affected were knee (56.0%), lower back (53.3%), shoulders (48.0%) and hands/writs (47.3%). The severity of symptoms reported by workers found to be moderate to severe pain. The frequency of symptoms reported in shoulders, lower back, knee, and ankles/foot region were found to be significantly different between males and females. The severity of complaints reported also differed between males and females. Males reported more severe pain in the shoulder, hands/wrists, and lower back, whereas the severity of neck pain was higher in females than in males. These findings confirm that MS disorders pose a major problem among CNSWs.

Body region	Preva disorc	lence of lers	MS	Severity of pain (scale 0–5)					
	Male	Female	All	Male	Female	All			
	%	%	%	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)			
Neck	35.4	37.2	36.7	2.7 (0.9)	3.4 (1.0)	3.2 (1.0)*			
Shoulders	35.4	53.9	48.0*	4.4 (0.8)	3.6 (1.0)	3.8 (1.1)*			
Elbows	39.6	30.4	33.3	3.2 (1.1)	2.9 (0.9)	3.0 (0.9)			
Hands/writs	43.7	49.0	47.3	4.4 (0.7)	3.8 (0.9)	4.0 (0.9)*			
Upper back	10.4	10.8	10.7	2.8 (0.8)	2.9 (0.8)	2.8 (0.8)			
Lower back	31.2	63.7	53.3**	4.4 (1.1)	3.8 (0.9)	3.9 (0.9)*			
Hips/thighs	14.6	9.8	11.3	2.4 (1.2)	2.7 (0.8)	2.5 (1.0)			
Knees	35.4	65.7	56.0**	3.8 (1.1)	3.6 (1.0)	3.6 (1.0)			
Ankles/feet	14.6	33.3	27.3*	3.5 (1.3)	3.6 (0.8)	3.6 (0.9)			
Any region	66.7	84.3	78.6*	-	-	-			

Table 2. Prevalence of musculoskeletal symptoms reported by CNSWs (n = 150).

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.001

The results of chi-square test showed that the risk factors including gender (p = 0.014), age (p = 0.001), education level (p = 0.001), marital status (p = 0.001), experience (p = 0.03) and job satisfaction (p = 0.001) were significantly related with MS disorders. Multivariate logistic regression analyses of risk factors associated with MS disorders in different body regions among CNSWs is presented in Table 3. Gender (being female) was significantly associated with lower back and knee symptoms with

an odds ratio of around 4.6 to 5.2. In a recent study conducted among surgeons and pineapple peeling workers, it was found that gender has a significant effect on knee region especially in prolonged standing jobs [5, 6]. The age of the workers was significantly associated with the presence of MS disorders in the knee and ankles/foot regions (OR = 1.96-5.36). A study on standing sewing machine operators highlighted that age was a significant risk factor associated with knee symptoms [5, 7]. Higher education level of workers was found to be significantly associated with shoulders and lower back complaints among CNSWs. This finding is in parallel with the previous study conducted among vineyard workers that had also reported that the higher education level of workers showed significantly lesser MS disorders [13]. Regarding work-related characteristics such as work experience (>5 years) was significantly associated with neck symptoms. The work experience of pineapple peeling workers in small fruit units was also significantly associated with pain in different body parts [5].

Body region	Variables	OR	95% CI	р
Neck	Work experience	2.39	1.15-4.94	0.018
Shoulders	Gender	2.79	1.31-5.93	0.007
	Educational level			
	Illiterate	1.00		
	Primary school	0.47	0.22-1.02	0.058
	Secondary school	0.23	0.08–0.67	0.007
Lower back	Gender	5.20	2.20-12.27	0.001
	Educational level			
	Illiterate	1.00		
	Primary school	0.42	0.17-1.09	0.055
	Secondary school	0.12	0.03-0.39	0.001
Knees	Gender	4.60	1.72-12.30	0.002
	Age	5.36	2.10-13.69	0.001
	REBA score B			
	2-3	1.00		
	4–7	1.30	0.14-0.65	0.002
Ankle/foot	Age	2.52	0.99–7.52	0.050
	REBA score B			
	2–3	1.00		
	4–7	2.38	1.01-5.59	0.046

Table 3. Risk factors associated with MS disorders among CNSWs.

As reported in this study, the results of logistic regression have confirmed that the working posture was significantly associated with knee and ankles/foot symptoms. This is perhaps not surprising as the most common posture adopted by workers while performing shelling task was standing for an extensive period of time on one leg while the other being flexed at 30° - 60° angle. Such working postures impose biomechanical

and physical workloads [7, 12], which can consequently lead to the development of musculoskeletal problems. From the current research findings, it can be noted that the work of CNSWs is one of the most physically demanding jobs.

4 Conclusion

Prevalence of MS disorders in the industrial sector has received greater attention in the industrialized world over the past two decades. Although the effect of the etiology of MS disorders is complex, studies have identified the significant role of occupational risk factors on the occurrence of MS disorders. In the current study, the prevalence of MS disorders and associated risk factors among CNSWs in Indian cashew industries have been identified and reported. A higher prevalence of MS disorders among CNSWs indicates an immediate need for necessary work improvements to enhance their quality of working life. The research finding also highlights the associated risk factors in the shelling task. This may help managers while they devise possible ergonomic intervention in their manual cashew-nut shelling task. The current study was conducted primarily with the usage of self-reports for ergonomic exposure assessment, which is often considered to be less reliable [6]. It is, therefore, important to explore direct exposure assessment methods (e.g., Electromyography and motion measurement) in future studies.

References

- 1. CEPCI: Annual Report. Cashew Export Promotion Council of India (2019). http:// cashewindia.org/uploads/userfiles/AnnualReport.pdf
- INC: Nuts & Dried Fruits Statistical Yearbook. Int Nut Dried Fruit Counc. Found., pp. 1–80 (2019)
- Mohod, A., Khandetod, Y.P., Sengar, S.H., Shrirame, H.Y.: Energy analysis of baby boiler for steaming of raw cashew nut seeds. ISRN Renew. Energy 2012, 1–6 (2012)
- Girish, N., Ramachandra, K., Maiya, A.G., Asha, K.: Prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders among cashew factory workers. Arch. Environ. Occup. Health 67(1), 37–42 (2012)
- Kumar, P., Chakrabarti, D., Patel, T., Chowdhuri, A.: Work-related pains among the workers associated with pineapple peeling in small fruit processing units of North East India. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 53, 124–129 (2016)
- Dianat, I., Bazazan, A., Souraki Azad, M.A., Salimi, S.S.: Work-related physical, psychosocial and individual factors associated with musculoskeletal symptoms among surgeons: implications for ergonomic interventions. Appl. Ergon. 67, 115–124 (2018)
- Sakthi Nagaraj, T., Jeyapaul, R., Mathiyazhagan, K.: Evaluation of ergonomic working conditions among standing sewing machine operators in Sri Lanka. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 70, 70–83 (2019)
- Buckle, P.W., Jason, D.J.: The nature of work-related neck and upper limb musculoskeletal disorders. Appl. Ergon. 33, 207–217 (2002)
- 9. AFL-CIO: Report on Death on the Job, the Toll of Neglect: a National and State-by-State Profile of Worker Safety and Health in the United States (2012)

- Kuorinka, I., Jonsson, B., Kilbom, A., Vinterberg, H., Biering-Sørensen, F., Andersson, G., et al.: Standardised nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. Appl Ergon. 18(3), 233–237 (1987)
- 11. Hignett, S., McAtamney, L.: Rapid entire body assessment (REBA). Appl. Ergon. 31(2), 201–205 (2000)
- Dianat, I., Kord, M., Yahyazade, P., Karimi, M.A., Stedmon, A.W.: Association of individual and work-related risk factors with musculoskeletal symptoms among Iranian sewing machine operators. Appl. Ergon. 51, 180–188 (2015)
- Bernard, C., Courouve, L., Bouée, S., Adjémian, A., Chrétien, J.C., Niedhammer, I.: Biomechanical and psychosocial work exposures and musculoskeletal symptoms among vineyard workers. J. Occup. Health 53(5), 297–311 (2011)



Effects of Reduced Work Pace on the Risk of Developing Upper-Limb Musculoskeletal Disorders in a Poultry Slaughterhouse

Diogo Cunha dos Reis^(⊠), Adriana Seára Tirloni, and Antônio Renato Pereira Moro

Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, SC, Brazil diogo.biomecanica@gmail.com, adri@tirloni.com.br, renato.moro@ufsc.br

Abstract. This paper aimed to evaluate the risks in relation to repetitive movements of the upper limbs in a poultry slaughterhouse, verifying the relationship between the OCRA checklist scores and each risk factor, as well as analyze the effects of a reduced work pace on the risk levels. The study was carried out in a poultry abattoir with 2,100 workers, in which 310,000 chickens were slaughtered daily. To assess the risks, 10% of the workers were evaluated by OCRA checklist. The overall mean OCRA checklist score was 22.8 ± 3.3 (high risk). The scores for the right upper limb (22.1 ± 4.1) were significantly higher than the left (21.3 ± 4.4) (p = 0.008). The technical action scores for frequency, force, shoulder, wrist and overall posture were correlated with the OCRA Checklist score. Reducing only the work rate ($-50.4 \pm 7.7\%$), it was possible to achieve very low levels of risk in 46 of the 47 tasks analyzed.

Keywords: Ergonomics · Risk assessment · UL-WRMSDs · Slaughterhouse

1 Introduction

A large number of factors have led Brazil to a privileged position in the world chicken meat market, highlighting the abundance of land, fertile soil to produce food, favorable climate and the ability of companies to overcome challenges [1]. Therefore, Brazil became the world leader in the exportation of chicken meat [2]. Most of these exports are made up of meat cuts (66%) [2], which are processed manually (hand tools – knives) or by specific machines (saws). Thus, meat processing industry workers are at high risk of work-related musculoskeletal disorders (WRMSDs) due to a high physical work demand, including frequent use of forceful exertions, rapid work pace, repetitive motions, and nonneutral body postures sustained over a long period [3, 4].

The OCRA Checklist was developed to analyze workers' exposure to tasks featuring various upper-limb injury risk factors (repetitiveness, awkward postures and movements, force, lack of recovery periods, and others, defined as "additional") [5]. This method is a Consensus Document, drafted and published in 2001 by the International Ergonomics Association - Technical Committee on Musculoskeletal Disorders, with the endorsement of the International Commission on Occupational Health [6]. Despite several recent studies have evaluated the risks inherent to repetitive movements of the upper limbs in chicken slaughterhouses [7-11], studies on interventions to reduce occupational risks in slaughterhouse tasks are scarce. Thus, this paper aimed to evaluate the risks in relation to repetitive movements of the upper limbs in a poultry slaughterhouse, verifying the relationship between the OCRA checklist scores and each risk factor, as well as carry out a simulated intervention to analyze the effects of a reduced work pace on the risk levels.

2 Method

The procedures for this study were approved by the local Human Research Ethics Committee, in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

The study was conducted in a Brazilian slaughterhouse with 2,100 workers, divided into two work shifts, in which 310,000 chickens were slaughtered daily. In order to calculate the risks associated with repetitive movements of the upper limbs, 10% of the workforce was evaluated while performing their work tasks, using the checklist proposed by the OCRA method [5]. The analyzed tasks were considered individually, regardless of whether they were part of job rotation schemes. A 10-cycle sampling of each task was recorded with a Sony[®] HDR-XR160 digital camcorder.

Based on the data resulting from the application of the OCRA checklist, simulated interventions were implemented in order to reach borderline risk levels by reducing the work pace for each of the analyzed tasks. The scores for all examined risk factors on the checklist were weighted in proportion to the proposed work pace reductions.

Descriptive statistics were used (mean, standard deviation and percentage), as well as the Student t-test (SPSS 17.0), in order to compare the risk between the sides of the workers' body. The Pearson correlation was used to substantiate the relationship between the OCRA checklist score in the actual work condition and the results of each risk factor: the technical action frequency classification score, postural scores (scores for the shoulder, wrist, hand and general posture) and force demands. For all tests, a statistical significance level of $p \leq 0.05$ was adopted.

3 Results and Discussion

Considering that the total duration of the work shift was 08 h 48 min with three rest breaks of 20 min each, the net duration of the repetitive work was classified in the range of 421 to 480 min ("duration" multiplier 1). For the risk factor "recovery", the multiplier 1.16 was used. The scores of the other risk factors evaluated by the OCRA method (frequency of technical actions, force, posture with stereotyped movements, and additional factors) were assigned according to the particularities of each task and the operative mode of each worker.

The workers performed 77.0 ± 22.5 occupational repetitive actions per minute (10/10 points on the OCRA checklist) (Table 1). Several studies have also shown a high frequency of technical actions in poultry slaughterhouses, with averages between 63.7 and 79.8 [8–12]. Kilbom [13] suggests that workers ought to not exceed 25–33

actions/min. for tendon disorders to be prevented, since higher rates provide insufficient pauses for the recovery of fatigue between contractions (micropauses).

The work in poultry slaughterhouses is repetitive and strenuous [14]. Upon arriving at the slaughterhouse, live chickens are received and then transferred to a production line that requires workers to hang, slaughter, pluck, clean, eviscerate, cut, pack and box chicken parts at a high pace. In addition, they clean and repair equipment, assemble boxes and move packaged poultry pallets. Thus, there is a potential risk of injury from overuse in each of these occupational tasks [14].

The average score on the OCRA checklist was 22.8 ± 3.3 (high risk). Reis et al. [9] analyzed 30 poultry slaughterhouse tasks and found similar results (22.8 ± 5.6 points – high risk). On the other hand, a series of other studies in Brazilian slaughterhouses have found a medium risk level [7, 8, 10, 11]. In an Italian poultry slaughterhouse, Colombini and Occhipinti [5] found that 22.4% of workers exposed to medium risk tasks (an average of 20 points on the OCRA Checklist) were diagnosed with UL-WRMSDs (based on clinical evaluation and complementary medical examinations).

The OCRA checklist requires that the analysis be performed on both sides of the body, but the final score for each task considers the side of the body that presents the greatest risk [5]. It was found that the OCRA checklist score for the right upper limb $(22.1 \pm 4.1 - \text{medium risk})$ was significantly higher than the contralateral limb $(21.3 \pm 4.4 - \text{medium risk})$ (p = 0.008). Corroborating these results, Tirloni et al. [15] interviewed 312 workers at a poultry slaughterhouse and found that 71.2% reported body discomfort, and there was a predominance of complaints on the right side of the body.

Considering the five risk levels by the OCRA method, 26 were classified as high risk (55%) and 21 presented medium risk (45%). Although studies have found that high-risk tasks predominate in slaughterhouses in Brazil (56.5%) [7], Iran (67%) [16] and Italy (90%) [12], several recent studies indicate that medium-risk tasks prevail in Brazilian slaughterhouses [8–11]. It is speculated that the decrease in the number of high-risk activities, observed in these studies, may have occurred due to the implementation of the Brazilian Regulatory Standard 36 (NR-36) [17]. The NR-36 establishes parameters for the assessment, control and monitoring of occupational risks in meat processing industries [17]. Among the parameters defined by this standard, the mandatory inclusion of the periods of psychophysiological recovery directly influences the results of the OCRA checklist [17]. Applying these parameters, the time of exposure to repetitive tasks was reduced throughout the Brazilian meat processing industry. As a result, in analysis using the OCRA checklist the "recovery" score is reduced and, consequently, the risk of UL-WRMSDs is reduced as well.

The technical action score for frequency was associated to the OCRA Checklist score (r = 0.407; p = 0.004). In this way, it can be stated that 17% of the score variation is explained by the frequency of technical actions performed by workers. Most of the tasks (60%), considering the side with the highest risk, received a score of 10 - "very high frequency of technical actions (≥ 70 per minute), no interruptions are possible".

There was a correlation between the OCRA Checklist score and the force (r = 0.536; p < 0.001), as well as the posture for the shoulder joint (r = 0.366; p = 0.011), wrist (r = 0.438; p = 0.002) and overall posture score (r = 0.478; p = 0.001). The results showed that 29% of the final score variation of the OCRA Checklist was explained by the force score and 23% by the overall posture score.

Most of the tasks evaluated were scored 1 for shoulder posture (40%) (upper limbs not supported in the work plan), scored 2 for wrist (68%) (posture was maintained for 1/3 of the cycle), and scored 4 for hand-fingers (85%) (posture was maintained for more than 1/2 of the cycle). The most frequent total score for the posture factor was 7 (64%) (posture score + stereotypy score). It is noteworthy that 85% of tasks received the maximum score for stereotypy (3) due to the fact that the work cycle was less than 8 s or repeated identical movements during almost the entire cycle. Therefore, this fact highlights the repetitiveness of the analyzed tasks.

The organizational aspect, including additional factors, most evident in the tasks of this sector was the work pace completely determined by machines (66%), justifying the model that emphasizes the reduction of wasted time.

Tasks	Current sit	uation			Simulations for risk reduction				
	Units/min	TA/min	OCRA	Risk	Units/min	TA/min	OCRA	Risk	
			score	level			score	level	
Placing wings in scale	*	84.5	31.3	5	*	35.0	11.0	2	
Meat transfer - bowl to box -	3.4	47.7	30.2	5	#	#	#	#	
secondary packing									
Remove breast	22.2	88.9	29.0	5	7.5	30.0	11.0	2	
Pack whole chicken with funnel -	2.0	69.4	27.8	5	0.9	30.0	11.0	2	
bowl side									
Boneless leg screening	*	78.6	26.7	5	*	30.0	11.0	2	
Re-hanging chicken	25.0	75.0	26.7	5	10.0	30.0	11.0	2	
Boning leg - drumstick	6.9	88.3	26.7	5	2.3	30.0	11.0	2	
Boning leg - thigh	6.0	87.3	26.7	5	2.0	30.0	11.0	2	
Fueling breast fillet machine	23.0	69.2	26.7	5	10.0	30.0	11.0	2	
Weighing wings	7.4	80.0	25.5	5	2.8	30.0	11.0	2	
Re-hanging large chicken	21.4	64.3	25.5	5	10.0	30.0	11.0	2	
Packing whole chicken – funnel – conveyor side	20.0	60.0	24.4	5	10.0	30.0	11.0	2	
Cutting kakugiri	4.0	68.7	24.4	5	2.0	35.0	11.0	2	
Sealing packages - whole chicken	11.5	110.8	24.4	5	3.2	30.0	11.0	2	
Re-hanging chicken - post scale	20.7	62.1	24.4	5	10.0	30.0	11.0	2	
Liver screening	*	93.3	24.4	5	*	30.0	11.0	2	
Boning defective breasts	4.6	93.0	24.4	5	1.5	30.0	11.0	2	
Packing boneless breast	*	89.5	24.4	5	*	30.0	11.0	2	
Weighing drumette	5.2	89.2	23.8	5	2.0	35.0	11.0	2	
Secondary IQF packaging	1.2	51.0	23.2	5	0.7	30.0	11.0	2	
Feet screening - B	*	72.0	23.2	5	*	30.0	11.0	2	
Feet screening - small	*	113.0	23.2	5	*	30.0	11.0	2	

 Table 1. Risk assessment by the OCRA checklist and simulations to reduce risk by reducing the pace of work.

(continued)

Tasks	Current sit	uation			Simulation	s for risk	reduction	
	Units/min	TA/min	OCRA	Risk	Units/min	TA/min	OCRA	Risk
			score	level			score	level
Packing boneless leg	3.5	94.6	23.2	5	1.1	30.0	11.0	2
Hanging live chickens	21.4	64.3	23.2	5	10.0	30.0	11.0	2
Trimming breast	3.9	65.5	23.2	5	1.8	30.0	11.0	2
Fueling breast refill line	*	65.0	23.2	5	*	30.0	11.0	2
Secondary breast packaging	1.7	43.0	22.0	4	1.0	25.0	11.0	2
Wing parts screening	*	133.0	22.0	4	*	35.0	11.0	2
Breast screening	*	79.4	22.0	4	*	35.0	11.0	2
Trimming sassami	15.4	92.3	22.0	4	5.7	35.0	11.0	2
Gizzards screening	*	115.0	22.0	4	*	35.0	11.0	2
Fueling wing cutter	46.0	138.5	22.0	4	11.8	35.0	11.0	2
Fueling chicken cutter	37.5	75.0	22.0	4	17.6	35.0	11.0	2
Fueling leg deboning line	*	105.0	22.0	4	*	35.0	11.0	2
Fueling sealer - boneless legs	3.6	63.2	21.5	4	2.0	35.0	11.0	2
Interfold legs	0.5	59.5	20.9	4	0.3	30.0	11.0	2
Fueling conveyor with wing parts	*	65.0	20.9	4	*	35.0	11.0	2
Interfold big wings	0.3	99.4	20.9	4	0.1	35.0	11.0	2
Secondary packaging of trays – pack	1.7	51.0	20.3	4	1.0	30.0	11.0	2
Interfold small wings	0.1	80.6	19.7	4	0.1	40.0	11.0	2
Remove sassami	23.0	46.2	18.6	4	15.0	30.0	11.0	2
Opening packages – whole chicken – conveyor side	20.0	60.0	18.6	4	11.8	35.0	11.0	2
Opening packages – whole chicken – bowl side	2.0	61.0	17.4	4	1.3	40.0	11.0	2
Weighing breast bowls	3.5	57.2	17.4	4	2.1	35.0	11.0	2
Weighing sassami tray	3.9	81.4	16.2	4	1.9	40.0	11.0	2
Secondary packaging of trays - tag	23.0	46.2	16.2	4	17.6	35.0	11.0	2
Secondary packaging – whole chicken	4.0	50.0	15.7	4	2.7	35.0	11.0	2
Average	11.4	77.0	22.8	5	5.3	32.3	11.0	2
Standard-deviation	11.5	22.5	3.3	-	5.3	3.3	0,0	-

 Table 1. (continued)

Risks: 5-high; 4-medium; 3-low; 2-very low; 1-acceptable; TA-technical actions; * Task with variable work rate; # The task needs to be restructured due to the high force requirement.

The risk factors that achieved the highest scores regarding the limits established by the OCRA method were stereotypy (90%), frequency of technical actions (89%) and hand posture (48.8%). Corroborating these results, Tirloni et al. [18] found that 28.9% of workers at a poultry slaughterhouse reported discomfort in their hands.

Based on epidemiological data concerning work-related musculoskeletal disorders, the precursors of the OCRA method used statistical procedures (regression analysis) to establish hypotheses for the prevalence of UL-WRMSDs according to the occupational conditions [5]. Specific percentages were defined for each level of UL-WRMSDs incidence. As an example of the data that gave rise to the method, Colombini and Occhipinti [5] found an incidence of 47.7% of UL-WRMSDs in meat boning workers, who were classified with 28 points (high risk) on the OCRA checklist. Thus, the
workers analyzed in the present study had a probability of developing UL-WRMSDs > 21.5% for high-risk tasks, and between 10.8 and 21.5% for medium-risk tasks.

Due to the predominance of tasks with high repetition of movements of the upper limbs [8–11, 19], previous studies have suggested that the reduction of the work pace decreases the risk of UL-WRMSDs in chicken slaughterhouses [8–11]. In this sense, simulated interventions were carried out, reducing the work pace to achieve very low risk levels on the OCRA checklist. By only reducing the work pace ($-50.4 \pm 7.7\%$), it was possible to achieve very low risk levels in 46 of the 47 tasks analyzed. In task "meat transfer – bowl to box – secondary packing" it was not possible to reach a very low risk level just by reducing the work pace, in view of the high demand for strength. Likewise, previous studies [8–11] also executed simulated interventions to lower the risk by reducing the work pace ($-42.1 \pm 14.5\%$; $-44.9 \pm 13.7\%$; $-48.5 \pm 11.8\%$ and $-38.8 \pm 4.8\%$, respectively) and were successful in most tasks (24/26, 28/30, 15/15and 33/35, respectively), except for those with excessive strength demand.

4 Conclusion

Based on results of this study and the postulation of the literature, it is possible to conclude the following:

- In the analyzed slaughterhouse there was a predominance of high-risk tasks, increasing the chances of developing UL-WRMSDs by four times compared to the population that was not exposed;
- The risk of developing UL-WRMSDs was higher for the right side of the body;
- Correlations were found between the OCRA Checklist score and the technical action score for frequency, force, shoulder, wrist and overall posture;
- Simulated interventions, reducing the working pace, showed the effectiveness of this organizational measure to reduce the risk of UL-WRMSDs in most of the analyzed tasks;
- Future studies are necessary to verify if the results of the present study can be generalized to other slaughterhouses.

Finally, to reduce the risk of UL-WRMSDs in poultry slaughterhouses, it is recommended to perform a series of organizational measures, highlighting: reduce the work pace, adopt efficient job rotation (between tasks with different biomechanical requirements), take rest breaks every hour, expand the workforce in each task, keep knives sharp (avoid unnecessary effort), and constantly monitor the risk level of work tasks using objective tools, such as the OCRA checklist.

References

 Nääs, I.A., Mollo Neto, M., Canuto, S.A., Walker, R., Oliveira, D.R.M.S., Vendramento, O.: Brazilian chicken meat production chain: a 10-year overview. Rev. Bras. Cienc. Avic. 17, 87–93 (2015)

- Brazilian Association of Animal Protein: Annual Report (2019). http://www.abpa-br.com.br/ relatorios. Accessed 21 Jan 2020
- Mansi, S., Milosavljevic, S., Tumilty, S., Hendrick, P., Baxter, G.D.: Use of pedometerdriven walking to promote physical activity and improve health-related quality of life among meat processing workers: a feasibility trial. Health Qual. Life Outcomes 11, 185 (2013)
- Arvidsson, I., Balogh, I., Hansson, G.T., Ohlsson, K., Åkesson, I., Nordander, C.: Rationalization in meat cutting - consequences on physical workload. Appl. Ergon. 43, 1026–1032 (2012)
- Colombini, D., Occhipinti, E.: Risk Analysis and Management of Repetitive Actions: A Guide for Applying the OCRA System. CRC Press, New York (2016)
- Colombini, D., Occhipinti, E., Delleman, D., Fallentin, N., Kilbom, A., Grieco, A.: Exposure assessment of upper limb repetitive movements: a consensus document. In: Karwowski, W. (ed.) International Encyclopedia of Ergonomics and Human Factors. Taylor & Francis, New York (2001)
- Reis, D.C., Reis, P.F., Moro, A.R.P.: Assessment of risk factors of musculoskeletal disorders in poultry slaughterhouse. In: Azeres, P., Baptista, J.S., Barroso, M.P., Carneiro, P., Cordeiro, P., Costa, N., et al. (eds.) SHO2015, 1 edn., vol. 1, pp. 294–296. SPOSHO, Guimarães - Portugal (2015)
- Reis, D.C., Ramos, E., Reis, P.F., Hembecker, P.K., Gontijo, L.A., Moro, A.R.P.: Assessment of risk factors of upper-limb musculoskeletal disorders in poultry slaughterhouse. Procedia Manuf. 3, 4309–4314 (2015)
- Reis, D.C., Tirloni, A.S., Ramos, E., Moro, A.R.P.: Assessment of risk factors of upper-limb musculoskeletal disorders in a chicken slaughterhouse. Jpn. J. Ergon. 53, 458–461 (2017)
- dos Reis, D.C., Tirloni, A.S., Ramos, E., Dias, N.F., Moro, A.R.P.: Risk assessment of repetitive movements of the upper limbs in a chicken slaughterhouse. In: Bagnara, S., Tartaglia, R., Albolino, S., Alexander, T., Fujita, Y. (eds.) IEA 2018. AISC, vol. 825, pp. 323–329. Springer, Cham (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-96068-5_35
- dos Reis, D.C., Tirloni, A.S., Moro, A.R.P.: Risk assessment of upper limb musculoskeletal disorders in a poultry slaughterhouse. In: Arezes, P.M. (ed.) AHFE 2019. AISC, vol. 969, pp. 265–272. Springer, Cham (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20497-6_24
- Colombini, D., Occhipinti, E.: Results of risk and impairment assessment in groups of workers exposed to repetitive strain and movement of the upper limbs in various sectors of industry. Med. Lavoro 95, 233–246 (2004)
- 13. Kilbom, A.: Repetitive work of the upper extremity: part II the scientific basis (knowledgebase) for the guide. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 14, 59–86 (1994)
- Cartwright, M.S., Walker, F.O., Blocker, J.N., Schulz, M.R., Arcury, T.A., Grzywacz, J.G., Mora, D., Chen, H., Marín, A.J., Quandt, S.A.: The prevalence of carpal tunnel syndrome in Latino poultry processing workers and other Latino manual workers. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 54(2), 198–201 (2012)
- Tirloni, A.S., Reis, D.C., Ramos, E., Moro, A.R.P.: Association of bodily discomfort with occupational risk factors in poultry slaughterhouse workers. DYNA 84, 49–54 (2017)
- Mohammadi, G.: Risk factors for the prevalence of the upper limb and neck work-related musculoskeletal disorders among poultry slaughter workers. J. Musculoskelet. Res. 15, 1250005 (2012)
- Brasil: Norma Regulamentadora 36. Segurança e Saúde no Trabalho em Empresas de Abate e Processamento de Carnes e Derivados, Ministério do Trabalho e Emprego, Portaria MTE n. 555, de 18 de abril de 2013, Diário Oficial da União (2013)

- Tirloni, A.S., dos Reis, D.C., Dias, N.F., Moro, A.R.P.: Evaluation of worker satisfaction with the use of hand tools in a poultry slaughterhouse. In: Goonetilleke, R.S., Karwowski, W. (eds.) AHFE 2018. AISC, vol. 789, pp. 476–488. Springer, Cham (2019). https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-319-94484-5_49
- Sundstrup, E., Jakobsen, M.D., Jay, K., Brandt, M., Andersen, L.L.: High intensity physical exercise and pain in the neck and upper limb among slaughterhouse workers: cross-sectional study. BioMed Res. Int. (2014). Article no. 218546



Supervisor's Roles and Responsibilities in Preventing Prolonged Disability in Workers with Musculoskeletal Disorders

Iuliana Nastasia^{1(⊠)}, Marie-France Coutul^{2,3}, Romain Rives², Jessica Dubé¹, and Sarah Gaspard²

 ¹ Institut de recherche Robert-Sauvé en santé et en sécurité du travail, 505, De Maisonneve Blvd., West Montreal H3A 3C2, Canada iuliana.nastasia@irsst.qc.ca
 ² Université de Sherbrooke – Longueuil Campus, 150, Charles-Le Moyne Place, Suite 200, Longueuil J4K 0A8, Canada
 ³ Centre d'action en prévention et réadaptation des incapacités au travail (CAPRIT), Université de Sherbrooke, Longueuil J4K 0A8, Canada

Abstract. The objective of this article is to present courses of action for supervisors and verify their feasibility and applicability. A multi-part sequential qualitative study proposed course of actions for supervisors and verified their relevance, feasibility, and applicability by on-line questionnaire, and two focus groups with nineteen supervisors and other stakeholders from 19 Quebec organizations in 6 different sectors. Overall, respondents found courses of action as relevant, well formulated, and applicable in some favorable contexts. These contexts depended on the formalization of the supervisor's role and responsibilities, the organization's culture and resources, the decision-making flexibility given to supervisors regarding temporary work changes, and the possibility of training supervisors, two main challenges stand out: formalizing in clear and unambiguous terms each party's responsibilities; and gathering knowledge, experience, and know-how regarding sustainable RTW for all parties involved in the RTW process.

Keywords: Return-to-work \cdot Course-of-action \cdot Action \cdot Supervisors' role and responsibilities

1 Introduction

Work-related musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) are one of the main causes of work disability [1, 2]. In addition to their personal impact, MSDs generate major costs for the healthcare and compensation systems and for employers, due to loss of productivity and absenteeism [3].

Work disability prevention studies show that clinical rehabilitation interventions alone do not ensure the sustainable return to work (RTW) of workers following an MSD [4]. Given the essential role played by supervisors in the RTW of workers who have sustained a work-related musculoskeletal injury [5–7], their activities warrant

examination, particularly regarding their responsibilities in workplace activities essential to supporting a sustainable return [7–10]. According to Durand et al. [5], during a worker's sick leave, it is vital to (1) contact the absent worker to maintain his or her relationship with the workplace, and then to (2) evaluate the current work situation, as the basis on which to (3) offer, plan, and implement the RTW solution. To facilitate the RTW, it is essential to (4) welcome the worker back and implement and adjust the RTW solution. After the worker's return, it is also necessary to (5) do followup of the RTW. During the RTW process, it is important to (6) communicate with the worker and (7) collaborate with the work team in order to support the worker. Lastly, for maximum effectiveness, it is essential to (8) coordinate the concrete actions aimed at facilitating a sustainable return to work, (9) formalize policies and procedures, and (10) build knowledge, experience, and skills in order to promote a sustainable RTW.

Certain conditions within organizations may influence these activities. For example, depending on the workplace, it may be harder or easier to find jobs that can be temporarily or permanently adjusted to accommodate the returning worker [11, 12]. Likewise, supervisors may feel caught between having to meet production quotas and grappling with the RTW of workers who have not fully recovered and who may be on temporary assignments or returning to work gradually [7, 8]. The general objective of this study is to propose courses of action for supervisors in the process of returning and sustaining workers with work-related MSDs and to verify their applicability in different organizational contexts and sectors of activity in Quebec. The specific objectives are to: 1) Describe the concrete actions taken by supervisors during the return-to-work and long-term job retention process for workers with work-related MSDs; describe the various problems they face, as well as the strategies put in place to solve them; 2) Study the conditions that are favourable and unfavourable to the supervisor's involvement in the prevention of work disability; 3) Develop courses of action to harmonize the supervisor's role and responsibilities with his or her other roles in the organization (e.g. production, accident prevention) and with the responsibilities of the other players in the company working to prevent work disability; 4) verify the relevance, feasibility and applicability of these courses of action in different.

2 Methods

A three-part sequential qualitative study was used to achieve the objectives. For component 1, a literature review was conducted based on a systematic search of three specialized databases. This made it possible to document the international evidence on the role and responsibilities of supervisors, as well as their involvement in the essential activities of the return-to-work and sustainable retention process (Objectives 1 and 2 - international component). Descriptive analyses of the content of the various publications were carried out for component 1. For component 2, a secondary analysis of data from a case study conducted in Quebec in four large companies from two sectors of activity was carried out to describe the involvement of supervisors in these essential activities from the different perspectives of Quebec workplaces: workers, supervisors, managers, union representatives (Objectives 1 and 2 - Quebec context component). Analyses of interview content were carried out for this component. The synthesis of the

results of these first two components was used to develop courses of action and specific related actions. To this end, the essential activities and actions from the literature review served as a starting point before being adapted based on data from the secondary analysis of the workplace interviews (Objective 3 - Development of courses of action component). Finally, component 3 consisted of verifying the relevance, feasibility, clarity of formulation and applicability of these courses of action in different contexts and sectors of activity in Quebec (objective 4 - applicability component). Content analyses of the participants' comments collected by action area made it possible to draw conclusions on their feasibility and applicability and to propose an operational model for the supervisor.

3 Results

For the international component, the literature review identified 788 references. After elimination of duplications and application of selection criteria, 16 publications were selected, to which we added three publications found through the references of the selected publications. In total, 10 essential activities and 22 actions were associated with the return-to-work and sustainable retention process for supervisors based on the literature review. The literature review made it possible to highlight, for supervisors, on the one hand, the types of problems they encounter and the strategies for solving them and, on the other hand, the favorable conditions to their involvement in the return and sustainable retention process.

For the Quebec context component, overall, the concrete actions mentioned by supervisors in the return to work (RTW) are related to the role and responsibilities assigned to them in the organizations and correspond to the actions identified from the literature review. The actions, issues and strategies mentioned relate mainly to assessment or planning, including information sharing between supervisors and human resources (HR) managers. Supervisors report having difficulty reconciling their roles and responsibilities associated with production objectives with those associated with return and sustainable retention at work. Also, supervisors appear to be more familiar with preventive actions, particularly with respect to documenting the circumstances of accidents, than with actions that enable sustainable reintegration into the workplace.

Two types of conditions emerge in relation to the fulfilment of supervisors' roles and responsibilities in the four organizations. The first type concerns the importance of managing relational problems and accompanying the worker, whether in his relations with teammates or in ensuring that he does not do more than he is capable of. Both supervisors and other stakeholders interviewed (manager, human resources advisor, SR manager, worker, teammate) mentioned this type of condition. The second type of conditions concerns the culture of the organization: a climate favourable to returning to work and remaining at work in a sustainable manner, resources, clear and unambiguous procedures with respect to the responsibilities of supervisors and other actors, sufficient latitude with respect to the choice and implementation of adjustments and accommodations during the SR, training (supervisors and other actors). For example, it appears that supervisors very much appreciate benefiting from discussion forums and having greater decision-making latitude for problem solving when permitted by the organization. The synthesis of the essential activities and concrete actions from the literature review and the results of the secondary data analysis allow identifying 8 courses of action and 23 specific actions.

For the applicability component, 19 participants (4 supervisors and 15 other players) from 19 Quebec organizations in six different sectors of activity completed the questionnaire. Overall, the 19 respondents found the courses of actions and actions to be relevant, adequately and exhaustively formulated and applicable to Quebec in favorable organizational contexts. These favourable contexts concerned the formalization of the supervisor's role and responsibilities with respect to return and sustainable retention at work, the organization's culture, organizational resources, the decision-making latitude granted to supervisors in temporary work organization changes, and the possibility of training supervisors on the actions required in the context of a worker's reintegration. The comments collected also made it possible to specify elements of applicability related to the intrinsic characteristics of companies: size, location, unionization, prevalence of cases of work stoppages, nature of the work.

4 Conclusion

This study helped to better precise the role and responsibilities of supervisors related to the return-to-work and sustainable retention process in different organizational contexts. In particular, this research made it possible to accurately describe the actions of supervisors, the problems they encounter, and the strategies used to overcome them, as well as the conditions conducive to their involvement in the process. In addition, this study made it possible to formulate precise action to be implemented by the organizations and the supervisors themselves to promote the return and long-term job retention of workers who have had work-related musculoskeletal disorders. These courses of actions were considered by the participants to be relevant, feasible and applicable. The organizational context appears to influence the application of the courses of action, as do the conditions under which they are implemented [9-15]. This study provides an interesting starting point for developing a sustainable return-to-work process that includes supervisors and reflects the realities of practices in the field. More than drawing up observations on the need for clarification between the role of the supervisor and that of the other stakeholders in the return to work and sustainable job retention, and on the relevance and feasibility of the courses of action, two recommendations were put forward for organizations.

Acknowledgments. The authors extend their warmest thanks to all the participants and managers who made recruitment and the organization of discussion spaces and opportunities possible. The study would not have been possible without the financial support provided by the Institut de recherche Robert-Sauvé en santé et en sécurité du travail (IRSST).

Courses of action	Associated specific actions for the supervisor
Course of action 1: Formalize the role and responsibilities of the supervisor in the procedures designed to facilitate a sustainable RTW	Clarify role and responsibilities as a supervisor in the procedures designed to facilitate a sustainable RTW Distinguish your RTW responsibilities as a supervisor from those of other actors participating in the sustainable RTW process Participate in developing policies and procedures based on your experience Distinguish between accident prevention actions and RTW actions
Course of action 2: Communicate with the	Contact the worker as soon as possible after
absent worker to maintain contact	the sick leave begins, to:
	- reassure the person about his or her
	employment relationship - find out his or her perceptions of his or RTW Reach an agreement with Human Resources about a mechanism for transmitting relevant information to you about the worker's needs
Course of action 3: Collaborate with the other actors involved in facilitating the worker's ability to return to and stay at work	Collaborate with the worker when planning and implementing the RTW solution Collaborate with the work team when planning and implementing the RTW solution Collaborate with the actors responsible for managing the worker's compensation claim (e.g. the person filling the role of RTW coordinator)
Course of action 4: Assist the worker during	Assist the worker in the various physical and
his or her return to work and efforts to stay at	organizational adjustment and
work	accommodation measures Assist the worker if conflicts arise with other members of the work team
Course of action 5: Plan the worker's RTW and ways to help him or her stay at work	Plan the workforce during the worker's sick leave (e.g. task distribution, schedule) Develop an action plan and consult with the worker to identify the options that would facilitate the RTW Plan the worker's RTW based on his or her needs (e.g. the welcoming back, review of safety measures, information on new tools or procedures) Plan the RTW with the other actors concerned (e.g. meet with the work team)
Course of action 6: Carry out the RTW	Meet with the worker as soon as he or she returns to resume the tasks expected of him
Carly out the RTW	or her in light of his or her capacities and

Appendix: Courses of Action and Specific Actions

(continued)

99

	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Courses of action	Associated specific actions for the supervisor
	resources, and reassure him or her of your support and that of the work team Make the necessary physical and organizational adjustments and accommodations in collaboration with the actors concerned Ensure that the worker and other members of the work team respect the worker's limitations
Course of action 7: Do regular follow-up of the work activities and their distribution among the members of the work team	Meet with the worker when he or she returns (e.g. information and follow-up meeting about his or her capacities and satisfaction with the work) Inform the work team of the RTW plan before the worker returns In collaboration with the persons concerned, resolve any problems that may arise during RTW process
Course of action 8: Train the supervisor on the actions expected of him or her to help workers return to and stay at work	Acquire the skills needed to conduct ergonomic evaluations of work situations, plan, and resolve problems related to the implementation of RTW solutions (e.g. temporary assignments, physical and organizational adjustments or accommodations) Identify your needs for training (e.g. communication skills) on the expected actions

(continued)

References

- 1. CNESST: The CNESST in brief year 2017. CNESST, Québec (2018)
- Hartvigsen, J.: Musculoskeletal disorders and work disability. Pain 154(10), 1904–1905 (2013)
- Bevan, S.: Economic impact of musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) on work in Europe. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Rheumatol. 29(3), 356–373 (2015)
- Carroll, C., Rick, J., Pilgrim, H., Cameron, J., Hillage, J.: Workplace involvement improves return to work rates among employees with back pain on long-term sick leave: a systematic review of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of interventions. Disabil. Rehabil. 32(8), 607–621 (2010)
- Durand, M.-J., Corbière, M., Coutu, M.-F., Reinharz, D., Albert, V.: A review of best workabsence management and return-to-work practices for workers with musculoskeletal or common mental disorders. Work (Read. Mass) 48(4), 579–589 (2014)
- 6. Durand, M.-J., Nastasia, I., Coutu, M.-F., Bernier, M.: Practices of return-to-work coordinators working in large organizations. J. Occup. Rehabil. **27**(1), 137–147 (2017)

- 7. Nastasia, I., Durand, M.-J., Coutu, M.-F., Collinge, C., Cibotaru, A.: Workplace practices for healthy and sustainable return to work. IRSST. Report No. R-1047 (2019)
- Huang, Y.-H., Pransky, G.S., Shaw, W.S., Benjamin, K.L., Savageau, J.A.: Factors affecting the organizational responses of employers to workers with injuries. Work (Read. Mass) 26 (1), 75–84 (2006)
- Kristman, V.L., Shaw, W.S., Reguly, P., Williams-Whitt, K., Soklaridis, S., Loisel, P.: Supervisor and organizational factors associated with supervisor support of job accommodations for low back injured workers. J. Occup. Rehabil. 27(1), 115–127 (2017)
- Shaw, W.S., Kristman, V.L., Williams-Whitt, K., Soklaridis, S., Huang, Y.-H., Côté, P., et al.: The job accommodation scale (jas): psychometric evaluation of a new measure of employer support for temporary job modifications. J. Occup. Rehabil. 24(4), 755–765 (2014)
- Shaw, W.S., Main, C.J., Pransky, G., Nicholas, M.K., Anema, J.R., Linton, S.J., et al.: Employer policies and practices to manage and prevent disability: foreword to the special issue. J. Occup. Rehabil. 26(4), 394–398 (2016)
- Ketelaar, S.M., Schaafsma, F., Geldof, M., Kraaijeveld, R., Boot, C., Shaw, W.S., et al.: Implementation of the participatory approach for supervisors to increase self-efficacy in addressing risk of sick leave of employees: results of a cluster-randomized controlled trial. J. Occup. Rehabil. 27(2), 247–257 (2017)
- Inoue, A., Kawakami, N., Haratani, T., Kobayashi, F., Ishizaki, M., Hayashi, T., et al.: Job stressors and long-term sick leave due to depressive disorders among Japanese male employees: findings from the Japan work stress and health cohort study. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 64(3), 229–235 (2010)
- Rugulies, R., Christensen, K.B., Borritz, M., Villadsen, E., Bültmann, U., Kristensen, T.S.: The contribution of the psychosocial work environment to sickness absence in human service workers: results of a 3-year follow-up study. Work Stress 21(4), 293–311 (2007)
- Williams-Whitt, K., Kristman, V.L., Shaw, W.S., Soklaridis, S., Reguly, P.: A model of supervisor decision-making in the accommodation of workers with low back pain. J. Occup. Rehabil. 26(3), 366–381 (2016). Appendix: Springer-Author Discount



An Investigation in Muscle Activity of Student's Neck and Back in Various University Rooms

Elahe Abbasi, Pruthviraj Morbale, Sesha Saikrishna Gubbala, Yueqing Li^(⊠), and Brian Craig

Industrial Engineering Department, Lamar University, Beaumont, TX, USA {eabbasi, pmorbale, sgubbala, yueqing.li, craigbn}@lamar.edu

Abstract. This study investigates the effects of three different sitting positions on neck and back of students in two various class layouts under class activities. One of the classrooms is traditional in which students sit parallel to the screen and the other one which is more recent one, seats are perpendicular to the screen. Sitting positions include seats in various part of classroom. In this approach, the activity of back muscle, Trapezius Pars descendens (TRP-UP), and neck muscle, Sternocleidomastoid (SCM), are explored. Results show that class layout has a significant effect on both SCM and TRP. Yet, students sitting positions has significant effect only on SCM. Moreover, based on questionnaires' output, students feel more comfortable in both their neck and back, when they sit in the middle of traditional classes.

Keywords: Muscle activity \cdot Classroom layout \cdot Sitting position \cdot TRP-UP \cdot SCM \cdot ANOVA

1 Introduction

With the increase in simultaneous usage of laptop and projection screens in the classrooms, classroom layouts and sitting positions play an important role in the student comfort levels [1]. When the sitting arrangement is not parallel to the blackboard, students need to rotate their neck and trunk every time to look at the blackboard for the whole lecture, but they don't need to move their neck and trunk when they are sitting parallel to the blackboard. In general, the preference is given to accommodate maximum number of people in a classroom without considering the psychological and physical aspects of sitting arrangements on student's body. But physical environments of classrooms have a vital role in student's satisfaction both physically and cognitively. In fact, a higher level of satisfaction can increase the level of skills, mentality, and knowledge of students [2].

Now days most of the universities have new classrooms which contain desktop computers and projection screen. In these classrooms, students have to move their neck and back muscles repeatedly to use computers and focusing on the screen together to follow the instructor that may cause fatigue [3]. Muscle activities in both neck and

back, also comfortability are considered as response variables in many researches [5, 6] and [7]. Type of classroom layout is a key factor which has been investigated in some studies [4]. Moreover, as sitting place has a drastic effect on student's posture [8], researchers consider it as another key variable [5].

Hence, this study aims to investigate the effect of various sitting positions in different classroom layouts on the students' neck and back while they look at the screen display and work with their desktop computers simultaneously.

2 Materials and Methods

To study the effect of the sitting position on neck and back of the students, surface electromyography (sEMG) was used. Furthermore, muscle activities of participants in six different positions in two classroom layouts were recorded while they use laptop and look at the projection screen simultaneously. Two class layouts (a and b) [1] and three sitting position (1, 2 and 3) are shown in Figs. 1 and 2. Besides, expected long term comfort ratings are recorded by questionnaire after each experiment too. In these questioners, to summarize different conditions, layout and sitting arrangement are signed with alphabets. Therefore, letter A is in class a and sitting position 1, B is in class and sitting position 2, C is in class and sitting position 3, D is in class b and sitting position 3.



Fig. 1. Actual classrooms.



Fig. 2. Different sitting positions and classroom layouts (a and b).

2.1 Participants, Experimental Setup and Stimuli

Five participants were selected from Lamar University for the study, who has no physical complaints. The average weight and height of the participants was 162 lbs and 176 cm respectively. The experiments carried out at Human factor and ergonomics lab at Lamar University in Beaumont, USA.

sEMG was used to measure the muscle activity in both TRP-UP and SCM for 5 min in 6 positions in two classroom layouts. Here participants were asked first to lay down on a mattress for 5 min to relax the muscles. Then they were asked to sit in different positions and perform the tasks shown on projection screen on the laptop. To cover various course content, the experiment contains three different tasks such as typing, programming and computation in Microsoft Excel. The experiment lasts 30 min for every participant.

To stimulate the classroom posture for layout a, projection screen is placed parallel and for layout b, the projection screen is placed perpendicular to the sitting arrangement, sitting distances is changed according to the sitting position with respect to the projection screen. Moreover, as it can be seen in Fig. 1, classrooms usually have desktop computers, but for the convenience in this investigation, laptop was used instead of the desktop computers.

After each condition participants were asked to fill the questionnaire on their expected long-term comfort. A score needed to be given from 1 to 5 for the neck and back in each position. Also, to measure muscle tension in terms of maximum muscle contraction (MVC), MVC of neck and back is recorded at the end experiment.

2.2 Muscle Selection

For turning and holding the head up to look at computer and the projection screen, flexion and extension muscles have major role. Therefore, SCM and TRP-UP are selected for the study which are responsible for the flexion and extension [9].

2.3 Apparatus

A wireless Biometrics EMG system (sampling rate 2000 Hz) and a computer with Biometrics Data LITE were used to measure muscle activity. An Epson vs-250 projector is used to display the projection screen and a Lenovo ThinkPad X1 Carbon 14" laptop is used to perform the task by participants.

2.4 Preparation

After determination of the EMG sensors positions [9], the position was cleaned by razor and alcohol wipes and the sensors were placed on TRP-UP and SCM. In the next step, seat was placed according to the sitting position in classroom layout with respect to projection screen. Participants were asked to sit on chair, chair and laptop were adjusted to be suitable for participant's comfort and eye height.

2.5 Maximum Voluntary Contraction

At the end of the experiment to record MVC for each participant, first for the SCM, participants were asked to lay down. Next, downward force was applied on their head and they were asked to lift their head up as much as they can. For TRP-UP students were asked to raise their hands and lateral force was applied at both the elbows outwards and they were asked to oppose it. These positions were held for 5 s each and then the muscle activity as the MVC was recorded.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Muscle Activity

The muscle activity of the TRP-UP and SCM in different class layouts and sitting positions for each participant are shown in Table 1.

	TRP-UP			SCM	SCM		
	Sitting 1	position		Sitting position			
	1	2	3	1	2	3	
Class a	32	44	53	6	4	3	
	45	40	42	6	9	6	
	11	8	9	16	5	7	
	22	13	6	3	3	2	
	36	26	15	3	8	4	
Class b	37	29	58	52	3	3	
	55	34	36	25	10	11	
	10	7	8	27	26	4	
	11	8	11	10	2	3	
	29	25	19	13	3	4	

Table 1. % MVC for TRP-UP and SCM in different levels.

The data in Table 1 shows that the maximum amount of TRP muscle activity in class a, is in position three (last row in class layout) while for SCM it is in the first row position one (first row in class layout). The minimum amount of TRP and SCM muscle activity is in the last row, position three, of classroom a. In class type b, maximum amount of activity in TRP goes with position three which is the last row, which for SCM the maximum amount is associated with the position one. But the minimum amount of muscle activity in recent classroom layouts assigns to sitting position two which is in the middle of the class b, for both TRP and SCM.

In the next step, the effect of class layout and sitting position is investigated using ANOVA. As indicated in Table 2, class layout has a significant effect on TRP-UP but sitting position does not have a significant effect on TRP-UP. The interaction effect between class layout and sitting position is also significant. Furthermore, in Table 3.

ANOVA evaluation of SCM, the results show that both class layout and sitting position have a significant effect on the activity of neck.

Source of process parameters	Sum sq	DF	Mean sq	F-value	Pr (>F)
Class layout	0.27840	1	0.27840	28.696	1.69e-05
Sitting position	0.05054	2	0.02527	2.605	0.094681
Class layout \times Class layout	0.19409	2	0.09704	10.003	0.000693
Residuals	0.23284	24	0.00970		

Table 2. ANOVA evaluation of TRP-UP.

Source of process parameters	Sum sq	DF	Mean sq	F-value	Pr (>F)
Class layout	410.7	1	410.7	5.741	0.0247
Sitting position	713.9	2	356.9	4.990	0.0154
Class layout × Class layout	477.6	2	238.8	3.338	0.0526
Residuals	1716.8	24	71.5		

Table 3. ANOVA evaluation of SCM.

Therefore, regarding the ANOVA outputs of Table 2, the hypothesis that sitting in different classes have effect on the back muscle of students, TRP-UP, could be supported in this study. Regarding the obtained results in Table 1, the maximum amount of activity in the back of the students, is in classroom b and the minimum is in classroom layout a, which needs less trunk movement. This result is confirmed by [3] research which claims that one of the key risk factors which causes low-back fatigue in workplace is twisted trunk posture.

Furthermore, Table 3 confirms that muscle activity was significantly different in participant's SCM, in different sitting position and class layout. As it can be seen in Table 1, the maximum neck activity is seen in class b and position one which may be because of the short distance between screen and seat place. It can cause the students turn their neck more any time that they want to look at the projection screen. Also, the minimum amount of muscle activity is seen in both class layout. Maybe one reason to achieve theses amount of SCM in position three of class a and position two of classroom b, is that only the muscle activity of one side SCM is measured in this investigation while when students turn their neck both SCMs have movement. These outputs are confirmed by [10] which claimed dual computer screens have significant effect on neck-shoulder muscles activities.

3.2 Comfortability Analysis via Survey

Expected comfort scores regarding comfort questionnaire for the neck and back of participants are shown in Fig. 3. As it demonstrates in this Figure, participants feel more comfortable in both neck and back while programming, typing and doing Microsoft Excel in position B, which is sitting position 2 in class a. But they don't feel that much comfortable in position D, which is position 1 in class b for all three tasks.



Fig. 3. Participants comfort level while programming, typing and using Microsoft Excel (neck & back).

As it has mentioned, the highest rate of the expected long-term comfort of participants' neck and back belongs to classroom a and sitting position two which is the middle row of the mentioned class. It may be because of that students get used to sit in traditional classes and people feel more comfortable through stability rather than moving their body which may cause discomfort in long time [6]. This can be confirmed by the discomfort results in Fig. 3, which implies people do not feel that much comfortable in position D, which belongs to the seat near the screen display in class b. In this position participants need not to be static and have to move their body to look at the screen which makes them uncomfortable.

It is needless to mention that comfortability rating is qualitative and just can give an insight to participant's preference. In other words, predicting long term experienced comfort [11], for example 1.5 h regarding the classes time, does not seem always possible because participants may show different comfortability level during time.

4 Conclusion

This study investigated the effect of different classes' layout with various sitting positions for students. First, using EMG, the muscle activity in TRP (back) and SCM (neck) of students is discussed. A significant difference in TRP muscle in different class layout is found, indicating that using various class layout cause more activity in back muscles. This research also finds a significant difference in SCM activity in both different class layout and sitting positions. This is confirmed by the questionnaire results, which indicate that participants with various level of familiarity with experiments' task, feel more comfortable in sitting in the middle of the traditional classroom. While it could be expected that new classroom layout is more helpful, the outputs of this research does not confirm this hypothesis.

References

- 1. Kaya, N., Burgress, B.: Territoriality: seat preferences in different types of classroom arrangements. Environ. Behav. 1, 859–876 (2007)
- 2. Woodson, H.: The Effectiveness of Classroom Seating Arrangements on Student Learning and Teacher Instruction. University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington (2013)
- 3. Toren, A.: Muscle activity and range of motion during active trunk rotation in a sitting posture. Appl. Ergon. **32**, 583–591 (2001)
- Norazman, N., Ismail, A.H., Jaafar, N.H., Khoiry, M.A., Che Ani, A.I.: A review of seating arrangements towards the 21st century classroom approach in schools. Malays. J. Sustain. Environ. 7, 21–46 (2019)
- Harvey, E.J., Kenyon, M.C.: Classroom seating considerations for 21st century students and faculty. J. Learn. Spaces 2, 1–13 (2013)
- Smulders, M., Naddeo, A., Cappetti, N., Van Grondelle, E.D., Schultheis, U., Vink, P.: Neck posture and muscle activity in a reclined business class aircraft seat watching IFE with and without head support. Appl. Ergon. **79**, 25–37 (2019)
- Kietrys, D.M., Gerg, M.J., Dropkin, J., Gold, J.E.: Mobile input device type, texting style and screen size influence upper extremity and trapezius muscle activity, and cervical posture while texting. Appl. Ergon. 50, 98–104 (2015)
- Odunaiya, N.A., Owonuwa, D.D., Oguntibeju, O.O.: Ergonomic suitability of educational furniture and possible health implications in a university setting. Adv. Med. Educ. Pract. 5, 1–14 (2014)
- Almosnino, S., Pelland, L., Pedlow, S.V., Stevenson, J.M.: Between-day reliability of electromechanical delay of selected neck muscles during performance of maximal isomeric efforts. Sports Med. Arthoscopy Rehabil. Ther. Technol. 1, 22 (2009)
- Szeto, G.P., Chan, C.C., Chan, S.K., Lai, H.Y., Lau, E.P.: The effects of using a single display screen versus dual screens on neck-shoulder muscle activity during computer tasks. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 44, 160–465 (2014)
- Bouwens, J., Mastrigt, S., Vink, P.: Ranking of human senses in relation to different in-flight activities contributing to the comfort experience of airplane passengers. Int. J. Aviat. Aeronaut. Aerosp. 5(2), 9 (2018)



Occupational Risk Assessment of Municipal Solid Waste Collectors in a City Subdivision in the Philippines

Jose Raymund Z. Apostol Jr., Jerika Danielle F. Clemente, Adrienne Camille R. Diaz de Rivera^(⊠), Joaquin Miguel A. Javier, and Benette P. Custodio

College of Engineering, Department of Industrial Engineering and Operations Research, University of the Philippines - Diliman, Quezon City, Philippines joer.apostol2016@gmail.com, jerikaclemente22@gmail.com, nicaddr@gmail.com, joamijavier@gmail.com, bpcustodio@up.edu.ph

Abstract. According to Philippine statistics report in 2013, majority of the Philippines' solid wastes come from residential areas. Solid waste collection workers are regularly exposed to risks of occupational injuries and work-related musculoskeletal disorders (WMSDs). With the aim of assessing the occupational risks of municipal solid waste collectors, this study was conducted in a city subdivision in the National Capital Region of the Philippines. Workers were asked to answer the Cornell Musculoskeletal Discomfort Questionnaire and an occupational risk survey. Images of worker postures taken during their work were analyzed using the Rapid Entire Body Assessment. Risk factors for possible occupational injuries were determined. Results showed that gathering trash, giving trash to segregators, and garbage segregating exposed the workers to poor postures with high to very high risk. Open wounds were most likely to occur. Recommendations for both subdivisions and contractors were provided in order to mitigate the risks identified.

Keywords: Solid waste collection · Residential areas · Human factors

1 Background of the Study

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_15

In 2016, the National Solid Waste Management Commission estimated that the Philippines generated 40,087.45 tons of solid waste per day [2]. Majority of the nation's solid wastes are generated in the National Capital Region, with around 9,212.92 tons per day in 2016 [2]. In 2013, 57% of all solid wastes came from residential areas [2]. From an interview with the Senior Environment Management Specialist Chief, Garbage Collection Section, of the Environmental Protection and Waste Management Department of Quezon City (Q.C.), as of 2019, there was a per capita waste generation of 1.0711 kgs/person/day. This value increases annually by 3.33%.

Solid Waste Management is not without risk, posing numerous health hazards and exposing workers to various occupational diseases and injuries. In the Integrated Survey on Labor and Employment (ISLE), one of the regular establishment-based surveys conducted by the Philippine Statistics Authority (PSA), in establishments employing 20 or more workers, the average workdays lost as a result of temporary incapacity due to work-related event or occupational injuries in the WSSWMRA industry increased from 3.4 in 2013, to 13.19 in 2015 [4].

2 Objectives of the Study

The objectives of the study are to identify and provide ways to mitigate the occupational risks of solid waste collectors in a city subdivision in the Philippines.

3 Methodology

3.1 Data Collection: Administering Worker Surveys

Worker surveys were administered to identify the most frequent and prevalent WMSDs and occupational injuries incurred by solid waste collectors. To determine the former, the Cornell Musculoskeletal Discomfort Questionnaire (CMDQ) for Standing Male Workers was used, while the latter was determined by using a second survey based on the PSA's Integrated Survey on Labor and Employment (ISLE). A total of 30 responses were gathered for each survey.

3.2 Data Collection: Observing Solid Waste Collection in a Subdivision

Images and videos of solid waste collectors during collection of the trash were gathered. These were randomly sampled to determine which tasks expose workers to poor postures and most frequently to occupational injuries. The data collection was conducted within a city subdivision. Two collectors & 2 segregators were observed in the morning and 1 collector & 2 segregators in the afternoon. A total of 7 workers were observed.

3.3 Analysis of CMDQ Responses and Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA)

Data from the CMDQ were interpreted by identifying probable causes and relating worker tasks to the symptom identified by the respondents.

The process of collecting solid wastes was first divided into smaller, unique, and distinguishable tasks. Images of postures collected were categorized according to the task being done by the worker. A random sample of these images per worker were analyzed using REBA, a tool used to determine the risk for Musculoskeletal Diseases (MSDs) associated with one's posture. Recommendations were primarily be given to tasks with high REBA scores for these require immediate change.

3.4 Occupational Injuries Risk Analysis

For each image selected, occupational injuries were identified as "present" "not present" or "possibly present". Risk factors for each identified occupational injury were enumerated. Recommendations focused on the frequency of risk for occupational injuries and on which tasks expose workers to the most risk for occupational injuries. This analysis was repeated per worker.

Data from the ISLE-based survey were used to determine which among the occupational injuries identified in the ISLE were frequently experienced by the solid waste collectors, and therefore, have the highest probability of happening. Probable causes identified through this survey were also used as a basis for determining sources of risk for occupational injuries.

4 Results and Discussion

Based on the data collected from observing solid waste collection, three types of methods were used by the collectors, workers who search for and bring solid wastes back to the garbage truck: (1) Collectors held solid wastes in their hands then returned to the truck (see Fig. 1); (2) Collectors carried solid waste bins, delivered the bins to the truck, then returned the bins to their original location (see Fig. 2); (3) Collectors stacked solid wastes in a 'bucket' then dragged the bucket, with a form of rope or straw, back to the truck (see Fig. 3).



a. Getting Trash: 11



b. Return to Truck: 6



c. Give Trash to Segregator: 9

Fig. 1. REBA scores for type 1 collection: collector 1 (AM)

On the other hand, segregators, workers who receive, segregate, and organize solid wastes given by the collectors, follow two types of methods which depend on their position in the truck: (1) Generally, segregators only receive solid wastes from the collectors, then immediately start segregating (see Fig. 4); (2) Segregators nearest to the entrance of the truck receive trash bins from collectors, empty the bin's contents, return the trash bin, then start segregating the trash. These segregators are also tasked to compress garbage bags, using their feet, after sorting out its contents (see Fig. 5).



a. Getting Trash Bin[.]7



b. Return to

Truck with Trash

Bin[.] 9



c. Give Trash Bin to Segregator: 11

d. Receive Trash Bin from Segregator: 3

Fig. 2. REBA scores for type 2 collection: collector 1 (AM)

NO DATA



NO DATA

a. Putting Trash in Bucket

b. Returning/Pulling Bucket Back to Truck 9

c. Giving Trash from Bucket to Segregator

Fig. 3. REBA scores for type 3 collection: collector 1 (AM)



a. Sort Garbage: 7



b. Pick up Garbage: 4



c. Inspect Garbage: 3

Fig. 4. REBA scores for type 1 segregation: segregator 1 (AM)

4.1 **REBA Scores**

From the REBA scores of each collector, regardless of the type of method used, high REBA scores (8-10: Action is Necessary Soon; 11-15: Action is Necessary Now) were associated with tasks that involved gathering trash and giving trash to segregators. Returning to the truck, Type 1 Collection (Fig. 1) garnered significantly lower REBA scores compared to Type 2 Collection (Fig. 2), where trash bins were being carried, or



a. Sort Garbage Using Feet: 10



e. Empty Trash Bin: 7



b. Compress Garbage Using Feet: 12



f. Return Trash Bin to Collector: 7



c. Sort Garbage Using Hands: 11



g. Transfer Trash Using Two Hands: 8



d. Get Trash Bin: 8



h. Transfer Trash Using One hand: 10

Fig. 5. REBA scores for type 2 segregation: segregator 2 (AM)

Type 3 Collection (Fig. 3), where a bucket was being pulled. However, after the segregators have been given the garbage, REBA scores for returning tasks in Type 2 Collection were lower.

For segregators, regardless of the type of method used, high REBA scores were given to tasks that involved sorting garbage. For Type 2 Segregation (Fig. 5), in addition to segregating, tasks that involved moving or transferring garbage, such as receiving the trash bin, were also given high REBA scores.

It should be noted that large differences in REBA scores for certain tasks may be a result of other factors. For example, in Type 2 collection, collectors gave trash bins to the segregators differently (ex. throwing trash bags compared to directly giving them to segregators). The same can be said about receiving trash bins - the difference in scores can be associated with the size of what was being received and how it was given by segregators.

4.2 CMDQ Responses

Based on the CMDQ, solid waste collectors generally do not believe that body pains are too uncomfortable and interfere with their work. The workers experience pain most often in their hips, lower back, upper back and shoulders. These may be associated to twisting movements or frequent side-bending when picking up trash, improper lifting or transferring heavy trash above shoulder level, frequent bent-over postures over long periods of time.

4.3 ISLE-Based Survey Responses

According to the ISLE-Based Survey, open wounds and foreign bodies in the eye (e.g. dust, from the garbage, which may not necessarily damage one's vision) are generally the most frequent occupational injuries incurred by the workers. A number of respondents also incurred fractures, sprains, and concussions. Most of the respondents believed that open wounds, fractures, and strains affected their work performance the most. Open wounds were commonly associated with sharp objects such as syringes, broken glass, open cans, sticks, etc. Fractures and Sprains were caused by accidents such as falling off the garbage truck or tripping over certain objects.

4.4 Occupational Injuries Risk Analysis

For collectors, open wounds were the occupational injury most likely occur. Fractures, sprains, and concussions were also likely to happen. In general, these risks were associated with tasks that involved getting or moving trash and giving trash to segregators. Figure 6 indicates the risks present in each task of a collector. For segregators, the presence of risk factors for certain occupational injuries depended on which Type of segregation method would be used. For Type 1, open wounds, concussions, and foreign bodies in the eye were the occupational injuries most likely to occur. For Type 2, in addition to the aforementioned occupational injuries, risk factors were present for sprains as well because garbage bins were being handled. Figure 7 indicates the risks present in each task of a segregator.



Fig. 6. Occupational injuries risk analysis per collector task



Fig. 7. Occupational injuries risk analysis per segregator task

Overall, the occupational injury with the greatest number of present risk factors is open wounds, at 29.39% of all recorded instances of risks. This is followed immediately by risks for sprains at 27.81%, then risks for concussions at 22.78%. The results of the occupational injuries risk analysis coincide with the responses from the ISLE-Based Survey.

5 Recommendations

Based from the analysis, recommendations include (1) ensuring that homeowners follow proper segregation of non-biodegradable, biodegradable, and hazardous wastes to eliminate the risk of incurring open wounds, (2) determining a shortest route and setting up collection stations along the route to reduce the total collection time, decreasing the exposure time to risks of WMSDs and occupational injuries, (3) providing workers with knowledge on proper lifting procedures, (4) providing elevated collection areas somewhere between 87.66 cm to 104.14 cm., the mean hip height and elbow height of a male Filipino manufacturing worker [13], respectively, since the strongest hand forces and most useful mobility are between elbow and hip heights, (5) ensuring that workers wear Personal Protective Equipment (PPE).

Acknowledgments. We would like to thank the QC EPWMD, one of its contractors for solid waste collection (name redacted for privacy), and the North Susana Executive Village Subdivision for this study would not have been possible without their help.

References

- 1. Philippine Solid Waste at a Glance. www.senate.gov.ph
- 2. Safety and Health in the Workplace: Types of Injuries, Part of Body Injured, Causes and Agents of Injuries. LABSTAT Updates 22
- Prado-Lua, L.D.: Anthropometric measurement of Filipino manufacturing workers Jinky: Semantic Scholar. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Anthropometric-measurement-of-Filipino-workers-Prado-Lua/3e1d0814ef6ebf8db3eed9795b5efb4676910226

Workplace Design and Ergonomics



An Empirical Investigation of Factors Influencing Energy Saving Behavior in the Workplace

Kine Reegård^(⊠) and Asgeir Drøivoldsmo

IFE, Institute for Energy Technology, Halden, Norway {Kine.Reegard, Asgeir.Droivoldsmo}@ife.no

Abstract. Buildings are estimated to account for 40% of the EU's energy consumption. Thus, there is a growing body of research on the behaviors of building users and what influences these. While there has been substantial research on energy saving behavior in households, far less research has focused on the context of non-residential buildings. We report on a study to understand energy saving behaviors in the context of workplace, drawing on the theory of planned behavior. A hierarchical regression analysis was performed on data from employees in a Norwegian organization (N = 251). We find energy concern to be a significant predictor of energy saving behavior at work, and that this relationship is partially mediated by perceived behavioral control. In addition, routinization of energy saving behavior seem to be of great importance for engaging in such behavior also at work.

Keywords: Energy saving behavior \cdot Workplace \cdot Theory of planned behavior \cdot Human and organizational factors

1 Introduction

In Europe, expected increase in energy demand due to economic growth surpasses that of expected increase in energy production [1]. Consequently, there is a greater focus on energy efficiency as evident in the Energy Efficiency Directive (2012/27/EU) by the European Union (EU). In line with political goals of sustainability, there is increased focus on understanding energy consumption related to development and operation of buildings and how this can be reduced. This follows as buildings are estimated to account for 40% of the EU's energy consumption [2]. The interest in buildings from a sustainability perspective is further emphasized as buildings "offer near-term, highly cost-effective opportunities to curb energy demand growth rates, even to reverse them in developed economies" [3, p. 5]. To exploit this potential, it is necessary to change user behaviors which has a major effect on buildings' energy use [4].

While there has been substantial research on energy saving behavior in households, far less research has focused on the context of non-residential buildings [1, 5], despite such buildings being responsible for a large percent of the overall energy consumption in developed countries. For example, in Norway, non-residential buildings are estimated to account for 15% of domestic energy consumption [6]. Nonetheless, important

contributions to our understanding of building users' behaviors have been made by different disciplines including social sciences, economics and engineering [7]. Currently, there seem to be two main purposes of research on energy saving behavior set in the context of workplaces: one is to derive knowledge of behavior patterns in use of buildings that allows for prediction of buildings' energy consumption [8–10], while the other is to derive knowledge of individual and organizational factors that explain and influence the behavior of building users [11–14]. In this paper, we focus on the latter. Such knowledge is of value for both commercial building tenants and owners, policy makers and research community as it can inform efforts aiming to influence the behavior of building users to improve energy efficiency and reduce costs associated with consumption.

2 Factors Influencing Energy Saving Behavior in the Workplace

A narrative literature review was performed to identify the state of art in research on understanding how factors at the individual and/or organizational level are related to occupant's energy conservation behaviors.

Among the research identified, the model of behavior that is most frequently applied to explain individual differences in energy consumption behavior is that of theory of planned behavior (TPB). Several studies support the notion of TPB and its explanatory power regarding energy saving behavior in the workplace. TPB proposes that attitudes (i.e. the degree to which people have a favorable or unfavorable evaluation of the behavior), norms (i.e. the perceived social pressure to perform or not perform the behavior), and perceived behavioral control (i.e. the perceived ease or difficulty of performing the behavior) shape an individual's intention to perform a specific behavior which, in turn, influences the likeliness that s/he does so [15, 16]. In several studies, energy concern (attitude) have been shown to positively influence energy saving intention [11-14]. In the workplace context, organizational support creates perceptions of social pressure to engage in certain behaviors. Frequently, top management support is referred as a key factor in influencing employees' behavior and has been shown to be of importance for pro-environmental behaviors at work [17, 18]. Therefore, we anticipate that top management support will be positively related to intentions to engage in energy saving behaviors. In line with TPB, we further anticipate that perceived behavioral control and behavioral intentions predict energy saving behavior at work [15, 16].

Although TPB views perceived behavioral control as one of three unique predictors, [11] found perceived behavioral control to mediate the effect of energy concern on energy conservation intention. Hence, perceived behavioral control may not only be a predictor of energy saving behavioral intentions and behavior, but it may also mediate the relationship between the other predictors and intentions to engage in energy saving behaviors and actual behavior.

In addition, we want to explore potential spillover-effects between energy saving behavior at home and the workplace. While context is seen to be an important defining feature of behavior, studies have not found there to be a spillover effect in terms of energy behaviors [12, 19]. However, [19] argue that a spillover effect is most likely to occur where categories of behavior are similar. Figure 1 provides a summary of our hypotheses based on the existing literature.



Fig. 1. Conceptual model of predictors of energy saving behavior in the workplace

3 Method

3.1 The Study

This study reports on responses to a web-based survey administered in Norwegian and English to employees in an organization with two premises in South-Eastern regions of Norway. The survey was administered in August 2019. Email invitations were sent out to 618 employees from the communication department in the organization with a prewritten invitation text explaining the purpose of the study, management of individual responses in which confidentiality would be ensured, and contact information for the research team. In addition to the email invitations, respondents were also invited to participate through advertisement on the organization's intranet.

The total number of participants in this study was 251 (a response rate of 41%) and included Norwegian (N = 219) and non-Norwegian (N = 32) nationals. The age distribution of respondents was representative of the age distribution of all employees. 18% were under 35, 23,5% were between the age of 35 and 44, 28% were between the age of 45 and 54, 28,5% were between the age of 55 and 64, and 1% were 65 or older. The respondents were representatively distributed between the various departments of the organization and its premises. The two premises of the organization mainly consist of buildings with individual offices and meetings rooms. However, a few buildings rather contain larger industrial equipment in open spaces.

3.2 Survey Design

Measures. The questionnaire included measures used in previous research related to energy saving behaviors. The complete questionnaire was tested by three colleagues who did not work on this subject. After having reviewed their responses and their feedback, only minor changes were made in terms of wording before administering the questionnaire to the sample. Table 1 provides an overview of measures used.

Variable	No. of	1–5 Likert scale	Chron-backs α	Inter-item
	nems	110111		con.
Workplace energy saving	10	Never - always	.63	.15
behavior (adapted from				
[20])				
Home energy saving	6	Never - always	.62	.22
behavior		-		
Energy concern (adapted	3	Disagree - agree	.70	.45
from [12])				
Top management support	3	Disagree - agree	.88	.71
(from [17])				
Workplace perceived	3	Disagree - agree	.80	.57
behavioral control [11]				
Energy saving behavioral	2	Disagree - agree	.83	.71
intentions [13]				
Control variable Habits	3	Disagree - agree	.94	-
(from [24])				

Table 1. Summary of measures

Control Variables. Habits have also been found to play a significant role in explaining energy saving behavior [14, 21]. Furthermore, age has been identified to influence proenvironmental concern and behavior [22, 23]. Therefore, we include these as control variables in our model. Habits was measured by use of an adapted scale from [24], previously used in the context of energy-saving behaviors [14]. Respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which they agree with four statements concerning turning off electronic equipment when not in use, closing the door to rooms that are not in use, and turning on additional heating sources or adjusting heating when feeling cold. Respondents were asked to indicate their age by choosing an age group to which they belong.

4 Results

To test our hypotheses, we performed a hierarchical multiple regression analysis on the data collected data from building users in the organization. Prior to running the analysis, we performed data screening to ascertain that assumptions regarding normality, linearity and homoscedasticity were met. We first performed a stepwise regression analysis of each predictor on behavioral intention. The results are provided in Table 2. The analysis show that energy concern, top management support and perceived behavioral control are all significant predictors of intentions to engage in energy saving behaviors at work. Hence, H1, H2 and H3a are supported.

Variable	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
	β	β	β	β
Age	07	09	07	07
Habit (el. equipment)	.09	.01	.04	.03
Habit (doors)	.19	.16**	.16**	.12*
Habit (heating)	.15***	.13*	.10	.09
Energy concern		.35***	.27**	.19*
Management support			.22**	.21**
Perceived behavioral control				.18*
R^2	.12	.18	.21	.23
F	8.45***	10.34***	10.75***	10.21***
* . 05 ** . 01 ***	001			

 Table 2.
 Summary of hierarchical regression analysis for variables predicting workplace energy saving behavioral intention

p < .05. p < .01. p < .001

Next, we performed the analysis of each predictor on workplace energy saving behavior. This allowed us to test H3b, H4 and H6, as well as testing that there is an effect to be mediated in accordance with H5a and H5b. Table 3 shows that perceived behavioral control is a significant predictor of energy saving behavior at work, hence supporting H3b. In contrast, behavioral intentions do not predict behavior. H4 is therefore not supported. H6 is supported with home energy saving behavior being the strongest predictor of behavior when all other predictors are included in the model. The results indicate that there is an effect of energy concern on energy saving behavior that is potentially mediated, but not by behavioral intention. H5b is not supported given that neither top management support nor behavioral intention predict behavior.

Variable	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
	β	β	β	β	β	β
Age	.06	.05	.05	.05	.05	.05
Habit (el. equipment)	.25***	.18***	.19***	.18***	.18***	.13***
Habit (doors)	.09**	.03*	.07*	.04	.04	01
Habit (heating)	05	06*	07*	07*	07*	08*
Energy concern		.31***	.30***	.25***	.24***	.17***
Management			.04	.03	.03	.05
support						
Perceived behavioral control				.12**	.11**	.11**
Behavioral intention					.04	.03
Home energy saving behavior						.31***
R^2	.27	.38	.38	.40	.40	.47
F	22.12***	29.15***	24.49***	22.87***	20.17***	23.65***

 Table 3.
 Summary of hierarchical regression analysis for variables predicting workplace energy saving behaviour

*p < .05. **p < .01. ***p < .001

The results in Table 2 made us discard behavioral intentions from the further analysis. Instead, we tested for mediation effects between energy concern and energy saving behavior at work with perceived behavioral control as a mediator. Table 4 shows that energy concern is a significant predictor of perceived behavior control. From Table 3, results show that inclusion of perceived behavioral control slightly reduces energy concern in predicting energy saving behaviors which indicates a partial mediation. Subsequently we used a Sobel test to determine that the direct effect of energy concern on behavior. The Sobel test (Z = 2.62, p < 0.01) support our interpretation that perceived behavioral control partly mediates the relationship between energy concern and energy saving behavior in the workplace.

Variable	Model 1	Model 2	
	β	β	
Age	.03	.01	
Habit (el. equipment)	.10*	.00	
Habit (doors)	.23**	.20***	
Habit (heating)	.03	.01	
Energy concern		.44***	
R^2	.15	.26	
F	10.58***	17.03***	
$p < .05. \ p < .01. \ p < .001$			

Table 4.	Summary	of hierarchical	regression	analysis	for energ	y concern	predicting	perceived
behaviora	l control							

5 Discussion and Conclusion

This study set out to assess if the predictors outlined in TPB affect energy saving behavior in the context of workplace, and to provide empirical evidence of predictors of such behavior when at work. In contrast to other research, we do not find top management support to affect energy saving behavior at work. Instead, we found energy concern to be a significant predictor of energy saving behavior, and that this relationship is partially mediated by perceived behavioral control. These results suggest that engaging in energy saving behaviors at work is mainly influenced by employee's individual appraisal and control beliefs rather than a social factor. In addition, routinization of energy saving behavior seem to be of great importance for such behavior to be undertaken also at work. This is evident in habits related to use of electronic equipment and heating being significant predictors. Furthermore, that there is a spillover effect between energy saving behavior at home and at work also suggest that routinization of such behavior transcends the context in which the behavior is performed. Of greatest surprise in our findings is that no relationship between behavioral intentions and actual behavior was established. This could, however, be explained by the wording on the measurement scale used in which each item was future oriented. Hence, the respondents might have intentions to alter their energy saving behavior in

the future (i.e. do more of), but that this was not currently reflected in their actual behavior. If that is the case, we would expect that there would be a significant difference in behavior if the same study was undertaken at a later point in time.

These results suggest that efforts to influence employees to engage in energy saving behaviors will benefit from targeting behavioral beliefs and control beliefs. Hence, information campaigns may be useful in targeting both types of beliefs by providing employees with information relevant for forming appraisals of energy saving behavior, as well as knowledge regarding what each employee can do within their own control. Further, our findings point to efforts made to influence energy behaviors at home are important also in the context of workplaces because these behaviors can transcend contextual boundaries.

References

- Bergesen, B., Groth, L.H., Langseth, B., Magnussen, I.H., Spilde, D., Toutain, J.E.W.: Energibruksrapporten 2012 – Energibruk i husholdninger. Report no. 30/2012, NVE, Oslo (2012). ISBN 978-82-410-0818-4
- European Commission: The Energy Performance of Buildings Directive. https://ec.europa. eu/energy/sites/ener/files/documents/buildings_performance_factsheet.pdf
- Chalmers, P.: Climate change: implications for buildings. key findings from the intergovernmental panel on climate change fifth assessment report. BPIE (2014). http://bpie.eu/ publication/climate-change-implications-for-buildings/
- 4. Lucon, O., et al.: Climate change 2014: mitigation of climate change. In: Edenhofer, O., et al. (eds.) Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2014)
- Staddon, S.C., Cycil, C., Goulden, M., Leygue, C., Spence, A.: Intervening to change behavior and save energy in the workplace: a systematic review of available evidence. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 17, 30–51 (2016)
- NVE: Analyse av energibruk i yrkesbygg. Report no. 24/2016, NVE, Oslo (2016). ISBN 978-82-410-1215-0
- 7. Lopes, M.A.R., Antunes, C.H., Martins, N.: Energy behaviours as promoters of energy efficiency: a 21st century review. Renew. Sust. Energy Rev. **16**(6), 4095–4104 (2012)
- Mahdavi, A., Tahmasebi, F., Kayalar, M.: Prediction of plug loads in office buildings: simplified and probabalistic methods. Energy Build. 129, 322–329 (2016)
- Wang, Q., Augenbroe, G., Kim, J.-H., Gu, L.: Meta-modeling of occupancy variables and analysis of their impact on energy outcomes of office buildings. Appl. Energy 174, 166–180 (2016)
- 10. Sonta, A.J., Simmons, P.E., Jain, R.K.: Understanding building occupant activities at scale: an integrated knowledge-based data-driven approach. Adv. Eng. Inform. **37**, 1–13 (2018)
- Chen, C.-F., Knight, K.: Energy at work: social psychological factors affecting energy conservation intentions within Chinese electric power companies. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 4, 23–31 (2014)
- Wells, V.K., Taheri, B., Gregory-Smith, D., Manika, D.: The role of generativity and attitudes on employees home and workplace water and energy saving behaviors. Tour. Manag. 56, 63–74 (2016)

- Zierler, R., Wehrmeyer, W., Murphy, R.: The energy efficiency behavior of individuals in large organisations: a case study of a major UK infrastructure operator. Energy Policy 104, 38–49 (2017)
- Tetlow, R.M., van Dronkelaar, C., Beaman, C.P., Elmualim, A.A., Couling, K.: Identifying behavioral predictors of small power electricity consumption in office buildings. Build. Environ. 92, 75–85 (2015)
- 15. Ajzen, I.: The theory of planned behavior. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. **50**, 179–211 (1991)
- Madden, T.J., Ellen, P.S., Ajzen, I.: A comparison of the theory of planned behavior and the theory of reasoned action. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 18(1), 3–9 (1992)
- Zhang, Y., Wei, Y., Zhou, G.: Promoting firm's energy saving behavior: the role of institutional pressures, top management support and financial slack. Energy Policy 115, 230– 238 (2018)
- 18. Yuriev, A., Boiral, O., Francoeur, V., Paillé, P.: Overcoming barriers to pro-environmental behaviors in the workplace: a systematic review. J. Clean. Prod. **182**, 379–394 (2018)
- 19. Littleford, C., Ryley, T.J., Firth, S.K.: Context, control and the spillover of energy use behaviours between office and home settings. J. Environ. Psychol. 40, 157–166 (2014)
- Matthies, E., Kastner, I., Klesse, A., Wagner, H.-J.: High reduction potentials for energy user behaviour in public buildings: how much can psychology-based interventions achieve? J. Environ. Stud. Sci. 1, 241–255 (2011)
- Yun, G.Y., Kim, H., Kim, J.T.: Effects of occupancy and lighting use patterns on lighting energy consumption. Energy Build. 46, 152–158 (2012)
- Frederiks, E.R., Stenner, K., Hobmann, E.V.: The socio-demographic and psychological predictors of residential energy consumption: a comprehensive review. Energies 8, 573–609 (2015)
- 23. Gifford, R., Nilsson, A.: Personal and social factors that influence pro-environmental concern and behaviour: a review. Int. J. Psychol. **49**(3), 141–157 (2014)
- Gardner, B., Abraham, C., Lally, P., de Bruijn, G.-J.: Towards parsimony in habit measurement: testing the convergent and predictive validity of an automaticity subscale of the self-report habit index. Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 9, 102–114 (2012)



Workplace Design and Ergonomic Analysis for Workers with Disabilities

Natasa Vujica Herzog^(运) and Borut Buchmeister

Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, University of Maribor, Smetanova ulica 17, 2000 Maribor, Slovenia {natasa.vujica, borut.buchmeister}@um.si

Abstract. It is generally known that an appropriate workplace design has longterm consequences on worker and can prevent musculoskeletal discomfort, improve productivity and work efficiency, reduce production costs and optimize human well-being. Worker is actually the center of production system and is the employer's most important resource. To achieve an optimum balance between the workers' and the company's interests a systematic approach to the workplace design is very important. The benefits of well-designed jobs, equipment, and workplaces are numerus and can be summarized in improved productivity, safety, health, and increased satisfaction for the employees.

Although the literature in the field of ergonomic workplace design is extensive, there is a lack of expert knowledge regarding workers with disabilities and ergonomic workplace design for these workers. The aim of our research was therefore to address this defectiveness and to propose corresponding modes to overcome exposed problems.

Keywords: Workplace design · Ergonomic analysis · Workers with disabilities

1 Introduction

Workers with disabilities are usually more vulnerable than healthy workers are and have more barriers in the process of getting an appropriate employment. Employment rate among people with disabilities is significantly lower than among workers without disability. For example, in Peer Review on "Work-capacity assessment and employment of persons with disabilities" published by European commission we can read about the case of Latvia, where only one of four persons with disabilities is employed [1]. Stated example is comparable to information's we can find e.g. in the World report on disability, dated on 2011 [2]. Workers with disabilities are not a homogeneous group. They may have different disabilities such as physical, sensory, intellectual or mental [3, 4]. Beside the wage, subsidies and employment quotas ensured by government, different supportive measures could be very effective [1]. On-the-job training and work trials, mentoring, job coaching and the presence of a support person, providing support to both employees with disabilities and employers are shown to be particularly helpful to support sustainable integration of workers with disabilities into the open labor market.

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 127–134, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_17 During a practical workplace design, employers usually face the question, how to perform ergonomic analysis for workers with disabilities? Taking into account all additional challenges, shortly mentioned before, an appropriate workplace design is even more important for workers with disabilities and requests additional knowledge and efforts. The basic topics for effective workplace design are as follows:

- anthropometric measurements (body postures, body measurements),
- working tasks,
- working environment, and
- work organization.

Individual or tailor-made approach following these basic steps is very suitable for workers with disabilities, too, but it does not include possible workers limitations. Although well-known ergonomics methods do not include assessment measures for workers with disabilities [5, 6]. The same situation is with the software packages that use digital human models for workers' movement simulation and analysis.

Following research methodology, a detailed literature review of the topic was made focusing on case studies performed in different working environments using different ergonomic analysis for workers with disabilities and then synthesized in general recommendations and directions. The aim of our research was therefore to address defectiveness that is still present in the field of ergonomics workplace design for workers with disabilities and to propose corresponding modes to overcome exposed problems.

2 Methods

2.1 Screening Process

The first step in searching process was made using database Web of Science (Fig. 1). Search item 'workplace design' gave us 14.317 results for the period 1972 to 2020. From these 14.426 papers, 53 papers were highly cited in the field. Examination of titles and abstracts showed that regarding workplace design in the last 10 years (2009 to 2020) the most important topics were:

- leadership/behaviour/creativity/innovation,
- safety climate/workplace promotion (wellness)/physical activities at workplace,
- mental health problems/burnout symptoms,
- bullying and harassment at work,
- medical issues e.g. carpal tunnel syndrome, long working hours and coronary heart disease
- workplace diversity/resilience training for mental health and well-being of employees,
- gender stereotypes
- height-adjustable workstation/sit stand workstations to reduce office sitting time,
- open plan offices (benefits vs. obstacles),

Workplace design for workers with disabilities is not on the list of most cited papers but with refined search from 14.317 results related to 'workplace design' we got 582 items connected to 'disability'. Examination of titles and abstracts showed that only a few papers match the topic we were researching. In the next step, our search was refined with the item 'ergonomic analyses' and we got 251 results. However, the examination process gave us the similar results as before, rarely any paper was about research topic. We did not get any paper with all three key words (workplace design, disability and ergonomic analyses). Therefore, we selected some representative papers from the list of 582 papers from refined search with 'disability' for final literature review.

2.2 Results Suitability

From the list of 582 papers gained with key words 'workplace design' and 'disability', 165 papers were in open access that enabled us an in-depth examination. The most research themes can be summarized as follows:

- return to work/rehabilitation,
- intellectual disability,
- discrimination and avoidance due to disability,
- fluctuation, invisibility, fatigue,
- inclusion of people with disabilities,
- medical aspects (neck pain, back pain, rheumatoid arthritis, headache),
- specific work groups (nurses, teachers, firefighters),
- cost-effectiveness of employability interventions,
- employer politics and practices,
- workplace health promotion.

Identification	 ⇒ 14.317 results found in the database Web of Science for search item 'workplace design' ⇒ refined search results using search item 'disability': 582 ⇒ refined search results using search item 'ergonomics analysis': 251
Screening	\Rightarrow From 582 items connected with disability 165 items were in open

reening	\Rightarrow From 582 items connected with disability 165 items were in open
-	access and were in-depth examined
	\Rightarrow From these 165 items only 25 used case study approach

Suitability	⇒ From 165 full text articles the most common reasons for exclusion were:
	 not physical disability,
	 general reflections about disability,
	 sensory, intellectual or mental disability,
	 rehabilitation,
	 general medicine & medical viewpoint,
	 social issues,
	 education,
	 environmental studies.

Fig. 1. Research process
3 Results and Discussion

A detailed literature review of research topic, made using database Web of Science did not give us expected results. As starting point, we focused on case studies performed in different working environments using different ergonomic analysis for workers with disabilities. The examination process gave us rarely any paper about research topic. The majority of papers was focused on not-physical disabilities, general reflections about disability, sensory, intellectual or mental disabilities, rehabilitation, medicine & medical viewpoints, social issues, education and environmental studies.

Our previous experiences based mostly on cooperation with companies and regarding their needs show that individual or tailor-made approach is the most suitable for workers with disabilities. Problem with existent ergonomics methods is that do not include possible workers limitations nor assessment measures for workers with disabilities [5]. In Table 1, a short review of selected methods for workplace assessment is presented. Some of these methods consider time/duration of movements/operations but others not. Additional time after each movement or operation (Fig. 2) could assure enough time to include workers with disabilities, too and enables to include them in working environment with other workers (not in a segregated environment where they usually are).



Fig. 2. Rest time as part of cycle time

The same situation is with the software packages that use digital human models for workers' movement simulation and analysis. The possible solution is that during the process time additional times are added, considering longer resting times. In software packages, additional time is visible on the timeline (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Timeline in ergonomics software Jack

Recently, human-robot collaborative workplace design and evaluation as part of industry 4.0 is frequently mention. This is a complex problem that has gathered the attention and effort of both industry and academia [17–19]. The development of workplace and collaboration design methods requires the integration of multiple submethods and extended considerations on ergonomics. Where in this process are

workers with disabilities is hard to foresee. The fact is that by ergonomic workplace design it is possible to adapt work to a human's physical and mental characteristics and to reduce or prevent additional adverse effects on health.

Method	Body part	Postures	Benefits	Limitations	Recommendations
OWAS [7, 8]	Whole body load	Back – 7 Upper limb - 4 Arm – 3 Lower limb – 9 Head – 5	Widely used and documented	Doesn't separate left and right upper extremities. Time consuming. Doesn't consider repetition or duration of the sequential postures. Requires training and specific skills	For researchers familiar with the method
RULA [9]	Whole body load	Upper arm – 5 Forearm – 3 Wrist - 4 Neck – 4 Trunk – 4 Legs – 2	Focus on the most relevant body segments. Easy to use. Public computerized software available	Not applicable for tasks involving manual materials handling and whole body movements. Right and left have to be assessed separately. Does not consider duration of exposures	To occupational safety and health practitioners for identifying risk for musculoskeletal disorders of neck shoulder and upper limb
REBA [10]	Whole body load	Neck – 4 Trunk – 6 Legs – 4 Upper arm – 6, Forearm – 2, Wrist – 3	Rapid to use. Computerized registration. Public domain	Time- consuming. Right and left have to be assessed separately. Time aspects not considered	To occupational safety/health practitioners

Table 1. Short overview of selected methods for workplace assessment

(continued)

Method	Body part	Postures	Benefits	Limitations	Recommendations
NIOSH [11]	Whole body load	Defined by the horizontal and vertical position of the load in relation to the trunk	Well documented and tested in several studies	Requirement of several technical measures and calculations means increased requirements for skills and time to make the estimation	For researchers to assess individual lifting situations in detail
OCRA [12, 13]	Upper limb load	_	Considering all repetitive tasks. Easy and quick to use	Time consuming. Allows only the estimation of exposures, not a precise risk evaluation. Needs well trained observer	To occupational safety/health practitioners, ergonomists
LUBA [14]	Upper body load	Based on deviation from neutral position of the joints	Easy to use. Comprehensible concerning postures	Either the right or left upper limb can be assessed. Does not consider force, duration and repetition	For ergonomists with limitations (the method assess only the postures)
ERIN [15]	Upper limb load	Trunk – 4, Shoulder/arm – 5 Hand/wrist – 3, Neck – 3	Easy to use. Difficult to observe hand postures	Lower limb assessment missing	Can be used by non-experts with minimal training
SI [16]	Upper limb load	Hand/wrist – 5	Assesses all main risk factors for distal upper limb disorders	Subjective assessment. Does not consider vibration and contact stress. Subjective assessment	To occupational safety/health practitioners, ergonomists
PEIL	Upper limb load	Hand/wrist – 9, Trunk – 8 Shoulder/arm – 12, Head/neck – 3, Head – 3	Exact method. Easy to use	The method was made for ergonomics analysis in manufacturing companies. Demands team work	For ergonomists and practitioners

 Table 1. (continued)

Legend: OWAS – Ovako Working Posture Assessment System, RULA - Rapid Upper Limb Assessment, REBA – Rapid Entire Body Assessment, NIOSH – National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health, OCRA – Occupational Repetitive Actions, ERIN – Evaluacion del Riesgo Individual (Individual Risk Assessment), PEIL – Potential Ergonomics Issue List, SI – Strain Index

Acknowledgements. The authors acknowledge that the Grant P2-0190 was supported financially by the Slovenian Research Agency.

References

- Peer Review on "Work-capacity assessment and employment of persons with disabilities" Riga, Latvia, pp. 26–27 (2018). http://publichealthwell.ie/index.php?q=newsroom/adam/ health-inequalities-draft/peer-review-work-capacity-assessment-and-employment-persons-&source=hometabs&content=news&medium=weblink&campaign=healthwell&member= none&catalogue=none&collection=none&tokens_complete=true
- World Report on Disability (2011). https://www.who.int/disabilities/world_report/2011/ report.pdf. https://www.who.int/disabilities/world_report/2011/report.pdf
- Code of Practice on Managing Disability in the Workplace (2001). https://www.ilo.org/ public/english/standards/relm/gb/docs/gb282/pdf/tmemdw-2.pdf
- 4. Guimarães, M.B.: Ergonomics and workplace adaptation to people with disabilities. Work **50**, 607–609 (2015)
- Herzog, N.V., Buchmeister, B., Harih, G.: Ergonomics workplace design for workers with disabilities, chapter 12. In: Katalinic, B. (ed.) DAAAM International Scientific Book 2019, pp. 159–174. Published by DAAAM International, Vienna (2019)
- Guimaraes, B., Martins, L.B., Junior, B.B.: Workplae adaptation of people with disabilities in the construction industry. In: 6th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics (AHFE 2015) and the Affiliated Conferences, AHFE 2015, pp. 1832–1837, Las Vegas (2015)
- Karhu, U., Kansi, P., Kuorinka, I.: Correcting working postures in industry: a practical method for analysis. Appl. Ergon. 8(4), 199–201 (1977)
- Karhu, O., Harkoen, R., Sorvali, P., Vespalainen, P.: Observing working postures in industry: examples of OWAS application. Appl. Ergon. 12(1), 13–17 (1981)
- 9. McAtamney, L., Corlett, N.: RULA: a survey method for the investigation of work-related upper limb disorders. Appl. Ergon. 24(2), 91–99 (1993)
- Hignett, S., McAtamney, L.: Rapid entire body assessment (REBA). Appl. Ergon. 31(2), 201–205 (2000)
- 11. Waters, T.R., Putz-Anderson, V., Garg, A., Fine, L.J.: Revised NIOSH equation for the design and evaluation of manual lifting tasks. Ergonomics **36**(7), 749–776 (1993)
- 12. Occhipinti, E.: OCRA: a concise index for assessment of exposure to repetitive movements of the upper limbs. Ergonomics **50**(9), 19–31 (1998)
- Occhipinti, E., Colombini, D.: Updating reference values and predictive models of the OCRA method in the risk assessment of work related musculoskeletal disorders of the upper limbs. Ergonomics 50(11), 1727–1739 (2002)
- Kee, D., Karwowski, W.: A comparison of three observational techniques for assessing postural loads in industry. Int. J. Occup. Saf. Ergon. 13(1), 3–14 (2007)
- 15. Rodriguez, Y., Vina, S., Montero, R.: ERIN: a practical tool for assessing work-related musculoskeletal disorders. Occup. Ergon. **11**, 59–73 (2013)
- Moore, J.S., Garg, A.: The strain index: a proposed method to analyse jobs for risk of distal upper extremity disorders. Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. 56(5), 443–458 (1995)
- Mateus, J.E.C., Clayes, D., Limere, V., Cottyn, J., Aghezzaf, E.H.: Ergonomics and performance factors for human-robot collaborative workplace design. IFACPapersOnLine 52–13, 2550–2555 (2019)

- Temple, J.B., Kelaher, M., Williams, R.: Discrimination and avoidance due to disability in Australia: evidence from a national cross sectional survey. BMC Public Health 18, 1347 (2018)
- 19. Caputo, F., Greco, A., Fera, M., Macchiaroli, R.: Digital twins to enhance the integration of ergonomics in the workplace design. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. **71**, 20–31 (2019)



Incidence of Varicose Veins and Associated Risk Factors Among Factory Workers to Develop an Ergonomically Sound Workplace

Shella Marie Almazan, Dan Joshua Gascon, John Paolo A. Isip, Peren Landayan, Karen E. Laroza^(⊠), Jairah Heidilene Jose, and Paula A. Vicente

La Consolacion University Philippines, Bulihan, Malolos City, Bulacan, Philippines almazanshellamariel3@gmail.com, paoloisip7@gmail.com, landayan75@gmail.com, karenlarozal@gmail.com, pawivicente@gmail.com

Abstract. The high prevalence of Varicose Veins among adults is continually imposing the interest of the public worldwide. Since varicose veins problems affects about one (1) of five (5) adults and sixteen percent (16%) of adults at the age sixty (60) years old and above and around twenty-two (22) millions of women and eleven (11) millions of men worldwide. Discovering that there's also a higher risk of women having a varicose vein or about 50% of American women. Furthermore, a new study also shows that aside from women, tall person is great risk of developing a varicose vein. Alongside with nonmodifiable risk factors is the nature of work of an individual which contribute to acquiring varicose veins especially those with stationary jobs. Therefore, the researchers conducted an epidemiologic study to measure the prevalence, measure of association and identifying the risk factors in the development of varicose veins. Prevalence rate is found out to be at fifty eight percent (58%) of which both identified risk factors and odd ratio re both in positive numbers. Leaning bas, and kinesthetic activities are recommended to mitigate the risk in developing the disease.

Keywords: Varicose vein · Factory worker · Risk factors · Ergonomically workplace

1 Introduction

Varicose veins affect about one (1) of five (5) adults and sixteen percent (16%) of adults at the age sixty (60) years old and above [5] and around twenty-two (22) millions of women and eleven (11) millions of men have varicose veins [1]. More than 23% of adults reportedly are affected of varicose veins, about 1 of 4 adults in United State experience discomfort of varicose vein and 80% of patients are female with the average age of 40 years old [4]. There's a higher risk of women having a varicose vein about

50% of American women [10]. A new study also shows that aside from women, tall person is great risk of developing a varicose vein [17]. Alongside with non-modifiable risk factors is the nature of work of an individual which contribute to acquiring varicose veins. Having a stationary job requiring either standing or sitting may not help the muscles to move the blood flow legs back up to heart have greater tendency of having varicose veins [12]. However, despite the increasing count of people with varicose veins there's still some people who think of it as cosmetic problem. Some cases with varicose veins are not often need of treatment or asymptomatic but if the patients suffer complication including, Bleeding, Venous Ulcer, Blood Clot treatment must be applied [13].

Common forms of varicose vein problems include Telangiectasia, Reticular, Spider Veins, Trunk Veins and Varicose Eczema. The cause of having Telangiectasia is by chronic exposure to the sun heat [6] which comprises high risk work like traffic enforcers during their day shift duties [20], associated factors of telangiectasia are excessive alcohol consumption, acne and genetics of which females are affected 4 times more frequently than males as to represent the norm [18]. Base from the study [7], Reticular also referred to as feeder veins, in which condition exists when enlarge veins allow the outgoing blood to flow the opposite direction (backward). Women are in greater risk of having this kind of vein. Meanwhile, spider veins are small, twisted blood vessels that are visible through the skin [7]. They can be red, purple, or blue in color, and usually appear on the legs, chest, or face [8]. It was also known that people who stand for a long time, such as factory workers, tend to increase the amount of pressure in the veins of the legs and are more likely to develop spider veins [2]. Lastly, a conducted study by HSE (Health Service Executive) about varicose eczema, also known as venous eczema or gravitational eczema, proved that it is caused by the faulty valves in varicose veins, which allow blood to flow in the wrong direction [9]. Furthermore, the same study found out that people having an eczema were also 48% more likely to have high blood pressure [14].

According to (Buatista-Yao 2016) undergoing sclerotherapy said to be the most common procedure for varicose vein with an estimated cost Php 4,000 per session [21]. According to the American Society for Aesthetic Plastic Surgery, the average cost of a single sclerotherapy procedure in 2017 was \$369 in the United States of America [19] but the cost of laser treatment for deeper varicose veins ranges from \$2,000 to \$7,000 [16]. In addition, the newly invented surface therapy (laser) is one of the most suitable treatments available for varicose spider veins [3].

Generally, varicose veins can be prevented by certain healthy lifestyle and avoiding the disease risk factors that is associated with demographics and exposures. The prevention to each kinds of varicose veins like telangiectasia advice keeping away to practice such as topical steroids, minimizing of exposure to extreme hot or cold temperature, using of mild cleanser on skin and applying of sunscreen, wearing of sun glasses and hat as a protection are some of the preventive tips for telangiectasia [11]. Meanwhile, some effective recommendations for preventing reticular veins involves exercising regularly, maintaining a healthy body weight, wearing sun protection while outdoors, avoiding standing for a long period of time and wearing of modern, comfortable compression stocking as often as possible [7]. According to studies related to prevention of varicose veins tend to conclude that without maintaining healthy lifestyle and seeking potential treatment, spider veins and all other types of varicose veins get worse over time [15]. Prioritizing care of the legs can prevent this kind of condition, caring in a way of not standing or sitting for prolonged periods, using of emollients or moisturizers to keep the skin supple and avoiding of bath products and soap that dry the skin [4].

2 Methodology

2.1 Sampling

Through utilizing a simple random sampling design, survey questionnaires were distributed to the chosen factory workers of Fisher Farm Incorporation located in the province of Bulacan. A total of one hundred four (104) respondents have been able to encourage to participate in the study.

2.2 Research Instrument

The survey used is modified form of Edinburgh Claudication Questionnaire. It consists of five (5) items question which was comprised into disease symptoms diagnosis, work time stationary diagnosis, legs comfortably diagnosis. While, the first part of the questionnaire is intended to acquiring data about the demographics of the participants such as age, work duration, and work shift are included, name is asked to be answered optionally to give away for future cohort study.

2.3 Data Analysis

The data gathered using the modified form of Edinburgh Claudication Questionnaire was analyze using statistical measures namely Measure of Prevalence or the percentage of individuals with the disease over the total population of a case control study; Measure of Incidence or the percentage or tendency of an individual without the disease to acquire the said disease by being expose to risk factors in a given period of time; and the Measure of Association or the strength in percentage of a risk factor to contribute in the development of a disease which includes Relative Risk and Odds Ratio.

3 Result and Discussion

3.1 Demographic Profile

The 104 surveyed factory workers form Aquaculture Inc. in Dampol 2^{nd} -A, Pulilan, Bulacan was composed of 66 females (63%) and 38 males (37%) with age ranging from 19–30 (65%), 31–40, (23%) and 41–59 (12%) in relation to risk factors. There were 27 individuals (26%) from the total surveyed population who have experience pregnancy and among those individuals 13 were obese (46%). Base from the entire data gathered and tallied, 28 individuals or (27%) were obese. Meanwhile, 15 individuals (54%) of the obese respondents have not or will not undergo pregnancy.

3.2 Epidemiological Measures of Disease

3.2.1 Measure of Prevalence

The Prevalence rate is found out to be at fifty eight percent (58%), which means that the workers age ranging from nineteen to fifty-nine (19–59) years old. The percentage is comprised of sixty three percent (63%) female and thirty-seven (37%) male workers. It is significantly higher compared to the estimated percentage of fifty percent (50%) of American women [10].

3.2.2 Measure of Association

The association between the risk of developing a disease and an exposure was further analyze through a measuring association using a single summary parameter introduce by epidemiologist. These calculated measures of association drawn on two concepts: the probability of an event or disease and the odds of an event or disease (Fig. 1).

RISK FACTOR PREGNANT	FACTOR PREGNANT DISEASE		TOTAL
EXPOSURE	27	33	60
NO EXPOSURE	16	28	44
TOTAL	43	61	104

Fig. 1. Risk relative and odd ratio for pregnancy

The tables above present the Risk Relative Equation for one of the risk factors being analyzed by this study which is pregnancy. The Table presents usage of Risk Relative Equation to Pregnancy as a risk factors, where in twenty-seven (27) were identified positive of the disease and the exposure to the risk factor, while thirty-three (33) identified negative to varicose veins despite being expose to the risk factors. In terms of those participant without the risk factor of pregnancy, sixteen (16) are identified as positive while twenty-eight (28) are identified as negative to the Varicose Veins. Odds-ratio which is one point ninety-eight (1.98) of the participants were pregnant and the Risk Relative found out to be one point seventeen (1.17) which means the risk factors is in positive association to Varicose Veins or in an increased risk among those exposed to the factors (Fig. 2).

RISK FACTOR OBESITY	DISEASE NO DISEASE		TOTAL	
EXPOSURE	28	32	60	
NO EXPOSURE	18	26	44	
TOTAL	60	44	104	

Fig. 2. Risk relative and odd ratio obesity

The Table above present the usage of Risk Relative of Obesity as a risk factors, where among the participants, twenty-eight (28) were discovered to be positive to varicose veins and exposed to the said risk factors, while thirty-two (32) identified negative to varicose veins despite being expose to the risk factors. On the contrary, eighteen (18) are identified as positive to varicose veins despite of not being exposed to the risk factors, while twenty-six (26) are identified as negative to Varicose Veins and unexposed to the risk factors. Odd-ratio of acquiring a Varicose Veins. One point ninety-one (1.91) were the risk factors of obesity and the risk relative fount out to be One point twenty-two (1.22).

4 Conclusion

Aquaculture Inc. workers is prone of acquiring varicose vein. After verifying the risk factors contributing to the occurrence of Varicose Veins and as directed in the application of the principle of Ergonomics specifically Anthropometry, Biomechanics and Occupational Ergonomics the following are the suggested to the employees particularly working as a factory worker;

The propose exercise plan for lessening the risk factors of varicose veins. Obesity and pregnancy are identified as the most common risk factors. Therefore, inclined with this, with the support of a license physical therapist for an ideal workout plan that will not affect their working schedule. Exercise using the body weight are the most ideal exercise for the workers. Thus, it does not need to use equipment or going to the gym. Push ups, Planking, Squats, Lunges, jumping jogs are the body weight exercise that can do at home or outdoors.

I. The Following are the List of Propose Exercise Workout (Table 1):

Exercise plan	
Obesity	Pregnant
1. Self-stretching of both lower extremities towards all monitors	1. Walking
2. Jogging, Running tread mill at least1 h once a day	NOTE: Pregnant women are obliged to consult to a physical therapist or a wellness coach regarding for their Exercise Plan. A modifications Exercise is offer for their desires since extraneous exercise can lead to miscarriage or other complications during pregnancy
3. Leg elevations with ankle pumps after work everyday	
4. Planking at least 1 min, squats 30 reps 3 sets, Lunges 30 reps 3 sets	

Table 1. Activity

II. Propose Installation of Leaning Bar

Additionally, Proposing the installation of leaning bar to reduce the risk factors of varicose veins. Leaning bar or "leaners" are an excellent alternative to benches primarily where there is minimal space on working space. The value of leaning bars is that they provide a perfect solution for those who don't want or need to sit down but need a place to temporarily rest on work station. Based on an annotated body dimensions data gathered, the 95th percentile the weight will be 63 kg and the height is 170 cm, as mentioned this proposing the installation of leaning bar will be suitable for the factory workers in the production area.

The research studies of Incidence of Varicose Veins and Associated Risk Factors Among Factory Workers to Develop Ergonomically Sound Workplace become a vital to identify the risk factors of varicose veins. It became a significant to the Aquaculture Inc. workers. As well, the studies should be done to comparable industries to further validate the claim. Also, other risk factors may be identified.

Acknowledgment. The researchers insist to acknowledge these people who gave their time and knowledge in helping them. First, we want to give the highest gratitude to the God Almighty who never fails to guide us throughout the study and the wisdom and strength to finish this study. To our Adviser, Engr. John Paolo A. Isip. for always assisting, patient guidance, enthusiastic encouragement and useful advice of this research and to your unconditional support.

Our parents who supported us both morally and financially.

References

- Advance Vein & Vascular Center, Incorporated: How common are varicose veins? Retrieved from mainlinelegs.com. https://www.mainlinelegs.com/how-common-are-varicose-veins/. Accessed 22 June 2015
- 2. American Society for Dermatologic Surgery: Spider Veins. Retrieved from asds.net (2019). https://www.asds.net/skin-experts/skin-conditions/spider-veins#targetText=More%20than% 2040%20percent%20of,have%20varicose%20and%20spider%20veins
- Bray, K.: Varicose veins treatments: a painful treatment. Retrieved from choice.com.au. https://www.choice.com.au/health-and-body/conditions/cardiovascular-disease/articles/varic ose-vein-treatments. Accessed 17 July 2014
- Brazier, Y.: What can I do about varicose veins? Retrieved from Medical News Today. https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/240129.php. Accessed 14 Dec 2017
- Cheng, D.V.: Varicose veins: a common issue among adults over 60. Retrieved from lajollalight.com. https://www.lajollalight.com/our-columns/sponsored-columnists/sd-varicos e-veins-common-among-adults-over-60-htmlstory.html. Accessed 1 May 2019
- 6. Cobb, C.: Understanding telangiectasia. Retrieved from healthline.com. https://www. healthline.com/health/telangiectasia. Accessed 29 Nov 2017
- Dietzek, C.: Reticular veins: all you need to know. Retrieved from veinvascular.com. https:// www.veinvascular.com/uncategorized/what-are-reticular-veins/. Accessed 15 Sep 2017
- 8. Doel, Z.: Center for vein restoration (2019). Retrieved from centerforvein.com. https://www.centerforvein.com/vein-disease

- Health Service Executive: Eczema (varicose). Retrieved from https://www.hse.ie/. https:// www.hse.ie/eng/health/az/e/eczema-varicose-/treating-varicose-eczema.html. Accessed 13 July 2019
- 10. Heller, J.A.: Varicose veins and conditions. Retrieved from healthywomen.org. https://www. healthywomen.org/condition/varicose-veins. Accessed 31 July 2019
- 11. Horato, W.: Telangiectasia and autoimmune disease. Retrieved from hss.edu. https://www. hss.edu/conditions_telangiectasia-and-autoimmune-disease.asp?fbclid=IwAR3xVMxtiIsIziP GRQOyQoXPUGvln-dx4c7Vg9QBABCoF6ocM9gNWLppzu4. Accessed Jan 2014
- Lee, K.F.: Is your job worsening your leg pain? Retrieved from advancedveincarecenter.com. https://www.advancedveincarecenter.com/whats-new-from-dr-lee/9-jobs-that-may-con tribute-to-varicose-veins/. Accessed 29 Aug 2018
- Mayo Clinic: Varicose veins. Retrieved from mayoclinic.org. https://www.mayoclinic.org/ diseases-conditions/varicose-veins/symptoms-causes/syc-20350643. Accessed 22 Aug 2016
- Reinberg, S.: Eczema linked to other health problems. Retrieved from webmd.com. https:// www.webmd.com/skin-problems-and-treatments/eczema/news/20150123/eczema-linked-toother-health-problems?fbclid=IwAR3CFqg5XRONf56ZHAHjEfGKdHSzfBBKMojxXJTIY TW0pgBwbDHxQDkl14I#1. Accessed 23 Jan 2015
- Society of Vascular Surgery: SVS: when do varicose veins need medical attention? Retrieved from prnewswire.com. https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/svs-when-dovaricose-veins-need-medical-attention-300903689.html. Accessed 19 Aug 2019
- Suresh: How much does laser vein removal cost? Medical spa in memorial. Retrieved from veintreatmenttx.com. https://veintreatmenttx.com/how-much-does-laser-vein-removal-costmedical-spa-in-memorial/. Accessed 20 Apr 2019
- Thompson, A.: The taller you are the more likely you are to suffer from varicose veins: scientists discover height genes can cause valves to break down. Retrieved from www. dailymail.co.uk. https://www.dailymail.co.uk/health/article-6201069/The-taller-likely-suffervaricose-veins.html. Accessed 24 Sep 2018
- 18. Varicoseveins.org: Spider veins (2019). Retrieved from Varicoseveins.org. https://varicoseveins.org/spider-veins/
- 19. Wisco, L.: How much sclerotherapy costs. Retrieved from healthline.com. https://www. healthline.com/health/sclerotherapy#cost. Accessed 4 Dec 2018
- 20. Wu, B.: Should I worry about a telangiectasia? Retrieved from medicalnewstoday.com. https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/312845.php. Accessed 26 Sep 2018
- Yao, I.B.: 8 treatments for varicose veins, according to experts. Retrieved from smartparenting.com. https://www.smartparenting.com.ph/style/beauty/8-treatments-for-varic ose-veins-according-to-experts-a1536-20161028-lfrm. Accessed 28 Oct 2016



Situational Assessment of Noise and Ergonomic Factors in Welding Activities: Implications on the Well-Being of Ghanaian Informal Auto-Mechanics

Mohammed-Aminu Sanda^{$1,2(\boxtimes)$} and Juliet Nugble¹

¹ University of Ghana Business School, P. O. Box LG 78, Legon, Accra, Ghana masanda@ug.edu.gh
² Luleå University of Technology, SE 97187 Luleå, Sweden mohami@ltu.se

Abstract. This study assessed the noise and ergonomics factors associated with the welding operations of Ghanaian informal-auto-mechanics and the implications it has on their personal well-being and productivity. Using the 2014 OSHA Hazards Assessment Checklist, the noise and ergonomics factors associated with welding operations in three selected shops were firstly assessed expertly. This was followed by interviews with the informal-auto-mechanics, using the checklist as interview-guide. The results showed that welding operations in all the shops were very noisy, with operators oblivious to the health hazards of their noisy operations. Additionally, all the informal-auto-mechanics' reported ergonomics constraint in their welding operations, manifested as musculoskeletal disorders caused by inappropriate work postures, repetitive-motion and insufficient pause-periods in tasks performance. It is concluded that Ghanaian informalauto-mechanics' are oblivious of occupational hazards associated with their welding activities caused by noise and ergonomics constraints, and the negative consequence they have on their personal well-being and work productivity.

Keywords: Welding activity · Situational assessment · Noise factors · Ergonomics factors · Informal auto-mechanics · Ghana

1 Introduction

In Ghana, majority of auto-mechanics have low level formal education and mostly operate in the informal industrial sector [1]. The sector consists of micro and small firms with workforces of between five and seven persons [1]. Thus, the informal auto-mechanics offer a 'one-stop' mechanical services to clients and operate in makeshift garages that are mostly dotted along-side roads as well as within residential spaces [1]. An essential element of health and safety practices in the operations of informal auto-mechanics is the condition of the work environment in which they operate. According to [2], there exists some level of ignorance among the informal sector workers concerning issues relating to safety in their various fields of work, or they simply cannot

afford protective gadgets that protect them from unpleasant environmental and other perilous conditions that constitute threat to health and safety.

Due to the unregulated characteristics of the informal industrial sector in which they operate, informal auto-mechanics suffer from exposure to variety of occupational health hazards within their work environment [1, 2]. As it was reported by [3] and [4], the work environment entails physical hazards (such as noise, fire outbreaks), chemical hazards (such as, fume inhalation, smoke, and dusty environment), psychosocial hazards (such as stress due to long working hours), and ergonomic challenges (related to poor work posture as well as the manual lifting of heavy gear-boxes and engineblocks). Yet, the level of occupational health hazards awareness, relative to noise and ergonomics challenges among informal auto-mechanics engaged in welding activities in Ghana remains unexplored.

This study, therefore, assessed the occupational noise hazards and ergonomics challenges associated with the welding operations of Ghanaian informal-automechanics and the implications it has on their personal well-being and productivity.

2 Noise Hazard, Ergonomics Challenges and Well-Being in Welding Task Performance

According to [5], 'blue collar' occupations are most affected by both noise and vibration hazards. Occupational noise-induced hearing loss is classified as one of eight priority diseases [5]. Thus, informal auto-mechanics who engage in welding activities, and whose occupation fits the "blue collar" categorization, are known to face a wide range of occupational health hazards that have the potential of causing them injuries as well as deteriorating their health [1].

The occupational health hazards faced by informal auto-mechanics engaged in welding activities ranges from physical, accidental, chemical, and biological to noise and ergonomical. [6]. Welding activity, especially on automobiles, produces so much noise from its processes and allied operations, such as hammering, grinding and drilling of cars or metals [7]. According to [5] and [7], the short-term consequences are temporal hearing loss, stress, irritability and may also cause hypertension, while the long-term effects are permanent hearing loss and increased risk of cardiovascular disease.

According to [5], identification of noise hazards in the workplace is fairly simple. However, because of the cumulative nature of noise exposure and the complicating impact of leisure noise as well as age-related hearing loss, awareness of individual hearing deficit may be delayed [5]. Arguing from the perspectives of Australia, [5] pointed out that, though regulations and guidance for noise hazards that emphasize the importance of control at source have existed for many years, hearing protectors are reported to be the predominant control measure. As such, there is a need for change in the approach to control of noise hazards in many workplaces.

Ergonomically, welders may work in uncomfortable positions, engage in repetitive work, lift heavy objects [7]. These activities tend to put severe strain on the wrist, elbow, arms, shoulders, neck and back of welders. There is also the tendency of welders slipping or falling when working from heights, which could result in health effects such as musculoskeletal pains which include back pain, muscle fatigue and injuries. Thus, [5] argued that the generalist Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) professional has a role in identifying, assessing and controlling noise and vibration hazards, and particularly in implementing a noise and vibration management program as part of an OHS management system. In this regard, specialist expertise may be required to conduct noise or vibration surveys, and to advise on development of control strategies.

As it was reported by [8] from a study on welders' awareness of occupational hazards, information is vital and helpful in designing intervention strategies towards promoting safety standards for this category of work-groups.

3 Methodology

3.1 Data Collection Approach

A stepwise approach was used in the data collection. Firstly, the OSHA Hazard Assessment Checklist [9] was used to expertly assess the noise and ergonomics aspects of the welding operations and identify their occupational hazards relative to the wellbeings of the informal auto-mechanics. This was followed by interviews with three purposively selected informal-auto-mechanics, using the checklist as interview-guide. Each interview duration was forty-five minutes on the average.

The Hazard Assessment Checklist is multi-dimensional instrument which consists of several components of work-factors, including noise and ergonomics. In the data collection approach, formal contact was firstly established with the informal automechanic garage owners to inform them about the study. Upon receipt of their approval, the garage owners were informed by the researchers about the purpose of the study and assured of confidentiality.

3.2 Data Analysis Approach

A two-steps analytical approach was used. In the first step, the observational data generated using the OSHA Hazards Assessment Checklist [9] was analyzed. In the second phase, the transcribed interviews data were analysed using descriptive analysis qualitative approach.

4 Results and Discussion

4.1 Analysis of Respondents Demography

The demographics of the respondents who were all males, showed their ages to range from 40 to 60 years, with each having been operating in the informal auto-mechanic industry and also engaged in welding activities for more than 10 years. All the respondents operate for a period of 8–10 h daily.

4.2 Assessment of Noise and Ergonomics Factors in Welding Operations

The result from the researchers' situational assessment of occupational noise and ergonomics factors in the informal auto-mechanics' welding activities using the OSHA Hazards Assessment Checklist [9], is summarized in Table 1 below.

Table 1.	Assessment results	of noise and	ergonomics	of welders'	activities in	welding	shops.

Assessment indices	Assessment results			
	Garage	Garage	Garage	
	1	2	3	
Tried to isolate noisy machinery from the rest of operation	No	No	No	
Employees are properly fitted and instructed in the use and care of ear protectors	No	No	No	
When engaged in a welding activity, the neck and shoulders have to be stooped in order to view task	Yes	Yes	Yes	
When engaged in welding activity, pressure points are felt on parts of the body, such as the wrists, forearms, back of thighs	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Sufficient breaks, in addition to regular rest breaks, are taken when engaged in a welding activity in order to relieve the stress from repetitive-motion tasks	No	No	No	

The results show that aside all the 3 garages did not meet the standard requirements of isolating noisy machinery from the rest of the welding operation and also ensuring that welders are properly fitted and instructed in the use and care of ear protectors. Additionally, welding activities in the all the 3 garages are undertaken with welders having to stoop their necks and shoulders in order to be able to have a good view of their operations. In this vein, welders in all the 3 garages reported feelings of pressure points sensations on parts of their bodies, inclusive their wrists, forearms, and back of thighs, when engaged in welding operations. The results also indicate that welders in all the 3 garages did not meet the standard requirement of taking sufficient breaks, in addition to regular rest breaks, when engaged in a welding activity in order to relieve the stress from the repetitive-motion associated with their operations. Figure 1 below shows informal auto-mechanics engaged in welding operations in the three Garages (G) assessed.



Fig. 1. Welding activity in G 1 (left), G 2 (middle) and G 3 (right)

It is evident from the above results that the informal auto-mechanic welders generally encounter noise hazards and ergonomic constraints when engaged in the welding activities. In this respect, the respective owners of the three garages were interviewed for further understanding of why noisy machinery were not isolated from the rest of the operations in the shops. The shop owners stated that grinding and cutting were some of the noisiest works that were carried out in the shops. In acknowledging how noisy some welding activities were, added that apart from the shop, they did not have any place to isolate the machines to. The machines were part of the entire shop and machines were used in the shops. The garage owners therefore stated that in the absence of options regarding isolation of noisy machinery they were used to the noise. As it is observed by the owner of garage 3 in the following comment:

We do not have any place that we would say we are isolating noisy machines to. Within the garage, you would still hear the noise no matter where the grinding is taking place. Definitely, it is in the shop that you will use the machine. Then, it is only drilling that we can say it can get contact with the one who is using it direct so, it can have contact. But for the grinding machine, when in use, we do not allow other people to go near it, but the noise can be heard everywhere in the shop. There is no place for us to isolate our drilling and grinding operations. [Owner, G 3].

Furthermore, the owners noted that ear plugs were one of the rarest personal protective equipment (PPEs) in the shops. Only few ear plugs were available in the shops. Though ear protectors were not common in the shops, the workers indicated they did not like using them. Moreover, they were used to the noise already, as it is intimated in the following comments by owners of garage 1 and garage 2 respectively:

We have a few of the ear plugs too, but the workers say they do not like using them, they feel heavy. So just like the other protective things, they do not use the ear plugs. [Owner, G 1]

and;

I do not have the full complement of protection equipment; the ear protector is one of the things I don't buy or use. We are used to them already. [Owner, G 2]

Again, interviews were conducted with the garage owners (1, 2 and 3) for further understanding as to why sufficient breaks were not observed to relieve the stress form repetitive-motion tasks. In some of the garages the owners indicated that, breaks were not observed, however during the course of work any worker who felt tired or hungry could go on break briefly to rest or eat. In other shops, specific break times exist where the workers all came together to eat and went back to continue their works. Though these options were available, there were workers who preferred to finish tasks given to them before taking a break. Where a person was trained the owners indicated, would determine whether the person would be hardworking or lazy. This is observed in the following comments by the respective garage owners;

If you are working and you get tired the only thing you can do is to sit down, you sit down and relax, the workers themselves are the ones who wish to finish before resting. [Owner, G 1]

and;

When we are working and you are hungry, you can go and eat. Sometimes, when we get really busy and our eyes are red, we even forget that we have not eaten. The way I was trained, you cannot be working and say you are tired or hungry and leave the job. You will force to work and finish it. We were not brought up that way. It is laziness, so we are used to it. We were not born with it, but we learnt it, if you learn laziness, you will be lazy. What happens is that, if you continue that way, you will end up spending more time on the work, you will spend the money that you are supposed to use for the work and end up running away from the customer who brought the work because you have not been able to complete but the money is finished. Then you become a liar too! [Owner, G 2]

and;

When it is break, we all come together and eat by this table. But, once there is job to be done, your mind will not even tell you that you are tired or hungry, but we eat during break time. However, no extra hours are given for break unless on days when we are not busy. It is not always that you will come and meet us working in the shop. [Owner, G 3]

Based on the analysis, it is established that though the welders could easily identify noisy machinery, they appear to be unaware of the occupational hazards caused by their noisy work environment and the impacts it has on their well-beings. The garages did not meet the standard that calls for noisy machinery to be isolated from the rest of operations. It is found that the welders know about the personal protective equipment that could be used to mitigate the effect of noise. Yet, they consciously choose not to use them. The welders appear to know the consequences of ergonomic hazards on their personal-selves since they usually experience them. This signify their limited knowledge and usage of PPE [1, 5]. It is found that, all the welders encounter ergonomic constraints by positioning their necks and shoulders in awkward viewing positions whenever they are engaged in welding activities. As such they all reported musculoskeletal disorders associated with parts in their wrists, forearms, and the back of their thighs. It is also found that the welders work routine did not meet the ergonomic requirement of providing sufficient pause periods to relieve them of stress from their repetitive-motion tasks.

5 Conclusion

This study has shown that informal auto-mechanics in Ghana who are engaged in welding activities encounter significant occupational safety management challenges relative to noise hazards and ergonomics awareness. Based on the findings, it is concluded that even though informal auto-mechanics engaged in welding activities are conscious of the noise hazards and ergonomics challenges associated with their operations, they showed a sense of ignorance of the consequences of such hazards and challenges on their personal well-being and work productivity. This therefore calls for the need to develop occupational health and safety management systems for such garages. The implication is that a further step, informed by the insight obtained from this study, should be taken towards the design and implementation of intervention strategies to promote safety standards in the work environment of informal auto-mechanics engaged in welding activities. This should incorporate both occupational noise and ergonomics management program as part of an effective occupational health and safety management system for such garages.

References

- Sanda, M.-A., Nugble, J.: Welders' knowledge of personal protective equipment usage and occupational hazards awareness in the Ghanaian informal auto-mechanic industrial sector. In: Arezes, P.M. (ed.) AHFE 2019. AISC, vol. 969, pp. 111–122. Springer, Cham (2020). https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20497-6_11
- Osei-Boateng, C., Ampratwum, E.: The informal sector in Ghana, Friedrich Ebert Stiftung, Ghana Office, Accra (2011). https://library.fes.de/pdf-files/bueros/ghana/10496.pdf. Accessed 7 Jan 2020
- Apreko, A.A., Danku, L.S., Apeletey, M.S., Adokou, F.A.: Occupational health and safety management: the use of personal protective equipment (PPE) by artisans in the local automotive industry in Volta Region. Ghana. Int. J. Eng. Trends Tech. 19, 201–205 (2015)
- 4. International Labour Office: Estimating the economic costs of occupational injuries and illnesses in developing countries: essential information for decision-makers. Geneva. International Labour Organization (2012). https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—ed_ protect/—protrav/—safework/documents/publication/wcms_207690.pdf. Accessed 15 Jul 2018
- HaSPA (Health and Safety Professionals Alliance): The core body of knowledge for generalist OHS professionals. Safety Institute of Australia, Tullamarine, VIC (2012). https:// www.ohsbok.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/3-The-generalist-OHS-professional.pdf. Accessed 7 Jan 2020
- Ahmad, I., Balkhyour, M.A., Abokhashabah, T.M.: Workplace safety and health conditions and facilities in small industries in Jeddah in Saudi Arabia. J. Saf. Stud. 3(1), 2377–3219 (2017)
- Z'gambo, J.: Occupational hazards and use of personal protective equipment among small scale welders in Lusaka, Zambia. MPhil Thesis, Centre for International Health, Department of Global Public Health and Primary Care, University of Bergen, Norway (2015). http://bora. uib.no/bitstream/handle/1956/10194/133483529.pdf?sequence=1). Accessed 12 July 2018
- Tadesse, S., Bezabih, K., Destaw, B., Assefa, Y.: Awareness of occupational hazards and associated factors among welders in Lideta sub-city, Addis Ababa. Ethiop. J. Occup. Med. Toxicol. 11, 15 (2016)
- OSHA: Hazard assessment checklist (2014). https://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/etools/09-031/ HazAssessCheck.pdf. Accessed 10 July 2018



BACKS 2020: Criteria for Occupational Spine Disease in a Social Security Compensation System

Jenn Zhueng Tam^{$1(\boxtimes)$}, Azlan Darus², Zuraida Mohamed¹, Nizam Jamaluddin², and Mohammed Azman A. Mohammed²

¹ Ministry of Health, Putrajaya Federal Territories, Malaysia jztam79@gmail.com

² Social Security Organization, Kuala Lumpur Federal Territories, Malaysia

Abstract. BACKGROUND: Previously of work-related chronic low back pain has been established. With development of new understanding of medical science, better and improved requirements were needed in defining occupational spine disease. OBJECTIVES: To identify the variables that would be associated with occupational spine diseases. To develop an objective measurement in determining occupational spine diseases using the relationships of these variables. DESIGN: Cross-sectional study. SETTING: Workers registered for low back pain claims for chronic work-related compensation in Malaysia from 2017 to 2018. PARTICIPANTS: Workers who were between 20 to 60 years old that had previously submitted claims for chronic low back pain. MEASURE-MENTS: Workers who applied for employment injury scheme, based on history of chronic low and had their applications reviewed by the Social Security Medical Board. Subjected were then interviewed at their workplace using the BACKS prototype questionnaire that had incorporated the Oswestry Disability Index (ODI). RESULTS: 200 workers were interviewed (mean age 41.7, SD: 8.12 years old). Linear regression analysis identified that chronic occupational back pain was associated with absence of disc bulge, history of accident or fall, smoking behaviour and individuals with non-communicable diseases (p < 0.05). Increasing age in the form of increased exposure to manual labour over years was also associated to occupational low back pain. These variables explained 78.5% of their relationship in determining chronic occupational low back pain. LIMITATIONS: The interview relied on workers recollection of their workplace. The recall bias was reduced using the aids of the BACKS questionnaire to illustrate their previous working conditions. CONCLUSIONS: Manual labour workers that were involved with significant chronic back disabilities, lifting and twisting objects along with colleagues whom had similar past spinal injuries at work were criteria for occupational spinal disease.

Keywords: Chronic · Back pain · Occupational · Regression

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 149–158, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_20

1 Introduction

In the US, the annual expenditure related to chronic low back pain (LBP) (\$86 billion) has reached levels comparable to the care of diabetes (\$98 billion), cancer (\$89 billion), and nonspine arthritis (\$80 billion) [1]. LBP often would lead to various forms of spinal diseases; commonly prolapsed intervertebral disc (PID) or slip disc, sponydylosis, spinal stenosis and other degenerative diseases. Degenerative changes of the spine had been documented using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [2, 3] and had noted that degenerative changes occurred as a result of mechanical micro insults or damage secondary to macro-insults in the form of spinal fractures, spinal surgery not related to degenerative disc disease or significant metabolic processes, such as ochondrosis or mucoplysaccharidoses [2]. Although the degenerative changes had been noted to be rather rapid among females compared to males [3–5] and individuals with pre-existing congenital spinal anomaly such as spinal bifida occulta [2, 4, 6–9], features such as a disc bulge on the MRI would often be due to a sudden increase in the intradiscal pressure which resulted in formation of annul fissure among asymptomatic individuals.

Kushchayev et al. [2] illustrated the amount of intradiscal pressure of an individual lying on a prone position (91 kPa) would increase to more than six times during sitting (623 kPa) and more than 10 times at forward bending position (1324 kPa), respectively. The physical activities or manual labour at work [8] would suggest an increase exposure and cumulative traumatic disorder to the spine predisposing them or increasing the risk of the individual to develop spinal diseases with time. Therefore, spinal diseases or back pain related to work has been greatly debated and discussed in various criteria (Bradford-Hill) and systemic reviews [6]. Determining occupational or work-relatedness has been very challenging [11, 12] and confusing to inexperience physicians. To complicate matters, evidence had been inconclusive [12] which lead to a need to develop certain guidelines [10, 12] or criteria [10, 11] in deciding work-relatedness of an individual with chronic back pain. To add into the confusion, numerous different modalities [3, 12, 13] in management of LBP [12–14] would have financial implications.

According to Tam et al. [15] ergonomic factors such as twisting, forward bending, pain severity, age (younger workers), psychological and physical demand at work were good criteria to determine work-relatedness of chronic back pain. However, a stronger study methodology and criteria would be needed to be used by agencies dealing with compensation for chronic spinal diseases. Tam et al. [11, 15, 16] did illustrated the complication of identifying occupational spinal diseases would require input from both ergonomists and physicians for a solid decision and collaborative partnership for the benefit of the employers and workers. For example, the manual labour exposure that present at workplace had moderate evidence on disc degeneration as compared with disc narrowing or bulge [15].

In Malaysia, the social security system among workers encompassed of numerous activities ranging from preventive to rehabilitation services. The Medical Board that dealt with medical and compensation benefits were structured and its members were independent government specialists and consultants. Assessments were made for various benefits from permanent disabilities, invalidities and occupational diseases. The objective of this study was to develop criteria for occupational spinal diseases that could be of reference among medical consultants especially young specialists. Identified variables associated with occupational spine diseases would be used to develop an objective criteria or indicators in determining occupational spine diseases.

2 Methods

Data of LBP claims registered with the social security from 2017 to 2018 were used. In this study, only claims that referred to the Appellate Medical Board were selected upon the requested by the Insured Person (the worker) after the Primary Medical Board decision had been announced. Participant selection included workers aged between 20–60 years old with history of chronic or recurrent LBP. A significant LBP is defined as chronic hoistory of LBP > 12 weeks in the past year, Visual Pain Analog above 0.20 unit and *Oswestry Disability Questionnaire (ODQ) to be above 20.0%* [17]. Cluster sampling and matching between occupational and non-occupational claims, decided by their respective Appellate Boards at each state/province was performed.

LBP due to a fall from height, vehicle, stairways, flat surfaces (e.g. toilets) were not selected. Other cases such as pregnant workers, workers with pyogenic back conditions, cancer, back injuries due to commuting and non-commuting injuries at work were also excluded. Once the decision of the Appellate Board and workers' working addresses hads been obtained, the workers were contacted for an interview. This cross-sectional study involved obtaining variables from a Likert-scale BACK Prototype [15] questioannire that had previously undergone face validity. The Likert scale response was analyzed using linear regression via Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS) Version 25.0. The predictive model (via regression analysis) of occupational spine disease was developed (Summarized from Chan. [18]);

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \beta_3 x_3 + \beta_4 x_4 + \beta_5 x_5 + \ldots + \beta_n x_n$$
(1)

Whereby Y = predictive outcome

x = variablesn = number of variables $\beta = constant$ $\beta_0 = outcome intercept.$

For the regression to be accepted, the following assumptions have to be fulfilled;

- a) Absence of outliers
- b) Satisfactory level of independence
- c) Residuals were normally distributed
- d) Variance constance
- e) Acceptable or similar levels of linear collinearity.

3 Results

It is estimated thousands of LBP claims that were registered all over the country from 2017 to 2018. Of these, there were 350 cases that were referred to the Appellate Board in a year. Once at the Appellate Board, it is estimated 27.8% would fulfill the occupational spine disease criteria among consultants. Table 1 showed the distribution of registered cases according to states from 2017 to 2018 and the actual samples that was successfully contacted and collected. Johor cases were un-contactable and did not consent to participate in our study. Figure 1 showed the distribution of low back pain that were included in this study. Majority of the cases were prolapsed intervertebral disc (71.0%), followed by spondylosis (14.0%) and disc bulge (7.5%). In fact, most operators and technicians (72.1%) were diagnosed with PID.

No.	State	Registered	Sample	Actual
1.	Selangor	400	114	110
2.	Kedah	66	18	27
3.	Negeri Sembilan	60	17	10
4.	Melaka	60	17	19
5.	Penang	46	13	15
6.	Kuala Lumpur	32	10	7
7.	Pahang	16	5	4
8.	Perlis	8	3	3
9.	Johor	8	3	0
10.	Terengganu	4	0	4
11.	Perak	1	0	1
	Total	701	200	200

Table 1. Distribution of registered LBP cases for appellate by states in 2017 to 2018



Fig. 1. Distribution of occupations and spine diseases

No.	Variables	t value	95% CI	No.	Variables	t value	95% CI
1.	Age (onset of pain)	-15.005	-2.003 to -1.537	13.	Bending 30°	5.885	0.452 to 0.908
2.	NCD	-6.120	-7.576 to -3.884	14.	Bending 90°	6.701	0.536 to 0.984
3.	Body mass index	-6.118	-5.311 to -2.722	15.	Twisting 20°	5.198	0.372 to 0.828
4.	Prev. back injury	8.892	0.840 to 1.320	16.	Twisting 40°	6.211	0.485 to 0.935
5.	Past surgical Hx	9.944	0.930 to 1.390	17.	Vehicle/tool use	4.000	0.309 to 0.911
6.	Structured exercise	5.153	0.060 to 0.134	18.	Colleague in pain	12.490	0.749 to 1.031
7.	Physical activity	5.814	0.067 to 0.137	19.	Physical demand	4.050	0.046 to 13.382
8.	Smoking	-4.729	-0.949 to -0.391	20.	Psychological dm	3.300	0.242 to 0.962
9.	Lifting 5 kg/h	3.824	0.257 to 0.803	21.	Pain VAS	3.151	0.544 to 2.387
10.	Lifting 5 kg/day	3.200	0.177 to 0.743	22.	ODI	4.151	5.382 to 15.124
11.	Lifting 10 kg/h	3.100	0.131 to 0.589	23.	Previous accident	-18.051	-2.030 to -1.630
12.	Lifting 10 kg/day	2.206	0.029 to 0.511				

Table 2. Comparison with significant difference of means

Table 3. Multivariate analysis using linear regression

No.	Variable	OR _{adj}	Beta	95% CI	Collinearity	
					statistics	
					Tolerance	VIF
1.	Twisting posture 20°	1.406	0.341	0.038 to 0.305	0.091	10.934
2.	Lifting ≥ 10 kg/h	1.303	0.265	0.022 to 0.219	0.138	7.263
3.	No surgery	1.236	0.212	0.042 to 0.161	0.426	2.346
4.	Oswestry dis index	1.184	0.169	0.001 to 0.008	0.307	3.260
5.	Colleague with LBP	1.174	0.160	0.012 to 0.202	0.320	3.126
6.	Disc bulge	0.892	-0.114	-0.362 to -0.007	0.539	1.854
7.	Lifting > 25 kg/day	0.776	-0.253	-0.221 to -0.046	0.234	4.277
8.	Previous accident/fall	0.738	-0.304	-0.187 to -0.076	0.388	2.577
9.	HPT/DM	0.725	-0.321	-0.181 to -0.078	0.393	2.544

level of significance, p < 0.05

OR_{adj}: Adjusted Odd Ratio

B20 score (Y \ge 1.660)

 $= 0.457 + 0.172 Twisting 20^{\circ} + 0.121 Lift 10 kg/hr + 0.101 No Surgery + 0.107 Colleague LBP$

+ 0.004ODI + 0.002AgeonsetLBP° - 0.184DiscBulge - 0.133Lift25 kg/day

- 0.132PreviousAccident/fall - 0.129HPT/DM

(2)



Fig. 2. Final B2020 equation



Fig. 3. Normality assumptions of residuals



Fig. 4. Constant variance



Fig. 5. ROC curve of BacKS

Table 2 showed the variables that were significant via the bivariate analysis. The variables were then subjected for multivariate analysis as shown in Table 3. The regression model of B2020 equation was developed with a selected cut-off point was obtained (2). To support the model, the histogram and the multi-collinearity models are shown in Fig. 2, 3 and 4. During the multivariate analysis; age, body mass index, structured exercises, physical activity, smoking, all forward bending tasks, 40° twisting, previous back injuries and Pain Visual Analog Scale were noted to be not significant (p > 0.05). The weight of object seemed to have an interesting relationship with occupational spine disease.

Relatively light task such as weight lifting of >5 kg once in an hour and lifting of >10 kg once in a day was not significant (p > 0.05) to be related occupational attributes. However, it was noted that lifting weight of >10 kg in an hour was associated with occupational spinal disease while it was rather unlikely a spinal disease to be work related when the lifting involved lifting >5 kg weight in a day (p < 0.05). Finally, the equation was plotted using the ROC curve in Fig. 5. The equation's sensitivity was 80.0% while specificity was 97.0%. The area under the ROC curve was 95.7%. The percentage of the explained was 81.2% while the Dubin-Watson value was 1.547.

4 Discussion

Therefore, it is important for physicians and radiologists to distinguish the imaging difference of a disc bulge versus the pathological annular bulge [2]. Macedo and Batties [19] reported that the occupational loading has moderate association with spinal disc degeneration only as compared to the low association with narrowing or bulging of the intervertebral disc. This systemic review alone [14] warrant radiologists and orthopaedic surgeons to be more detail and specific of their diagnosis when assessing disc herniation cases. Individuals that are wrongly diagnosis with slip disc with disc bulge features would unethically cause psychological harm to healthy individuals. The mental and social trauma in severe cases would become irreversible not mentioning social benefits limitations or even removal by employers, insurance or social security agencies. Therefore, irresponsible diagnosis, inappropriate surgical intervention or management by unethical stakeholders should never be acceptable [3].

With regards to this study, the decisions from only consultants (Appellate Medical Board) were referred to standardize as well as achieve stronger data collection and analyses as compared to previous studies [15, 16]. With this method, the selection bias of the medical personnel, claims and quality of compensation decisions had been reduced. Therefore, this current study had a stronger methodology to a similar study [16]. At the same time, it was noted that on both accounts (studies), the ergonomic hazards [12] of workers exposure to repetitive twisting motions at 20° and workers with colleagues that had similar LBP were again associated to occupational spine diseases. Such findings supported the need to inspect the workstations and the procedures at work during site investigations. If large numbers of LBP and affected workers were identified, an ergonomic redesign/engineering of the workstation would be inevitable [6].

In previous studies [3, 15, 20], age had been reported to be associated to low back pain related to work (complains peaked between 30 to 50 years old). In this study, age of onset was also noted to be statistically significant at bivariate analysis. However, it was noted that other confounding variables had stronger influences in identifying occupational spinal diseases. Commonly, studies [2, 3, 12, 15], had reported of degenerative changes with increasing age. Degenerative changes could be accelerated by metabolic syndrome/conditions. Metabolic changes such as diabetes mellitus, mucopolysaccharidoses and ochronosis would affect proteoglycan synthesis and the development of bone and cartilages [2]. With regards to low back pain, researchers [19] should appreciate the small distinct differences of epidemiological of low back pain in a community or population versus occupational back/spine disease among workers. Both presentation of back pain (such as age [2, 15, 20] and gender [3–5]) have been different. Gender association had correlations to the study community culture. As compared to certain countries [5], female workers would be discourage or limited in handling manual labour.

However, one should be aware that an early presentation of pathological spine disease among workers of 30 to 35 years old in the absence of spinal bifida occulta [3, 9] warrants some work-relatedness consideration. Adults with bifida occulta often presents with an accelerated degenerative spine [9]. This study had 9 cases (4.5%) (Fig. 1) of degenerative spine that was statistically not significant between the LBPoccupational relationship. In fact, disc bulge diagnosis is noted to be a common finding among asymptomatic workers [19] and should not be rendered pathological. However, findings did indicate that the premature progression of degenerative changes were significant among spinal occulta individuals. Purely disc bulge presentation had been noted to be unlikely criteria for occupational spine disease in this study. This finding would be important both in terms of rehabilitation and management of an affected worker with LBP [3]. Physicians should not be overzealous in considering disc bulge to be similar or an early presentation of prolapsed intervertebral disc (PID). Such unethical diagnosis would give tremendous psychological as well as social impact to ill-informed individuals or workers. Apart from inconsolable fear, the quality of life of some of the workers would be affected including the possibility of removal or denial of their medical or employment benefits, unnecessary.

Other similar variables previously reported [15], such as the physical or psychological demands and the Pain Visual Analog scale were only statistical significant at the bivariate analysis. Instead, the Oswestry Disability Index (ODI) became a significant assessment or criteria for occupational spine diseases. Finally, this study also supported previous studies that standing and walking had poor association with LBP [9]. Management of back pain encompassed from preventive to rehabilitate effort that involved many stakeholders. Variable medical modalities from legislations, guidelines, education [21], psychological counseling [22] to post surgical rehabilitation, return to work [23] and even medical benefits are involved in the matrix of spinal diseases prevention. With this added value of the occupational criteria, various stakeholders including the employers could play their role not only at their existing workplace/station designs but to intervene at the appropriate time in referring the workers to the physicians and physiotherapists that would reduce the dependency on surgical measures in addressing spinal diseases. Workers that are assessed at early stages would receive better prognosis with physiotherapy as compared to conditions that were presented late.

Similar to other 3D job specifications (dirty, dangerous, demeaning), LBP would always be the commonest complain among manual handlers. As professionals, especially public health physicians, we serve as guardians to acknowledge and address the ergonomic hazards associated to LBP. From inappropriate designs, insufficient administrative controls [8] to broken equipments or vehicles, it has been in our oath to do no harm and address the welfare of these 3D workers. In conclusion, ergonomic risk factors [8] do exist in deciding occupational spine diseases. Therefore, both medical (physicians) and engineering (ergonomists) personnel have the role to play in preventing occupational spine diseases.

Acknowledgements. We would like to thank Dr Mohammed Azman bin Aziz Mohammed, Dr Azlan Darus, all SOCSO officers and the respondents who have generously given much of their precious time and their contributions in this study. This work is supported by Social Security Organization, Kuala Lumpur and Ministry of Health, Malaysia.

References

- Rampersaud, Y.R., Bidos, A., Fanti, C., et al.: The need for multidimensional stratification of chronic low back pain (LBP). SPINE 42(22), E1318–E1325 (2017)
- Kushchayev, S.V., Glushko, T., Jarraya, M., Schuleri, K.H., Preul, M.C., Brooks, M.L., Teytelboym, O.M.: ABCs of the degenerative spine. Insights Imaging 9(2), 253–274 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13244-017-0584-z
- Junior, M.H., Goldenfum, M.A., Siena, C.: Occupational low back pain. Rev. Assoc. Med. Bras. 56(5), 583–589 (2010)
- Roseen, E.J., LaValley, M.P., Li, S., Saper, R.B., Felson, D.T., Fredman, L.: Association of back pain with all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older women: a cohort study. J. Gen. Intern. Med. 34(1), 90–97 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-018-4680-7
- Petit, A., Fouquet, N., Roquelaure, Y.: Chronic low back pain, chronic disability at work, chronic management issues. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 41(2), 107–110 (2015). https:// doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.3477
- Mohd-Zin, S.W., Marwan, A.I., Abou Chaar, M.K., et al.: Spina bifida: pathogenesis, mechanisms, and genes in mice and humans. Scientifica 2017, 5364827 (2017)
- Kurt, E.E., Turkyilmaz, A.K., Dadali, Y., et al.: Are transitional vertebra and spina bifida occulta related with lumbar disc herniation and clinical parameters in young patients with chronic low back pain? Eurasian J. Med. 48, 177–180 (2016)

- Wu, J.W., Xing, Y.R., Wen, Y.B., et al.: Prevalence of spina bifida occulta and its relationship with overactive bladder in middle-aged and elderly Chinese people. Int. Neurourol. J. 20, 151–158 (2016)
- Mohd-Zin, S.W., Marwan, A.I., Mohamad, K., et al.: Review article: spina bifida: pathogenesis, mechanisms, and genes in mice and humans. Scientifica 2017, 29 (2017). Article ID 5364827
- 10. Roffey, D.M., Wai, E.K., Bishop, P., et al.: Causal assessment of occupational standing or walking and low back pain: results of a systemic review. Spine J. **10**, 262–272 (2010)
- Tam, J.Z., Wan Puteh, S.E., Ismail, N.H.: Challenges in determining occupational related chronic low back pain among employees: a literature review. Malays. J. Public Health Med. 14(3), 8–17 (2014)
- 12. Hermans, V.: Work-related low back disorders. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. Printed in Belgium (2000). ISBN 92-95007-02-6
- 13. Naidoo, V., Mudzi, W., Ntsiea, V., et al.: Physiotherapy modalities used in the management of chronic low back pain. J. Physiother. **68**(1), 42–46 (2012)
- Tam, J.Z., Mohamed, Z., Wan Puteh, S.E., et al.: A systematic review on identifying associated factors in deciding work-relatedness of chronic back pain among employees at work. Malays. J. Public Health Med. 19(1), 1–14 (2019)
- Tam, J.Z., Mohamed, Z., Wan Puteh, S.E., et al.: BACKS tool: a study in identifying associated factors of occupational chronic low back pain in a developing country. Malays. J. Public Health Med. 19(2), 1–10 (2019)
- Tam, J.Z., Wan Puteh, S.E., Ismail, N.H.: A psychosocial study on the effects of employee characteristics and workplace ergonomics on chronic back pain related to work, vol. 15, no. 2 (2018)
- 17. Fairbank, J.C.T., Pynsent, P.B.: The oswestry disability index. SPINE **25**(22), 2940–2953 (2000)
- Chan, Y.H.: Biostatistics 201: linear regression analysis. Singap. Med. J. 45(2), 55–61 (2004). Basic Statistics for Doctors
- Macedo, L.G., Battie, M.C.: The association between occupational loading and spine degeneration on imaging – a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Musculoskelet. Disord. 20, 489 (2019)
- Yang, H., Haldeman, S., Lu, M.-L., et al.: Low back pain prevalence and related workplace psychosocial risk factors: a study using data from the 2010 national health interview survey. J. Manip. Physiol. Ther. **39**(7), 460–471 (2016)
- Shojaei, S., Tavafian, S.S., Jamshidi, A.R., et al.: A multidisciplinary workplace intervention for chronic low back pain among nursing assistants in Iran. Asian Spine J. 11(3), 419–426 (2017)
- Cedraschi, C., Nordin, M., Haldeman, S., Randhawa, K., Kopansky-Giles, D., Johnson, C. D., Chou, R., Hurwitz, E.L., Côté, P.: The global spine care initiative: a narrative review of psychological and social issues in back pain in low- and middle-income communities. Eur. Spine J. 27(6), 828–837 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-017-5434-7
- Shaw, W.S., Nelson, C.C., Woiszwillo, M.J., et al.: Early return to work has benefits for relief of back pain and functional recovery after controlling for multiple confounds. JOEM 60(10), 901–910 (2018)
- Staal, J.B., Hlobil, H., van Tulder, M.W., et al.: Occupational health guidelines for the management of low back pain: an international comparison. Occup. Environ. Med. 60, 618– 626 (2003)
- Lagueux, E., D'epelteau, A., Masse, J.: Occupational therapy's unique contribution to chronic pain management: a scoping review. Pain Res. Manag. 2018, 19 (2018). Article ID 5378451



Subjective and Objective Measures to Assess Postural Instability: Their Linear Correlations and Abilities to Detect Effects of Work-Related Factors

Liangjie Guo^{1((\Box)}, Junhui Kou¹, and Shuping Xiong²

¹ Department of Safety Engineering, School of Engineering, China University of Geosciences (CUG), 388 Lumo Road, Wuhan 430074, Hubei, People's Republic of China guoliangjie@cug.edu.cn
² Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (KAIST).

291 Daehak-ro, Yuseong-gu, Daejeon 34141, Republic of Korea

Abstract. The linear correlations between one subjective - perceived postural instability (PPI) and fifty-one objective postural instability measures were investigated, and their abilities in detecting the main and interaction effects of three work-related factors were compared. Results showed thirty-five objective measures had large correlations ($|r| \ge 0.5$) with PPI. Center of pressure (COP) related measures had stronger abilities for detecting the factors' effects than the other objective measures. Especially, ten of them, together with PPI, successfully detected (p < 0.05) both the main and interaction effects of all studied factors. High discriminating power, an overall high intra-class correlation coefficient and a small mean absolute difference between test-retest illustrated the PPI is reliable and sensitive for postural instability measuring. COP movement-related (velocity, acceleration, time to contact), and phase plane parameter, planar deviation in velocity, distance to the closest base of support boundary are recommended objective measures.

Keywords: Postural instability measures \cdot Balance and falls \cdot Correlation \cdot Reliability

1 Introduction

It has been reported that there is a positive relationship between postural instability and one serious occupational accident-occupational falls [1]. Both individual's intrinsic and environmental extrinsic factors could affect the postural steadiness, especially the work-related extrinsic factors for the workers who likely to be exposed to a complex working environment or complicated working tasks, e.g. construction workers [1]. Static postural steadiness was defined as the characterization of postural sway during quiet standing [2]. Various tools have been adopted to assess postural instability. The derived measures from these tools can be broadly classified into subjective and objective measures, and both of them are quite popular due to the advantages of each [3, 4]. The perceived postural instability (PPI) rated by using a visual scale is a typical subjective measure, it could provide a reasonable indication of postural sway [4, 5]. The objective measures are usually estimated based on the equipment data, such as force plate, inertial measurement unit (IMU) sensor, optical or IMU-based motion capture system, etc. Especially, the objective measures for characterizing the center of pressure (COP) trajectory have been widely studied and applied in various research settings [6–9]. In addition, the measures derived from IMU sensors data are also increasingly being used in the human balance assessment [10–12].

Some previous studies compared these measures, for example, Kaufman et al. [13] compared subjective and objective measurements of balance disorders following traumatic brain injury; Chaudhry et al. [3] reviewed the methods to measure balance in computer posturography; Raymakers et al. [9] compared the parameters of body sway derived from COP in their practical usefulness. However, the subjective tools used in previous studies were usually tests or evaluation scales (e.g., Berg Balance Scale) in which the rating was given by the examinee or clinicians, not the subjects. Limited studies have been conducted to investigate the correlations between subjective-PPI and objective postural instability measures, and/or systematically compare their discriminating power for detecting the effects of work-related factors, including the main and interaction effects. Based on these reasons, this study aims to investigate the linear correlation between PPI and objective postural instability measures and compare their abilities in detecting the main and interaction effects of three work-related factors: working posture, lifting load and standing surface. The findings were expected to provide recommendations of postural instability measures for use in some specific situations.

2 Methods

Thirty healthy young males (28.2 ± 4.7 years old) participated in this study, and a full factorial within-subject repeated measures design was applied.

Independent Variables. (1) Six different Working Postures (WP) were designed to simulate the construction workers' frequently used working postures [14, 15], including standing upright, standing upright with arms raised forward 90°, full squatting, bending forward, bending forward with left turns and overhead carrying. (2) Two levels of *Lifting Load (LL)*, 0 kg and 10 kg, were evaluated with the consideration of the participants' safety [16] and the real application in the construction industry. (3) The effect of *Standing Surface (SS)* was evaluated at two levels: flat (0°) and inclined (18°). The 18° incline angle was designed to represent a low slope type roof.

Dependent Variable. The dependent variable, postural instability, was measured by both subjective and objective measures. The subjective measure was the PPI. And, four categories of objective measures were estimated based on the COP, base of support (BOS) and kinematics data with reference to previous studies [6–9]. Twenty-four COP based, eight COP-BOS integrated measures (Table 1) were calculated based on COP

only, COP-BOS interaction, respectively. Accelerations of eight main body segments were also estimated based on the raw data from eight IMUs, which were attached on pelvis (IAcc1), T8 (IAcc2), right shoulder (IAcc3), left shoulder (IAcc4), right upper leg (IAcc5), right lower leg (IAcc6), left upper leg (IAcc7), left lower leg (IAcc8). The variation range of eleven main joints' angles (Table 2) was also calculated.

Category	ID	Abbreviation	Explanations		
COP Based	C1	Range_AP	Range of COP trajectory in AP direction (mm)		
	C2	Range_ML	Range of COP trajectory in ML direction (mm)		
	C3	MDIST	Mean distance from mean COP (mm)		
	C4	MDIST_AP	Mean distance from mean COP in AP direction (mm)		
	C5	RDIST	Root mean squared (RMS) distance from mean COP (mm)		
	C6	RDIST_AP	RMS distance from mean COP in AP direction (mm)		
	C7	MVEL	Mean velocity (mm/s)		
	C8	MVEL_AP	Mean velocity in AP direction (mm/s)		
	C9	PVEL	Peak velocity (mm/s)		
	C10	PVEL_AP	Peak velocity in AP direction (mm/s)		
	C11	MACC	Mean acceleration (mm/s ²)		
	C12	MACC_AP	Mean acceleration in AP direction (mm/s ²)		
	C13	Area_CE	Area of 95% confidence ellipse (mm ²)		
	C14	Area_CC	Area of 95% confidence circle (mm ²)		
	C15	Area_SW	Area of body sway (mm ²)		
	C16	Axis_Ma	Major axis length of 95% confidence ellipse (mm)		
	C17	Axis_Mi	Minor axis length of 95% confidence ellipse (mm)		
	C18	MFREQ	Mean frequency (Hz)		
	C19	MFREQ_AP	Mean frequency in AP direction (Hz)		
	C20	FD_CE	Fractal dimension based on 95% confidence ellipse		
	C21	FD_CC	Fractal dimension based on 95% confidence circle		
	C22	PPP	Phase plane parameter		
	C23	PD_P	Planar deviation in position (mm)		
	C24	PD_V	Planar deviation in velocity (mm/s)		
COP-BOS Integrated	CB1	TtC_V	Time to contact BOS boundary at current velocity (s)		
	CB2	TtC_VA	Time to contact BOS boundary at current acceleration (s)		
	CB3	MSDIST_B	Mean distance to the closest BOS boundary (mm)		
	CB4	Ratio_AP_B	Ratio of COP range to BOS range in AP direction		
	CB5	Ratio_ML_B	Ratio of COP range to BOS range in ML direction		
	CB6	Ratio_CE_B	Ratio of Area_CE to BOS area		
	CB7	Ratio_CC_B	Ratio of Area_CC to BOS area		
	CB8	Ratio_SW_B	Ratio of Area_SW to BOS area		

Table 1. Center of pressure (COP) based, Center of pressure and base of support (COP-BOS) integrated postural instability measures.

ID	Joint	Angle	ID	Joint	Angle
JA1	L5-S1	Flexion/Extension	JA6	Right Hip	Internal/External Rotation
JA2	L1-T12	Flexion/Extension	JA7	Right Knee	Flexion/Extension
JA3	T1-C7	Flexion/Extension	JA8	Right Ankle	Flexion/Extension
JA4	Right Shoulder	Flexion/Extension	JA9	Left Hip	Internal/External Rotation
JA5	Left Shoulder	Flexion/Extension	JA10	Left Knee	Flexion/Extension
_	-	-	JA11	Left Ankle	Flexion/Extension

Table 2. Postural instability measures: Variation range of joint angles.

Experimental Apparatus. An 11-point Likert scale was used to assess the participants' sense of the difficulty level (0: very easy; 5: moderate; 10: extremely difficult) to keep the body in balance (i.e. PPI). Xsens MVN Link motion capture system (Xsens, Enschede, The Netherlands), composed of 17 inertial sensors placed over the full body [17], was used for recording the kinematics data (including the joint angle) at 240 Hz. Wii Balance Board (Nintendo, Kyoto, Japan), interfaced with a desktop using a custom-written software, was used for recording COP data, which was sampled at 40 Hz and filtered by using a 4th order zero-phase low pass Butterworth filter with a 12 Hz cut-off frequency. The subjects' footprints were also recorded for BOS estimation.

Experimental Tasks. The experiment was divided into flat and inclined standing surface sessions with randomized sequences. Each subject was asked to lift up a load box (0 kg & 10 kg) and keep for 10 s in six working postures while standing on the flat and inclined surfaces, two trials in total for each task. After each task, the PPI was rated. After one session was completed, each subject was required to repeat one randomly selected task in each condition and rate PPI again.

Statistical Analysis. Intra-class correlation coefficients (ICC) estimates, absolute difference (AD) between test-retest PPI were calculated for checking its reliability. The Pearson correlation coefficient (r) between PPI and each objective measure was computed to assess their linear correlation. Paired-samples t-test or ANOVAs on each measure were conducted to compare their abilities to detect factor effects.

3 Results

The results were summarized in Table 3 in the *Appendix*. It showed more than half (thirty-five) of objective measures, including nineteen COP based, seven COP-BOS integrated, eight body segments' accelerations and one joint angle's variation range measures had large correlations ($|r| \ge 0.5$) with the subjective measure-PPI. Sixteen of

them had relatively larger correlations ($|r| \ge 0.6$), in which *MVEL_AP* (C8) and *TtC_VA* (CB2) showed the first (r = 0.718) and second (r = -0.710) strongest correlations, respectively. There were higher correlations in 10 kg lifting load or inclined standing surface condition than in 0 kg lifting load or flat standing surface condition for most of the objective measures. The *Variation range of joint angles* correlated weakly with PPI in overall, compared with the other measures.

T-test and ANOVAs results (Table 3) showed all the measures could detect (p < 0.05) the main effects of WP and LL. PPI, fourteen COP based, five COP-BOS integrated measures successfully detected the main effects of SS, but all the body segments' acceleration (except for IAcc8) or joint angles' variation ranges (except for JA8) failed. All the measures (except for C20) could detect (p < 0.05) the WP × LL interaction effects. However, most of the objective measures failed in detecting SS × LL interaction. PPI, most of COP based and COP-BOS integrated measures had the capacity to identify SS × WP and SS × LL × WP interaction effects, but for the other measures, the opposite applies. In addition, eleven measures (PPI, eight COP based and two COP-BOS integrated) successfully detected both the main and interaction effects of all the factors.

4 Discussion

This study compared one subjective and fifty-one objective measures in the abilities to detect effects on postural instability of work-related factors, and studied their linear correlations. The subjective measure-PPI was given by the participant based on his judgment, which might be influenced by his experience or personality. However, results showed a high overall ICC (0.943) and a small mean AD value (0.545), and there were higher ICC and lower AD in with lifting load or inclined standing surface condition. This indicated the participants provided reliable and consistent PPI, especially when the instability level was high, which was partly supported by the findings of previous studies [4, 5]. And, it's important to highlight that the PPI measure was capable to detect all the investigated factors' main and interaction effects (Table 3).

Our results (Table 3) showed COP related (COP based and COP-BOS integrated) measures provided more adequate discriminating power for detecting the factors' effects than the other objective measures, and most of them correlated strongly with the PPI. Especially the COP movement-related (velocity, acceleration, time to contact, shortest distance to BOS: C7-C12, CB1-CB3), and PPP (C22), PD_V (C24) successfully detected all the effects and correlated strongly ($|r| \ge 0.6$, except for CB3) with PPI. This finding was partly in line with the previous study [8]. It should be

specially explained that a Wii Balance Board, not a force plate, was used for COP data acquisition. Since it was low cost, easily setup and portable. More importantly, its validity and reliability in COP recording were demonstrated by many previous studies [18–20].

Compared with the COP related measures, the variation range of joint angles and accelerations of body segments performed poorly in detecting the effects of SS. Almost all of them failed in detecting the main effect of SS, or its interaction with the other factors. One possible reason could be the postural instability caused by the different levels of SS was too smaller to be detected by those measures. Another reason might be the six experimental postures were static, the participants consciously tried to keep the main body segments still for exactly maintaining the required postures, which caused a small amplitude of the body segments' sway. Unlike the dynamic motions, the static postural instability was mainly caused by the whole body's sway, which could be well reflected in the COP movement. Even so, the IMU was still a good device that could acquire the body kinematics data for human balance metrics calculation, which has been demonstrated [10, 11]. Possibly, more advanced or complicated calculation is needed, e.g. IMU-based Lyapunov exponents [11], IMU-based COP velocity [10].

5 Conclusions

The PPI is convenient, cost-effective, reliable, and sensitive to detect the effects on postural instability; however, caution should be taken when using it if the investigated instability level is very low. Significant correlations were found between the subjective PPI and most of the objective COP related measures. COP related measures have stronger abilities for assessing postural instability than the other objective measures. Especially, velocity, acceleration, phase plane parameter, planar deviation in velocity, time to contact and mean distance to the closest BOS boundary are recommended objective COP-related measures for assessing postural instability. However, the most appropriate method may depend on the specific situation.

Acknowledgments. This work was partially supported by the KAIST Startup Fund (G04160006) and the Basic Science Research Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF2017R1C1B2006811).

Appendix

Measures	<i>P</i> -values (sig. +: $p < 0.05$, *: $p > 0.05$)							Pearson Correlation Coefficient				
	Main Effects Interaction Effects											
	WP	LL	SS	$SS \times LL$	$SS\timesWP$	$LL \times WP$	$SS \times LL \times WP$	Overall	0 kg	10 kg	Flat	Inclined
PPI	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
C1	+	+	+	*	+	+	+	0.59	0.22	0.46	0.53	0.64
C2	+	+	*	*	+	+	+	0.59	0.36	0.46	0.56	0.62
C3	+	+	*	*	+	+	+	0.57	0.28	0.44	0.52	0.63
C4	+	+	*	*	*	+	+	0.52	0.18	0.39	0.45	0.60
C5	+	+	*	*	+	+	+	0.58	0.27	0.44	0.52	0.63
C6	+	+	*	*	*	+	+	0.53	0.18	0.40	0.46	0.61
C7	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	0.69	0.42	0.57	0.67	0.70
C8	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	0.72	0.43	0.61	0.70	0.73
C9	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	0.64	0.33	0.53	0.59	0.68
C10	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	0.67	0.36	0.55	0.62	0.70
C11	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	0.66	0.42	0.52	0.63	0.69
C12	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	0.68	0.40	0.54	0.66	0.69
C13	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.52	0.29	0.37	0.48	0.57
C14	+	+	*	*	*	+	+	0.49	0.23	0.34	0.44	0.56
C15	+	+	+	*	*	+	*	0.57	0.35	0.43	0.51	0.62
C16	+	+	*	*	+	+	+	0.55	0.24	0.41	0.49	0.61
C17	+	+	*	*	+	+	+	0.61	0.35	0.49	0.59	0.64
C18	+	+	+	*	+	+	+	0.30	0.12	0.30	0.37	0.22
C19	+	+	+	*	+	+	*	0.36	0.23	0.27	0.46	0.25
C20	+	+	+	*	+	*	*	0.12	0.02	0.04	0.16	0.06
C21	+	+	+	*	+	+	*	0.31	0.17	0.30	0.38	0.23
C22	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	0.68	0.39	0.57	0.65	0.71
C23	+	+	*	*	+	+	+	0.58	0.27	0.44	0.52	0.63
C24	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	0.69	0.40	0.58	0.66	0.71
CB1	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-0.66	-0.42	-0.62	-0.66	-0.66
CB2	+	+	+	*	+	+	+	-0.71	-0.44	-0.61	-0.71	-0.71
CB3	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-0.40	-0.10	-0.42	-0.36	-0.50
CB4	+	+	+	*	+	+	+	0.58	0.21	0.46	0.53	0.64
CB5	+	+	*	*	+	+	+	0.60	0.36	0.47	0.57	0.63
CB6	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.53	0.29	0.38	0.48	0.58
CB7	+	+	*	*	*	+	+	0.50	0.24	0.35	0.44	0.57
CB8	+	+	+	*	+	+	*	0.58	0.36	0.44	0.52	0.62
IAcc1	+	+	*	*	+	+	*	0.57	0.26	0.41	0.53	0.63
IAcc2	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.61	0.33	0.41	0.57	0.66
IAcc3	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.61	0.37	0.43	0.56	0.66
IAcc4	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.60	0.37	0.41	0.56	0.64
IAcc5	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.62	0.39	0.41	0.58	0.66
IAcc6	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.59	0.42	0.39	0.54	0.63
IAcc7	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.57	0.41	0.34	0.53	0.61
IAcc8	+	+	+	+	*	+	*	0.52	0.42	0.32	0.50	0.54
JA1	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.42	0.23	0.29	0.42	0.43
JA2	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.42	0.22	0.28	0.42	0.43
JA3	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.45	0.28	0.18	0.41	0.51

Table 3. Results summary: Results of Pearson Correlation, T-test and Analysis of variance.

(continued)
Measures	P-va	lues (sig	+: <i>p</i> < 0.05,	*: <i>p</i> > 0.05	Pearson Correlation Coefficient						
	Mair	n Effe	cts	Interaction	Effects							
	WP	LL	SS	$SS \times LL$	$SS\timesWP$	$LL \times WP$	$SS \times LL \times WP$	Overall	0 kg	10 kg	Flat	Inclined
JA4	+	+	*	*	+	+	*	0.41	0.35	0.30	0.42	0.41
JA5	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.44	0.35	0.32	0.44	0.45
JA6	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.24	0.18	0.27	0.16	0.32
JA7	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.20	0.28	-0.01	0.30	0.08
JA8	+	+	+	*	*	+	*	0.52	0.33	0.40	0.54	0.52
JA9	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.27	0.15	0.29	0.24	0.30
JA10	+	+	*	*	*	+	*	0.19	0.30	-0.02	0.27	0.10
JA11	+	+	*	*	+	+	+	0.47	0.28	0.32	0.46	0.48

 Table 3. (continued)

WP: Working Posture, LL: Lifting Load, SS: Standing Surface.

References

- 1. Hsiao, H., Simeonov, P.: Preventing falls from roofs: a critical review. Ergonomics 44, 537– 561 (2001)
- 2. Prieto, T.E., Myklebust, J.B., Myklebust, B.M.: Characterization and modeling of postural steadiness in the elderly: a review. IEEE Trans. Rehabil. Eng. 1, 26–34 (1993)
- Chaudhry, H., Bukiet, B., Ji, Z., Findley, T.: Measurement of balance in computer posturography: Comparison of methods—A brief review. J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 15, 82–91 (2011)
- Didomenico, A., Nussbaum, M.A.: Interactive effects of mental and postural demands on subjective assessment of mental workload and postural stability. Safety Sci. 43, 485–495 (2005)
- Schieppati, M., Tacchini, E., Nardone, A., Tarantola, J., Corna, S.: Subjective perception of body sway. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 66, 313–322 (1999)
- Prieto, T.E., Myklebust, J.B., Hoffmann, R.G., Lovett, E.G., Myklebust, B.M.: Measures of postural steadiness: Differences between healthy young and elderly adults. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 43, 956–966 (1996)
- Lin, D., Seol, H., Nussbaum, M.A., Madigan, M.L.: Reliability of COP-based postural sway measures and age-related differences. Gait Posture. 28, 337–342 (2008)
- Qiu, H., Xiong, S.: Center-of-pressure based postural sway measures: Reliability and ability to distinguish between age, fear of falling and fall history. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 47, 37–44 (2015)
- 9. Raymakers, J.A., Samson, M.M., Verhaar, H.J.J.: The assessment of body sway and the choice of the stability parameter(s). Gait Posture. **21**, 48–58 (2005)
- Jebelli, H., Ahn, C.R., Stentz, T.L.: Fall risk analysis of construction workers using inertial measurement units: Validating the usefulness of the postural stability metrics in construction. Saf. Sci. 84, 161–170 (2016)
- 11. Jebelli, H., Ahn, C.R., Stentz, T.L.: Comprehensive fall-risk assessment of construction workers using inertial measurement units: validation of the gait-stability metric to assess the fall risk of iron workers. J. Comput. Civ. Eng. **30**, 04015034 (2016)
- Heebner, N.R., Akins, J.S., Lephart, S.M., Sell, T.C.: Reliability and validity of an accelerometry based measure of static and dynamic postural stability in healthy and active individuals. Gait Posture. 41, 535–539 (2015)

- Kaufman, K.R., Brey, R.H., Chou, L.S., Rabatin, A., Brown, A.W., Basford, J.R.: Comparison of subjective and objective measurements of balance disorders following traumatic brain injury. Med. Eng. Phys. 28, 234–239 (2006)
- 14. Goldsheyder, D., Nordin, M., Weiner, S.S., Hiebert, R.: Musculoskeletal symptom survey among mason tenders. Am. J. Ind. Med. 42, 384–396 (2002)
- DiDomenico, A., McGorry, R.W., Huang, Y.-H., Blair, M.F.: Perceptions of postural stability after transitioning to standing among construction workers. Saf. Sci. 48, 166–172 (2010)
- 16. HSE: Manual handling Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992 Guidance on Regulations., London (2016)
- 17. Xsens: Xsens MVN BIOMECH, https://www.xsens.com/products/mvn-biomech/. Accessed 19 Jan 2020
- Clark, R.A., McGough, R., Paterson, K.: Reliability of an inexpensive and portable dynamic weight bearing asymmetry assessment system incorporating dual Nintendo Wii Balance Boards. Gait Posture. 34, 288–291 (2011)
- Huurnink, A., Fransz, D.P., Kingma, I., van Dieën, J.H.: Comparison of a laboratory grade force platform with a Nintendo Wii Balance Board on measurement of postural control in single-leg stance balance tasks. J. Biomech. 46, 1392–1395 (2013)
- 20. Bartlett, H.L., Ting, L.H., Bingham, J.T.: Accuracy of force and center of pressure measures of the Wii Balance Board. Gait Posture. **39**, 224–228 (2014)



Modeling the Joint Stiffness Change by Pelvic Tightening Based on Alignment of Lumbar and Pelvis

Michihiro Yoshida^{1(\Box)}, Takayuki Tanaka², Yoshio Tsuchiya³, and Yuto Kaneko¹

¹ Graduate School of Information Science and Technology, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Hokkaido, Japan {yoshida, y_kaneko}@hce.ist.hokudai.ac.jp
² Faculty of Information Science and Technology, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Hokkaido, Japan ttanaka@ssi.ist.hokudai.ac.jp
³ National Institute of Technology, Tomakomai College, Tomakomai, Japan y-tsuchiya@tomakomai-ct.ac.jp

Abstract. This study investigated the feature quantity related to the stiffness of the lumbar joints in 19 subjects for the construction of a dynamic tightening force control system for Active Corset. We investigate the change of the alignment of pelvis and lumbosacral vertebrae from X ray image, which are expected to change due to pelvic tightening. As a result, we confirm the tendency that joint stiffness increases as the sacrum tilt forward due to pelvic tightening.

Keywords: Active Corset · Joint stiffness · Pelvis · Lumbosacral alignment

1 Introduction

This study has developed the "Active Corset" (AC), an assist tool aimed at preventing low back pain (Fig. 1) [1]. AC is a pelvic belt type assist tool that reduces the lumbar load by tightening the pelvis. AC estimates the lumbar load using the built-in sensor suit, and dynamically changes the tightening force depending on the magnitude of the lumbar load (Dynamic tightening control).

Lumbar support by tightening has also been used in conventional pelvic belts and corsets, but it has not yet been clarified how much tightening force should be applied to how lumbar load. It seems that the higher the tightening force, the higher the assisting effect, but it is reported that the assisting effect of tightening is saturated at a certain tightening force [2, 3]. In addition, excessive tightening force may cause problems such as interruption in blood flow or atrophy of target muscles [4, 5]. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to design a dynamic tightening control, and to model the response of the lumbar part to the pelvic tightening force. We have verified the effect of reducing the burden of AC tightening. It was shown that the lumbar burden reduction due to tightening is related to the increase in joint stiffness of the lumbar joint [1, 6].



Fig. 1. Active Corset

Although changes in stiffness of the lumbar joint due to the tightening force have been reported, it is unclear how the increase in lumbar joint stiffness is caused by the tightening of pelvis. Stefan et al.'s report confirms that tightening the pelvis changes the alignment of the pelvis and sacrum [7]. Therefore, we expect the relationship between the change in alignment due to tightening and the change in lumbar joint stiffness.

This study investigates the relationship between pelvic and sacral alignment and lumbar joint stiffness in subjects whose pelvic tightening has reduced the lumbar load associated with increased lumbar joint stiffness.

2 Changes in Pelvic and Lumbar Alignment

This section proposes the parameters used for modeling the change of lumbar joint stiffness.

Tightening the pelvis reduces the lumbar load by correcting the posture of the hip and lumbar spine in anteflexion. The factors that cause posture correction are considered to be the increase in lumbar joint stiffness and the change in muscle exertion. The increase in joint stiffness is caused by the increase in friction of the joint surface due to pelvic tightening, which increases the passive resistance of the joint. On the other hand, it is considered that the change in muscle exertion is due to the brain giving signals to muscles based on somatosensory information changed by tightening. This research targets subjects whose lumbar load is reduced due to change in joint stiffness accompanying the change in alignment as in the former case. We attach to the following three factors to express the increase of lumbar joint stiffness caused by tightening.

- (1) Sacral inclination relative to the pelvis on the sagittal plane (Fig. 2(a))
- (2) Distance between the left and right hip bones on the coronal plane (Fig. 2(b))
- (3) Lumbar flexure on the sagittal plane (Fig. 2(c))



Fig. 2. Change of the lumbosacral and pelvic alignment due to pelvic tightening [8]

First, as for (1), when the tightening force is applied, the pelvic belt presses the skeleton from the front and back of the human body as shown in Fig. 3 (a). The lower part of the sacrum is pressed by the belt, and the sacrum tilts backward with respect to the pelvis around the lumbar joint [7]. When the sacrum is pressed against the pelvis from the back of the human body, the sacroiliac joints that joins the sacrum and hipbone are compressed, increasing friction and increasing joint stiffness. Therefore, the sacral inclination relative to the pelvis is considered as one of the parameters related to the increase in lumbar joint stiffness.



Fig. 3. Change in pelvic and sacral postures due to Active Corset tightening force change lumbar joint stiffness [8]

Next, regarding (2), on the coronal plane, the belt tension exerts a force on the hipbone from the left and right direction of the human body (Fig. 3(b)). Compression of the sacroiliac joint surface is expected to increase joint stiffness. Then, the pelvis will

deform in the direction in which the distance between the left and right iliac crests decreases. Consequently, the distance between the left and right hip bones is considered to be a parameter related to the increase in joint stiffness.

In (3), when the inclination of the sacrum changes due to tightening, it is expected that the alignment of the lumbar spine connected to the upper part of the sacrum will also change. The lumbar spine curves toward the front of the human body. When the sacrum is tilted backward by tightening, the lumbar flexure angle decreases when same postures are compared [9]. Moreover, it is known that the lumbar spine has a non-linear elastic characteristic with respect to the bending due to muscles and ligaments attached between the vertebral bodies. Namely, changing the lumbar spine alignment means moving the elastic equilibrium point of the lumbar joint. Since the flexion of the lumbar vertebrae is included in the second link (lumbar joint) in Fig. 3(a), it is expected that there is a relationship between the change in lumbar joint stiffness and the lumbar flexure.

An attempt is made to express the change in the joint stiffness due to the tightening with a regression model using the features of (1) to (3).

3 Experiment and Analysis

This chapter describes experiments and analysis methods for measuring the lumbar joint stiffness and (1) to (3) of alignment features. Target subjects are 19 males whose lumbar load decreased with increasing in lumbar joint stiffness due to the dynamic tightening force of AC.

3.1 Measurement of the Lumbar Joint Stiffness

In order to measure the joint stiffness, the motion of the subject is obtained by inputting data measured by optical motion capture (Motion Analysis) into a mechanical model. The extension of the upper body from the forward flexion was measured. The subject extends the upper body for 3 s from the forward bending posture to the standing posture. The measurement was performed 10 times for each of the two conditions: when subject don't wear AC (Unbelted condition) and when subject is assisted by AC (Tightened condition).

Consider the mechanical model shown in Fig. 4 for calculating the joint stiffness. The model in Fig. 4 simulates the movement of the human sagittal plane and the hip and lumbar joints are elastic joint. The link length and link mass of the model were determined based on measurement by Ae et al. [10].



Fig. 4. Mechanical model for calculating joint stiffness

The joint stiffness is identified based on the equation of motion Eq. 1 of the model. Equation 1 is the inertia term $M(\theta_x)\ddot{\theta}_x$, centrifugal and Coriolis force term $c(\theta_x, \dot{\theta}_x)$, gravity term $g(\theta_x)$, elastic force term $k_x\theta_x$, muscle exertion torque τ_{mx} , and external force τ_{sx} described using θ_x , which represents the bending angle of each link, and θ_{x0} , which represents the elastic equilibrium point of each joint. Note that *x* in the equation is the symbol H (Hip joint), L (Lumbar joint), or T (Thoracic joint) that represents each joint,

$$M(\theta_{x(i)})\ddot{\theta}_{x(i)} + c\left(\theta_{x(i)}, \dot{\theta}_{x(i)}\right) + g\left(\theta_{x(i)}\right) + k_x\left(\theta_{x(i)} - \theta_{xo}\right)$$

= $\tau_{mx(i)} + \tau_{xs(i)}$ (*i* = 1, 2, 3, ...s) (1)

In subjects reduced the lumbar load with tightening, lumbar joint stiffness is expected to become more higher relative to the hip joint stiffness. Then, the joint stiffness ratio R shown in Eq. 2 is calculated from the obtained stiffness values of the lumbar and hip joint. An increase in the joint stiffness ratio R due to tightening is expected.

$$R = \frac{k_L}{k_H} \tag{2}$$



Fig. 5. Measurement of θ _ST



Fig. 6. Measurement of L_PA

Fig. 7. Measurement of R_LF

From the joint stiffness in each condition, the increment in joint stiffness due to tightening is obtained from the following equation Eq. 3. The suffixes *(unbelted)* and *(Tightened)* in the Eq. 3 indicate the experimental conditions.

$$\Delta R = R_{(Tightened)} - R_{(Unbelted)} \tag{3}$$

3.2 Measurement of the Alignment of Pelvis and Lumbar

This section describes experiments and analysis methods for measuring the each of (1) to (3) of alignment features. For the measurement of these alignment features, we used X-ray images taken from the torso to the legs when the subject was standing posture.

The measurement of the backward tilting angle of sacrum relative to the pelvis θ_{ST} used the image taken from the side of the standing posture as shown in Fig. 5. From the inclination angles relative to the horizontal line of the pelvis θ_P and sacrum θ_S , θ_{ST} is calculated by the following formula Eq. 4. θ_P is the angle between the horizontal line and the line that connecting the two points, which are clearly imaged, among the three points of the pelvic anatomical features: superior anterior iliac spine, superior posterior iliac spine, and pubic symphysis θ_S is the angle between the line connecting the center of the sacral floor and the coccyx and the horizontal line.

$$\theta_{ST} = \theta_S - \theta_P \tag{4}$$

For the measurement of the distance between the left and right hip bones L_{PA} , the image taken from the front of the human body shown in Fig. 6 was used. In order to compensate for the difference in the scale of the image, Eq. 5 normalize by calculating the ratio of the distance between the right and left iliac crests L_P , to the length of femur L_T .

$$L_{PA} = \frac{L_P}{L_T} \times 100 \tag{5}$$

The lumbar flexure is measured using the image as shown in Fig. 7. Approximate the five points of the center of gravity from the first to the fifth lumbar vertebrae with an arc and calculate the curvature of it. For each of the measured θ_{ST} , L_{PA} , and R_{LF} , determine the amount of change due to the tightening using Eq. 6 to Eq. 8.

$$\Delta \theta_{ST} = \theta_{ST(Tightened)} - \theta_{ST(Unbelted)} \tag{6}$$

$$\Delta L_{PA} = \frac{L_{PA(Tightened)} - L_{PA(Unbelted)}}{L_{PA(Unbelted)}} \times 100$$
(7)

$$\Delta R_{LF} = \frac{R_{LF(Tightened)} - R_{LF(Unbelted)}}{R_{LF(Unbelted)}} \times 100$$
(8)

4 Relation Between Joint Stiffness and the Alignment Change



Fig. 8. Relation between ΔR and $\Delta \theta_{ST}$



Fig. 9. Relation between ΔR and ΔL_PA

Fig. 10. Relation between ΔR and $\Delta \theta_{LF}$

Figure 8, 9 and 10 show the correlation between the increase in joint stiffness ratio ΔR due to tightening and the three alignment changes obtained by Eq. 6 to Eq. 8: the angle change in the posterior direction of the sacrum $\Delta \theta_{ST}$, the decreasing rate in the pelvic width ΔR_{LF} , the decreasing rate in the curvature of the lumbar flexure ΔR_{LF} .

The change of the sacrum inclination $\Delta \theta_{ST}$ is correlated with the increase in joint stiffness ratio ΔR , and the correlation coefficient is -0.25. The joint stiffness ratio tended to increase as the sacrum tilts forward with respect to the pelvis. On the other hand, the decreasing rate of the pelvic width L_{PA} and the decreasing rate of the curvature of the lumbar flexure ΔR_{LF} didn't correlate with the increase of the joint stiffness ratio ΔR .

5 Conclusion

In this study, we investigated the relationship between the change in lumbar joint stiffness and the pelvic alignment due to tightening of the pelvis in order to construct a response model of the lumbar region due to pelvic tightening. Alignment measurement based on X-ray images was performed on subjects whose lumbar load was reduced due to increase of the joint stiffness by AC tightening. As a result, joint stiffness tends to increase as the sacrum tilt forward due to pelvic tightening. In the future, we will continue to investigate how the change in sacral posture contributes to the increase in the joint stiffness.

References

- 1. Yoshida, M., et al.: Reducing lumbar load with active corset. J. Robot. Mechatron. **30**(5), 740–751 (2018)
- 2. Pel, J.J.M., et al.: Biomechanical model study of pelvic belt influence on muscle and ligament forces. J. Biomech. **41**(9), 1878–1884 (2008)
- 3. Vleeming, A., et al.: An integrated therapy for peripartum pelvic instability: a study of the biomechanical effects of pelvic belts. Am. J. Obstetr. Gynecol. **166**(4), 1243–1247 (1992)
- Knops, Simon P., et al.: Randomised clinical trial comparing pressure characteristics of pelvic circumferential compression device in healthy volunteers. Injury 42(10), 1020–1026 (2011)
- 5. Suehiro, T., Watanabe, S.: Effect of a corset on trunk muscle activity in lumbar stabilization exercises. Soc. Phys. Therapy Sci. **27**(3), 309–313 (2012)
- Yoshida, M., et al.: Effect of dynamic tightening force by active corset on joint stiffness and lumbar assisting. Trans. Soc. Instrument Control Eng. 55(11), 683–691 (2018). (in Japanese)
- 7. Klima, S.: et al.: Pelvic orthosis effects on posterior pelvis kinematics an in-vitro biomechanical study. Science report, Article number: 15980, pp. 1–10 (2018)
- http://lifesciencedb.jp/bp3d, http://lifesciencedb.jp/ag, "BodyParts3D," BodyParts3D, Copyright 2008 The Database Center for Life Science licensed under CC Attribution-Share Alike 2.1 Japan
- Lee, Y.-H., Chen, C.-Y.: Belt effects on lumbar sagittal angles. Clin. Biomechan. 15(2), 79– 82 (2000)
- Ae, M., Tang, H.-P., Yokoi, T.: Estimation of inertia properties of the body segments in Japanese athletes. Soc. Biomechan. Jpn 11, 23–33 (1992)



Analysis of Moisture and Sebum of the Skin for Monitoring Wound Healing in Older Nursing Home Residents

Wei-Cheng Shen¹, Yih-Kuen Jan^{2,3,4}, Chi-Wen Lung^{2,5}, Aqo Anastian⁶, Chang-Wei Hsieh⁷, Hsu-Tang Cheng⁸, Yin-Yin Liao⁹, and Ben-Yi Liau⁹(⊠)

 ¹ Department of Digital Media Design, Asia University, Taichung, Taiwan
 ² Rehabilitation Engineering Lab, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Champaign, IL, USA
 ³ Kinesiology and Community Health, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Champaign, IL, USA
 ⁴ Computational Science and Engineering, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Champaign, IL, USA
 ⁵ Department of Creative Product Design, Asia University, Taichung, Taiwan
 ⁶ Information Systems Study Program, Department of Mathematics, Universitas Airlangga, Surabaya, Indonesia
 ⁷ Department of Photonics and Communication Engineering, Asia University, Taichung, Taiwan
 ⁸ Division of Plastic Surgery, Asia University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan
 ⁹ Department of Biomedical Engineering, Hungkuang University, Taichung, Taiwan

liau@hk.edu.tw

Abstract. Pressure ulcers are a common problem among older nursing home residents. Wound healing monitoring in these older residents causes intensive significant workload for nurses. Moisture and sebum of the skin are critical factors during wound healing which can observations for nurses quick and handy. The purpose of this study was to investigate the relation between moisture and sebum of the skin during wound healing in older people. The data of moisture and sebum was observed for four times in sequence biweekly from the sacrum region of eighteen subjects. Based on the wound healing status, the subjects were grouped into the wound healing, wound non-healing, and nonwound groups. The wound area was calculated by manually tracing the wound area in captured images using the Image-J. Ulcer area were median correlation with moisture (r = .61) and sebum (r = -.60) in the wound healing group. The moisture was also significantly correlated with sebum (r = .89, p < .05) in the wound non-healing group. Increasing moisture and decreasing sebum may be associated with wound healing among older nursing home residents. Our findings showed that moisture and sebum of human skin can be used to predict wound healing status.

Keywords: Pressure ulcers · Bedsores · Soft tissue · Sacrum region

1 Introduction

As a global problem, the incidence of pressure ulcers in different types of bedridden patients ranges from 0.4% to 66% [1]. Among bedridden patients, pressure ulcers are listed as the most common and disturbing symptoms [2]. The relative position of the soft tissue between the bone and the skin is unlikely to move, and the pressure under the same gravity is higher than the surrounding soft tissue due to the protrusion of the bone, so bony prominences is a place where pressure ulcers often occur [3]. A pressure ulcer is usually caused by excessive interface pressure [4] or pressure gradient [5] on the skin. Changes in interface pressure or pressure gradient may provide a transient to increase in microcirculation to prevent the risk of pressure ulcers [6].

The others of chronic diseases in bedsore patients during rehabilitation will affect the speed of intervening [7], changes in microcirculation nutrient transport during wound healing can affect the balance of skin moisture and sebum [8, 9]. Although examination of the microcirculation could assessment predict wound healing status, the skin moisture and sebum as the non-invasive method can reflect soft tissue of skin property [10]. The intervention rate of wound healing in patients may relate to skin moisture and sebum.

This study hypothesized that the wound healing and wound non-healing of patients with pressure ulcers would show a correlation with skin moisture and sebum. The purpose of the study was to establish that the skin moisture and sebum relation to wound healing of pressure ulcers.

2 Methods

2.1 Subjects

Eighteen volunteers were recruited, including ten without pressure ulcers (seven males) and eight pressure ulcers (four males). Subjects stayed in bed for more than six months and patients with hypertension and diabetes over 20 years of age. The research protocol was explained to the volunteers who signed an informed consent form. The study has been approved by the Ethics Committee at the university.

2.2 Experimental Procedures and Data Analysis

The main tools of this research were two measurements as below. The first measurement was general physiological measurement: calculation of ulcer area: Image-J (US National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland, USA, https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/). The wound area of the ulcer was firstly measured to obtain an actual area, and then photographed by a photographic device and uploaded to the Image-J program for reading (Fig. 1A). The second measurement was physiological value measurement: skin moisture meter was used to measure the moisture and sebum of healthy skin around ulcers in the sacrum region (Fig. 1B).

The values were presented as the mean \pm SD. A one-way ANOVA with Fisher's LSD post hoc test was used to examine two efficacy of repeated measures. The first was

between the wound healing, wound non-healing, and non-wound condition. The second was week 3, week 5, and week 7. Correlations between the ulcer area, skin moisture, and skin sebum were determined using a Pearson product-moment correlation analysis. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 22 (IBM, Somers, NY) at the significance level of 0.05 (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. An illustrator for the presentation and visualization of experimental procedures. (A) Example of scale and ulcer area. (B) Skin moisture and sebum meter.

3 Results

3.1 The Time Effect in Moisture and Sebum

According to the wound healing of pressure ulcers, the subjects were separated into three groups: wound healing, wound non-healing, and non-wound. A summary of the anthropometry data collected was shown in Table 1. The data of ulcer area, moisture, and sebum in first, third, and fifth, the seventh week were obtained in Table 2. The ratio results of ulcer area were not a significant difference between different weeks (Fig. 2).

3.2 Correlation Between Ulcer and Skin Parameters

The correlations between moisture, sebum parameters, and ulcer area were compared shown in Table 3. Although in the wound healing group, the ulcer area showed a high correlation for moisture (r = 0.61) and sebum (r = -0.60), there was no significant difference. However, significant correlations were found between moisture and sebum in the wound non-healing group (r = 0.89, p < .05) and the non-wound group (r = 0.75, p < .05) (Fig. 2).

	Group											
	Wound healing	Wound non-healing	Non-wound									
Sex M/F (people)	2/2	2/2	7/3									
Age (years)	57.7 ± 16.9	60.3 ± 4.2	71.5 ± 14.4									
Height (cm)	163.3 ± 6.7	163 ± 15.1	151.7 ± 47.8									
Weight (kg)	59.9 ± 6.0	54.8 ± 15.0	60.2 ± 4.8									
BMI (kg/cm ²)	22.4 ± 0.8	20.3 ± 2.3	21.7 ± 2.2									

Table 1. Basic information for people who were bedridden.

Group	Parameter	Group			One- way	Fisher LSD			
					ANOVA	Post hoc			
		Week 3	Week 5	Week 7	p value	Week 3	Week 3	Week 5 vs.	
						vs.	vs.		
						Week 5	Week 7	Week 7	
Wound healing	Ulcer area ratio (%)	40.1 ± 32.6	24.2 ± 30.9	12.2 ± 17.2	0.63	0.59	0.38	0.69	
	Moisture (%)	19.0 ± 3.7	29.4 ± 19.9	14.2 ± 1.7	0.49	0.44	0.7	0.28	
	Sebum (%)	21.5 ± 0.3	22.0 ± 1.6	22.5 ± 3.1	0.89	0.82	0.65	0.82	
Wound non-	Ulcer area ratio (%)	84.2 ± 64.8	123.7 ± 116.9	125.9 ± 110.2	0.21	0.14	0.06	0.47	
healing	Moisture (%)	16.2 ± 2.3	16.5 ± 0.5	16.8 ± 8.0	0.99	0.94	0.9	0.96	
	Sebum (%)	24.0 ± 3.9	24.8 ± 0.7	21.7 ± 6.7	0.78	0.86	0.65	0.54	
Non-wound	Ulcer area ratio (%)	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	
	Moisture (%)	18.7 ± 2.5	19.8 ± 8.2	27.4 ± 8.6	0.14	0.81	0.07	0.11	
	Sebum (%)	23.5 ± 1.9	26.6 ± 6.1	30.5 ± 7.7	0.21	0.43	0.08	0.31	

Table 2. Three consecutive biweekly comparisons of moisture and sebum

Note: The ulcer area ratio (%) was based on the first week. The values of moisture (%) and sebum (%) were recorded by skin moisture and sebum meter.

Table 3. Correlation between ulcer area, moisture, and sebum in three group

	Group										
	Wound healing	Wound non-healing	Non-wound								
Ulcer area vs. Moisture	0.61	0.37	n/a								
Ulcer area vs. Sebum	-0.60	0.66	n/a								
Moisture vs. Sebum	-0.43	0.89*	0.75*								

Note: *significant correlations (p < .05).



Fig. 2. The skin parameters result of ulcer area, moisture, and sebum in third week, fifth week, and seventh week. (A) Wound healing group. (B) Wound non-healing group. (C) Non-wound group.

4 Discussion

The significant correlations were found between moisture and sebum in the wound non-healing group and the non-wound group. The results can provide a foundation to understand the effect of moisture and sebum in skin wound healing of pressure ulcers. In the wound healing group, the ulcer area showed a high positive correlation with moisture (r = 0.61), but a high negative correlation with sebum (r = -0.60). The skin moisture increased may relate to the microcirculation increased during the wound healing stage [11].

Meanwhile, the skin of wounding healing may increase microcirculation and decrease sebum in the fifth week. The fifth week was a more critical period of wound healing. As the study of Marrakchi and Maibach showed that the young people in the nose skin area had a higher microcirculation and lower sebum. Still, otherwise, the older people in the nose skin area had a higher microcirculation and higher sebum [12]. The wound healing skin may be similar to young people, and wound non-healing skin was related to older people.

5 Conclusion

The significant correlations were found between moisture and sebum in the wound non-healing group and the non-wound group. Our results provide the relation between skin moisture and sebum that may affect the wound non-healing of pressure ulcers. Increasing moisture and decreasing sebum may accelerate wound healing among older nursing home residents. The sequence observation of moisture and sebum of human skin can monitor the condition of the skin in each stage of the wound healing of pressure ulcers.

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to thank the Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan, ROC, for supporting this study under contract No. MOST-108-2221-E-468-018, MOST-108-2813-C-468-018-E, MOST-108-2221-E-241-008, and Asia University Hospital and China Medical University Hospital (ASIA-107-AUH-09).

References

- 1. Kanani, S., Aliramaii, N., Moradi, G.: Nurses' bedsore-related knowledge in sanandaj educational healthcare centers. Jundishapur J. Chronic Dis. Care 6(4), e14085 (2017)
- Sandvik, R.K., Selbaek, G., Bergh, S., Aarsland, D., Husebo, B.S.: Signs of imminent dying and change in symptom intensity during pharmacological treatment in dying nursing home patients: a prospective trajectory study. J. Am. Med. Directors Assoc. 17, 821–827 (2016)
- 3. Bouten, C.V.: Etiology and pathology of pressure sores: a literature review (1996)
- Chen, Y., Wang, J., Lung, C.W., Yang, T.D., Crane, B.A., Jan, Y.K.: Effect of tilt and recline on ischial and coccygeal interface pressures in people with spinal cord injury. Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehab./Assoc. Acad. Physiatrists **93**(12), 1019–1030(2014)
- Lung, C.W., Hsiao-Wecksler, E.T., Burns, S., Lin, F., Jan, Y.K.: Quantifying dynamic changes in plantar pressure gradient in diabetics with peripheral neuropathy. Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 4, 54 (2016)
- Lung, C.W., Yang, T.D., Liau, B.Y., Cheung, W.C., Jain, S., Jan, Y.K.: Dynamic changes in seating pressure gradient in wheelchair users with spinal cord injury. Assistive technology: the official J. RESNA, pp. 1–10 (2019)

- Zhao, R., Liang, H., Clarke, E., Jackson, C., Xue, M.: Inflammation in chronic wounds. Int. J. Molecular Sci. 17, 2085 (2016)
- 8. Park, K.: Role of micronutrients in skin health and function. Biomolecules Therapeutics 23, 207 (2015)
- 9. Pérez-Sánchez, A., Barrajón-Catalán, E., Herranz-López, M., Micol, V.: Nutraceuticals for skin care: a comprehensive review of human clinical studies. Nutrients **10**, 403 (2018)
- Agrawal, K., Sivamani, R.K., Newman, J.W.: Noninvasive profiling of sweat-derived lipid mediators for cutaneous research. Skin Research and Technology: Official Journal of International Society for Bioengineering and the Skin (ISBS) [and] International Society for Digital Imaging of Skin (ISDIS) [and] International Society for Skin Imaging (ISSI) 25, 3–11 (2019)
- Van Anholt, R., Sobotka, L., Meijer, E., Heyman, H., Groen, H., Topinkova, E., Van Leen, M., Schols, J.: Specific nutritional support accelerates pressure ulcer healing and reduces wound care intensity in non-malnourished patients. Nutrition 26, 867–872 (2010)
- 12. Marrakchi, S., Maibach, H.I.: Biophysical parameters of skin: map of human face, regional, and age-related differences. Contact Dermatitis **57**, 28–34 (2007)

Ergonomics in Product Design



Estimation of Forearm, Deltoid, and Trapezius Muscle Activities Due to Overuse of Smartphone with and Without Armrest

Yi Liu, Yueqing Li^(云), and Brian Craig

Industrial Engineering Department, Lamar University, Beaumont, TX, USA {yliu8, yueqing.li, craigbn}@lamar.edu

Abstract. Recent boom of smartphone technology and attractive new features with affordable price are continuously convincing new users to upgrade their phone and eventually they spend far more screen-time than ever before. Recent studies have shown that deltoid, trapezius, and forearm muscles mostly get affected among other muscular regions. But previous studies have some research gap in measuring combined effect of these three muscles due to smartphone use and they did not consider armrest conditions while measuring the combined muscular effect. Eight participants were recruited and EMG of six muscles (Upper Trapezius (UT), Anterior Deltoid (AD), Abductor Pollicis Longus (APL), Flexor Carpi Ulnaris (FCU), Extensor Pollicis Longus (EPL), and Abductor Pollicis Brevis (APB)) was recorded. Results found difference of UT MVC% when using cellphone on the chair with or without armrest. Gender had influence on part of muscles activity.

Keywords: Smartphone · EMG · Muscles activity · Gender · Fatigue

1 Introduction

With the fast-developed technology, the smartphone updated with the boom rate. Because of the attractive new features, more and more users spent a longer time on the smartphone daily. Based on the data from eMarketer, smartphone users spent 3 h, 10 min on their devices per day [1]. One study has reported a significant increase of neck-shoulder pain among young people aged between 20 to 29 years [2]. Researchers have discussed "the most probable explanation", they thought "the increased use of computers and Mobil phone" among young people would be the main reason [2]. Previous study has shown anterior deltoid has an important role in forearm support during keyboard use [3]. Therefore, the anterior deltoid would be an ideal muscle to measure during smartphone use. However, there's no related research in cellphone use. Compared with using smartwatch while sitting, using smartphone showed lower activation in upper trapezius, medial trapezius, and deltoid muscles [4]. In their research, all participants held the smartphone without armrest. With armrest, the muscular activities in trapezius and deltoid could be different. This study focused on the relationship between posture and muscle activities. Muscles most affected by excessive use of smartphones were identified.

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 185–191, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_24

2 Literature Review

Studies in conventional computer settings with keyboards and mouse have shown that postures related musculoskeletal pain in the upper extremities and neck can be reduced significantly by adjusting the display location and providing adequate arm and wrist supports [5]. For example, having a screen at eye level reduces neck flexion, but at the expense of increased muscular loading in the shoulder/upper extremity regions [6]. To avoid this trade-off, armrests would be useful to alleviate physical demands on the shoulders/upper extremities. Such ergonomic interventions used in conventional computer settings can reduce awkward head/neck postures and associated musculoskeletal pain during prolonged mobile phone use effectively. Research has evaluated systematically the efficacy of adequate ergonomic controls to reduce biomechanical exposures. Armrests and back support reduced biomechanical loading experiment has been done [7] to investigate the relationship between mobile phone use and upper muscles activity and determine how much the armrest and the back support can relax muscles.

A comparison of biomechanical workload between smartphone and smartwatch while sitting and standing [4], showed that smart phone using while sitting would cause musculoskeletal disorders and cannot be ignored. The study of smart phone gaming duration on muscle activity and spinal posture [8] showed similar results. Moreover, it found out that neck muscle and spine also take a huge pressure from long standing while using smart phone. The lower trapezius and upper trapezius were measured and compared in the research. The research of sex-specific effects of sitting versus standing on upper body muscle activity during text typing [9] pointed out that pressure for different muscles associated with posture.

Based on the literature review, little research has been conducted to evaluate the muscle activity of upper body during smartphone gaming when being seated with armrest. Therefore, the goals of this study were twofold: 1) to quantify the kinematics of Upper Trapezius, Abductor Pollicis Brevis, Extensor Pollicis Longus, Abductor Pollicis Longus, Flexor Carpi Ulnaris and Anterior Deltoid during smartphone gaming, and 2) evaluate the effect of gender and armrest on muscle activities during smartphone gaming.

3 Research Methodology

3.1 Participants

Eight participants with equal sex distribution were recruited on campus. All participants have used smartphone for at least 3 years. All participants had no musculoskeletal pain one month before the experiment or disorder history in the deltoid and trapezius muscle regions.

3.2 Experiment Design

The experimental design included two independent variables: gender (male/female), armrest conditions (with/without armrest). Muscle activities of Upper Trapezius (UT), Anterior Deltoid (AD), Abductor Pollicis Longus (APL), Flexor Carpi Ulnaris (FCU) Extensor Pollicis Longus (EPL) and Abductor Pollicis Brevis (APB) were measured.

3.3 Equipment

Surface electromyography (EMG) were recorded using EMG machine to measure muscle activity levels (MVC%) for six selected muscles. Apple iPhone 6 Plus was chosen for the study.

3.4 Task

All participants have used two chairs, one with armrest and one without armrest. Game Fruit Ninja 2 with the same difficulty level was played by the participants by their dominant hand. All participants performed a gaming task for 10 min with armrest and 10 min without armrest and a 5 min break in between.

3.5 Procedure

Before the experiment, MVC was collected separately. Pinch gauge was used for 5 s to collect MVC data for APB and APL. Hand dynamometer was used for 5 s to collect MVC data for FCU and EPL as shown in Fig. 1 (a) and (b). For AD, a pulling task was performed for 5 s as shown in Fig. 1 (c) [10]. For UT, participants' shoulder abducted 90°, elbow flexed 90°, resisted abduction of upper arms in the frontal plane for 5 s. After measuring the MVC of each muscle, each participant should complete two 10-min experiment individually. The order of two experiments was randomized (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1. Hand dynamometer (L), pinch gauge (M), and pulling mechanism (R)



Fig. 2. Experimental task

3.6 Data Collection

Muscle activities were measured at a sampling rate of 2000 Hz using Ag/AgCl surface electrodes and a wireless logger. Skin preparation, muscle identification, and electrode placement were conducted based on the European Recommendation for Surface Electromyography. Raw EMG data were processed initially with a band pass filter of 10–350 Hz, and the data was collected for entire 10 min of each operation.

4 Results and Discussion

4.1 Muscle Activity

According to the data collected by the Biometrics EMG machine, the MVC% of each muscle was shown as following (Fig. 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7). In figures, blue lines represent MVC% of muscles activity with armrest, red lines represent MVC% of muscles activity with armrest, and gray lines represent the ratio of MVC% of muscle activity with armrest to MVC% of muscle activity without armrest. Since the sensor that measured APB muscle activity was not in close contact, it was not analyzed in the study. The first purpose of this study is to find out whether armrest would affect muscles activity. From the data collected, muscles activity of AD, APL, EPL, FCU showed no difference between with or without armrest. However, the MVC% of UT with armrest is bigger than without armrest, which means that people playing mobile phones on chairs with armrests involved more shoulders activity than without armrest. While playing smartphone games with armrest, participants propped on their elbow to support movements, which may increase the pressure of shoulder and resulted in the higher muscle activity of UT.



Fig. 5. MVC% of EPL

Fig. 6. MVC% of FCU



Fig. 7. MVC% of UT

4.2 Gender

This study has explored the relationship between gender and muscles activity (Fig. 8 and 9). Comparing muscles activity with different gender, no differences were found in EPL, FCU and UT. For APL, however, male participants constrained more than female participants in both with armrest and without armrest. For AD, female participants did more contraction than male participants. Male participants may perform more thumb

movements than female participants, which caused more APL muscle activity or male participants preferred to use forearm unintentionally while playing smartphone games. On the contrary, Female participants may preferred to use shoulder to drive forearm, which caused the higher muscle activity of AD.





Fig. 8. Different gender MVC% of each muscle with armrest

Fig. 9. Different gender MVC% of each muscle without armrest

5 Conclusion

The study found there are no difference of forearm muscles while playing cellphone on chair with or without armrest. What was unexpected is gaming with smartphone with armrest chair may involve more shoulder activity. In addition, the difference of muscle activity caused by gender should be considered in future study. However, the sample size in the study is not enough to make a statistical analysis. Ten-minute task in each section may not be sufficient to fully explore real-life situations. Additionally, the static postures of gaming task may not be actual postures in real life. These limitations should be taken into consideration when planning future studies.

References

- 1. Wurmser, Y.: Time Spent With Media. emarketer (2019). https://www.emarketer.com/ content/us-time-spent-with-mobile-2019
- Hagen, K., Linde, M., Heuch, I., Stovner, L.J., Zwart, J.-A.: Increasing prevalence of chronic musculoskeletal complaints. a large 11-year follow-up in the general population (HUNT 2 and 3). Pain Med. 12, 1657–1666 (2011)
- Cook, C., Burgess-Limerick, R., Papalia, S.: The effect of upper extremity support on upper extremity posture and muscle activity during keyboard use. Appl. Ergon. 35, 282–292 (2004)
- Jin, S., Kim, M., Park, J., Jang, M., Chang, K., Kim, D.: A comparison of biomechanical workload between smartphone and smartwatch while sitting and standing. Appl. Ergon. 76, 105–112 (2019)

- Visser, B., Korte, E. d., Kraan, I. v., Kuijer, P.: The effect of arm and wrist supports on the load of the upper extremity during VDU work. Clinical Biomechanics. 15, S34–S38 (2000)
- Straker, L., Mekhora, K.: An evaluation of visual display unit placement by electromyography, posture, discomfort and preference. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 26, 389–398 (2000)
- Syamala, K.R., Ailneni, R.C., Kim, J.H., Hwang, J.: Amrests and back support reduced biomechanical loading in the neck and upper extremities during mobile phone use. Appl. Ergon. 73, 48–54 (2018)
- Park, J.-H., Kang, S.-Y., Lee, S.-G., Jeon, H.-S.: The effects if smart phone gaming duration on muscle activation and spinal posture: pilot study. Physiotherapy Theory Pract. 33, 661– 669 (2016)
- 9. Cui, A., Emery, K., Beaudoin, A.-S., Feng, J., Cote, J.N.: Sex-specific effects of sitting vs standing on upper body muscle activity during text typing. Appl. Ergon. 82 (2020)
- Al-Qaisia, S., Aghazadehb, F.: Electromyography analysis: Comparison of maximum voluntary contraction methods for anterior deltoid and trapezius muscles. Procedia Manuf. 3, 4578–4583 (2015)



Women's Footwear Sole for the Elderly Produced with Sustainable Material: Friction Coefficient Analysis

Rosangela Monteiro dos Santos^{1(⊠)}, João Eduardo Guarnetti dos Santos², Ademir Marques Junior³, Flavio Cardoso Ventura¹, João Victor Gomes dos Santos², Pedro Yuri Kovatch⁴, Luís Carlos Paschoarelli², and Fausto Orsi Medola⁵

¹ Faculty of Technology of Jahu, Jaú, São Paulo, Brazil {rosangela.monteiro4, flavio.ventura0l}@fatec.sp.gov.br ² UNESP - Sao Paulo State University, Bauru, São Paulo, Brazil {joao.guarnetti, jv.santos, luis.paschoarelli}@unesp.br ³ Vizlab, Unisinos University, São Leopoldo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil adejunior_marques@hotmail.com ⁴ IPT - Institute for Technological Research, Sao Paulo, Brazil pedroyk@ipt.br ⁵ FAAC-UNESP - Sao Paulo State University, Bauru, São Paulo, Brazil fausto.medola@faac.unesp.br

Abstract. One possibility to intervene in falls due to slipping is to use shoes with soles that can resist possible slips. The objective of this research is to evaluate the friction coefficient of the female footwear for the elderly produced with sustainable material (castor oil and bamboo composite). Slip tests on ceramic floors with a detergent solution and steel floors with glycerol solution (ABNT NBR ISO 20344: 2015, 5.11 and ISO 13287: 2012) were carried out at the Technological Research Institute of São Paulo (Brazil) - IPT. The results of the study showed that the sole developed with castor oil and bamboo is indicated for ceramic floors, but it is not advisable to use this kind of sole on steel floors with a glycerol solution.

Keywords: Elderly footwear \cdot Slip \cdot Friction coefficient \cdot Biodegradable material \cdot Sustainability

1 Introduction

One of the causes of accidental falls is slipping. Slipping is the loss of balance caused by an unforeseen action beyond the control of the individual or by a decrease in the friction coefficient between the footwear and the floor (SACHER, 1993). The most prevalent environmental risks are irregular surfaces such as bumpy sidewalks, slippery/wet floors, stairs without handrails, rugs in circulation areas and inappropriate shoes [1].

According to Lockhart et al. [2] the causes of falls due to slipping, both in terms of extrinsic and intrinsic factors and their associations, are not yet fully understood.

Considering this, it is essential to examine the chain of events in an accident, including exposure to hazards, the starter events and the result that could leads to injuries and disabilities. In this sense, the physical analysis of the footwear and the biomechanics of the elderly using footwear, can facilitate the broader understanding of the fall predictive factors related to footwear used by the elderly.

The sole is the part of the shoe that interfaces with the ground, and because of this, it is the component that must guarantee traction and stability, in addition to absorbing impacts [3]. Currently, the main materials used for making soles are thermoplastic rubber (TR), polyurethane (PU) and mainly ethylene vinyl acetate (EVA) [4]. however, no studies evaluated the effects of soles produced with biodegradable materials. The objective of this study is to analyze the performance of soles constructed with castor oil and bamboo composite in footwear designed for elderly.

2 Materials and Methods

The sole developed for this work was developed with biodegradable materials composed of castor oil and bamboo fiber. The sole is 1 cm thick in the entire sole area (forefoot, midfoot and rearfoot). One of the soles is shown and detailed Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. The right sole developed with biodegradable material with outsole pattern designed with 2 mm square shapes and dashed diagonal lines.

Two physical tests were performed following the standards in (ABNT NBR ISO 20344: 2015, 5.11 and ISO 13287: 2012):

- Determination of slip resistance on ceramic floors with a detergent solution [5];
- Determination of slip resistance on steel floors with glycerol solution [6].

These tests were performed in 3 situations simulating the human movement: Heel strike (with support of the sole in the calcaneal region, simulating the initial phase of gait support); Foot flat or mid-stance position (with fully supported sole on the ground, simulating the intermediate phase of gait support) and Push-off (with sole support in the anterior region of the foot, simulating the final phase of propulsion gait).

Before performing each test, the following procedures are respected: the footwear remains 48 h in an environment at 23° and with 50% humidity; the ceramic floor is calibrated, showing friction coefficient results between 0.18 and 0.22; Then the lubricant solution of the respective test is added. After this initial configuration, the footwear is placed in a footwear mold that is fixed on the specimens' support.

During the tests the following is ensured: a maximum 7-degree contact angle at the rear of the shoe in heel strike (only the front is supported on the plate); a maximum 7 degree contact angle at the rear of the shoe (only the rear is supported on the plate); in midstance there is no inclination between the floor and the footwear. In all situations, the footwear is secured with a shoe-shaped fastener lowered on the 7-degree wedge by the action of its weight.

After preparing the test conditions, a force of 500 N is applied, then, the friction coefficient is determined. The tests were performed six times for each situation in each foot.

According to the standards [5, 6] the friction coefficient must not be less than 0.32 when measured in the plant and plane region and not less than 0.28 when measured only in the heel region when determining the resistance to slipping on ceramic floors with detergent solution, and must not be less than 0.18 when measured in the plant region and flat and not less than 0.13 when measured only in the heel region when determining the slip resistance in steel floors with glycerol solution.

3 Results and Discussion

For the tests with ceramic floor (Table 1), it was observed that in the situations of heel strike and foot-flat the sole presented the coefficient of friction within the standards in all situations on the left foot and in heel strike and foot-flat for the right foot. The values in the heel strike varied between 0.29 and 0.31 on the right foot and 0.28 and 0.30 on the left foot, therefore, in this situation the average is within the Standard for both feet (standard parameter value not lower to 0.28).

In the foot-flat situation, the averages are between 0.30 and 0.33 on the right foot and 0.34 and 0.35 on the left foot. In the Push-off situation, the values ranged between 0.27 and 0.30 on the right foot and 0.32 and 0.33 on the left foot (within the standard).

For the test with steel floor, the results of the friction coefficient in the heel strike situation are 0.10 on the right foot and 0.14 and 0.15 on the left foot, only the left foot presented the coefficient of friction within the Standard (values higher than 0.13). In the foot-flat situation, the friction coefficients were between 0.16 and 0.17 on the left foot and 0.13 on the right foot (the values should be higher or equal to 0.18), therefore, both feet are outside the Standard, and in the midstance situation, the right foot had coefficient values of 0.09 in all evaluations and the left foot had values between 0.13 and 0.15 (outside the standard). The results for these tests are shown in Table 2.

	Friction coefficient analysis situations simulating the human movement																	
Foot	Heel strike					Foot-flat					Push-off							
Right	0.28	0.28	0.29	0.29	0.30	0.30	0.34	0.33	0.34	0.34	0.35	0.35	0.33	0.33	0.33	0.32	0.32	0.32
Left	0.29	0.29	0.30	0.30	0.31	0.31	0.30	0.30	0.32	0.31	0.31	0.33	0.27	0.27	0.28	0.29	0.30	0.30

Table 1. Test results of the test with ceramic floor with detergent solution.

Table 2. Test results of the test with steel floor with glycerol solution.

	Friction coefficient analysis situations simulating the human movement																	
Foot	Heel strike					Foot-flat						Push-off						
Right	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.10	0.09	0.09
Left	0.14	0.14	0.14	0.14	0.15	0.15	0.16	0.16	0.17	0.16	0.16	0.16	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.13	0.15	0.15

4 Conclusion

The present research had the purpose of analyzing the performance of women's footwear soles designed for elderly developed with castor oil and bamboo concerning the friction coefficient in ceramic floors with a detergent solution and steel floor with glycerol solution. It was observed in the physical tests of slips that there is a difference in the friction coefficient in relation to the type of floor and lubricant.

The results of the study showed that the sole developed with castor oil and bamboo showed results within the norm on the ceramic floor with the feet (right and left) only in the heel strike situation and in the foot-flat and push-off situations with only the left foot. On the steel floor with glycerol solution, the sole presented parameters within the norm for the situation of heel strike only for the left foot. In the foot-flat and push-off situations the friction coefficient was below the parameters established by the standard. In short, the sole with a composite of castor oil and bamboo is suitable for ceramic floors, but it is not advisable to use the sole on steel floors with a glycerol solution.

The analysis of the friction coefficient is important to analyze the slip event, however, several other physical tests should be performed, such as analyzing the shape of the sole, thickness and characteristics of the ridges. In addition to the physical tests, it is also interesting to study the biomechanical tests in relation to the frictional force, impact and impulse when walking.

References

- 1. Oliveira, A.S., Trevizan, P.F., Bestetti, M.L.T., Melo, R.C.: Fatores amientais e risco de quedas em idosos: revisão sistemática. Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia, Rio de Janeiro **17**(3), 637–645 (2014)
- Lockhart, T.E.: Grönqvist, R., Cheng, W.: Prevention of fall-related accidents. Saf. Sci., 43, 355–357 (2005)
- Palhano, R.: Análise mecânica e biomecânica de solados para calçados. Dissertação- Mestrado. Programa de Pós-graduação em Engenharia de Minas, Metalurgica e de Materiais. Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre (2013)
- IBTEC: Instituto Brasileiro de Tecnologia do Couro. Cartilha do Calçado. Novo Hamburgo: IBTEC (2007)
- 5. Associação Brasileira de Normas Técnicas. NBR ISO 20344: 2015, 5.11: Determinação da resistência do calçado ao escorregamento em piso cerâmico. Rio de Janeiro (2015)
- 6. Associação Brasileira de Normas Técnicas. ABNT NBR ISO 20344: 2015, 5.11: Determinação da resistência do calçado ao escorregamento em piso aço. Rio de Janeiro (2015)



Design and Analysis of Chest of Drawers from the Perspective of Child Safety

Xinxiong Liu and Yao Li^(⊠)

Industrial Design Department, School of Mechanical Science and Engineering, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430074, Hubei, China {xxliu,m201870777}@hust.edu.cn

Abstract. By analyzing the fuse of the IKEA "Malm" chest of drawers event, the human factor dimensions of children, behavioral differences between children and adults, and drawer material density changes were taken as design factors for the new chest of drawer, and a model was established. Four design points were proposed: i) multiple anti-dumping structure design to prevent children from being crushed to death; ii) design of drawer safety lock; iii) drawer volume gradually decreased from bottom to top, material density also gradually decreased from bottom to top, the overall center of gravity of the chest of drawers moves down; iv) the arc-shaped structure with the center of gravity moved backwards and reduces the contact area at the bottom. The Creo modeling software was used to perform a stability virtual test. The analysis results show that the designed chest of drawer is relatively stable and meets national standards. This study can provide new design ideas for improving the safety of chest of drawers in the future.

Keywords: Chest of drawer · Child safety · Ergonomics · Stability test

1 Introduction

In recent years, with the rapid development of the economy and real estate, people's living conditions have continued to improve [1]. With the implementation of the second child policy, the number of children is increasing [2]. This means that more and more children will have independent living and entertainment spaces. Children's groups will receive high attention from governments, businesses and society. The real development opportunities of the furniture industry concerned about child safety will also come. Preschool children are in the physiological period of rapid bone growth and development, and their curiosity for knowledge and their desire to explore the unknown have increased. Therefore, their healthy growth requires environmentally friendly, safe, and human-machine compatible drawers. The current chest of drawers are of a single style and of poor quality. Basically it is a plate structure, mainly composed of fiberboard and particleboard. Because fiberboard and particleboard are filled with plant residues and bonded with glue, the formaldehyde content is relatively high, which is very harmful to children in development. In addition, consumers' use habits and installation and removal tools are also limited. This assemblable design does not have sufficient robustness, and most drawers are easy to loose in use, and the safety and

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 197–206, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_26 stability are not high. These unenvironmental and unsafe factors require our chest of drawers designers to rethink, reposition, design and produce a batch of chest of drawers that are easy for families to use, ensure the safety of children, and prevent dangers from happening [3].

The purpose of this research is to explore the reasonable design of chest of drawers based on children's human factors engineering and user habits, to design a chest of drawer that is more suitable for the family environment and to prevent children from accidents caused by the falling of the drawer. In addition, the stability test and mechanical analysis research are designed. The stability virtual test is performed by Creo modeling software to verify the stability of the chest of drawer.

2 Related Research

As an immature group, children have unique personality and behavioral characteristics at each age [4]. Structural safety is an important component of children's furniture that is different from adult furniture. Children's furniture must not only consider its normal use function, but also consider the liveliness and mobility of children, and also consider factors that may cause physical harm to children [5]. Structural safety includes requirements for edges and tips, protrusions, holes and gaps, folding mechanisms, closed furniture, mechanical properties, etc. With the rapid development of children's furniture products, more and more adjustable mechanisms, locking devices and new materials are used in children's furniture products. Although this improves the functions of children's furniture products, it also brings many hidden safety hazards. In recent years, due to substandard quality and safety of children's furniture, children's furniture recalls have occurred many times at home and abroad, and the safety of children's furniture has become a topic [6].

According to relevant investigations [7], from 1990 to 2007, there were 264,200 child injury accidents caused by the dumping of furniture in the United States, with an average of 14,700 accidents each year. That is to say, nearly 21 people per 100,000 people are injured every year due to furniture overturning. Among them, children under 6 years old account for 3/4, and the number of people injured due to furniture overturning is increasing year by year at a rate of 40%. IKEA's "deadly chest of drawers" incident has experienced twists and turns in China. The cause of the incident was the end of June 2016 when IKEA announced a recall of 29 million chests of drawers in the United States, including the malm series. The recall was due to the fact that chests of drawers have caused many child injuries in the United States since 1989, including 6 child deaths and 36 child injuries [8]. Therefore, the malm series chest of drawers are also known as the "life-threatening chest of drawers".

With the substantial increase in the number of children, the acceleration of the urbanization process, the improvement of living conditions and the increase in consumption capacity, the healthy development of the children's furniture industry is untenable.

3 Research Methods

3.1 Ergonomics

In the design of furniture products, factors such as human size, people's habits of storing items, and people's sight should be fully considered, so that the drawer not only has the practicality of simple storage function, but also has the comfort, convenience and efficiency of use. Compared with traditional furniture, the design of children's furniture has higher requirements for use, viewing and safety [9]. In order to make the design of children's furniture more in line with children's psychological and physical development requirements, the design of children's furniture based on ergonomic principles can well meet the market demand.

The design of children's furniture under the principle of ergonomics needs to consider multiple aspects of design elements, which are mainly divided into three aspects: children's own factors, furniture products themselves, and the use of environmental factors. To achieve effective coordination among children, furniture and the environment.

1. Children's factors. According to relevant literature research and questionnaire surveys, children of different ages and their corresponding characteristics are classified as shown in Table 1 [10]. According to Table 1, children's own factors can be divided into psychological factors and physiological factors. Preschool children (3–6 years old) develop faster than other stages. They began to have their own unique ideas and behaviors in terms of physiology, psychology, behavior, etc., and their different needs for furniture gradually became apparent. This subject is mainly to consider the dangerous situation that children will have when operating chest of drawers individually, and to improve the structure, size, and shape of the drawer according to the analysis of children's height, size, and behavioral habits to ensure the safety of children. Pre-school children (3 to 6 years old) were used as the target users of the research. Through the deep exploration of the target users, the corresponding human furniture engineering positioning of the corresponding children's furniture was carried out, and the design practice was carried out.

Childhood period	Age division	Physiology	Psychology	Behavior
Infancy	0–12 months	Perceptual sensitivity	Strong dependence	Sleepiness and crying
Early childhood	1–3 years old	Faster response	Cognitive enhancement	Active communication
Preschool age	3–6 years old	Rapid growth and development of bone	Increased curiosity, creativity and exploration	Lively and active
School age	6–12 years old	Increased ability to think	Character tends to mature	Sustainability work
Juvenile period	12–18 years old	Basically mature limbs	Personality gradually formed	Clear purpose

Table 1. Children's age classification and corresponding characteristics table

- 2. Product factors. Children's furniture and adult furniture are different. Children's lively and active characteristics are most likely to cause some dangers. Therefore, the biggest principle of children's furniture design is to focus on safety, which mainly involves the following aspects [11]. (i) Structural safety. The furniture has sufficient strength and stability after installation, and the installation of each component does not loosen or break. The nails and sharp corners of the furniture installation will not be exposed, and the drawers must be fixed outside, handrails shall be installed, etc., and write the corresponding precautions. (ii) Modeling safety. The design of the edges and corners of the furniture is rounded. Some shapes should also be designed on the premise of safe use. The shape should conform to the size of the child's body. Or equip furniture with corresponding cushioning materials, such as rubber table corners. The gaps in the furniture should be properly filled to prevent the child from being pinched. At the same time, the furniture should not be too high, so as not to increase the risk of children's use. (iii) Color matching is safe. The color of the furniture should not be too bright. The child's eyes are in the stage of continuous development. Long-term color stimulation will also damage the child's vision. Try to choose some fresh and bright color matching. You can fill it with specific things, such as animals, flowers and trees for color filling.
- 3. Environmental factors. Environmental factors include both natural and family environmental factors. (i) Natural environmental factors. Ergonomics-based children's furniture needs to be effectively coordinated with environmental factors, and it is best to consider light, heat, and dust protection measures in the environment. For example, the noise and environmental pollution around children's rooms can be improved by corresponding children's furniture, so that the environment in which children live can meet their physical health, safety, and comfort development needs. (ii) Family environmental factors. The living space of the child is mainly the family environment. Many pollution factors will appear during the decoration of the house. In order to meet the needs of the family environment, the design of children's furniture must also consider the purification of children's rooms. The corresponding potted plant function can be designed in the furniture design to purify the child's living space.

3.2 Mechanical Analysis

Cabinet stability is an important index related to the safety performance of cabinet furniture products. In China, it is not uncommon for children to be injured due to substandard mechanical properties such as the stability of furniture. With the continuous development of China's furniture industry, furniture products continue to innovate, especially in terms of raw materials, structure, and style. The introduction of the national standard GB/T 10357.4-2013 "Furniture Mechanical Performance Test: Part 4 Cabinet Stability" conforms to this trend of domestic and foreign furniture market development [12]. The verification of the design practice of the chest of drawer is the stability test based on the mechanical property test of the furniture.

4 Design of Chest of Drawers

4.1 Design Concept

Based on the usability principle, the existing design defects of the Malm series chest of drawers are analyzed to provide a basis for the next improvement design.

(i) Consider the limits of people: The differences between children and adults in terms of physical, psychological, and behavior are huge. A chest of drawer that is safe for adults may be the killer of children's lives. (ii) Form a natural match: A chest of drawer that may be dangerous for children due to misuse do not provide certain limitations, making the operation impossible. (iii) Fault tolerance: there is no clear possible danger statement before installation; there is no countermeasure design for wrong operation.

4.2 Results Presented

Design points for chest of drawer: (i) Multiple anti-dumping structure design to prevent children from being crushed to death; (ii) Design of drawer lock safety lock, the drawer safety lock is a tubular structure that is inserted in the drawer and adopts an overall design. The two sides of the lock are locked at the same time; if it needs to be opened, both hands must be swung at the same time to turn the switch. Taking into account the naughty nature of children, they will climb to the drawer, so the difference between the arm length of adults and children, the distance between the two sections of the buckle is far longer than the arm length of the child, to prevent children from opening the drawer without permission, trampling on it and causing the chest of drawer to fall (As shown in Fig. 2); (iii) Drawer volume gradually decreases from bottom to top, material density also gradually decreases from bottom to top, the overall center of gravity of the chest of drawer moves downwards; (iv) The arc structure with the center of gravity moved backwards and reduces the contact area at the bottom (As shown in Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Render of a chest of drawers



Fig. 2. Chest of drawer safety lock details

5 Study on Drawer Stability

5.1 Creo Stability Virtual Test

Product modeling in Creo. In order to increase the stability of the chest of drawer, a different density material is selected for each layer, and then the density value is set in Creo. The specific operation steps are: open the file drop-down menu, select the model attribute, and then select the mass attribute. The density value can be set in the mass attribute menu (as shown in Fig. 3). The drawer on the upper level of the chest of drawer are made of less dense materials, and the density of the materials gradually increases from the upper level to the lower level. The lowest density of the drawer is the highest. This can reduce the center of gravity of the chest of drawer, make the chest of drawer more stable and difficult to fall.



Fig. 3. Set material density in Creo

With the powerful analysis function of Creo, you can automatically calculate the quality of the chest of drawer and find the center of gravity of the chest of drawer. The operation method is to find the mass attribute in the analysis menu of the toolbar, select the feature, and click preview. At this time, the volume, mass, and average density of
the model are automatically calculated. Then click the feature, check the centroid point, and click Finish. The center of gravity of the model is now displayed. The analysis results show that the center of gravity of the designed chest of drawer is lower. This result is exactly what we expected, because the lower the center of gravity, the better the stability of the chest of drawer and the more difficult it will fall.

5.2 Mechanical Calculation of the Chest of Drawer Stability

The national standard specifies the inspection method for vertical load stability of moving parts of cabinet furniture as outlined below.

Lean the block on the outside of the front foot of the test piece, and open the sliding test parts such as sliding door, drawer, and flip door in order according to the following rules, and apply the force vertically to these parts, and then gradually increase to the point where at least one foot of the opposite two feet is raised off the ground, and record the actual applied force in Newton.

The open states and afterburner positions of sliding doors, drawers, flip doors and shelves are: (1) Sliding doors: open to 90° , the middle part of the upper edge of the door 50 mm away from the side edge of the door handle. (2) Drawers: Pull out two-thirds, the middle part of the drawer panel; (3) Flip doors and shelves: in a horizontal or near-horizontal state, 50 mm from the front of the door or shelf. During the test, the moving parts that are not tested shall be closed (as shown in Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Sliding door, drawer, shelf vertical loading stability

According to the national standard, when the force applied to the drawer is 150 N or the force on the sliding door is 100 N, the furniture does not tip over, the product is qualified. The chest of drawer designed in this article only has a drawer and no other structure such as a sliding door, so it only needs to detect the force applied to the drawer.

According to the detection method specified by the national standard, two thirds of a drawer is opened, and the other drawers are kept closed. A force F is applied along the middle part of the opened drawer panel, and the critical point is used for force analysis. When just overturning, the two front feet of the chest of drawer are supported by the ground at this time, and the two rear feet are just away from the ground without force. At the same time, the chest of drawer is subjected to gravity. Take the front feet of the chest of drawer as the origin of coordinates and establish a spatial coordinate system. The coordinate system and force analysis diagram are shown in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5. Coordinate system and force analysis

The force analysis of the designed drawer is performed, and the equilibrium equation of the space force system is shown in Eq. 1.

$$\begin{cases} \sum F_{xi} = 0\\ \sum F_{yi} = 0\\ \sum F_{zi} = 0\\ \sum m_x(F_i) = 0\\ \sum m_y(F_i) = 0\\ \sum m_z(F_i) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(1)

Calculate according to the equilibrium equation of the space force system, then the magnitude of the force F at the critical point can be obtained. If the obtained force F is more than 150 N, it means that the designed chest of drawer complies with national standards. The calculation process is as follows:

$$\sum F_{zi} = N_1 + N_2 - G - F = 0 \tag{2}$$

$$\sum m_{y}(F_{i}) = Fl_{1} - Gl_{2} = 0$$
(3)

$$\sum m_x(F_i) = N_2 l_3 - F \frac{l_3}{2} - G \frac{l_3}{2} = 0$$
(4)

Among them, L1 and L2 are the distances of F and G from the y axis, and L3 is the length of the chest of drawer. The value can be determined by the size of the designed drawer and the position of the center of gravity obtained by Creo analysis. The calculated result is F = 208.80 N, which is greater than 150 N, which proves that the designed chest of drawer meets national standards. Check the other drawers in turn as above, and found that they meet the requirements.

6 Summary

The chest of drawer should be different from ordinary adult furniture in terms of shape and structure. The dimensions of the furniture should be designed strictly according to the size of children at different ages, the appearance design should meet the psychological and physiological characteristics of children [13]. By analyzing the development of the chest of drawers and the current market situation, it is concluded that there are still many problems in the chest of drawers market. The most important problem is the threat of falling easily similar to the IKEA Malm chest of drawer. In order to prevent this wardrobe defect from causing disasters Based on design concepts such as ergonomics and mechanical analysis, this article proposes to use Creo to build a 3D model, and to determine the center of gravity through a software stability virtual test. Finally, the stability of the model under the use of the scene is verified by mechanical calculations to optimize the design of the chest of drawer more scientifically.

It is hoped that the research on this subject will have a positive impact on the development and growth of the chest of drawer industry. At the same time, I hope that in the future, we can provide new design ideas for improving the safety of chest of drawer and incorporate more scientific basis into the design.

References

- Zhu, J., Lu, Y.: Virtual test of loading stability of drawer cabinet based on ADAMS. J. Forestry Eng. 1(01), 118–121 (2016)
- Xiong, X., Zhao, Y., Lu, F., Pang, X., Wu, Z.: Standardization of the structure design of the large-scale customized overall wardrobe. Packag. Eng. 37(14), 100–104 (2016)
- Lan, Z.: Comment on the double standards of the recall of multinational companies in China —taking the IKEA "Death Drawer" incident as an example. Foreign Econ. Trade Pract. 11, 46–49 (2016)
- 4. Ge, L.: Research on Product redesign of living room modular cabinet furniture. Central South University of Forestry and Technology (2007)
- 5. Ding, Z.: Research on Design of Panel Wardrobe Based on Individual Demand. Nanjing Forestry University, Nanjing (2011)
- 6. Zhang, P.: Standardized Design and Elastic Response of Custom Wardrobes. Nanjing Forestry University, Nanjing (2012)
- Xu, Z., Xie, J., Zhang, Z., Luo, A., Chen, L.: Analysis of the status quo and problems of children's furniture products in China. Wood Process. Machinery 30(1), 45–49 (2019)
- Luo, S., Guan, H.: Discussion on design of cabinet furniture for earthquake prevention and disaster reduction. Shanxi Archi. 38(36), 26–28 (2012)
- Cottesman, B.L., Mckenzie, L.B., Conner, K.A., et al.: Injmies from fumitore tip-overs among children and adolescents in the United States 1990–2007. Clin. Pediatrics 48(8), 851– 858 (2009)
- Xu, Y., Wu, Z.: Investigation and evaluation of wardrobe products based on ergonomics. Furniture 39(01), 19–24 (2018)

- He, X., Wu, Y.: CMF decision model and design application of children's furniture. Forestry Ind. 46(8), 57–60 (2019)
- 12. Lei, S.: Research on children's furniture practice based on IKEA furniture design concept. Wuhan Textile University, Wuhan (2016)
- 13. Chai, W., Mu, Y.: Anthropology and application in storage furniture design. J. Northwest Forestry Univ. 03, 130–133 (2006)



Improved Design of Household Kitchen Waste Composting Machine Based on Human Factors Engineering

Jing $\operatorname{Qiu}^{(\boxtimes)}$ and Huabin Wang

School of Design, South China University of Technolog, Guangzhou 510006, China mayqiujing@foxmail.com, hbwang@scut.edu.cn

Abstract. As an unavoidable part of family life, kitchen waste contains high moisture and organic matter, which is easy to rot and produce a bad smell. The use of household kitchen waste machine can be properly handled, into new resources, such as organic fertilizer. In consideration of the comfort of operation, the deodorization performance of composting, and the guarantee of efficiency, the modeling and structural design of household kitchen waste composting machine are improved to make the product more in line with the physiological and psychological characteristics of people.

Keywords: Kitchen waste · Composting · Human factors engineering

1 Introduction

The policy of household waste classification has been implemented in major cities [1], which is of great significance for reducing greenhouse gas emissions, slowing down the process of global warming, coping with national energy shortage and improving urban ecological environment. Different kinds of garbage have different characteristics and corresponding treatment methods. Therefore, after garbage classification, garbage can be classified for treatment, which can save resources and make energy reuse at the same time.

Among them, kitchen waste is an important part of household waste. Kitchen waste is the family. restaurants, canteens and other food units abandoned the residual food collectively. At present, about 40% of the municipal garbage in most countries in the world is kitchen waste [2]. With the improvement of people's living standards, the production of kitchen waste is on the rise year by year. Compared with developed countries, the proportion of kitchen waste in urban household garbage in China is too high [3]. The contents of organic matter in kitchen waste are higher, and the development and utilization value is higher, but it is perishable and produces odor. At the same time, high moisture content, inconvenient to collect and transport, improper treatment is easy to produce secondary pollutants; Moreover, the oil content is higher

This paper is funded by the Humanities and Social Sciences Research Project of the Ministry of Education, project approval number 20YJA760079.

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 207–212, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_27

than other domestic wastes, which has a greater impact on the quality of resource-based products and needs to be properly handled [2].

Therefore, the research on the disposal of kitchen waste is extremely important.

2 The Principle and Present Situation of Kitchen Waste Composting Machine

The existing treatment technology is mainly harmless treatment technology, fertilizer treatment technology, feed treatment technology and energy treatment technology four categories of treatment methods [2]. Fertilizer treatment technology is a relatively mature treatment technology at present, and feed treatment technology has gradually started engineering application, while energy treatment technology is the future development direction, the latter two need to invest more cost. Innocuous treatment is mainly pulverized straight discharge and bury, to the environment pollution is larger. Fertilizer treatment includes aerobic composting, anaerobic fermentation, earthworm composting, container composting and other methods. Because of simple treatment method and ability to make fertilizer and feed, Aerobic composting has attracted more attention.

Aerobic composting is to decompose organic solids in the raw material into soluble organic matter by secreting extracellular enzymes and then penetrate into microbial cells to participate in metabolism under aerobic conditions, so as to realize the transformation of raw material into humus and finally achieve maturity and stability and become organic fertilizer [4]. In the aerobic composting of kitchen waste, the added kitchen waste should be screened and pretreated, and the ventilation and agitation should be controlled at the same time. At present, aerobic composting of kitchen waste is developing towards miniaturization, mobility and specialization [2].

Here is a practical case of kitchen waste composting processor. Based on the principle of DANO roller, Guangdong Modern Agricultural Equipment Research institute independently developed the non-power composting tank for kitchen waste, and then improved it into the air-box composting machine for kitchen waste [5]. The main structure includes horizontal stirring shaft, heat preservation and heating device, aeration box for aerated ventilation, deodorization system, single chip microcomputer, universal wheel with tightening mechanism and fuselage shell. Now, the air-box type kitchen waste composting machine has been tried out in institute community of Guangdong province Modern Agricultural Equipment and Shengshi village, Zhongshan.

3 The Deficiency of Household Kitchen Waste Composting Machine

The main shortcomings of the existing kitchen waste composting machine are as follows: 1) from the perspective of aesthetics, the fuselage is bulky and not beautiful, the material is single, the screen printing is simple, without sense of science and technology; 2) from the perspective of economy, there is no systematic industrial design, and the airframe cost is relatively high, leading to the difficulty in promotion; 3) from the perspective of practical functions, there are odors and intractable stains in the use process.

Therefore, clean and beautiful, deodorization and cost reduction are the key points in improving the design, which can help build users' good impression on the compost machine (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. The picture shows the design before improvement.

4 Improved Design of Household Kitchen Waste Composting Machine Based on Human Factors

4.1 Size

The composting machine for household kitchen waste is 560 mm wide, 380 mm deep, 635 mm high and no more than 1010 mm high after opening the cover. According to <Human Dimensions of Chinese Adults> [6], the 1th percentile of the functional hand height (axis of grip) and the shoulder height of 18 to 60 years old male is 656 mm and 1244 mm respectively, the 1th percentile of the functional hand height (axis of grip) and the shoulder height of 18 to 60 years old female is 630 mm and 1166 mm respectively. so man can be easily open and close the cover of the machine operation, young or old, there will be no discomfort with hands above shoulders, effectively prevent injuries [6].

This form is flat, effectively distinguishing it from other bulky square garbage processors, giving a new feel to the form and making it easier to use. And also conveniently placed in the corner of the space. The cover is made of frosted plastic and the body is made of stainless-steel plate, which can effectively reduce the cost and increase the durability.

4.2 Interactive Panel

The size of the panel is 160 mm*80 mm, and the size of the keys is 20 mm*20 mm. The median of the index finger width of male adults is 19 mm, which is convenient for users to operate and not easy to press by mistake. The design of the interaction should pay attention to fault tolerance, and minimize the user's thinking, can be simple operation, so the interface design only three keys, "switch" "dehumidification" "deodorization".

Because most of the user of the family composting machine isn't professional, it provides the rational humidity, temperature numerical reference on the screen, at the same time, with "too wet", "too smelly" two indicator lights to remind the user to carry out the corresponding operation.

4.3 The Human-Computer Interaction

The man-machine interaction between the user and the machine is mainly embodied in the process of handling the machine, opening and closing the cover, replacing the deodorizer and so on.

Plastic accessory handles are designed on both sides of the fuselage to reduce costs by using manufactured standard parts. With the universal wheel at the bottom, it is convenient for users to place the composting machine.

The product semantics of the cover arc can guide the user to lift the cover up, because the user is mostly right-handed, the common situation is the right hand to carry out the garbage, the left hand to open the cover, the operation panel is placed on the left side of the machine, so as not to dirty the table.

The deodorization system is mainly composed of devices containing water and wood chips, which need to be replaced regularly. Then the corresponding disassembly device is designed for the fuselage, which can be easily removed by using the buckle, without affecting the durability of the whole machine. The length of the disassembly part is 300 mm, the height is 600 mm, and the steel plate is 3 mm thick. The weight of a single plate is acceptable. The opening hole width of the plastic clip for disassembly is 26.5 mm and the length is 39.5 mm, which conforms to the design of human factors engineering.

4.4 Practical Function

The thickness of the cover is 20 mm, which can play an effective insulation effect. But the arc design makes the whole machine not too heavy and rigid.

4.5 Decoration Design

Fuselage cover integral design, color selection household appliances commonly used light gray, the whole machine more integration, home appliances, science and technology, in the white household appliances do not appear abrupt. It is also beneficial for subsequent update iterations. The cover is made of matte plastic and covered with silk-screen printing to remind the user which kitchen waste can be put in and which kitchen waste cannot. It is more solid, beautiful and neat than the previous sticker, and can also improve the sense of quality.

The use of stainless steel stamping body texture, do not increase too much cost at the same time, improve the sense of quality, sense of science and technology (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. The picture shows the shape after the design

5 Conclusion

This paper introduces the development status and principle of kitchen waste composting, and USES the knowledge of human factors engineering to improve the design of the family kitchen waste composting machine, making up for the shortcomings of the previous design. This design focuses on the design of the body and cover, making the composting machine easier to use, more beautiful appearance, lower cost. This design meets the market demand for garbage classification

References

- 1. Tong, Y., Liu, J., Liu, S.: China is implementing "Garbage Classification" action. Environ. Pollut. **259**, 113707 (2020)
- 2. Xu, D., Shen, D., Feng, H.: Discussion on characteristics and resource recycling technology of food residue, 27(01), 130–135 (2011). 厨余垃圾的特性及处理技术研究进展[J].科技通报
- Dong, Y., Zou, D., Liu, Y., Ye, B.: Study on characteristics of domestic waste in China and its comprehensive treatment technologies: taking Hangzhou City as an example, 28(06), 1055–1060 (2016). 我国城市生活垃圾特点及其处理技术浅析——以杭州市为例[J].浙江农业学报

- Cai, W., Lihui, C., Wang, W., Ju, J., Feng, H.: Research review on aerobic composting of urban kitchen waste in China. Chin. Soil Fertil. (06), 8–13 (2014). 我国城市厨余垃圾好氧堆肥研究综述[J].中国土壤与肥料
- 5. Liu, M., Guo, Y., Wei, J., Mai, Y., Zeng, Q.: Design of automatic kitchen waste compost machine for household use. Modern Agric. Equip. **02**, 34–38+42 (2018). 家庭用自动厨余堆肥机设计[J].现代农业装备
- 6. GB10000 88 Human Dimensions of Chinese Adults. 中国成年人体尺寸



The Evaluation on Visual Fatigue and Comfort Between the VR HMD and the iPad

Yunhong Zhang^{1(\Box)}, Yi Yang², Si Feng¹, Jingtian Qi², Wei Li¹, and Jin Yu²

¹ National Key Laboratory of Human Factor and Ergonomics, China National Institute of Standardization, Beijing, China zhangyh@cnis.ac.cn
² Tianjin Normal University, Tianjin, China

Abstract. In the same indoor lighting conditions, we compared the differences on visual fatigue, comfort and visual function between before and after viewing the same video on VR and iPad display. The test task is to watch the same cartoon, and the test time for each condition is 40 min. The main measures indexes include critical fusion frequency, contrast sensitivity, diopter, accommodation response and visual fatigue and comfort perception scale, etc. The subjects are students aged 9-15. The results show that there is significant difference on critical fusion frequency index between the VR HMD and the iPad, which the decline range of CFF by viewing the video on the VR HMD is more than that of viewing it on the iPad, indicating that the use of VR HMD has a greater impact on users' ability to identify critical fusion frequency than that of iPad. However, there are no significant differences on objective visual fatigue, comfort, diopter and accommodation response, contrast sensitivity and so on, which are compared between the two samples and before and after viewing the cartoon. The results demonstrate that there are a lot of developments in the technology of VR devices, and their effects on users' visual fatigue and visual function are getting less and less, but there is still a certain distance between the VR HMD and tablet computer in some aspects.

Keywords: VR HMD · iPad · CFF · Visual fatigue · Comfort · EEG

1 Introduction

With the development of technology, electronic Display terminals(Video Display Terminal) including mobile phones, tablets, televisions, VR glasses, tutor machines have been widely used in study and life of teenagers, the electronic Display Terminal have brought convenience and efficiency for teachers, parents and students, but also produced some of the students eye-using healthy problems. Teenagers are in the critical period of the growth and development of each organ of the body, and the extension of the eye ball wall is large, which is easily affected by eye hygiene habits and external environmental factors. In particular, parents are very worried about the impact of watching mobile phones and Pad products on children's myopia for a long time in China. However, some people speculate that VR products have remote vision function

according to VR principle, which may have certain effect on reducing myopia of teenagers.

Some researchers used the visual perception training platform based on virtual reality to train the patients with myopic anisometropia amblyopia for one year, the patients' visual acuity improved significantly and the fine stereoscopic vision defect was improved. Although the fine stereoscopic vision of the sighted people is still different from that of the normal population, it can be proved that the visual perception training platform based on virtual reality has clinical application value in the treatment of patients with myopic anisometropia amblyopia [1]. Some researchers also watch outdoor scenes simulated by VR technology, which can effectively mobilize the stretching and relaxation of the ciliary muscle of the children under test and improve the ciliary muscle exercise, the function of modulating and relieving ciliary muscle spasm, and the function of preventing the development of myopia [2].

In recent years, many companies have also been thinking about whether VR products can be used for vision training to correct myopia, or VR tools can be used for education or learning, to make up for the shortage of mobile phones, pads and other devices that are mainly used for close viewing and lack of the adjustment of far sighting. However, there is no clear research conclusion on whether the effects of learning or entertainment using VR products on vision and visual function are consistent with the effects of looking at mobile phones or tablets on vision and visual function.

In this study, it was tested if the mobile head display devices have advantages in reducing visual fatigue by comparing VR mobile head display device with iPad under the same environment. It will not only provide experimental data support for the promotion and application of VR device, but also provide data support and reference for setting their single-use time.

2 Methods

2.1 Experimental Design

In this study, two different types of display samples are selected, one of which is a VR HMD produced by Chinese company; the other is compared with the iPad 6 manufactured by Apple Inc, the information of the two samples is as follows. And the evaluation indicators included in accommodation response, diopter, visual fatigue, critical fusion frequency, contrast sensitivity and so on (Table 1).

	Screen intensity	Contrast ratio	Remarks
VR HMD		>1000:1	Field angle: 53°
Tablet	39.52(3.21-84.55)	26.27	

 Table 1. Model and conditions of experimental samples

2.2 Subjects

15 students with normal vision or corrected vision aged 9-15 participated in the experiment, including 11 boys and 4 girls, with an average age of 11.2 years old which its standard deviation is 1.26.

2.3 Apparatus

Critical Fusion Frequency Meter: The test rang of the critical fusion frequency meter is 4.0 Hz–60.0 Hz, adjustable in 0.1 Hz, and its error is less than 0.1 Hz. The blue and yellow color light was selected.

Visual Function Tester: The Bayesian threshold measurement theory was used to evaluate the contrast sensitivity in the visual function tester with the measurement accuracy of \pm 2DB.

Refractometer: The accommodation response and diopter data were collected by the NIDEK ARK-1S refractometer.

2.4 Procedure

The experiment was the conducted in the daily environment with 300 lux illumination. Firstly, the subjects were selected by means of visual acuity chart and stereopsis, and the subjects who were not suitable for the experiment were excluded. Secondly, the subjects were introduced to the purpose and content of the experiment. The subjects filled in the informed consent and the pre-test visual fatigue questionnaire, and conducted the critical fusion frequency, optometry and the contrast sensitivity testing. Then, the subjects entered the formal experimental procedure, and watched the 40-min 2D video played on the mobile head display and iPad, which the play sequence was balanced between different conditions. The 2D video named Crazy Animal City. During viewing the video, the CFF was checked every 10 min. After watching the video, the critical fusion frequency, contrast sensitivity, optometry and visual fatigue were tested again. At the end of the test, the subjects were paid a certain reward for his/her participation.

2.5 Data Analysis

The changes value of visual fatigue and comfort data was analyzed by IBM SPSS 20 Statistics software (IBM-SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL). The method of repeated-measure ANOVA analysis and t test were applied to the experiment data.

3 Results and Analysis

3.1 Critical Fusion Frequency Results

The critical fusion frequency difference of two different devices during watching video was shown in Fig. 1. The results showed that the decrease of critical fusion frequency of VR HMD was significantly greater than that of iPad both in the blue and yellow

light, which indicated that watching the video on VR HMD will cause easily visual fatigue. As time went on, the critical fusion frequency of watching VR HMD generally showed a downward trend both in the blue and yellow light, which was reversed in after about 30 min in the blue light, and continued to decrease after 40 min. The critical fusion frequency of watching iPad also showed an overall downward trend, with a large reversal about 20 min after watching in blue light, and a further downward trend about after watching 30 min. The critical fusion frequency after 40-min viewing task on the two samples, the subjects produced a certain degree of visual fatigue. During the test, both samples were reversed to a certain extent both in blue light index, which may indicate that the users showed increased brain arousal during the process of watching by the blue light. On the whole, the reduction of critical fusion of VR HMD is slightly greater than that of iPad, indicating that the fatigue degree of VR HMD is slightly greater than that of iPad.



Fig. 1. The changes of the critical fusion frequency during viewing the video on the two display device (the blue light and the yellow light)

With regard to the CFF of the blue light, a repeated-measure ANOVA was applied on the CFF data of the blue light of the different viewing time periods, a significant main effect of the two samples was found (F (1,2) = 123.60, p < 0.001), the main effect of viewing time was significant(F(1,4) = 5.42, < 0.01, and there was significant interaction, F(1,10) = 3.50, p < 0.05. The post-hoc test results showed that the measured value of CFF every 10 min was significantly different from the baseline (ps <0.05), and the difference among the CFF data after watching 10, 20, 30 and 40 min was not significantly different, indicating that watching the animation for 10 min may cause visual fatigue. The matching T test results about the CFF data of two samples showed that the difference of the two samples in the baseline period was not significant, but after viewing10 min, 20 min, 30 min and 40 min, the CFF data of the two samples produced the significant differences (ps < 0.01), which indicated the CFF baseline data of the two samples was similar, but after viewing 10 min the significant difference has showed between the two samples, and watching on the VR HMD led to a more serious visual fatigue.

With regard to the CFF of the yellow light, a same repeated-measure ANOVA was applied on the CFF data of the yellow light of the different viewing time periods, a significant main effect of the two samples was found (F (1,2) = 15.27, p < 0.01), the main effect of viewing time was significant (F(1,4) = 4.58, p < 0.01), and the interaction of samples and the time was significant, F(1,10) = 3.91, p < 0.05. The post-hoc test results showed that the CFF data after 10-min viewing was not significantly different from the baseline (ps < 0.05), but the differences between the CFF data of baseline and that of after viewing 20, 30 and 40 min were obvious (ps < 0.05), and the difference among the CFF data after watching 10, 20, 30 and 40 min was not significantly different, indicating that watching the animation for more than 20 min may cause visual yellow light fatigue. The matching T test results about the CFF data of two samples showed that the difference of the two samples in the baseline period was not significant, but after viewing10 min, 20 min, 30 min and 40 min, the CFF data of the two samples produced the significant differences (ps < 0.01), which indicated the CFF baseline data of the two samples was similar, but after viewing 10 min the significant difference has showed between the two samples, and watching on the VR HMD led to a more serious visual fatigue.

According the above results, the same decreases of CFF have showed by viewing the blue and yellow lights, and the CFF decrease time of the blue light was 10 min late, but the CFF decrease time of the yellow light was 20 min late. The results showed that the visual fatigue of the two samples was obvious, and the CFF decrease of viewing on the VR HMD was greater than that of viewing on the iPad.

3.2 Contrast Sensitivity Results

A repeated-measure ANOVA was conducted on the contrast sensitivity data of the baseline and the two samples with spatial frequencies of 1.5C/D, 3C/D, 6C/D, 12C/D and 18C/D. a significant main effect of the two samples and the baseline was found (F (1,3) = 29.78, p < 0.001), the main effect of viewing time was significant (F (1,2) = 6.54, p < 0.01), and the interaction of test conditions and the time was significant, F(1,6) = 1.90, p = 0.051. The post-hoc test results of the two samples showed that there was no significant difference between the contrast sensitivity data of the two samples.

3.3 Diopter

The results of descriptive statistics of left eye diopter showed that subjects using VR HMD (M = -0.51, SD = 0.92) and using iPad (M = -0.53, SD = 0.97) had little difference. The results of paired sample t-test of subjects' diopters after completing the task on VR HMD and iPad showed that there was no significant difference between the diopter data of the two samples.

3.4 Accommodation Response

The results of descriptive statistics of left and right accommodation responses showed that there was no significant difference in the accommodation response of subjects using VR HMD (M = 8.01, SD = 2.12) and using iPad (M = 8.09, SD = 1.48). The results of paired sample t test of the accommodation response after using VR HMD and iPad to complete the task showed that there was no significant difference between them.

3.5 Visual Fatigue

Statistical results showed that both samples produced a certain degree of eye strain and headache after viewing 40 min. The results of visual fatigue before and after using two samples to watch videos showed that watching VR HMD would affect more about the eye strain and headache, and watching the iPad would affect more about eye dryness. The results of Wilcoxon's sign rank test showed that there was no significant difference in fatigue degree between the two devices, indicating that there was no difference between the two devices in the primary perception of visual fatigue.

3.6 Visual Comfort

The statistical results show that the subjective feeling of comfort had produced slight change after viewing the two samples. The Wilcoxon sign rank test result show that the change of comfort perception between the two devices is not significant, only the comfort of the brightness-contrast perception has a significant edge difference (p = 0.066 < 0.1), the brightness-contrast perception of VR HMD decreases slightly (M = -3.75, SD = 7.18), and the brightness-contrast perception of iPad has little change (M = -3.75, SD = 0.27).

4 Conclusion

In this study, after viewing the video for 40 min on the two samples, some visual fatigue performance, such as eye strain and headache symptom had produced on the subjects, and the CFF had declined in the two samples, but in the indexes of the contrast sensitivity, comfort, visual fatigue, diopter and accommodation response there was no significant differences. However, as far as critical fusion frequency is concerned, the same decreases of CFF of viewing the video have showed by viewing the blue and yellow lights, and the CFF decrease time of the blue light was 10 min late, but the CFF decrease time of the yellow light was 20 min late. The visual fatigue of the two samples was obvious, which the CFF decrease of viewing on the VR HMD was greater than that of viewing on the iPad, indicating that the visual fatigue caused by watching VR HMD is more serious than that of iPad. And it has not been verified that viewing the video on the VR HMD had better function on reducing the visual fatigue and enhancing the visual function than viewing the video on the iPad. In general, although the effect of watching VR HMD on the visual fatigue is not as serious as expected, its effect is far from achieving the improvement of vision and visual function, which may

be related to the technical development of VR HMD. VR technology is currently in the process of continuous development, and we hope to see more better and comfortable VR HMD products in the near future.

Acknowledgment. The authors would like to gratefully acknowledge the support of the National Key R&D Program of China (2016YFB0401203), and China National Institute of Standardization through the "special funds for the basic R&D undertakings by welfare research institutions" (522020Y-7476).

References

- Wei, S.: Clinical application of virtual reality visual perception platform in stereo functional plasticity of myopic anometropia amblyopia. Chin. J. Strabismus Pediatric Ophthalmol. 27 (04), 13–15 (2019)
- 2. Wei, S.: Effect of ciliary muscle training based on virtual reality VR technology. World's Latest Medical Information Digest, **17**(91), 19–20

Risk Assessment and Injury Prevention



The Indoor Thermal Environment in Fencing Halls: Assessment of the Environmental Conditions Through an Objective and Subjective Approach

Fabio Fantozzi, Giulia Lamberti^(⊠), Francesco Leccese, and Giacomo Salvadori

DESTEC, Department of Energy, Systems, Territory and Constructions Engineering, School of Engineering, University of Pisa, Largo Lucio Lazzarino, 56122 Pisa, Italy fabio.fantozzi@unipi.it, giulia.lamberti@phd.unipi.it

Abstract. As the importance of sport practice is currently growing, the evaluation of the environmental parameters and especially of the thermal conditions in sport halls is particularly relevant, since they can affect the health and performance of the athletes. In particular, as a lack of studies has been detected and current standards are missing a scientific base for the determination of the environmental parameters, a methodology for assessing the indoor thermal environment in fencing halls has been provided, starting from a case study. This research leads also to preliminary results obtained through objective and subjective measurements and lays the groundwork for future studies.

Keywords: Indoor environmental quality \cdot Thermal environment \cdot Thermal comfort \cdot Sport facilities \cdot Fencing halls

1 Introduction

In recent times, sport participation is increasingly growing, thus providing sport facilities with high environmental quality is getting more and more relevant. In particular, the thermal environment can play a key role in these spaces, as during sport practice the heat production of the body can reach high values, rising the body temperature [1]. Moreover, the increase of the heat storage affects the athletic performance due to heat exhaustion and overheating. The dissipation of the exceeding heat can be obtained through the thermoregulatory system, which includes mechanisms such as vasodilation and sweat [2]. Even if training can improve the thermoregulatory system, in some environments it may not be sufficient to dissipate heat [3], thus health and performance problems can occur.

For these reasons, the scientific community is focusing on ensuring comfort in these spaces. However, only few studies have been carried out on the determination of thermal comfort in sport facilities. In particular, most studies were applying Fanger's indices Predicted Mean Vote (PMV) and Predicted Percentage of Dissatisfied (PPD), obtained through field measurements [4–8] or were studying the perception of the

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 223–229, 2020.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_29

thermal environment through a subjective approach [7, 9–11]. Considering the existing regulations, it can be noticed that they are very heterogeneous and they are not usually completed by a solid scientific base providing the methods used for the determination of the environmental conditions. In fact, only few indications are given by the International Olympic Committee (IOC) and by Sports Federations. In particular, the International Fencing Federation (FIE) does not specify information regarding the environmental conditions that can ensure comfort and health of the athletes [12].

The aim of this paper is to provide a scientific base for the evaluation of thermal conditions in fencing halls, which is currently lacking, using a methodology developed comparing objective and subjective approaches in a case study. Preliminary results based on objective and subjective measurements show the environmental parameters that should be maintained in fencing halls. These results are fundamental, as environmental conditions have great influence on athletes' health, also considering that fencers cannot adapt their conditions by removing or picking appropriate garments, as they wear a standardized uniform according to FIE's regulations.

2 Methods

The methodology applied consists of a comparison between objective and subjective measurements, as showed in the following sections.

2.1 The Case Study

The case study considered for this investigation was the fencing hall "Club Scherma Pisa Antonio di Ciolo" located in Pisa, Italy. In this case, it was possible to work with professional fencers, as this Club can be considered a pillar of the national and international fencing, which gave birth to champions such as Alessandro Puccini, Salvatore Sanzo and Simone Vanni. This is particularly important, since at professional competitive level the environmental factors may play a key role in the performance of the athletes.

The fencing hall presents a rectangular area of 390 m^2 , with a ridge height of 5.90 m, while the changing rooms and all the technical rooms are located outside the structure (Fig. 1). The building envelope is characterized by a structure composed by laminated wood beams and steel columns, covered with a single membrane PVC on the walls and a double membrane on the roof.

The investigation was carried out during spring 2019 and included both objective and subjective measurements. After a primary characterization of the thermal environment, which consisted of air temperature and relative humidity measurements in different parts of the fencing hall, all the environmental parameters (air temperature, relative humidity, mean radiant temperature and air velocity) have been detected and the individual parameters (clothing insulation and metabolic rate) evaluated. The monitoring duration was 8 days, divided in three different weeks, from 19:00 to 21:00, when adult athletes were fencing. At the end of the trainings (21:00), the questionnaires were submitted. During the campaign, 200 questionnaires have been provided to the athletes.



Fig. 1. Position of the probes in the fencing hall (above): in red, the microclimate data logger, while in green the air temperature and relative humidity data loggers. Internal (below, left) and external (below, right) view of the fencing hall.

2.2 Objective Measurements

The thermal environment can be determined through an objective approach according to different methodologies, corresponding to three Classes [13]. In this case, a Class II field study has been carried out and a Microclimate Data Logger DeltaOhm HD 32.3 was used to record simultaneously the four environmental parameters (air temperature t_a , relative humidity RH, mean radiant temperature t_r and air velocity v_a) [14]. Furthermore, values of air temperature and relative humidity have been detected in the corridor and outdoors with PCE – HT110 probe [15]. The position of the probes measuring environmental parameters are located close to the positions occupied by people, or in the center of the hall. However, there is to notice that in sport facilities locating the probes is more difficult as they may interfere with the activities carried out. In the case of fencing halls, we recommend to place the probes as close as possible to the fencing pistes and in any case far from walls, windows, etc. Values of temperature and relative humidity were also recorded in the corridor and outdoors (Fig. 1). For the

evaluation of the individual parameters (I_{cl}, M), the thermal insulation of the fencing uniform was provided by specific studies [16], while the metabolic rate was estimated specifically for the sport of fencing [17].

2.3 Subjective Measurements

The questionnaires were submitted at the end of the trainings (21:00) to all the adult athletes. Adults were asked to answer the following questions:

- 1. General information (age, gender, date, time);
- 2. Thermal sensation on ASHRAE's 7-points scale, from -3 (cold) to +3 (hot);
- 3. Thermal comfort expressed on the evaluative scale from 0 (comfort) to 4 (much discomfort);
- 4. Thermal preference expressed on a 7-points scale from -3 (much colder) to +3 (much warmer).

Questionnaires were validated observing the congruence between the answers. The subjective response was evaluated through the Thermal Sensation Vote (TSV), which can be deduced from the thermal sensation scale and through the Percentage of Dissatisfied (PD) that can be obtained from the evaluative scale. Athletes were considered dissatisfied when they were expressing 3 or 4 on the thermal comfort scale.

3 Results

Considering the thermal environment as a function of the six basic parameters (air temperature, relative humidity, air velocity, mean radiant temperature, clothing insulation and metabolic rate) measured through an objective approach, these parameters and the response of the questionnaires (TSV and PD) have to be compared.

Table 1 reports the mean value of the parameters measured from 19:00 to 21:00, when athletes were training and the subjective response obtained through questionnaires.

Environmental parameters			Individu paramete	al ers	Subjective response		
t_a (°C)	RH (%)	$t_r (^{\circ}C)$	v_a (°C)	I _{cl} (clo)	M (met)	TSV	PD
15.7	77	15.7	0.01	0.82	6	0.48	11%
17.5	75	17.5	0.01	0.82	6	0.60	30%
18.6	55	18.6	0.01	0.82	6	0.80	20%
13.7	62	13.7	0.01	0.82	6	-0.75	38%
15.4	60	15.4	0.01	0.82	6	-0.42	15%
14.3	52	14.3	0.01	0.82	6	-0.50	21%
16.5	57	16.5	0.01	0.82	6	-0.11	17%
14.9	47	14.9	0.01	0.82	6	-0.43	39%

Table 1. Mean values of environmental parameters recorded during the measurement campaign, individual parameters evaluated for fencers and subjective response obtained through questionnaires.

4 Discussion

Sport facilities can be very heterogeneous, therefore specific standards identifying the environmental parameters that should be maintained in these buildings are often provided. However, it lacks a scientific base concerning these issues, especially for the sport of fencing [2].

Preliminary results can be obtained considering fixed the values of metabolic rate (6 Met), clothing insulation (0.82 Clo), air velocity (0.01 m/s) and the mean radiant temperature equal to the air temperature (no radiant asymmetry). It results that the only environmental parameters changing are: air temperature (t_a) and relative humidity (RH). Figure 2 shows the relationship between the Thermal Sensation Vote (TSV) and these two parameters. A good correlation ($R^2 = 0.80$) between TSV and air temperature can be noticed and expressed with the following equation:

$$TSV = 0.32 \cdot ta - 5.10$$
 (1)

There is instead no evident correlation between relative humidity and TSV ($R^2 = 0.25$), therefore a range of relative humidity between 40–60% was considered acceptable.

Then, supposing admissible a range of TSV between -0.5 and +0.5, according to ISO 7730 [18], Eq. (1) gives the values of temperature that should be maintained in fencing halls:

 $t_{a,min}$ = 14.4 °C corresponding to a TSV = - 0.5

 $t_{a,max}$ = 17.5 °C corresponding to a TSV = + 0.5

It is evident that the temperatures considered acceptable by athletes are much lower if compared with people in steady state conditions (M = 1 Met), due to the high metabolic rate of the fencers (M = 6 Met). Furthermore, it is important to notice that the campaign was carried out in the early spring, thus these temperatures can be considered valid for the colder seasons (autumn-winter-spring), while in summer acclimatization may occur and athletes could feel more comfortable with higher temperatures. These aspects should be further investigated.

Considering the relation between the thermal sensation vote (TSV) and the Percentage of Dissatisfied (PD) shown in Fig. 3, it can be noticed that the minimum Percentage of Dissatisfied is attested on sensations of warmth, showing that athletes accept better warm rather than cold sensations. Qualitatively, this fact can be contemplated considering the range of temperatures between 15 °C and 18 °C, which is more in accordance with the existing Italian National Olympic Committee (CONI) guidelines [19].



Fig. 2. Relationship between air temperature (t_a), relative humidity (RH) and thermal sensation vote (TSV). In red, the optimal range of air temperature (15–18°C) and relative humidity (40–60%) found for fencing halls. In grey lines, the range of air temperature (16–20°C) and the value of relative humidity (50%) recommended by the Italian National Olympic Committee (CONI) guidelines for sport facilities [19].



Fig. 3. Relationship between Thermal Sensation Vote (TSV) and Percentage of Dissatisfied (PD) of the fencers.

5 Conclusive Remarks

As the thermal conditions are particularly relevant in sport facilities, the evaluation of the environmental parameters that should be maintained in fencing halls is specifically important, also considering the lack of the existing standards. The methodology developed in this research is fundamental as it can be applied not only to the case study, but to all the fencing halls. This research also provides a scientific base for the definition of standards that could be adopted by the Fencing Federation and presents preliminary results showing the environmental parameters that should be maintained in fencing halls. Further studies to determine the four basic parameters (air temperature, relative humidity, mean radiant temperature and air velocity) ensuring thermal comfort in fencing should be developed in order to implement the guidelines of National and International Fencing Federations, regardless the kind of building in which this sport is performed. Acknowledgments. This study has been carried out in cooperation with the fencing club "Club Scherma Pisa Antonio Di Ciolo". The authors gratefully acknowledge the trainers (in particular Enrico Di Ciolo and Simone Piccini) and all the athletes taking part to this research.

References

- 1. Gleson, M.: Temperature regulation during exercise. Int. J. Sports Med. 19, 96-99 (1998)
- 2. Fantozzi, F., Lamberti, G.: Determination of thermal comfort in indoor sport facilities located in moderate environments: an overview. Atmosphere **10**, 769 (2019)
- Reilly, T., Drust, B., Gregson, W.: Thermoregulation in elite athletes. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care. 9, 666–671 (2006)
- Kisilewicz, T., Dudzińska, A.: Summer overheating of a passive sports hall building. Arch. Civ. Mech. Eng. 15, 1193–1201 (2015)
- Rajagopalan, P., Luther, M.B.: Thermal and ventilation performance of a naturally ventilated sports hall within an aquatic centre. Energy Build. 58, 111–122 (2013)
- Bugaj, S., Kosinski, P.: Thermal comfort of the sport facilities on the example of indoor tennis court. In: Proceedings of the IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, vol. 415, pp. 11–13. Krakow, Poland (2018)
- Cianfanelli, C., Valeriani, F., Santucci, S., Giampaoli, S., Gianfranceschi, G., Nicastro, A., Borioni, F., Robaud, G., Mucci, N., Romano Spica, V.: environmental quality in sports facilities: perception and indoor air quality. J. Phys. Educ. Sport Manage. 3, 57–77 (2016)
- 8. Zora, S., Balci, G.A., Colakoglu, M., Basaran, T.: Associations between thermal and physiological responses of human body during exercise. Sports **5**, 97 (2017)
- 9. Revel, G.M., Arnesano, M.: Perception of the thermal environment in sports facilities through subjective approach. Build. Environ. 77, 12–19 (2014)
- Zhai, Y., Elsworth, C., Arens, E., Zhang, H., Zhang, Y., Zhao, L.: Using air movement for comfort during moderate exercise. Build. Environ. 94, 344–352 (2015)
- 11. Berquist, J., Ouf, M., O'Brien, W.: A method to conduct longitudinal studies on indoor environmental quality and perceived occupant comfort. Build. Environ. **150**, 88–98 (2019)
- Di Pede, M., Leccese, F., Salvadori, G., Di Ciolo, E., Piccini, S.: On the vertical illuminance in indoor sport facilities: innovative measurement procedure to verify international standardrequirements in fencing halls. In: Proceedings of the Conference Proceedings— 17th IEEE 2017 1st IEEE Conference, Milan, Italy, 6–9 June 2017
- Brager, G.S., de Dear, R.J.: Thermal adaptation in the built environment: a literature review. Energy Build. 27, 83–96 (1998)
- 14. DeltaOhm, Microclimate data logger hd 32.3. http://www.deltaohm.com/ver2012/index. php?main_page=product_info&products_id=80&language=it
- 15. PCE-HT 110 Humidity Meter for Temperature and Humidity. https://www.industrialneeds. com/technical-data/humidity-detector-PCE-HT-110.htm
- 16. Leon Paul: Hot fencer in uniform!. https://www.leonpaul.com/blog/hot-fencer-in-uniform/
- Ainsworth, B., Herrmann, S., Meckes, N., Bassett, D., Tudor-Locke, C., Greer, J., Vezina, J., Whitt-Glover, M., Leon, A.: Compendium of physical activities: a second update of codes and MET values. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 43, 1575–1581 (2011)
- 18. ISO 7730: Ergonomics of the thermal environment Analytical determination and interpretation of thermal comfort using calculation of the PMV and PPD indices and local thermal comfort criteria (2006)
- Italian National Olympic Committee (CONI): n. 1379. CONI's regulations for sport facilities (2008)



The Effects of Chemical Protective Clothing on Manual Dexterity

Peng-Cheng Sung^(⊠), Yuan-Shyi Peter Chiu, Yung-Ping Liu, and I-Lung Chen

Department of Industrial Engineering and Management, Chaoyang University of Technology, No. 168, Jifeng E. Road, Wufeng District, Taichung 41349, Taiwan, Republic of China sungpc@cyut.edu.tw

Abstract. This study evaluated the effects of wearing chemical protective clothing on manual dexterity. In addition, this study tested whether the manual dexterity measured from the protective glove only can represent the manual dexterity for the full protective clothing. The results indicated that the completing time required for the bare hand, glove only, and full protective clothing settings were 45.97 ± 5.87 , 127.36 ± 45.45 , and 129.44 ± 48.77 s, respectively. Wearing protective device (glove only and full protective clothing) decrease the manual dexterity, however, no significant differences were found between these two settings. Therefore, the traditional way which uses the glove only to establish the dexterity data can be used for selection of the full chemical protective clothing to meet the dexterity requirements.

Keywords: Manual dexterity · Glove · Chemical protective clothing · Hand protection

1 Introduction

Chemical protective clothing is used to shield or isolate individuals from the chemical, physical, and biological hazards that may be encountered during hazardous materials operations [1]. One issue related to the physical limitations imposed by using protective clothing is the selection of gloves with appropriate manual dexterity when tasks require repetitive motions. Wearing protective clothing with gloves may impair hand performances such as manual dexterity, tactile sensitivity, range of motions and strength capabilities [2, 3]. Manual dexterity is defined as the ability to make coordinated hand and finger movements in handling objects such as grasp and manipulate objects [4]. In most ergonomics studies, manual dexterity is quantified and measured based on the time or the error rates it takes to complete a task [2]. Less time and fewer errors imply better manual dexterity. The tests used to assessed manual dexterity including Pegboard test [5–7], O'Conner finger dexterity test [8, 9], Bennet hand-tool dexterity test [10, 11], and Minnesota rate of manipulation-turning test [12], etc. Published results indicate that gloved hands decrease manual dexterity by increasing the time needed to complete the task or number of errors [2]. When performing a nut-bolt-washer assembly-disassembly task, three types of gloves increased the average completion

time by 15 to 37% compared to bare hand [11]. The manual dexterity was also found decreased nearly linearly with increase in the glove thickness [13, 14]. The reduced performance on manual dexterity may be due to reduced inter-digital movements, range of motion and tactile sensitivity [15], poor contact and poor fit [2], etc. This study evaluated the effects of wearing chemical protective clothing on manual dexterity. The purpose is to test whether the manual dexterity measured for "protective glove only" condition can represent the manual dexterity measured for "full protective clothing" condition. Then, the time required to test manual dexterity for the full protective clothing for testing the manual dexterity.

2 Methods

2.1 Subjects

Twelve male volunteers free of musculoskeletal disorders/injuries (MSDs) in the upper extremities comprised the subject pool. The subject's free of MSDs status in the upper extremities was identified through interviewing during the recruiting process. All these subjects are right handed. The mean values of age, height, hand length and maximum breadth of hand for the subjects are 24.3 \pm 1.4 years, 172.1 ± 7.4 cm, 108.2 ± 6.2 mm, and 99.0 \pm 4.2 mm, respectively. Thirty-four hand and forearm dimensions [16] were recorded for each subject. The dimensions measured at the thumb included fingertip to knuckle, 1st joint to root, breadth at first joint, and depth at tip. The dimensions measured at the digits included fingertip to root, 1st joint to root, 2nd joint to root, depth at tip, breadth at first joint. In addition, maximum breadth of hand, length of hand, breadth at knuckles, depth at knuckles, circumference of hand, and circumference of forearm were measured for each subject.

2.2 Pegboard Test and Protective Clothing

Manual dexterity was measured as the time to complete 25 pins pegboard test (Fig. 1). The pins were first placed in the groove, then, the subjects picked up the pin and placed the pin into the pinholes. The placing order is from left to right and up to down. The experiments were repeated three times for each level. Level C chemical protective clothing (size L) made of plastic fabric coated with neoprene material on both sides was adopted for simulation. Figure 2 shows a subject performing the pegboard test when wearing full chemical protective clothing.

2.3 Experimental Design and Statistical Analysis

The independent variable in this experiment is protective clothing with three levels including bare hand (no protective clothing), wearing protective glove only, and wearing full chemical protective clothing (with glove). The dependent variable is manual dexterity measured as the time to complete the 25 pins pegboard test.

Analyses of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures were used to evaluate the effects protective clothing on hand dexterity. Stepwise regression with "forward selection" and "backward elimination" approaches were also used to formulate functions to predict manual dexterity from 34 hand and forearm anthropometric dimensions and age, weight, and height of the subjects. All data were analyzed for statistical significance at $p \leq 0.05$ using the SPSS 12 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois) statistical software.



Fig. 1. 25 pins pegboard



Fig. 2. Pegboard test with full chemical protective clothing

3 Results

The average completion time for the 12 male subjects under bare hand, protective glove and full protective clothing conditions are 45.97 ± 5.87 , 127.36 ± 45.45 and 129.44 ± 48.77 s, respectively (Table 1). The repeated-measured ANOVA results (Table 2) indicate that there is a statistically significant "protective clothing" effect on manual dexterity (F = 84.88, p < 0.001). The LSD post hoc analysis results (Table 3) show that the completion time for the bare hand is shorter than the other two conditions. No completion time differences were found between "wearing protective glove only" and "wearing full chemical protective clothing (with glove)" conditions.

Table 1. Completion time (in seconds) for performing pegboard test for 12 male subjects

Protective clothing	Completion time (s)			
Bare hand	45.97 ± 5.87			
Protective glove	127.36 ± 45.45			
Full chemical protective clothing	129.44 ± 48.77			

 Table 2. Repeated measures ANOVA results for the effects of protective clothing on manual dexterity

Source of Variation	SS	d.f.	MS	F ratio	Sig.
Protective Clothing	163153.241	2	81576.620	84.884	0.000
Error	67272.759	70	961.039		

Table 3. LSD post hoc analysis results for the effects of protective clothing on manual dexterity

(I) Dexterity	(J) Dexterity	Mean Difference	Std. error	Sig.	95% Confider	nce Interval
		(I-J)			Lower	Upper
					Bound	Bound
1	2	-81.389	8.459	0.000	-98.635	-64.143
	3	-83.472	8.434	0.000	-100.595	-66.35
2	1	81.389	8.459	0.000	64.143	98.635
	3	-2.083	4.107	0.615	-10.421	6.255
3	1	83.472	8.434	0.000	66.35	100.595
	2	2.083	4.107	0.615	-6.255	10.421

1: bare hand; 2: protective glove; 3: liill chemical protective clothing

Stepwise regression with "forward selection" and "backward elimination" approaches were used to formulate functions to estimate manual dexterity from 34 hand and forearm anthropometric dimensions. For the barehanded condition, ten fitted final models were created by both approaches. Table 4 shows the final model selected by this study with the highest adjusted R^2 value (0.708). The predicting variables included

in this selected model are depth at knuckles, forearm length and circumference, wrist circumference, 2nd joint to root of 2nd and 3rd digits, and depth at tip and breast at 1st joint of thumb. For the protective glove only condition, sixteen fitted final models were created by both approaches. Table 4 shows the final model selected by this study with the highest adjusted R^2 value (0.834). The predicting variables included in this selected model are breadth and depth at knuckles, forearm length, wrist circumference, 2nd joint to root of 2nd and 3rd digits, and depth at tip, breast at 1st joint, and 1st joint to root of thumb. For the full chemical protective clothing condition, eight fitted final models were created by both approaches. Table 4 shows the final model selected by this study with the highest adjusted R^2 value (0.929). The predicting variables included in this selected model are breadth and depth at knuckles, forearm length and circumference, wrist circumference, 2nd joint to root of 2nd digits, included in this selected model are breadth and depth at knuckles, forearm length and circumference, wrist circumference, 2nd joint to root of 2nd digits, breadth at 2nd joint of 3rd digits, and depth at tip, breast at 1st joint, to root of thumb.

Protective clothing	Manual dextery predicting model									Adjusted R ²			
	constant	Breadth at knuckles	Depth at knuckles	Forearm length	Forearm circumfe rence	Wrist circumfe rence	2nd digit: 2nd joint to root	3rd digit: 2nd joint to root	3rd digit: Breadth at 2nd joint	Thumb: Depth at tip	Thumb: Breadth at1st joint	Thumb: lst joint to root	
1	-47.870	-	1.780	-0.360	-0.069	0.558	-0.549	0.667	-	1.650	1.762	-	0.708
2	-8.343	6.467	-15.393	4.908	_	7.054	8.512	-2.728	_	-19.158	-17.305	-8.261	0.834
3	-370.322	-6.135	-10.469	4.213	-0.15	11.142	-16.572	-	-4.549	-26.432	-14.045	-10.751	0.929

Table 4. Parameters and anthropometric variables of manual dexterity predicting models

1: bare hand; 2: protective glove; 3: full chemical protective clothing

4 Discussions and Conclusions

This study found that the completing time of pegboard tests for bare hand, protective glove only, and full protective clothing settings were 45.97 ± 5.87 , 127.36 ± 45.5 , and 129.44 ± 48.77 s, respectively. The bare hand performs significantly better in manual dexterity than the other two settings. The results are in agreement with previous studies listed in Dianat et al.'s [2] review articles. Wearing protective clothing (glove only and full protective clothing) decrease manual dexterity, however, no significant differences were found between these two settings. Therefore, the traditional way which uses the protective glove only to establish the manual dexterity data can be used for selection of the full chemical protective clothing to meet the manual dexterity requirements. For future study, other factors such as glove material characteristics, glove thickness, and type and of protective clothing which were not evaluated in this study could be included to test their effects on manual dexterity.

The forward selection and backward elimination stepwise regression were used to select the model to predict manual dexterity using 37 anthropometric variables including 34 hand and forearm anthropometric variables and age, weight, and height of the subjects. The adjusted R^2 for the best models to predict the manual dexterity for the bare hand, protective glove only, and full protective clothing settings were 0.708,

0.834, and 0.929, respectively. It is interesting to find that both the models formulated for wearing protective clothing predict manual dexterity better than the bare hand model. In the future, the glove characteristics could also been added to test whether the predicting capabilities could be increased. The subjects use only the thumb and the 1st and 2nd digits to pick up the pins during the pegboard tests, therefore, the anthropometric dimensions measured of the 4th and 5th digits were not appeared in the models. The weight and height variables were also not seen in the final models since the pegboard tests could be categorized as light manual operation. In the future, the subject size could be expanded to include wider range of the hand and forearm dimensions. In addition, female subjects could also been recruited to evaluate the effects of gender on manual dexterity.

Acknowledgements. The authors would like to thank the National Science Council of Taiwan (Grants No. NSC 102-2221-E-324-026) and the Ministry of Science and Technology of Taiwan (Grants No. MOST 108-2221-E-324-007) for financially supporting this research.

References

- OSHA Technical Manual Section VIII: Chapter 1. Chemical Protective Clothing on the internet at. https://www.osha.gov/dts/osta/otm/otm_viii/otm_viii_1.html. Accessed 22 Jan 2020. Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Department of Labor, U.S
- Dianat, I., Haslegrave, C.M., Stedmon, A.W.: Methodology for evaluating gloves in relation to the effects on hand performance capabilities: a literature review. Ergonomics 55, 1429– 1451 (2012)
- Sung, P.C.: Effects of glovebox gloves on grip and key pinch strength and contact forces for simulated manual operations with three commonly used hand tools. Ergonomics 57(10), 1512–1525 (2014)
- 4. Makofske, B.: Manual Dexterity. In: Kreutzer, J.S., DeLuca, J., Caplan, B. (eds.) Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology. Springer, New York, NY (2011)
- Drabek, T., Boucek, C.D., Buffington, C.W.: Wearing the wrong size latex surgical gloves impairs manual dexterity. J. Occup. Environ. Hyg. 7, 152–155 (2009)
- Muralidhar, A., Bishu, R.R., Hallbeck, M.S.: The development of an ergonomic glove. App. Ergo. 30, 555–563 (1999)
- Wells, R., Hunt, S., Hurley, K., Rosati, P.: Laboratory assessment of the effect of heavy rubber glove thickness and sizing on effort, performance and comfort. Int. J. Ind. Ergonom. 40(4), 386–391 (2010)
- Berger, M.A.M., Krul, A.J., Daanen, H.A.M.: Task specificity of finger dexterity tests. App. Ergon. 40(1), 145–147 (2009)
- Johnson, R.F., Sleeper, L.A.: Effects of chemical protective handwear and headgear on manual dexterity. In: Proceedings of the 30th Annual Meeting of the Human Factors Society.
 September–3 October 1986, Dayton, OH. Santa Monica, CA: Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 994–997 (1986)
- 10. Bennett, G.K.: Hand-tool Dexterity Test. Psychological corporation, San Antonio (1981)

- Plummer, R., Stobbe, T., Ronk, R., Myers, W., Kim, H., Jaraiedi, M.: Manual dexterity evaluation of gloves used in handling hazardous materials. In: Proceedings of the 29th Annual Meeting of the Human Factors Society. 29 September–3 October 1985, Baltimorem MD. Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, pp. 819–823, Santa Monica, CA (1985)
- 12. Betts, L. (ed.): Minnesota Rate of Manipulation Test Examiner's Manual. Educational Test Bureau. Educational Publishers, Minneapolis (1946)
- 13. Bensel, C.K.: The effects of various thicknesses of chemical protective gloves on manual dexterity. Ergonomics **36**(6), 687–696 (1991)
- 14. Yao, Y., Rakheja, S., Gauvin, C., Marcotte, P., Hamouda, K.: Evaluation of effects of antivibration gloves on manual dexterity. Ergonomics **61**(11), 1530–1544 (2018)
- 15. Bishu, R.R.: Klute, G: The Effects of extra vehicular activity (EVA) gloves on human performance. Int. J. Ind. Ergonom 16, 165–174 (1995)
- 16. Okunribido, O.O.: A survey of hand anthropometry of female rural farm workers in Ibadan, Western Nigeria. Ergonomics **43**, 282–292 (2000)



Back and Shoulder Biomechanical Load in Curbside Waste Workers

Alessio Silvetti^(⊠), Lorenzo Fiori, Antonella Tatarelli, Alberto Ranavolo, and Francesco Draicchio

DIMEILA, INAIL Research Area, Monte Porzio Catone, Rome, Italy {al.silvetti,lo.fiori,a.tatarelli,a.ranavolo, f.draicchio}@inail.it

Abstract. Data from various countries (USA, Great Britain, Brazil, Italy, India, etc.) shows a significant prevalence and incidence of musculoskeletal disorders in kerbside waste collection workers. We investigated some biomechanical parameters of the task of pouring bins in collection kerb through 3DSSPP software. (v 7.0.6). Bins manual handling was investigated in four different operating modes: through 1) a lorry side window; 2) at the back of the lorry; 3) in a certified container; 4) in a non-certified container. 3DSSPP risk assessment showed that bin pouring implies a high level of biomechanical load in each of the four modes. The most dangerous mode was that in which the worker empties the bin directly into the back of the van (mode 2). 3DSSPP showed significant values of percentage of maximum voluntary contraction (%MVC) for trunk flexion (67% MVC), left shoulder abduction (30% MVC) and left wrist ulnar deviation (50% MVC). These values imply a low level of the maximum recommended exertion duty cycle (1% for trunk flexion, 3.2% for left wrist ulnar deviation). Also the balance was unacceptable. Emptying technique that showed the lowest level of risk was mode 3 (certified container) that reported 29% of MVC for trunk flexion and a maximum recommended exertion duty cycle of 13.6%. 3DSSPP showed no relevant values of orthogonal and shear forces at L4/L5 and L5/S1 levels. Finally, this technique was the only one that showed an acceptable balance. It would be desirable to design the vehicles for collection with easier access, as the operator is continuously getting on and off.

Keywords: Ergonomics · Musculoskeletal disorders · Muscle fatigue · 3DSSPP

1 Introduction

Data reported by INAIL President in the 2019 Annual Report [1] shows that musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) are on the rise. They represent the majority of complaints made to Italian Workers' Compensation Authority both as absolute values and as percentage (38,777 and 65.16% of the total in 2018).

Evidence of biomechanical overload of kerbside waste collection workers has been found all over the world: Brazil [2], Denmark [3], Netherlands [4], USA [5, 6], India [7], Great Britain [8, 9], Italy [10].

W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 237–243, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_31

Poulsen [3] in his review investigated all types of risks that waste collection workers are exposed to; he identifies as the greatest hazards, in addition to biological ones, those related to manual material handling (MMH). Guercio [10] showed similar findings. In his study, he shows that biomechanical overload is the most important apart of biohazard. According to Guercio, different factors can increase that risk: loads too heavy and uncomfortable to grasp, awkward postures and bad techniques to speed up the collection round (e.g. throwing the garbage in the collection truck).

In a laboratory research, De Looze [11] examined the load at L5/S1 level while pushing a four-wheeled container. His results show compression forces exceeding the 3400 N threshold recommended by NIOSH [12]. Similar findings were also observed in the lifting of bags and bins.

The biomechanical overload in kerbside waste workers was analyzed as metabolic and compressive force at L5/S1 by Pinder [8]. The results are consistent with the other abovementioned studies. Pinder, for biomechanical load reduction, suggests to use wheeled bins.

In 2002 an [6] conducted an epidemiological study in Florida in which he identified two main categories of health risks for waste collection workers: skin infections and MSDs. He reported that MSDs and skin infections account for about 90% of all cases of compensation by American insurance companies.

The biomechanical risk in kerbside waste workers has also been studied by Oxley [9]. Oxley found an adequate height and width of the bins used for collection whereas the bins depth was excessive. The compression force threshold at L5/S1 recommended by NIOSH [12] was always exceeded during the handling of 13 kg bins even though the lifting was performed with proper lifting techniques. Based on these data, the study proposed a lifting weight threshold, with a frequency of twice a minute for eight consecutive working hours, of 11.38 kg. This threshold is recommended also according to the MMH risk assessment guidelines of Liberty Mutual [13]. The threshold would protect 90% of the male and 20% of the female working population.

From the reported bibliography it is clear that MSDs represent a remarkable and widespread problem in kerbside waste workers.

The present paper aims to provide a biomechanical risk assessment in kerbside waste workers in a scenario that strongly differs from those of the above-mentioned research in terms of the landscape where the collection is done, trucks used and timelines.

2 Materials and Methods

The studied task was the handling of a bin containing 10 kg of glass. This task was investigated in four different modes:

- 1. handling directly in the lorry by a side window (WIN);
- 2. handling directly in the lorry from the back (POST);
- 3. handling in a certified container to be mechanically unloaded in the lorry (HOM);
- 4. handling in a non-certified container to be mechanically unloaded in the lorry (NHOM).

Video recordings were made during task simulations. From video recordings, were sampled six frames each every two seconds. The most significant frame was analyzed by 3DSSPP software (v 7.0.6) [14, 15]. Tables 1 to V show, for each handling technique, the results from 3DSSPP regarding the following parameters: orthogonal forces (ORT) and shear forces (SHE) at L4/L5 and L5/S1 level, balance, percent of maximum voluntary contraction (%MVC), Strength Percent Capable (SPC), the maximum static (continuous) allowed exertion time (Static) and the maximum duty cycle time as a percent of the exertion (%DC). The latter parameter refers to the thresholds proposed by ACGIH [16] based on the Potvin research [17] regarding muscle fatigue.

3 Results

3.1 **Orthogonal Forces – Shear Forces – Balance**

Table 1 resumes, for each of the four handling techniques, orthogonal (ORT) and shear (SHE) forces at L4/L5 and L5/S1 level values and balance conditions. Figures 1, 2, 3 and 4 show 3DSSPP reconstructions.

Orthogonal forces at L4/L5 level were between 882 N (NHOM) and 2025 N (POST), the ones at L5/S1 level were between 571 N (NHOM) and 1692 N (WIN). Shear forces at L5/S1 level were between 59 N (NHOM) e 177 N (WIN), the ones at L5/S1 level were between 120 N (POST) e 292 N (WIN). All the results were below the threshold values proposed by NIOSH (3400 N) [12] and by Gallagher (700 N) [18].

Worker's balance was acceptable for WIN technique, critical in HOM and NHOM techniques and unacceptable in POST technique.

Handling technique	Ort L4/L5	She L4/L5	Ort L5/S1	She L5/S1	Balance
WIN	1595 N	177 N	1692 N	292 N	Acceptable
POST	2025 N	125 N	1367 N	120 N	Unacceptable
НОМ	1878 N	116 N	1590 N	227 N	Critical
NHOM	882 N	59 N	571 N	215 N	Critical

Table 1. Table shows for each of the four handling techniques the results of orthogonal and shear forces at L4/L5 e L5/S1 level and workers balance.



Fig. 1. Handling directly in the lorry by directly in the lorry a side window (WIN) from the backside



Fig. 2. Handling (POST)



Fig. 3. Handling in a Fig. 4. Handling certified container (HOM)



in a non-certified container (NHOM)

3.2 %MVC – SPC – Static - %DC

Tables 2, 3, 4 and 5 summarize the most relevant 3DSSPP results regarding percent of maximum voluntary contraction (%MVC), Strenght Percent Capable (SPC), maximum static (continuous) allowed exertion time (Static) and the maximum duty cycle time as percent of the exertion (%DC).

Handling Directly in the Lorry by a Side Window (WIN). In this handling technique the results of %MVC were relevant for: wrist flexion (37% both hands) and ulnar deviation (25% right), elbow flexion (38% right), shoulders abduction (31% left, 26% right) and trunk flexion (38%).

The lowest SPC value found was relative to trunk (95%). The lowest values of maximum static exertion were those of shoulder rotation (64s left) and abduction (63s left).

The lowest values of maximum duty cycle time (%DC) were those of wrist flexion (7.9% for both limbs), elbow flexion (7.5% right) and trunk flexion (7.4%).

Table 2. Table shows the most relevant 3DSSPP results from Fig. 1 of %MVC, SPC, Static and%DC. L stands for left side, R stands for right side.

%MVC	SPC	Static	%DC
wrist flex L 37% R 37%	wrist 98%	wrist flex L 82s R 82s	wrist flex L 7.9% R 7.9%
wrist ul R 25%	torso 95%	wrist ul R 154s	wrist ul R 18.3%
elb flex R 38%		elb flex R 76s	elb flex R 7.5%
shou rot L 31%		shou rot L 64s	shou rot L 12.4%
shou abd L 31% R 26%		shou abd L 63s R 88s	shou abd L 12.2% R 17.4%
tor flex 38%			tor flex 7.4%

Handling Directly in the Lorry from the Back (POST). In this handling technique, the results of %MVC were relevant for wrist ulnar deviation (50% left), elbow flexion (73% left), left shoulder abduction (30% left), trunk flexion (38%).

The lowest SPC values found were relative to trunk (87%), elbow and knee (91%).

The lowest values of maximum static exertion were those of wrist (51s left), elbow flexion (18s left) and shoulder abduction (65s left).

The lowest values of maximum duty cycle time (%DC) were those of wrist ulnar deviation (3.2% left), elbow flexion (0.6% left), shoulder abduction (12.7% left) and trunk flexion (1%).

Table 3. Table shows the most relevant 3DSSPP results from Fig. 2 of %MVC, SPC, Static and%DC. L stands for left side, R stands for right side

%MVC	SPC	Static	%DC
wrist ul L 50%	wrist 94%	wrist ul L 51s	wrist ul L 3.2%
elb flex L 73%	elbow 91%	elb flex L 18s	elb flex L 0.6%
shou abd L 30%	torso 87%	shou abd L 65s	shou abd L 12.7%
tor flex 67%	knee 91%		tor flex 1%
knee flex L 51% R 53%			
ankle flex L 38% R 42%			
Handling in a Certified Container to be Routinely Unloaded in the Lorry (HOM). With this handling technique results of %MVC were relevant for: wrist flexion (35% left; 51% right), shoulder rotation (66% left; 40% right) and trunk flexion (29%).

The lowest SPC value found was that of shoulder (93%).

The lowest values of maximum static exertion were from wrist flexion (50s right) and shoulder rotation (16s left; 39s right). The lowest values of maximum duty cycle time (%DC) were from wrist flexion (9.1% left; 3% right), shoulder rotation (1.1% left; 6.4% right) and trunk flexion (13.6%).

Table 4. Table shows the most relevant 3DSSPP results from Fig. 3 of %MVC, SPC, Static and %DC. L stands for left side, R stands for right side

%MVC	SPC	Static	%DC
wrist flex L 35% R 51%	wrist 94%	wrist flex L 90s R 50s	wrist flex L 9.1% R 3%
shou rot L 66% R 40%	shoulder 93%	shou rot L 16s R 39s	shou rot L 1.1% R 6.4%
shou abd R 22%		shou abd R 117s	shou abd R 22.7%
tor flex 29%			tor flex 13.6%

Handling in a Non-certified Container to be Mechanically Unloaded in the Lorry (NHOM). With this handling technique results of %MVC were relevant for: wrist flexion (29% left; 45% right) and ulnar deviation (32% left), shoulder rotation (35% left; 63% right) and abduction (25% right).

The lowest SPC value was that of shoulder (95%). The lowest values of maximum static exertion were from wrist flexion (61s right) and shoulder rotation (52s left; 17s right).

The lowest values of maximum duty cycle time (%DC) were those of wrist flexion (14.4% left; 4.7% right), ulnar deviation (11.4% left; 24.5% right) and rotation (22.7% right). Noteworthy were also values of shoulder rotation (9.6% left; 1.3% right) and abduction (18% right).

%MVC	SPC	Static	%DC
wrist flex L 29% R	wrist 96%	wrist flex L 125s R	wrist flex L 14.4% R
45%	shoulder	61 s	4.7%
wrist ul L 32% R 21%	95%	wrist ul L 105s R 206 s	wrist ul L 11.4% R
shou rot L 35% R 63%		shou rot L 52s R 17 s	24.5%
shou abd R 25%		shou abd R 91s	wrist rot R 22.7%
tro flex 7%			shou rot L 9.6% R 1.3%
			shou abd R 18%

Table 5. Table shows the most relevant 3DSSPP results from Fig. 4 of %MVC, SPC, Static and %DC. L stands for left side, R stands for right side.

4 Discussion

Scientific literature has shown that in kerbside waste collection biomechanical load is high and widespread.

The various workplaces and working techniques make it hard to use standardized protocols for manual material handling risk assessment. For these reasons we investigated bin handling using biomechanical parameters of 3DSSPP software.

3DSSPP results software did not show values exceeding the thresholds proposed by NIOSH [12] and Gallagher [18] for orthogonal and shear forces at L4/L5 and L5/S1 level in each of four handling technique we studied. However, our study was aimed to investigate the handling of a bin and not all the tasks as to go up and down from the collection truck and carrying wheeled bins. The weight we choosen (10 kg) was below the threshold of 11.38 kg recommended by Oxley [9] in a eight-hour shift.

SPC values were all over 90% but trunk value in POST handling technique was 87%. MVC percentages in POST handling were: 73% (left elbow flexion), 67% (trunk flexion), 53% right and 51% left (knee flexions) and 42% right and 38% left (ankle flexions). The POST handling technique, among the four investigated, had the highest values of %MVC. As for trunk flexion, the technique with the lowest %MVC was NHOM. HOM handling technique had a higher %MVC of trunk flexion (29%) than NHOM (7%) due to the narrow size of the certified container, resulting in a higher worker's trunk flexion.

Results for the maximum %DC are related to %MVC and postures adopted from the different body districts. Also for this parameter the lowest values, indicating an increased risk of biomechanical load, are all in the POST handling technique: left elbow flexion (0.6% of DC) and trunk flexion (1% of DC). In WIN handling technique the noticeable %DC were those concerning the shoulders: rotation (12.4% of DC left) and abduction (12.2% of DC left; 17.4% of DC right). On the other hand NHOM handling technique was overloading, for both wrists, in flexion (4.7% right; 14.4% DC) and ulnar deviation (24.5% right; 11.4% left). In HOM handling technique %DC was notably low for shoulder rotation (6.4% right; 1.1% left).

Our research highlighted main biomechanical risk factors when handling waste bins. To reduce biomechanical risk in waste collection, it would be advisable to redesign the collection equipment to avoid workers to raise shoulders near to physiological limits and to reduce trunk flexion.

Based on this data, POST handling technique, followed by WIN and NHOM techniques, is considered to be more risky overall. The least stressful technique is the HOM one, but it also presents problems concerning trunk flexion. Furthermore HOM handling technique presents organizational problems. The reduced capacity of the container would lead to a considerable increase of the collection round duration as already showed in two studies by Ziaei and by Camada [19, 20]. To solve this problem, it would be useful to replace the certified container with a larger one, manufactured with a durable component to allow to be mechanically emptied in the truck.

Further investigations are needed to investigate biomechanical load and energetic cost of whole task with surface electromyography and heart rate monitor to study net and relative cardiac cost.

References

- INAIL Relazione annuale 2018 del Presidente (2019). https://www.inail.it/cs/internet/docs/ alg-appendice-statistica-relazione-annuale-anno-2018.pdf. Accessed 10 Jul 2019
- Robazzi, M.L.C.C., Moriya, T.M., Favero, M., et al.: Garbage collectors: occupational accidents and coefficients of frequency and severity per accident. Ann. Agric. Environ. Med. 4(1), 91–96 (1997)
- Poulsen, O.M., Breum, N.O., Ebbehoj, N., et al.: Collection of domestic waste. Review of occupational health problems and their possible causes. Sci. Total Environ. 168(1), 33–56 (1995)
- Kuijer, P.P., Hoozemans, M.J., Kingma, I., et al.: Effect of a redesigned two-wheeled container for refuse collecting on mechanical loading of low back and shoulders. Ergonomics 46, 543–560 (2003)
- Dorevitch, S., Marder, D.: Occupational hazards of municipal solid waste workers. Occup. Med. 16(1), 125–133 (2001)
- An, H., Englehardt, J., Fleming, L., et al.: Occupational health and safety amongst municipal solid waste workers in Florida. Waste Manag. Res. 17, 369–377 (2002)
- Reddy, E.M., Yasobant, S.: Musculoskeletal disorders among municipal solid waste workers in India: a cross-sectional risk assessment. J. Fam. Med. Prim. Care 4(4), 519–534 (2015)
- 8. Pinder, A.: Manual handling in refuse collection HSL/2002/21, pp. 1-5 (2002)
- 9. Oxley, L., Pinder, A., Cope, M.: Manual handling in kerbside collection and sorting of recyclables. HSL/2006/25 (2006)
- Guercio, N., Fioretti, P., Frusteri, L., Giovinazzo, R., Incocciati, E., Todaro, N.: La sicurezza per gli operatori della raccolta dei rifiuti e dell'igiene urbana, pp. 31–32. INAIL Editor (2009). https://www.inail.it/cs/internet/docs/alg-sicurezza-per-gli-operatori-della-raccoltadei-rifiutipdf.pdf. ISBN 978-88-7484-156-1
- 11. De Looze, M.P., Stassen, A.R.A., Markslag, A.M.T.: Mechanical loading on the low back in three methods of refuse collecting. Ergonomics **38**(10), 1993–2006 (1995)
- 12. Waters, T., Putz-Anderson, V., Garg, A. (eds.): Applications manual for the revised lifting equation, (DHHS/NIOSH) Pub. no. 94–110. Cincinnati, Ohio, CDC, NIOSH (1994)
- 13. Liberty Mutual: Manual Materials Handling Guidelines. Tables for Evaluating Lifting, Lowering, Pushing, Pulling and Carrying Tasks. Liberty Mutual Group, Hopkinton (2004)
- Chaffin, D.B., Erig, M.: Three–dimensional biomechanical static strength prediction model sensitivity to postural and anthropometric inaccuracies. IIE Trans. 23(3), 215–227 (1991)
- Chaffin, D.B.: Biomechanical Modeling for Simulation of 3D Static Human Exertions Computer Applications in Ergonomics, Occupational Safety and Health. Elsevier Publishers, Amsterdam (1992)
- 16. ACGIH. TLVs and BEIs. 2015. 202-204 ISBN 978-1-607260-77-6
- 17. Potvin, J.: Predicting maximum acceptable efforts for repetitive tasks: an equation-based on duty cycle. Hum. Factors **54**(2), 175–188 (2012)
- 18. Gallagher, S., Marras, W.S.: Tolerance of the lumbar spine to shear: a review and recommended exposure limits. Clin. Biomech. 27(10), 973–978 (2012)
- Ziaei, M., Choobineh, A., Abdoli-Eramaki, M., Ghaem, H.: Individual, physical, and organizational risk factors for musculoskeletal disorders among municipality solid waste collectors in Shiraz. Iran. Ind. Health 56(4), 308–319 (2018)
- Camada, I.: Heavy physical work under time pressure: the garbage collection service- a case study. Work 41(Suppl 1), 462–469 (2012)



Ergonomic Approaches to Reduce the Risk of a Manual Material Handling Task in a Brazilian Poultry Slaughterhouse

Adriana Seára Tirloni^(⊠), Diogo Cunha dos Reis, and Antônio Renato Pereira Moro

Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil adri@tirloni.com.br

Abstract. This case study aimed to analyze the ergonomic risk of a manual material handling task and the effects of simulated interventions to reduce risks. The task of picking up boxes on the conveyor belt and putting them on the trolley of the freezing tunnel sector was selected intentionally. Two Brazilian poultry slaughterhouse workers positioned four boxes (7–18 kg) on each of the 11 shelves for 453 min daily. The vertical (0.25–1.75 m) and horizontal distances (0.45 m) and grip quality (poor) were collected. International Standards and the Variable Lift Index (VLI) software were employed. The average mass handled per worker was 11.7 kg (<25 kg), however, the results recommended weight limits of 2.1–5.5 kg for different heights. The cumulative mass lifted was 35,333 kg/worker/day (limit-10 tons), and 2,849 boxes/worker/day, consequently, the lifting frequency was 6.3/min, and VLI was 4.99 (very high). Performing job rotation with eight workers, ideal vertical area and box weights of 7–8 kg, VLI was 0.80.

Keywords: Manual handling · Slaughterhouse · Ergonomics · Job rotation

1 Introduction

Brazil is the largest exporter and the second producer of poultry in the world [1]. According to OSHA [2], poultry processing jobs have many ergonomic-related risk factors, including forceful exertion. A systematic review identified that a heavy workload and the load accumulation or lift frequency were moderate to strong risk factors for low back pain (LBP) in workers [3]. As stated by the U.S. Department of Labor, the amount of physical effort to perform a demanding task as heavy lifting may lead to the development of musculoskeletal disorders in poultry slaughterhouse workers [2].

Overall, studies have shown that slaughterhouse workers experienced musculoskeletal symptoms in the lower back, 66.7% [4] and 43.5% [5], as well as association between perception of bodily discomfort and performance of repetitive tasks [6]. Additionally, researchers consider the work in poultry slaughterhouses as a moderate risk for developing upper-limb work-related musculoskeletal disorders (UL-WMSDs) [7]. Therefore, in order to guarantee the safety, health and quality of life in slaughterhouses, in 2013, the Brazilian Regulatory Standard 36 was established, setting general requirements for this economic sector, along with providing requisites for the manual transportation and lifting of products and loads [8]. However, statistical data showed that in 2017, the branch of slaughtering pigs, poultry, and other small animals was 3rd place among the sectors that most developed occupational diseases in Brazil [9].

In relation to manual material-handling, the risk-assessment model presented in ISO-11228 – "Part 1: Lifting and carrying" can allow the estimation of the risk associated with this task [10], furthermore affording an ergonomic approach to remove or reduce the risk of a manual handling injury.

This paper is justified because although manual material handling (MMH) is common in slaughterhouses, few studies were found that evaluated the risk of handling and lifting loads in slaughterhouses using the ISO 11228-1 method [11, 12]. Likewise, the objective of this study was to analyze the ergonomic risk of a MMH task in a Brazilian slaughterhouse and accomplish simulations to reduce risks.

2 Method

This cross-sectional observational study was conducted in a slaughterhouse in the Midwest of Brazil, with 326 workers in which 111,000 chickens were slaughtered per day in two work shifts. The research was approved by the local Committee of Ethics in Research with Human Beings, protocol n° 2098/201. Participants worked in the freezing tunnel sector with an artificially cold environment (0 to 9 °C) and the manipulated chilled products (<7 °C). Workers used personal protective equipment provided by the slaughterhouses. Work shift duration was 528 min, excluding 60 min for meal break. Workers performed 3 × 20 min of rest breaks and 15 min of uniform change, totaling 453 min of lifting and carrying in their daily work.

The task analyzed was selected intentionally because when workers put the boxes on the trolley, they adopted hazardous postures in a cold environment. In the real condition, two workers (18–45 years old) per work shift completed this task, and each box was lifted only once by the worker. The task was initiated when the worker picked up the boxes on the conveyor belt at a height of 0.95 m (Fig. 1A) and put them on the trolley (Fig. 1B) of the freezing tunnel sector. The worker positioned four boxes on each of the 11 shelves. The height of the first shelf was 0.25 m and the last was 1.75 m with 0.15 m intervals between them (Fig. 1A). The carrying distance was about 1 m, the horizontal distance was 0.45 m and the boxes weighed 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 18 kg.

In this study, the variable-task manual lifting was analyzed, it is defined as a lifting task in which both the geometry and load mass vary in different lifts performed by the worker(s) in the same period (Fig. 1A) [13].

To evaluate the risk associated with a MMH task, the ISO 11228 - Ergonomics - Manual handling - Part 1: Lifting and carrying [10] was employed. An initial screening of the task by following five steps (Table 1) and an evaluation of the ideal conditions for MMH were carried out, in order to verify if it is acceptable. The step model describes the following procedures [10]: Step 1 – mass of object to be lifted \leq reference mass

(population group) and ideal condition?; Step 2 – mass and frequency < limits?; Step 3 – mass of object < limits derived by the Equation 1?; Step 4 – cumulative mass <10000 kg?; Step 5 – cumulative mass and distance of carrying < limits?

The ideal conditions for MMH include ideal posture, a firm grip on the object and a favorable environmental condition [10]. As the participants were from the adult working population, the reference mass (m_{ref}) adopted was 25 kg [10]. To calculate the recommended limit for the mass (m_R) of the object, the NIOSH method was applied [10]. The object to be handled may constitute a hazard because of its mass or resistance to movement, its size, shape or rigidity or the absence of handgrips [10]. In this research, the grip quality for the handled boxes was considered poor ($c_M = 0.90$).



Fig. 1. Description of manual handling task (A - picking up the box on the conveyor belt; B - putting the box on the trolley).

Document ISO/TR 12295:2014 that guides users through the ISO 11228 series was employed in this study [13]. The analyzed task in this paper includes complex types of the lifting task, since it is advised to use the Variable Lifting Index (VLI). It is noteworthy that LI is equal to the ratio between the actual lifted mass (m_A) and the corresponding recommended limit for the mass (m_R) [13]. Additionally, the result is considered an acceptable condition when m_A is \leq m_R and LI is \leq 1, but >1 constitutes a risk. NIOSH method was used to determine the suggested weight limit (m_R) at the origin (picking up the boxes) and destination heights (putting down the boxes).

Simulated interventions (SI) were performed progressively to reduce the risk of VLI: SI.1 - increase the number of workers per shift to diminish the individual cumulative mass (≤ 10 tons); SI.2 - eliminate 3 shelves of the trolley, 1 upper and 2 lower; SI.3 - allow lifting only in ideal area (vertical heights: 0.51-1.25 m) [13]; SI.4 - eliminate boxes of 18 kg by redistributing their total mass into 15 kg boxes; SI.5 - exclude boxes of 18 and 15 kg by redistributing their total mass into 14 kg boxes; and finally, SI.6 - perform job rotation with tasks without MMH (limit manual lifting time to 50% of work shift; 226 min; medium duration - 1 h < t \leq 2 h of continuous lifting task) (Table 2).

A digital camcorder was used to film the workers performing the task. Researchers collected the measurements of vertical and horizontal distances of shelves and conveyor belt using a measuring tape. Documents regarding work organization, daily production of one week and environmental condition were provided by slaughterhouse management team. To evaluate the Variable Lifting Index (VLI), the free software NIOSH VLI High Precision was used [14], conforming to the ISO 12295:2014 [13].

The data were analyzed descriptively, the work conditions were qualitatively evaluated, and the results of simulated interventions were annotated for later comparisons.

3 Results

According to the production data, two workers per work shift handled 5346 ± 412 boxes daily, totaling 60858.8 ± 5648.2 kg. Analyzing each lift individually and considering the different heights at the origin and destination, the m_R was lower than the average m_A handled per worker (boxes) (11.7 kg). At the origin, the m_R was from 2.8 kg (0.25; 0.40; 1.6; 1.75 m) to 5.5 kg (1.0 m) and at the destinations were from 2.1 kg (1.75 m) to 5.4 kg (1.0 m). The screening of the task found that this manual handling was unacceptable and needed adaptation, since m_A was higher than m_R at different heights at the origin and destination of the boxes (step 3), in addition, the cumulative mass was higher than recommended (step 4) (Table 1).

Of the twelve criteria described as ideal conditions for MMH [10], six were unfulfilled and inappropriate: cold environment temperature, poor grip quality, floor was uneven and slippery, cold temperature of the products, vertical displacement of the loads in a non-ideal area, and the loads were not kept close to the body.

In order to evaluate possible solutions, ergonomic approaches were carried out through simulated interventions (Table 2). Results of the simulated interventions show that VLI in the real condition was 4.99, with very high risk, in which interventions of the redesign task and workplace should be performed immediately (Table 2). As the total cumulative mass of lifting and manual carrying should never exceed 10 tons/worker/day, whichever is the daily duration of work [10], it took eight workers per shift performing this lift to meet this requirement (step 4).

Comparing the values of VLI of the simulated interventions with the real condition, the interference that resulted on the smaller VLI was SI.5 with eight workers, risk reduction of 69.3%. Nonetheless, with the same number of workers, without reducing the box weights (SI.3), the diminution was 62.3% and performing job rotation (SI.6) was 67.3%. On the other hand, the intervention that had the lowest risk reduction (1.6%) was SI.2 with two workers per shift (Table 2). Alternatively, performing only job rotation with two workers (manual lifting up to 50% of work shift) the VLI was 3.01, a risk reduction of 39.7% in relation to the real condition.

Multiplier factors/steps	References*	Study data	Met
m _{ref} - Reference mass (steps 1 and 2)	Men: 18–45 years; $m_{ref} = 25 \text{ kg}; f < 9$ lifts/min	$m_A = 11.7 \pm 3.4 \text{ kg}^a$ f = 6.3 lifts/min	Yes Yes
m _{cum} - Cumulative mass (steps 4 and 5)	$\begin{array}{l} 10,000 \text{ kg/day} \\ \text{Distance } \leq 10 \text{ m} \end{array}$	35333 kg/worker/day Distance < 1 m	No Yes
h _m - Horizontal distance multiplier	$h \leq 0.63 \text{ cm}$	$h = 0.45 m; h_m = 0.55$	Yes
v_m - Vertical location multiplier, Limits for the mass of objects (step 3)	$\begin{array}{l} 0 < v \ \leq \ 1.75 \ m \\ m_A \ \leq \ m_R \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} Origin - v = 0.95 \text{ m};\\ v_m = 0.94\\ Destination - v = 0.25-\\ 1.75 \text{ m}; v_m = 0.93 -\\ 0.70; m_R = 2.1-5.5 \text{ kg};\\ m_A = 11.7 \text{ kg}; m_A > m_R \end{array}$	Yes Yes No
d _m - Vertical-displacement multiplier	$d~\leq~1.75~m$	d = 0.05 - 0.80 m; $d_m = 1.72 - 0.87$	Yes
α_m - Asymmetry multiplier	$\alpha \leq 135^{\circ}$	$\alpha = 0^{\circ}; \alpha_{\rm m} = 1$	Yes
f_m - Frequency multiplier of the lifting task	Long duration: 2 h < lifting task \leq 8 h; f _m > 0	$\begin{array}{l} \text{6.3 lifts/min;} \\ \text{f}_{\text{m}} = 0.27 \end{array}$	Yes
c _m - Coupling multiplier	Poor; $c_{\rm m} = 0.90$	Poor; $c_{\rm m} = 0.90$	Yes

Table 1. Multiplier factors that comprised the risk-assessment and step model fulfillments.

^{*} Method [10, 13]; ^abox weight; m_A – actual lifted mass; m_R – recommended weight limit.

In order to reach the VLI ≤ 1 , simulations with 8 workers carrying out the job rotation (with tasks without MMH), lifting at ideal heights and with the progressive weight reduction of the boxes were performed (Table 3). Only after redistributing the entire cumulative mass of the boxes from 9–18 kg to 7 and 8 kg, the VLI reached a score of 0.80 (acceptable condition without risk of musculoskeletal disorders) [13]. Though, a reduction of 80.6% has already been found for the borderline (yellow) condition. Although, in the acceptable condition, there was a 46.5% increase in the number of lift/min/worker in relation to the condition of the boxes with the original weights (Table 3).

4 Discussion

MMH is a risk factor for the development of low back pain (LBP) in workers [2–4, 12]. Brazilian data showed that 10.7% of all records for occupational diseases were related to back pain and other disorders in intervertebral discs [9]. Increase the number of workers was the first ergonomic approach adopted, however, it should be noted that there are often limitations in relation to the physical space to insert more workers.

Workers	Cumulative	Lifts/	Lift/		Vari	iable Lif	t Index -	VLI	
workers	mass/worker ^A	worker ^B	min [#]	SI.1	SI.2	SI.3	SI.4	SI.5	SI.6
2	35333	2849	6.29	4.99*	4.91	3.50	3.25	3.24	2.21
3	23555	1899	4.19	3.42	3.38	2.52	2.29	2.15	1.81
4	17666	1424	3.14	2.95	2.86	2.23	1.98	1.84	1.73
5	14133	1139	2.52	2.68	2.65	2.10	1.83	1.70	1.69
6	11778	950	2.10	2.57	2.52	2.02	1.74	1.62	1.67
7	10095	814	1.80	2.47	2.44	1.97	1.68	1.57	1.65
8	8833	712	1.57	2.40	2.39	1.88	1.65	1.53	1.63

Table 2. Simulated interventions (SI) for reducing the Variable Lift Index (VLI).

SI.1 – cumulative mass reduction; SI.2 – cumulative mass reduction and three heights; SI.3 – cumulative mass reduction and lift at ideal heights; SI.4 – cumulative mass reduction, lift at ideal heights and 18kg box elimination; SI.5 – cumulative mass reduction, lift at ideal heights and 15 and 18kg box elimination; SI.6 – cumulative mass reduction, lift at ideal heights and manual lifting up to 50% of work shift; * Real condition – two workers/shift; * Refer to SI.1 - SI.5; ^B Refer to SI.1, SI.2 and SI.3; # Refer to SI.1, SI.2, SI.3 and SI.6; Purple – very high risk (VLI > 3), Red – high risk ($2 < VLI \le 3$), Red – moderate risk ($1 < VLI \le 2$) [14].

In agreement with quick assessments, the lift frequency per min was not a critical condition (<9) for work with long duration (>2 h), but it was a repetitive task (6.3 lift/min) and the risk was classified as very high. The job rotations in real condition can be an option to reduce the risk (VLI) without increasing the number of workers, accordingly, the work pace (lift/min) will remain the same. The effects of the applied interventions must be analyzed periodically, because only then, will the changes be verified as positive or not in reducing the risks. In the rotation simulation, the risks of the lifting task were minimized, however, the task without MMH should be evaluated and adequate, if necessary, to mitigate the total occupational risks.

Table 3. Simulated interventions with job rotation and reducing the weight of the boxes.

Simulated interventions with job rota- tions (MMH - 226 min; M _{cum} = 4417 kg/worker)	N lifted object /worker/shift	Lift/m in	VLI	Reduction in rela- tion to real condi- tion (%)
Original weight of the boxes (7-18kg)*	356	1.57	1.63	67.3
Eliminated 15 and 18kg boxes	364	1.61	1.28	74.3
Eliminated 11 to 18kg boxes	424	1.88	0.97	80.6
Eliminated 10 to 18kg boxes	466	2.06	0.89	82.2
Eliminated 9 to 18kg boxes	520	2.30	0.80	84.0

* SI.6; Risk classification [14]: Purple – very high risk (VLI >3); Red – high risk ($2 < VLI \le 3$); Red – moderate risk ($1 < VLI \le 2$); Yellow - borderline ($0.85 < VLI \le 1$); Green - acceptable (VLI ≤ 0.85).

In this research, the workers were exposed to hazardous postures (extreme reaches). Notwithstanding, when performing the SI.2 (elimination of three shelves), the VLI decreased the risk by only 1.6% compared to the real condition. On the other hand, when the MMH was carried out at an ideal height (0.51-1.2 m), it reduced to 29.9%

(SI.3). Despite the SI.2 result, the SI.3 shows that excessive joint amplitudes should be avoided during the work [8, 10]. The use of excessive force during the performance of tasks should be refrained, as it increases the risk level of exposure of the worker [8]. A study analyzing repetitive tasks in slaughterhouses found that due to the high demand for required strength to perform certain tasks, the risk level of the activity could not be reduced by only decreasing the work pace [7]. To solve step 3, the masses of 18 and 15 kg were distributed in 14 kg boxes, but this intervention did not reduce the risk level (VLI > 3) (SI.5). This occurred because the average m_A of the boxes was 212 to 557% higher than the m_R at different heights when depositing the boxes. Therefore, in order to achieve a borderline VLI (\leq 1), it would also be necessary to reduce the box weights (force applied) in addition to correcting other inadequacies.

The very cold environmental temperature was a critical condition [13] verified in the work sector. Studies have found that even while using PPE, most of the slaughterhouse workers presented temperatures of <24 °C in the hands, as well as inadequate thermal insulation [15]. A study of 925 slaughterhouse workers established a significant association between perception of bodily discomfort and cold perceptions (OR = 2.05; 95% CI 1.44 to 2.91) [6]. The vertical displacement of the load was a critical condition, whereas occurred below the knees and above the shoulders [10]. For these two critical conditions, the recommended limits for cumulative mass for carrying (10 tons) should be substantially reduced at least by one-third [10]. Thus, the employer should provide technical means of reducing the risk, complemented with information and appropriate training with respect to work-related risks, nonetheless, it is emphasized that information and training alone will not ensure safe manual handling [10].

5 Conclusion

The task has been classified at an unacceptable level of risk and needs adaptation. Recommended weight limits were lower than actual limits and the handled individual cumulative mass was >10 tons. After carrying out all possible simulated interventions, acceptable MMH conditions were achieved. However, this only occurred in the job rotation intervention of eight workers, performing lifts in an ideal area and considerably reducing the weight of the boxes. It shows that as the risk of the task analyzed is very high, an ergonomic intervention must address several risk factors, as an action focusing on only one risk factor is insufficient to eliminate them. These ergonomic solutions often require physical space and human resources, often unavailable. Therefore, another alternative for the elimination of risks may be automation, in this case, the implementation of an automatic carton freezer.

References

- 1. ABPA. Annual Report 2018. ABPA, São Paulo (2018) http://abpa-br.com.br/storage/files/ final_abpa_relatorio_anual_2018.pdf
- 2. OSHA. Prevention of musculoskeletal injuries in poultry processing [Internet]. United States of America (2013). https://www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3213.pdf

- 3. Heneweer, H., Staes, F., Aufdemkampe, G., van Rijn, M., Vanhees, L.: Physical activity and low back pain: a systematic review of recent literature. Eur. Spine J. 20, 826–845 (2011)
- Kaka, B., Idowu, O.A., Fawole, H.O., Adeniyi, A.F., Ogwumike, O.O., Toryila, M.T.: An analysis of work-related musculoskeletal disorders among butchers in Kano metropolis, Nigeria. Saf. Health Work 7, 218–224 (2016)
- Mansi, S.: Prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders among slaughterhouse workers. J. Phys. Rehabil. Med. Forecast. 2(1), 1010 (2019)
- Tirloni, A.S., Reis, D.C., Borgatto, A.F., Moro, A.R.P.: Association between perception of bodily discomfort and individual and work organisational factors in Brazilian slaughterhouse workers: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open 9, e022824 (2019)
- Reis, D.C., Tirloni, A.S., Moro, A.R.P.: Risk assessment of upper limb musculoskeletal disorders in a poultry slaughterhouse. In: Arezes, P. (ed.) Advances in Safety Management and Human Factors. AHFE 2019, vol. 969, pp. 265–272. Springer, Cham (2020)
- Brasil. Ministério do Trabalho. Norma Regulamentadora NR 36 Segurança e saúde no trabalho em empresas de abate e processamento de carnes e derivados. Portaria MTE no. 555, de 18 de abril de 2013. Brasília – DF (2013)
- 9. Anuário Estatístico de Acidentes do Trabalho. Ministério da Fazenda, Brasília (2017)
- International Organization for Standardization (ISO). Ergonomics Manual Handling Part 1: Lifting and carrying. Geneva: ISO 2003. Standard No. 11228–1 (2003)
- Botti, L., Mora, C., Regattieri, A.: Improving ergonomics in the meat industry: a case study of an Italian ham processing company. In: IFAC Symposium on Information Control in Manufacturing INCOM, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 598–603. Elsevier, Amsterdam (2015)
- Tirloni, A.S., dos Reis, D.C., Dias, N.F., Moro, A.R.P.: Ergonomic risk evaluation of the manual handling task of bovine quarter in a Brazilian Slaughterhouse. In: Proceedings of the AHFE 2019 International Conference on Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, vol. 967, pp. 57–69, Springer, Cham (2020)
- International Organization for Standardization (ISO). Ergonomics Application document for International Standards on manual handling (ISO 11228-1, ISO 11228-2 and ISO 11228-3) and evaluation of static working postures (ISO 11226). Switzerland: ISO; 12295 (2014)
- 14. EPM. NIOSH VLI High Precision. Free software in English (2017). http://www.epmresearch.org/a57_free-software-in-english.html
- 15. Tirloni, A.S., Reis, D.C.D., Dias, N.F., Moro, A.R.P.: The use of personal protective equipment: finger temperatures and thermal sensation of workers' exposure to cold environment. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health **15**, 2583 (2018)



Ergonomic Assessment of the Lifting Tasks Performed by North Indian Workers in LPG Cylinder Distribution Supply Chain

Sachin Kapur and Mahender Singh Kaswan^(⊠)

School of Mechanical Engineering, Lovely Professional University, Jalandhar 144411, Punjab, India mahi622@rediffmail.com

Abstract. Lifting is considered as the most stressful activity in manual material handling and leads to musculoskeletal disorders. The present work was performed to evaluate the lifting index and the risk of low back pain among workers involved in lifting of Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) cylinder. 40 workers working in 3 modes of transportation of liquefied petroleum gas cylinders in north India were investigated with the help of the NIOSH lifting equation. The results revealed that 100% of the workers have performed under different levels of risk as their LI > 1. 22.5% were under low risk, 32.5% of workers were under medium risk and 45% of the workers were under high risk. The present work reveals that there is a need to redesign the lifting tasks by reducing the horizontal distance of lifting of cylinders and reducing the weight of the cylinder.

Keywords: Ergonomics \cdot Supply chain \cdot NIOSH Lifting index \cdot ANOVA \cdot LPG cylinder

1 Introduction

Handling is defined as holding, grasping, or working with the hands. In manual material handling the involvement of fingers is only to that level that they act as an extension of the hand: to change the gears of an automobile [1]. Handling according to ergonomic guidelines for manual material handling tells that the person's hands move individual load manually by either lifting or lowering. Workers are exposed to physical conditions (force, unwanted postures, and repetitive movements) that may cause injuries to workers and waste their energy and time. These problems can be avoided if the organization takes advantage of improving the fitness between the demands of worker job tasks and the capabilities of its workers [2]. Workers' performance may vary from task to task because of their demographics like age, physical health, physical strength, gender. Most industrial plants are not automated and material handling processes are carried out manually [3]. Physical demands for the workers are different for different tasks. By implementing, documenting and upholding proper procedures and policies workplaces can help workers to perform these tasks safely and with ease.

The back is a complex structure of bone and muscle, supported by cartilage, tendons, and ligaments, and fed by a network of blood vessels and nerves. The back especially the lumbar, or lower back bears much of the body's weight during human activities like lifting, lowering, walking, and running. Muscles and bones of the back are involved in the disintegration of the lower back. Forty percent of people at any time in their lives are affected by lower back pain. Back injuries comprised 32% of all injuries reported but consumed more than 40% of all workers' compensation [4]. Generally, movements of lifting, twisting of the torso, or forward-bending cause lower back pain. The symptoms of lower back pain start soon after the repetitive movements or when getting up in the morning. Lower back problem is generally a complaint. Skeletal problems such as sprains are believed to be the cause of lower back pain. Abdominal fat, pregnancy weight gain, stress, bad physical health condition, awkward posture, and awkward sleeping position are also the reasons that may lead to low back pain. Low back pain is a universal fact and a general human experience as almost particularly everyone has low back pain at some time in their lives regardless of age and gender.

Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) is an important consumable of the government. LPG usage has increased manifold since its inception in 1955. As per data available of 2011 Hindustan petroleum gas has over 3.3 crore LPG customers catered and taken care of by 2630 gas distributors [5]. HP Gas is the branded product of HPCL which is helping the consumers for cooking and industrial purposes. There are 44 LPG Bottling Plants in India with a total production capacity of about 3550 TMTPA [6]. To maintain the product quality the gas delivered to the end consumer after passing through a series of checks at each point starting from production and bottling to distribution. Safety is the first consideration of any oil marketing company [7].

2 Literature Review

Manual material handling and load lifting approaches were used for the review of the literature [8]. The various sources for the research include Google and yahoo search engine. The search was done using the terms manual lifting, NIOSH Lifting index. In 1981 when the NIOSH lifting equation was published for calculating the limits of recommended weights for manual lifting and lowering job tasks, numbers of companies and industries have applied the NIOSH equation to identify the risky tasks having a very high lifting index for the worker [8]. Psychophysical criteria and measured the rate of oxygen consumption, anthropometric parameters, and heart rate were reported [9]. Accepting criteria for the jobs for the RWL, the 1981 NIOSH equation was less restrictive as compared to the NIOSH lifting equation [10]. NIOSH played a critical role in interpreting the results of the equation [11]. The different criteria like physiological, psychophysical and biomechanical were cross-verified and validated for establishing the limits of manual lifting for NIOSH with the data of different researchers [12]. The validity of the load constant for the Korean population was evaluated using the psychophysical approach [13]. The modeling of human factors was done through biomechanical approach and software [14]. The large increase in risk with a large range of exposure parameters and measurement of the exposures was observed. The diagnostic system based on an artificial neural network that classified

industry tasks according to lower back disorder risk was designed [15]. The system can be informative in the prevention of injury due to manual handling in the industry environment. Fuzzy set theory to distribute the load corresponding to the various levels of heaviness [16]. The results showed that inter-observer variability was very small for the horizontal distance and the least accuracy was observed for the measurement of asymmetric and coupling parameters. In 1999, an evaluation of four industrial sites was studied with the help of the NIOSH lifting equation [17]. Correlation between LI and lower back pain was done with regression analysis. It was reported the ability to lift loads is not dependent on the capability to perform the manual material handling task [18]. It was reported material handling tasks can be simulated by the biomechanical models and the prediction of the stresses on the back can be done while designing the tasks of manual materials handling in the industry [19]. The systematic review of the literature, in the field to identify problems, recommended practices and unresolved issues of cleaning problems [20]. The effectiveness of mechanical lifting aid in single task lifting of fire brick manufacturing company was investigated [21]. The relationship between low back injury risk and work factors in the casting industry was investigated [22]. Lifting index was used as a potential factor for the risk level of a low back injury.

2.1 Research Gaps

From the Literature survey above that most of the work done in advanced and economically developed countries and little work has been reported in the lifting of very heavy loads and across the supply chain of distribution of liquefied petroleum gas. Economically developed countries have gas pipelines for the supply of gas at home. Manual handling of cylinders which are very heavy in weight is done in India as compared to advanced countries where automation is there in the handling of LPG cylinders. The chapter reported the study by various researchers related to back pain, and biomechanical, physiological criteria for evaluation of workers.

3 Methodology

The work methodology adopted in the present work consists of six phases.

Step 1: Apprehend the employees about the methodology and the technique of the study.

Step 2: Visualize the cylinder lifting task and have a clear idea of that operation by videotaping and taking photographs.

Step 3: Interview the cylinder lifting workers on their task previous history and body part pain, ache.

Step 4: Analyzing the videotape and taking a snapshot of the task.

Step 5: A tape measure was used to measure the lifting height, horizontal distance, and distance. The weight of the cylinder was printed on the cylinder and was noted from the cylinder itself.

Step 6: NIOSH lifting equation was used for calculating the potential risk involved with the task.

NIOSH Lifting Equation:

$$RWL = LC \times HM \times VM \times DM \times AM \times FM \times CM$$
(1)

3.1 Procedural Steps to Calculate the LI Using NIOSH Lifting Equation

Step 1: Measure and Record Task Variables

The first step is to gather the needed information and measurements for lifting task variables and record the data to be used later to calculate the RWL and LI for the tasks being evaluated.

Step 2: Calculate the Multipliers

Each multiplier should be computed from the appropriate formula from Table 1. The multipliers or penalties or reduction coefficients are calculated using the task variables in Table 1.

		Metric	The US. customary
Load Constant	LC	23 kg	51 lbs.
Horizontal Multiplier	HM	(25/H)	(10/H)
Vertical Multiplier	VM	1-(0.003 V-75)	1-(0.0075 V-30)
Distance Multiplier	DM	0.82 + (4.5/D)	0.82 + (1.8/D)
Asymmetric Multiplier	AM	1-(0.0032 A)	1-(0.0032 A)

Table 1. Multiplier equations

Step 3: Calculate the RWL using the NIOSH lifting equation.

Step 4: Conduct the risk assessment by calculating the LI for the cylinder lifting/lowering task.

4 Results and Discussion

Table 3 presents descriptive demographic data and statistics regarding the workers and their historical exposure in their current cylinder distribution jobs (Tables 2 and 4).

Worker profile parameters	Mean	S.D	Range
Age (years)	33.92	12.15	18–63
Body Height (cm)	171.42	4.0	163–180
Body Weight (kg)	77.95	7.37	62–95
Job experience (years)	7.67	5.44	2–25
Weight Lifted (kg)	25.815	7.47	16-30.2

Table 2. Statistics of worker

LI	Potential risk	Action	The physical stress of job task
	level	lequileu	
0-1	No	No	Not stressful
1-2	Low	Yes	Moderately stressful
2–3	Medium	Yes	Highly stressful
>3	High	Yes	Very highly stressful. Ergonomic intervention and job
			redesign required

Table 3. Risk associated with the lifting index

Multipliers	HM mean	VM mean	DM mean	AM mean	FM mean	CM mean
Truck	0.63	0.90	0.88	0.90	0.68	0.99
3wheeler	0.63	0.84	0.89	0.85	1	0.99
Cycle rickshaw	0.58	0.841	0.94	0.93	1	0.99

Table 4. Multiplier mean cylinder supply mode wise

4.1 Statistical Analysis of Data Using Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

It is a collection of statistical models used to analyze the differences between group means and their associated procedures (such as "variation" among and between groups), developed by R.A. Fisher [23]. In the ANOVA setting, the observed variance in a particular variable is partitioned into components attributable to different sources of variation. In its simplest form, ANOVA provides a statistical test of whether or not the means of several groups are equal [24] (Table 5).

Source of variation	Degrees of freedom	SS	MSS	F Ratio
Between	3 - 1 = 2	SSC = 5.99	5.99/2 = 2.995	F = 2.995/1.8475 = 1.621
groups				
Within groups	40 - 3 = 37	SSE = 68.36	68.36/37 = 1.8465	
Total	39	74.36		

Table 5. Statistic from the ANOVA test

Value (Critical value): F (2, 37) = 3.25. Since 1.621 < 3.25 we accepted the null hypothesis that there is no significant difference between the Lifting Index of Truck, 3 wheeler and Cycle rickshaw modes of cylinder supply workers.

5 Conclusion

Analysis of the results concludes that there is a need to redesign the job task. The workers of the cylinder distributors should lift the cylinder close to the body so that the horizontal distance is reduced. If possible automation should be provided for the lifting of cylinders. The weight of the cylinder should be reduced by using cylinders with less LPG gas or cylinders should be made of lighter material. The results also show that 100% of workers are at risk of developing low back pain with 45% of the workers having unsafe LI > 3. The overall mean LI of sample is 3.14 which suggests that cylinder lifting job is physically highly stressful. Hence ergonomic intervention is required. Around 52.5% of the workers reported lower back pain.

References

- Brinham, C., Garg, A.: The role of biomechanical job evaluation in the reduction of overexertion injuries. In: 23rd Annual American Industrial Hygienists Association Conference, pp. 138–144. American Industrial Hygiene Association Press, Fairfax (1983)
- Chaffin, J., Page, G.: Postural effects on biomechanical and psychophysical weight lifting limits. Ergonomics 37, 663–676 (1993)
- Chaffin, D.B.: Primary prevention of low back pain through the application of biomechanics in manual materials handling tasks. GItal Med LavErgon 27(1), 40–50 (2005). The University of Michigan, USA, Ann Arbor 8109-2117
- Dempsey, P., Fathallah, F.: Application issues and theoretical concerns regarding the 1991 NIOSH equation asymmetry multiplier. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 23, 181–191 (1999)
- Elfeituri, F., Taboun, S.: The effects of working in restricted workspaces on lifting Capacity. In: Lee, G. (ed.) Advances in Occupational Ergonomics and Safety, pp. 95–100. IOS Press, Amsterdam (1999)
- Gerri, F., Mani, L.: Work-related low back pain prim care. Primary Care: Clin. Office Pract. 27(4), 865–876 (2000)
- Genaidy, A., Karwowski, W., Christensen, D., Vogiatzis, C., Deraisheh, N., Prins, A.: What is 'heavy'? Ergonomics 41, 420–432 (1998)
- Hidalgo, J., Genaidy, A., Karwowski, W., Christensen, D., Huston, R., Stambough, J.: A cross-validation of the NIOSH limits for manual lifting. Ergonomics 38, 2455–2464 (1995)
- Hidalgo, J., Genaidy, A., Karwowski, W., Christensen, D., Huston, R., Stambough, J.: A comprehensive lifting model: beyond the NIOSH lifting equation. Ergonomics 40, 916–927 (1997)
- Honsa, K., Vennettilli, M., Mott, N., Silvera, D., Niechwiej, E., Wagar, S., et al.: The efficacy of the NIOSH (1991) hand-to-container coupling factor. In: Proceedings of the 30th Annual Conference of the Human Factors Association of Canada, pp. 158–253. Human Factors Association of Canada, Calgary (1998)
- Jager, M., Luttmann, A.: A critical survey on the biomechanical criterion in the NIOSH method for the design and evaluation of manual lifting tasks. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 23, 331–337 (1999)
- Karwowski, W.: Comments on the assumption of the multiplicity of risk factors in the draft revisions of the NIOSH lifting guide. In: Kumar, S. (ed.) Advances in Industrial Ergonomics and SAFETY IV, pp. 905–910. Taylor & Francis, London (1992)

- Marras, W.S., Karwowski, W. (eds.): The Occupational Ergonomics Handbook, pp. 1063– 1074. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2000)
- Karwowski, W., Pongpatanasuegsa, N.: Linguistic interpretation in the human categorization of load heaviness. In: Proceedings of the 11th Congress of the International Ergonomics Association, pp. 425–427. Taylor & Francis, London (1991)
- Leskinen, T., Haijanen, J.: Torque on the low back and the weight limits recommended by NIOSH in simulated lifts. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Symposium on 3-D Analysis of Human Movement (session 4, paper no. 7). Université Joseph Fourier, Grenoble, France (1996)
- Lee, K.S., Park, H.S., Chun, K.S.: The validity of the revised NIOSH weight limit in a Korean young male population: a psychophysical approach. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 18(2–3), 181– 186 (1996)
- 17. Mital, A.: Maximum weight of lift acceptable to male and female industrial workers for extended work shifts. Ergonomics **27**, 1115–1126 (1984)
- Mital, A., Ramakrishnan, A.: A comparison of literature-based design recommendations and experimental capability data for complex manual materials handling activity. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 24, 73–80 (1999)
- Chung, M.K., Kee, D.: Evaluation of lifting tasks frequently performed during fire brick manufacturing processes using NIOSH lifting equations. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 25(4), 423–433 (2000)
- Nussbaum, M., Chaffin, D., Page, G.: A biomechanical investigation of the asymmetric multiplier in the revised NIOSH lifting equation. In: Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society 39th Annual Meeting, pp. 709–713. Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, Santa Monica (1995)
- Norrish, A., Cryer, P.: Work-related injury in New Zealand commercial Fishermen. Br. J. Ind. Med. 47, 726–732 (1990)
- 22. Snook, S., Ciriello, V.: The design of manual handling tasks: revised tables of maximum acceptable weights and forces. Ergonomics **34**, 1197–1213 (1991)
- Kaswan, M.S., Rathi, R., Singh, M.: Just in time elements extraction and prioritization for health care unit using a decision-making approach. Int. J. Qual. Reliab. Manag. 36, 1243– 1263 (2019)
- 24. Waters, T., Putz-Anderson, V., et al.: Revised NIOSH equation for the design and evaluation of manual lifting tasks. Ergonomics **36**, 749–776 (1993)



Research on the Influence of Physical Environment in Civil Aircraft Cabin on Seat Comfort

Jian-Ping Chen¹, Jin-Yi Zhi^{2(⊠)}, Zhi-Ruo Lin³, Jin Wang², and Li-Li Zhang¹

 ¹ The Second Research Institute of Civil Aviation Administration of China, Chengdu 610041, China
 ² School of Architecture and Design, Southwest Jiaotong University, Chengdu 610031, China 281356710@qq.com
 ³ Research Institute of Economics and Management, Southwest University of Finance and Economics, Chengdu 611130, China

Abstract. The physical environment of the aircraft cabin is the basic factor influencing the comfort experience of air passengers. In order to clarify the influence path of the cabin physical environment factors on the passenger comfort experience. Exploratory factor analysis methods and structural equation models are used to explore the effects of environmental factors such as temperature, humidity, brightness, noise, vibration, and air pressure on seat comfort and cross-group analysis is used to explore whether the above paths are affected by passenger gender and Influence of body shape. The results show that the overall fitting indexes of the model meet the critical conditions and the routes described in the model have significant effects on passengers of different genders and shapes. The research results provide a reference for the study of the relationship between the factors affecting the comfort. Research are beneficial to the improvement of comfort experience of aircraft cabin.

Keywords: Aircraft cabin \cdot Comfort \cdot Structural equation model \cdot Cross-Group analysis

1 Introduction

The global air passenger volume is increasing year by year, achieving an annual growth rate of 6.1% in 2018 with a total passenger volume of more than 4.3 billion [1]. Aircraft comfort has become not only an important manifestation of market differentiation between airlines and aircraft manufacturers, but also an important means of market competition [2]. Zhang et al. [3] find that discomfort is related to physical factors in the environment, and comfort is more related to additional and enjoyable experience. Bubb [4] proposes a pyramid of uncomfortable feeling, believing that comfort is seriously influenced by unpleasant smell, followed by physical factors such as luminance, noise and climate, and service factors are located at the top of the pyramid in business

competition. Therefore, physical environment is the basic factor affecting the experience of cabin comfort.

It has been confirmed that environmental factors such as noise, temperature and humidity can affect the comfort of civil aviation passengers in many studies [5–8], but there is no study on how such factors affect the comfort of passengers. Seats are the facilities contacting with passengers in the longest time in the cabin. Richards and Jacobson [9] and Blok et al. [10] point out that seats are the most important factor affecting the comfort of passengers. Therefore, seat comfort is selected as the representative factor of passenger comfort in this paper, and exploratory factor analysis method and structural equation model are used to explore the impact of physical environment factors on seat comfort. In addition, cross-group analysis method is used to explore whether the above path is affected by the gender and body shape of passengers. In this way, it provides theoretical basis to improve seat comfort and passenger comfort.

2 Research on Aircraft Cabin Comfort Based on Structural Equation Model

2.1 Structural Equation Model

Structural equation model includes measurement model and structural model: the former describes how measurement variables express potential variables through confirmatory factor analysis; and the latter analyzes the relationship between measurement variables and potential variables through multiple regressions [11]. Chen [12] uses structural equation model to analyze the relationship among the service quality, perceived value, satisfaction and behavioral intention, so as to clarify the path and the importance of factors that affect the behavior choice of passengers. Lee et al. [13] use structural equation model to quantify the impact and value of comfort factors on high-speed train ride comfort. The structural equation model can be used to analyze the structural relationship among factors affecting cabin comfort.

2.2 Structural Equation Model for the Influence of Physical Environment Factors on Seat Comfort

The physical environment factors of the cabin mainly include vibration, temperature, humidity, luminance, noise, and air pressure. The factors that affect the comfort of cabin seats mainly include the geometric parameters of seats related to anthropometry, the operation performance of seat auxiliary facilities, and seat aesthetics. The structural relationship is analyzed between physical environment factors and seat comfort factors by the following steps:

Step 1: Constructing the structural relationship model between the physical environment factors and the seat comfort factors based on the relevant theoretical research;

Step 2: Drawing the hypothetical model in Amos GraphicsTM software;

Step 3: Correlating the comfort survey data of the physical environment factors and seat factors of the aircraft cabin with the model map, and fitting the model with *"Calculate Estimates"* function;

Step 4: Verifying according to the fitting indicators, and modifying the model to improve the fitting degree.

3 Case Study

3.1 Data Acquisition

A questionnaire survey was conducted on the cabin comfort of narrow body aircraft in two flights of a traditional airline. The flight routes were the same, both being mediumdistance trunk flights without obvious delay. Questionnaires were distributed after the plane had flown smoothly. Finally, 226 valid questionnaires were collected, with an effective rate of 72%. There were 6 items on physical environment factors and 28 items on seat factors.

3.2 Factor Analysis

Exploratory factor analysis was used to reduce the dimension of items in the questionnaires, which made preparations for the construction of structural equation model. Based on the standard that the total variance was greater than 70%, two factors of physical environment and five factors of seats were selected finally. The items and scores of such factors are shown below (Table 1):

Factor category	Factor overview	Corresponding item	Factor score
Physical	Environmental factor 1 (N1)	Temperature	.874
environment		Humidity	.830
		Luminance	.813
	Environmental factor 2 (N2)	Noise	.884
		Vibration	.870
		Air pressure	.742
Seat	Comfort of skin contact (N3)	Backrest transverse concave surface	.731
		Sitting transverse concave surface	.706
		Hard or soft seat	.638
		Size of small table	.635
		Handrail size	.621
		Fabric breathability	.599
		Lumbar support	.591
		Touch and comfort of surface material	.575
		Head support	.503

Table 1. Summary of model factors

(continued)

Factor category	Factor overview	Corresponding item	Factor score
	Comfort of body support (N4)	Seat width	.730
		Seat depth	.705
		Backrest width	.668
		Backrest height	.667
		Knee length	.635
		Seat height	.582
		Maximum backrest inclination	.538
	Perception of quality safety (N5)	Stable seat adjustment device	.796
	Stable seat support structure	.780	
	Round seat corners	.761	
		Safe seat gap	.631
		Seat belt	.594
	Assistant operation fluency (N6)	Armrest operation	.688
		Operation of small table	.671
		Setting of book and newspaper holders	.643
		Backrest adjustment degree	.539
	Aesthetics perception of seats	Delicacy of seats	.756
	(N7)	Suitable color of seats	.684
		Harmonious overall shape of seats	.508

Table 1. (continued)

The results indicate that environmental factors and seat comfort can be represented by factors of different dimensions. Specifically, environmental factors can be divided into two categories: those without obvious changes inside and outside the cabin and those with obvious changes inside and outside the cabin. The former includes the perceived comfort of temperature, humidity and luminance, while the latter includes the perceived comfort of noise, vibration and air pressure. Seat comfort can be represented by five dimensions: comfort of skin contact, comfort of body support, perception of quality and safety, assistant operation fluency and aesthetics perception of seats.

3.3 Model Construction and Analysis

Based on the results of exploratory factor analysis, the structural equation can be constructed to explore how the environmental factors in different dimensions affect the seat comfort in different dimensions. After testing, the data are in the normal distribution, the VIF values are all less than 2, satisfying the requirement of being less than 5, indicating that there is no serious multicollinearity. Therefore, the experimental data satisfy the linear regression hypothesis, and the structural equation method can be used to explore the possible influence relationship between the above factors. The results show that the coefficients of each path are significant, and the fitting indicators of the whole model satisfy the critical conditions, as shown in Table 2. Finally, the model of the influence of physical environment on seat comfort is obtained (Fig. 1).

Indicators	CMIN/DF	RMSEA	NFI	RFI	IFI
Index value	2.759	0.056	0.920	0.911	0.948
Critical value	1–3	<0.08	>0.9	>0.9	>0.9

Table 2. Fitting indicators of model



Fig. 1. The model of the influence of physical environment on seat

In order to further explore whether the characteristics of passengers will affect the above model, the cross-group analysis method is used for the model.

3.4 Cross-Group Analysis

When the cross-group analysis is conducted by genders, P value is 0.261, less than 0.5, indicating that gender has an impact on the above model. In addition, P values for path coefficients in each group are all less than 0.001, indicating that the path described by the model has a significant impact on passengers of different genders. Specifically, when the path coefficient is larger at male or female and the influence of the path on the gender is greater, as shown in Table 3.

Path			Male	Female	Р
N2	\rightarrow	N1	.660	.622	***
N2	\rightarrow	N4	.531	.620	***
N2	\rightarrow	N5	.514	.570	***
N5	\rightarrow	N6	.691	.782	***
N4	\rightarrow	N6	.607	.476	***
N6	\rightarrow	N7	.951	.965	***
N5	\rightarrow	N3	.525	.660	***
N4	\rightarrow	N3	.866	.797	***

Table 3. Summary of path coefficients by genders in cross-group analysis

Note: * represents p < 0.05, ** represents p < 0.01, and *** represents p < 0.001

When the cross-group analysis is conducted by body shapes, P value is 0.009, less than 0.5, indicating that body shape has a significant impact on the above model. In addition, P values for path coefficients in each group are all less than 0.001, indicating that the path described by the model has a significant impact on passengers of different body types. Specifically, when the path coefficient is larger at thin, ordinary or fat, the influence of the path on the gender is greater, as shown in Table 4.

Path			Thin	Ordinary	Fat	Р
N2	\rightarrow	N1	.528	.675	.595	***
N2	\rightarrow	N4	.687	.576	.418	***
N2	\rightarrow	N5	.520	.507	.512	***
N5	\rightarrow	N6	.772	.747	.474	***
N4	\rightarrow	N6	.677	.565	.563	***
N6	\rightarrow	N7	.860	.979	1.031	***
N5	\rightarrow	N3	.775	.516	.430	***
N4	\rightarrow	N3	.752	.835	1.116	***

Table 4. Summary of path coefficients by body shapes in cross-group analysis

Note: * represents p < 0.05, ** represents p < 0.01, and *** represents p < 0.001

4 Conclusion

The structural equation model is constructed to explore how physical environment of the cabin affects seat comfort, and the cross-group analysis is used to explore the influence of different genders and body shapes on the model. The results reveal that vibration, noise and air pressure affect the comfort of body support, which affects the comfort of seat assistant operation fluency and skin contact; vibration, noise and air pressure affect the perception of quality safety, which affects the fluency of assistant operation and skin comfort; and the assistant operation fluency affects the aesthetic perception of seat. The path described by the model has a significant influence on passengers of different genders and body shapes. The research results provide a theoretical basis for the improvement of cabin comfort.

References

- 1. IAtA. 2018 World Air Transport Statistics. Montreal: International Air Transport Association (2019)
- Wang, J., Zhi, J.Y., Chen, J.P., et al.: Review and outlook of cabin comfort of civil aircraft. J. Mach. Des. 36(09), 121–126 (2019)
- Zhang, L., Helander, M.G., Drury, C.G.: Identifying factors of comfort and discomfort in sitting. Hum. Factors 38(3), 377–389 (1996)
- 4. Bubb, R.: Sitting comfort. IQPC Aircraft Interior Innovation, Hamburg (2008)

- Mellert, V., Baumann, I., Freese, N., et al.: Impact of sound and vibration on health, travel comfort and performance of flight attendants and pilots. Aerosp. Sci. Technol. 12(1), 18–25 (2008)
- Brindisi, A., Concilio, A.: Passengers' -comfort modeling inside aircraft. J. Aircraft 45(45), 2001–2008 (2015)
- Ciloglu, H., Alziadeh, M., Mohany, A., et al.: Assessment of the whole body vibration exposure and the dynamic seat comfort in passenger aircraft. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 45, 116–123 (2015)
- 8. Huang, Y., Jiang, W.: The effect of exposure duration on the subjective discomfort of aircraft cabin noise. Ergonomics **60**(1), 18–25 (2017)
- 9. Richards, L., Jacobson, I.: Ride quality assessment III: questionnaire results of a second flight programme. Ergonomics **20**(5), 499–519 (1977)
- Blok, M., Vink, P., Kamp, I.: Comfortabel vliegen: comfort van het vliegtuiginterieur door de ogen van de gebruiker. Tijdschrift voor Ergonomie. 4(32), 4–11 (2007)
- 11. Qureshi, S.M., Kang, C.W.: Analysing the organizational factors of project complexity using structural equation modelling. Int. J. Proj. Manag. **33**(1), 165–176 (2015)
- Chen, C.F.: Investigating structural relationships between service quality, perceived value, satisfaction, and behavioral intentions for air passengers: evidence from Taiwan. Transp. Res. Part A 42(4), 709–717 (2008)
- 13. Lee, J.H., Jin, B.S., Ji, Y.: Development of a structural equation model for ride comfort of the Korean high-speed railway. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. **39**(1), 7–14 (2009)



Ergonomic Methods Adaptation for Risk Evaluation Associated to Musculoskeletal Disorders in Elderly Indigenous Women of the Ecuadorian Highlands

Alejandra Lascano^{$1(\square)$}, Thalia San Antonio¹, Anita Larrea¹, and Marco Ciaccia²

¹ Universidad Técnica de Ambato, Ambato, Ecuador {am.lascano, t. sanantonio, anitallarea}@uta.edu.ec
² Universidad Técnica del Norte, Ibarra, Ecuador mciaccia@utn.edu.ec

Abstract. In Ecuador, agriculture is an activity of social and economic relevance perform mainly by indigenous women. In previous studies ergonomic evaluations done to daily activities of these women yielded in all cases high physical workload. Elderly women of these communities show severe spinal deformations which are believed to be related to workload. Ergonomic methods are aimed for industrial and administrative environments, with limited application for unstructured labors. The evaluated activities are performed in poor environmental and safety conditions. The aim is to adapt an ergonomics method to enable the asassertively determination of risk level of the evaluated activities. The proposed method is based on REBA and assess forced postures and loads handling and transportation, calculating a unique ergonomic risk value and showing similar results when load is carried symmetrically and within the permissible weight limits; however, when these factors are not met the modified method allows to increase the risk factor.

Keywords: Ergonomic methods \cdot Musculoskeletal disorders \cdot Indigenous women \cdot REBA

1 Introduction

At global scale, the musculoskeletal system damages due to work have been acknowledged as one of the main causes of work absenteeism; these damages include a set of conditions involving tendons, nerves, and muscles. Epidemiological studies establish that risk factors, such as repetitive tasks, overexertion, load handling and its frequency, transporting heavy objects, adopting forced postures for a prolonged time, disergonomic work stations, exposure to cold, static loads, among others, contribute to the development and occurrence of these type of damages [1].

Back pain is the musculoskeletal disorder that is most commonly associated to work absenteeism, with a global incidence of 51.9%, which is significantly higher in workers over the age of 50, women, and people who are exposed to greater domestic loads [2].

There is also a greater incidence of this condition among workers involved in manual activities (54.9%). Suffering from back pains has shown to reduce the ability to perform personal and work activities, and they entail direct and indirect costs; therefore, studying them and their causes is considered of great importance [3].

In Ecuador, a population of indigenous women from the highlands was studied to relate severe spine deformations in elder women with workload; therefore, ergonomic assessments (REBA, GINSHT, JSI & LEST), were conducted in order to determine the risk level due to the exposure to forced postures and loads. As a result, it is stated that the applied methods focus on industrial and administrative tasks and that in unstructured jobs, such as the ones of indigenous women, they are unable to properly assess risks or to propose adequate solutions [4]. The AWBA (Agricultural Whole Body Assessment) [5] method is also applied in the study, it focuses on the ergonomic assessment of upper and lower limbs in agricultural work, which is the main activity of indigenous women. AWBA was also unable to accurately assess high risk levels [4].

The aim of this study is to adapt known ergonomic methods in order to more accurately assess and determine the risk level to which indigenous women are exposed and to use this information as a basis to propose recommendations that are adapted to the context and culture of the studied population.

2 Materials and Methods

This investigation is conducted using a non-probabilistic sample of 40 indigenous women over the age of 60 who belong to the communities that are located in the higher areas of Quisapincha parish, Tungurahua province, in the Ecuadorian highlands. All the assessed women wear a lumbar belt as part of their traditional clothes, which is called *chumbi*, and it consists of a series of woven ribbons that are firmly fastened around the waist. They carry out a wide variety of daily activities, mainly domestic work, sowing-and harvesting-related activities, and farm animals caring.

The studied women carry out all the activities without using any safety or protection equipment; they carry small children on their backs (see Fig. 1) and work out-doors, at an average altitude of 4,050 m.a.s.l., and an annual average temperature of 7 °C [7].

Eight activities were selected for the ergonomic assessment: (1) Kneeling washing clothes, (2) Handling fertilizers, (3) Harvesting potatoes, (4) Standing up washing clothes, (5) Tilling the soil while carrying her child on her back, (6) Washing radishes, (7) Carrying bulk of potatoes of approx. 100 lbs. on her back, (8) Fumigating with a tank on her back.

For assessing and determining the risk levels related to postural load, repetitiveness, trunk angles, upper and lower limbs, handled loads, transportation distances and grip type, several known methods (RULA, REBA, GINSHT y AWBA) were applied, focusing on their sensitivity for assessing the difficult analyzed tasks. It was determined that the assessment is unable to discriminate the risk level in most of the cases [6, 7].

In order to provide more sensitivity to risk determination in the uppermost area, the most suitable method, REBA, is modified [7]. The modified method is called MREBA, and it is applied to all the activities; then, the results are compared to the ones obtained with the known methods, in order to validate the modified method.



Fig. 1. Photos of indigenous women performing agricultural work while they carry children fastened to their backs with a blanket.

3 Results

In the selected tasks, we can see women performing repetitive movements while adopting inadequate postures, women performing domestic and agricultural tasks while carrying a child on their backs, frequent trunk rotations, and transportation of considerable loads, which are moved and pushed with a bent back, all of which make it difficult to assess activities with traditional ergonomic methods.

To propose the MREBA, the REBA is first applied, as this method was selected because it suits the study objectives better. Then the changes made to REBA are described and justified:

1. Modification of the partial scores of Group A (trunk, neck, legs)

It is considered necessary to include specific characteristics in load handling by indigenous women, as their usual activities consist of regularly handling heavy loads, such as sacks of agricultural products that range between 20 and 50 kg; also, they perform many of their activities with a child fastened to their backs.

When they perform the activities, we could see that they lift loads from the ground, with extended arms, in a standing, sitting or kneeling position. We could also see that the lifting is performed with a twisted and/or rotated trunk and asymmetrical load, and that the working period is over 8 h. All these remarks are detrimental in terms of ergonomics and health.

It is proposed to consider the body weight of the persons performing the activity, which is based on the studies conducted on load handling [8–11], where it is established that the recommended load must be approximately 10% of the body weight, and that the upper weight limit must be one eighth (12,5%) of the body weight, considering that the load may be carried on the upper or lower portion of the back, on one shoulder or on one hand.

Regarding the metabolic expense, the results show that carrying a load on one hand results in maximum metabolic expense increases [8] and that there is a relationship between the presence and intensity of pain and the weight of the load [11].

MSD, specially lower back pain, are associated to the transportation of loads and ground typology, as well as load grip or fastening characteristics; indigenous women generally carry loads on their backs and walk long distances with them along roads and harvest fields that are characterized by having a slope of up to 45°, as seen on Fig. 2. These tasks require a coactivation process to stabilize the spine while increasing muscle activity and, therefore, put compression and cutting loads on intervertebral discs [12]; the latter intensify according to the inclination and rotation angle of the trunk and load weight, size, and shape [13, 14]. Therefore, this is a risk factor in pathologies, such as back pain. When considering the metabolic expense, it is understood that the greater the land slope, load, or traveled distance, the greater the metabolic cost [15].



Fig. 2. Indigenous women of the Ecuadorian highlands carrying a load on their backs; 2a: sack of vegetables that weights approximately 100 lb; 2b: fumigation tank that weights approximately 50 lb; 2c: bulk of grass that weights approximately 30 lb.

Based on all these statements, the partial score of Group A is modified. The calculation of this score in REBA and how it is modified is shown below:

REBA: for a load or force below 5 kg. with a score of 0, the load or force between 5 and 10 kg. with a score of +1 and the load or force above 10 kg. with a score of +2. In addition, if the force is suddenly applied, one additional unit must be added to the score above.

MREBA: for a load or force below 10% of the body weight with a score of 0, the load or force between 10% and 12.5% of the body weight with a score of +1 and the load or force above 12.5% of the body weight with a score of +2. In addition, if the load is carried walking uphill, the score increases +1; if loads are carried asymmetrically, the score increases +1; if it is carried on the back, the score increases +1.

2. Modification regarding daily transported load limits and distances

In order to consider the total weight of the load handled on a daily basis, as well as the travelled distance, and on the basis of the GINSHT method, the Total Daily Transported Weight (PTTD), defined as the total kilos that the worker transports on a daily basis [11], is included, and it is calculated with the following Eq. (1):

$$PTTD = Real weight \times Handling frequency \times Total task duration$$
(1)

Then, the PTTD value is used to determine if the risk is Tolerable or Not Tolerable, as detailed in Table 1.

Transportation distance	Transported kilos/day (recommended maximum)	Risk
Up to 10 m	PTTD \leq 10,000 kg	Tolerable
	PTTD > 10,000 kg.	Not Tolerable
More than 10 m	PTTD \leq 6,000 kg	Tolerable
	PTTD > 6,000 kg	Not Tolerable

Table 1. Daily transported load limits for an 8-h shift, depending on the distance [16].

Once the modifications and adaptations are made to the method, it is applied to the 8 tasks and compared to traditional methods (Table 2), showing the comparison between the risk levels of the different assessment instruments, including MREBA. The results show that, in the case of tasks 1, 3, 4 and 6, where there is no load transportation, the results are similar concerning postural load. Now, for task 2, the risk level per postural load with REBA and MREBA es medium; however, when assessing the risk factor per load transportation with MREBA, a not tolerable risk level is obtained because the transported load exceeds the daily load limit.

For task 5, the risk level per postural load with REBA and MREBA is different, going from a High to a Very High level, respectively, because in the MREBA, the fact that the load is carried on the back as well as the load weight to body weight ratio are taken into account. This shows that, while scores are not different to a great extent, the MREBA has a greater sensitivity when calculating risk level, and it is consistent with the AWBA when it comes to load transportation, due to the short distance.

For the tasks 7 and 8, the analysis is consistent with that of task 5 when comparing REBA and MREBA and AWBA; however, when it comes to load transportation including the PTTD of the GINSHT method, the MREBA yields a result of a Not Tolerable risk level, since the relationship between the real transported weight with the handling frequency and the total duration of the task exceed the recommended limits.

Task	REBA	RULA	AWBA	MREBA		Recommendation	
	S (1–15);	S (1–7);	RL	S (1–15);	Load		
	AL (0–4)	AL (1–4)	(1-4)	AL (0-4)	transportation		
1. Kneeling washing clothes	S 10; AL 3 RL high	S 7 RL 4	RL 4 Very high	S 10; AL 3 RL high	NLT	Posture with harmful effects for the MES. Corrective actions are required as soon as possible	
2. Handling fertilizers	S 7; AL 2 RL medium	S 7 RL 4	RL 4 very high	S 7; AL 2 RL medium	RL: Not Tolerable	Posture that is likely to harm the MES. Corrective actions are required in the near future	
3. Harvesting potatoes	S 10; AL 3 RL high	S 7 RL 4	RL 4 very high	S 10; AL 3 RL high	NLT	Posture with harmful effects for the MES. Corrective actions are required as soon as possible	
4. Standing up washing clothes	S 7; AL 2 RL medium	S 7 RL 4	RL 4 very high	S 7; AL 2 RL medium	NLT	Posture that is likely to harm the MES. Corrective actions are required in the near future	
5. Tilling soil while carrying child on back	S 8; AL 3 RL high	S 7 RL 4	RL 4 very high	S 11; AL 4 RL very high	RL: Tolerable	The load caused by this posture has very harmful effects for the MES. Corrective actions are required immediately	
6. Washing radishes	S 10; AL 3 RL high	S 7 RL 4	RL 4 very high	S 10; AL 3 RL high	NLT	Posture with harmful effects for the MES. Corrective actions are required as soon as possible	
7. Carrying potatoes bulk approx. 50 kg	S 9; AL 3 RL high	S 7 RL 4	RL 4 very high	S 12; AL 4 very high	RL: Not Tolerable	The load caused by this posture has very harmful effects for the MES. Corrective actions are required immediately	
8. Using manual sprayer	S 8; AL 2 RL high	S 7 RL 4	RL 3 high	S 11; AL 4 very high	RL: Not Tolerable	The load caused by this posture has very harmful effects for the MES. Corrective actions are required immediately	

Table 2. Results of the application of the tools RERA, RULA, AWBA and MREBA.

S Score; AL Action Level; RL Risk Level; NLT No load transportation; MES Musculoskeletal system.

4 Conclusions

After the MREBA is applied to the selected activities, it is more efficiently quantified that Ecuadorian indigenous women are generally exposed to heavy postural loads by continuously adopting extreme postures, such as elevated trunk, arms, and wrists angles, due to the demands of the tasks they perform. Additionally, the transportation of children, agricultural product sacks, grass, among others, on the back in an asymmetrical manner is considered, and it usually exceeds the recommended value of 10% of the body weight of the woman transporting the load.

The adapted method based on the REBA method can better assess the risk level to which indigenous women are exposed, but when simple tasks are assessed, the MREBA reports the same risk level as traditional methods. This supports the proposal that these methods underestimate risks, especially in tasks when loads are handled and transported.

Severe spine deformations in elder indigenous women, specially scoliosis and pelvic retroversion, which do not coincide with the typical deterioration caused by age and are not present in the male population [4], evidence the consequences of exposure to postural load and load transportation. Therefore, an improvement of the conditions in which agricultural and domestic activities are performed is recommended, as well as an ergonomic and training intervention in the study population.

Acknowledgments. This work is being funded by (1) Dirección de Investigación y Desarrollo (DIDE), of Universidad Técnica de Ambato under the project: "Influence of the traditional use of chumbi in musculoskeletal disorders associated with the manipulation of loads in women of the Ecuadorian highlands" and (2) Corporación Ecuatoriana para el Desarrollo de la Investigación y la Academia (CEDIA) under the project: CEPRA XIII-2019-14, Llankak Warmikunata Kama-chikkuna (Protect the working woman).

References

- 1. Bellorín, M., Sirit, Y., Rincón, C., Amortegui, M.: Síntomas músculo esqueléticos en trabajadores de una empresa de construcción civil. Salud Trab. **15**(2), 89–98 (2007)
- Tenias, J.M., Mayordomo, C., Escriba, V.: Absentismo laboral por dolor de espalda en personal hospitalario: estudio de cohortes. Mapfre Med. 17(1), 3–13 (2006)
- Bassols, A., Bosch, F., Campillo, M., Baños, J.E.: El dolor de espalda en la población catalana: Prevalencia, características y conducta terapéutica. Gac. Sant. 17, 97–107 (2003)
- San Antonio, T., Larrea, A., Lascano, A., Urrutia, J.: Ergonomic evaluation of daily activities of women from a community in the ecuadorian highlands. In: International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics, pp. 102–110. Springer, Cham (2018)
- Kong, Y.K., Lee, S.J., Lee, K.S., Kim, G.R., Kim, D.M.: Development of an ergonomics checklist for investigation of work-related whole-body disorders in farming–AWBA: agricultural whole-body assessment. J. Argr. Saf. Health 21(4), 207–215 (2015)
- Salazar, K.L.F., Puga, J.A.G., González, R.M.T., Rubial, R.E.S., Zavala, M.O.Q.: Trastornos musculoesqueléticos en odontólogos. Benessere 1(1) (2018)
- Dimate, A.E., Rodríguez, D.C., Rocha, A.I.: Perception of musculoskeletal disorders and RULA method application in different productive sectors: a systematic review of literatura. Rev. Univ. Ind. Santander. Salud 49(1), 57–74 (2017)
- Método REBA. Evaluación de posturas forzadas. https://www.ergonautas.upv.es/metodos/ reba/reba-ayuda.php
- Hong, Y., Li, J.X., Wong, A.S.K., Robinson, P.D.: Effects of load carriage on heart rate, blood pressure and energy expenditure in children. Ergonomics 43(6), 717–727 (2000)
- 10. Waters, T.R.: When is it safe to manually lift a patient? Am. J. Nurs. 107(8), 53-58 (2007)
- 11. Iyer, S.R.: Schoolchildren and backpacks. Heal. Med. 71(3), 88 (2001)
- Andrade, R.P., Meléndez, M.C.: Factores asociados al peso del aditamento de universitarios. CASUS 3(2), 103–109 (2018)

- Pope, M., Goh, K.L., Magnusson, M.L.: Spine ergonomics. Ann. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 4(1), 49–68 (2002)
- 14. Burt, S.E., Fine, L.J.: Musculoskeletal Disorders and Workplace Factors. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Cincinnati (1997)
- 15. Cuixart, S.N.: Determinación de Metabolismo Energético Mediante Tablas. INSHT, Madrid (2014)
- 16. Guía para el levantamiento de carga del INSHT. https://www.ergonautas.upv.es/metodos/ ginsht/ginsht-ayuda.php



Analysis of Physiological Signal Characteristics of Persons Working at High Place

Guilei Sun^{1,2(⊠)}

¹ Department of Safety Engineering, China University of Labor Relations, Beijing 100048, China sunguilei@l26.com ² Institute of Safety and Occupational Hygiene, China University of Labor Relations, Beijing 100048, China

Abstract. To enforce the management to the workers, measures should be taken to monitor the work's condition. 30 subjects are selected for the experiments, which are performed in three scenarios, working on the ground, working at 2.0 m high with protective equipment, and working at 2.0 m high without protective equipment. The physiological signal data are obtained through the synchronization platform. Effective physiological signal fragments are extracted, and physiological signal data are extracted. Being compared with working on the ground, the results indicate that there are significant differences on Electrocardiogram (ECG) and Photoplethysmography (PPG) when working at high place whether the subjects wear the safety belt or not. Therefore, ECG and PPG should be paid more attention on the using of recognition, supervision, and improvement to the persons at high place.

Keywords: Working at high place \cdot Physiological signal \cdot Variance analysis \cdot Electrocardiogram (ECG) \cdot Photoplethysmography (PPG) \cdot Difference analysis

1 Introduction

In recent years, falling accidents caused by persons working at heights are increasing. In China, the rate of accidents falling from heights accounted for 47.83% of building construction accidents [1]. Falling accidents from high places around are also rank first in the world construction accidents [2, 3]. Scholars in China and abroad mainly discuss and study the causes of fall accidents and preventive measures. For example, Yuan [4] proposed that regular or irregular surveys of hidden dangers of fall accidents should be conducted during the construction process. Safety and technical knowledge should be provided to operators, and it should be isolated if the hidden danger of falling from a height cannot be eliminated. Liu et al. [5] found that the dangers of working at high place include falling injuries, injuries from falling tools, and falling injuries from high blood pressure caused by mental stress. Kim et al. [6] provides safety management guidelines for workers and safety managers to prevent previous falls on construction sites. Harjoto et al. [7] found that the incidence of fall accidents at high place is closely related to corporate social responsibility. The stronger the corporate social responsibility awareness, the lower the probability of occurrence.

Most of the current researches are from the point of management, and there are fewer studies based on the physiological characteristics of high-rise operators. Based on this, six physiological signals are collected in the three designed scenarios: normal operation on the ground, operating at high place without safety belt, and operating at high place with safety belt. The obtained data are analyzed and compared between each two designed scenarios in order to researching the rules of changes in physiological signals when working at high place.

2 Experiment

2.1 Subjects

30 subjects are selected for the experiments, 15 males and 15 females, aged 21–-45, with an average age of 26 years. The participants are in good health and voluntarily in completing this test.

2.2 Experiment Equipment

Human-machine-environment synchronization platform, including electrocardiogram (ECG), electromyogram (EMG), electrodermal activity (EDA), respiration (RESP), photoplethysmography (PPG), and skin surface temperature (SKT); 2.0 m high experimental platform.

2.3 Experimental Procedure

- 1. The subject completes the specified exercise on the ground of the laboratory, and the subject's physiological signal is measured for 5 min to obtain the basic signals. The data obtained in this experiment is named experiment 1.
- 2. 15 min after1, the subject stands at the place which is 2.0 m higher than the ground and completes the same action without safety belt in 5 min to obtain the physiological signals of the subject. The data obtained in this experiment is named experiment 2.
- 3. 15 min after 2, the subject stands at the place which is 2.0 m higher than the ground and completes the same action with safety belt in 5 min to obtain the physiological signal of the subject. The data obtained in this experiment is named experiment 3.

In order to increase the accuracy of the data, experiment 1, 2 and 3 are all carried on two times to avoid the influence of unexpected factors.

3 Data Analysis

The collected data are intercepted for a stable period of 3 min. The data are extracted and tested for difference to analyze the physiological signal characteristics of the subjects in different experiments. Because the physiological signal values of the clips are continuous variables, analysis of variance (ANOVO) and Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test are used to analyze the physiological signal distribution rules of the subjects in three different working situations.

3.1 Normality Test

SAS statistical analysis software is used for normality tests of single physiological signal segment in three scenarios. The results of the two tests are processed uniformly to increase data accuracy.

Experiment 1, 2, and 3 are used to represent data of normal operation on the ground, operation on high place without protection and high-level operation with protection, respectively. A detection level of 0.05 is used. The data of the ECG signal in the experiment 1 is taken as an example to illustrate, as shown in Table 1. According to Shapiro-Wilk shown in Table 1, (Pr < W) = 0.1102. That is, P-value is greater than 0.05, and the subjects' ECG signal data meet the normal distribution in experiment 1.

Test	Statisti	c	p -value		
Shapiro-Wilk	W	0.766793	Pr < W	0.1102	
Kolmogorov-Smirnov	D	0.292474	Pr > D	< 0.0100	
Cramer-von Mises	W-Sq	0.501327	Pr > W-Sq	0.0511	
Anderson-Darling	A-Sq	2.700931	Pr > A-Sq	0.0677	

Table 1. Data analysis of ECG signal in experiment 1

3.2 ANOVO

The physiological signal detection results are shown in Table 2. In the three experiments, the subjects' PPG signals are all meet normal distribution, therefore, analysis of variance can be used to compare normal distribution data of the experiments. The ECG signal data conform to the normal distribution only in experiment 1 and experiment 2. The RESP signal conforms to the normal distribution only when working at high places as in experiment 2 and experiment 3. The rest signals do not show a normal distribution in all operating states.

Table 2. Results of normality of physiological signals

Experiment	ECG	EDA	EMG	PPG	RESP	SKT
1	\checkmark	×	×	\checkmark	×	×
2	\checkmark	×	×	\checkmark	\checkmark	×
3	×	×	X			×

Note: " $\sqrt{}$ " means the data in the experiment conforms to the normal distribution; " \times " means the data in the experiment does not conform to the normal distribution
1. PPG Analysis

Source	Degrees of freedom	F-value	Pr > F
Experiments	2	11.36	< 0.0001
Error	86		
Total correction	88		

 Table 3. Results of PPG analysis in the experiment

From Table 3, (Pr > F) < 0.0001 means that value of P is less than 0.05. The analysis of total variance shows that the difference among the three experiments is statistically significant. It can be seen from Fig. 1 that the difference between experiment 1 and experiment 2, 3 is obvious, while the difference between experiment 2 and experiment 3 is small.



Fig. 1. PPG box-plot of three experiments

2. Test of homogeneity of variances

Table 4. Homogeneity test results of pulse signal variance

Source	Degrees of freedom	Chi-square	Pr > Chi-square
Experiments	2	1.8055	0.4055

Table 4 shows the homogeneity of variance test results. The test of homogeneity of variance (P = 0.4055) indicates that F test can be used in the analysis to the experiments. The test results are shown in Table 5.

Experiment	Mean	Standard deviation
1	524.262069	169.643013
2	741.040000	208.540435
3	692.667667	167.205510

Table 5. Comparison of mean and standard deviation of PPG

Table 5 shows the difference of PPG signal in the three experiments. The mean shows there is significant difference between working on the ground (524.26) and working on the high place with safety belt (692.67) or without safety belt (741.04). The difference of working on the high places between wearing safety belt and not wearing safety belt is only a little. The specific comparisons between groups need to be performed.



Fig. 2. Pairwise comparison of PPG

Table 6. Pairwise comparison of PPG in three experiments

Experiment	1	2	3
1	-	< 0.0001	0.0020
2	< 0.0001	-	0.9259
3	0.0020	0.9259	_

The pairwise comparison of PPG signal is shown in Fig. 2 and Table 6. It shows that there is significant difference (P < 0.0001) between experiment 1 and experiment 2. Also, there is significant difference (P = 0.0020) between experiment 1 and

experiment 3 while there is no significant difference (P = 0.9259) between experiment 2 and experiment 3. It shows that there is a significant difference in PPG signal between working on the ground and working at high place whether the subjects use safety protection devices or not.

3.3 Rank Sum Test

The ECG data of the subjects do not conform to the normal distribution in the context with safety belt, then it only can be compared by multiple sets of non-normal distribution data. The rest of the data are analyzed by the Kruskal-Wallis test.

ECG signals are taken as an example, multiple sets of rank sum tests are performed.

1. ECG rank sum test

The ECG signal test results are shown in Table 7.

Kruskal-Wallis test		Wilcoxon rank sum test		
		Experiment	Mean	
Statistics	10.2697	1	34.0333	
Degrees of freedom	2	2	55.5000	
Pr > chi-square	0.0059	3	46.9667	

Table 7. ECG signal rank sum test

Table 7 shows the results of the Kruskal-Wallis test (P = 0.0059), suggesting that the total difference among the three experiments' data is significant, but it does not specify the experiments which have significant difference. Judging from the rank sum, the subjects have the highest signal mean (55.5000) when working at high place without safety belt, and the lowest mean (34.0333) when the subjects are on the ground. However, the differences required further comparison between the experiments.

2. ECG comparison between two of the experiments

The comparison results of the ECG signal rank sum test are shown in Table 8.

Table 8.	Comparison	of ECG signal	rank sum	test between	each two	experiments
----------	------------	---------------	----------	--------------	----------	-------------

Experiment	Wilcoxon Z	DSCF value	Pr > DSCF
1 vs. 2	-3.0012	4.2444	0.0076
1 vs. 3	-2.0846	2.9481	0.0930
2 vs. 3	1.4341	2.0281	0.3233

	EDA	EMG	RESP	SKT
Statistics	0.8233	1.7494	4.0238	2.0573
Degrees of freedom	2	2	2	2
Pr > chi-square	0.6626	0.4170	0.1337	0.3575

Table 9. Rank sum test results of other physiological signals

According to Table 9, no significant difference is found in EDA, EMG, RESP, and SKT in the three experiments. The significant differences in ECG signal and PPG signal prove that if the workers are performing work at heights, physiological signals can be detected, and the safety management could be strengthened to the workers to reduce the risk of accidents in the future.

4 Conclusion

- 1. At the significance level of 0.05, there is significant difference only in PPG signal when working at high place (2 m higher than the ground) with or without the safety belt compares with working on the ground. And at the significance level of 0.10, there are also significant differences in ECG signal.
- 2. There is no significant difference in ECG signal (P = 0.3233) and PPG signal (P = 0.9259) working at high place (2.0 m higher than the ground) between wearing safety belt and without safety belt.
- 3. After performing multiple sets of rank sum tests on EMG, EEG, RESP, and SKT signal, there are no significant difference at the level of 0.10. It proves that working on the high place has little relationship with these signals whether wearing the safety belt or not.

Acknowledgements. The presented work has been supported by General project of China University of Labor Relations (20XYJS020).

References

- China Academy of Safety Science and Technology: Safety Professional Practice for Construction, pp. 4–5. Emergency Management Press, Beijing (2019)
- Lette, A., Ambelu, A., Getahun, T., Mekonen, S.: A survey of work-related injuries among building construction workers in southwestern Ethiopia. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 68, 57–64 (2018)
- Abd Rahman, N., Goh, K.C., Goh, H.H., Omar, M.F., Toh, T.C., Zin, M., Rahmat, S.N.: Accidents preventive practice for high-rise construction. In: MATEC Web of Conferences. EDP Sciences, vol. 47, pp. 1–6 (2016)
- Yuan, H.F.: Preliminary exploration of safety technology in high altitude operations in building construction. Archit. Eng. Technol. Des. 14, 2820–3674 (2018)
- 5. Liu, X.F., Zhao, B.L.: Occupational health surveillance for electricians and workers working at heights of pressure vessels. Labor Prot. **8**, 90–92 (2015)

- 6. Kim, D.S., Shin, Y.S.: A study on the risk factors according to the frequency of falling accidents in construction sites. J. Korea Inst. Build. Constr. **19**(2), 185–192 (2019)
- Harjoto, M., Laksmana, I.: The impact of corporate social responsibility on risk taking and firm value. J. Bus. Ethic. 151(2), 353–373 (2018)



Ergonomics of Date Palm Irrigation Work: Algerian Foggara as an Example

Mohamed Mokdad^{1(\boxtimes)}, Bouhafs Mebarki², Ibrahim Mokdad³, and Lahcen Bouabdallah⁴

 ¹ University of Bahrain, Sekhir, Bahrain mokdad@hotmail.com
 ² University of Oran, Oran, Algeria
 ³ Mohammed Shaikhedine Establishment, Manama, Bahrain
 ⁴ University of Setif, Setif, Algeria

Abstract. The Foggara as a traditional irrigation method is still used in Algeria, especially in the western deserts (Touat, Gourara, and Tidikelt regions). Human work at the Foggara system can be a digging work, maintenance work, or distributive work. In this research, the maintenance work is studied with the aim of shedding some light on tasks the worker performs while maintaining the Foggara, how much effort the worker makes to maintain it and the body areas that are exposed to the greatest possible fatigue. To complete this research, data were collected from 37 Foggara maintenance workers using Interview, Borg scale, and the Nordic scale. It has been found that the major Foggara maintenance task was: clean and repair the Foggara, the effort required to maintain the Foggara is high and the workers are exposed to high levels of physical discomfort while doing the maintenance work.

Keywords: Agriculture · Irrigation · Foggara · Date Palms · Algeria

1 Introduction

Agriculture was and is still the backbone of almost all the countries of the world especially developing countries. Likewise, farmers are the major pillars of agriculture. If farmers' concerns are not addressed, agricultural sector will not adequately develop. One of the main tasks of farmers is the watering (irrigation) either by traditional methods (pulley-system, chain pump, Foggara, and pump systems) or modern methods (drip, sprinkler and bubbler systems).

Many researchers [1, 2] point out that about 70% to 90% of water is consumed by agriculture. Whenever water is available for agriculture, production is adequately provided. Date Palms, unlike many other plant species, need plenty of water especially in the hot months (June- September) [3].

In Algeria, which has a large number of date palms estimated of about 18 million date palms [4], both traditional and modern watering methods are used. It should be noted, however, that the use of traditional methods is decreasing. The main reason is that surface water is diminishing. On the other hand, drip system as a modern watering system, is increasingly used especially in newly cultivated groves [2, 5].

One of the traditional irrigation methods used in Algeria, especially in the western deserts, is the Foggara system. The Foggara is an irrigation system composed of several integrated parts that are as follows:

- 1. An artesian deep well drilled vertically to a depth ranging from 10 m to 40 m, to access groundwater.
- 2. An underground tunnel connected at the base level of the main well, with a varying diameter ranging from 50 to 80 cm, with a slight slope that allows water to flow through the tunnel to reach the date palm orchards.
- 3. A series of artesian slightly shallow wells to ventilate and maintain the underground tunnel.
- 4. A covered ditch (Sakia) that extends from the point where the canal reaches the surface of the earth to the Kasria.
- 5. The distributer (Kasria): The point at which the covered Sakia ends. It works to distribute water to its beneficiaries (owners of the farms and houses), using a serrated stone.

This type of irrigation (Foggara) has been widespread in date palm groves of the Western region in Algeria. Previously, the number of Foggaras was in the thousands. However, nowadays, the number is decreasing. According to Bellal et al. [6], on the 2000 Foggaras inventoried in the province of Adrar in 2016, 1278 Foggaras are dried up due to lowering of the water table.

The Foggara system doesn't exist only in Algeria, but it exists in most Arab countries [7]. Hofman [8] noted that more than 35 countries in the world are using this technology.

Human work at the Foggara system can be divided into three categories:

- Digging work: Such as digging the wells, tunneling the tunnels, and mining the shafts.
- Maintenance work: Such as maintaining the well, shafts and tunnels, cleaning the tunnel, and sterilizing water.
- Organizational work: It includes equitably distributing water among palm plantations, and collecting fees from participants.

In this research, maintenance work is studied with the aim of answering the following questions:

- 1. What are the functions of the Foggara maintenance worker?
- 2. How much effort should the worker make to maintain the Foggara?
- 3. What areas of the body are exposed to the greatest possible fatigue?

2 Method

2.1 Sample

Data were obtained from 37 Foggara maintenance employees. All of them were randomly selected males. All participants were informed about the purpose of the study and have given a written informed consent to participate in the study. Subjects differed in terms of work seniority. The majority of participants (58%) have been doing the maintenance work for 18 years. However, seniority of the remaining workers ranged from (02) years to (07) years. In addition, the educational level of participants ranged from the primary level (70%) to the intermediary level (27%) to the secondary school (01%). To recruit the participants, convenience sampling (availability sampling) was used. Table 1 shows some demographic data for subjects.

City	Number	Mean age (y)	SD
Timimoun	13	50	5.1
Oulef	05	53	5.8
Tamentit	04	51	7.2
Adrar	15	49	7.4
Total	37	50.7	6.3

Table 1. Some demographic data for subjects

2.2 Data Collection Tools

To collect data for this research, the following tools were used:

- 1 *The Interview*. To identify the tasks performed by Foggara maintainers, subjects were interviewed by the researchers individually (Oulef, and Tamentit workers) and collectively (Timimoun and Adrar workers). According to Aamodt, the group interview gives almost similar results to the individual interview [9]. The results obtained were recorded in the form of Likert-type five-point scales (from 01 to 05).
- 2 Borg Scale. The Borg Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) scale developed by the Swedish researcher Gunnar Borg, is a tool for measuring an individual's effort and exertion, during physical work [10]. Earlier studies [11, 12] showed that the scale was valid and reliable. The participants were asked to report the RPE value on the Borg CR-10 scale (Table 3) twice: Just before they start the work and at the end of the work. In both cases, workers were asked the following question: "How hard you feel your body has worked?" The workers determined on the form what suit their tiredness.
- 3 *The Nordic Questionnaire.* This was used to assess the work-related musculoskeletal disorders (WRMSDs) among Foggara workers. The workers were asked about feeling of WRMSDs and in which body region (s). Before its use, the questionnaire was translated into Arabic. Regarding the validity and reliability of the questionnaire, the researchers relied on earlier studies [13, 14] which found that the questionnaire was valid and reliable.

3 Results

3.1 What Are the Functions of the Foggara Maintenance Worker?

It has been found that the functions of the Foggara maintenance worker are as depicted in Table 2.

No	Function	Importance
1	Go down to the depths of the wells and climb out from them	4.75
2	Clean and repair channels, wells, and shafts	4.25
3	Fills the bucket with silts, alluviums, and debris, and orders the external worker to raise it	4.03
4	Check the well cover (the well cap) on top of the well to ensure it is in good condition	3.93
5	Perform minor works such as fixing the new well bricks, removing the worn bricks and stones, patching the worn buckets, changing the torn ropes, etc	3.89
6	Collaborate with workers and other professionals during renovations	3.82
7	Report to a supervisor for issues or emergency cases	3.71
8	Diagnose faults in the wells, shafts and channels	3.53

Table 2. The functions of the Foggara maintenance worker with importance.

The workers stipulate that going down and climbing from the well is a very important task in the maintenance of the Foggara. Without going down to the bottom of the well, maintenance cannot take place. It was found that the majority of workers use the rope and the holes and/or burrs in the wall of the well during the descent. They explained that the process is difficult and dangerous as the worker can slip and fall into the depths of the well and may die as what happened to some workers in the past.

It is clear from the results that the diagnosis of possible problems in the wells, vents or water tunnels was a task of little importance compared to other tasks. This may be justified because these problems are rare in Foggaras. As for the rest of the tasks, they came in importance between these two tasks.

In addition, it should be noted that the workers, despite their long experience in the field of Foggara maintenance, did not refer to two tasks the researchers consider as an integral part of the tasks of Foggara maintenance, namely (Ensure that the Foggara water does not mix with sewage or other contaminated water, and help carry out the yearly disinfection of the Foggara water). But when the new tasks were presented to them, they agreed that they are and should be a part of the Foggara maintenance. This fact can be attributed to the limited scientific knowledge of Foggara maintenance workers who are illiterate or semi-illiterate.

3.2 How Much Effort Should the Worker Make to Maintain the Foggara?

Results show that the Foggara maintenance workers are exposed to high levels of physical discomfort and psychological stress while doing the maintenance work (see Tables 3 and 4).

No	Fatigue level	Response before doing	Response after finishing
		the work	the work
1	Extremely light	18	00
2	Very light	17	00
3	Light	02	00
4	Moderate	00	00
5	Moderate plus	00	00
6	Hard	00	17
7	Hard plus	00	13
8	Very hard	00	02
9	Very hard plus	00	03
10	Extremely hard	00	02

Table 3. Fatigue level determination form

Table 3 shows that before work, workers are not subject to great levels of fatigue. But after work they are suffering a lot of fatigue. In addition, it is clearly seen in Table 4, that t-test is highly significant showing that after work, workers are subject to heavy load. Therefore, the work in the Foggara maintenance is considered hard.

Table 4. t-test results comparing RP for workers before and after work

Status	n	Mean	SD	t-test	df	р
Before work	37	1.54	0.55	25.35	72	0.001
After work	37	6.91	1016			

When comparing these results with those of [15], it becomes clear that working in Foggara is more difficult than many types of agricultural work. The reason may be the work is done underground in a confined space, filled with emotional fear caused by the feeling that the well or tunnel can collapse at any moment. Researchers have shown that working in confined spaces is physically and psychologically strenuous and risky [16].

3.3 What Are the Most Affected Body Parts While Doing the Foggara Maintenance Work?

Table (5) shows that lower back 29 (86%), the shoulders 27 (78%), the knees 27 (73%), the neck 23 (62%), were the most affected parts during the previous week.

Moreover, the values of Chi square (χ^2) test for these body areas were statistically significant. However, during the last 12 months, it has been found that lower back 29 (78%), shoulders 28 (76%), neck 26 (70%), knees 22 (59%), feet 26 (70%), were the most commonly affected body areas. Similarly, (χ^2) values for these body areas were statistically highly significant.

To understand such results, we ought to remember that Foggara maintenance work is done in tight, and underground spaces. Digging in the well or tunnel while cleaning it, can cause the whole well or tunnel to collapse. Some maintenance workers say that when they go out safely from the well and the tunnel, they praise Almighty God for safety. The danger of this profession is similar to that of miners' work. In terms of safety, both are unsafe [17].

Body parts affected	Response	Previo seven	ous days	χ^2 value	P-value	alue Previous 12 months		χ^2 value	P-value
by WRMSDs		No.	%			No.	%		
Neck	Yes	23	62	2.189	P < 0.139	26	70	6.081	P < 0.014
	No	14	38			11	30		
Shoulders	Yes	29	78	11.91	P < 0.010	28	76	9.757	P < 0.002
	No	08	22]		09	24		
Elbows	Yes	07	19	14.29	P < 0.000	09	24	9.757	P < 0.002
	No	30	81	1		28	76	1	
Wrists/hands	Yes	08	22	11.91	P < 0.010	10	27	7.811	P < 0.005
	No	29	78			27	73		
Upper back	Yes	05	14	19.79	P < 0.000	08	22	11.91	P < 0.010
	No	32	86			29	78		
Lower back	Yes	32	86	19.79	P < 0.000	29	78	11.91	P < 0.010
	No	05	14			08	22		
Hip	Yes	12	32	4.568	P < 0.033	34	92	25.973	P < 0.000
	No	25	68			03	08		
Knees	Yes	27	73	7.811	P < 0.005	22	59	1.324	P < 0.250
	No	10	27			15	41		
Feet	Yes	18	49	0.027	P < 0.869	26	70	6.081	P < 0.014
	No	19	51			11	30		

Table 5. Foggara maintenance affected body parts

4 Conclusion

The present research tried to answer the above three questions. The results showed that the most important function of Foggara maintenance workers is to go down to the bottom of the well and climb from it. Also, it was found that workers make a great effort while maintaining the Foggara. Finally, the most important areas of the body suffering from extreme fatigue are the lower back, shoulders, upper and lower limbs. In the end, the research shed light on the ergonomic problems experienced by a number of workers in a traditional sector of agriculture, which is watering date palms by the Foggara. **Acknowledgments.** The researchers would like to thank the maintenance workers for the Foggara in Adrar. They also thank the students who helped conduct the research.

References

- Khan, M.M., Prathapar, S.A.: Water management in date palm groves. Dates: production, processing, food and medicinal values. In: Manickavasagan, A., Mohamed Essa, M., Sukumar, E. (eds.) Dates Production, Processing, Food, and Medicinal Values, pp. 44–66. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2012)
- Al-Amoud, A.I.: Subsurface drip irrigation for date palm trees to conserve water. In: IV International Date Palm Conference, pp. 103–114 (2010)
- Alazba, A.: Estimating palm water requirements using Penman-Monteith mathematical model. J. King Saud Univ. 16(2), 137–152 (2004)
- Bouguedoura, N., Bennaceur, M., Babahani, S., Benziouche, S.E.: Date palm status and perspective in Algeria. In: Date Palm Genetic Resources and Utilization, pp. 125–168. Springer, Dordrecht (2015)
- 5. Kendouci, M.A., Bendida, A., Khelfaoui, R., Kharroubi, B.: The impact of traditional irrigation (Foggara) and modern (drip, pivot) on the resource non-renewable groundwater in the Algerian Sahara. Energy Procedia **36**, 154–162 (2013)
- Bellal, S.A., Hadeid, M., Ghodbani, T., Dari, O.: Accès à l'eau souterraine et transformations de l'espace oasien: le cas d'Adrar (Sahara du Sud-ouest algérien). Cahiers de géographie du Québec 60(169), 29–56 (2016)
- 7. Remini, B., Kechad, R.: The foggara in the Arab world. J. Geogr. Tech. 1, 1–7 (2012)
- 8. Hofman, A.: Traditional management of water quaat in Iran is compatible with the concept of IWRM? Synthesis technique, in February, Engref, Montpellier, France, p. 17 (2007)
- 9. Aamodt, M.: Industrial/Organizational Psychology: An Applied Approach. Nelson Education, Boston (2012)
- 10. Borg, G.: Borg's Perceived Exertion and Pain Scales. Human kinetics, Champaign (1998)
- Skinner, J.S., Hutsler, R., Bergsteinová, V., Buskirk, E.R.: The validity and reliability of a rating scale of perceived exertion. Med. Sci. Sports 5(2), 94–96 (1973)
- Lamb, K.L., Eston, R.G., Corns, D.: Reliability of ratings of perceived exertion during progressive treadmill exercise. Br. J. Sports Med. 33, 336–339 (1999)
- Henry, L.J., Jafarzadeh Esfehani, A., Ramli, A., Ishak, I., Justine, M., Mohan, V.: Patterns of work-related musculoskeletal -disorders among workers in palm plantation occupation. Asia Pac. J. Public Health 27(2), NP1785–NP1792 (2015)
- Taylor-Gjevre, R.M., Trask, C., King, N., Koehncke, N.: Saskatchewan farm injury cohort study team. Prevalence and occupational impact of arthritis in Saskatchewan farmers. J. Agromed. 20(2), 205–216 (2015)
- Brighenti-Zogg, S., Mundwiler, J., Schüpbach, U., Dieterle, T., Wolfer, D.P., Leuppi, J.D., Miedinger, D.: Physical workload and work capacity across occupational groups. PLoS ONE 11(5), e0154073 (2016)
- Burlet-Vienney, D., Chinniah, Y., Bahloul, A., Roberge, B.: Occupational safety during interventions in confined spaces. Saf. Sci. 79, 19–28 (2015)
- Simpson, G., Horberry, T.: Understanding Human Error in Mine Safety. CRC Press, Boston (2018)



Analysis of Laboral and Non-laboral Risk Factors of Workers Diagnosed with Lumbar Pathologies. Study of Cases

Wilder Alfonso Hernández Duarte^(\boxtimes) and Luis Gabriel Gutiérrez Bernal^(\boxtimes)

Virtual and Distance Education, UVD, Corporación Universitaria Minuto de Dios, Bogotá, Colombia whernandezd@uniminuto.edu.co, lgutie55@uniminuto.edu.co

Abstract. An analysis is presented of occupational and non-occupational risk factors of four workers diagnosed with lumbar pathologies in a pet food manufacturing company. Through a survey, individual aspects were investigated, exposure to risk factors present in the working conditions of the task, the environment and organization, as well as extra-labor factors according to scientific literature. Occupational antecedents were found by carrying out load handling activities and exposure to factors of the three dimensions described. Regarding the extra-labor component, they have carried out activities similar to those outside the working day. The above is corroborated according to literature given that structures of the lumbar spine can be subjected to excessive compression and shear forces plus the presence of muscle fatigue, amplified by job characteristics, organizational and extra-labor aspects. It is required to determine criticality levels of these factors and more studies in this regard.

Keywords: Low-back pain \cdot Radiculopathy \cdot Risk factors \cdot Working conditions \cdot Non-laboral risk factors

1 Introduction

Lumbar pathologies (LP), resulting from alterations in structures that make up the lumbar spine, represents a serious health problem. It is the second leading cause of consultation in general medicine, after respiratory diseases and in western societies its incidence varies between 60% and 90% [1].

In the labor context, the causes of PL are multiple [2]. Among the possible etiologies, biomechanical factors have been cited such as lifting loads, inadequate postures, among others, environmental factors such as exposure to extreme temperatures or noise, as well as aspects of the organization of work [1, 2]. However, on extra-labor factors and their involvement in the generation of musculoskeletal disorders there is little literature [3]. These factors are understood as those situations outside the workplace that, combined with occupational requirements, can create overloads in health conditions [4, 5]. This exploratory study makes the characterization and respective analysis of labor and extra-labor factors to which four workers diagnosed with PL reported during the period 2015–2016 have been exposed in a pet food manufacturing company in a municipality in Cundinamarca, Colombia. A theoretical support element is provided for occupational safety and health training professionals and stakeholders, presenting an analysis of how intra-labor and extra-labor factors interact with the health conditions of workers. The study seeks to provide elements for future studies of greater complexity on working conditions, which facilitate decision-making in the approach of control measures considering the participation of other elements in the analysis.

2 Materials and Methods

This study was authorized by the respective units of the company, the objective of the same was presented to 4 workers diagnosed with discopathies at level L4–L5 or L5–S1. Upon signature of informed consent, a questionnaire was applied that looked at risk factors to which workers had been exposed.

This instrument checked five dimensions related to individual aspects, aspects of the work environment, aspects of the task, organizational aspects and extra-labor aspects. Each of these categories examined a history of exposure to risk factors associated with PL according to scientific literature, as described in Table 1. The information collected was organized to identify factors present and subsequently perform the respective analysis. The study was approved by the research ethics committee of the Corporación Universitaria Minuto de Dios, Bogotá (Colombia).

Categories	Study variables
In the individual	* Supervising health conditions through medical examinations
	* Work background in terms of activities with loading handling
In the work	* Exposure to low temperatures.
environment	* Perception of exposure to annoying noise
	* Exposure to full body vibrations
In the task	* Correct gesture application to lift loads from the floor
	* Prolonged position in two-footed
	* Frequent movements of rotation or inclination of trunk
	* Availability, training in the use and maintenance of mechanical aids to handle
	loads
	* Limited dimensions of the space where loads are handled
	* Allowable manipulated weight, shape and volume of load
In work management	* Performing overtime executing activities involving handling loads
	* Extension of working day carrying out activities with load handling
	* Impossibility to leave the post due to alteration in the production process
	* Work rate imposed by machines or production goals
	* Insufficient time to ask for help from a colleague to manipulate objects
	* Simultaneous task involving load handling
Extra labor factors	* Outside-work activities involving work load handling more than three times in
	the month
	* Sports activities involving work load handling

Table 1. Description of variables considered in the case study for analysis.

3 Results

The average age of the workers was 53 years and reported that they had carried out activities related to work load handling in previous jobs. In terms of working environment factors, the total population reported perceived annoying noise and exposure to full-body vibrations.

In relation to task factors, the total population reported having performed within their activities gestures with inclinations and trunk rotations, also reported having insufficient knowledge in the use of mechanical aids and have used these tools with some deterioration or imperfect. The total workers reported handling loads with weights greater than permissible. At least one of the workers reported difficulty alternating their bipedal posture during the execution of the tasks, the workplace space has not allowed them to apply the load-lifting gesture correctly, and the load they have handled has been presented difficulty handling it by its characteristics.

Regarding the organization of work, the total population reported that they have worked overtime or for days longer than 8 h and pointed out situations where the pace of work has been imposed by the machine or production goals. At least one of the workers indicated that there has been a situation of disruption in production if he withdraws for a while from the job, not having enough time to request help in lifting a high weight burden and difficulty take breaks.

In this regard to extra-labor factors, the total workers indicated that they have carried out activities outside the company that involved handling loads at least more than three times a month.

4 Discussion

4.1 Individual Aspects

Among the findings it was found that the working population diagnosed with PL was an average of 53 years of age. Over time collagen, the main component of structures such as the intervertebral disc, loses its mechanical properties decreasing resistance to different types of forces, among other things by water loss. This can decrease the ability to store energy and its respective distribution of loads [2, 6, 7].

Workers reported labor background, activities in other jobs involving load handling. This may be associated with increased exposure time to a number of risk factors that may favor injuries to the lumbar region [7, 8].

4.2 Aspects of the Labor Environment

In terms of the work environment was concerned, they reported the perception of annoying noise. Such an aspect is necessary to deepen by the extra-hearing effects identified at the physiological level such as the increase in muscle tone [9]. As for whole body vibration it has been suggested that exposure can lead to fatigue of spine structures, similar to mechanical structures, which can contribute to degenerating the intervertebral discs [7, 10].

4.3 Aspects of the Task

On the factors regarding in the task, the inclinations and rotations of the trunk promote at the level of the column the asymmetrical distribution of compression and shear forces in the intervertebral discs that would be aggravated if weight handling is added permissible, if the characteristics of the load make it difficult to grip or by the volume of the working load [6, 11].

In addition to the above, the dimensions of the work station may limit the correct positioning of the lumbar spine during the handling of objects [8]. On the other hand, depending on the characteristics of the task and the functions to be performed, the alternation of postures in the workplace can be limited which can facilitate the fatigue of the anti-gravitational muscles.

The possibility of increasing the risk of osteomuscular injury has been described by not performing a training or training process in the workplace [12]. Handling mechanical aids without proper preparation or under defective conditions would make it easier for the worker to apply inadequate gestures with the subjugation of soft tissues to excessive forces.

4.4 Work Organization Factors

In relation to factors identified in the organization of work, if a collaborator performs activities for longer periods of the working day could increase the likelihood of muscle fatigue injuries by overcoming their physical resistance [8, 12].

On the other hand, the fulfillment of goals, rhythms imposed by the machine or time-pressure situations can influence the mechanical load of soft tissues by changes or increases in postures, movements or forces exercised [13], as well as such situations would make breaks difficult and facilitate muscle fatigue.

4.5 Extra-Labor Factors

Regarding extra-labor factors, the possibility of exposure to situations similar to intralabor issues has been raised, which would imply additional physical demands for gestures, postures or forces. This would generate microtrauma soft tissues with its chronic inflammatory process and facilitate inadequate healing processes for restricted recovery times [5]. In other words, it arises the possibility that risk factors in the workplace added to the time spent on extra-occupational activities can be an enhancing element for the generation of musculoskeletal pathologies.

The previous analysis takes an approximation of how the working conditions present in the task, environment and organization and the extra-labor factors can interact facilitating the generation of musculoskeletal disorders. These elements could be considered by occupational safety and health managers in organizations when managing the health conditions of their working population in similar situations. As work is one of the social determinants of health it is necessary to analyze its conditions for the prevention of alterations in the health process in such a way that it is not affected by the extra-work component. This aspect is open for further analysis considering the influence of factors such as social ones. On the other hand, the quantification of these determinants would allow to establish their level of participation in the generation of these pathologies.

References

- Duque, I., Zuluaga, D., Pinilla, A.C.: Prevalencia de lumbalgia y factores de riesgo en enfermeros y auxiliares de la ciudad de Manizales. Hacia la Promoción de la Salud. 16, 27– 38 (2011)
- 2. Kumar, S.: Theories of musculoskeletal injury causation. Ergonomics 44, 17-47 (2001)
- Guillén, C.: El desafío de la gestión de las enfermedades profesionales: solvitas perambulum. Med. Segur. Trab. 60, 144–156 (2014)
- Guerrero, J.: Los roles no laborales y el estrés en el trabajo. Revista Colombiana de Psicología 12, 73–84 (2003)
- Hernández, W.A., Orjuela, M.E.: Factores laborales y extralaborales de floricultores con Síndrome del Túnel del Carpo: Cundinamarca-Colombia 2013. Med. Segur. Trab. 62, 199– 211 (2016)
- Nordin, M., Frankel, V.: Biomecánica básica del sistema musculoesquelético. McGraw-Hill Interamericana, Madrid (2004)
- 7. Wilder, D.G., Pope, M.H.: Epidemiological and aetiological aspects of low back pain in vibration environments an update. Clin. Biomech. **11**, 61–73 (1996)
- Sekkay, F., Imbeau, D., Chinniah, Y., Dubé, P.-A., de Marcellis-Warin, N., Beauregard, N., Trépanier, M.: Risk factors associated with self-reported musculoskeletal pain among short and long distance industrial gas delivery truck drivers. Appl. Ergon. 72, 69–87 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2018.05.005
- Lolorca, J.: Manual de ergonomía: aplicada a la prevención de riesgos laborales. Difusora Larousse - Ediciones Pirámide, Madrid (2015)
- Wahlström, J., Burström, L., Johnson, P.W., Nilsson, T., Järvholm, B.: Exposure to wholebody vibration and hospitalization due to lumbar disc herniation. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health **91**(6), 689–694 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-018-1316-5
- Schibye, B., Faber Hansen, A., Hye-Knudsen, C.T., Essendrop, M., Böcher, M., Skotte, J.: Biomechanical analysis of the effect of changing patient-handling technique. Appl. Ergon. 34, 115–123 (2003)
- Lette, A., Ambelu, A., Getahun, T., Mekonen, S.: A survey of work-related injuries among building construction workers in southwestern Ethiopia. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 68, 57–64 (2018)
- 13. Bongers, P.M., de Winter, C., Kompier, M.A.J., Hildebrandt, V.H.: Psychosocial factors at work and musculoskeletal disease. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health **19**, 297–312 (1993)



Ergonomic and Occupant Issues Considering Elderly Female Pillion Rider Sitting Posture on Motorcycle in Indian Rural/Semi Urban Context

Vaibhav Lothe^(⊠)

IIITDM Jabalpur, Jabalpur, India 1714025@iiitdmj.ac.in

Abstract. Background - In India most of the elderly female (pillion riders) of aged above 35 prefers sitting sideways upon motorcycles (commuting) in India. In this situation occupant, sitting/packaging issues have a major problem, refusing elderly female to get ride on motorcycle. Objective - The aim of this study is to find different ergonomic and occupant packaging issues including Work Related Musculoskeletal Disorders (WMSDs) mostly for elderly female (pillion rider) in Indian commuting motorcycles. Methodology – Observation, photography, analysis carried out. Result – Risk factor and discomfort of sitting sideways on existing motorcycle seat were higher (810 mm), demanding quick intervention. Conclusion - Ergonomic analysis and design intervention suggested by redesigning/optimizing the existing seat of the motorcycles considering pillion rider as elderly female.

Keywords: Motorcycle · Seat · Ladies · Indian context

1 Introduction

In India, Public transport widely used in metro cities. Mostly people used to commute with the help of two-wheeler instead of a car in Urban and semi-urban areas. India has 48.20% population of female [1]. Very less woman drive motorbikes, as the weight of the motorcycle, are high, and due to traditional dresses, they used to seat rear side. As the clothing, style in India for a woman is saree and there are about 108 types to wear saree [2]. Height of motorcycle are around 800 to 1000 mm [3]. As it followed since long back, and the clothing style is still in tradition. Due to this, they have to seat side posture on the rear side, which is risky to the seat, very unsafe, also causes lots of body pain, back pain, Improper visualization, neck pain. Hand joint pain.

To reduce body pain and risk, which causes the error. Therefore, it is essential to take feedback from the local community (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Motorcycle rider with pillion female rider in Indian context

2 Materials and Methods

Two types of method adopted for collecting data from users and for testing the concepts. These were Observation and qualitative analysis.

2.1 Observation

In total, there were 20 observations done. The observation starts from the moment of starting of motorcycle and woman sitting on motorcycle until ride get started. It done using focus group [4] to get proper data and no task should missed.

2.2 Task Analysis

Different types of motorcycles seats analyzed for usability issues like size, placement, shape—this analysis done in two stages. In the first stage, seat, grab-rail, pedal stand, to different cognitive ergonomic principles have taken into perception. In the next stage, specific focus kept on these elements with the perspective of tactile, visual perception.

3 Result

3.1 Observation

It is difficult to seat for subjects as rear side and which is unsafe. In addition, some motorcycle do not have footrest or some do not have grab rail to take support.

Physical Characteristics of Subjects. Subjects mean age was 40 years old and mean experience was of 9 years (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Motorcycle rider with pillion female

3.2 Task Analysis

The subject has to perform the procedure to occupy on the seat. In the first stage, a biker needs to start a motorcycle. Preceded by subject has to hold the grab rail. Then, it needs to keep the right leg on foot guard after that subject needs to lift their own body to seat as pillion driver in sideways posture.

Start Engine – Turn side – Hold Grab rail by left hand – Put right hand on seat – keep left leg on footrest – seat on rear side – start journey.

By looking at all the issues which were observed and studied, it was clear that there need to be some changes in the rear side of the motorcycle, there was an unused space, very small foot guard for subjects to rest the leg. Below are the few solutions, which would be best to improve for the ergonomics of the pillion rider on a motorcycle.

If motorcycle height could manipulate.

Placing the comfortable reach foot stand to rest the leg.

Adding a fixed designated grab rail for both right hands left hand for the subjects.

A proper seating arrangement and back support for the subject to sit on when she wishes to rest.

4 Optimizations

4.1 Height of Motorcycle

Height for the rear seat has to be knew otherwise, a wrong height may increase the problems rather than solving it, for determining the optimal height anthropometric dimensions taken and further optimized to suit the situation (Fig. 3, 4 and Table 1).



Fig. 3. Motorcycle height and women buttock extension height



Fig. 4. Concept design change in motorcycle height

Table 1. Buttock extension

Percentile	5 th	25 th	50 th	75 th	95 th
Female	726	768	789	826	856

By the principle of reach and taking, the lowest of the lowest with take-off point at 726 mm. Which could rounded off to 730 mm. Further optimizations like adding tolerances would bump up the value to 800 mm, and as tested this height was comfortable to reach, therefore we considered this height [5].

4.2 Leg Rest

Elevation for the rear seat has to be knew otherwise a wrong height may increase the problems rather than solving it, for determining the optimal height, anthropometric dimensions were taken and further optimized to suit the situation (Fig. 5 and Table 2).



Fig. 5. Motorcycle with footrest design

Percentile	5 th	25 th	50 th	75 th	95 th
Female	365	386	399	417	441

Table 2. Height of popliteal

By the principle of clearance and taken the minimum of the minimum value with a take-off point at 417 mm. Which rounded off to 450 mm. Further optimizations like adding tolerances would bump up the value to 470 mm and as tested this height was comfortable to clearance. As this height considered as pedal height [5].

Length of footrest.

Length for rear footrest has to be proper to rest (Table 3).

Table 3. Length of footrest					
Percentile	5 th	25 th	50 th	75 th	95 th
Female	207	217	227	234	249

By the principle of clearance and taken the minimum of the minimum value with a take-off point at 234 mm. Which rounded off to 230 mm. In addition, for the resting of foot half distance is more than enough for such a journey [5].

4.3 Seating

For determining the optimal comfortable seating position for the operator, following anthropometric dimensions taken and optimized. Proper sitting angle is 108° [7, 8] (Fig. 6 and Table 4).



Fig. 6. Motorcycle rider with seat guard design

Tahla	1	Hin	breadth
I able	4.	пір	breadun

Percentile	5 th	25 th	50 th	75 th	95 th
Female	259	296	314	341	429

By applying the principle of clearance here, we get the highest of the highest value with a take-off point at 429 mm. Further optimizing it by adding tolerance like clothes etc. the final optimized value at came at 450 mm [5] (Table 5).

Table 5. Length of the backrest - waist

Percentile	5 th	25^{th}	50 th	75 th	95 th
Female	197	216	231	447	289

By applying the principle of clearance here, we get the highest of the highest value with take-off point at 289 mm. Still, just support is needed no requirement to cover the full waist. Making design minimalistic and long lasting [6]. So, the optimized value would be around half that is 140 [5].

Height of the backrest (Table 6).

Table 6. Lower Lumbar

Percentile	5 th	25 th	50 th	75 th	95 th
Female	66	82	95	127	189

By applying the principle of clearance here, we get the lowest of the low value with take-off point at 127 mm. To use it, 115 considered [5].

To hold the grab rail (Table 7).

Percentile	5 th	25 th	50 th	75 th	95 th
Female	40	42	46	49	52

By applying the principle of reach here, we get the lowest of the low value with take-off point at 40 mm.

5 Discussion

The existing design of the vehicle suggests that there were very less ergonomic principles applied during its design phase from the viewpoint of passenger comfort and safety. The most significant mismatch noticed when the dimensions of the vehicle like grab rail positioning; access to the vehicle or seating system had no reference to the anthropometric dimensions of Indian. For the majority of the design factors for the females, a very high degree of mismatch between the female body and the vehicle. Also, there was no "backrest" and "overall feeling". Females in India wear specific attire called "saree" which is a single piece of cloth wrapped around the body. The restricted movements in such vehicles added to the level of mismatch. These mismatches in design factors further validated by the discomfort data for females which were at very high median values ranging from 4 to 6 for "lower back", "buttocks", "hip and thigh" and "knee and leg". The reason most body part is associated with seating posture in the vehicle indicates a severe seating mismatch between the female body and the vehicle. Based on these design factors, the design concept developed. The Indian anthropometric dimensions adhered to, and the other ergonomic issues applied.

6 Conclusions

This research indicates the immense scope for application of ergonomic principles in the domain of pillion rider of a motorcycle in semi-urban and urban India. The mismatches are relevant to the subject's safety and comfort. The concept designs have developed, keeping in mind the different ergonomic issues of the passengers. I hope that this concept, when fabricated onto a real motorcycle, would be a pleasant experience for the passengers.

Acknowledgements. Acknowledgement owed to all who volunteered for this study.

References

- 1. Agnihorti, S.B.: Sex Ratio Patterns in the Indian Population: A Fresh Exploration. Sage Publications Ltd., New York (2000)
- Kaur, K., Agrawal, A.: Indian saree: a paradigm of global fashion influence. Int. J. Home Sci. 5(2), 299–306 (2019)
- Caplan, S.: Using focus group methodology for ergonomic design. Ergonomics 33(5), 527– 533 (1990)
- Chakraborty, D.: Indian Anthropometric Dimensions for Ergonomic Design. National Institute of Design, Ahmedabad (1997)
- 5. de Jong, C.W., Klemp, K., Mattie, E., Goodwin, D.: Ten Principles for Good Design: Dieter Rams: The Jorrit Maan Collection. Prestel, Munich (2017)
- Dreyfuss, H., Dreyfuss, H.: The measure of man human factors in design. Whitney Library of Design, New York (1967)
- Hekkert, P.: Design aesthetics: principles of pleasure in design. Psychol. Sci. 48(2), 157 (2006)



Ergonomics Risk Assessment of Graphics Tablet Users Using the Rapid Upper Limb Assessment Tool

Mengqian Xu^(⊠)

East China University of Science and Technology, Shanghai 200237, People's Republic of China 1585281694@qq.com

Abstract. The graphics tablet has become the most used in the field of digital art and the most important hardware equipment, more and more designers are using graphics tablet for painting, which inevitably leads to musculoskeletal disorders such as sore shoulders, cervical spine pain and neck pain. The best approach is to provide good interventions, this research mainly includes three aspects: First, evaluates the ergonomic risk level of graphics tablet users using the Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA) tool. Second, evaluates the correlation between musculoskeletal disorders and ergonomic risk level of graphics tablet users. Third, provides ergonomic intervention measures, wrong posture prevention and correct posture advice for graphics tablet users.

Keywords: Graphics tablet \cdot Musculoskeletal disorders \cdot RULA \cdot Rapid upper limb assessment

1 Introduction

The graphics tablet, also known as the drawing board, digital panel, is a type of computer input device. It usually consists of a board and a pressure-sensitive pen, is a professional alternative to manual painting. When the user uses the tablet for drawing, the hand is used to draw on the tablet for a long time, which is easy to cause user fatigue. Through the investigation of related communities and networks, the author found that most people would suffer from musculoskeletal diseases such as shoulder pain, cervical spine pain and neck pain after using the graphics tablet for a long time, which may be caused by their repeated movements and adverse postures. In order to reduce the human body load in this work scene, the best way is to provide good intervention measures. The use of the graphics tablet is focus on upper limb activity. Among the methods available for upper limb assessment, the most widely used is RULA (rapid upper limb assessment) [1].

RULA (rapid upper limb assessment) developed by Mc Atamney and Nigel Corlett in 1993, is an observational screening tool for assessing risk factors due to neck, trunk and upper limb posture as well as muscle status and load (external pressure) [2]. At present, RULA has been applied in many industries such as supermarket cashier, computer operation and so on, and has been evaluated for reliability and validity [3].

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_40

The method uses body posture figure and three rating scales to assess risk factors. It is mainly divided into three stages: First, Record working postures. Second, Score through the scoring system. Third, Get the risk level according to the comprehensive score, provide guidance and Suggestions for the risk level. RULA divides the posture into two parts. Score A is the combination of upper arm, lower arm and wrist postures. Score B is the combination of neck, trunk and leg postures, each group has a score of 0 to 6 points. Score C is the combination of Score A, muscle use and force scores for group A. Score D is the combination of Score B, muscle use and force scores for group B. Finally, the total score is the combination of Score C and D.

Through literature search, the author found that there is no research on the ergonomic risk of graphics tablet users, let alone the use of RULA tools to assess the ergonomic risk of graphics tablet users. Based on the above description of RULA, the author applies RULA in this paper for the ergonomic risk assessment of graphics tablet users. First, this article use RULA to assess the level of ergonomic risk associated with the use of graphics tablet and to assess whether the posture is at high risk when using the graphics tablet. Secondly, by judging the relationship between the ergonomic risk level of graphics tablet users and musculoskeletal diseases, provide the prevention of wrong posture and correct posture Suggestions, so as to improve the efficiency of people using the graphics tablet.

2 Materials and Methods

In this paper, 30 participants were selected. Participants were required to be between 18 and 30 years old. Is the owner of graphics tablet. At least 6 months experience with graphics tablet. No history of trauma or surgery in the past year. No physical illness or disability. No chronic diseases affecting the musculoskeletal system. No neurological or orthopedic disorders or sensory deficits. No visual problems, dizziness or dizziness. Has not taken any sedative drugs or alcohol in the past 48 h.

2.1 Procedures

Before the experiment, participants were asked to fill out a questionnaire, which took about 10 min. The participants then perform the same task with the graphics tablet, and video recording of their operations was collected. After recording the video, the three evaluators watched the video, selected the most persistent posture to evaluate, and determined the score for each side of the body and the total score. Finally, the correlation between musculoskeletal disease and ergonomic risk of graphics tablet use was analyzed. Based on relevant literature survey, a questionnaire was developed to investigate musculoskeletal diseases, including demographic characteristics, graphics tablet usage survey and musculoskeletal disorders survey. Human musculoskeletal disorders were measured using the standardized Nordic musculoskeletal disorders questionnaire (NMQ) [4]. The tool was developed by a team of northern European researchers, to create a simple standardized questionnaire that can be used to screen for musculoskeletal disorders. Using video collection method [5], 30 participants were required to perform the same task in the same environment, draw the same cartoon

character with graphics tablet on the computer photoshop software for 5 min. Two cameras were placed on the left and right to photograph the participants' body posture.

2.2 Statistical Analysis

After watching each participant video together by three RULA-trained professional researchers, the video is slowed down to determine the most persistent posture of the graphics tablet user during the operation, the pose is evaluated for ergonomic risk levels, and the final score is obtained. 1–2 are not required to be processed, no ergonomic risk. 3–4 are in need further investigation and further treatment if necessary. 5–6 are in need of further investigation and improvement within the next few days. 7 are must be investigated and improved. Spass17.0 was used for statistical collation and analysis of the data, mean value and standard deviation of RULA data were calculated, and chi-square test was performed for the correlation between musculoskeletal disorders and rula's ergonomic risk score.

3 Results

3.1 General Characteristics and the Graphics Tablet Use Characteristics of Participants

There were 11 males (36.7%) and 19 females (63.3%). 18 (60%) were aged between 18 and 25, and 12 (40%) were aged between 26 and 30, with an average age of 24.5 ± 1.2 . 11 (36.7%) were exercised regularly. 18 (60%) were exercised occasionally, and 1 (3.3%) were never exercised. 28 (93.3%) had a normal bmi (between 18.5 and 24). No one had underlying disease. 28 (6.7%) did not smoke. 25 (83.3%) had no drinking behavior. All are right-handed.

The participants used the graphics tablet for an average of 3.21 ± 1.58 years. The daily usage is 1.32 ± 1.28 times. 7.21 ± 2.34 times per week. The duration of each use was 2.31 ± 1.87 h, and most participants (24/80%) took appropriate rest during the use. When in use, 21 people (70%) use both hands, 9 people (30%) only use their right hand. Most people use both hands to operate, click the mouse with their left hand, and draw with a pen in their right hand.

3.2 Ergonomic Risk Using RULA

The average upper arm posture score were 2.23 ± 0.43 for left and 2.73 ± 0.44 for right. While the average lower arm posture score were 1.77 ± 0.43 for left and 2.27 ± 0.82 for right. The average wrist posture score were 2.20 ± 0.72 for left and 3.27 ± 0.45 for right. The average wrist twist posture score were 3.23 ± 0.43 for left and 4.26 ± 0.45 for right. The average score C is 4.27 ± 0.45 for left and 5.26 ± 0.45 for right. The average Neck, back and leg posture scores were 2.10 ± 0.31 , 2.03 ± 0.32 , and 1.57 ± 0.5 , respectively. The average score B were 2.80 ± 0.76 . The average Score D were 3.93 ± 0.78 . The final score was 4.37 ± 0.61 for left and 5.13 ± 0.51 to for right. The corresponding RULA rating table indicates that the left

side needs further investigation and further processing if necessary, and the right side needs further investigation and improvement in recent days.

3.3 Musculoskeletal Disorder

Musculoskeletal disorder was investigated on the participants, the results showed that the morbidity of neck was 73.3%, shoulder was 86.7%, elbow was 33.3%, Wrist was 56.7%, the upper back was 66.7%, the lower back was 30%, the thigh was 13.3%, Knees was 13.3%, the ankle was 10%. It can be seen that the prevalence of the shoulder is the highest, followed by the neck, upper back, wrist prevalence is also more than half of the people.

3.4 Correlation Between Musculoskeletal Disorders and Level of Ergonomic Risk Among Graphics Tablet Users

As shown in Table 1, right RULA Grand Score is significantly correlated with shoulder (x2 = 9.315, p = 0.04), neck (x2 = 14.382, p = 0.026), upper back (x2 = 20.800, p = 0.014) musculoskeletal disorders. Right RULA Score A (combination of upper arms, lower arms and wrists posture is) is significantly correlated with shoulder (x2 = 8.794, p = 0.032),

Wrist ($x^2 = 10.07$, p = 0.007) musculoskeletal disorders. Right RULA Score C (combination of Score A, muscle use and force scores for group A) is significantly correlated with shoulder ($x^2 = 8.794$, p = 0.032) musculoskeletal disorders. Right RULA Score B (combination of neck, trunk and leg postures) is significantly correlated with neck ($x^2 = 18.417$, p = 0.031) musculoskeletal disorders. right RULA Score D (combination of Score B, muscle use and force scores for group B) is significantly correlated with upper back ($x^2 = 18.417$, p = 0.031) musculoskeletal disorders. Right wrist posture ($x^2 = 10.07$, p = 0.007) and Wrist twist posture ($x^2 = 7.325$, p = 0.035) are significantly correlated with wrist musculoskeletal disorders (p < 0.05 indicates significant correlation).

RULA	Musculoskeletal disorders	Chi-square (p value)		
		Lt.	Rt.	
Upper arm posture	Shoulder	1.921(0.59)	3.092(0.38)	
Lower arm posture	Elbow	2.462(0.292)	8.24(0.083)	
Wrists posture	Wrist	8.574(0.073)	10.07(0.007)	
Wrist twist posture	Wrist	1.182(0.554)	7.325(0.035)	
Score A	Shoulder	1.921(0.59)	8.794(0.032)	
	Elbow	0.825(0.062)	5.286(0.071)	
	Wrist	0.842(0.657)	10.07(0.007)	
Neck posture	Neck	3.825(0.082)		

Table 1. Correlation between musculoskeletal disorders and level of ergonomic risk among graphics tablet users (n = 30)

(continued)

RULA	Musculoskeletal disorders	Chi-square (p value)			
		Lt.	Rt.		
Trunk posture	Upper back	7.222(0.301)			
	Lower back	3.192(0.203)			
Leg posture	Hip and thigh	0.532(0.427)			
	Knee	3.529(0.060)			
	Ankle	2.549(0.110)			
Score B	Neck	11.867(0.065)			
	Upper back	6.087(0.048)			
	Lower back	0.952(0.621)			
	Hip and thigh	0.269(0.874)			
	Knee	3.077(0.215)			
	Ankle	2.222(0.329)			
Score C	Shoulder	1.753(0.62)	8.794(0.032)		
	Elbow	0.568(0.756)	2.188(0.335)		
	Wrist	1.500(0.472)	3.182(0.231)		
Score D	Neck	7.27(0.064)			
	Upper back	18.417(0.031)			
	Lower back	1.429(0.669)			
	Hip and thigh	4.582(0.205)			
	Knee	3.077(0.380)			
	Ankle	3.077(0.380)			
Grand score	Shoulder	4.089(0.92)	9.315(0.04)		
	Elbow	5.586(0.47)	6.509(0.36)		
	Wrist	10.744(0.097)	4.235(0.145)		
	Neck	6.9000(0.029)	14.382(0.026)		
	Upper back	8.527(0.128)	20.800(0.014)		
	Lower back	0.952(0.813)	0.921(0.810)		
	Hip and thigh	0.952(0.813)	1.385(0.709)		
	Knee	0.769(0.857)	0.923(0.820)		
	Ankle	0.247(0.970)	0.667(0.881)		

Table 1. (continued)

4 Conclusion

4.1 About the Ergonomic Risk Using RULA

The RULA tool was used to evaluate the ergonomic risk of graphics tablet users and the left RULA average total Grand score was 4(60%), while the right RULA average total Grand score was 5(83.3%). It indicates that most users still have high ergonomic risk when using graphics tablet, which needs to be improved within a certain period of time. Possible reasons for the higher risk can be understood according to the scoring principle of RULE, which are used to score posture, muscle state and load, and then to score all three.

For posture scores, observe the participants' posture while using the graphics tablet. In group A, it was found that most of the participants' upper arms leaned forward at 20° -45° and some at more than 45°. Some studies have found that a comfortable posture requires an Angle between the trunk and arms less than 20°. Some participants had to move their right arm from side to side while drawing. Wrist angles are mostly $>15^{\circ}$, and the right wrist often needs to be twisted and waved. In group B, for the neck position, most of the participants looked down while looking at the computer, with the neck itself in a natural curve of more than 10° or 20° . Other participants looked down at the graphics tablet from time to time, switching back and forth between the head down and head up, and bending their neck more than 45°, increasing the risk of neck. Studies have found that there is an increased risk of neck and shoulder pain when the neck is often twisted or bent during work [6], the risk of neck pain increases when the neck is rotated more than 45° during more than 25% of the working day. Obviously, risks will also increase rapidly over time [7]. As for the trunk posture, most of the participants sat forward, with the trunk bent and unable to remain upright. Part of the study found that trunk bending and contorting at more than 30° and lasting for more than 15 min significantly increased the risk [8]. As for leg posture, some participants did not have their feet on the ground and did not have good support and balance.

As for the muscle state score, the participants were mostly static when using the graphics tablet and performed repetitive movements. When the right arm is holding the pen for drawing, it often needs to carry on the repetitive wave of the arm movement, and last a long time. The graphics tablet usage characteristics questionnaire showed that participants used the graphics tablet 1.32 ± 1.28 times per day, the duration of each use is 2.31 ± 1.87 h, with a long time of continuous operation. Studies have shown that keeping muscles static for a long time at work affects their ergonomic risk levels [9]. As for load, participants did not bear any pressure load when using the graphics tablet, and the load score was 0.

Generally speaking, the ergonomic risk of graphics tablet users mainly comes from posture and muscle state. Users' neck and wrist bending, wrist twisting, back bending increase ergonomic risk when using graphics tablet. And holding still for a long time, with repetitive movements such as the right arm swing, also increased the risk level.

4.2 About the Correlation Between Musculoskeletal Disorders and Level of Ergonomic Risk Among Graphics Tablet Users

The correlation test showed right RULA Grand Scores exists significant correlation with shoulder, neck and upper back musculoskeletal disorders. Consistent with the analysis above, a combination of postures leads to shoulder, neck, and upper back muscle pain. Left RULA Grand Scores exists no correlation with shoulder, neck and upper back musculoskeletal disorders, this may be because all the participants were right-handed, drawing with their right hand, twisting their wrists on their right hand, waving their arms, etc., and posing a greater risk than the left.

Right RULA Score A and right RULA score C are significantly correlated with shoulder musculoskeletal disorders, it indicates that the combined posture of the upper arm, lower arm and wrist has a combined effect on the musculoskeletal diseases of the shoulder. Including the forward angle of the arm exceeds 20°, Repeated swinging of

the right arm, the angle between the upper arm and lower arm is less than 100° , and twist the wrist. Right RULA Score B and right RULA Score D are significantly correlated with upper back musculoskeletal disorders. Including long time bending of the neck, bending angle more than 20° or even 45° , trunk posture bending more than 20° , the legs are not well balanced and supported. Right RULA Grand Scores exists significant correlation with neck disorders. It indicates that the comprehensive posture of the upper arm, lower arm, wrist, neck, back and leg can affect neck diseases. Therefore, in order to reduce the risk of use, try to avoid these combined positions. Right wrist posture and Wrist twist posture are significantly correlated with wrist musculoskeletal disorders. It indicates that the right wrist posture and horizontal angle are too large and the wrist twist will have a direct high risk to the wrist. Therefore, it is necessary to adjust the high-risk posture of the right hand painting.

4.3 Recommendation

In posture, the upper arm should avoid excessive forward tilt, keep the lower arm level with the table, and avoid excessive wrist bending and twisting. Sit upright, avoid bending your trunk and neck, keep your computer screen level with your eyes, and avoid switching between the graphics tablet and the computer screen frequently. Avoid one leg support and keep both legs flat on the floor for good balance and support. And avoid the combination of these posture, the combination of comprehensive poor posture has a great impact.

In muscular condition, the right arm is often engaged in long drawing movements, and the sitting position remains the same (neck bent, trunk bent). Such long repetitions should be avoided and rest after a certain amount of time.

References

- Padula, R.S., Comper, M.L.C., Sparer, E.H., Dennerlein, J.T.: Job rotation designed to prevent musculoskeletal disorders and control risk in manufacturing industries: a systematic review. Appl. Ergon. 58, 386–397 (2017)
- 2. McAtamney, L., Corlett, E.N.: RULA: a survey method for the investigation of work-related upper limb disorders. Appl. Ergon. 24, 91–99 (1993)
- Levanon, Y., Lerman, Y., Gefen, A., Ratzon, N.Z.: Validity of the modified RULA for computer workers and reliability of one observation compared to six. Ergonomics 57, 1856– 1863 (2014)
- Kuorinka, I., Jonsson, B., Kilbom, A., Vinterberg, H., Biering-Sørensen, F., Andersson, G., Jørgensen, K.: Standardised nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. Appl. Ergon. 18, 233–237 (1987)
- Namwongsa, S., Puntumetakul, R., Neubert, M.S., Chaiklieng, S., Boucaut, R.: Ergonomic risk assessment of smartphone users using the rapid upper limb assessment (RULA) tool. PLoS ONE 13, e0203394 (2018)
- Tola, S., Riihimäki, H., Videman, T., Viikari-Juntura, E., Hänninen, K.: Neck and shoulder symptoms among men in machine operating, dynamic physical work and sedentary work. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 14, 299–305 (1988)

- Ariëns, G.A., Bongers, P.M., Hoogendoorn, W.E., Van Der Wal, G., Van Mechelen, W.: High physical and psychosocial load at work and sickness absence due to neck pain. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 28, 222–231 (2002)
- Hoogendoorn, W.E., Bongers, P.M., De Vet, H.C., Ariëns, G.A., Van Mechelen, W., Bouter, L.M.: High physical work load and low job satisfaction increase the risk of sickness absence due to low back pain: results of a prospective cohort study. Occup. Environ. Med. 59, 323– 328 (2002)
- 9. Lee, J.H., Seo, K.C.: The comparison of cervical repositioning errors according to smartphone addiction grades. J. Phys. Ther. Sci. 26, 595–598 (2014)



Effects of Occupational Stressors on Depressive Symptoms: Longitudinal Study Among Medical Services and Welfare Workers

Takumi Iwaasa^(⊠), Takeshi Sasaki, Toru Yoshikawa, Yuko Ochiai, Tomohide Kubo, Tomoaki Matsuo, Xinxin Liu, and Masaya Takahashi

National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health, Tokyo, Japan tiwaasa@gmail.com, {sasakit,yoshikawa,ochiai,kubo, matsuo,liu,takaham}@h.jniosh.johas.go.jp

Abstract. This study aimed to examine the status of depression symptoms and occupational stress factors that triggered these symptoms among workers in medical and welfare industries. Web-based surveys were conducted in 2016 and 2019 among research company survey respondents regarding their work, life and health. This study extracted data for medical services and welfare workers who participated in both the initial survey in 2016 and the follow-up survey in 2019. First of all, 288 regular employees (221 men and 67 females of mean age 45.6 years, SD = 9.0) who worked in the medical services and welfare industries at the time of both surveys were identified. Of these, 115 presented with depressive symptoms by CES-D scale (39.9%), indicating a higher ratio compared to other occupations. Following this, for the 173 respondents who did not present with depressive symptoms in the initial survey but developed depressive symptoms during the three years following the initial survey, changes (favorable, improved, no change, deteriorated, unfavorable) in occupational stressors were analyzed using explanatory variables. As the results of logistic regression analysis, at the time of the follow-up survey, 32 respondents presented with symptoms of depression (18.5%), and environmental work stress (noise, lighting, temperature, ventilation, etc.) and interpersonal stress at work (unfavorable stress conditions at the time of both surveys) significantly affect the onset of these symptoms. Many medical services and welfare workers are required to suppress their own emotions as they go about their busy daily duties of caring for others, and this study suggests that they are working under highly stressful conditions. There is a strong sense that the workplace has reached an impasse, and a new approach is needed in a bid to revitalize the organization and create attractive company structures, as well as improve the physical working environment.

Keywords: Medical services and welfare workers · Depressive symptoms · Work environment · Interpersonal relationships · Nudge

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 309–315, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_41

1 Introduction

Since introducing the Stress Check System in 2015, employees' stress conditions are better understood, and efforts are being made to prevent poor mental health among employees by promoting employees' awareness of their own stress levels as well as creating a more comfortable workplace in a bid to improve the work environment [1]. However, when looking at the actual workplace, substantial time and effort are devoted to so-called high-risk employees, such as selecting employees with high levels of stress and making time for doctor consultations, and it has been pointed out that efforts have not extended to improving the work environment and promoting the creation of a more comfortable workplace [2]. In addition to these reasons, it is also possible that workplaces are struggling to plan concrete measures and prioritize measures.

Looking at the medical services and welfare fields, as represented by Burnout Syndrome such as occupational diseases among interpersonal service professionals, mental health issues among medical services and welfare workers are also a serious issue [3]. In actual fact, looking at the transition of former employees and new employees, there is no indication that the situation has improved since the implementation of the Stress Check System. Japan is aging at a faster pace than other countries, and the demand for medical welfare and nursing care is expected to increase for both patients and users. The Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare [4] estimates that the number of medical services and welfare workers will increase from 8.23 million in 2018 to about 10.6 million in 2040 [5]. However, the total labor force in Japan will decrease from about 66.6 million in 2018 to about 60 million by 2040. This means that a 30% increase in medical services and welfare workers is needed when the total labor force will shrink by 10%. In order to secure future medical services and welfare workers and retain current workers, creating an attractive, healthy, and safe work environment is an urgent issue.

In this study, web-based surveys were conducted in 2016, the year after the Stress Check System was introduced, and in 2019, to examine the status of depressive symptoms in medical services and welfare workers and the occupational stressors that triggered these symptoms.

2 Methods

Web-based surveys were conducted in 2016 and 2019 among research company survey respondents regarding their work, life and health. This study extracted data for medical services and welfare workers who participated in both the initial survey in 2016 and the follow-up survey in 2019.

The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) was used to assess depressive symptoms among medical services and welfare workers [7]. In this study, the Japanese version of CES-D was employed [8]. it is used widely all over the world because of its usefulness as a screening test for depression. The possible range for the 20-item scale is 0 to 60, and we employed a cut off score of 16 or higher, which score indicates the presence of significant depressive symptoms.

We evaluated occupational stressors by using the subscales consisting of 9 factors with 17 items (quantitative work overload, qualitative work overload, physical burden, work environment, interpersonal relationship, job control, skill utilization, job aptitude, and job satisfaction) derived from the Brief Job Stress Questionnaire with 4-point Likert scale [6].

This study examines occupational stressors. First, the raw score of each item was converted into a 5-point standardized score based on the conversion table. For instance, the degree of psychological workload (volume) used a raw score total from the three statements "I have a large volume of work", "I cannot complete work in the required time", and "I must work extremely hard" and 1 point was given for a total raw score of 3 or less, 2 points for a total raw score of 4–5, 3 points for a total raw score of 6–7, 4 points for a total raw score of 8–9, and 5 points for scores of 10 or more.

Next, the shift in the standardized score between 2016 and 2019 was interpreted as the 3-year change in stressors, and broken down into five levels; favorable, improved, no change, deteriorated, unfavorable (Fig. 1). For example, a change from 5 in 2016 (low stress) to 1 in 2019 (high stress) was classified as "deteriorated". Then, using the no change group as a reference, the odds ratio was used to determine the possibility of affecting depressive symptoms in the other four groups by using logistic regression analysis.

The study was approved by the ethics committee of the authors' institution (Application Number: H2812). The participants were informed that participation in this study was voluntary and that no one was required to complete the questionnaire.



Notes: From 1 to 5 points mean the standardized scores of stressors.

Fig. 1. Five levels of the 3-year change in stressors

Results 3

320 regular employees (239 males and 81 females) and 322 (271 males and 51 females) regular employees who worked in the medical services and welfare industries answered the questionnaire in 2016 and 2019. In the base-line survey in 2016, 288 regular employees (221 men and 67 females of mean age 45.6 years, SD = 9.0) who worked in the medical services and welfare industries at the time of both surveys were identified. Of these, 115 presented with depressive symptoms by CES-D scale (39.9%), indicating a higher ratio compared to other occupations. Following this, for the 173 respondents (138 men and 35 females of mean age 46.8 years, SD = 9.1) who did not present with depressive symptoms in the base-line survey but developed depressive symptoms during the three years following the base-line survey, changes (favorable, improved, no change, deteriorated, unfavorable) in stressors were analyzed using explanatory variables.

At the time of the follow-up survey, 32 respondents presented with depressive symptoms (18.5%). Next, a binomial logistic regression analysis was performed to examine the relationship between depressive symptoms and the stressors. The odds ratio in this analysis is the adjusted odds ratio (aOR) and is calculated so that differences in age bracket and gender do not affect the analysis results. As the results of the analysis, deterioration of the work environment (aOR 4.77, 95% CI 1.51-15.07) and poor interpersonal relationships (aOR 4.01, 95% CI 1.54-10.46) at the time of both surveys have significantly affected the onset of the symptoms, while quantitative work overload, qualitative work overload, physical burden, job control, skill utilization, job aptitude, and job satisfaction were not significantly related (Table 1).

3-year stress change	Quantitative work overload	Qualitative work overload	Physical burden	Work environmet	Interpersonal relationship	Job control	skill utilization	Job aptitude	Job satisfaction
	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)
No change	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
	(Reference)	(Reference)	(Reference)	(Reference)	(Reference)	(Reference)	(Reference)	(Reference)	(Reference)
	n=95	n=78	n=70	n=104	n=103	n=76	n=101	n=89	n=93
Deteriorated	2.50	2.79	3.62	2.19	2.93	1.89	1.53	2.65	0.51
	(0.72-8.65)	(0.78-9.93)	(0.88-14.96)	(0.57-8.39)	(0.63-13.53)	(0.56-6.37)	(0.43-5.39)	(0.89-7.84)	(0.14-1.93)
	n=18	n=35	n=65	n=16	n=26	n=17	n=25	n=22	n=23
Unfavorable	2.02	1.28	1.88	4.77	4.01	1.43	1.83	1.14	0.75
	(0.66-6.17)	(0.45-3.69)	(0.74-4.76)	(1.51-15.07)	(1.54-10.46)	(0.40-5.14)	(0.66-5.10)	(0.33-3.91)	(0.22-2.53)
	n=13	n=13	n=12	n=15	n=9	n=17	n=16	n=20	n=20
Improved	0.29	1.08	1.03	1.80	0.96	0.90	2.01	1.20	0.39
	(0.03-2.41)	(0.27-4.34)	(0.11-9.52)	(0.43-7.61)	(0.31-3.02)	(0.22-3.62)	(0.47-8.65)	(0.35-4.13)	(0.08-1.83)
	n=14	n=16	n=9	n=12	n=11	n=18	n=10	n=21	n=18
Favorable	0.28	0.50	2.22	0.49	0.24	0.92	0.65	0.53	0.19
	(0.06-1.29)	(0.13-1.87)	(0.59-8.42)	(0.11-2.32)	(0.03-1.90)	(0.33-2.56)	(0.51-2.32)	(0.11-2.55)	(0.02-1.48)
	n=33	n=31	n=17	n=26	n=24	n=45	n=21	n=21	n=19

Table 1. Results of binomial logistic regression analysis

aOR=adjusted odds ratio; CI=confidence intervals Bold indicates significant at p<=0.05.
4 Discussion and Future Research

Toward improvements in the work environment, at present, various initiatives for improving the work environment are being carried out at medical and welfare facilities. For instance, using insights gained from ergonomics research (e.g., Participatory Ergonomics) and from group discussions in which workers themselves participate, initiatives include evaluating the risk factors in the workplace, and proposing, implementing, evaluating, and re-proposing workplace improvements while using tools such as the work environment improvement action checklist [9]. Moving forward, it will become even more important to leverage these initiatives in workplace interventions, to measure effects, and to gather practical and comprehensive case studies.

On the other hand, in recent years, with regard to interpersonal relations, the nudge approach is attracting attention as a way to spontaneously change people's consciousness and behavior without force. For instance, rather than meeting in a conference room at a fixed time, companies are encouraging (or "nudging") employees to subtly changes their behavior by creating spaces and opportunities in the workplace for staff can go to take a break and interact, such as in multipurpose office space or while doing small tasks like throwing away trash or making copies.

Johnson & Johnson K.K. in Japan, which handles healthcare-related products, has prepared a space that focuses on "interaction" as part of office layout reforms. By visiting this space, employees can casually mingle with staff from other departments over coffee. Also, this space now housed the communal stationery supplies, which had been managed separately in each department, and this led to a secondary benefit of reducing the total stationery inventory. The company has also started reforming the office. Previously, related departments were said to not be working closely together. There were not many opportunities for staff in different departments to meet each other outside of the meeting rooms, making it difficult to engage in meaningful communication. The conference rooms have frosted glass on the windows, which restricts sight lines and results in a feeling of obstruction. However, after the layout changes where the aim was to create an open office, the new layout was said to create a better flow of people and improve communication among employees. Previous research has shown that setting up spaces near windows and around employees' seats not only increases communication but also encourages information sharing within the organization [10]

The nudge approach is starting to be used in medical field, as a measure to curtail overtime. It is difficult to develop and introduce measures that produce immediate results, and this has been an ongoing issue for nursing managers. One hospital in Japan introduced a two-color system for nurse uniforms, successfully reducing overtime from 72.1 h (2012) to 51.0 h (2015), [11]. This was thought to be effective for three reasons: (1) visual recognition of overtime workers, (2) greater awareness of working efficiently, and (3) heightened cooperation among staff. In addition to these reasons, having a different color uniform to other nursing staff, not only tells nurses and doctors that the

nurse is from a previous shift, but it is thought that patients also recognize this, and therefore works as a deterrent against working overtime due to the psychological desire to be as inconspicuous as possible [12].

Previous research has compiled many studies targeting medical services and welfare workers. However, many of these are cross-sectional surveys. Therefore, it is significant that a longitudinal survey was conducted in this study and focused on how changes in stress levels over the years impact the mental health of medical services and welfare workers. However, since the survey included respondents from other industries, it was not possible to secure a sufficient number of medical services and welfare workers. Furthermore, the sample's male to female ratio was 8:2, but the actual percentage of female medical services and welfare workers in Japan is 71% ([13]. Moving forward, we will examine sampling methods, accumulate and share cases of improvement in the workplace using the nudge approach, and measure the effects.

References

- Kawakami, N., Tsutsumi, A.: The stress check program: a new national policy for monitoring and screening psychosocial stress in the workplace in Japan. J. Occup. Health 58, 1–6 (2016)
- 2. Yoshikawa, E., Yoshikawa, T.: Group analysis and workplace environment improvements in the stress check program. Stress Sci. Res. **31**, 16–22 (2016). (in Japanese)
- Sano, Y., Yoshikawa, T., Nakashima, Y., Kido, M., Ogawa, M., Makimoto, H., Mastumoto, K., Aizawa, Y.: Analysis of occupational health activities through classifying reports from medical facilities in Japan, J. Occup. Health. https://doi.org/10.1539/sangyoeisei.2019-010-B
- 4. The Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare: Social security reform: Looking ahead to 2040. https://www.mhlw.go.jp/content/12601000/000474989.pdf. Accessed on 8 Apr 2020. (in Japanese)
- 5. Nakamura, S.: Future outlook for healthcare—from a political perspective. J. Int. Univ. Health Welfare **24**, 1–5 (2019). (in Japanese)
- Shimomitsu, T.: The final development of the Brief Job Stress Questionnaire mainly used for assessment of the individuals. Ministry for Labour sponsored grant for the prevention of work-related illness: The 1999 report, pp. 126–164 (2020)
- 7. Radloff, L.S.: The CES-D scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. Appl. Psychol. Meas. 1, 385–401 (1972)
- 8. Shima, S., Shikano, T., Kitamura, T.: A new self-report depression scale. Psychiatry 27, 717–723 (1985). (in Japanese)
- Kogi, K., Sano, Y., Yoshikawa, T., Yoshikawa, E.: Extending participatory ergonomics to work stress prevention adapted to local situations. In: Proceedings of the 20th Congress of the International Ergonomics Association, IEA 2018, Volume II: Safety and Health, Slips, Trips and Falls, pp. 373–381. Springer, New York (2018)
- Nagareda, A., Nishimura, N., Ito, K., Higuchi, M., Tanabe, S., Ito, T., Mase, R.: A low carbon building with high workplace productivity for advanced office (Part25): the result of questionnaire and communication surveys in the pre and post-relocation offices. In: Proceedings of the Society of Heating, Air-Conditioning Sanitary Engineers of Japan, pp. 2793–2796 (2012). (in Japanese)
- 11. Ohira, K., Nakamura, E., Sugimoto, R., Hirota, M.: The Efforts to reducing overtime: A twocolor system for nurse uniforms. Jpn. J. Nurs. Sci. **42**, 24–32 (2017). (in Japanese)

- 12. Mizuno, M.: New approach to behavioral change in behavioral economics: nudge for the improvement of work environment in the medical services and welfare fields and healthy management. Kango Bucho Tsushin **17**, 15–23 (2019). (in Japanese)
- 13. Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications: Service industry in 2018. https://www. stat.go.jp/data/e-census/topics/topi1171.html. Accessed on 8 Apr 2020. (in Japanese)

Workload Assessment



An Evaluation of Numerical Integration Methods for Estimating Cumulative Loading Based on Discrete Spinal Loads

Laura Johnen^(⊠), Alexander Mertens, Verena Nitsch, and Christopher Brandl

Institute of Industrial Engineering and Ergonomics of RWTH, Aachen University, 52062 Aachen, Germany {l.johnen, a.mertens, v.nitsch}@iaw.rwth-aachen.de

Abstract. The focus of this contribution is to evaluate numerical integration methods with regard to their comparability for estimating cumulative loading based on discrete spinal loads. In this context, the influence of both weighting factors and sampling rate are investigated using a time-varying loading profile recorded in a laboratory study with 12 subjects. A biomechanical model was used to calculate the compression force at L5/S1. Three numerical integration methods were compared. Results clearly confirm the need to establish a standardized assessment procedure for cumulative loading to ensure the comparability of assessment results and promote scientific progress in the field of physical stress assessment.

Keywords: Cumulative loading · Numerical integration · Spinal loads

1 Introduction

Low back pain accounts for a large proportion of work-related musculoskeletal disorders (WMSD) [1], which are one of the most common causes of chronic pain and also lead to high health care costs. For the prevention of WMSD, the assessment of physical stress at the workplace is of central importance. Given the dynamic nature of physical work activities in occupational practice [2], the consideration of the temporal variability of loading is a central requirement for ergonomic assessment methods. In this context, assessment methods based on the evaluation of average or peak loads, however, have proven to be not fully suitable as they carry the risk of systematic misclassification and lead to unsafe tasks being classified as safe, and vice versa [3].

A promising concept to consider the temporal course of physical stress is cumulative loading, which has been associated with the occurrence of low back pain [4, 5]. In general, the estimation of cumulative loading follows the principle of integrating the load over time [6] which corresponds to calculating the area under the loading curve. Since the loading is normally given only by discrete values, methods of numerical integration are used for approximating the area. However, little attention has been paid to establish a standardized assessment method for cumulative loading especially with regard to the relative weighting of load intensity and load duration [6]. In order to take

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_42

into account the disproportionately higher overexertion risk of high forces derived from in-vitro studies on the failure behaviour of human vertebrae specimen, [7] and [8] propose a quadratic or even higher weighting of load intensity relative to load duration. Moreover, the spacing of the subintervals the area is approximated with corresponds directly to the rate with which the loading is recorded in occupational practice. Therefore, it is relevant to understand the influence of the sampling rate on the calculation of cumulative loading [9, 10].

Of particular interest is the comparability of evaluation results when using different methods. In this contribution, the term method refers to the combination of the three factors numerical integration method, weighting of load intensity and sampling rate. If evaluation results are significantly influenced by these factors, this could lead to both evaluation results of comparable working conditions being different and evaluation results of different working conditions being comparable only if the calculation method is identical. Therefore, the aim is to evaluate the comparability of different calculation methods for estimating cumulative loading based on discrete spinal loads. It was hypothesized that both the use of exponential weighting factors and a reduction of the sampling rate lead to differences in the calculated cumulative loading.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Integration Methods

The three numerical integration methods compared were the composite rectangle rule (R), composite trapezoid rule (T) and composite Simpson's rule (S), which approximate an area via rectangles, trapezoids and quadratic functions, respectively as shown in Fig. 1. Integration methods that require a function to be given explicitly were not evaluated as loading in occupational practice is normally given only by discrete values.



Fig. 1. Numerical integration methods (f.l.t.r.): R, T and S (dark grey: interpolated function, light grey: approximated area, circles: discrete loading data)

2.2 Data Collection, Data Processing and Analysis

The underlying data used were time-varying discrete spinal load data recorded in a laboratory study with 12 subjects (8 female, 4 male). Prior to the study, the subjects' mean (SD) age (mean = 23.7 (2.7) years), height (mean = 172.0 (7.0) cm) and body weight (mean = 64.9 (10.2) kg) were recorded. While performing a task, the subjects' body posture was recorded at a rate of 30 Hz using Microsoft KinectTM V2. A static biomechanical model based on the model for symmetrical activities by [11] was used to

calculate compression force at L5/S1. As shown in Fig. 2, subjects performed a twodimensional, symmetric lifting/lowering task in the sagittal plan with an external load (6 kilograms) in both hands. The range of movement with respect to the degree of trunk inclination was standardised to a range from 0° to 40° . The working pace was set to one lift/lowering every 3 s and audibly signalled using a digital metronome. Prior to the start, subjects completed a practice session in order to familiarize themselves with the task and given pace.

In addition to the three numerical integration methods, three load intensity weighting factors and three sampling rates were analyzed. The three weighting factors with the corresponding unit were: linear (lin) [kNs], quadratic (qu) [kN²s] and cubic (cu) [kN³s] load intensity weighting. Moreover, the sampling rates 3 Hz, 15 Hz and 30 Hz were compared. The frequency of 3 Hz was chosen as lower threshold for sampling rates with regard to their relative error as previously defined by [9]. Discrete loading values for the lower frequencies were calculated based on the original frequency of 30 Hz as the average value for a time interval. Numerical integration was performed in Matlab R2017b according to the Newton-Cotes formulas for the three numerical methods [12].



Fig. 2. Symmetric lifting/lowering task in the sagittal plane

Since the Shapiro-Wilk test indicated a deviation from normality for some data sets, Wilcox's robust statistical analysis was run. All analyses were performed in R 3.5.1 [13], using the WRS2 functions *rmanova* and *rmmcp* described by [14] for robust repeated-measures ANOVA and pairwise post hoc test based on multiple comparisons, respectively. To investigate the influence of the numerical integration method, differences of the calculated cumulative loading within a fixed sampling rate were analysed for each weighting factor. Similarly, within an identical numerical integration method, differences of the calculated cumulative loading depending on the sampling rate were examined for each weighting factor. Significance was accepted at the α -level of p < .05.

3 Results

Figure 3 shows a part of the calculated spinal loads of one test subject. The total mean (SD) duration of the movement across all subjects was 408.4 (60.9) s.



Fig. 3. Discrete spinal load profile (linear weighting) with interpolated function

All results are given as mean values \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Figure 4 shows the calculated cumulative loading for each weighting factor and numerical integration method within a sampling rate. Overall, the results are homogeneous for every weighting factor for both different integration methods and different sampling rates.



Fig. 4. Mean cumulative loading (\pm SEM) for each weighting factor and integration method

With regard to the influence of the integration method, the analysis indicates no significant difference for linear weighting. For quadratic and cubic weighting, the results indicate significant differences between the integration methods for every sampling rate. Pairwise comparisons showed significant differences between the results obtained with the trapezoidal rule (T) and both the rectangle rule (R) ($p_{qu,RT} < .001$, $p_{cu,RT} < .001$ for all sampling rates) and Simpson's rule (S) ($p_{3Hz,qu,TS} < .001$, $p_{15Hz,qu}$, $_{TS} < .001$, $p_{30Hz,qu,TS} = .001$ and $p_{cu,TS} < .001$ for all sampling rates) but not between the rectangle and Simpson's rule ($p_{3Hz,qu,RS} = .534$, $p_{15Hz,qu,RS} = .206$, $p_{30Hz,qu,RS} = .885$, $p_{_{3Hz,cu,RS}} = .783 p_{15Hz,cu,RS} = .102 p_{30Hz,cu,RS} = .804$). Statistics are presented in Table 1.

Calculation method [Sampling rate, weighting factor]	F	df1	df2	p
3 Hz, linear	3.40	1.06	7.43	.104
15 Hz, linear	5.42	1.02	7.14	.052
30 Hz, linear	.37	1.01	7.05	.56
3 Hz, quadratic	68.22	1.10	7.63	<.001
15 Hz, quadratic	9.91	1.36	9.53	.008
30 Hz, quadratic	19.25	1.85	12.92	<.001
3 Hz, cubic	44.73	1.07	7.52	<.001
15 Hz, cubic	17.75	1.97	13.79	<.001
30 Hz, cubic	15.95	1.48	10.37	.001

 Table 1. Results of one-way ANOVA comparing the calculated mean cumulative loading for different numerical integration methods

With regard to the influence of the sampling rate used to record loading data, results indicate no significant difference in the case of linear weighting for the calculation using the trapezoidal and Simpson's rule. However, for cumulative loading calculated using the rectangle rule, results indicate a significant difference between sampling rates for linear weighting. For quadratic and cubic weighting of the load intensity, the analysis showed significant differences between the sampling rates for all numerical integration methods.

Pairwise comparisons in the case of a significant overall test showed a significant difference between the cumulative loading estimated based on loading values sampled at 3 Hz compared to 15 Hz ($p_{R,lin,3-15} = .018$, $p_{R,qu,3-15} = .002$, $p_{T,qu,3-15} < .001$, $p_{S,qu,3-15} = .003$, $p_{R,cu,3-15} = .001$, $p_{T,cu,3-15} < .001$, $p_{S,cu,3-15} = .002$) and 30 Hz($p_{R,lin,3-30} = .001$, $p_{R,qu,3-0} = .001$, $p_{T,qu,3-30} < .001$, $p_{S,qu,3-30} = .002$, $p_{T,cu,3-30} = .002$, $p_{T,cu,3-30} < .001$, $p_{S,cu,3-30} = .002$, $p_{T,cu,3-30} < .001$, $p_{S,cu,3-30} = .002$) but no significant difference between 15 Hz and 30 Hz ($p_{R,lin,15-0} = .214$, $p_{R,sq,15-30} = .403$, $p_{T,sq,15-30} < .503$, $p_{S,sq,15-30} = .805$, $p_{R,cu,15-30} = .642$, $p_{T,cu,15-30} < .164$, $p_{S,cu,15-30} = .642$). Statistics are presented in Table 2.

Calculation method [Integration method, weighting factor]	F	df1	df2	p
Rectangle, linear	6.10	1.72	12.07	.017
Trapezoid, linear	1.57	1.75	12.28	.247
Simpson's, linear	2.72	1.99	13.9	.101
Rectangle, quadratic	18.23	1.54	10.81	<.001
Trapezoid, quadratic	109.35	1.22	8.53	<.001
Simpson's, quadratic	10.55	1.32	9.26	.007
Rectangle, cubic	33.75	1.31	9.18	<.001
Trapezoid, cubic	54.41	1.05	7.37	<.001
Simpson's, cubic	33.75	1.31	9.18	<.001

 Table 2. Results of one-way ANOVA comparing the calculated mean cumulative loading for different sampling rates

4 Discussion

The focus of this contribution was to investigate whether the factors numerical integration method, weighting of load intensity and sampling rate influence the calculated cumulative load. Overall, different numerical integration methods lead to homogeneous results regarding the calculated cumulative loading for the specific loading profile analyzed. In the case of linear weighting and for data recorded at a sufficient high sampling rate, different integration methods do not show significant differences in the calculated cumulative loading profile examined.

However, the results suggest that recording loading data at a low rate or using exponential weighting factors lead to significant differences in terms of the calculated cumulative loading. This could lead to a situation where, on the one hand, evaluation results of comparable working conditions are significantly different depending on the sampling rate and numerical integration method used and, on the other hand, evaluation results of different working conditions are only comparable if the sampling rate and numerical integration method are identical. In this case, the comparison of assessment results with general limit values would also be considerably more difficult.

Therefore, the results of this contribution underline the need to establish a standardized assessment method for cumulative loading. This is necessary since otherwise a continuous scientific progress through independent studies is made difficult because results based on different calculation methods cannot be compared and generalizable limit values for cumulative loading cannot be derived.

Regarding the comparison of the different integration methods, pairwise comparisons showed significant differences between the results obtained with the trapezoid rule on the one hand and the rectangle and Simpson's rules on the other hand, but not between the rectangle rule and Simpson's rule with the trapezoid rule yielding at slightly lower cumulative loading values. In fact, the trapezoid rule results in an underestimation for concave down curves and an overestimation for concave up curves as shown in Fig. 1. The rectangle rule results in an underestimation for inclining curves and an overestimation for declining curves, respectively. For the specific loading profile in this study, the trapezoid rule results in an underestimation for the sections of the loading curves with relatively higher values and, therefore, likely results in a lower estimated cumulative loading value. In the case of the rectangle rule, over- and underestimation might tend to cancel each other out for this specific periodic loading profile. Therefore, the reason for this observation probably lies in the specific loading profile evaluated in this study and cannot be generalized.

The task analyzed in this contribution was a two-dimensional lifting/lowering task in the sagittal plane. This simplification of a real working task was made in order to standardize the movement performed by the test subjects. Whereas body height and weight were considered in the biomechanical calculation of the spinal loading values, the dynamic effects due to acceleration during the movements of body parts and the external weight were neglected in the biomechanical calculation. Although the loading values would have changed overall if dynamic effects had been taken into account, these effects are not relevant to the objective of this contribution, since this contribution focuses on the estimation of the relative comparability of different calculation methods for cumulative loading.

While this contribution was limited to a small number of test subjects performing a relatively short working task, the results clearly confirm the need to establish a standardized assessment procedure for cumulative loading. In this context, further research needs can be formulated based on the results of the study.

Two exponential weighting factors were analyzed as examples. It became clear that their use influences the comparability of evaluation results substantially. In order to examine this effect more closely, it is necessary to determine exact weighting factors based on empirical studies. Also, further research is required with regard to the influence of the speed of movement on the minimum sampling rate necessary to calculate cumulative loading accurately. The influence of the speed of movement is particularly relevant with regard to the interpretation of the factor sampling rate. It is quite conceivable that for a slower movement than the movement examined here, lower sampling rates would be sufficient and lead to comparable evaluation results as high sampling rates. In addition, further investigation of less periodic exposure profiles seems appropriate.

5 Conclusion

This contribution underlines the pressing need to define a standardized calculation method for cumulative loading since otherwise neither general associations between cumulative loading and physiological parameters nor limit values can be derived. Further research is required especially with regard to the determination of empirically based weighting factors, the influence of movement speed and the general analysis of less periodic load profiles.

References

- Maher, C., Underwood, M., Buchbinder, R.: Non-specific low back pain. Lancet 389 (10070), 736–747 (2017)
- Iridiastadi, H., Nussbaum, M.A.: Muscle fatigue and endurance during repetitive intermittent static efforts: development of prediction models. Ergonomics 49(4), 344–360 (2006)
- Garg, A., Kapellusch, J.M.: The cumulative lifting index (CULI) for the revised NIOSH lifting equation: quantifying risk for workers with job rotation. Hum. Factors 58(5), 683–694 (2016)
- 4. Kumar, S.: Cumulative load as a risk factor for back pain. Spine 15(12), 1311-1316 (1990)
- Norman, R., Wells, R., Neumann, P., Frank, J., Shannon, H., Kerr, M.: A comparison of peak vs cumulative physical work exposure risk factors for the reporting of low back pain in the automotive industry. Clin. Biomech. 13(8), 561–573 (1998)
- Waters, T., Yeung, S., Genaidy, A., Callaghan, J., Barriera-Viruet, H., Abdallah, S., Kumar, S.: Cumulative spinal loading exposure methods for manual material handling tasks. part 2: methodological issues and applicability for use in epidemiological studies. Theor. Issues Ergon. Sci. 7(2), 131–148 (2006)

- Jäger, M., Jordan, C., Luttmann, A., Laurig, W., Dolly Group: Evaluation and assessment of lumbar load during total shifts for occupational manual materials handling jobs within the dortmund lumbar load study – DOLLY. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 25(6), 553–571 (2000)
- 8. Gallagher, S., Schall, M.C.: Musculoskeletal disorders as a fatigue failure process: evidence, implications and research needs. Ergonomics, **60** (2), 255–269 (2017)
- Andrews, D.M., Callaghan, J.P.: Determining the minimum sampling rate needed to accurately quantify cumulative spine loading from digitized video. Appl. Ergon. 34(6), 589– 595 (2003)
- Brandl, C., Mertens, A., Schlick, C.M.: Effect of sampling interval on the reliability of ergonomic analysis using the Ovako working posture analysing system (OWAS). Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 57, 68–73 (2017)
- Jäger, M., Luttmann, A.: Biomechanical analysis and assessment of lumbar stress during load lifting using a dynamic 19-segment human model. Ergonomics 32(1), 93–112 (1987)
- 12. Abramowitz, M., Stegun, I.A. (eds.): Handbook of Mathematical Functions With Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables, 9th edn. Dover Publ, New York (2013)
- 13. R Core Team: R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria (2018)
- Mair, P., Wilcox, R.: robust statistical methods in R using the WRS2 package. Behav. Res. Methods 52, 464–488 (2019)



The Influence of the Relative Working Position as a Function of Body Dimensions on Working Posture, Compression Load on L5/S1 and Muscle Activity

Christopher Brandl^(IM), Alexander Mertens, and Verena Nitsch

Institute of Industrial Engineering and Ergonomics, RWTH Aachen University, Eilfschornsteinstraße 18, 52062 Aachen, Germany {c.brandl, a.mertens, v.nitsch}@iaw.rwth-aachen.de

Abstract. In the light of increasing awareness for protection of personal data condition-based analyses in ergonomics will gain more importance. For postures, however, observational personal-based analyses are usually carried out. The article therefore examined whether the relative working position has an influence on working posture, compression load on L5/S1 and electrical muscle activity in order to be used as a condition-based risk factor for future analyses. An empirical study was conducted with 20 subjects. Results revealed that the relative working position on all investigated factors. This allows consolidating that a condition-based analysis is also possible for postures.

Keywords: Working posture \cdot Working position \cdot Compression load \cdot Muscle activity \cdot WMSD \cdot Risk assessment

1 Introduction

Awkward working postures are known to be a major risk factor for work-related musculoskeletal disorders (WMSD) [1]. A necessary prerequisite for the reduction of such adverse consequences is the ergonomic analysis of working postures and the subsequent development and implementation of corresponding corrective measures. In occupational practice, usually observational methods are applied which use score systems to evaluate the risk on the musculoskeletal system [2]. From a methodological point of view, these score systems are flawed, because it is difficult (or even impossible) to determine whether these score systems are "true" or "correct", and equally difficult to determine whether they are "untrue" or "incorrect" [3]. Yet, due to their ease of use, they are frequently applied in practice. Hence, there is a pronounced demand for the development of methods for the assessment of WMSD risk factors, which satisfy the test criteria of objectivity, reliability and validity, as well as practical requirements.

The General Data Protection Regulation regulates the data protection and privacy in the European Union. This makes the individual-related collection of personal ergonomic data more difficult, even if they are to be used for occupational safety and health. For working postures in particular, it is unclear from a scientific perspective whether it is always necessary to observe the working posture extensively (people-based analysis)

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license

to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 327–333, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_43

or whether a risk assessment can be carried out based on the working position (condition-based analysis). The work position refers to the location at the workplace where the work actually takes place. It is operationalized by horizontal and vertical distances between component and worker. However, the same working position already leads to a variance in the working posture for different worker, e.g. due to different body dimensions. Correspondingly, a conditional analysis would have to consider a large variance in the working posture. A promising approach to reduce this variance seems to be the use of relative work positions as a function of body dimensions.

The question arises whether an accurate prediction of WMSD risk based on relative working positions is possible. Therefore, an empirical study was conducted to examine the influence of the relative working position on risk-relevant indicators of the WMSD. The research question is investigated using the example of WMSD risk of the back. Specifically, it is examined whether there is an influence of the relative working position as a function of body dimensions on working posture, compression load on the intervertebral disc L5/S1 and electrical muscle activity.

2 Methods

2.1 Participants, Experimental Task and Experimental Design

An empirical study was conducted to evaluate the influence of the relative working position on working posture, compression load on L5/S1 and muscle activity as relevant WMSD risk indicators. 20 right-handed subjects aged 19 to 64 years (mean = 37 yrs.) participated in the empirical study. The body weight including clothing of the persons varied between 52 and 113 kg (mean = 71 kg). At the time of the empirical study, none of the test persons reported having musculoskeletal complaints or diseases in the last 12 month. Dermatological complaints or diseases which would have avoided the application of markers and sensors on the skin were also not reported. The anthropometric measurements were collected according to DIN 33402-2 (Table 1).

_			
Anthropometric measurements	Mean	Max.	Min.
Body height	1.74 m	1.93 m	1.62 m
Eye height	1.64 m	1.80 m	1.51 m
Shoulder height above floor level	1.45 m	1.63 m	1.33 m
Elbow height	1.08 m	1.23 m	1.01 m
Tibial height	.55 m	.63 m	.51 m
Height of the hand (handle axis) above floor level	.80 m	1.02 m	.73 m
Reach upward, both arms (handle axis)	2.07 m	2.33 m	1.91 m
Reach forward, both arms (handle axis)	.73 m	.81 m	.64 m
Foot length	.29 m	.33 m	.24 m

Table 1. Anthropometric measurements of the subjects (n = 20).

The experimental task was to change an air valve return spring on a carburetor. For this, the carburetor cover had to be removed with a cordless screwdriver and then remounted. The experimental task was carried out by means of an image-supported work step instruction and consisted of the following work steps.

- 1. grasp cordless screwdriver from shelf with right hand
- 2. loosen screw top right first and screw bottom left afterwards
- 3. place cordless screwdriver on shelf and place screws in bulk material container
- 4. grasp and pull off carburetor cover with right hand and spring with left hand
- 5. put spring on shelf and grasp new spring with left hand, while holding the carburetor cover in right hand
- 6. place spring in carburetor with right hand and push on carburetor cover with left hand
- 7. pick up cordless screwdriver with right hand from shelf and pick up screws with left hand from bulk material container
- 8. mount screw top right first and screw bottom left afterwards
- 9. put cordless screwdriver on shelf

The experimental task was carried out in different working positions. The working positions were defined individually depending on the anthropometric measurements of the subject in order to achieve a standardization. Accordingly, these are relative work positions. The horizontal position (h) was defined relative to the forward reach of the arms and the vertical position (v) relative to the upward reach of the arms, both according to DIN 33402-2. A total of 20 relative working positions were investigated (Fig. 1). The horizontal position varied between h = 50% and h = 130% of the forward reach of the arms. The vertical position varied between v = 20% and v = 65% of the upward reach of the arms. The vertical positions were defined to correspond approximately to heart height (60%), elbow height (50%), crotch height (35%) and tibial height (20%). A Microsoft Excel sheet was used to calculate the relative working positions for each subject individually.



Fig. 1. Investigated relative working positions on the sagittal plane.

As dependent variables the back posture, the compression load of the intervertebral disc L5/S1 and the electrical muscle activity in M. Erector Spinae (ERSP) are measured. The back posture was calculated based on the motion capture data as the percentage of the total execution time of the neutral posture category R-1 (back straight) as defined by Ovako Working Posture Analysing System (OWAS) [4, 5]. The compression load of the intervertebral disc L5/S1 was also calculated based on the motion capture data using the biomechanical model as defined by [6]. Electrical muscle activity was recorded for M. Erector Spinae and normalized with the maximum voluntary muscle contraction as defined by [7]. Repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed with an accepted α -level of p = .05.

2.2 Apparatus, Experimental Procedure, Data Collection and Processing

The experimental setup consists of a shelf, a horizontally movable foot barrier and a height-adjustable table with the carburetor setup. The carburetor setup was designed so that all relative working positions could be adjusted for the 5th percentile female to the 95th percentile male. It consists of a height-adjustable table and a constructed frame to which four identical carburetors have been attached at 0.45 m intervals one above the other. An additional room was used for the preparation and follow-up of the subjects.

The study was conducted over a period of approximately 2 h and 30 min for each subject. The study was carried out with the subsequent five-stage test procedure.

- 1. Starting with a welcome, the access requirements of the subject was checked and a statement about the procedure was given. Subsequently, the subject signed the experimental information and agreed to participate voluntarily. Finally, the preliminary survey was conducted to record personal characteristics.
- 2. The anthropometric measurements and weight of the test person were measured. Electromyography electrodes were attached and the maximum voluntary muscle contraction was recorded. The markers for motion capture then were attached.
- 3. The experimental task was explained and trained in ten repetitions. The test subjects were immediately informed of errors in the execution of the work step instruction.
- 4. The main experiment was carried out in permuted order of the relative working positions.
- 5. Finally, the markers and electromyography electrodes were removed and the subject was questioned.

A camera system consisting of six Vicon Bonita 10 with reflective markers was used to record working posture and compression load of the intervertebral disc L5/S1. The data processing was carried out with Vicon Nexus (version 2.1.1). The electrical muscle activity was recorded with a Noraxon TeleMyo 2400T DTS. The placement of the electrodes was carried out according to the recommendations of [8]. The procedures for generating the reference measurements of maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) were based on the findings of [9]. Data processing was performed with Noraxon MyoResearch XP (Version 1.07, Clinical Edition). Data preparation for statistical analysis of the variables was performed using MATLAB R2013a (version 8.1.0.604) and Microsoft Excel 2010. IBM SPSS Statistics 23 was used for statistical analysis.

3 Results

The statistical analysis of back posture shows significant main effects of the horizontal (F(4,396) = 44.099, p < .001, $\eta_p = 0.734$) and vertical position (F(3,397) = 155.847, p < .001, $\eta_p = .907$). Furthermore, a significant first-order interaction with ordinal classification could be identified (F(12,388) = 14.686, p < .001, $\eta_p = .479$). In Fig. 2, the descriptive results of back posture are shown. Results show that percentage of OWAS R-1 back posture increases with deceasing horizontal position and increasing vertical position.



vertical position relative to upward reach of arms

Fig. 2. Means and standard deviations of the dependent variable back posture.

The statistical analysis of compression load of the intervertebral disc L5/S1 shows significant main effects of the horizontal (F(4,396) = 96.774, p < .001, η_p = .858) and vertical position (F(3,397) = 76.922, p < .001, η_p = .828). Furthermore, a significant first-order interaction with hybrid classification could be identified (F(12,388) = 155.847, p < .001, η_p = .907). In Fig. 3 the descriptive results of compression load are shown. Results show that compression load increases with increasing horizontal position and decreasing vertical position.



Fig. 3. Means and standard deviations of the dependent variable compression load.

A significant influence of the horizontal (F(4,396) = 36.485, p < .001, η_p = .695) and the vertical position (F(3,397) = 4.638, p = 0.006, η_p = .225) on the electrical muscle activity could be shown. Furthermore, a significant first-order interaction with ordinal classification could be identified (F(12,388) = 2.719, p = 0.002, η_p = .145). In Fig. 4 the descriptive results of electrical muscle activity are shown. Results show that electrical muscle activity increases with increasing horizontal position and shows inverted parabolic behavior with increasing vertical position.



Fig. 4. Means and standard deviations of the dependent variable muscle activity.

4 Discussion

Overall, it can be concluded that the relative working position has an influence on all investigated WMSD risk indicators of the back. The study is subject to certain limitations due to assumptions made. First, it should be mentioned that the relative working position was calculated in a user-friendly way on the basis of two body dimensions, whereas more complex calculation procedures are conceivable. The anthropometric measurements of the subjects recorded are somewhat larger in comparison to DIN 33402-2, which can be explained in particular by the known acceleration of people since 2005. However, due to the standardization of the relative working position as a function of body measurements, this difference should be insignificant. In addition, only one assembly task was tested and the defined working positions are subject to a limited working area within which the study took place. The results of the laboratory study show a significant effect of the working position on the percentage of OWAS R-1 in the total execution time, the compression load of the intervertebral disc L5/S1 and the electrical muscle activity in M. Erector Spinae as suspected. The results are general in line with other finding such as in [10] or [11].

Condition-based analyses have already become established in practice for other WMSD risks, such as manual lifting, repetitive movements, pulling and pushing. The study illustrates that condition-based analysis is also possible for postures.

In the light of increasing awareness of the need for data protection laws and the associated move away from people-based analyses, ethical, legal and social implications must also be taken into account when choosing and developing WMSDassociated risk factors. For example, on the one hand, the question can be asked whether the purpose of improving occupational safety and health does not automatically entail the need for the highest possible accuracy of an ergonomic analysis (i.e. basically a people-based analysis). On the other hand, data protection is also a high value and may raise the question whether condition-based analyses, regardless of their lower accuracy, should not always be applied in principle. In order to answer such questions satisfactorily, further research on the validity of ergonomic assessment methods is needed, but also a critical discussion of ethical, legal and social issues by scientists.

References

- 1. Widanarko, B., et al.: Gender differences in work-related risk factors associated with low back symptoms. Ergonomics **55**(3), 327–342 (2012)
- 2. Takala, E.P., et al.: Systematic evaluation of observational methods assessing biomechanical exposures at work. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health **36**(1), 3–24 (2010)
- Li, G., Buckle, P.: Current techniques for assessing physical exposure to work-related musculoskeletal risks, with emphasis on posture-based methods. Ergonomics 42(5), 674– 695 (1999)
- Karhu, O., Kansi, P., Kuorinka, I.: Correcting working postures in industry: a practical method for analysis. Appl. Ergon. 8(4), 199–201 (1977)
- Brandl, C., Mertens, A., Schlick, C.M.: Ergonomic analysis of working postures using OWAS in semi-trailer assembly, applying an individual sampling strategy. Int. J. Occup. Saf. Ergon. 23(1), 110–117 (2017)
- 6. Jäger, M.: Biomechanisches Modell des Menschen zur Analyse und Beurteilung der Belastung der Wirbelsäule bei der Handhabung von Lasten. VDI, Düsseldorf (1987)
- Anton, D., Shibley, L.D., Fethke, N.B., Hess, J., Cook, T.M., Rosecrance, J.: The effect of overhead drilling position on shoulder moment and electromyography. Ergonomics 44(5), 489–501 (2001)
- Hermens, H.J., Freriks, B., Disselhorst-Klug, C., Rau, G.: Development of recommendations for SEMG sensors and sensor placement procedures. J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol. 10(5), 361– 374 (2000)
- Ekstrom, R.A., Soderberg, G.L., Donatelli, R.A.: Normalization procedures using maximum voluntary isometric contractions for the serratus anterior and trapezius muscles during surface EMG analysis. J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol. 15(4), 418–428 (2005)
- Meyer, M.D., Landau, K.: Beurteilung muskulärer Beanspruchung bei Hand-Arm-Rumpf Bewegungen, die besondere Sorgfalt und Präzision erfordern. Zeitschrift für Arbeitswissenschaft 63(3), 257–267 (2009)
- Corlett, E.N., Madeley, S.J., Manenica, I.: Posture targeting: a technique for recording working postures. Ergonomics 22(3), 357–366 (1979)



Using Simplify-Enable-Leverage-Resource (SELR) to Develop Solutions to Identified Opportunities

Lawrence John Henry Schulze⁽⁾

Department of Industrial Engineering, Cullen College of Engineering University of Houston, Building 2, 4722 Calhoun Road, Room E206, Houston, TX, USA ljhs@uh.edu

Abstract. The SELR approach was developed by the U. S. Navy Reserve Force to make its associated operations more efficient and responsive to an everchanging environment. SELR is similar to such programs as $6\sum$, Lean, Continuous Process Improvement, etc. The letters of SELR are defined as: *Simplify* by streamlining activities, programs, and policies to make them more efficient; *Enable* personnel to provide effective capabilities through innovative technology, supportive policies and solutions to identified opportunities; *Leverage* personnel skills, talents and relationships to further enhance their contributions to the organization; and *Resource* as the staffing, training, and equipment provision to deliver more responsive talent capabilities to the organization. These topics are discussed in depth and a case study is provided to illustrate the application of SELR.

Keywords: Ergonomics \cdot Simplify \cdot Enable \cdot Leverage \cdot Resource \cdot Intervention

1 Introduction

The following information is provided to define each word in the SELR approach.

Simplify: Simplification of processes has been the focus of Industrial Engineering, management science and business for decades. These approaches are required in order to streamline activities, programs and policies to make them more efficient. Burdensome policies, processes and activities are not sustainable in the 21st Century as they require too much time, effort and often reduce flexibility and maintenance of the organization and are not competitive in the environment of rapidly changing demands.

Enable: Allowing talent to more effectively deliver required capabilities through the use of innovative technology and support policies are designed to modernize the way in which individuals manage their careers, eliminate salary and personnel issues and change from hiring and managing personnel to hiring and managing talent. These efforts create a winning organization that recognizes individual skills and allows a more smooth transition between a specific position within an organization and a project team.

Leverage: The skills, talents and relationships of individuals within an organization should be supported and championed to further improve their contributions to the organization. Individual talents cover the entire spectrum of professional fields and their associations with industry and academia create a powerful force multiplier. Individuals within the organization are the face of the organization in their local communities, where key relationships are ideal to harness the power of trust, honesty and integrity with the community in which the organization operates. Organizations need to better utilize that unique combination of individual skills/talents that will give the organization a competitive advantage.

Resource: Prompt, available, designated and focused resourcing ensures that the talents, skills, training and equipment provides capabilities to the organization when required by organizational and competitive demands. Organizations must have innovative processes that have the right tools for the job in the hands of the right talent at the right time to remain competitive.

2 Background

Several sources were evaluated to determine the impact of each of the SELR variables One of the main resources was the Deloitte 2015 report entitled: Global Human Capital Trends 2015: Leading in the New World of Work [1]. Additional resources were consulted to provide additional information related to each SELR variable.

The Deloitte 2015 report [1] indicated that little more than 50% of the responding organizations had some level of work simplification programs in place. Furthermore, only 10% had a main program in place.

The reason for these gaps may be related to the perceived complexity of the work. Agarwal, van Berkel and Rea [2], found that the respondents of the complexity of work indicated the following contributors to their perception of the work complexity: (a) Generalized technology and connectivity; (b) complexity in technology; (c) globalization; (d) increase administrative and compliance demands; and (e) too complex business processes and systems.

When administrative and procedural processes are too complex, finding simple solutions to the identified ergonomic opportunities is nearly impossible. Why? When the individuals see the system as complex, they assume the solutions must be also complex. Paraphrasing Ockham's razor, the simplest solution is often the best solution.

In order to integrate the tenants of work simplification, organizations must allow their personnel (talent) to make decisions and develop solutions to identified opportunities. Organizations should also take advantage of the skills, talent and desires of these individuals to develop and manufacture solutions/interventions to identified opportunities.

Personnel, vice talent, are most often hired to perform a specific task within an organization. However, they can have other unique skills and talents that can be used to not only simplify work, but can also be used to improve methods, develop solutions and manufacture the interventions to identified ergonomic opportunities.

Organizations that have implemented programs such as FastWorks [3, 4] have found that better solutions require a focus on the following concepts: (a) a company's success is determined by its customers; (b) going fast requires staying slim; (c) winning requires learning to adapt quickly; (d) enabling and leveraging resources talent, tools, equipment) is essential; and (e) results must be delivered in an uncertain world.

Individuals who are allowed to make decisions regarding the effectiveness of methods, processes, tools and the equipment, used to provide goods and services yield the faster development and implementation of internal solutions.

Taking advantage of individual, and most often untapped, skills and talents (enabling and leveraging), combined with supplying the resources for execution, enhances the implementation of Lean. Lean should not only be used in business processes, but must also be used in the identification of ergonomic opportunities and related design, manufacturing and implementation of solutions for the identified opportunities.

Finally, resource implementation must be a priority to address identified ergonomic opportunities. Why, when individuals suffer from work-related injuries associated with ergonomic indicators, a number of issues arise:

- Injured workers may not report injuries because they do not want to lose the job. Such work continuation most likely will exacerbate the injury.
- Unreported injuries may result in permanent disability and likely reduced productivity (work capacity).
- Workers who are aware of these conditions may become distracted by thinking about being injured themselves, rather than focusing on their tasks resulting in other work-related injuries, decreased productivity, equipment and/or product damage.
- The organization's reputation will be impacted by community knowledge of a high injury rate environment resulting in talent acquisition difficulties.
- Talent will leave to find a 'safer' place to work.
- Failure to address these issues will undermine Lean program effectiveness and overall organization competitiveness.

3 Results

The following case study illustrates the application of the principles of SELR. The case study was conducted in a utility company that is involved with the generation and transmission of electricity, distribution of natural gas and distribution of drinking water.

One of the tasks that are involved in the process of treating water is to clean the distribution plant treatment ponds. In order to access the ponds, large stainless steel panels must be removed so that high-pressure water can be sued to clean the pond walls. These panels are moved manually. The panels range from 6.096 m (20 ft) to 9.144 m (30 ft) weighing from 93.40 kg (205.92 lbs) to 140.11 kg (308.88 lbs). These panels are presented in Figs. 1 and 2.

Scheduled moving of panels was often pre-empted due to windy conditions, as the panels act like sails when slightly tilted into the wind. Temporary pre-emption was also required during other environmental conditions such as rain (slippery conditions), ice (slippery conditions) and snow (additional weight and slippery conditions) Therefore, the identified opportunity was to be able to move these panels in any weather condition so that scheduled maintenance could stay on track.

An attempt was made to use a large gantry to move the panels, as illustrated in Fig. 3. However, the gantry width was not adjustable and could only be used in specific areas and for specific panels (panels sizes were not standardized due to plant expansions). As result, other options needed to be explored.

An alternative to using the gantry to move the panels was identified as a wheeled hydraulic 'Padilift' [5]. This device is presented in Fig. 4. This device would be used to lift the panels. However, the design of the lift would still require personnel to actually move the panels manually to allow access to the pond below.

During the solution process, one of the personnel working in the facility used their talent to develop a more simple preliminary design of a device that could be used to move the panels (*Simplify*). This individual was encouraged to use their insight and design to further the design from a drawing on a napkin to a more detail drawing to be presented to engineers (*Enable, Leverage*). Once presented, the individual also volunteered to fabricate (leverage) a prototype and was provided the material for both prototype and final device (*Resource*).

The resulting design and final device is presented in Fig. 5. The final device uses a simple cable pulley device to lift and adjust the height of the panel. Wheels are alighted in the direction of movement so that personnel do not need to manual move the heavy panels. Then, the lift is lowered to place the panels in a temporary storage position, allowing access to the pond below.



Fig. 1. Large panels over deep pond.



Fig. 2. Panel turned upside down to show panel design details (right).



Fig. 3. Gantry used to move some panels.



Fig. 4. Wheeled hydraulic 'Pedalift' platform stacker available in the market [5] identified to address the opportunity.





The impact of the implementation is detailed below.

- The solution resulted from a simple design through enabling and leveraging inhouse talent and providing the resources to execute the intervention.
- The average direct cost of back pain per person for this company was \$2,500 USD.
- The 6 back pain incidents related to lifting and moving the panels were reported in this department resulting in an annual cost of \$95,000 USD ($6 \times $2,500 = $15,000$).
- The cost of the solution (2 devices, one for each end of a panel) is \$1,000 (material costs); fabrication took place during normal working hours
- The cost of SELR solutions was 0.06 (6%) of the incidence costs of one year.
- Conservatively amortized over the life of the device and saving 6 back pain injuries per year results in a value of \$82,884 (F/A, 5%, 10).

4 Discussion

As can be seen, the application of a SELR approach to the identified ergonomic opportunities can result in enormous benefits for both workers and organizations. The SELR must be applied in all organizations to be a better place to work and improve the well-being of workers. This is also imperative as illustrated in Deloitte's 2019 Global Human Capital Trends report indicating that organizations are changing from traditional workforces to alternative workforces; from employee experience to human experience; and from hiring personnel to hiring talent [6].

References

 Schatsky, D., Schwartz, J.: Global Human Capital Trends 2015: Leading in the New World of Work. Deloitte University Press (2015). https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/insights/us/ articles/work-simplification-human-capital-trends-2015/DUP_GlobalHumanCapitalTrends20 15.pdf

- 2. Agarwal, D., van Berkel, A., Rea, B.: Simplification of Work: The Coming Revolution. Deloitte Insights (2015). https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/focus/human-capital-trend s/2015/work-simplification-human-capital-trends-2015.html
- 3. Ries, E.: The Lean Startup: How Today's Entrepreneurs Use Continuous Innovation to Create Radically Successful Businesses. The Crown Publishing Group, The Random House (2011)
- Krishnamoorthy, R.: GE's Culture Change After Welch and Immelt. Managing Organizations, 26 January 2015 (2015). https://hbr.org/2015/01/ges-culture-challenge-after-welch-andimmelt
- 5. https://www.digitalbuyer.com/wesco-mpl542022-two-wheeled-aluminum-frame-hydraulic-pe dalift.html
- Volini, E., Schwartz, J., Roy, I., Haupmann, M., Van Durme, Y., Denny, B., Bersin, J.: Leading the social enterprise: Reinvent with a human focus (2019). https://www2.deloitte. com/content/dam/insights/us/articles/5136_HC-Trends-2019/DI_HC-Trends-2019.pdf



Study of the Furniture Used for Students in a Peruvian University

Cesar Corrales^(\square), Wilmer Atoche^(\square), and Jonatan Rojas^(\square)

Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú, Av. Universitaria 1801, Lima 32, Peru {ccorral, watoche}@pucp.edu.pe, jrojasp@pucp.pe

Abstract. The furniture used by students in schools and universities is usually purchased in average dimensions so that all male and female students, small and large, use them without distinction. It is very difficult to find furniture that fits the dimensions of each individual and it is common to work with molds or patterns that come from other countries. The purpose of this study was to determine the percentage of the university population that cannot use comfortably said furniture, for which tables and chairs recently bought in a new classroom building of a Peruvian university were taken into account. For this, and in order not to use anthropometers, a methodology was proposed that allows students to find the dimensions based on their height. Additionally, the weight of the same students is taken into account, that is, with only two variables, very easy to determine, a more complex study can be done. The most significant result is that a percentage close to 40% of students, have difficulty sitting and using the tables in the classrooms, so their health could be at risk, due to the large number of hours they can spend using the chairs and tables in their classrooms. The results can be used as a basis to have anthropometric data of the students of this university and also to be able to determine the dimensions of furniture, instruments, machines to be used by them.

Keywords: Furniture · Physical ergonomics · Human factors

1 Introduction

Anthropometry is defined as "the science of measurement and the art of application that establishes the physical geometry, mass properties, and strength capabilities of the human body" [1].

Anthropometry is the branch of the human sciences that deals with body measurements: measures of body size, shape, strength and work capacity [2]. It is about the physical characteristics of a person, particularly with individual variations, ontogenesis and generic development. Anthropometric data on the general population are essential in ergonomics to specify the physical dimensions of the workspace, equipment, furniture and clothing to adapt to the user and to avoid a physical mismatch between the dimensions of the products and equipment and the corresponding dimensions of the user [3].

W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 341–347, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_45

Tools, machines, workplaces, clothing, and in general all products, must be proportional to the dimensions of the users, however, in practice, musculoskeletal disorders are common among people, including students, workers, housewives, and others. As in many workplaces, one of the common problems in the classroom is the poor quality of the seats and tables for the students, especially considering that they remain seated for a long time [4].

In that sense, the field of anthropometry covers a variety of measures of the human body, such as height, lengths and widths of limbs and other fundamentals for the design of the workplace, in order to avoid musculoskeletal disorders in workers [5, 6].

For example, it is quite common to find chairs in Ecuadorian universities, without evidence that it is designed to adapt to the anthropometric characteristics of students who use it [7]. On the other hand, the greatest average differences in anthropometric data among male high school students and female found themselves at the height of the sitting elbow. In addition, a comparison of anthropometric data of male and female university students showed that the data for men and women were significantly different, except for the gluteal-popliteal length, the height of the sitting elbow and the thigh space [8].

Therefore, an implementation of anthropometric data will help to create comfort, safety, well-being, fitness, reduce musculoskeletal disorders and improve student performance in terms of care, so it is important to consider the dimensions of students when designing the Classroom furniture and conduct seminars or workshops to educate students about the negative impact towards adapting poor posture in the prolonged use of classroom furniture [9].

In this way, furniture is one of the most important parts of any workplace, even in vehicles, parks, gardens, factories, offices and in the house so it is necessary to consider anthropometric measurements, as well as follow ergonomic guidelines when designing any furniture in which people perform their usual activities. The students of the university hall spend most of their time in a day with any of the furniture such as table, chair, bookshelf, and others. These furnitures are responsible for many types of physical problems, such as back pain, if not properly designed. Defective furniture design also reduces user efficiency [10].

Finally, it can be said that the health problems associated with the use of school furniture that disagrees with the anthropometric dimensions of the user-student have required the necessary attention given to its design in recent years. The use of anthropometric variable regression models is important in the ergonomic design of products and workplaces when the required anthropometric data is not available. Economically, it can be very expensive in developing countries to obtain anthropometric data when necessary, and as such, measuring an anthropometric value to determine others would be useful and affordable [11], so it is necessary to create economic means of measuring dimensions Body of the different users to consider.

The objective of this work is to develop an anthropometric study of furniture used in a Peruvian university, following an economical and practical anthropometric evaluation method to be able to evaluate the furniture design of the classrooms used.

2 Methodology

2.1 Population Data and Determination of the Number of Samples

The research focuses on the industrial engineering students of the selected university, Around 1050 students are enrolled in this university during every academic semester. Subsequently, the number of samples is determined according to the formula described in Eq. (1). To prepare the sample, the number of students required is 75 (n = 74.52). 113 students were tested.

$$n = \frac{Z_{1-\frac{2}{2}}^2 N \sigma^2}{(N-1)E^2 + Z_{1-\frac{2}{2}} \sigma^2}$$
(1)

Where:

n = Number of students needed.

- N = Total of Industrial Engineering students (1050 students).
- $Z = \text{Confidence level } 95\% = 1.959963 \ (95\% + \frac{\alpha}{2}).$
- σ = Standard deviation (4.5 students).
- E =Permissible error (1 student).

2.2 Determination of the Relevant Dimensions

In the study of furniture used by students, two fundamental elements, chairs and tables, were considered. In each case, depending on the greater impact on the health and comfort of the students, the following variables were determined: in the case of the chair, the height of the seat and the depth of the seat and in the case of the table, the upper height of the table. In each case, the dimensional variables of the human body to be measured were identified, in the case of the chair two dimensions were considered, the popliteal height and the popliteal length, given that the main problems in the use of chairs that are not Adjustable are the support of the feet on the floor directly and the support of the lower back on the back of the chair. On the other hand, in the case of the tables, the height of sitting elbows was considered, since the main problem occurs with small people who have to raise their elbows to be able to support them on the table.

Since this furniture is used by male and female students, no separation by sex was made to conduct the study.

2.3 Anthropometric Data Collection and Determination of the Values to Be Used in the Study

To find the indicated body dimensions and given the difficulty of using an anthropometer, we proceeded to determine only one dimension, which is easy to find, the height. With this data and using the tables shown in the Ergolandia software (https:// www.fbfsistemas.com/ergonomia.html), which present the body dimensions of the human being, without distinction of sex, only according to the stature, you can determine the different dimensions of the human body. As the software presents the dimensional data for some specific statures, a mathematical regression is carried out to determine the function in each of the three dimensions involved, depending on the height. From these calculations, each of the three dimensions sought is determined for each of the students.

With these data already defined, we proceed to determine the mean and standard deviation of each of the dimensions.

2.4 Estimation of the Lack of Comfort of Student

To estimate the lack of comfort of the students involved, the criteria of extreme values were used, given that the dimensions of the chair were not adjustable criteria. In this way it is identified that it is less bad, to design for the smallest or the largest, in each of the cases and the percentage of users who, not only are not comfortable, but, In addition, they may have health problems.

In this case, the following was determined for each dimension: popliteal height - smaller, popliteal length - smaller, sitting elbow height - smaller.

Additionally, based on the current dimensions of chairs and tables, considering the criteria indicated and using the relationship proposed by Mondelo et al. [12], the percentage of the population that does not meet the established conditions must be determined:

$$Xp = Xprom \pm \beta \times S$$
(2)

In this relationship, Xp is the design dimension of the chair, Xprom is the average of the dimension of the population studied, S is the standard deviation of the dimensions of the population studied and β is a coefficient linked to the percentage of the population that measures the indicated value or less.

In each case the respective β is determined and therefore the percentage of the population that could have problems.

3 Results

3.1 Anthropometric Data Collection and Determination of the Values to Be Used in the Study

The measurement was made to the students of the sample obtaining the height in each case, and additionally the sex and the weight as shown in Table 1.

Sex	Stature	Weight
Male	174	75
Female	155	63
Male	172	73.5
Female	158	46
Male	172	70

Table 1. Survey summary

From the data found, for each of the cases, the values of each of the three dimensions that are required are determined, for this we work with a regression of the data found in the ergonaut software. This software contains the dimensional data for defined heights as shown in Table 2.

Stature	Popliteal height	Popliteal length	Sitting elbow height
177.8	43.7	46.2	23.1
175.3	43.2	45.7	22.9
172.7	42.7	45.0	22.4
170.2	41.9	43.9	21.8
167.6	41.1	43.2	21.6
165.1	40.4	42.4	21.1

 Table 2. Ergonautas dimensions

With this data and with the use of a linear regression, the value of each of the dimensions is determined by student stature as shown in Table 3.

Values with regression model					
Stature	Popliteal height	Popliteal length	Sitting elbow height		
175	43.2340605	45.4945116	22.4406417		
171	42.1638918	44.2014223	21.8683264		
168	41.3612652	43.2316053	21.4390899		
158	38.6858432	39.9988821	20.0083015		
178	44.0366871	46.4643286	22.8698782		
167	41.093723	42.908333	21.296011		
162	39.756012	41.2919714	20.5806169		

Table 3. Student dimensions

With these data already defined, we proceed to determine the average value and standard deviation of each of the dimensions for the sample of 113 students as shown in Table 4.

	Popliteal height	Popliteal lenght	Sitting elbow height
Average value	41.29142009	43.147211	21.4017374
Standard deviation	2.391039572	2.8891029	1.27870357

Table 4. Average value and standard deviation

3.2 Estimation of the Lack of Comfort of Student Users

Once the average values and the standard deviation of the three dimensions defined for the evaluation of student comfort have been determined, and using the relationship indicated in the methodology, the β value is found in each case. For the calculation it has been considered that the students employ, mostly sports shoes with 2.5 cm high soles. This value has added the average popliteal height.

$$Xp = Xprom \pm \beta \times S$$
(3)

From this value of β the percentage of the student population that has a measure equal to or less than the dimensional value of the chair is determined as can be seen in Table 5.

	Design value (cm)	Average value (cm)	Standard deviation (cm)	β	% students
Popliteal height	43	43.7914	2.3910	0.3309	37.0
Popliteal lenght	44	43.1472	2.8891	0.2951	61.5
Sitting elbow height	32	21.4017	1.2787	8.2882	100.0

Table 5. Percentage of students who will have problems

As can be seen from the table, 37.0% of the student population will have problems with the height of the chair, 61.5% will have problems with the backrest, so that they cannot properly support their backs and finally almost 100% do not have your arms in a relaxed position; you should raise your arms to rest them on the table.

4 Conclusions

In the present research the inappropriate use of chairs between the student population of a Peruvian university has been determined and it has also been determined that the tables have a height that is not appropriate for proper use.

This situation is more noticeable among the female population because its dimensions are smaller, so they will have more problems when using chairs and tables destined in classrooms

As can be seen in the results of the study, the biggest problem represents the depth of the chair, with about 61.5% of students who will not properly support their backs in the backrest because their popliteal distance is less than that depth of the chair. This is followed by the upper height of the tables, since, although almost 100% of students cannot comfortably lean on the table, the type of activity they have and the possibility of supporting their arms reduces their impact.

It is also important to keep in mind that almost 40% of students will not be able to support their feet correctly due to the height of the chair.

Finally, it is important to consider the possibility of having height and depthadjustable chairs and height adjustable tables, but not so sophisticated, since there is not much budget available for the purchase of this furniture.

References

- Del Prado-Lu, J.: Anthropometric measurement of filipino manufacturing workers. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 37(6), 497–503 (2007)
- Pheasant, S.: Bodyspace: Anthropometry, Ergonomics and Design of Work, 2nd edn. Taylor Francis, New York (1996)
- 3. Bridger, R.: Introduction to Ergonomics. McGraw-Hill, Singapore (1995)
- Freire, J., Apud, E., Meyer, F., Espinoza, J., Oñate, E., Maureira, F.: Anthropometric characteristics of chilean university students and their relation with the dimensions of the furniture of the lecture rooms. In: Proceedings of the 20th Congress of the International Ergonomics Association (IEA 2018), pp. 602–611 (2018)
- Dianat, I., Kord, M., Yahyazade, P., Karimi, M., Stedmon, A.: Association of individual and work-related risk factors with musculoskeletal symptoms among iranian sewing machine operators. Appl. Ergon. 51, 180–188 (2015)
- Robertson, M., Huang, Y., Lee, J.: Improvements in musculoskeletal health and computing behaviors: effects of a macroergonomics office workplace and training intervention. Appl. Ergon. 62, 182–196 (2017)
- Perez-Gosende, P.: Anthropometry-Based Approach for Side-Mounted Desktop Chairs Design Evaluation for University Students in Ecuador. IEEE Second Ecuador Technical Chapters Meeting (ETCM) (2017)
- Dawal, S., Zadry, H., Syed Azmi, S., Rohim, S., Sartika, S.: Anthropometric database for the learning environment of high school and university students. Int. J. Occup. Safety Ergon. 18 (4), 461–472 (2012)
- Taifa, I., Desai, D.: Anthropometric measurements for ergonomic design of students' furniture in India. Eng. Sci. Tech. Int. J. 20(1), 232–239 (2017)
- Bhuiyan, T., Hossain, M.: University hall furniture design based on anthropometry: an artificial neural network approach. Int. J. Ind. Syst. Eng. 20(4), 469–482 (2015)
- 11. Ismaila, S., Akanbi, O., Ngassa, C.: Models for estimating the anthropometric dimensions using standing height for furniture design. J. Eng. Design Tech. **2**, 336–347 (2014)
- Mondelo, P., Blasco, J., Gregori, E., Barrau, P.: Ergonomía 3: Diseño de Puestos de Trabajo. Ediciones UPC, Barcelona (2013)



Ergonomic Evaluation of Agriculture-Related Activities Performed by Ecuadorian Indigenous Women

Marco Ciaccia^{1(⊠)}, Cosme Mejía¹, Christian Vásquez¹, and Thalia San Antonio²

¹ Universidad Técnica del Norte, Ibarra, Ecuador {mciaccia, cdmejia, crvasquez}@utn.edu.ec
² Universidad Técnica de Ambato, Ambato, Ecuador t.sanantonio@uta.edu.ec

Abstract. Most of the agricultural activities in Ecuador are carried out by indigenous communities. Most of the elderly women from these communities suffer moderate to severe spinal deformities; previous studies suggest that one factor that could affect their back health is the lifting of heavy loads. The aim is to calculate the low back compression force using commercial software. Tasks consisting of lifting a sack by two methods were recorded in a gait laboratory. Although it is common for indigenous women to handle loads up to 45 kg, they were limited to 15 kg to reduce injuries risk. The input data to the software included gender, mass and height, and forces acting on hands, back and one shoulder. Measured and extrapolated results show that the low back compression force is significantly higher than the NIOSH recommended limits.

Keywords: Low back compression force · Indigenous · Lifting · Agriculture · Work-related injuries

1 Introduction

Nowadays, musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) are the most studied occupational diseases since they are the most common in the industrial environment and produce the highest rate of absenteeism. These disorders are known to be caused mainly by postural demands, repetitive movements, load manipulation, vibrations, poor lighting and cold environments [1]. Specifically, the MSDs of the body mid-section are related to inadequate postures, efforts in heavy load manipulation, and static and dynamic muscular work all these affecting the integrity of the spine and the pelvic area [2].

The indigenous women of Ecuador highlands are dedicated to agricultural and domestic tasks that are carried out manually and without technical assistance, which makes most of these chores physically demanding. To be highlighted is the manipulation of sacks of agricultural products, since the standard in the country for products such as potatoes, carrots, onions, among others, is a weight measure named *quintal*, equivalent to 100 lb or approximately 45 kg, see Fig. 1.

Among the methods for ergonomic evaluation, those issued by NIOSH are the most used for load lifting and lowering tasks, allowing to calculate through an equation the recommended weight and thersholds as the Action Limit (AL) and Maximum Permissible Limit (MPL) [3]. The Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation [4] is based on three criteria, one biomechanical centered on the calculation of mechanical moments that are transmitted through the body to the lumbar vertebrae, one physiological that takes into account, not only the magnitude of the load, but the amount of repetitions of the lift and



Fig. 1. Indigenous women carrying *quintals* of carrots resting on one shoulder.

its associated energy expenditure, and one psychophysical that combines the effects of the previous two. The equation measures how far the evaluated lifting is from the ideal one, being the ideal the one that starts at the standard location, in sagittal position (without turns and symmetrical), done occasionally, with good grip and an elevation of less than 25 cm [5].

A technique widely used in the evaluation of tasks that involve the lifting of loads consists of a 3D motion capture data of the task and the subsequent use of software that with the position and the ubication of the load over a human body model allow estimating the compression force in the column [6]. In these programs, one of the most critical aspects is the correct modeling of the external loads to obtain realistic strains in the spine for each position that is analyzed [7]. The software 3DSSPP[®] of the University of Michigan performs simulations that includes posture data, force parameters and gender anthropometry, and calculates the percentage of men and women who have the strength to perform a defined job, the low back compression forces, and comparisons to NIOSH guidelines [8, 9].

The goal of this work is to calculate the low back compression force using a static strength prediction software in a young adult indigenous woman, who is a university student and works in farm-related activities during the weekend, with no apparent musculoskeletal disorders, analyzing two tasks consisting on the lifting of an open sack by two different methods.

2 Materials and Methods

The subject is a 24-year-old woman, pertaining to the Otavalo ethnic group, from Ecuador, who is 1.54 m tall and has a weight of 45 kg. The subject was previously interviewed, obtaining the following information:

- The subject has no training for the safe handling of loads. This a common condition in indigenous communities.
- The subject lifts weights of up to 30 kg, from the ground. Other women reportedly lift and carry weights of up to 45 kg.
- Agricultural products are carried in closed sacks, open sacks, and boxes.
- Two of the methods used by the subject with open sacks are symmetrical (stoop) lifting and asymmetrical (over the shoulder, OTS) lifting.

Experiments were set-up to simulate both types of lifting. To reduce the probability of an injury during the tests, loads were set to 5 kg, 10 kg, and 15 kg. The aim of using three different weights is to extrapolate results for higher loads, closer to the 30 kg maximum lifted loads declared in the interview. Lifting activities were repeated five times each, with a one-minute rest between them, to account for the variability of the movements.

Measurements were done in a gait analysis laboratory fitted with a BTS Bioengineering motion capture system, including six cameras for markers tracking, cameras for lateral/frontal video recording, and two force plates. Optical markers were used in several joints; however, besides the plates data, only the information of markers in both hands, right shoulder, low back, and the sack were finally used for calculations.

Position and force information was exported to a plain text file and processed with a Matlab[®] [10] script to filter data, detect events and calculate forces acting on hands and joints. Symmetrical lifting has been thoroughly examined in the literature [11, 12]; however, the OTS lifting of sacks has been less studied. Events were detected by examining force plates data; in the case of stoop lifting, the maximum load is achieved when the sum of vertical forces of both plates is the highest; this considers the dynamic effect when lifting the load. Hands load was obtained by subtracting the weight of the subject to the maximum vertical force registered; it was assumed that each hand carries half of the load. For OTS lifting, two events were studied: maximum load, when the sack is just lifted from the ground, and maximum unbalance, when the sack is resting in the back of the subject. To calculate forces on the joints, a simplified model was developed (see Fig. 2), its values are calculated with Eqs. (1).



Fig. 2. Free body diagrams of the shoulder and the sack load. T is the internal force of the sack, distances d_v and d_h were calculated from the marker's positions and considering the distances to the center of mass and the shoulder.

$$H_{\text{force}} = W/\cos(\alpha).$$

$$S_{h} = W(1-\sin(\alpha))/\cos(\alpha).$$

$$S_{v} = W.$$

$$B = W \tan(\alpha).$$

(1)
Where W is the load weight, H_{force} is the reaction force of the hands, S_h and S_v are the components of the reaction force of the shoulder, and B is the reaction force of the back.

A representative posture was selected for each of the three events: separation of the load from the ground (maximum load) during stoop lifting and OTS lifting, and maximum unbalance during OTS lifting. Selected postures and calculated forces were modeled in 3DSSPP[®] 7.10 [9] to obtain the low back compression force and the strength percent capable values. According to the anthropometry database of 3DSSPP[®], the weight and height of the subject correspond to 7th and 18th percentiles, respectively. Due to this discrepancy, direct data entry was used.

3 Results

Images taken from video recordings were used as background images in 3DSSPP to model postures. Note that postures for maximum load in stoop lifting (Fig. 3a) and in OTS lifting (Fig. 3b) are different since in the latter, the subject is already preparing to handle the load over her shoulder.

Figure 4 shows the low back compression forces for the three studied events. The first three points of the lifting curves correspond to the handled loads 5 kg, 10 kg, and 15 kg. The fourth point was extrapolated from the data; the best fit for the stoop lifting was a straight line, while for the OTS lifting were quadratic polynomials. No extrapolation was made beyond 20 kg since as the handled load increases, not only the loads acting on the hands and joints change but also the posture of the subject; therefore, results lose reliability as the extrapolated point is located farther away. The Back



Fig. 3. Images and models of postures studied, (a) stoop lifting, (b) maximum load during OTS lifting, (c) maximum unbalance during OTS lifting.



Fig. 4. Calculated (5 kg to 15 kg) and extrapolated (20 kg) low back compression forces for the two considered lifting methods. The Back Compression Design Limit (BCDL) and Back Compression Upper Limit (BCUL) are equivalent to the NIOSH AL and MPL [9].

Compression Design Limit and Back Compression Upper Limit [9], were included in the graph as a reference. It can be seen that the maximum load events, both in the stoop lifting and OTS lifting methods, cause the low back compression force to be considerably higher than in the maximum unbalance event of the OTS lifting. Moreover, due to the suboptimal posture adopted to perform the initial lift in the OTS maneuver, and with a handled load of 15 kg which is a half of the declared maximum handed load, the low back compression force is already in the undesirable zone over the BCDL value; the extrapolated value of 20 kg is in this zone as well, but very close to the hazardous BCUL value. Due to the tendency of the data, it is easy to see that for a handled load of 30 kg, the low back compression forces will be over the design limit or the upper limit.

4 Conclusions

In Ecuador, the handling of harvested agricultural products is carried out almost exclusively by indigenous women with anthropometry similar to that of the subject of this study, or even with a higher body mass index. The standard packaging used for the marketing of most of these products is a sack weighing 45 kg which, when contrasted with the results obtained in this work, makes it evident that it is an excessive load, even though it is lifted and carried symmetrically; the problem becomes worse if it is considered that women aged over 60 continue to work at farms and markets transporting these sacks. The main consequence of this commercial practice, along with some cultural habits and the absence of formal training in the safe handling and transportation of loads, is the high prevalence of musculoskeletal alterations, causing moderate to severe pain, among other ailments [13, 14]. These facts should be considered by the Ecuadorian government to issue regulations leading to a reduction of the standard weight for these sacks, and the compulsory education in the safe handling of loads for agricultural workers and employers.

Acknowledgments. This work is being funded by (1) Dirección de Investigación y Desarrollo (DIDE), of Universidad Técnica de Ambato under the project: "Influence of the traditional use of chumbi in musculoskeletal disorders associated with the manipulation of loads in women of the Ecuadorian highlands" and (2) Corporación Ecuatoriana para el Desarrollo de la Investigación y la Academia (CEDIA) under the project: CEPRA XIII-2019-14, Llankak Warmikunata Kama-chikkuna (Protect the working woman).

References

- 1. Arenas-Ortiz, L., Cantú-Gómez, O.: Factores de riesgo de trastornos musculoesquelécos crónicos laborales. Med. Int. Mex. 29, 370–379 (2013)
- Del Sol, M., Hunter, K.: Evaluación postural de individuos mapuche de la zona costera de la IX Región de Chile. Int. J. Morphol. 22(4), 339–342 (2004)
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health: Work Practices Guide for Manual Lifting. Technical report number: 81-122, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (NIOSH), Cincinnati, Ohio (1981)
- Waters, T.R., Putz-Anderson, V., Garg, A., Fine, L.J.: Revised NIOSH equation for the design and evaluation of manual lifting tasks. Ergonomics 36(7), 749–776 (1993)
- Diego-Mas, J.: Evaluación ergonómica del levantamiento de carga mediante la ecuación de Niosh. Ergonautas, Universidad Politécnica de Valencia (2015). http://www.ergonautas.upv. es/metodos/niosh/niosh-ayuda.php
- 6. Sungdo, K.: Ergonomic analysis of army backpack designs: back and shoulder stresses and their implications. Ph.D. thesis, The University of Utah, Mechanical Engineering (2014)
- Kajaks, T.: Virtual ergonomics and gaming technology for posture assessment: From automotive manufacturing to firefighting. Ph.D. thesis, McMaster University – Kinesiology (2017)
- Jones, T., Strickfaden, M., Kumar, S.: Physical demands analysis of occupational tasks in neighborhood pubs. Appl. Ergon. 36, 535–545 (2005)
- 9. 3DSSPP Software. https://c4e.engin.umich.edu/tools-services/3dsspp-software/
- 10. Mathworks Matlab. https://la.mathworks.com/products/matlab.html
- van der Have, A., Van Rossom, S., Jonkers, I.: Squat lifting imposes higher peak joint and muscle loading compared to stoop lifting. Appl. Sci. 9(18), 3794 (2019)
- Abdoli-Eramaki, M., Agababova, M., Janabi, J., Pasko, E., Damecour, C.: Evaluation and comparison of lift styles for an ideal lift among individuals with different levels of training. Appl. Ergon. **78**, 120–126 (2019)
- San Antonio, T., Larrea, A., Urrutia, F., Naranjo, M., Latta, M.: Influence of the traditional use of Chumbi in lumbar weakness in women of Ecuadorian highlands. Adv. Intell. Syst. 590, 229–238 (2018)
- San Antonio, T., Larrea, A., Lascano, A., Urrutia, J.: Ergonomic evaluation of daily activities of women from a community in the Ecuadorian Highlands. Adv. Intell. Syst. 789, 102–110 (2019)

Social & Occupational Ergonomics Analysis and Methods



Omax and Fuzzy Logic as Productivity Tools and Ergonomic Analysis in Automotive Maintenance

Lidilia Cruz-Rivero^{1(⊠)}, Daniel Angeles-Herrera¹, María Leonor Méndez-Hernández¹, César David Rivera-Toscano¹, and Carlos Eusebio Mar-Orozco²

¹ Tecnológico Nacional de México/ITS-Tantoyuca, Desv. Lindero Tametate S/N Col. La Morita, 92100 Tantoyuca, Veracruz, Mexico lilirivero@gmail.com, draleonormendez@gmail.com, cesar.rivera.86@gmail.com, dangelesh0600@alumno.ipn.mx
² Tecnológico Nacional de México/IT-Ciudad Madero, Av. 1ro de Mayo 1610 Col. Los Mangos, 89460 Ciudad Madero, Tamaulipas, Mexico

carlos.mar.orozco@gmail.com

Abstract. Productivity is today an important factor in the growth of companies, for this, it is necessary to have an adequate ergonomic environment for the sake of workers. This work aims to show the use of the Objective Matrix (OMAX) and the analysis of environmental conditions from the use of fuzzy logic to determine the behavior of factors such as temperature, noise and lighting and its direct effect on productivity from the workers. A group of employees from the maintenance area in an automotive agency that offers mechanical washing and maintenance services was analyzed. With the OMAX method, the level of productivity was determined for a predetermined time by analyzing fatigue and physical wear for certain schedules. According to the Mexican regulations established by the Ministry of Labor and Social Welfare (STPS by its acronym in Spanish), it is necessary to comply with some requirements that are established by law, so once the current environmental conditions were analyzed based on the use of fuzzy logic, an adjustment based on regulations, making the changes required to subsequently measure the final result with OMAX, which showed a productivity increase.

Keywords: Fuzzy logic · Ergonomics · Productivity · Automotive industry

1 Introduction

The personnel comfort in every organization is essential to reach the maximum productivity level, in the case of study the washing staff and mechanical workshop, are exposed to high temperatures that are what determines the environment, without, however, as it is a hot zone, temperatures become very high during most of the year,

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_47

this means that the productivity level is greatly affected, as employees look for ways to cool down in different ways, neglecting their work, which increases the operation time of the activity, which causes the standard time to multiply, and greatly delay the delivery time of vehicles.

When it talks about weather conditions, a comfortable environment is essential to feel good and to obtain maximum efficiency, caloric overload causes a state of tiredness and drowsiness, a decrease in performance and a great predisposition to make mistakes.

According to the Ministry of Labor and Social Welfare (STPS for its acronym in Spanish) [1], It is necessary that the knowledge of the human body, its needs, and limitations, be known in the labor field, as well as that the employee fits into the work environment in a positive way.

Monitoring the environment, furniture and interpersonal relationships in the workplace, are the foci that can cause psychological distress and physical illness in the workplace are basically of Two types: the first is related to furniture, especially computer chairs and tables; and the second has to do with the environment, such as ventilation, temperature, and lighting, as well as the square meters available per worker.

In the Car One automotive agency located in Tuxpan, Veracruz, Mexico, the workers in the washing and mechanical workshop area, work in temperatures exceeding 35 °C. The infrastructure of the work area, in the case of the washing area does not completely cover the sun, so the workers dry the cars outdoors, which makes them run out faster, work more uncomfortably and above all raise their body temperature, decreasing its performance and take more time to finish washing a unit, due to the breaks it takes to get away from the sun.

The washers argue that they feel short of breath by opening a car that was in the sun for a long time and that the feeling is really annoying.

In the service workshop area, the mechanics are under a laminated and completely closed dome, which does not run air, the dome material makes the place very hot and without natural ventilation, only 2 mechanics of the 5 Workers have a basic fan to dissipate heat from their work area, however this is not enough to maintain an adequate temperature, because they are in quite a lot of movement and even more making a lot of physical effort.

The mechanics look for a moment, and thus cool off, due to the discomfort of the work with the heat, this causes delays in delivery of the units, and as a consequence a low productivity. That is why it is decided to make an ergonomic study of environmental conditions, using Objective Matrix (OMAX) [2] and Fuzzy Logic (FL) [3] to determine the level of impact on productivity.

2 Background

A work is analyzed where an ergonomic analysis is carried out in the first phases of an R&D project where the objective was to investigate the operation of the training of automotive service technicians (AST) for the design of a teaching aid for augmented reality (AR) [4].

In automotive industry, mechanics habitually use awkward back posture in their course of manual activity, and hence may be at risk of work-related back pain; in a study in Eastern Nigeria of 684 automotive mechanics, information about back pain was collected, by detecting some variables such as heavy physical workload manual material handling, strenuous posture, noisy environment, vibrations, work schedule, and inadequate auxiliary support [5].

In a work about macroergonomy based on observations, interviews with mechanics, the performance company statistics and the activities carried out before, during and after work, was identified common hazards encountered during the work process. The identified factors were assessed by risk evaluation methods [6].

Fuzzy Logic and RULA (Rapid Upper Limb Assessment) was used to assessment of risk in maintaining in representative areas of a hardware store in Mexico; the use of fuzzy logic in this case study aimed to minimize the valuation work for every operator with RULA method, indicating, through fuzzy sets, the levels of risk that may arise [7].

In a study about productivity, a control model is developed for a paint shop department in an automotive company the optimum operating setting of a paint shop production line of an automotive company in Turkey is determined using a hybrid simulationoptimization approach [8]. Studies have shown that Ergonomic factors such as lighting, temperature and noise, can contribute to the performance of the employees [9].

A field study was done to identify the main factor environmental ergonomics in engines workshop, where it was determined that thermal comfort is considered the factor which is often emphasized by the occupant of the accommodation unit, in relation to thermal comfort and relative humidity [10].

A company in the gas industry suffered a fluctuation of sales, and there was a gap between production and production objectives, the Objective Matrix (OMAX) was used for given productivity data, 10 of the 12 months during 2017 where did not meet the production objectives. Part of the result of increasing productivity was ergonomics [11].

3 Methods

The study was carried out in an automotive maintenance company that serves new and pre-owned cars. For this work, was considered the maintenance and self-cleaning department, which is made up of seven people.

Through the ergonomic and operations analysis, productive and non-productive elements are examined to increase productivity per unit of time (Table 1). The main activities of each operator from OMAX, were analyzed to determine the productivity indexes, this was compiled in matrices as indicated by the method (Table 2).

Posture	Identified Muscles	Work-related musculo- skeletal disorder (WMSD)
	 Sternocleidomastoid Deltoid Biceps Abdominal rectum Wrist and fingers Flexor retinaculum 	 Low back pain, Cervical tension syndrome Tendonitis
	 Flexor retinaculum Deltoids Biceps Trapezius Pectoral Wrist and fingers 	 Dorsalgia, Low back pain, Cervical pain syndrome

 Table 1.
 Work-related musculo-skeletal disorder (WMSD)

Table 2.	Activities	(time	in	minutes)
I able 1	1 Iou / Iuos	(unite		minuces

Transfer vehicle	Car washed	Rugs washed	Car clean- ing	Car dried	Inspection	Car oiled	Evaluation criteria
1.5	4.33	2	5.58	1.5	17	3	Performance
1	3.56	1	5	1	14	2.5	10
1.071	3.67	1.142	5.082	1.071	14.428	2.571	9
1.142	3.78	1.285	5.165	1.142	14.857	2.642	8
1.214	3.89	1.428	5.248	1.214	15.285	2.714	7
1.285	4	1.571	5.331	1.285	15.714	2.785	6
1.357	4.11	1.714	5.414	1.357	16.142	2.857	5
1.42	4.22	1.857	5.497	1.428	16.571	2.928	4
1.5	4.33	2	5.58	1.5	17	3	3
1.66	4.86	2.166	6.053	2	18	3.666	2
1.83	5.44	2.333	6.526	2.5	19	4.333	1
2	6	2.5	7	3	20	5	0
3	3	3	3	3	3	3	Score
10	15	10	15	10	30	10	weighing
30	45	30	45	30	90	30	Value

With OMAX Productivity is determined through the following operation:

[(Currently Score - 300)/300]100 = Productivity Index(1)

In Fig. 1, it shows the result of measuring worker productivity for 35 weeks with the OMAX method.



Fig. 1. Productivity level after 35 weeks

After having carried out the measurement of productivity and the analysis of the positions in the work area, we proceed to develop the fuzzy logic model (FL), in order to identify which environmental factors have the greatest influence on the productivity of Workers. The FL model is based on Mandami type, composed of three stages: Fuzzification, Inference mechanism and Defuzzification; Defuzzification stage consist in the representation of the output variables (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Fuzzy Logic Model of environmental ergonomics and productivity

In the Toolbox Fuzzy Logic Designer of MATLAB software [12], the process of merging the input variables and output it is carried out. The fusion process consists in the analysis of geometric figures proposed the FL model, to select those in which the membership function best fit the type of variable, that is intended to represent, whether continuous or discrete, quantitative or qualitative, this also implies associating

linguistic values to the figures that are representative of a range of values, figures with their linguistic value and range in the model are known as fuzzy sets. In this case, the input variables are Temperature, Noise and Illumination (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Fuzzy Logic Model Mandami type *MATLAB 2009

4 Result

As shown in the following figure, in the MATLAB Rule Viewer window, you can also manipulate the value of the input variables and observe the corresponding value in the output variable, this value in the output varies according to the defuzzification method selected (Fig. 4).

File Edit View Options			
Temperature = 32.2	Noise = 94.6	Illumination = 4.16e+003	Productivity = 30
1			
2			
3			
7			
8			
9			
12			
13			
14			
15			
10			
18			
0 50	0 100	0 10000	

Fig. 4. Fuzzy rule (Recovered from MATLAB 2009)



Fig. 5. Relation between noise and temperature vs productivity and illumination and temperature vs productivity.

The graphs show that temperature, noise, and lighting exceed the limits recommended by the STPS [1] and decrease productivity (Fig. 5). To achieve an adequate and constant level of work performance by workers, a temperature of 23.1 °C, a noise level of 84.1 dB, and the illumination of 2,551 lx must be maintained, thus maintaining productivity at 95% in all business hours.

5 Discussion

The temperature and noise values exceed the permissible limits established by the STPS [1], making the conditions not adequate, which results in a decrease in productivity. The temperature directly affects workers because they work in outdoor environments and even outdoors, which causes physical wear.

With the use of the Omax method it was possible to appreciate the variability of productivity, in the hours of half a day and afternoon in which the heat is more intense, and the physical exhaustion increases, which causes comfort due to temperature.

By applying the FL model, it can be verified that the variable that most influences the productivity of workers is temperature. It is determined that if this is maintained at 23.4 °C, the noise at 84 dB and the illumination at 2551 lx, the production remains constant at 90%.

References

- Ministry of Labor and Social Welfare (Secretaría del Trabajo y Previsión Social) (2016). https://www.gob.mx/stps/prensa/avanza-stps-en-atencion-de-riesgos-laborales-de-tipoergonomico?idiom=es-MX
- 2. Riggs, J.L.: Production systems: Planning, analysis and control (2012)
- 3. Zadeh, L.A.: Toward a theory of fuzzy systems (Vol. 1432). National Aeronautics and Space Administration (1969)
- Anastassova, M., Burkhardt, J.M.: Automotive technicians' training as a community-ofpractice: implications for the design of an augmented reality teaching aid. Appl. Ergon. 40 (4), 713–721 (2009)

- Abaraogu, U.O., Ezema, C.I., Igwe, S.E., Egwuonwu, A.V., Okafor, U.C.: Work-related back discomfort and associated factors among automotive maintenance mechanics in Eastern Nigeria: A cross sectional study. Work 53(4), 813–823 (2016)
- Jasiak, A.: Ergonomic modernization in a selected automotive company. Procedia Manuf. 3, 4769–4775 (2015)
- Cruz-Rivero, L., Rodríguez-García, R., Pérez-Salazar, M.D.R., Mar-Orozco, C.E., Juárez, Z.: Fuzzy logic and RULA method for assessing the risk of working. Procedia Manuf. 3, 4816–4822 (2015)
- Dengiz, B., Tansel, Y., Belgin, O.: A meta-model based simulation optimization using hybrid simulation-analytical modeling to increase the productivity in automotive industry. Math. Comput. Simul. 120, 120–128 (2016)
- 9. Masterizki, H.G., Armanu, A., Irawanto, D.W.: How ergonomic factors contribute to employees' performance. Jurnal Aplikasi Manajemen **17**(2), 227–234 (2019)
- Abd Razak, M.H., Mohd Noor, N.A.: Thermal comfort in marine workshop: environmental ergonomics measurement approach. In: Saw, C.L., Woo, T.K., a/l Karam Singh, S.S., Asmara Bin Salim, D. (eds.) Advancement in Emerging Technologies and Engineering Applications. LNME, pp. 211–217. Springer, Singapore (2020)
- Aliafari, N., Suryoputro, M.R., Rahman, N.M.: Productivity analysis on batik production line using Objective Matrix (OMAX) method. Ind. Eng. Manag. Syst. 18(4), 726–734 (2019)
- 12. Minitab Statistical Software (2010). [Computer software]. State College, PA: Minitab, Inc. (www.minitab.com)



Analysis of Ergonomics Risk Factor Among Cobblers at Jabalpur, India

Pappu Sharma^(III) and Anugrah Engras Bara

Ergonomics Lab, Design Discipline, Indian Institute of Information Technology Design and Manufacturing, Jabalpur, India psharma4design@gmail.com, engriousbara@gmail.com

Abstract. This research study focused on the different ergonomic risk factor for work-related Musculoskeletal disorders (WMSDs) in the job of Cobblers at Jabalpur, India. With the prospect of improving the occupational health risk and safety of the workers involved in this profession. A large number of people associated with this profession in India and in this sector occupational ergonomic issues of work-related musculoskeletal disorders (WMSDs) are a big problem and a threat to this profession. In order to ensure the objectives are met, the different methodology was used, such as still photography and video photography were used to record different activities. Different types of tools like Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA), Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA), and OWAS were used. Psychophysical measures were investigated by RPE scale and VAS. After the all analysis the result indicating that the tasks in this profession are in the high-risk and demands immediate ergonomic intervention in the form of re-design of the tools used and workstation or/and the design of the work process.

Keywords: Ergonomics · Design · Risk factors · Injury prediction

1 Introduction

Worldwide it is known to the fact that the work-related musculoskeletal pain (MSP) or disorders are major cause for the health problems in the industry. Thereby decreasing the ability to work and also degrading the quality of the life [1, 2]. Due to various working concluded from the various numbers of studies suggest that the working in the awkward postures, repetition of the work as well as the various ways of working leads to man such injuries. As Neupane et al. [3] showed the increment in the work-related disabilities in every 4 years from 15% to 22% that too with the raise in the various other parts of the body occurring pain. Hence it would be very crucial in finding those risk factors related to work related musculoskeletal thereby resulting for creating strategies for its prevention.

India is a developing country where workers works both in organised sector and also in the unorganised sector. The sector where not much benefit to the workers are provided are the unorganised sector. These are the sectors where the worker work in their own unit. These are the workers working on the roadside on variety of products or the repair shops. Unorganised sectors are the sectors which are widely open to most of these risk factors leading to the work-related musculoskeletal disorders. As S. Gangopadhyay et al. [4] states that though developing countries like India take no such concern about the workers working in the unorganised sector about their health and safety which are also contributors to their country's economy. Such sectors are important part of the society which are operated by single unit or multiple by wholly on human labour force. Such sectors require ergonomic interventions such that the life hood of the workers is enhanced as well as the productivity of the work is increased and also the efficiency of the workers.

Foot wears are essential in everyone's life. It's a no longer simply a footwear for people wearing it, it's a style statement in the current lifestyle. Footwear work is to protect the people bare foot from getting hurt while walking or running. As most of the middle class and low-class people are emotional as well as due to the financial constraints, we tend to repair our old footwear for the further use. These repairs of the footwear are not serviced by the manufacturing company. These are done by these workers of the unorganised sector where many of the India's population thrive in. There are these labours who work in the sector where these skilled workers who can be distinguished by categories of two. One who work in by their own and others who works in the factory. In India the Gatai Kamgar (the person who repairs the slippers and the shoe) installs their workshop besides the road and repairs the old slippers and the shoes. As Sutradhar, [5] states that the community to which these workers belong are known as "Muchi".

The work of the cobbler is an exhausting job requiring most of the work to be done by the hands and the legs for the supporting of the tool. These tool primitive tools are been used since ages requiring for the job to be done. The cobbler's job is to mend the worn-out shoes or the bags such that the users get their products repaired as new again. They operate such operations by sitting on the ground and most of their work done in sitting positions in which legs folded. The primitive tool (Fig. 1) which they have is used as the support space for the shoe to be put where he applies the stitching as well as the glue according to the operation needed. For the repairing for the shoe which has been worn out the cobbler firstly brushes the inner sole of the shoe by a stainless-steel kind of brush. Such that to make the inner surface of the shoe could be attached to the new sole by their adhesive glue and keep them to dry for some time. After some time the cobbler puts the shoe on the shoe stand where he operates known as "Hatta" (Fig. 1) and beats the new sole by the Hatodi (Fig. 2) which is known as hammer to us. Then he uses needle like instrument known as "Katani" (Fig. 3) and their thread for stitching the new glued sole to the upper part of the shoe such that it gets attached to it permanently. The cobblers cut the extra thread by using the scissor kind of instrument. These tools are the primitive tools which have been used since the ages and has been designed and prepared not using the principles of ergonomics into their shape and structure.



Fig. 1. Hatta

Fig. 2. Hathodi

Fig. 3. Hatta

The work of the cobbler or the process which they took for repairing of the shoe in which the injury by the needle tools known as Katni is also too be highly concerned. There have been several works on the unorganised sector but of the cobbler no proper investigation has been done. These group of people working is a part of the working community of the India which also do contribute directly or indirectly to the country economic. The working conditions, the tools and the workstation and workspace should be intervening for ergonomic intervention such that risk factors could be identified. Such the health of the workers is safe such that their efficiency increases and the productivity is increased with the quality of the product as well their working life. Thus, the aim of the research is a step towards this direction of enhancing the working life of the cobblers.

2 Methodology

2.1 Questionnaire

The questionnaire for the purpose, the Standard Nordic Questionnaire, validated by Kuroinka [6] which was further validated into Indian context by Das [7], was implemented in the study to measure the impact of the musculoskeletal disorder to the cobblers. For the better understanding of the questionnaire the visual human diagram was also presented for better understanding. A scale of 1 to 5 was provided for the answers in which 5 represented insupportable pain to 1 being no discomfort.

2.2 Direct Observation

The process of direct observation was applied such that cobbler working in this repairing process could be analysed. The working postures they do adopt as well as the repetitive actions and their movement of their hands as well as their legs were observed.

2.3 Interview

To fetch the data for the insights of the problem, the unstructured and informal interview was done with the individual cobblers. The main purpose to do such to get the hidden story as insights of their problems which they come across while working.

2.4 Postural Analysis

The posture analysis were done by using tool like the Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA) [8], SI [9] and Ovako Working Posture Analysis System (OWAS) (Karhu et al. 1977) [10] methods were applied for the postural analysis. The analysis is carried using the process such as videography and photography. The mostly adopted postures by cobblers during repairing process is taken into the consideration for the analysis.

2.5 Measurement of Psychophysical Parameters

For the measurement of the psychophysical parameters, a scale of 10 cm of Visual Analogue Scale to inform about the level of discomfort cobblers finds after 30 min work. The Rated Perceived Exertion (RPE) by Borg's scale score to find out the amount of the effort was put into the work of 30 min work and marked on scale of 0 to 10.

3 Results

The participant's cobblers for the analysis of the working of the cobbler in the region of Jabalpur was conducted from the age group ageing from 30 to 55 years.

3.1 Questionnaire

For the questionnaire study the cobbler showed discomfort feeling at different parts of the body. In this study it was observed that 80% of cobblers on their lower back and knee. 78.67% onto their lower leg. 77.33% onto their upper back. The mean, standard deviation and the minimum and maximum of the Nordic Questionnaire in Table 1 for the cobblers.

Body Parts	Standard Deviation (S.D)	Mean	Min	Max	Percentage
Neck	0.52	0.25	2	3	50.67
Shoulder	0	3	3	3	60
Upper back	0.35	3.87	3	4	77.33
Upper arm	0.26	3.07	3	4	61.33
Lower back	0	4	4	4	80
Fore arm	0	3	3	3	60
Wrist	0.35	2.87	2	3	57.33
Hip/Buttocks	0.41	3.80	3	4	76
Thigh	0.51	2.60	2	3	52
Knee	0	4	4	4	80
Lower leg	0.26	3.93	3	4	78.67

Table 1. Responses of the Nordic Questionnaire

3.2 Direct Observation

In the process of repairing shoe carried out, the cobbler used different tools for the process ranging from the Katani for the sewing and the Hattha for the fixing of the shoe. The workspace of the cobbler was not particularly a set place it was a temporary one sitting beside the road. The Work process of the cobbler are shown in Fig. 4 and the workstation of the cobbler is shown in the Fig. 5.



Fig. 4. Cobbler working



Fig. 5. Workstation of cobbler

3.3 Interview

They explained their work process. The unstructured interview gave us the insights of the cobblers which worked all day from morning 9 am to 8:30 pm and earned ranging from INR 100–400 as an average of 200 per day. They don't take leave. Also repair worn out umbrella and bags. Big challenge they come across is injury by needle while stitching and no proper workstation.

3.4 Postural Analysis

The postural analysis of the cobblers working was carried using their photographs of the major posture they adopt while operating. The REBA scores were very high at 15 which informed us it was very high risk, to implement change and RULA score as 7 and warned of investigation and changes to be required immediately. In the postural analysis by OWAS in which the score attained was 4 and warned for the corrective action for the improvement required immediately. Figure 6 – shows the mostly adopted postures by the cobbler.



Fig. 6. Posture adapted by the cobblers

3.5 Measurement of Psychophysical Parameters

The SI score cobblers scored were greater that 7 which resulted hazardous and the VAS score after working for 30 min onto scale of 10 was average to 6.27.

4 Discussion

4.1 Questionnaire

The cobblers experienced pain onto their various parts of their body though they have been in that certain work for many years. The pain areas were the knee, the lower leg and the back due to the prolonged hours of squatting onto the floor of the work. The pain onto their backs were also due to their flexion and twisting while working as for the tools to get from their place. The long hours of work eventually result in injury, pain and finally to the musculoskeletal disorders. The pains onto their hands were also the reasons of the unidimensional tools which been held and been worked for several hours.

4.2 Direct Observations

In the direct observation the workspace also added to major twisting of the cobblers while working. The workspace being on the roadside and cobbler doing the precision work that by sitting on ground on squatting position itself adds to the risk of musculoskeletal disorders. Due to prolonged hours of work daily and doing the precision work also leads to the bending or deformation of the fingers of the cobblers. They are getting injured by the sewing needle every time they work. The loss of vision due to excessive precision work they do in bad lighting conditions.

4.3 Interview

The work they work are passed onto generation after generation and the low wage they can't afford to study. The prolonged hours work daily and everyday shows they have to work daily to feed their family. And the injuries which they do come across they have to bear.

4.4 Postural Analysis

It was learnt the cobblers were very much exposed to the risk of getting the musculoskeletal disorders which demanded immediate actions for the intervention in the ergonomically design of the tools and the workspace. The process resulting into the deviated postures of the cobbler working for that precision work. The forceful exertion when sewing and hammering resulted in pains occurring onto the hands and the shoulders. And the force exertion for the grabbing of the Hatta for the process also resulted in pain and injury. The repetitive works of the forearm resulted in the occurrence of the lateral epicondylitis.

4.5 Measurement of Psychophysical Parameters

The SI score greater than 7 which states of work being hazardous to the cobblers due to hammering job. The wrist postures support the scores being high of the workers. The VAS score of 6.27 supports cobblers being tired and exhausted as continuous sitting and applying force of the work done with deviated posture. Such movements of the hands while working repetitive which being associated with the spine are open to the injury of WMSDs eventually turning up to lateral epicondylitis [11].

5 Conclusion

The work-related musculoskeletal disorders are the most common threat to any profession which is requiring a human force. As most of the India's population thrive by this profession, the risk are dangerous for the workers working in such sector whose family are depended upon them and their work. As this profession is passed onto generations to generations it's not good job to push workers to work under such condition which are open to such risks and injuries. The findings from the research is that unorganised sector of the cobbler working need to be intervene with ergonomic principle such as to keep this craft or activity alive. Thus, enhancing the work life of the cobblers and the efficiency of the cobblers and also increasing their productivity. Such implementation should be done such that more benefits could be achieved.

Acknowledgement. Acknowledgement is to all the cobblers who supported and participated in this study.

References

- Neupane, S., Virtanen, P., Leino-Arjas, P., Miranda, H., Siukola, A., Nygård, C.H.: Multisite pain and working conditions as predictors of work ability in a 4-year follow-up among food industry employees. Eur. J. Pain 17, 444e51 (2013)
- McBeth, J., Nicholl, B.I., Cordingley, L., Davies, K.A., Macfarlane, G.J.: Chronic widespread pain predicts physical inactivity: results from the prospective EPIFUND study. Eur. J. Pain 14, 972e9 (2010)
- 3. Neupane, S., Miranda, H., Virtanen, P., Siukola, A., Nygård, C.H.: Multi-site pain and work ability among an industrial population. Occup. Med. **61**, 563e9 (2011)
- Gangopadhyay, S., Ray, A., Das, A., Das, T., Ghosal, G., Banerjee, P., Bagchi, S.: A study on upper extremity cumulative trauma disorder in different unorganized sectors of West Bengal India. J. Occup. Health (Jpn.) 45, 351–357 (2003)
- Sutradhar, R.: Has Education Transformed Muchi Women's Lives? A Studyof Cachar District in Assam – Economic and Political Weekly (2015)
- Kuorinka, I., Jonsson, B., Kilbom, A., Vinterberg, H., Biering-Sørensen, F., Andersson, G., Jørgensen, K.: Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. Appl. Ergon. 18(3), 233–237 (1987)
- Das, B.: Gender differences in prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders among the rice farmers of West Bengal, India. Work 50(2), 229–240 (2015)

- McAtamney, L., Hignett, S.: Rapid entire body assessment. In: Handbook of Human Factors and Ergonomics Methods, pp. 97–108. CRC Press (2004)
- 9. Steven Moore, J., Garg, A.: The strain index: a proposed method to analyze jobs for risk of distal upper extremity disorders. Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. 56(5), 443–458 (1995)
- 10. Karhu, O., Kansi, P., Kuorinka, I.: Correcting working postures in industry: a practical method for analysis. Appl. Ergon. 8(4), 199–201 (1977)
- 11. O'Sullivan, L.W., Gallwey, T.J.: Forearm torque strengths and discomfort profiles in pronation and supination. Ergonomics **48**(6), 703–721 (2005)



Determination of Assessment Elements That Restrict REBA Implementations Within Aseptic Areas. A Study Case

Victor Hugo Madrid-Mendoza, Maria Carmen Torres-Salazar, Areli Rizo-Aguilar, Viridiana Aydeé Leon-Hernandez, and Martha Roselia Contreras-Valenzuela^(⊠)

Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Morelos, Av. Universidad 1001 Col. Chamilpa, 62209 Cuernavaca, Morelos, Mexico victor.madridmen@uaem.edu.mx, {maria.torres,areli.rizo,vleon,marthacv}@uaem.mx

Abstract. A method to determine drawbacks during REBA implementation inside aseptic areas was established employing opinions from twelve specialists. They assessed six aseptic areas. During the assessment, the specialists wore aseptic garments that difficult the observation of angles adopted by workers during job tasks, load demands and work cycles; information needed to achieve REBA. The method determines critical drawbacks through establish the procedure elements required to implement REBA, define ten main drawbacks, determine critical drawback items using a determination matrix, finally a procedure to implement REBA inside aseptic areas was proposed. It includes changes in the way of measure angles adopted by body segments and work task analysis.

Keywords: Human factors \cdot Risk evaluation \cdot REBA \cdot Ergonomic interventions

1 Introduction

An aseptic area is a Clean Zone inside a building in which the particles and microorganisms is controlled to meet a specified airborne cleanliness [1]. To maintain its aseptic conditions, all person inside has to wear aseptic uniforms. The cloth used restricts the movement and visibility (e.g. gloves, gowns, and shoe covers), this difficult the analysis of angles adopted by body segments in certain positions indispensable to evaluate awkward postures, or any other characteristic of work movement; information needed to estimate work risks. Ergonomists or specialists who must achieve a simple risk assessment of work tasks in these conditions, faces many adverse circumstances that limit his good judgment during the evaluation.

The Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA) is an ergonomic assessment tool to whole body postural analysis [2], sensitive to musculoskeletal risks in a variety of tasks [3] (the steps to implement REBA is described in Table 1). Usually, the technique includes take photos and video, which are used to coded body segments and determine

inadequate postures. Moreover, videos allow comprehend work tasks and load demands when work cycle is observed several times [4]. On the other hand, a standardized training is necessary to get reliable evaluations [5], considering it is necessary to fill out a REBA score sheet and determine the total score to define the risk of injury.

Element	Description
P1	Identify the workplace and the task to carry out a previous postural analysis, considering movement distance and height and the weight loaded or manipulated
	considering movement distance and height, and the weight loaded of manipulated
P2	Identify the movements developed and define movement planes with coded body
	segments (trunk, neck, legs and upper and lower arms)
P3	Assess the working posture using REBA score sheet
P4	Determining the total REBA score
P5	Identify the action level to define the risk of injury and corrective actions

Table 1.REBA procedure.

In this work, the determination of assessment elements that restrict REBA implementations within aseptic areas are developed, to determine if the conditions allow to specialists develop reliable evaluations.

The article is organized as follows: a case study carried out inside aseptic area is described in Sect. 1, the method used to determine the critical drawbacks during REBA assessment implementation is presented in Sect. 2. The method to determine elements that restrict REBA implementations within aseptic areas is showed in Sect. 3. The results and discussion are given in Sect. 4. Finally, a conclusion is developed in Sect. 5.

2 Study Case

Six departments (filling, sealing, printing, packing, extrusion and mill.) were inspected by twelve ergonomic specialists, during a routine assessment to determine risks in awkward postures. All departments produced components that will be used in dialysis process in hospitals. Thus, the environmental conditions of production areas must be rigorously controlled according to standards. During the assessment, specialists and personnel wore aseptic garments that difficult the observation of load demands, work cycles and angles adopted by workers, information required to implement REBA properly. All complains and problems lived by specialists were recollected and the ten main drawbacks about implement REBA assessments inside aseptic areas were defined, see Fig. 1.

Determination of Assessment Elements That Restrict REBA Implementations 375

Item	Drawback description	Al*	A1	A2	A2	A3	A3	A4	A4	A5	A5	A6	A6	F	\hat{p}
1	The method does not take into account the posture duration	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	10	0.09524
2	The method does not allow to identify applied force levels exerted by the different body segments	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	9	0.08571
3	The measure of position angle is at the discretion of the evaluator.	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	0.11429
4	The method does not include frequency of movements	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	0.11429
5	The machine layout prevents visualization of worker movements	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	8	0.07619
6	The uniform, dressed by workers was voluminous or tight and in both cases, it hindered the movement of work. Therefore, flexion, extensions and trunk positions were difficult to observe.	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	0.11429
7	The presence of the analyst distracted the operators, because it required to approach to observe the movements below the uniforms	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	0.11429
8	The uniform, dressed by analyst was voluminous or tight and in both cases the hood and the detachable face mask difficult the analysis and observation	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	0.11429
9	The duration time of awkward postures cannot be recorded because chronometers were not allowed, and the wall clocks inside the area sometimes were no visible.	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	6	0.05714
10	Analysts have been poorly trained in use properly the REBA score sheet	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	0.11429
	Total	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	9	9	8	8	8	105	1

Fig. 1. Opinions from specialists about the ten drawbacks in implementing the REBA evaluation inside aseptic area. it includes the opinion frequency and it statistic proportion. *Description areas, A1 - filling, A2 - sealing, A3 – printing, A4 – packing, A5 – extrusion and A6 –mill.

3 Methods

With the purpose of to determine critical drawbacks that allows suggest changes in the observation of work tasks during REBA implementation, the follow steps were implemented:

1. Definition of REBA Procedure

Establish the procedure elements required to implement REBA in accordance with Hignett and McAtamney [3] (see Table 1).

2. Determine main drawbacks

Ten main drawbacks were selected from several specialists' opinions regarding the inconveniences occurred during the period of evaluation (see Fig. 1).

3. Define relationship between drawbacks items and REBA elements

The relationships between the ten main drawbacks and REBA procedure elements were analyzed to decide if some of them have to be discarded, using a relationship diagram (see Fig. 2). After analysis, only six items remaining as follow:

- D3 Angle evaluation is at the discretion of the evaluator.
- D5 The machine layout prevents visualization of worker movements including in photos and videos.
- D6 The uniform wore by workers was voluminous or tight and in both cases it hindered the movement of work, therefore, flexion, extensions and trunk positions were difficult to observe.
- D7 The presence of specialists distracted the operators, because they required to approach to observe the movements inside the uniforms.
- D8 The uniform wore by specialists was voluminous or tight and in both cases the hood and the detachable face mask difficult the analysis and observation.
- D10 specialists had lack training in use the REBA score sheet properly.



Fig. 2. Relationship diagram between drawbacks items and the elements of REBA procedure

4. Determine critical drawback items using a determination matrix

The determination matrix for defining critical drawbacks is a tool, which allows identifying critical variables of one process [6, 7]. The column of criteria were the elements of REBA procedure, the alternatives (to be evaluated) were the drawback items identified by the relationship diagram. A weight was assigned as criterion value

defined by specialists as importance respect each other. The proportions are data from opinions that influence the criterion value statistically and were estimated using the drawback frequency (see Fig. 3). Finally, the highest value resulted in the section Results Chart the Critical Drawback Item are identified, as is shows in Fig. 4.

Item	Drawback description	A1*	A1	A2	A2	A3	A3	A4	A4	A5	A5	A6	A6	F	ŷ
3	The measure of position angle is at the discretion of the evaluator.	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	0.17647
5	The machine layout prevents visualization of worker movements	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	8	0.11765
6	The uniform, dressed by workers was voluminous or tight and in both cases, it hindered the movement of work. Therefore, flexion, extensions and trunk positions were difficult to observe.	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	0.17647
7	The presence of the analyst distracted the operators, because it required to approach to observe the movements below the uniforms	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	0.17647
8	The uniform, dressed by analyst was voluminous or tight and in both cases the hood and the detachable face mask difficult the analysis and observation	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	0.17647
10	Analysts have been poorly trained in use properly the REBA score sheet	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	0.17647
	Total	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	9	9	8	8	8	68	1

Fig. 3. Final proportions from opinions using for influence criterion value statistically

Critical Drawback Item - Determination Matrix													
ITEMS							Re	sults	Chart -	Resu	lts Tab	ole	
REBA procedure	I3	15	16	17	18	I10	Criterion value	13	15	I6	17	18	I10
P1		х			х	х	1	0	1	0	0	1	1
P2	х	х	х	х	х	х	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
P3	х	х	х	х	х	х	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
P4	х	х	х	х	х	х	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
P5	х	х			х	х	1	1	2	0	0	1	1
								0.882	0.8	0.706	0.706	1.059	1.059
Proportions	0.176471	0.114286	0.176471	0.176471	0.176471	0.176471			sel	ected c	ritical it	em	
EVALUATION											X	Х	

Fig. 4. Determination Matrix for the first selection of critical drawback item

4 Results and Discussion

Using the results from the Determination Matrix, improvement proposal can be suggested, considering as critical drawback items: D8 - The uniform wore by specialists was voluminous or tight and in both cases the hood and the detachable face mask difficult the analysis and D10 - specialists had lack training in use the REBA score sheet properly, followed by D3 - Angle evaluation is at the discretion of the evaluator, see Fig. 3. Unfortunately, the drawback D8 did not have a real solution, because the uniform cannot be changed due to standards requirements, consequently, the difficult observation about angles adopted by workers, load demands and work cycles remain. However, using the other critical drawbacks, corrective actions were implemented, and a new procedure was suggested see Table 2.

The Corrective Actions

The corrective actions implemented were the follows:

- 1. Training the specialists in the use the REBA score sheet in order to standardize the assessment.
- 2. Training the specialists in the ISO 11226:2000 standard [8] in order to standardize the method for determining working postures and angles.
- 3. All worker's size was reviewed, to eliminate loose or tight uniforms and improve the comfort.
- 4. All work methods were updated, to include work cycles times and movements by hands or feet.
- 5. Special layout of work areas was developed to include movement distances and reaching of materials among others.

Procedure Suggested for Implementing REBA Inside Aseptic Areas

Element	Description	New procedure
P1	Identify the workplace and the task to carry out a previous postural analysis, considering movement distance and height, and the weight loaded or manipulated	Using the special layout of work areas and the new work methods estimate the movement distance and height, and the weight loaded or manipulated
P2	Identify the movements developed and define movement planes with coded body segments (trunk, neck, legs and upper and lower arms)	Using the new work methods and the ISO 11226 standard to determine angles adopted and pre-coded the body segments
P3	Assess the working posture using REBA score sheet	With the pre-coded body segments, assess the working posture using REBA score sheet, inside aseptic areas
P4	Determining the total REBA score	Remains as the same
P5	Identify the action level to define the risk of injury and corrective actions	Remains as the same

Table 2. new procedure suggested for implementing REBA assessment

5 Conclusions

In spite of the drawback D8 did not have a real solution, because the uniform cannot be changed due to standards requirements, a procedure to implement REBA inside aseptic areas was proposed, the new procedure was developed using the resultant critical

drawbacks from the determination matrix. The new procedure includes changes in the way of measure angles adopted by body segments and work task analysis through special layout of work areas and new work methods, however it is necessary two or three new assessment to verify if the recommendations really works.

Acknowledgments. To the company and its workers for their disposition, the Chemistry and Engineering College for it support and Industrial Engineering students for it enthusiastic participation.

References

- 1. Institute of Environmental Sciences: Federal Standard 209E. Airborne Particulate Classes in Cleanrooms and Clean Zones, USA (1992)
- 2. Ergonomic Plus Inc.: A step by step guide to Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA), USA (2020). http://ergo-plus.com/wp-content/uploads/REBA-A-Step-by-Step-Guide.pdf
- Hignett, S., McAtamney, L.: Technical note: Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA). Appl. Ergon. 31, 201–205 (2000)
- Asensio-Cuesta, S., Bastante-Ceca, M.J., Diego-Mas, J.A. Evaluación ergonómica de puestos de trabajo, 3^a edn. Editorial Paraninfo. Madrid (2012)
- Schwartz, A.H., Albin, T.J., Gerberich, S.G.: Intra-rater and inter-rater reliability of the Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA) tool. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 71, 111–116 (2019)
- 6. Contreras-Valenzuela, M.R.: Metodología para la Mejora de la Operación de Procesos Industriales basada en Seis Sigma y una Metodología Jerárquica. Ph.D. thesis, Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Morelos, México (2011)
- Contreras-Valenzuela, M.R., Lopez-Sesenes, R., Duque-Albarez, A.E., Leon-Hernandez, V. A., Trujillo-Sandoval, B.: Redesign of washing process of cartridge case using a combination of acids, detergents and anti-tarnish compounds. Chem. Eng. Trans. 57, 1501–1506 (2017)
- 8. International Standard Organization ISO: Ergonomics Evaluation of static working postures ISO 11226:2000. International Standard, Switzerland (2000)



The Effects of Recovery Method and Refractive Status on the Recovery Process of Visual Fatigue

Xinran Xu^(III), Xiangchuan Wang, and Ruifeng Yu

Department of Industrial Engineering, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China {xxrl7, yurf}@mails.tsinghua.edu.cn

Abstract. The aim of this study was to investigate the effects of recovery method and refractive status on the generation and recovery progress of visual fatigue in the dynamic visual search tasks. A human factor experiment was conducted, in which a two-factor mixed design was adopted (2 recovery method \times 2 refractive status). 31 subjects participated in this study. The results indicated that the refractive error subjects' fatigue level was always higher than that of normal vision subjects when conducted dynamic visual search tasks. Compared to eye massage, using eye drops could lead to a quick recovery at the initial stage, then slowed down. The recovery trend of using eye massage was closer to a linear trend.

Keywords: Dynamic visual search \cdot Visual fatigue recovery \cdot Refractive status \cdot Eye massage \cdot Eye drops

1 Introduction

As the widespread uses of digital screens in daily work and life, visual fatigue has been an important problem which influences user experience and health of the users. Existing researches mainly focused on static visual search using digital screens, but a lot of visual search tasks are dynamic in actual usage scenarios. Prolonged dynamic visual search tasks on video display terminals (VDT) can lead to blurred vision, dry eyes, eye irritation, burning, headaches, sensitivity to bright light and other visual fatigue symptoms. The critical flicker frequency, near point accommodation, blink rate and pupil parameters are common indicators for measuring visual fatigue [1]. Previous studies indicated that CFF is of high sensitivity and convenient to measure. The decrease of CFF means visual fatigue, the increase means recovery [2].

Previous studies suggest that the uncorrected refractive error is associated with digital eye strain and computer vision syndrome [3, 4]. Visual fatigue is more likely to occur in people with myopia [5]. There are some methods to alleviate visual fatigue and improve visual search performance. Using lubricating eye drops (artificial tears) could help to alleviate eye fatigue symptoms [4]. By eye massage, varying degrees of improvement were also observed in some patients [6]. In a visual test task, subjects completed a visual test task faster when they received eye drops and eye massages prior

to the visual test [7]. Wu et al. studied the effects of 4 different recovery methods on visual fatigue. In the study, recovery methods included eye drops, two different types of eye massage (one massage method involved massage of the eyeballs, and the other only massaged the periphery of the eyes), and natural recovery without auxiliary method. The experimental results showed that after 15 min, the effect of eye massage was significantly better than using of eye drops and natural recovery, and the recovery of only massaged the periphery of the eyes was the best [8]. However, previous studies haven't studied the process of visual fatigue generation and recovery. Therefore, the goal of this study was to investigate the effect of two different recovery methods and refractive status on the generation and recovery process of visual fatigue.

2 Method

A laboratory experiment was conducted in which a 2 (recovery method: eye massage, eye drops) \times 2 (refractive status: normal vision, refractive error) mixed design was adopted. The critical flicker frequency (CFF) values were measured as the visual fatigue indicator. Participants completed a dynamic visual search task to generate visual fatigue. Then they were asked to adopt eye massage or eye drops to recover from visual fatigue. Each participant employed both recovery methods respectively in two different days.

2.1 Participants

The experiment recruited 31 university students, consisting 15 males (9 were normal vision, 6 were refractive error) and 16 females (6 were normal vision, 10 were refractive error). The average age of them was 21.6 years old. All of them had normal or corrected to normal vision.

2.2 Apparatus and Software

A lenovo C560 all-in-one computer was used in the experiment which was 23 in. in screen size, 1920*1080 in screen resolution and 60 Hz in refresh rate. The self-developed vision testing system was used in this experiment. The testing system is a dynamic visual search performance testing software. Users can adjust the search target, distractor, movement speed and the appearance location of the target. The BD-II-118 critical flicker frequency measuring apparatus was used to measure the CFF values. A height-adjustable chair was provided to the participants to ensure each participant's eyes were at the same height as the centre of the screen. The eyes of each participant were at a distance of approximately 800 mm from the front of the display.

2.3 Stimulus Material

The background of stimulus material was black, and the characters were white, as shown in Fig. 1. The distractors (i.e. X) and 1 target (i.e. O) were randomly arranged. The entire search area was divided into 60 columns and 21 rows. Target didn't appear

at the position between line 6 to line 14 for preventing nearness to the central field of vision at the first appearance. There was one and only one target in the search area, other positions were filled with distractors. The target and distracters were moving horizontally at a constant speed on the screen. When the items disappeared from the right end, it would reappear from the left end, keeping the state that target always present in the search area.



Fig. 1. The partial diagram of the stimulus material.

2.4 Procedure

Subjects were asked to participate in the experiment in two different days in which they adopted two different recovery methods. Each set consisted of two phases.

At the first phase, subjects were asked to perform the dynamic visual search task for 35 min on the experimental platform in order to generate visual fatigue. The first phase consisted of several single dynamic visual search trials. The translational velocity of the items was set as 8 deg/s. Before the start of each single search task, subject should click the fixation point in the center of the screen to start the task. Then the stimulus materials appeared. Subject should determine whether the target was on the upper or lower side of the screen as quickly as possible. During the first phase, the CFF values were recorded every 5 min.

At the second phase, the subjects adopted eye drops or eye massager, then rested with eyes closed to recover from visual fatigue. The recovery phase was 15 min and CFF values of the subjects were recorded every 2.5 min.

3 Result

As shown in Fig. 2, during the fatigue generation phase, the CFF values of the normal vision group were always higher than that of the refractive error group. Descriptive statistics of CFF values in the fatigue generation phase are shown in the Table 1. Results of ANOVA for testing the effect of time on CFF values showed that the main effect of time was significant (p = 0.000).



Fig. 2. The variation trend of CFF values in the fatigue generation phase.

Time	Mean _{nv}	SD_{nv}	Mean _{re}	SD _{re}
0	33.687	1.648	33.266	1.531
5	32.787	1.683	32.509	1.423
10	32.543	1.587	32.141	1.475
15	32.340	1.260	32.119	1.581
20	32.187	1.363	31.834	1.388
25	31.993	1.333	31.694	1.408
30	31.953	1.185	31.584	1.656
35	31.850	1.103	31.478	1.422

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of CFF in fatigue generation phase.

For the recovery phase, CFF value of 35 min point in the fatigue generation phase was used as the initial value. The CFF value at each time node during the recovery process minus the CFF value at 35 min was recorded as ΔCFF as the indicator to measure the degree of fatigue recovery. The variation trend of ΔCFF values is shown in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. The variation trend of ΔCFF values in the recovery phase.

The results indicated that at the 10 min point of the recovery phase, refractive status had a significant effect on ΔCFF (p = 0.038 < 0.05). And at the 12.5 min point of the recovery phase, refractive status had a borderline significant effect on ΔCFF (p = 0.073). When the recovery time was no greater than 7.5 min, the refractive status had no significant effect on ΔCFF .

As shown in Table 2, the characteristics of the fitting functions of ΔCFF values and recovery time differ when using different recovery methods. The data of eye massage group fit the linear trend better than the eye drops group. They both follow a quadratic function trend. Compared to eye massage group, the maximum point of the quadratic fitting function of eye drops group is closer to the left as shown in Fig. 4.

Recovery method	Fitting function	\mathbf{R}^2
Eye massage	$\Delta CFF = 0.076t + 0.2835$	0.8523
Eye drops	$\Delta CFF = 0.0645t + 0.3358$	0.7083
Eye massage	$\Delta CFF = -0.0066t^2 + 0.1756t + 0.076$	0.9744
Eye drops	$\Delta CFF = -0.0086t^2 + 0.1938t + 0.0664$	0.9457

Table 2. Fitting equations of two recovery methods.



Fig. 4. The quadratic fit curve of ΔCFF values and recovery time (left: using eye massage; right: using eye drops).

4 Discussion

For the fatigue generation phase, the results indicated that the level of visual fatigue increased with the increase of the search time and gradually stabilized in the later stage. Compared with normal vision subjects, the refractive error subjects' fatigue level was always higher than that of normal vision subjects.

The recovery effect of the normal vision group is better than the refractive error group after 7.5-min rest, which lead to a significant difference at 10 min point and a borderline significant difference at 12.5 min point. After 7.5 min, the subjects with normal vision still had obvious recovery, but the subjects with refractive error recovered slowly.

The two recovery methods differed in recovery trends of visual fatigue. The recovery trend by using eye drops was quick at the initial stage, and then slowed down. The recovery trend of CFF values by using eye massage was closer to a linear trend.

5 Conclusion

This study investigated the effect of refractive status and two recovery methods on the fatigue and recovery process in dynamic visual search tasks. The results indicated that the refractive error subjects were easier to get fatigue than normal vision subjects when conducted dynamic visual search tasks. Compared to eye massage, using eye drops could lead to a quick recovery at the initial stage, but there was no significant difference finally. The conclusion of this study could provide advice on recovery method of visual fatigue for dynamic visual search work design.

Acknowledgments. This work was funded by the Natural Science Foundation of China [Grant No. 71471098].

References

- 1. Sheppard, A.L., Wolffsohn, J.S.: Digital eye strain: prevalence, measurement and amelioration. BMJ Open Ophthalmol. **3**, e000146 (2018)
- Lin, J.T., Liang, G.F., Hwang, S.L., Wang, E.M.: Predicting visual fatigue in integrated circuit packaging plants. Hum. Factors Ergon. Manuf. Serv. Ind. 20, 461–469 (2010)
- 3. Rosenfield, M.: Computer vision syndrome: a review of ocular causes and potential treatments. Ophthalmic Physiol. Opt. **31**, 502–515 (2011)
- Coles-Brennan, C., Sulley, A., Young, G.: Management of digital eye strain. Clin. Exp. Optom. 102, 18–29 (2019)
- 5. Blehm, C., Vishnu, S., Khattak, A., Mitra, S., Yee, R.W.: Computer vision syndrome: a review. Surv. Ophthalmol. **50**, 253–262 (2005)
- Gopinathan, G., Dhiman, K.S., Manjusha, R.: A clinical study to evaluate the efficacy of Trataka Yoga Kriya and eye exercises (non-pharmocological methods) in the management of Timira (Ammetropia and Presbyopia). Ayu 33, 543–546 (2012)
- Safri, N.M., Adnan, S.N.F.: Eye therapy effects on visual stress based on electroencephalogram signals. Jurnal Teknologi 74, 15–19 (2015)
- Wu, H.C., Chiu, M.C., Jian, J.H.: Evaluation of four eyestrain recovery methods for visual display terminal workers. In: Stephanidis, C. (ed.) HCI International 2016 – Posters' Extended Abstracts, pp. 536–541. Springer, Cham (2016)



Effect of Air Quality Alerts on Intended Behavior Change

Megan Peaslee⁽⁾, Josh Nelson, Ellen Reed, and Lukas Sexton

University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA {mpeaslee, jn42, ellencr, lukas2}@uw.edu

Abstract. In 2015, Air pollution caused 8.8 million premature deaths worldwide and has reduced life expectancy by 2.9 years [6]. The increasing impact of wildfires and other emissions will lead to more days and locations with poor air quality. This research references and builds on previous work on how visual anchoring within the Air Quality Index (AQI) Alerts rating affects intended behavior change to ultimately protect against adverse health outcomes. Additionally, this study examines how past behavior and personality may impact future behaviors. Results show a significant effect of past behavior change specifically on intent to wear a face mask (t = -2.069, p = 0.0413). However, no effect of behavioral change was found between the two AQI Alert visuals presented as well as no effect between dominant or passive personality. As air quality continues to decrease worldwide the importance of understanding AQI Alerts on resulting behavior change becomes more critical.

Keywords: Human factors & health · Air quality alert · Behavior change

1 Introduction

In 2015, Air pollution caused 8.8 million premature deaths worldwide and has reduced life expectancy by 2.9 years [6]. Today, wildfires in the United States burn on average 78 days longer and cover twice the area compared to 50 years ago [12]. The increasing impact of wildfires and other emissions will lead to more days and locations with poor air quality. In 2018, the California wildfires caused California cities to rank as the world's most polluted cities over places in India and China [1]. Researchers have studied the effect of Air Quality Index (AQI) Alerts on actions, primarily focusing on avoiding the outdoors and physical activity [8, 10]. Building on the aforementioned research and other similar studies, this research looks to understand how visual anchoring within the AQI rating affects intended behavior change (i.e. staying home, changing location to be inside, reducing time outside, wearing a face mask) to ultimately protect against adverse health outcomes. Additionally, this study examines how past behavior and personality may impact future health-conscious behaviors.

1.1 Preventative Actions

To date, there have been studies on protective actions people can take from poor air quality. For example, Laumbach et al. [5], compiled the methods to protect against

poor air quality. These protective behaviors include staying indoors, cleaning indoor air, reducing physical activity outside, reducing exposure to microenvironments of high air pollution (highways, etc.), and using face masks (air respirators). All protect to a degree, but none of which guarantee full protection from poor air quality [5].

1.2 Changing Behavior with AQI Alerts

AQI alerts are a way for the United States Environmental Protection Agency and other government agencies to keep track and publish the air quality ratings. This measure is built around ground-level ozone, particulate matter, carbon monoxide, and sulfur dioxide to give a safety range value to the air [2].

Various authors have researched behavior change associated with poor AQI alerts. The primary findings of past studies have been avoidance of poor air quality from atrisk groups such as the elderly and children. Noonan [8] found these at-risk groups to exhibit greater avoidance behaviors, specifically in reducing outdoor physical activity, with the presence of alerts. A separate study conducted in Portland, OR and Houston, TX revealed that only a third of participants were aware of alerts provided to the public. Only a small portion of alert-aware participants self-reported behavior change due to the perception of poor air quality [11] with a person's perception of low air quality and professional advice leading to greater self-reported behavior change [5].

Several authors cite that AQI Alerts do not alter behavior across the population; a person's behavior will change between context and the activities in question [3, 8]. Furthermore, demographics do not predict if a person will follow an AQI Alert, instead, psychosocial factors have a larger influence (knowing how and where to check AQI, impact belief; i.e., symptoms are caused or antagonized by air pollution, perceived severity of air pollution, and professional health advice) [3].

Given the above review, present research addresses gaps in the existing research bodies. One clear gap is understanding causes and behaviors around wearing a face mask as a preventative measure. Little research has connected wearing a face mask and AQI Alerts other than a short piece examining the effects of mask wearing on systolic blood pressure [5]. Hansstein et al. looked at psychosocial reasons for why young adults in urban China wear face masks, finding that social norms and the individual's social circle's attitude shapes intention to wear a face mask [4].

There is a gap in understanding visuals in the AQI alert to motivate a person to change their behavior. In a similar field, Zikmund-Fisher et al. [13] studied the visual effect of understanding medical laboratory results. This study examined the effect of visually anchoring medical laboratory results when outside of a safe range through different visual treatments. Zikmund-Fisher et al. found that visual anchoring with harm anchors could help patients understand what is dangerous or unsafe [13]. Similarly, an AQI Alert represents a safe and unsafe range. This study looks to understand how seeing the AQI number in the context of the full-scale impacts the intention to change behavior.

Combining gaps assessed with AQI Alert visuals, face mask-wearing habits, and harm anchoring as a visual treatment, this study examines three hypotheses.

Hypothesis 1: The usage of a sliding scale in AQI Alerts to visually anchor the rating compared with a single number will affect intended behavior change. Hypothesis

2: Past behavior change related to air quality will affect intended behavior change related to air quality. Hypothesis 3: Personality traits such as decision making, opinion leadership, and social connection will factor into intended behavioral changes related to air quality.

2 Methods

2.1 Study Design

The study used a between-subjects design. Visuals associated with the AQI rating (single AQI rating number or the AQI rating number in the context of the full scale) served as the independent variable. Researchers posed a scenario where participants planned to attend the local outdoor market on a day with a poor AQI Alert. Dependent variables included five different behaviors a person could take, (a) reschedule for a better day, (b) hang out with your friend, but go somewhere else inside, (c) attend the outdoor market to hang out with your friend, but spend less time outdoors, (d) hang out with your friend at the outdoor event while wearing an air mask or respirator, and (e) attend the outdoor market to hang out with your friend as planned with no changes. Behaviors were measured through participants rating the likelihood to do each behavior using a slider scale from Very Unlikely 0 to Very Likely 100. Post-task questions included cataloging past behavior change due to air quality alerts and assessing personality. Personality questions centered around opinion leadership, decision making, and social behaviors which were systematically translated into the dominant and passive personality groupings. Past behavior and personality were chosen based on previous studies indicating their influence on behavior change in relation to viewing AQI.

2.2 Participants

The participants were in the United States over the age of 18, using a laptop/desktop computer recruited through Amazons Mechanical Turk. A total of 140 respondents were paid \$0.20. Of the 140 responses 113 qualified, the remaining 27 were eliminated for the following reasons: incomplete survey, not meeting requirements, and inconsistent open response questions (Table 1).

Table 1. Participant information

Gender	53 male, 58 female, and two non-binary/declined to respond
Age range	18-24 (13); 25-34 (33); 35-44 (28); 45-54 (13); 55-64 (15); 65+ (11)
Visual group	51 in the single number AQI rating and 62 in the AQI full scale
2.3 Tasks and Materials

Amazon's Mechanical Turk provided respondents and Survey Monkey was used to build and host the survey. The survey took on average three minutes to complete. Each participant saw the following scenario and one of two different visual scales with the AQI of "8", (see Figs. 1 and 2). The scenario provided was: *Air pollution in your city has become more common, often contributing to sore throat and coughing. Today, you are planning to go to an outdoor market to meet a good friend to shop and eat together. As you are deciding whether or not to bring a jacket you notice you have a slight sore throat. You check the weather application on your smartphone and notice your city's air quality rating below.*



Fig. 1. Group 1-single number AQI alert

The visuals were presented in black and white in order to control for the effect of color on the perception scale severity. The Canadian AQI scale was used to control for previous exposure, language, and actionability of the associated health message which has been shown to drive behavior change [9].

3 Results

Hypothesis 1. The usage of a sliding scale in AQI Alerts to visually anchor the rating compared with a single number will affect intended behavior change. There were no significant differences between visual groups found. Table 2 contains each measured behavior change and the respective p-values. Due to no changes found between the visuals, the two groups were combined for analysis of Hypothesis 2 and Hypothesis 3.

Hypothesis 2. Past behavior related to air quality will affect intended behavior related to air quality. Past behavior has a significant effect on people's likelihood to Wear an Outdoor Air Mask in the future (t = -2.07, p = 0.04). While this represents a significant difference, test results display low statistical power (0.34). The remaining intended behavior changes were not significant. Although, staying at home yielded t = -1.81 and p = 0.08, showing promise for past behavior affecting willingness to stay at home in the future. Table 3 contains each measured behavior change and the respective p-values (Figs. 3 and 4).

								<u> </u>		_
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	\mathbf{U}	9	10	+
ir Qu	alit	y Index:						·		
Risk I		Air Quality Health Index		Health Messages for General Population						
Low	/	1.	-3	Idea	Ideal air quality for outdoor activities					
Moder	ate	4	-6	No n unle: coug	No need to modify your usual outdoor activiti unless you experience symptoms such as couphing and throat irritation.					
High	ı	7-	10	Consider reducing or rescheduling activities outdoors if you experienc such as coughing and throat irritati				strenu ce symp ion.	ous toms	
Very high Above 10			Reduce or reschedule strenuous activities outdoors, especially if you experience symptom such as coughing and throat irritation.							

Fig. 2. Group 2-scale AQI alert

Table 2. AQI alert visual (single number vs scale) on intended behavior change

	Stay at home	Change to be inside	Less time outside	Outdoor with an air mask	Outdoor, no change
p- value	0.52	0.41	0.48	0.46	0.66
t- value	0.65	0.84	-0.71	0.75	-0.44

Table 3. Difference of past behavior on intended behavior change

	Stay at home	Change to be inside	Less time outside	Outdoor with an air mask	Outdoor, no change
p- value	0.08	0.29	0.78	0.04	0.75
t- value	-1.81	-1.06	0.28	-2.07	0.32



Fig. 3. Past behavior change & wearing a face mask

Hypothesis 3. Personality traits will factor into intended behavioral changes related to air quality. No difference found between dominant personalities and passive



Fig. 4. Past behavior change & staying inside

personalities on intended behavior change. Table 4 contains each measured behavior change and p-values.

|--|

	Stay at home	Change to be inside	Less time outside	Outdoor with an air mask	Outdoor, no change
p- value	0.98	0.33	0.25	0.94	0.22
t- value	0.03	0.97	-1.16	-0.08	-1.25

Miscellaneous Results: The lowest average rated intended behavior change was wearing an outdoor air mask. Figure 5 contains each measured behavior change and their average rating.



Fig. 5. Average of each intended behavior change across the group (0–100)

4 Discussion

When inspecting averages from each intended behavior change, the interesting takeaway is that the intention to wear a face mask's average rating is lower than the other methods, despite this being a known preventative and protective health measure. This could be due to the social stigma of wearing air masks in the United States. Continued findings show that past behavior had the strongest influence on the intention to wear a face mask in the future. In order to bolster global impact of these results, an effort in an area where mask wearing is more normalized, like Japan is advised. However, the climate in the US of wearing a face mask may have changed since this study took place due to COVID19, which has caused may more people to begin wearing a face mask for protection. Further research is needed in this area.

This study was inconclusive on anchoring visuals in AQI Alerts indicating that more research is needed in this area. Typically, an AQI alert contains the AQI rating number, an accompanying descriptor word (Good, Bad, Hazardous etc.), a color indicator (green to red/purple), a recommended health action, and some have visual illustrations to indicate severity. The current research team believes that the descriptive information provided underneath the scale may have outweighed any effect the anchoring visual may have had. Researchers should explore the impact that the different AQI alert components listed above have on behavior change.

Previous researchers found the primary reason for wearing a face mask to be the role of social norms and the attitude of one's social circle [5]. However, Hansstein et al. 2018 found that personality had a significant effect on behavior change [4] specifically within young adults; who may be ultimately more susceptible to social factors when making health decisions than older people. Further study of this potential correlation is clearly warranted. If social acceptance of behavior modification based on air quality is found to be an important factor in encouraging people to be proactive about their health decisions, it may behoove governments and public health organizations to orchestrate societal change through a variety of factors that are not necessarily connected.

Immediate next steps for this research include two primary efforts. First researchers should break down different aspects of visual communication for AQI Alerts to understand what could move the needle with behavior change. Next, test for any difference between AQI Alert information exposure (presence and absence) and AQI visual communication components (anchoring, color, severity, etc.) by utilizing an information absence condition as a control group.

Study Limitations. There were several key limitations to this study. 1) This study's sample size was too low due to limited time to collect data and needed 120 per group to have a strong enough statistical power (0.80) to gain confidence in findings. 2) The personality questions were not robust or validated, future research should look into refining these questions or exploring other psychological attitudes. 3) The activity chosen for the scenario was not pre-tested and could have unintentionally confounded behavior change. 4) While known limitations of using Mechanical Turk include low quality data, substandard open questions, and evidence of foreign workers using server farms [7]; the following steps were taken to ensure data quality. Questions were asked

to ensure participants met survey criteria and open text questions were asked to ensure attention and literacy.

5 Conclusion

The most salient benefit of this research study points to what it takes to potentially increase intent to wear a face mask in the future focusing on past behavior and visual information displayed. This should be retested and expanded on in order to increase confidence. The impact of predicting this type of intended behavior change for both decreasing air quality and in today's pandemic climate is monumental. As health concerns continue, it is necessary to understand how to best communicate important information that has the best chance at influencing protective health behaviors.

References

- Azad, A.: Due to wildfires, California now has the most polluted cities in the world, 17 November 2018. https://www.cnn.com/2018/11/16/health/san-francisco-wildfires-airquality-worst-in-world/index.html
- Cho, R.: What You Should Know About Air Quality Alerts, 20 February 2019. https://blogs. ei.columbia.edu/2018/06/26/air-quality-alerts-pollution/. Accessed 15 Mar 2020
- D'Antoni, D., Smith, L., Auyeung, V., Weinman, J.: Psychosocial and demographic predictors of adherence and non-adherence to health advice accompanying air quality warning systems: a systematic review. Environ. Health 16, 100 (2017)
- 4. Hansstein, F.V., Echegaray, F.: Exploring motivations behind pollution-mask use in a sample of young adults in urban China. Global Health **14**, 122 (2018)
- 5. Laumbach, R.J., Meng, Q., Kipen, H.: What can individuals do to reduce personal health risks from air pollution? J. Thorac. Dis. **7**(1), 96–107 (2015)
- Max-Planck-Gesellschaft: Air pollution is one of the world's most dangerous health risks. ScienceDaily, 5 March 2020. www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2020/03/200305135048.htm. Accessed 15 Mar 2020
- Moss, A. (2018). https://www.cloudresearch.com/resources/blog/after-the-bot-scareunderstanding-whats-been-happening-with-data-collection-on-mturk-and-how-to-stop-it/
- 8. Noonan, D.S.: Smoggy with a chance of altruism: using air quality forecasts to drive behavioral change (2011)
- 9. O'Keefe, D.J.: Persuasion: Theory and Research, 3rd edn. Sage Publications, Los Angeles (2016). OCLC: 900684567. ISBN 978-1-4522-7667-0
- 10. Saberian, S., Heyes, A.G., Rivers, N.: Alerts work! Air quality warnings and cycling (2017)
- Semenza, J.C., Wilson, D.J., Parra, J., Bontempo, B.D., Hart, M., Sailor, D.J., George, L.A.: Public perception and behavior change in relationship to hot weather and air pollution. Environ. Res. 107(3), 401–411 (2008)
- Wildfires and Climate Change (n.d.). https://www.c2es.org/content/wildfires-and-climatechange/. Accessed 3 Feb 2020
- Zikmund-Fisher, B.J., Scherer, A.M., Witteman, H.O., Solomon, J.B., Exe, N.L., Fagerlin, A.: Effect of harm anchors in visual displays of test results on patient perceptions of urgency about near-normal values: experimental study. J. Med. Internet Res. 20(3), e98 (2018)



Mass and Density of Materials: Knowledge and Perceptions

John Smallwood⁽⁾

Department of Construction Management, Nelson Mandela University, PO Box 77000, Port Elizabeth 6031, South Africa john.smallwood@mandela.ac.za

Abstract. Many construction injuries are musculoskeletal related in the form of sprains and strains arising from the handling of materials. The paper reports on a study conducted among construction management students in a South African university, the objectives being to determine their knowledge and perceptions relative to the mass and density of materials and construction ergonomics. Findings include: knowledge relative to the mass and density of materials is limited, and students appreciate that the mass and density of materials impacts on construction ergonomics. Conclusions include: students lack knowledge and awareness relative to the mass and density of materials, and the undergraduate programme must be reviewed in terms of addressing/referring to the mass and density of materials. Recommendations include: tertiary construction management education must address construction ergonomics; employer and professional associations, and statutory councils must raise the level of awareness relative to construction ergonomics and the mass and density of materials.

Keywords: Construction · Ergonomics · Mass and density · Materials

1 Introduction

According to Reid et al. [1], construction is a high-risk industry for work-related musculoskeletal disorders (WMDSs), and Monk [2] states that construction materials may be heavy and/or inconveniently sized and shaped, thus presenting manual materials handling problems. The Center for Construction Research and Training [3] underscores Reid et al.'s statement by stating that WMSDs are common in the construction industry. They add that 65% of WMSDs in construction are related to sprains, strains, and tears. Furthermore, one-third of all construction industry accidents reported to the HSE in the United Kingdom (UK) every year involve manual handling [4].

The South African Construction Regulations [5] require in general that contractors must identify the hazards and the risks to which persons may be exposed.

The aforementioned highlight the relevance of construction ergonomics and the mass and density of materials to the discipline of Construction Management, and the rationale for the study reported on, the objectives being to determine:

- students' knowledge relative to the mass and density of materials, and
- students' perceptions relative to the mass and density of materials relative to construction ergonomics.

2 Review of the Literature

2.1 Legislation and Recommendations

Prior to the promulgation of the Construction Regulations in South Africa, all designers were required to address H&S in terms of Section 10 of the Occupational Health and Safety Act (OH&SA) [6] as they must ensure that any 'article' is safe and without risks when properly used. This requirement implies that the mass and density of materials must be considered by designers.

Clients and designers have a range of responsibilities, in terms of the Construction Regulations [5]. Designers are required to, inter alia: advise the client of any dangers or hazards relating to the construction work, identified or anticipated; provide the necessary information to assure the healthy and safe execution of the work; amend the design or substitute materials where the design necessitates the use of materials or methods that entails hazards and risk, and consider hazards and risk relating to subsequent maintenance during the use phase of the structure. These requirements have implications as the mass and density of certain materials may constitute a hazard and entail risk.

The South African Ergonomics Regulations [7] require that before an activity that may expose workers to ergonomics risks is commenced, an employer must have an ergonomic risk assessment conducted. Such a risk assessment must be conducted at intervals not exceeding two years, and must include: a complete hazard identification; identification of all the persons who may be affected and how they will be affected by the ergonomic risks; the analysis and evaluation of the ergonomic risks, and the prioritization of the ergonomic risks.

The United Kingdom (UK) Manual Handling Operations Regulations require a range of interventions by employers. Regulation 4(1)(b)(iii) requires employers "to take appropriate steps to provide general indications and, where it is reasonably practicable to do so, precise information on the weight of each load, and the heaviest side of any load whose centre of gravity is not positioned centrally" [8]. The HSE [8] states that 'general indications' in turn should form a part of any H&S induction or basic H&S training, so that employees have sufficient information to undertake the tasks they are required to do. Training should also cover practical techniques handlers can use to assess the weight of unfamiliar loads.

In terms of the OH&SA [6] and South African Construction Regulations [5] contractors must identify hazards and the risks, analyze and evaluate them in a documented manner, produce a plan such as a method statement, evolve related safe work procedures, and inform and train workers to mitigate, reduce, or control the hazards and risks.

2.2 Materials Handling

Handling heavy materials has been repeatedly flagged in terms of the frequency eighteen ergonomics problems are encountered in South African construction [9-11]. Handling heavy materials was deemed to be encountered frequently as opposed to infrequently.

Furthermore, materials handling was identified first among nine ergonomic aspects requiring attention by the majority of management and worker respondents during a study conducted in South Africa [9]. A subsequent study conducted solely among workers identified materials handling as the predominating ergonomic aspect requiring attention [10].

2.3 The Relevance of the Mass and Density Materials to Construction Ergonomics

A further South African study identified that mechanisation could make between a near major to major/major contribution, and specification between a contribution to a near major/near major contribution to an improvement in construction ergonomics [12].

3 Research

3.1 Research Method and Sample Stratum

24 BSc (Honours) (Construction Management) students registered at a comprehensive university in South Africa constituted the convenience sample stratum, all of which completed the self-administered questionnaire at the inception of the honors lectures in 2019.

Six closed ended questions constituted the questionnaire, the first two pertained to the mass and density of materials, and the remaining four questions required a response to a five-point scale. The study replicated prior studies conducted among, inter alia, honors level civil engineering students [13].

The data analysis entailed the computation of percentages, and a mean score (MS), a measure of central tendency.

3.2 Research Findings

The first question entailed a response in the form of the mass or density of nine materials, and overall, 88.0% of respondents attempted the questions, and 12.5% did not (Table 1). The precast concrete kerb attracted the least response (79.2%), and the solid clay brick, Double Roman concrete roof tile, concrete, and steel attracted the most response (91.7%).

Matarial	Respon	ded to (%)
Wateria	Yes	No
Solid clay brick	91.7	8.3
Two-cell concrete block	87.5	12.5
Precast concrete kerb	79.2	20.8
Double Roman concrete roof tile	91.7	8.3
m ² glass 5 mm thick	87.5	12.5
Concrete	91.7	8.3
Marble	87.5	12.5
Sandstone	83.3	16.7
Steel	91.7	8.3
Mean	88.0	12.0

 Table 1. Summary of mass and density of materials responses.

Interrogation of the mean response mass/density, the percentage difference between the mean response and actual mass/density, and the responses that were within a 10% range of the actual mass or density provides further insight with respect to the respondents' knowledge and perceptions (Table 2).

Precast concrete kerb (-7.1%), followed by steel (-14.8%) recorded the lowest percentage difference between the mean response and actual mass/density. Sandstone (-65.2%), followed closely by two-cell concrete block (62.5%) recorded the highest difference. The mean percentage difference of -39.3% is notable.

The lowest percentage response that was within 10% range of the actual mass/density is relative to steel (0%), and the highest is relative to concrete (33.3%), and a mean of 11.6%. These are notable, as reinforced concrete construction, which includes concrete and steel, predominates in South Africa, and the Construction Management programme includes the subject 'Structures' in the three-year undergraduate programme.

Material	Actual	Mean	Difference	Within
		response	(%)	10% (%)
Solid clay brick (kg)	3.0 - 3.5	2.7	(16.7)	16.7
Two-cell concrete block (kg)	17.5	6.6	(62.5)	4.2
Precast concrete kerb (kg)	95	88.2	(7.1)	12.5
Double Roman concrete roof tile	1 9	3.5	(26.9)	8.3
(kg)	4.0			
m^2 glass 5 mm thick (kg)	13.5	5.7	(57.5)	4.2
Concrete (kg / m^3)	2 400	1301.6	(45.8)	33.3
Marble (kg / m^3)	2 755	1171.7	(57.5)	16.7
Sandstone (kg / m^3)	2 323	807.5	(65.2)	8.3
Steel (kg / m^3)	2 393	2038.0	(14.8)	0.0
Mean			(39.3)	11.6

Table 2. Actual mass/density and mean mass/density response, percentage difference, and summary of responses within a 10% range of the actual mass or density.

The MS of 4.57 (4.20 \leq 5.00) in Table 3 indicates the mass and density of materials impacts on ergonomics between a near major to major/major extent. Although this finding reflects perceptions it is reinforced by the findings of literature, and reality. Furthermore, even though the percentage responses that were within 10%

range of the actual mass/density (Table 2) are low, the level of understanding and appreciation in terms of the impact of the mass and density of materials is notable.

Table 3. Extent to which the mass and density of materials impacts on ergonomics.

		Resp	onse (%)			
Linguag	Minor.			N	Aajor	MS
Unsure	1	2	3	4	5	
4.2	0.0	0.0	4.2	33.3	58.3	4.57

The MS of 2.67 (>2.60 \leq 3.40) in Table 4 indicates the respondents' rating of their knowledge of the mass and density of materials is between below average to average/average. However, it should be noted that the MS of 2.67 is margianlly (0.07) above the lower range >1.80 \leq 2.60, which indicates a rating of limited to below average/below average. This self-rating reflects the respondents' knowledge reflected in the findings relative to the mass and density of materials (Table 2).

Table 4. Respondents' rating of their knowledge of the mass and density of materials.

		Res	ponse (%)			
Lingungo	Limited.			Ext	ensive	MS
Unsure	1	2	3	4	5	
0.0	16.7	25.0	45.8	0.0	12.5	2.67

In terms of the frequency built environment disciplines should consider the mass and density of materials, Engineers (Design), Engineers (Construction), Construction Managers, Project Managers, and Architects have MSs > 4.20 \leq 5.00, which indicates the frequency is between often to always/always (Table 5). Given that construction management students are the subject of the study, it is notable that Construction Managers are ranked third. Quantity Surveyors is ranked last with a MS of 3.74, which is > 3.40 \leq 4.20, which indicates the frequency is between sometimes to often/often. Given the impact of the mass and density of materials on ergonomics, all built environment disciplines should consider the former.

Table 5. Frequency at which built environment disciplines should consider the mass and density of materials when practicing their discipline.

			Respo	onse (%)			_	
Discipline	Un-	Ne	ever		A	lways	MS	Rank
_	sure	1	2	3	4	5	_	
Engineers (Design)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.2	95.8	4.96	1
Engineers	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.2	95.8	4.96	2
(Construction)								
Construction	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	12.5	87.5	4.88	3
Managers								
Project Managers	0.0	0.0	0.0	20.8	20.8	58.3	4.38	4
Architects	0.0	0.0	4.2	16.7	20.8	58.3	4.33	5
Quantity Surveyors	4.2	0.0	12.5	33.3	16.7	33.3	3.74	6

The MS of 4.48 (> $4.20 \leq 5.00$) indicates that there is between near major potential to major potential/major potential for the consideration of the mass and density of materials to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics. This is despite the respondents' self-rating of their knowledge of the mass and density of materials being between below average to average/average (Table 4).

Table 6. Potential of the consideration of the mass and density of materials to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics.

		Resp	onse (%)			
Linguage	Miı	10r			Major	MS
Unsure	1	2	3	4	5	
4.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	50.0	45.8	4.48

4 Conclusions

The respondents are lacking in knowledge relative to the mass and density of materials due to: an average of 88.0% having attempted to record a mass or density relative to the materials presented; on average 11.6% being within a 10% range of the actual mass or density; the percentage differences between actual mass/densities and the mean mass/densities, and the respondents' self-rating of their knowledge of the mass and density of materials, namely 2.67, which indicates below average to average/average.

Respondents understand and appreciate: the extent to which the mass and density of materials impact on construction ergonomics, as the MS (4.57) indicates the appreciation to be between near major to major/major; the frequency at which five disciplines should consider the mass and density of materials, and the potential of the consideration of the mass and density of materials to contribute to an improvement in construction ergonomics, which is between near major potential to major potential/major potential.

5 Recommendations

Tertiary built environment education should deliver holistic construction technology/materials and methods modules, which address the environmental, health and safety, and ergonomics aspects of materials and the related activities, including engendering an awareness of the mass and density of common construction materials. Academia and industry liaison panels should address this aspect, and professional and statutory council accreditation panels should review the extent to which designing for construction H&S and ergonomics is addressed in such programmes.

Construction managers should consider the mass and density of materials when preparing method statements, undertaking temporary works designs, conducting HIRAs and developing safe work procedures, and addressed the aspect during H&S induction, toolbox talks, daily H&S task instructions, and H&S training delivered to workers.

Designers should deliberate the mass and density of materials when designing, detailing, and specifying materials, and so too cost engineers/quantity surveyors when compiling bills of quantities and preparing contract documentation. Furthermore, they should facilitate adequate financial provision for H&S by tenderers, ergonomics included.

All South African statutory built environment councils and professional associations, in addition to the South African Council for the Project and Construction Management Professions (SACPCMP), and Chartered Institute of Building (CIOB) should evolve construction H&S and ergonomics practice notes, and promote continuing professional development (CPD) relative to construction ergonomics.

References

- 1. Reid, A., Pinder, A., Monnington, S.: Musculoskeletal Problems in Bricklayers, Carpenters and Plasterers: Literature Review and Results of Site Visits. Health & Safety Laboratory, Sheffield (2001)
- 2. Monk, V.A.: Ergonomics in Construction. In: Lingard, H., Rowlinson, S. (eds.) occupational Health and Safety in Construction Management. Spon Press, Oxon (2005)
- 3. The Center for Construction Research and Training (CPWR): The Construction Chart Book, 6th edn. CPWR, Silver Spring (2018)
- 4. Health & Safety Executive (HSE): Backs for the future Safe manual handling in construction. HSE, Norwich (2000)
- Republic of South Africa: No. R. 84 Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993 Construction Regulations 2014. Government Gazette No. 37305. Pretoria (2014)
- 6. Republic of South Africa: Government Gazette No. 14918. Occupational Health & Safety Act: No. 85 of 1993. Pretoria (1993)
- 7. Republic of South Africa: No. R. 1589 Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993 Ergonomics Regulations 2019. Government Gazette No. 42894. Pretoria (2019)
- 8. Health & Safety Executive (HSE): Manual handling. Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992. Guidance on Regulations, 4th edn. HSE, London (2016)
- 9. Smallwood, J.J.: Ergonomics in construction. ergonomics SA 9(1), 6-23 (1997)
- Smallwood, J.J., Deacon, C.H., Venter, D.J.L.: Ergonomics in construction: workers' perceptions of strain. Ergonomics SA 12(1), 2–12 (2002)
- Smallwood, J.J.: Construction ergonomics: General Contractor (GC) Perceptions. Ergonomics SA 14(1), 8–18 (2002)
- Smallwood, J.J.: Ergonomics in construction: South African perspectives, In: CIB W107 Construction in Developing Countries International Symposium on Construction in Developing Economies: New Issues and Challenges, Santiago, Chile, 18–20 January 2006 (2006). D:\4.6.pdf
- Smallwood, J.J., Wium, J.: Mass and density of materials: civil engineering students' knowledge and perceptions. Procedia Manuf. 3, 6235–6240 (2015)



Analysis of the Operation in a Woodwork Shop: Layout Aspects, Work Safety and Interaction with Ergonomics

Beatriz Carvalho Peixoto, Laís Benevides de Almeida, and Valéria Barbosa Gomes^(⊠)

Industrial Engineering Course, Department of Industrial Engineering, Rio de Janeiro State University UERJ, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil valeriag@uerj.br

Abstract. The present work has the objective of proposing solutions that can adapt a joinery in the municipality of São Gonçalo to the current legislation, which concerns Occupational Health and Safety, having the main goal of providing safe and healthy conditions for workers. The methodology used was divided into two stages: Documentary survey and object recognition and characterization, using techniques such as unsystematic observation, interviews and questionnaires. In the final part of the research, the results of the methodology were presented and the criticality points of woodworking related to Occupational Health and Safety were identified so as to propose improvement projects that meet the employees' needs inserted in the context of the factory, in order to contribute to a healthier, safer and more comfortable working environment.

Keywords: Joinery \cdot Occupational ergonomic risk \cdot Health and Safety \cdot Furniture sector \cdot Physical arrangements

1 Introduction

Workplace safety in Brazil is created by legal provisions, which are enforced by companies, not much because of the understanding of the need and impact on workers and research.

The present work was developed in a carpentry shop, in the municipality of São Gonçalo in the state of Rio de Janeiro, in Brazil. The Municipality of São Gonçalo is home to a significant number of carpenters, who use local labor and provide services from small consumers to large companies.

In order to analyze the operation of this joinery with a focus on layout organization and Occupational Health and Safety for proposing improvements in the environment with a focus on Ergonomics, unsystematic observation techniques were used, which means free observation to know the object of study. In this sense, interviews were conducted composed of questions previously structured and based on issues related to Occupational Health and Safety, in addition to the well-being of employees so that there was a better understanding of the current scenario of the company and formulating a diagnosis. Finally, a check-list was carried out in order to check if some Regulatory Norms - NR of the Ministry of Economy of Brazil were complied with in the carpentry in question.

The NR are under review and as for Ergonomics in the document that was for public consultation, there was emphasis on the survey of ergonomic aspects and separation of what can be solved with the company's Work Safety personnel and the aspects that must be analyzed by specialists. The author's belief is that with adequate training, most needs are solved by own staff, with simpler projects.

As required by NR, ergonomic issues should be analyzed in terms of the severity of the damage, and the probability of occurrence, a level of risk being determined and from there a prioritization and work plan is made. Then, in the final stage of the research, the results were presented, identifying the critical points of the carpentry related to Health and Safety at Work. These results focused mainly on aspects related to the company's outdated knowledge of legal requirements; absence of signs that indicate the risks present in the factory and in the areas of the machines used, as well as escape routes in case of emergency; non-regular use of individual and collective protection equipment, as well as the lack of inspection regarding their use; manual cargo transportation done incorrectly; ergonomic risks not raised; confusing flow patterns, unnecessarily long stock of materials and processing times and inadequate location for operators to have their meals, such as disorganized and dirty environments. From the identification of these deficiencies of the company, projects were elaborated to remedy them. In the design, the favorable characteristics found in the company's environment were considered.

2 Theoretical Reference

2.1 Environmental and Comfort Conditions According to NR 24

Regulatory Norm 24 [1] establishes the minimum conditions of hygiene and comfort to be observed by companies, according to the dimensioning of all the facilities regulated by it, based on the number of workers in the shift with the greatest contingent. In the carpentry in question, the areas outside the production environment (toilets, changing rooms, cafeterias, kitchens and accommodation) were analyzed according to the requirements established by NR 24 [1].

2.2 Physical Arrangements According to NR 12

In order to determine the minimum requirements to prevent accidents at work and occupational diseases caused by operation, maintenance or other activities arising from the interaction of man with machinery and equipment, the former Ministry of Labor and Employment - MTE, now Ministry of Economy, established NR 12 - Work Safety in Machinery and Equipment [2]. This norm also establishes guidelines related to physical arrangements and installations, directly impacting the layout of establishments. In the carpentry studied, the six machines used in the production process need an operator for each one of them. Thus, it is mandatory to observe the parameters defined in this standard regarding the disposition of the machinery, in addition to demarcations of the spaces occupied by these and the circulation areas.

2.3 Signaling According to NR 26

Regulatory Norm NR 26 – Safety [3] signs, establishes that colors for safety must be adopted in establishments or workplaces, in order to indicate and warn about the existing risks. In the carpentry environment, chemical, physical and biological risks are present, therefore, it is necessary to apply the requirements established in this NR.

2.4 Ergonomics and Interface with Other NRs

NR 17 – Ergonomics [4], aims to define parameters that enable the adaptation of working conditions, the psychophysiological characteristics of workers in order to provide maximum comfort, safety and efficient performance.

In the furniture sector, there are several activities that require continuous physical effort from the workers who perform it. Such tasks generate muscle pain and injuries such as low back pain and spinal disc herniation (FIEDLER ET AL, 2003) [5]. In this sense, non-conformities were raised in the carpentry studied that infringed related items, not only NR 17 [4], but also NR 15 - Unhealthy Activities and Operations [6], NR 11 - Transport, handling, storage and handling of materials [7] and NR 6 - Personal protective equipment – PPE [8]. Since the subjects covered in this are part of the carpenters' work routine, it affects their health, safety, comfort and well-being.

3 The Joinery

The carpentry in question was founded in 1986 by its current owner with the purpose of creating planned furniture with a fine finish. From the beginning, its mission is to deliver differentiated and quality products. Operating in the furniture sector for over thirty-three years, the carpentry in question began its activities serving the market in the city of Rio de Janeiro. Serving about 100 annual orders, each of them containing, at least, planned furniture in one room, one of the most manufactured products by the studied company are paint lacquers with a fine finish. The joinery has thirteen permanent employees, these are divided into administrative and factory floor activities.

4 Research Methodology

In order to better understand the studied carpentry environment, the researchers went to the field to collect relevant information for the preparation of this work. For this, unsystematic observation, interview and check list techniques were applied.

Without the need to have previously defined planning, the so-called casual or simple observation, consists of conducting free observation in order to know the object of study and formulate hypotheses (Moraes and Mont'Alvão 2003) [9]. In the present study, an initial analysis was carried out in the study environment in order to raise the

main criticisms related to Occupational Health and Safety. This observation consisted of an analysis of the work process, of workers, their work materials, safety equipment, activities performed and the environment, identifying collective, individual, physical, chemical, biological, ergonomic and accident risks.

The researchers applied an interview, previously prepared, with the managers of the factory, aimingto have a better understanding of the current scenario of the company regarding Health and Safety at Work.

The check list is a tool that aims to certify the conditions of a service, product, process or any other activity, with a focus on ensuring that all phases or items on the list have been carried out as planned. In this sense, a check list of NRs 6 [8], 11 [7], 12 [2], 15 [6], 17 [4], 24 [1] and 26 [3] was carried out, in order to verify whether these were fulfilled in the carpentry in question.

5 Improvement Opportunities

Through the techniques mentioned in the methodology, it was possible to evaluate the most critical points of the carpentry regarding issues of Occupational Safety Health.

In the first visit to the factory, some aspects were identified, such as poorly organized layout, absence of signs in general and irregular use of PPE by employees. In addition, it was noticed that the joinery had a lagged knowledge in relation to the legislation inherent to Health and Safety at Work. In the interview with the managers, the perception that the company's mentality in relation to Occupational Health and Safety needed to be developed was confirmed. From the applied check list, it is concluded that the carpentry in question does not achieve most of the requirements set out in NRs 6 [8], 11 [7], 12 [2], 15 [6], 17 [4], 24 [1] and 26 [3] and evidenced the company's highest criticisms regarding Health and Security that needed to be worked on.

6 Improvements to Be Implemented

The proposed projects were defined according to the main deficiencies found, also taking advantage of the favorable characteristics found in the studied woodwork environment.

To remedy the company's outdated knowledge in Regulatory Norms, it is proposed to qualify some collaborator, from the productive area, to act in the implementation and inspection of Regulatory Norms.

In order to improve the physical layout of the machines by distributing them aiming to maximize the functionality of the production process and optimize the working environment, it was proposed to allocate the machines in a more functional way, obeying the principles of proper layout.

In order to comply with NR 6 [8], it is suggested that a process flow be established to ensure that the employee uses the PPE correctly, in addition to having control over the PPE according to the activities carried out and adequacy according to the Certificate of Approval - CA; control of PPE delivery with individual file for each employee and training control as to the indication, use and conservation of the PPE offered.

To meet the requirements established in NR 17 [4], it is suggested to apply a load handling training. It is also necessary that the studied carpentry elaborates an Ergonomic Analysis of Work, which according to NR 17 [4], aims to establish parameters for the adaptation of working conditions to the psychophysiological characteristics of workers. In addition, it is necessary to implement a system of rest breaks in order to preserve the physical conditions of workers.

It is recommended the elaboration of technical unhealthy expertise and issuance of the Social Security Professional Profile - PPP for employees exposed to unhealthy agents in virtue of NR 15 [6], as the activities carried out by workers in the joinery offer occupational risks for them.

The factory does not have any signs related to Occupational Health and Safety. Thus, it is proposed to implement, in strategic locations of the factory, signposts according to the items of NR 26 [3]. In addition to the signs, the standard establishes in item 26.2 that the body of the machines must be painted in white, black or green. It is worth emphasizing the importance of ensuring that the signage of machinery and equipment is as indicated in NR 12 [2] to warn workers about the risks to which they are exposed. In this sense, it was suggested to implement a demarcation on the floor in order to alert about possible risk in the area involved.

The factory has two freight elevators that have no protection. It is recommended that protective grids be installed around the elevators. This operation system allows the operator to use the elevator safely and efficiently, helping to avoid accidents at the workplace, in compliance with NR 11 [7] related to the system of security. In addition, it is necessary to have the signaling indicating the maximum load that can be transported in the freight elevators and its exclusivity in transporting only materials.

In compliance with NR 24 [1], it is suggested to build a suitable place for workers to have favorable and wholesome conditions to have their daily meals and rest during lunch hours.

7 Final Considerations

The present work, through methodological tools and theoretical foundation, generated results that indicate the non-conformities related to the Occupational Health and Safety legislation are the inherent weaknesses of the layout organization. Regarding Health and Safety at Work, the carpentry has numerous flaws. These can be seen on any shop floor, where there is no signage, irregular use of PPE and poorly organized layout.

The suggestions for improvements contained in this work were developed with the aim of adapting the structure of the place to the current legislation, providing company employees with elements that allow them to develop their activities in comfort and safety. The studied environment has full conditions for implementing the recommendations. It is worth mentioning that the carpentry studied implemented part of the improvements suggested in this work.

References

- 1. NR, Norma Regulamentadora Ministério da Economia. NR 24 Condições Sanitárias e de Conforto nos Locais de Trabalho
- 2. NR, Norma Regulamentadora Ministério da Economia. NR 12 Segurança do Trabalho em Máquinas e Equipamentos
- 3. NR, Norma Regulamentadora Ministério da Economia. NR 26 Sinalização de segurança
- 4. NR, Norma Regulamentadora Ministério da Economia. NR 17 Ergonomia
- Fiedler, N., et al.: Análise da exigência física do trabalho em fábricas de móveis no Distrito Federal. Revista Árvore, Viçosa - MG 27(6), 879–885 (2003)
- 6. NR, Norma Regulamentadora Ministério da Economia. NR 15 Atividades e Operações Insalubres
- NR, Norma Regulamentadora Ministério da Economia. NR11 Transporte, movimentação, armazenagem e manuseio de materiais
- 8. NR, Norma Regulamentadora Ministério da Economia. NR 06 Equipamento de proteção individual
- 9. Moraes, A., Mont'alvão, C.: Ergonomia, Conceitos e Aplicações. iUsEr, Rio de Janeiro (2003)



An Assessment of Whole-Body Vibrations Exposure in Transport Truck Drivers

Rodrigo Domínguez^(⊠) and Jose Dasso

Universidad Técnica Federico Santa María, Valparaíso, Chile rodrigo.dominguez@usm.cl, josedassor@gmail.com

Abstract. Objectives: The purpose of this study was to asses whole-body vibration (WBV) exposure from transport truck drivers. Methods: Field measurements of WBV were measured according to the National Standard Decree 594/99, was implemented in Chile through the vibration protocol. They were measured simultaneously according to ISO 2631-1. The Decrees contain legal obligations and minimum requirements for the evaluation by direct measurement, which is the reference method. Results: The sum of the vectors of frequency-weighted r.m.s. acceleration varied between 0.35 and 0.94 m/s^2 , which meant that none of the vehicles exceeded the action value stated by decree 594/99 (X-Axis 0.71([m/s²]), Y-Axis 0.71([m/s²]) and Z-axis 1,06 ([m/s²]). In general, the dominant vibration direction for the truck driver was the Z-axis. The other axis measurement levels were under the Chilean and European legislation. Significant differences were identified between the levels measured in each of the axes (X, Y, Z) and great differences can be identified between the levels obtained in trucks from the year 2011 and trucks from the year 2019. Despite obtaining high levels on the z axis, none of the measurements exceeded the established limits. Conclusions: The dominant vibration direction varies depending on the transport truck type and the state of the road or highway on which truck circulates. The study shows that no worker is under health guidance caution zone (HGCZ) so the probability of contracting musculoskeletal injuries is very low.

Keywords: Truck drivers · Whole-body vibrations · Transportation

1 Introduction

The energy of an object that vibrates is absorbed by the human body and can produce various effects that depend on the characteristics of the vibration [1]. Biodynamic strain, microtrauma, and intraluminal/intra-abdominal pressure fluctuations produced by truck vibrations are postulated as being at least partially responsible for the development of certain musculoskeletal, digestive, and circulatory disorders among interstate truck drivers [2]. The most pronounced long term effect of whole body vibration is damage to the spine, with health risks increasing with intensity and duration of exposure. [3, 4]. Whole body vibration (WBV) is a known leading risk factor for LBP among professional vehicle operators [1, 5–9]. Whole-body vibration occurs when a human is supported by a surface that is shaking and the vibration affects body parts remote from the site of exposure. When a forklift truck drives over a bumpy surface, vibration is

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 407–412, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_54 transmitted through the vehicle to the seat and footrest, which are the surfaces that support the driver [10]. The long periods of operating off-road vehicles can result in the overuse and damage to the soft tissues in the low back and neck regions, which is a known precursor of musculoskeletal injuries [1, 11–13]. Numerous research studies have indicated that reducing WBV helps reduce discomfort and maintain vigilance, which may improve drivers' health and reduce the risk of truck collisions [14].

2 Method

(See Fig. 1).

P1:Exp. Design	P2: Measurement	P3: Analysis
Experimental desing	Vibration measurement	Route and truck identification

Fig. 1. Phases of research project in truck drivers.

2.1 P1: Experimental Design

This was a cross-sectional study conducted during the Fall of 2019 on truck drivers of La Calera in Valparaíso province, Chile (Table 1).

Truck	Year	Age (yrs)	Route
T-1	2011	8	Doñihue
T-2	2012	7	San Jorge
T-3	2012	7	Viña deí Mar
T-4	2015	4	La preferida
T-5	2019	0	San Pablo
T-6	2019	0	Walmart

Table 1. Description of truck evaluated for driver whole-body vibration exposure.

The age is computed from vehicle year to date of latest data collection-2019.

2.2 P2: Measurement

All measurements were made with a Svantek 106 equipment, this equipment has an SV 39 A/L model seat accelerometer according to ISO 2631 and allows equivalent weighted acceleration values to be obtained, placing the instrument with filters weighting required for full body exposures. The measurements were made during a period of two weeks during the early morning. The measurements time was 30 min and

was projected to 4 h, which corresponds to the daily driving time. (Random vibration). The participants signed an informed consent. We interviewed a tot al of 6 truck drivers in different routes.

$$\text{TOT}_{\text{wRMS}}A(8) = \sqrt{(1.4\text{wRMS}_y)^2 + (1.0\text{wRMS}_z)^2}$$
 (1)

Overall weighted total Root-Mean-Square (RMS) acceleration or vector sum normalized to an 8-h shift is obtained by Eq. (1).

Frequency-weighted RMS accelerations were then calculated using the appropriate weighting factors (x-axis = Wd; y-axis = Wd; z-axis = Wk) Scaling factors associated with the determination of health for seated exposure were also applied (x-axis, k = 1.4; y-axis, k = 1.4; z-axis, k = 1.0) [15].

According to 594 STD, the frequency-weighted acceleration values corresponding to the "x" and "y" and "z" axis of the health guidance caution zone (HGCZ) (for 4 h of exposure) are 0.71 m/s^2 and 1.09 m/s^2 respectively. According to the standard, health effects are not well documented for vibration exposure levels below the HGCZ. Exposures falling within the HGCZ should be viewed with caution in regards to health risks, while health risks are likely if the exposure is above the HGCZ.

2.3 P3 Analysis

Exposure Time (h)	Z- Axis	X-Axis	y-Axis
12	0,50	0,35	0,35
11	0,53	0,38	0,38
10	0,56	0,39	0,39
9	0,59	0.42	0,42
8	0,63	0,45	0,45
7	0,70	0,50	0,50
6	0,78	0,54	0,54
5	0,90	0,61	0,61
4	1,06	0,71	0,71
3	1,27	0,88	0,88
2	1,61	1,25	1,25
1	2,36	1,70	1,70
0,5	3,30	2,31	2,31

Table 2. Vibration exposure time versus Max. limits.

Daily vibration exposures were computed from weighted RMS accelerations for the different haul trucks and drivers using Eq. (1) (Table 2).

3 Results

Weighted acceleration levels for the total sample times were normalized to compare with the health guidance caution zone.

Table 3 shows truck driver WBV exposures in terms of wRMS accelerations for six trucks. All levels, normalized for an 4-h, were within the HGCZ for both ISO and 594 Chilean STD.

Truck	Year	Route	A- TOT _{RMS}	Within HGCZ
T-1	2011	Doñihue	0,98	×
T-2	2012	San Jorge	0,53	×
T-3	2012	Viña del Mar	0,41	×
T-4	2015	La preferida	0,60	×
T-5	2019	San Pablo	0,41	×
T-6	2019	Walmart	0,35	×

Table 3. Whole-body vibration exposures evaluated by weighted, root-mean-square (wRMS) accelerations for axis x, y, and z

4 Discussion

It is observed that there is a relationship between the year of the truck and the levels of exposure to vibrations, since it decreased when the truck is from 2015 onwards.

The X and Y axis measured are conditioned by the characteristics of the road, being mainly affected by three factors: route, truck age and traffic (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Route map used and result of A_{RMS} related with route within HGCZ

5 Conclusion

The levels of exposure to whole body vibrations are observed for each of the trucks used by the company, with favorable results since none of the trucks exceeds the limits established under Chilean regulations and ISO 2631-1. The farthest destination terminals had a higher level of exposure.

From this evaluation of the workstation it is concluded that the factors of exposure to mechanical vibrations are very determined by the type and state of conservation of the road through which they circulate, as well as the state of conservation of the truck, especially the damping system I have. The age of the vehicle also directly affects the level of mechanical vibrations.

References

- Kim, J.H., Dennerlein, J.T., Johnson, P.W.: The effect of a multi-axis suspension on whole body vibration exposures and physical stress in the neck and low back in agricultural tractor applications. Appl. Ergon. 68, 80–89 (2018)
- Gruber, G.J.: Relationships between whole-body vibration and morbidity patterns among interstate truck drivers (No. DHEW-PUB-NIOSH77-167 Final Report) (1976)
- 3. Bogadi-Sare, A.: The effect of whole-body vibration: an unrecognized medical problem. Arhiv za higijenu rada i toksikologiju 44(3), 269–279 (1993)
- 4. Joubert, D.M.: Whole-body vibration: the kidney belt controversy! In: Global Ergonomics. Proceedings of the Ergonomics Conference, pp. 103–109 (1998)
- 5. Troup, J.D.G.: Clinical effects of shock and vibration on the spine. Clin. Biomech. 3(4), 232–235 (1988)
- Bernard, B.P., Putz-Anderson, V.: Musculoskeletal disorders and workplace factors; a critical review of epidemiologic evidence for work-related musculoskeletal disorders of the neck, upper extremity, and low back (1997)
- Bovenzi, M., Hulshof, C.T.J.: An updated review of epidemiologic studies on the relationship between exposure to whole-body vibration and low back pain (1986–1997). Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health 72(6), 351–365 (1999)
- 8. Teschke, K., Nicol, A.M., Davies, H., Ju, S.: Whole body vibrations and back disorders among motor vehicle drivers and heavy equipment operators: a review of the scientific evidence (1999)
- Burström, L., Nilsson, T., Wahlström, J.: Whole-body vibration and the risk of low back pain and sciatica: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health 88(4), 403–418 (2015)
- 10. Mansfield, N.J.: Human Response to Vibration. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2004)
- Rempel, D.M., Harrison, R.J., Barnhart, S.: Work-related cumulative trauma disorders of the upper extremity. JAMA 267(6), 838–842 (1992)
- Dennerlein, J.T., Ciriello, V.M., Kerin, K.J., Johnson, P.W.: Fatigue in the forearm resulting from low-level repetitive ulnar deviation. AIHA J. 64(6), 799–805 (2003)
- Thomsen, G.F., Johnson, P.W., Svendsen, S.W., Kryger, A.I., Bonde, J.P.E.: Muscle fatigue in relation to forearm pain and tenderness among professional computer users. J. Occup. Med. Toxicol. 2(1), 17 (2007)

- Du, B.B., Bigelow, P.L., Wells, R.P., Davies, H.W., Hall, P., Johnson, P.W.: The impact of different seats and whole-body vibration exposures on truck driver vigilance and discomfort. Ergonomics 61(4), 528–537 (2018)
- 15. Mayton, A.G., Jobes, C.C., Gallagher, S.: Assessment of whole-body vibration exposures and influencing factors for quarry haul truck drivers and loader operators. Int. J. Heavy Veh. Syst. **21**(3), 241 (2014)

Social, Legal and Epistemology



The Impact of Social Media in Military Recruiting

Angel Peralta^{1(\Box)} and Nicholas Caporusso²

¹ Department of Informatics, Fort Hays State University, 600 Park Street, Hays 67601, USA agperalta@mail.fhsu.edu
² Department of Computer Science, Northern Kentucky University, Louie B Nunn Dr, Highland Heights 41099, USA caporussonl@nku.edu

Abstract. Given the growing success and user base of Social Media websites and, specifically, Social Networks, over the last decade, businesses have transitioned from traditional advertising to digital platforms. Specifically, their audience targeting features make it very easy to promote products and services to defined groups of individuals with specific characteristics. As a result, in addition to standard advertising, organizations, including educational institutions, started using personal and professional Social Networks (e.g., Facebook, Instagram, and LinkedIn) as a recruiting tool for reaching potential candidates and interacting with them in a quick informal fashion.

In this paper, we explore the human factors in the use of Social Media in recruiting for the Army and we detail the results of a study in which we compared the perspective of recruiters and prospect cadets, especially in the context of initiatives, such as the Delayed Entry Program (DEP).

Keywords: Social Media · Recruiting · Military · Delayed Entry Program

1 Introduction

In the last decade, several Social Network (SN) websites have been developed to provide people worldwide with opportunities to connect with others, share different type of information, and stay informed, mostly for free. As a result, nowadays, the most popular platforms, that is, Facebook and Instagram, have more than 2 billion and 1 billion users, respectively. Traditional methods lack tools for quickly engaging in meaningful conversations between organizations and their audiences, whereas comments, messages, and notifications render Social Media more effective in creating a constant contact with a larger network of potential target users. Consequently, Social Media have been increasingly utilized by businesses as the predominant tool for communicating to their target audience and advertising their products and services to new groups of potential customers. On the one hand, this resulted in a major budget shift from traditional advertising to digital media; on the other hand, Social Networks are a marketing tool that any company can use to reach a broader audience [1].

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 415–420, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_55 In addition to traditional advertising channels, recruiting agencies and human resource offices have increasingly started utilizing social media as a way to identify potential candidates and check their background, monitor employees and the appropriateness of their social media profile to the etiquette of the company, and promote the business itself using salient figures among their workforce as the face of the company, to advertise a healthy and productive work environment and, simultaneously, improve their brand reputation in order to recruit better talents. Following more traditional organizations, such as, education institutions, different military branches in the Army, such as, the Department of Defense and the Air Force, have attempted the use of Social Media to advertise their activities, recruit cadets, and engage youth in their programs.

In this paper, we focus on the use and impact of new forms of digital advertising on military recruiting and we present the results of a research study aimed at assessing the role of Social Networks, such as, Facebook and Instagram, in supporting traditional and non-conventional strategies for promoting enlisting in the army and military organizations. In our study, we specifically considered the Delayed Entry Program (DEP), which is designed to prepare civilians for basic military training, and we analyzed different strategies operated by recruiters, including traditional advertising and communication via personal and organization profiles. Moreover, we interviewed both recruiters and prospect cadets to compare their perspectives and expectations in terms of technology adoption, to highlight the role of human factors in influencing decisions to join the service, and to identify how Social Media changed recruiting practices. In addition to measuring the outcome in terms of successful applications, we describe current patterns and future trends in the context of recruiting for the military. Finally, we discuss how the results of our study can be applied in different types of hiring processes and how practices adopted by Army recruiters can offer insightful information for other organizations.

2 Related Work

According to a recent report [2] posting job vacancies and advertising them to potential candidates is among the compelling reasons for companies to use social media, because in addition to making it convenient to create job posts and specify a narrow target audience, communication tools, such as, instant messaging, increase engagement and, simultaneously, renders the recruiting process more informal. Also, as users can easily contact companies, Social Media enables job seekers to spontaneously apply, which helps organizations build a database of potential candidates for future consideration [3].

Specifically, research studies focusing on specific age groups found that users in the Millennials and Gen Z generation spend an average of 2 h and 43 min per day on Social Media, which makes SNs the primary channel they use to stay informed [4], despite the presence of potential risks [5]. As a result, higher education institutions have increasingly used SM to advertise their programs to future students, in the last decade, in addition to incorporating them as learning tools [6]. Also, applications can be built to acquire more information about the user, so that message can be customized accordingly [7]. Nowadays, most universities use SN websites to share information with students and their parents, and to recruit potential candidates. Moreover, as users

tend to migrate from one Social Media to another [8], they simultaneously use multiple platforms. In longitudinal studies on the effectiveness of Social Networks as a recruitment tool [9, 10], the authors interviewed several institutions and measured their improvement over the course of four years. Moreover, they compared the Return on Investment of recruiting via Social Networks to the results obtained by several blogs maintained by the institutions and concluded that while the latter had little impact on enrollment, SN had a significant role in engaging students. Also, their findings showed an increasing trend in the numbers of schools that utilized SM.

While other types of organizations were faster in the adoption of SM technology, the Army did not adjust as quickly to leveraging the dynamics of Social Networks for recruiting. Although the Department of Defense (DOD) created a social media account almost a decade ago, over the last years cadets have been primarily contacted and managed using traditional methods and many recruiters in the United States have acknowledged the struggle to advertise the Army to Millennials and Generation Z. A few early adopters started using Instagram to post their daily operations in lieu of marketing events, others are broadcasting how the hiring process works, and others started using their feed to share motivational posts that can create awareness and aid their recruiting tasks. However, in addition to being a small group, the activity of the most innovative recruiters is the outcome of personal initiatives, rather than the application of a structured framework. Only recently, forced by decreasing budget availability, several branches, such as, the Air Force, started realizing that most recruiters are still relying on outdated procedures and they are not utilizing technology to its fullness, mainly due to security reasons or concerns that its use would invade on their personal time [11]. Therefore, nowadays there is a push towards modernized techniques and, specifically, to the adoption of Social Media as a platform for optimizing the recruitment process.

3 Study

As the purpose of our work is to evaluate the adoption of Social Media as an advertisement tool for the army, we designed a research study aimed on understanding recruiting from the perspective of recruiters and prospect cadets. Specifically, we focused on the Delayed Entry Program (DEP), which is designed to prepare civilians for basic military training. The DEP is one of the largest in terms of enrollment, because it is meant as a screening program for all individuals potentially going into active duty. Also, given the purpose and structure of the DEP, the program results in a higher dropout rate compared to further military training, as individuals can decide not to fulfill their active duty commitment while or after attending their training. This is especially interesting for the purpose of our research, as the dynamics of the DEP exactly mimic the inherent conversion funnel of products and services that involve potentially high churn rate.

A total of 73 subjects were selected for this study, 27 of them were recruiters (36.98%) and 46 (63.01%) were prospect cadets. Participants in the recruiters' group were all in the 28–32 age group, whereas the latter featured 30 individuals (65.2%) in the 17–21 age group, 9 (19.6%) who were 22–27, 4 (8.7%) aged 28–32, and 3 (6.5%)

in the 33–39 bracket, which reflects the distribution of applicants to the DEP. 45 of them had a social media account, whereas the remaining one was considered an outlier because they did not have any active profile on SN; as a result, their data were removed from the study.

In the group of recruiters, participants had different roles: 14 were actively involved in recruitment tasks, 6 were supervisors, 4 were responsible for the operations, and 3 were former recruiters or involved in other tasks of the DEP. Their experience ranged from 1 to 16 years with an average of approximately 5 years ± 4 years; specifically, 11 of them (40.74%) had 1–2 years of practice in recruiting, 8 (29.62%) had 3–5 years, 8 (18.51%) had 6–10 years, and 3 (11.11%) had 10 years or more of experience.

We utilized two different questionnaires to collect responses about the perspective of recruiters and prospect cadets. As for recruiters, we also included questions that helped us capture their return on investment in the form of an average monthly conversion. The questionnaires were distributed to recruiters via e-mail, whereas they were administered to prospect cadets during events.

4 Results and Discussion

All the applicants were Social Media users, and many of them had multiple accounts: 82.2% were active on Instagram, 62.2% had a Facebook profile, 71.1% used Snapchat, 40% had Twitter, and 8.9% had an account on a different Social Network website. Although the majority of them (63%) reported that SM was the primary information channel for enlisting in the Air Force, 18 individuals decided to apply after a first contact via other sources. Specifically, responses from prospect cadets demonstrated that the organization website has still to be considered as one of the most relevant ways for generating leads; also, the data showed a long and fragmented tail of other methods, such as, word of mouth, personal networks (e.g., family and friends), and schools, which 20% of the applicants mentioned as the primary point of contact. Our findings are consistent with trends in other domains. However, surprisingly, age was not a factor in determining a prevalence for Social Media versus more traditional channels. With small fluctuations, approximately 63% of the individuals in each age group indicated SNs as the first point of contact.

As for recruiters, 85.2% of them utilized the Internet, and 74.1% particularly Social Networks, as a tool for advertising the DEP to prospect applicants. Other methods include the Radio (37%), Newspapers (29.6%), and personal contact or events (37%). Instagram and Facebook were indicated as the main platforms for generating leads, and they resulted in 85% and 80% of preference, respectively. On the contrary, websites, such as, Twitter and Snapchat, were not indicated as a recruitment tool at all. This is consistent with the use of Social Media among applicants, which indicates that recruiters are aware of the websites that are more effective in generating more leads. From our data, we can conclude that 80% of recruiters who rely on Social Networks tend to simultaneously use multiple platforms to contact potential applicants and communicate with them. Interestingly, the use of Social Media did not have any correlation with age, in contrast with published studies. On the contrary, expertise is a factor that influences the use of advertising tools: more senior recruiters (10+ years of

experience) showed a tendency to diversify their strategy and communicate over multiple media, including Social Networks, whereas younger recruiters having 1-2 years of experience focused on one or two channels, only. Specifically, we found strong negative correlation (r = -.86) between seniority and media used, which were $1.18 (\pm 0.98), 1.12 (\pm 0.35), 1.6 (\pm 1.35), and 2.66 (\pm 0.57)$ for entry-level recruiters (1– 2 years), junior (3–5 years) experienced (6–10 years), and recruiters (10+ years), respectively. Furthermore, the number of media utilized by air force personnel showed a very strong correlation (r = 0.97) with the average monthly leads, which demonstrates that diversifying their strategy enables them to obtain better results. Specifically, recruiters who did not utilize Social Media had an average of 2 leads, whereas the use of Social Networks in combination with other channels resulted in better performances and, particularly, using two, three, and four different types of media increased the average monthly leads to 5, 7, and 7.75, respectively (see Fig. 1). As we found no correlation between age or seniority level and the number of monthly leads (r = -0.001and -0.13, respectively), we can conclude that although recruiters' experience might be relevant in the subsequent steps of the funnel (e.g., converting leads into enlisted cadets), the use of Social Media is a stronger factor for the lead generation phase.



Fig. 1. Monthly leads generated by recruiters when using the Internet without Social Media (left), and when using SM combined with Newspapers (N) and with Radio (R).

5 Conclusions

In the last decade, Social Media gained increasing attention as the most prominent digital channel worldwide for connecting individuals and distributing information. In regard to the latter, most Social Networks offer the unprecedented opportunity of defining a variety of narrow audiences having very specify characteristics and targeting them accurately with promotional messages resulting in detailed statistics, higher conversion rates, and favorable Return on Investment. As a result, most digital advertising shifted to Social Networks, adapting to their mechanisms. Indeed, this resulted in new forms of promotion for businesses, products, and services: nowadays, brands adjusted their communication strategy and language to Social Media, such as,

using influencers as testimonials, embedding their message in viral videos, and creating messages that leverage human factors to trigger social dynamics and generate organic trends.

In this paper, we presented the preliminary results of a study on the adoption of Social Media by military recruiters and potential cadets. We explored the human factors that determine the behavioral intention to use Social Networks with the aim of explaining the role played by aspects, such as, perceived usefulness, perceived effort, facilitating conditions, and personal motivation in the adoption of platforms, such as, Facebook, Instagram, and LinkedIn, for recruiting purposes. Also, we detailed how these tools are being incorporated in the daily duties of recruiters (e.g., to generate more leads or to manage communication with candidates) with the objective of sharing common practices and helping define guidelines. Indeed, despite the many benefits in utilizing social media, given the functioning mechanisms of the Army, it is important for high-ranking officials to advocate the use of social networks among all recruiters, and provide them with tools that facilitate their adoption.

References

- 1. Elena, C.A.: Social media-a strategy in developing customer relationship management. Procedia Econ. Financ. **39**, 785–790 (2016)
- Mohapatra, M., Sahu, P.: Optimizing the recruitment funnel in an ITES company: an analytics approach. Procedia Comput. Sci. 122, 706–714 (2017)
- Priyadarshini, C., Kumar, Y.L.N., Jha, R.R.: Employer attractiveness through social media: a phenomenological study. Qual. Rep. 22(4), 969–983 (2017)
- Desai, S.P., Lele, V.: Correlating internet, social networks and workplace-a case of Generation Z students. J. Commer. Manag. Thought 8(4), 802–815 (2017)
- Santiago, K., Caporusso, N.: Addressing mental health consequences of social networking from the social services perspective. In: International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics, pp. 183–192. Springer, Cham July (2018)
- Lenig, S., Caporusso, N., Minecrafting virtual education. In: International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics, pp. 275–282. Springer, Cham, July 2018
- Caporusso, N., Personality-aware interfaces for learning applications. In: Proceedings of the 37th Annual ACM SIGUCCS Fall Conference: Communication and Collaboration, pp. 189– 196. ACM, October 2009
- Xiao, X., Caporusso, N.: Comparative evaluation of cyber migration factors in the current social media landscape. In: 2018 6th International Conference on Future Internet of Things and Cloud Workshops (FiCloudW), pp. 102–107. IEEE, August 2018
- 9. Sandvig, J.C.: The role of social media in college recruiting. Int. J. Web Based Communities 12(1), 23–34 (2016)
- Evans, J.O.: School Resources, social media capabilities, and recruiting effectiveness in the national collegiate athletic association division I football bowl sub-division. Doctoral dissertation, The Ohio State University (2019)
- 11. Pomeroy, B.: Time to engage in social media (2017)



Improvement of Efficiency in the Productivity of an Aerospace, Maritime and Military Company in Tijuana, Baja California; Mexico

Mario Raul Sanchez-Matute^(⊠), Carolina Zayas-Marquez, Marcela Solis-Quinteros, and Luis Alfredo Avila-Lopez

Universidad Autónoma de Baja California, Campus Tijuana, Calzada Universidad, 14418, Parque Industrial Internacional, 22300 Tijuana, Baja California, Mexico {msanchez38, carolina.zayas, marcela.solis, avila.luis}@uabc.edu.mx

Abstract. The interest of the present investigation was carried out along with an electronic branch that is a global leader in electronic engineering components, network solutions, marine telecommunication systems and consumer goods in the city of Tijuana, Baja California Mexico.

In a world where business is more competitive, organizations aim to increase their productivity at a lower cost, without affecting the quality of their products, or the health of their workers, so that the economic profit margin can be increased and be able to face the competition. Not only can new technologies improve quality and productivity, this can also be achieved by learning to use the machines at hand effectively. For this reason, in the company under study, the department of electrical connectors is intended to improve productivity with connector assembly machines that are in four parts.

In addition to the fact that there is a problem of absenteeism and rotation of the staff with those of entry-level recruits, for this reason the management of this department is analyzing the way to invest capital for the improvement of the connector assembly machines and increase the capacity, in such way to eliminate the night shift.

Therefore, the company's main objective is to increase production capacity and thereby improve the efficiency indicators of connector assembly machines in the department of electrical connectors by 25%. For this purpose, the 3 main approaches of the organization are covered, which are: safety, quality and service (for financial projects), using tools found in the plant, such as CNC, lathe and milling machines, statistical software, ergonomics, CAD and engineering work, to identify relevant information that improves the efficiency in the process of said machinery.

This project is an explanatory study, since it provides a profound response on the modification of the connector assembly machine. The method used is inductive since a working hypothesis was formulated and tested. Regarding data collection techniques, different methods were implemented, among which are: time-taking, route method, application of the 5s methodology and design of experiments.

According to the results, an increase in the capacity of connector assembly machines was achieved by up to 59%, that is, 500 more pieces per hour.

Keywords: Efficiency · Productivity · Continuous improvement · Standardization

1 Introduction

History has shown that to be more competitive you have to make changes in the processes. A tangible example is undoubtedly the textile area that during the first industrial revolution ceased to be something handmade to become the central economic activity of the time [11]. Another outstanding example is the case of Henry Ford when he changed the way of assembling his cars, which positioned his company as a world-class company [12] therefore, it is suggested that with engineering work, and innovation in work teams, it is possible to unleash great advances in the productive capacity of companies.

Currently, the business world is increasingly competitive. The organizations aim to increase their productivity at a lower cost, without affecting the quality of their products, or the health of their workers, in such a way that the margin of economic utility can be increased and the competition can be tackled.

The present work projects the improvement of a machine with the objective of increasing productivity in an aerospace, maritime and military business in Tijuana, Baja California; Mexico. It consists of the realization of tests that allowed an increase in the productive capacity in the machines of assembly of connectors in the department of electrical connectors. The 3 main approaches that the organization has are covered: *safety, quality and service*, using tools found in the plant, such as CNC, lathe and milling machines, statistical software, ergonomics, CAD and engineering work was achieved An excellent result.

This research work addresses a problem of absenteeism through the use of engineering tools that allow increasing the productivity of the machines. It has an introductory section, a brief description of the tools implemented in the analysis, the data and pilot tests section, and finally the conclusions.

The one in the development of this type of projects, an indispensable factor is the efficiency, since this term is a guide to reach the previously outlined aims (Cohen and Franco, 2006). The concept of efficiency is related to the economy of resources. It is common to define efficiency as the relationship between the results obtained (outputs) and the resources used. Since companies usually produce multiple outputs, the efficiency will be in any case the multidimensional magnitude. The efficiency shows the ability of the unit to obtain maximum output from the given set of inputs [6].

Another element of utmost importance is productivity, that is; the need to clean up productive processes in all spheres of economic activity has made productivity the focus of attention of the general public and of specialists in the field of competitiveness. However, at the company level there are not a few resistances when trying to incorporate certain innovations that involve increased productivity and cost savings. Despite this, productivity improvements seem to be the main remedy to increase yields, combat crises, performance, inflation and achieve highly competitive products [14].

Finally, standardization is an element to consider for continuous improvement. According to the International Organization for Standardization, the process that is carried out when a series of rules is applied to an ordered set of steps of a specific activity, without forgetting the functional characteristics and safety requirements is known as standardization; which is decisive for future development. To the extent that a process is executed consciously and in the same way improvements can be made more easily. Standardization is an engine for innovation and incentive for people facing a process to be more creative [4].

2 Paper Preparation

The present project generated high expectations when considering improvements and savings in a company of the aerospace, maritime and military business, in the department of electrical connectors; particularly in the area of four parts. This department has assembly machines and connectors, of which the production capacity was increased and along with it the efficiency, OEE and adhesion indicators were improved (according to the indicator tables reported daily by the company).

In the department of electrical connectors there is the problem of absenteeism and rotation of new staff, for this reason the management of this department analyzed the way to invest capital for the improvement of assembly machines and connectors and increase capacity, in such a way that it eliminates the night shift of said machines. Therefore, the following question was asked: What are the acceptable modifications in the assembly machine and connectors 1001 to generate an increase in its production capacity? Based on these modifications, what percentage is expected to increase the productivity of the assembly machine and connectors 1001?

Given that the main objective of the present work was to increase the production of the assembly machines and connectors of the four-part area, the following objectives were also proposed as specific: standardize the production process in the assembly machines and connectors in the area of four parts, increase the existence of mandrels and washers for the department of electrical connectors, analyze the factors that impact the transformation process when making these modifications to the machines; and optimize the workstation to make it more pleasant for the area worker.

The hypothesis proposed with the improvement of the machines is that the production capacity of the assembly machines and connectors will increase by a minimum range of 25% from the modification of the open to closed bases, in addition to an increase in stock of washers and mandrels.

This project is an explanatory study, since it provides a profound response on the modification of the assembly machine and connectors 1001. The method used is inductive since a working hypothesis was formulated and approved. Regarding data collection techniques, different methods were implemented, among which are:

Time taking: A time was taken on the assembly machine and connectors 1001, since it was the only machine that had the capacity of 50 mandrels, divided into 25 for round mandrels and 25 for tip mandrels; This time was taken with the objective of having the current state of the capacity of the machine (production per hour), and thus obtain a future comparison of the changes that will be made. The time-taking methodology with chronometer was implemented. A full hour of production was taken

randomly during the workday of the employees and at the end of the hour the result of the production (finish good) was taken giving the quantity 680 pieces.

Rula Method: An ergonomic analysis was implemented with the Rula method to the operator of the assembly machine and connectors 1001, said analysis evaluated the risk factors of posture that the worker has when performing his daily task, with this evaluation it is planned to avoid risks futures. An ergonomics program conducted by "Ergonomics Quantification and Improvement Process Tool (EQuIP [™] Tool)" was used for due method analysis.

Technical Drawing: An inventory was made of the existing mandrels and washers that are used in the current production of the assembly machine and connectors 1001, in order to know the quantity of pieces that are going to be required in the Machine shop area. The existing drawings corresponding to each mandrel and washer that are required to be machined were located in the Tooling area. It was detected that said technical drawing did not exist for certain models of mandrels and/or washers, so the mandrels and missing washers were drawn in tooling, respecting the client's measurements and requirements, ensuring the distances between insert and weld, between insert and insert, and from the bottom edge to insert (poka yoke system).

Once the drawings and drawings approved by engineering were obtained, the steel was transformed to mandrels and washers, this based on the missing inventory previously recorded.

For this transformation the CNC machine (computer numerical control) was used in which the specifications of the technical drawing corresponding to the mandrels and/or washers were made with the Master Cam software version 2019, the cutting and revolutions parameters were entered. All this data entered in the software was stored in an external memory to later enter that data to the CNC machine center where the part modeling was performed. Once the pieces were made, the tempering process was carried out in another area within the machining department, as follows:

- 1. The Master Cam 2019 icon was opened with the purpose of placing the cutting measures according to the technical drawing.
- 2. Once you opened the program start window, it was verified that in the lower right you will find a small box with the same measures as the technical drawing. Otherwise, the following should be done:
 - a) Click on "File" in the upper left of the screen
 - b) In the toolbox that slides in the last line, click on "configuration"
 - c) Press Click to "Star up"
 - d) Enter the measures in which you want to work the drawing and finally click on the green popcorn when finished.
- 3. The longitudinal and radial lines that were taken as the basis for starting the design were made.
- 4. Click on the "WIREFRAME" tab then "LINE endpoints", these points are the beginning and end of the cutting piece.
- 5. In the same tab you can find the "Trim Break Extend icon", click on it to form the Angle of the piece and in the same way the measurements were transcribed in the window that appears after clicking.

- 6. In the toolbox, the "SOLIDS" tab was clicked and then clicked on the "Revolve" icon that was used to create the body solid.
- 7. In the File tab 3 icons appeared among them are "FACE", "ROUGH" and "FINISH".
- 8. In the "FACE" icon, the Endorsement and fairing" was performed, that is, the roughness of the saw cut. Then "Rough" was used for the roughing of the piece that specified the height that the insert will fall and it stopped at the point where it began to fall and finally "Finish" served to finish the piece, that is, the contour and remove excess material. All these 3 icons have their own measurement tab that must be added according to the technical drawing.
- 9. Once the design is finished; It was stored in a USB to take it to the CNC machining center, for this, the material of the piece was previously determined, in this case it was Steel 01 which, due to its properties, makes it optimal for the work they will perform in the future.
- 10. Then the USB was placed on the CNC machine and the file with the arrows on the machine keyboard was chosen on the screen of the machine.
- 11. The file was opened and only the steel bar in the CNC was missing so that it could start the machining.

As a final product the piece of Fig. 1 was obtained, the measurements of the metal bar were used to make 2 pieces and there is no scrap.



Fig. 1. Final piece

Lathe: Mandrels with a larger diameter were manufactured due to the low variability generated by the devastation in this type of piece (few vibrations and no rounding).

- a. Once the technical drawing is made, the material is taken to rough it. The material that was chosen for the piece is Steel 01. Then the Jaw is taken which together with some keys is adjusted to keep it stable and without movement for a good cut.
- b. Then with the indicator clock the centrality was measured with the objective that the piece has the measures set in the technical drawing. It was done in the following way: Since the indicator clock is magnetized, it "sticks" to the lathe and, together with the magnetic arm, approaches the jaw area and when the clock has set zero it is already centered (see Fig. 2).


Fig. 2. Lathe positioning

- a. After the other side of the jaw, the center drill bit that served as a guide at the time of cutting was adjusted.
- b. The chisel was chosen to make the cut of the piece, so it had to be adjusted along with some keys to the lathe machine. In order to choose it, the hardness of the material is taken into account. In this case, one with the Carbide tip was chosen.
- c. An adjustment was made in the grades for the cut made by the donkey.
- d. The machine was adjusted to the depth of the cut in thousandths.
- e. The crank was adjusted to adjust the depth (x axis).
- f. Finally, the roughing is carried out at 350 revolutions by approaching the crank (z axis).

Milling Machine: It was used to modify the supports of the new installation of the visual system.

Tempering: Once the piece was made, the tempering process was done in another area within the machining department.

Application of 5S: In the RT's there was a deficiency in the organization of the work area, for this reason it was forced to make changes using the 5S tool to justify the ordering and changes in said station, giving a better visual and operational aspect, having as a more spacious and safer result.

- a) **Standardization:** To ensure the standardization of the process of assembling the RT machines, it was decided to use a visual system (Digital Work Instructions, VKS) showing each operator the correct way of how to perform the work.
- b) **Marking of Parts:** On a laser printer (Laser Marker 49073) The marking for mandrels and washers was carried out in order to identify the model and integrate them and update the corresponding tooling inventory. The procedure was as follows:
- c) Design of Experiments: An experiment design was carried out with the purpose of verifying the factors that cause noise in the RT 1001 machine process, taking into account the factors temperature, motor speed and mandrel speed, that the Operators can move these ranges. The minimum and maximum ranges were found to be able to create a parameter in which an optimum recommendation of the desired length in our piece is given.

Data and Analysis

The data obtained in the application of the tests are presented below (Table 1).

Dilat mun on occomply modeling and according to 1001	* ^a Data: 8/28/2010
Pilot run on assembly machine and connectors 1001	* Date: 8/28/2019
	1 um: 1
	Part number: B/6114-111
	Description: 1311-4-11
	Batch: 31132161493
	Chucks: 13-519
	Rondana: LFQ-436-86
	Type base: M.W. (25 PZ)
Test 1. Normal Production	Parameters
	Chuck speed: 369–371
	Temperature: 500 °C
	Amount of Chuck: 25
	Cycle: 97"
	Takt Time: 3.9"
	Results
	Production: 690 Pz \times Hr
	Quality Review: Accepted
Test 2. Speed 1	Parameters
1000 20 50000 1	Chuck speed: 311–321
	Temperature: 400 °C
	Amount of Chuck: 50
	Cycle: 150"
	Takt Time: 2.2"
	Pagulta
	Results
	Production: 780 PZ × Hr
	Quality Review: Accepted
Test 3. Speed 2	Parameters
	Chuck speed: 311–321
	Temperature: 400 °C
	Amount of Chuck: 50
	Cycle: 159"
	Takt Time: Takt Time: 3.2"
	Results
	Production: 780 Pz \times Hr
	Quality Review: Accepted
Test 4. Speed 3	Parameters
	Chuck speed: 329–321
	Temperature: 400 °C
	Amount of Chuck: 50
	Cycle: Takt Time: 106"
	Takt Time: Takt Time: 2.12 th
	Results
	Production: 1080 Pz × Hr
	Quality Review: Accepted
	Quanty Keview. Accepted

Table 1. Tests

^aNote: The numbering was changed in order to protect industrial secrecy

5S: When making a safety tour (gemba) several risk situations were noted for the operators of the electrical connectors' area four-part section (Table 2).

Free space	Problem: Little space between the PR3 machine and the FILOMAT machine table	Observation: Modify the size of the table, and thus relocate to a place that does not hinder the passage of the operators and be able to free up space avoiding hitting when passing
Pneumatic tube and power cable	Problem: The pneumatic outlet pipe is located exactly above where the collaborator of the area sits, being a very high risk of a possible accident. The power connector is in a rather awkward position for the area	Observation: Change the position of the pneumatic tube and the power connector, eliminating this risk
PR3 edges	Risk: Hitting the edge of the PR3 machine, since it is without edge protection	Observation: Put a rubber protector on the PR3 machine

Table	2.	5's
Lanc	4.	50

Standardization of the Process: Generation of instructions. The objective of the technical instructions is to provide a detailed description of how an operation should be performed [9]. Later, the work instructions were written in a physical document, which commonly causes a waste of time to look for the folder and consult it. For this reason, the idea of digitally documenting the operating instructions was raised, so that the worker has access to this system and can locate in an easy, fast and uncomplicated way. For this, the Vks system of digital work instructions was used, which will be supported with 2 tablets per workstation and the instructions will be divided by sequences of which the operator performs.

2D and 3D drawings of Chucks and Rondanas: When not finding the drawings of the pieces (01-060, 02-402, 12-050, Mep-325-75, Mep-419, Mep-420, Mep-854) we proceed to make the drawings of said mandrels and washers to later analyze that the measurements coincided with the specifications of the product. The pieces that were not certain that they fulfilled this specification proceeded to be printed in 3D. To create the drawings, the CREO Parametric CAD was used, in order to make the work order in the machine shop department, since this order occupies an attached drawing with the measurement specifications of the piece to be machined. (it seems that this section is out of place).

CNC Machining: Steel 01 was chosen to make the pieces because it has adequate physical properties (high temperature support) for application in assembly machines

and connectors. The machining of the pieces was done at 350 revolutions and finally the tempering of the finished parts was performed.

Design of Experiments: During the design of experiments the factors temperature, motor speed and mandrel speed were taken into account, this taking into account that they are variables that generate noise in the assembly machine process and connectors 1001.

Subsequently, the measuring ranges for the factors shown below were found (Table 3):

Ranges of the corresponding factors							
Factor	Low range	High range					
Temperature	220	390					
Motor speed	222	495					
Chuck Speed	22	44					

Table 3. Factors for tests

When the ranges of the factors were found, the design of experiments was generated, for this the MINITAB software was used to perform the order of the randomized experiment.

These results represent the total length of the connectors, that is; The measure falls within the range where the connectors do not lose their physical properties, both at the minimum and maximum points. Therefore at the minimum point is where the piece begins to form and the maximum point where it is reduced, and thus it is difficult to separate from the mandrel.

Ergonomics According to the Method of Rula: Previously the workers presented different physical discomforts, pain in the neck, back, and fatigue in general. The cause of the problems perceived by the operators was investigated, and Rula's ergonomic method was considered, which also supported the generation of data and background. This method evaluates the postures of the body and allows to detect the level of risk in the neck, shoulders, back, arms and elbows, wrists, legs and static postures.

To implement the Rula method, initially a safety tour was carried out in the four-part area where it was determined that the position of the operators is incorrect; In addition to finding possible musculoskeletal risks that can cause injuries. Based on these findings, the "Ergonomics Quantification and Improvement Process Tool (EQuIP TM Tool)" program was used. As a result, a Gemba sheet was obtained for the solution of ergonomic problems, which is presented below (Fig. 3).

AON	Gemba - Hoja de Solución de Problemas Ergonómico							
Parte del Cuerpo	Factores de Riesgo Ergonómicos	Causa Raíz						
Cuello	Dobles de cuello	Al estar a una en una postura más alta que la mesa, hace que su cuello tenga que doblarlo para así poder agachar la mirada y ver lo que tiene frente de ella						
Hombros	Abertura de hombros incesesarios	La mesa al tener un ángulo muy abierto respecto donde el trabajador descansa su antebrazo, esto provoca que el busque el poder recargarse provocando así que abra sus hombros de más.						
Espalda	Dolor de espaida	El trabajador se inclina hacia la mesa de trabajo y olvidándose que cuenta con un respaldo de la silla, haciendo que no descanse correctamente su postura y : sobre esfurece previamente antes de que se encorve.						
Brazos y Codos	Cansasio	Al estar en una posición alta el trabajador no apoya sus antebrazos en las recargaderas						
Muñecas								
Manos y Dedos								
Piernas								
Posturas Estáticas	Dolor de espalda	El trabajador se inclina hacia la mesa de trabajo y olvidándose que cuenta con un respaldo de la silla para recargar su peso.						

Fig. 3. Gemba sheet for ergonomic problems

3 Results

Pilot Run on Assembly Machine and Connectors 1001 (Table 4 and Fig. 4).

Test	Production per Hour	Percentage difference
Test 1	680	0%
Test 2	0	-100%
Test 3	770	13%
Test 4	1080	59%

Table 4. Test result



Fig. 4. Percentage differential chart

5S: After making the safety tour in the area of assembly machines and connectors, and observe problems and needs; Work was done on the liberation of space and improvement in terms of security (Table 5).

Change	Action		
FILOMAT machine table	• Change table for a smaller one: change from		
	2.5 m * 1.25 m to 1 m * 0.8 m		
	Change of position		
Change of position of the pneumatic	The pneumatic air tube and the electrical		
air tube and electrical connection	connection attached to the wall were moved as it		
	was in the middle		
	The edge of the PR3 machine was covered because		
	it represented a risk of injury in the area		

Table 5. Aplication 5's

Standardization of the Process: Generation of instructions: With the new design of visual instructions of digital work, the operator has at all times the necessary instructions for the operation on the tablet with the Vks program that is in his work-station. Thanks to visual work methods, higher quality results are obtained by presenting fewer errors.

Change of Mandrels: The changes of the bases were necessary because with the LU type inserts used in the pilot run the height of the mandrels were not uniform.

Design of Experiments: The result to consider is P < 0.05, in this it is observed that the significant factors are temperature and motor speed, and the significant interaction is

432 M. R. Sanchez-Matute et al.

the temperature * motor speed. The value of R-quad is also considered, since this represents the factors covered in 99.33% of the variability in the process (Figs. 5 and 6).



Fig. 5. Noise factors and their interactions.



Fig. 6. Highest impact factors

Figure 7 is the interaction representation of the temperature with respect to the motor speed, in this graph it indicates that there is indeed an interaction between both factors. And in the graph of effects in the temperature section, the lower the temperature, the longer the connectors and the higher the temperature, the shorter the connectors.



Fig. 7. Interaction graph for the results.

The results contour Fig. 8 will help to define the margin window to obtain an optimal result in this regard to obtain the ideal length of the connectors and establish a parameter between temperature and motor speed.



Fig. 8. Contour plot

Ergonomics according to Rula's method: According to the information that the route through the work areas and the Gemba sheet showed, the positions adopted by the workers were observed; and as a result, the following analysis was carried out

Figure 9 shows the general data of the area to be evaluated, but the point to highlight in the image is a risk level of 80, the result as such is classified as "Moderate", this risk requires a level of action necessary for homework

	Ergonomics Quantification and Improvement Process Tool (EQuIP™ Tool) - Español												
Puntu	ación de las S	Secciones											
e e	Más que 8	5 = Alto					Fecha	2 de Diciembre 2019			Eda	ud modia < 45	
ie sel	45 a 84 =	Moderado	80	0			Número EQuIP™				Euc	iu meula < 45	Ageonomics
ž č	44 o Meno	os = Bajo					Analista	Ayala borquez Susana			Eda	d modia > 45	
Trabajo / 1	Trabajo / Tarea Colocacion de incerto y soldadura Nº de trabajadores 1			C Lada media + 40		iu media > 45	Revisar los niveles de riesgo						
Horas por	Turno	no 7.00 sm - 19:00 pm Rotación de tarea		-		Análisis de datos no s		para determinar el nivel de					
Departame	ento	Devices					División/Sitio	4C		10		realizó	riesgo para la población en
Puntuacion	nes de	Cuello	Hom	nbros	Espa	ilda	Brazos y Codos	Muñecas	Manos	Pi	iernas	Posturas Estáticas	general
Secció	in I	10		10	10)	10	10	10		0	20	

Fig. 9. Work area to evaluate and risk levels.

Based on these observations, it was detected that the worker needs to lower the viewing angle, which results in poor neck posture with moderate risk when considering that he maintains this position during the full day.

As for the shoulder area, a moderate risk was detected with high frequency since there is a greater than natural distance between the body and the body, this due to the condition of the dough with respect to its workstation.

Finally, there is the area of static postures that represents a high-risk level because the back area is tilted, and this is added that the movement is performed while the operator is sitting. These movements have a high frequency since it is the activity that they carry out throughout the working day.

4 Final Result

All of the above was carried out with the objective of increasing the processing capacity of assembly machines and connectors in the four-part area of the electrical connector department of an aerospace, maritime and military business. The initial proposal was to increase the capacity of the process by a minimum of 25%, however the results obtained exceeded the approach by registering an increase of 59% per hour, which translates into a 57% increase in productivity

With the completion of this research project, it is possible to conclude that improvements in assembly machines and connectors have effectively resulted in increased productivity, exceeding the percentage proposed in the problem statement; therefore, the hypothesis is accepted.

5 Recommendations

Design of experiments: With Fig. 10, of contours with respect to temperature versus motor speed, it has been defined that the best definition of the parameter window will be that the motor speed is maintained with a minimum of 250 reference and a maximum of 300 reference, and for temperature with a minimum of 280 °C and a maximum of 300 °C, this so that the connectors are in a range of 27 and 28 mm in length.



Fig. 10. Parameter of outline scope

Ergonomics According to the Method of Rula: As a recommendation for the workstation of the assembly machine and connectors 1001, regarding the risks obtained previously, it has been decided to make a new table, this will have new angles to favor the correct posture of the workers (see Fig. 11).



Fig. 11. Proposal for changing the workstation

It is also recommended to purchase chairs adjustable to the correct position and with back support. This will help prevent erroneous postures and at the same time prevent occupational diseases or injuries. Additionally, it is recommended to provide safety and hygiene training for the correct use of the materials and infrastructure required to perform work activities optimally. This recommendation has the objective of establishing the basic forms for the design of work systems, defining the relevant terms and at the same time addressing the principles of the design of the tasks regarding UNE-EN ISO 6385: 2004 and NOM-036-1- STPS-2018.

Acknowledgments. We extend our gratitude to the aerospace, maritime and military business for the facilities they gave us to develop this improvement project.

References

- 1. Arranz, A.: Ejercicio de CAD, San Sebastián España, Editorial Donostiarra, S.A., 2 (2008)
- Banco Interamericano de desarrollo: Eficacia, eficiencia, equidad y sostenibilidad: ¿Qué queremos decir? 24 (2001). recuperado de: https://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.docum ents/54974099/2001_BID_Eficaci__eficiencia_equidad_y_sostenibilidad.pdf?response-con tent-disposition=inline%3B%20filename%3DEficacia_eficiencia_equidad_y_sostenibil.pdf& X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAIWOWYYGZ2Y53 UL3A%2F20191128%2Fus-east-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20191128T1655 26Z&X-Amz-Expires=3600&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&X-Amz-Signature=ac117f39823 2a9152a1d200b75542b3c3fc67b406834fee43cafdc2c64fbb213
- 3. Bartch, W.: Herramientas Maquina Trabajo. Reverte S.A., España (1973)
- 4. Camargo, M., Echeverría, S., Mitani, Y., Hernandez, M.: Aplicación de una metodología para la estandarización del proceso de producción de material de referencia certificado. Simposium de Metrologia 2014. In: Simposio de Metrología, vol. 6, no. 10 (2014)
- Cohen, E., Franco, R.: Evaluación de proyectos sociales, Ciudad De México México, siglo XXI editores, s.a de c.v (2006)
- Coll, V., Blasco, O.: Evaluación de la eficiencia mediante el análisis envolvente de datos Valencia España, universidad de valencia (2005)
- Company, P., Vergara, M., Mondragón, S.: Dibujo Industrial, castellón de la plana España, publicacions de la universitat jaume, p. 9 (2007)
- 8. Deming, E.: Calidad, productividad y competitividad la salida de la crisis, Madrid España, editorial Diaz De Santos. 10 (1989)
- Diego-Mas, J.A.: Evaluación postural mediante el método RULA. Ergonautas, Universidad Politécnica de Valencia. (2015). Disponible en: https://www.ergonautas.upv.es/metodos/ rula/rula-ayuda.php
- 10. Gerling, H.: Alrededor de la máquina-herramienta. Reverte S.A, España (2006)
- 11. Glen, R.: Urban workers in the early industrial revolution, 14 (2017)
- 12. Gomezcáceres, L., Vergara, C.J.: Enfoques, teorías y perspectivas de l a ingeniería industrial y sus programas académicos, 18 (2018)
- Gutiérrez, H., De la Vara, R.: Análisis y diseño de experimentos. McGraw Hill, Ciudad de México (2008)
- 14. Lopez, V. G., Marin, M., E., Alcalá, M. C.: Ergonomía y Productividad: variables que se relacionan con la competitividad de las plantas. Redalyc. 9 (2012)
- 15. Mastercam Company: Software CAM (2019), de Mastercam Sitio web: https://www. mastercam.com/solutions/educational-suite/
- 16. Trotec Company.: Marcado y grabado láser de metal (2019). de Trotec Sitio web: https:// www.troteclaser.com/es-mx/aplicaciones/metal/



Impact of Pre-professional Practices on the Excessive Mental Workload of University Engineering Students

Cesar Corrales^(\square), Jonatán Rojas^(\square), and Wilmer Atoche^(\square)

Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú, Av. Universitaria 1801, Lima 32, Peru {ccorral, watoche}@pucp.edu.pe, jrojasp@pucp.pe

Abstract. The excessive mental workload in university students of Engineering careers is an important factor that affects their performance and their health and that, therefore, it is necessary to investigate. The purpose of this study was to examine the academic performance of students who develop their preprofessional practices, to see the impact of time dedication to work in companies and the excessive mental workload resulting in this dedicated time. For this, the industrial engineering students of a Peruvian university were taken as a study sample, focusing on determining the mental workload in university students, and how this influences their academic performance. This is evident when the students, in addition to carrying out their regular studies, must develop their preprofessional practices in companies in the industrial sector, for an average of two to three months, with a dedication of at least 30 h per week, with the expected consequences in their academic performance. For this, the impact of the practice was identified in a group of students attending the seventh and eighth academic semester during the period between 2018 and 2019. Subsequently, the number of credits carried by the students who do not develop pre practices is analyzed. professionals and a student who does carry professional practices and how this influence, in the variables of average grades, in the standardized coefficient of performance and in their cognitive abilities. Finally, the application of a mental workload assessment tool was included, which validated the hypothesis of the excessive mental workload that students have during that period and the negative impact it has on the performance of the majority of students involved. These results can be used to better balance the academic load of the students, so that they do not affect their studies as is the case so far.

Keywords: Human factors · Mental workload · Stress

1 Introduction

In Peru, approximately 35.8% of young people have a higher education, of which only 21.5% have a university education [1]. During the last decade the total university population has increased by 40%. Being an obligation on the part of the educational entities to improve their teaching quality. In 2014, Law No. 30220 - "University Law" was declared, with the purpose of regulating the creation, operation, supervision and

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 437–444, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_57 closing of universities. The purpose of this law is to improve the quality of services provided by universities (institutions essential for national development). To regulate this law, the National Superintendence of Higher University Education (SUNEDU) was created as an agency attached to the Ministry of Education [2].

However, the search for quality in education often generates a collateral impact on the level of mental load in university students, particularly in engineering specialties. Engineering careers have a mental burden that can be excessive. However, there is a small number of researches conducted in Peruvian universities on the subject. Within the most visible expressions of this mental burden is stress. Stress is usually classified, according to its source, into the categories of academic stress and work stress, academic stress is defined as a reaction of physiological, emotional, cognitive and behavioral activation to stimuli and academic events [3]. Knowing that stress is understood as a crisis or lifestyle variation [4] that affects anyone regardless of their stage of development or socio-economic level [5], it is clear that engineering university students can be being affected, for a long time, by a stress that could be very strong, and this is corroborated by the statistics published by the National Crime Records Bureau, which indicate that a student commits suicide every hour [6]. However, students tend to think that this mental load is normal, by the mere fact of studying engineering, without being able to detail that this is harming their health. There are statistics that registered that 1.8% of students who committed suicide due to lack of exams and an 80% increase in suicide rates during a period of academic semesters. Academic stress has been identified as the main cause of these alarming figures [7].

On the other hand, the university phase is usually accompanied by physiological and psychological changes associated with late adolescence and emerging adulthood [8]. In addition, Arnett et al. reinforces this statement by establishing that young adults suffer from physiological, sociological and cultural changes, derived from abandonment of the family home and the influences of peer groups in this period, which may be related to unhealthy habits that affect the health [9]. Depression, anxiety, behavioral problems, irritability, anger, alteration of diet, loneliness, etc. These are some of the problems reported in students with high academic stress [10, 11]. Although certain levels of stress push students towards optimal performance, when not handled efficiently due to inadequate resources to cope with stress, it can have dire consequences for the student and the institution, resulting in for example that the pressure faced by these students to perform is so severe that it results in a fivefold increase in suicide attempts [7], damage to health, or instead of having high academic competitiveness, they end up having a very poor level competitions.

These differences would be seen in the causes, sources and consequences of stressors. Some of the common stressors presented in the academic environment include excessive homework, poor time management and social skills, peer competition, soft skills, etc. [7]. Academic overloads, complicated courses, inadequate time to study, workload each semester, difficult exams, low motivation and high family expectations generated moderate stress among students and that fear of failure is the main source of stress among undergraduate students [12]. On the other hand, there are investigations that determined that higher levels of stress are notorious during work exposures, academic overload, lack of time and exams [13]. It can also be said that the exams make up to a certain extent one of the fundamental academic stressors in student life, with

sensitive effects at the behavioral, cognitive and physiological-emotional level [14]. Among the causes that have not been considered in academic stress researches, are the internships that students must perform in a company in a complementary manner, while they continue their university studies. Internships were designed to be carried out during the months in which classes were not scheduled (January to March). However, for many years now, companies do not take these periods into account and students develop these practices in parallel with their university studies, which increases the mental load and therefore the stress linked to the requirement Academic of engineering studies.

2 Methodology

2.1 Stress Test

The SISCO Inventory of Academic Stress was used for the study [15]. Barraza built the inventory to recognize the characteristics of stress that usually accompanies students of different levels of education [16]. The questionnaire used was designed based on the study variables related to stress: level of self-perceived stress, stressors, symptoms and coping strategies. The indicators proposed in the Barraza questionnaire were derived from the variables. The questionnaire is presented in Table 1. To calculate the stress level, the sum of the scores obtained in the surveys will be carried out. If the score is in the range of 10 to 39, the stress level is low; if the score is in the range of 40 to 79, the stress level is medium; and if the stress level is in the range of 80 to 110, the stress level is high [16].

Physical reactions	ID	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Sometimes (3)	Almost always (4)	Forever (5)
Sleep disorders	PhR_sleep					
Chronic fatigue	PhR_fatigue]				
Headaches	PhR_head					
Digestion problems, abdominal pain	PhR_dig					
Scratching, biting nails, etc.	PhR_scratch					
Sleepiness or increased need for sleep	PhR_somnolence					
Psychological reactions	ID	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Sometimes (3)	Almost always (4)	Forever (5)
Restlessness (inability to relax and be calm	PsR_quiet					
Feelings of depression and sadness (decayed)	PsR_depression					
Anxiety, anguish or despair	PsR_ansiety					
Concentration problems	PsR_concentration					
Feeling of aggressiveness or increased irritability	PsR_aggressiveness					

Table 1. Variables to determine academic stress

(continued)

Behavioral reactions	ID	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Sometimes (3)	Almost always (4)	Forever (5)
Conflicts or tendency to argue	R_conflicts					
Isolation from others	R_isolation					
Reluctance to perform university work	R_reluctance					
Increase or reduction of food consumption	R_foods					
In classes	ID	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Sometimes (3)	Almost always (4)	Forever (5)
Competition with classmates	IC_competence					
Academic homework overload	IC_overload					
The personality and character of the teacher	IC_personality					
Teacher evaluations (exams, homework or homework, etc.)	IC_evaluations	_				
The type of work that professors ask you for	IC_tasks					
Do not understand the issues addressed in the class	IC_ understand					
Participation in class (answer questions, presentations, etc.)	IC_participation					
Little time to do the work	IC_time					
Strategies	ID	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Sometimes (3)	Almost always (4)	Forever (5)
Assertive skill.	STR_assive					
Preparation of a plan and execution of its tasks	STR_plan					
Praise yourself	STR_praise					
Religiosity (prayers)	STR_religiosity					
Search for information about my situation	STR_information					
Ventilation and confidences (verbalization)	STR_ventilation					
Score	Score	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Almost always	Forever
CRAEST during the internship	VCraest					
Regarding the number of credits	VNCredits	1				

Table 1. (continued)

2.2 Population Data and Determination of the Number of Samples

The research focuses on the industrial engineering students of the selected university, whose curriculum requires students to develop two pre-professional practices. Around 1750 students are enrolled in this university during the academic semester of 2019. Subsequently, the number of samples is determined according to the formula described in Eq. (1). To prepare the sample, the number of students required is 75 (n = 74.52). However, 15% of additional surveys will be developed to strengthen the analysis, therefore, the number of surveys will be 87 students.

$$n = \frac{Z_1 - \frac{a^2}{2}N\sigma^2}{(N-1)E^2 + Z_1 - \frac{a^2}{2}\sigma^2}$$
(1)

Where:

- n = Number of students needed.
- σ = Standard deviation (4.5 students).
- N =Total of Industrial Engineering students (1750 students).
- Z = Confidence level 95% = 1.959963 (95% + $\frac{\alpha}{2}$)
- E = Permissible error (1 student).

Once the sample was defined, the survey was applied virtually (https://forms.gle/ mSSVAjZ9pr3sdExf6). Additionally, two very important factors were considered, not contemplated in the original instrument: the variation in academic performance during the development of their practices (CRAEST) and the variation in the number of credits taken during that same period.

3 Results

Figure 1 shows two important results of the study, the first three graphs present the results of 3 of the 29 criteria studied, in addition to the CRAEST and Credits: Increase or reduction of food consumption (food), the type of work that professors ask you for (tasks) and sleepiness or increased need for sleep (somnolence). It can be noted that in these three cases, the negative effect among students is quite high, which is what happens with many of these criteria. The last graph in Fig. 1 presents the overall result of stress among students, so it can be seen that almost 80% of them have high stress.

Additionally almost 15% have a very high stress. On the other hand, one of the main concerns of the student is the evolution of his weighted performance. In the university a similar indicator called 'CRAEST' is used that normalizes the grade of a single student with respect to that of the entire classroom. In Fig. 2 we can see that 80% of the students of the 7th semester reduced their "CRAEST", while the percentage of students older than 8th semester was 50% on average and some even increased (approximately 5%). The tenth semester students had the best results; however, on average, students fell 0.6 points, the most affected being those of the seventh semester with an average reduction of 1.2 points.



Fig. 1. Survey summary

Another impact detected in students is that the internships influence the number of credits in which they enroll per semester. According to the curriculum, each semester has an average of 23 programmed credits, but the student is free to enroll in the amount he wishes. As we can see in the results of Fig. 3, 80% of the youngest students reduced the number of credits enrolled in the semester and none increased.



Fig. 2. Variation in the number of credits enrolled per semester

On the other hand, this decreases in the students of higher semesters since 50% reduced the number of credits enrolled, while approximately 20% increased the amount enrolled. This could be explained because the youngest students might not be prepared yet for the work, and in order not to risk oversaturation, they enroll in fewer credits. Secondly, higher semester students already have more experience and they may be looking to graduate soon to advance in their companies so they accelerate their career by enrolling in more credits.



Fig. 3. Variation in the number of credits enrolled per semester

4 Conclusions

In the present research it was determined that currently the quality of education is sacrificing the health of the students, which in the long term will not only provide a student with a very high level of stress, but also a student with a low academic performance. Of the total surveys we have that 0% have low stress, 14.29% have medium stress, 70.33% have high stress, and 15.38% of students have a stress level much higher than normal measurement values, which it is alarming. That is why it is proposed to change the approach of internships (complement of what was learned in the classroom) and the number of hours required (only a 300-h internship).

References

- 1. Gestión, D.: Perú tiene casi 8.5 millones de jóvenes pero ¿cuántos tienen educación superior? 24 September 2017. Revisado el 18/12/2019
- SUNEDU. Informe bienal sobre la realidad universitaria Peruana, 30 January 2018. Revisado el 17/12/2019
- Berrio, N., Mazo, R.: Estrés académico. Revista de Psicología (Universidad de Antioquía) 3 (2), 65–82 (2011)
- Masih, P., Gulrez, N.: Age and gender differences on stress. Recent trends in human stress management, pp. 97–104 (2006)
- Banerjee, N., Chatterjee, I.: Academic stress, suicidal ideation & mental wellbeing among 1st semester & 3rd semester medical, engineering & general stream students. Res. World, 73–80 (2012)
- Kumar, R.: Parenting style and adolescent suicide ideation: a review. Int. J. Acad. Res. Dev. 3(2), 1245–1252 (2018)
- Reddy, J., Menon, K., Thattil, A.: Academic stress and its sources among university students. Biomed. Pharmacol. J. 11(1), 531–537 (2018)

- Jacobsen, W., Forste, R.: The wired generation: academic and social outcomes of electronic media use among university students. Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw. 14, 275–280 (2011)
- Arnett, J., Tanner, J.: The emergence of emerging adulthood: the new life stage between adolescence and young adulthood. In: Routledge Handbook of Youth and Young Adulthood, pp. 50–56. Routledge, London (2016)
- 10. Deb, S., Strodl, E., Sun, J.: Academic stress, parental pressure, anxiety and mental health among Indian high school students. Int. J. Psychol. Behav. Sci. 5(1), 26–34 (2015)
- Verma, S., Sharma, D., Larson, R.: School stress in India: effects on time and daily emotions. Int. J. Behav. Dev. 26(6), 500–508 (2002)
- Zaid, M.: Academic stress among undergraduate students: the case of education faculty at King Saud University. Int. Interdisc. J. Educ. 2(1), 82–88 (2013)
- 13. García-Ros, R., Pérez-González, F., Pérez-Blasco, J., Natividad, L.A.: Academic stress in first-year college students. Revista Latinoamericana de Psicología **44**(2), 143–154 (2012)
- Martín, I.: Estrés académico en estudiantes universitarios. Apuntes de Psicología 25(1), 87– 99 (2007)
- Jaimes, R.: Validación del inventario SISCO del estrés académico en adultos jóvenes de la Universidad Pontificia Bolivariana Seccional de Bucaramanga. Tesis de Grado Universidad Pontificia Bolivariana (2008)
- Barraza, A.: Un modelo conceptual para el estudio del estrés académico. Revista Electrónica Psicología Científica.com 2, 7 (2006)



Communication of Legal Epistemology Applied to Law

Manuel Angulo^{1([\Box])}, Ana Tapia¹, Janeth Ruiz¹, Yonaiker Navas², Milton González¹, and Lilibeth Orrala¹

¹ Universidad Estatal Península de Santa Elena, La Libertad, Ecuador miguel_3aym@hotmail.com, jmruizgue@hotmail.com, {atapia,mgonzalezs,lorralas}@upse.edu.ec ² Universidad Estatal de Guayaquil, Guayaquil, Ecuador yonaiker@gmail.com

Abstract. In Ecuador, criminal justice has taken an unprecedented role. It is the scene of a policy and institutionalism mired in crisis, the reasons from the right are several. Two of those reasons are exposed by Luigy Ferrajoly [1] as the main ones according to his book Law and Reason. Theory of Criminal Guarantee. The first reason is the expansion of illegality in public life that includes political parties, public administration, businessmen, banks and the entire population linked to the world of politics by dense client relationships and involved in different ways, for convenience or even just for resignation, in the practice of corruption.

Keywords: Communication · Legal epistemology · Law

1 Introduction

Behind the facade of the Rule of Law a clandestine state has developed with its own codes and its own taxes, organized in hidden power centers and often in coexistence with the mafia powers, and, by algorithms, in contradiction with all the principles of democracy. The second reason is the social demand for legality. Politicians have lost all political legitimacy and cannot respond to this demand. What is institutionalized is a growing anatomy of the contemporary State, the massive expansion of its functions in economic and social life and in a regulatory incapacity of right-inadequacy, the lack of dynamics and the tendency of political power to release legal controls.

This crisis of law is aggravated by "legislative legislation" and the development of an emergency criminal law, reducing the guarantees of due process. Luigy Ferrajoly's theoretical hypothesis is the existence of an indissoluble link between guarantee of fundamental rights, division of powers and democracy, the quality shared by the authors of the present investigation and is summarized in that "Only a criminal law directly led to functions of guardianship of assets and fundamental rights can, in effect, combine legal guarantee and efficiency".

A criminal system is closer to the minimum criminal law guarantee model, but it is in a position to meet the general principles that are suitable for serving as pragmatic criteria for acceptance or rejection of the decisions of the judiciary. Guaranteism has nothing to do with legalism and literalism. On the contrary, it criticizes the mechanistic ideology of law enforcement.

2 Criminal Law as a Rule Regulates Conflicts Between the Parties

In the criminal world the injury is suffered by the lord (State, republic, monarch, the one in charge) and the victim is only a fact, a test, that if it does not agree to be it is forced and coerced even with the same treatment as your offender. In summary, the offender is not the person who offended but a builder of the alchemical retort of criminal law, and the victim is not the offended person, but a fact that must be contributed to the process; the victim is not a person, it is a test [2].

Criminal Law as a rule regulates interparty conflicts; thus, the victim and the offender emerge with the typical adaptation of a behavior to a behavioral hypothesis provided by law. Notwithstanding that there are cases in which those offended, according to the legal good protected, are corporations or public entities, in most cases they are faced with two individuals who are linked by the affectation of the rights of one by of the other.

Given the existence of a conflict, the law tries to propose solutions to terminate it and return things to their previous natural state. Many times solutions are reached without the intervention of the criminal procedure system, simply with the help of other conflict resolution methods such as Mediation and Arbitration, which is currently one of the best alternatives that the parties have, to put an end to litigation, as long as it concerns transigid matters [3]; other times the administration of justice is the ideal way. Thus, any justice system that corresponds to the parameters that the rule of law imposes, upon the proven denunciation of a conflict, the repair of the injured offender.

In the old criminal justice, the victim had a preponderant role in substantiating the causes and when he decided to launch the collective conflict resolution bodies, his opinion traced the way of reparation. However, the appearance of public or state criminal prosecution in the thirteenth century caused the exclusion of one of the protagonists of the conflict: the victim lives a marginal role, confined to a timely consideration as a material object of the crime. It is that the modern criminal law has generated the neutralization of the victim [4], at the moment in which the satisfaction of the injured subject is replaced by the retribution of an unjust fact.

3 The Sentence Does Not Fall on the Act

We do not punish drug use, contempt for national symbols or obscene exhibits because they cause damage. We pursue these actions because they constitute symptoms of evil spirits, of sinful attitudes. The sentence does not fall on the act, it falls on the disobedient person. It follows from this premise that the victim is unimportant; The offender does not act against his fellows but disobeys God. This forgetfulness of the one who suffers the damage deprives the right of the mission to dignify the victim through the condemnation of the transgressor. If the Criminal Law is useful for something in a secular society, this something consists in preventing damages and, in the event of damages, in giving people the respect required to be full moral subjects.

The blackmailed, the violated and the person transformed into something by violence deserve a re dignifying institutional remedy. This remedy is the criminal conviction achieved through the participation of the offended party in the process. I call this version of law; perfectionist does not fulfill this mission.

Since the Inquisition, the conflict ceased to be parallel, to have two parts to become a triangle, based on the victim, who was clouded by the dust caused by the search for truth between the other two parties that would be the perpetrator and the sovereign or state. That search for truth was also affected in the way it was obtained; even before the configuration of the triangle, the fight or dispute between the victim and the perpetrator, was the paradigm, afterwards, it was the investigation or inquiry carried out by the sovereign or his representatives.

The inquisition in the procedural field and as a method of knowledge was first installed in the bureaucratization of the Church, when it was hierarchized as a result of its romanization; In the following centuries, the authority of the bureaucracy with respect to the rest of the believers was accentuated, until culminating in a total seizure of knowledge and power by the same, which exercised controlling any heterodoxy (heresy) through the Holy Office. In this way I inaugurate a method of knowledge and power of a corporate and hierarchical society that, from then until now, will be assumed by all those who exercise or intend to exercise power within any society with these characteristics [5].

4 Confiscation is Unilateral and Does Not Involve Public Compensation

Thus, the struggle or dispute ceases in the thirteenth century, to give way to the inquisition or investigation, whose main characteristic was the confiscation of the conflict to the victim. The conflict is subject to a state confiscation, from which the victim loses all decision-making capacity. Confiscation is unilateral and does not involve public compensation. It is not an expropriation, where the State cancels the fair price of the good whose private domain extinguishes. On the contrary, this confiscation not only does not eliminate the conflict, maintains it or even enlarges it, and constitutes the cause of new related conflicts or derived from the original conflict between the victim and third parties, sometimes with the same offender, when the accused threatens or mandates the offended to withdraw his complaint or not give his incriminating testimony.

The victim as being offended or injured in their rights disappears to become an excuse for the sovereign (and then for the State) to exercise their power at discretion. Important distinction between our Ecuadorian criminal procedure system, even after the accusatory reforms and the US adversarial system, ... "the public criminal prosecution in Anglo-Saxon law" [6], is found that the victim determines, in most of the

cases, if the criminal process is going to be launched. Although a possibly punishable act comes to the State's knowledge even without the existence of a complaint by the victim, it can influence the process in different ways, for example, by the decision not to make the particular accusation, or, more Go ahead, for the decision not to testify.

While it is true, that in our adversarial justice system, except in exceptional cases, the victim has no obligation to report, he does have the obligation to appear before the corresponding court or tribunal to be interrogated by the parties. However, it is well known by litigating lawyers that there is no worse witness than him who does not want to go to render version.

5 The Increase in Penalties

Initial-based cheeks, errors of appreciation or mental gaps, can completely destabilize the theory of the Prosecutor's case. Unfortunately, in spite of the fact that the trial as a procedural stage is, or should be, the center of the criminal process, and therefore, all the probative decisions regarding the elements of conviction received or not received by the Public Ministry, prior to the trial. They should be weighted in their future impact within it, this does not happen in the majority fiscal practice, with their exceptions that confirm the rule. The exception confirms the rule, the particularity corroborates the generality.

A prosecutor with a victim who does not collaborate must be very clear that he risks a potential acquittal. Perhaps the unquestionable performance of courts and criminal courts in which they fill the investigative deficiencies of the Judicial Police and the Prosecutor's Office, through preventive prisons, appeals for trial and convictions of null, little or erroneous motivation, affects the relaxation current prosecutors in weighing their true probative potentials in the trial hearing. When the holders of criminal courts assume the challenge of sticking exclusively to their role as judges, the balance of sentencing statistics will have a real counterweight.

The increase in penalties for crimes that affect citizen security is detrimental to human dignity, without neglecting that the honorable members of the National Assembly crystallized our vindictive desires, however, criminal statistics show that the most serious crime does not fall by raise the punitive response of the State, this dichotomy does not allow the correct weighting of the most fundamental legal rights and rights of the human being.

References

- 1. Ferrajoli, L.: Derecho y Razón. Teoría de garantismo jurídico. Trotta, Madrid (1995)
- 2. Blacini, J.C., Castelli, S.: Pensamiento penal. Obtenido de Pensamientopenal.com (2019). http://www.pensamientopenal.com.ar/system/files/2014/12/doctrina34392.pdf
- National Assembly: Constitución de la República del Ecuador. Ciudad Alfaro, Montecristi (2008)
- 4. Franco, E.: Fundamentos del Derecho Penal moderno. Corporación de Estudios y Publicaciones, Quito (2012)

- 5. Echano, J.I., Casanueva, I., Etxebarria, X., Olaizola, I., Ortubay, M., Pérez, G., Urigüen, A.: Derecho Penal. Parte General. Universidad de Deusto, Bilbao (2000)
- Alberto, B.: La persecución penal pública en el derecho anglosajón. Revista latinoamericana de política criminal, p. 35 (2005). http://www.derechopenalonline.com/. Obtenido de robertexto.com. http://www.derechopenalonline.com/



Human Factors in Ecuadorian Institutions of Higher Education and Their Control Agencies

Arturo Clery^{1((\boxtimes)}, Ana Tapia¹, Susana Molina¹, Soraya Linzán¹, Andrés Padilla¹, Maritza Pérez¹, Viena Muirragui², and Félix Tigrero¹

¹ Universidad Estatal Península de Santa Elena, La Libertad, Ecuador {clery, atapia, lmolina, slinzan, apadilla, mperez}@upse.edu.ec, felixtigrerog@hotmail.com ² Universidad Estatal de Milagro, Milagro, Ecuador vmuirraguiil@unemi.edu.ec

Abstract. Universities must take advantage of their status as generators of scientific knowledge and resort to communication as an ally. The endogenous knowledge process is a path for the development of the identity of higher education institutions, which with responsibility, seek to find new communication alternatives from within, in a feedback process, between local and international, to generate processes of increase.

Keywords: Human factors · Higher education · Control agencies

1 Introduction

The media can be strategic alternatives that well used give good results. Faced with this need for communication and the maintenance of a good institutional image, departments or areas of communication arise, which cease to function only in advertising campaigns, to make a comprehensive communication.

Integral communication in the university code is a concept that refers to a social process of production, processing and exchange of information, which has the determination to generate interactions between qualified actors in four aspects: internal communication, institutional communication, marketing communication and administrative communication [1].

These communication dimensions are present interacting automatically with each other, seeking the participation of all the actors, to order their productive, sustainable and socially responsible activities [2]. University communication specializes in the work on the image of the University, to offer legitimacy to its students; make the strategic planning of the institution visible; monitor compliance; and seek to exchange the generated products. Its products are knowledge, patents, publications, discoveries, future graduates, etc. [3]. Universities, to face this challenge, look for that finding that differentiates that element from others, and they know how to communicate it to their students [4].

2 Image Before Interested Audiences

Currently, Ecuadorian universities begin to worry about the image that the interested public has of them, so it is necessary to create structured communication areas and chaired by an expert in the field of communication, to advise the main authorities, called guiding, general secretaries or directors, and coordinate the necessary communication processes, which achieve the construction and maintenance in time of a close relationship with stakeholders. That is, a communication professional must be responsible for managing an optimal institutional image, with rigorous academic training, information and communication skills, and a solid knowledge of current communication trends [5].

In this same scenario, the control agencies do not depart from the reality of universities in communication issues, since their role through the evaluation and accreditation of Ecuadorian institutions of higher education, relates them to the dissemination of their research, project advice, knowledge transfer, interinstitutional relations, etc. The communication of these actions of the agencies is transcendental in the development of higher education in Ecuador, because they need to communicate messages that transfer knowledge to society.

To achieve this objective, it is necessary the role of a communication director who directs the processes, which proposes strategies, that transfers information from universities and their agencies to interested parties. The university world and the current processes, dynamic and competitive, require professionals with a solid knowledge of the various areas of management and administration, with personal skills such as versatility, adaptation, reflection, resolution, creativity and, above all, communication skills [6].

3 Value Creators for Their Stakeholders

Faced with the reality of a technologically developed and globalized world, universities and their control agencies have gone from generating services and products to creating value for their stakeholders. For this reason, the need arises to create communication departments within the organizational charts of these institutions, which allow obtaining an effective management of their relations with their internal and external audiences, information and communication means to guarantee the efficiency of the processes carried out within and outside the institution [7].

Communication has become a key piece in the generation of intangible values, such as institutional reputation. It is here that the importance of the role of a communication director, who chairs this type of process, provides effective communication strategies, transfers information from universities and their agencies to interested parties, and is an advisor to the rectors, deans, directors or General Secretaries [8].

Communication in organizations, whether educational or not, has become a strategic tool to address stakeholders and the agency, an institutional image and an excellent social reputation. Organizational communication is a discipline that studies

internal and external communication, intangible values and the organization's environment; institutional relations; the speeches, and within them, ethics; useful, complete and truthful information; It is the one that integrates the facts in the actions of the organizations [9].

Organizational communication has several historical backgrounds, but as a science, it was consolidated in the mid-twentieth century, when the need arises to communicate massively, to the actors and to the qualified public, about the products or services of the organizations.

4 The Person in Charge of the Communication

The person responsible for communication is transcendental within any organization. After the manager, president or rector, the person responsible for the communication is the subsidiary of the execution, monitoring and evaluation of the communication policies. Its main function is to be the custodian of the organizational image.

Likewise, the communication departments are the result of a process of evolution of the traditional press offices, which previously were only limited to everything related to information relations, that is, they related to the community through the media Communication outside the institution. In this way, the tendency was to consider communication as an entity to manage relations with its different audiences, including normative communication, linked only to human talent, and commercial ones, linked to the areas of marketing and advertising [10].

The Communication Department must depend on the senior management of the organization and must remain with the executive director, in this case, the rector. It must occupy a horizontal level, maintaining contact with all areas of the organization and coordinating all communication processes. The Communication Department must be literally at the top of the organizational pyramid, with great freedom of action, along with the main leaders, and very close to the Human Talent and Marketing and Advertising team.

5 Director of Communication

The Director of Communication, based on the objectives, vision, mission and values of the university, is the one who assumes the responsibility of defining and concretizing the Corporate Communication policy. It is also who must guarantee the capital increase of intangible assets: corporate visibility, brand, image and reputation. Information is a very important asset in universities, which collaborates in obtaining data, facilitates compliance with quality indicators [11] and provides communication channels in the improvement of organizational processes [12]. Its objective should be to specify the concepts of values and antivalores to recognize them in society, through the analysis of the different media and the reality that surrounds us, so that we have a clear idea of the hierarchy of values of society and promote be a change agent willing to improve it [13].

The communication department must be the figure that exercises control over the new online channels, considered essential vehicles for the diffusion of the brand and the

organizational project, not only externally, but also internally, involving and aligning the professionals of a university with the culture and the corporate market. Also, very important is the establishment of two-way conversation channels, to develop in the user a positive feeling towards the service [14]. For this purpose, new technologies should be used, creating favorable university environments for communication between teachers, students and staff. Even today, not all the potential that technology can offer in university institutions is exploited [15].

The Director of Communication, regardless of his training, assumes the functions of Public Relations because he is the one who defines the university's communication policy, strategic planning, culture management, identity, image and corporate reputation, relationship with the media, institutions, public administrations, social responsibility and communication management in crisis situations and maintain lines of communication, acceptance and mutual cooperation between an organization and its public [17].

On the other hand, Juan Manuel Mora [18], in relation to the communication professional, points out that there are no basic notions of the administration, stating that the communicators are not prepared to understand the logic of the management tasks, or to collaborate in the governance of institutions. In view of these challenges, the possibility of improving the governance conditions of the higher education system requires, as a starting point, to recognize its complexity and heterogeneity, as well as the diversity of roles and functions that Universities play in response to demands of its surroundings [19].

Some manuals indicate that the profile of the Director of Communication requires a certain degree of journalism, but that this is not strictly necessary, since most journalists are unaware of issues such as internal and external communication, aspects that are key to success in their job. However, many universities focus their activity on the management of informational relations, confusing press offices with communication cabinets and placing experts in journalism at the head of the communication department. Currently, the main function of a communication department is to improve the image and reputation of the institution [20].

At the same time, marketing does not depart from the reality of the Director of Communication. For the American Marketing Association (AMA), marketing is an organizational function and a set of processes to generate, communicate and deliver value to consumers, as well as to manage relationships with the latter, so that the organization and its shareholders obtain a benefit.

References

- Rebeil, M., Arévalo, R.: Comunicación integral para las organizaciones e instituciones: conceptualización y enfoque con responsabilidad social. In: León, G.A., Castillo, E., Montes, M., Olivero, L.A. (Coords.) Tendencias críticas y nuevos retos de la comunicación en México, pp. 19–29. Qartuppi, México (2017)
- Arévalo, J., Bayona, R., Rico, D.: Implantación de un sistema de gestión de seguridad de información bajo la ISO 27001: análisis del riesgo de la información. Revista Tecnura 19 (46) (2015). https://doi.org/10.14483/udistrital.jour.tecnura.2015.4.a10

- Arévalo, R., Rebeil, M.: Presencia, interacción y responsabilidad social organizacional en las redes sociales digitales de organizaciones privadas en Iberoamérica. In: Arévalo, R.I., Rebeil, M.A. (Coords.) Responsabilidad social en la comunicación digital organizacional, pp. 17–51. Tirant Humanidades/Universidad Anáhuac México, México (2017)
- González, C., Castañeda, L.: Historia de la Universidad Pública Latinoamericana: Una Visión General. Eur. Sci. J. 14(4) (2018). https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2018.v14n4p104. ISSN 1857-7881 (Print) e - ISSN 1857-7431
- Clery, A.: El acceso a la información pública: análisis de la experiencia europea y española y bases para su regulación en la República del Ecuador. Directora: Laura Díez. Tesis doctoral. Universitat de Barcelona, Barcelona (2015). http://hdl.handle.net/2445/97766
- 6. Ojeda, R., Agüero, F.: Globalización, Agenda 2030 e imperativo de la Educación Superior: reflexiones. Revista Conrado **15**(2), 125–134 (2019). Recuperado de http://conrado.ucf.edu. cu/index.php/conrado
- Jaya, A., Guerra, R.: El liderazgo y la participación como factores clave para la gestión de la calidad. Caso de la Universidad Estatal de Bolívar. Cofín Habana 12(2), 206–225 (2017)
- Valdivieso, C., Túñez, M., Valarezo, K.: El estratega de la comunicación en las universidades. Cuadernos artesanos de comunicación. Sociedad Latina de Comunicación Social. Universidad de La Laguna, Islas Canarias (2015)
- Medranda, S.: Comunicación organizacional interna como factor importante para la eficiencia académica de la Facultad de Comunicación Social de la Universidad de Guayaquil. Tesis de grado. Universidad de Guayaquil (2017)
- Leyva, Y., Sánchez, F.: La comunicación institucional en las universidades: perspectiva desde el departamento de comunicación institucional de la Universidad de la Habana. II Congreso Internacional Latina de Comunicación Social. Universidad de La Laguna (2010)
- Molina, L.: Evaluación de las bibliotecas universitarias ecuatorianas: análisis del entorno y propuesta de un catálogo de indicadores. Directoras: Carina Rey Martín y Aurora Vall Casas. Tesis doctoral, Universitat de Barcelona, Barcelona (2015). http://hdl.handle.net/2445/97840
- Sánchez, N.: El profesional de la información en los contextos educativos de la sociedad del aprendizaje: espacios y competencias. ACIMED 13(4) (2005). https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1138-5758(10)70016-5
- Evia, N., Echeverría, R., Carrillo, C., Quintal, R.: Ciudadanía en el currículo educativo: Un análisis del modelo de responsabilidad social universitaria en una universidad pública. Revista CS. (23), 77–104 (2017)
- Onieva, J.: Uso de las Redes Sociales por las universidades públicas andaluzas. In: Complutense, E. (ed.) Estudios sobre el Mensaje Periodístico, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 631–645 (2017). https://doi.org/10.5209/esmp.55618
- 15. Gordon, E., Noguera, D.: Estudio de los comportamientos y expectativas del uso de las redes sociales en las principales universidades del país y planteamiento de una posible solución para un mejor impacto en la actividad académica. Trabajo de titulación. Universidad Central del Ecuador, Quito (2018)
- Morales-Lugo, F., Enrique, A.: La figura del "dircom". Su importancia en el modelo de comunicación integral. Análisis: Quadems de Comunicació i Cultura, no. 35, pp. 83–93 (2007)
- 17. Carretón, M.: Las relaciones públicas en la sociedad del conocimiento. Asociación de Investigadores en Relaciones Públicas, Alicante (2010)
- 18. Mora, J.: 10 ensayos de comunicación Institucional, 1ra edición. Eunsa, Pamplona (2009)
- Rodríguez, G.: Más autonomía o más gobernanza: un dilema universitario. Revista Mexicana de Investigación Educativa, vol. 22, no. 75, pp. 1015–1020 (2017)
- Reto, C.: La generación de contenidos como herramienta de la comunicación corporativa en las universidades: principios para alinear la comunicación a los objetivos estratégicos. Tesis de licenciatura en Comunicación. Universidad de Piura (2017)



Epistemological Fundamentals of the Conditioned Constitutionality

Angela Reyes^{1(\boxtimes)}, Otilia González^{1(\boxtimes)}, Yonaiker Navas^{1(\boxtimes)}, Oscar Arias^{1(\boxtimes)}, Patricia Vallejo^{1(\boxtimes)}, and Sergio Marzo^{2(\boxtimes)}

¹ Universidad Estatal Península de Santa Elena, La Libertad, Ecuador {areyes, ogonzalez}@upse.edu, {ecynavas, oarias, pvallejo}@ug.edu.ec
² Universidad Estatal de Guayaquil, Guayaquil, Ecuador smarzo@ug.edu.ec

Abstract. The action of unconstitutionality, in its legal context, is public and participatory because it is expressly linked to the right of every citizen to participate in the formation, exercise and control of political power. With that purpose, the citizen is granted the power to file public actions in defense of the Constitution and the validity of the law, the validity of which is conformed to the constitutional contents. The importance of the action of unconstitutionality, as a means of constitutional control, is evident; one of the characteristics that adds importance is that it is a means of control within the reach of State bodies, without limiting its origin or invasion of areas of competence, as is the case of the constitutional controversy. In these terms, the action of unconstitutionality may not only address violations of the organic part of the Constitution but may also address violations of guarantees or individual or collective rights, according to the case.

Keywords: Unconstitutionality · Constitution · Constitutional control

1 Introduction

Conditional constitutionality indicates that the norm fulfills relevant constitutional functions, such as constitutional, legal and regulatory rights, which must be applied under equal conditions and adhered to the Constitution, in a uniform manner for all factual and legal subjects, applying the recognition of rights issued by the corresponding agencies.

The plaintiff starts from an inadequate interpretation of the jurisprudential precedent theory. This is because there is no legal basis to lead the contentious jurisprudence to oppose the constitutional Conditional constitutionality is an alternative which is partially applied by the justice operators, thus violating the constitutional right of freedom, of people who should access because they are framed to what is referred to in law.

2 Paper Preparation

Currently, Conditional constitutionality is the development and application of jurisprudential precedents based on triple repetition rulings issued by the Specialize Chambers of the National Court of Justice, who affirm (reiterate) on three occasions the same opinion on a point of law; and that after the analysis of the Plenary of the Court, it discard or ratifies them, that if they are ratified they will be constituted in obligatory jurisprudence and published in the Official Registry so that it has mandatory effect, until the National Assembly regulates it definitively, created by the Specialized Chambers of the National Court of Justice applied by the judges.

3 LNCS Online

The written process suffers from being bureaucratic, slow, delegable (many procedural activities are not carried out by the judge but other judicial savants), incidentalist (the interposition of an incident in the process can delay indefinite times), but above all, the lack is evidenced immediately (the judge is not close to the process, is close to a file). On the other hand, the oral process guarantees immediacy since the judge resolves in oral hearing all disputes that may arise, allowing the parties to present the allegations and the evidence. Based on this contradiction and the guarantee of due process, the judge must make his decision, and the incidents that may be generated in the process are also attended at the hearing. The decrease in the resolution times of non-criminal cases is one of the main advantages that motivates the adoption of the oral process, as well as the quality and transparency in the administration of justice. However, the characteristics of this regulatory body cannot be ignored, such as: It applies to all non-criminal matters. That is, Procedural Law in non-criminal matters is regulated in a single Code. Unify procedural avenues, avoiding normative dispersion.

The four processes foreseen in the COGEP are: Ordinary, Summary, Executive and Monitory. The substantiation of process is carried out through hearings, which must necessarily contain a resolution or decision of the judge. The use of technology is potentiated throughout the substantiation of the case, with technological tools such as electronic files and judicial auctions.

Alternative methods of conflict resolution are strengthened: judges have the possibility of deriving a mediation lawsuit and have the obligation to propose settlement formulas. That is, mediation is strengthened and stimulates reconciliation between the parties.

Finally, it is important to mention that procedural orality strengthens independence is not a privilege of judges, it is a right of citizens [1, 2].

4 Critical Analysis of Topic

The action of unconstitutionality, in its legal context, is public and participatory because it is expressly linked to the right of every citizen to participate in the formation exercise and control of political power. With that purpose, the citizen is granted the power to file public actions in defense of the Constitution and the validity of the law, the validity of which is conformed to the constitutional contents.

The importance of the action of unconstitutionality, as a means of constitutional control, is evident; one of the characteristics that adds importance is that it is a means of control within the reach of State organs, without limiting its origin or invasion of areas of competence, as is the case of the constitutional controversy. In these terms, the action of unconstitutionality may not only address violations of the organic part of the Constitution (which occurs in the case of the constitutional dispute), but may also address violations of guarantees or individual or collective rights, according to the case [1, 2].

It is the development and application of jurisprudential precedents base on triple repetition rulings issued by the Specialized Chambers of the National Court of Justice, who affirm (reiterate) on three occasions the same opinion on a point of law; and that after the analysis of the Plenary of the Court, it discard or ratifies them, that if they are ratified they will be continued in obligatory jurisprudence and published in the Official Registry so that it has mandatory effect, until the National Assembly regulates it definitively.

Taking into account the functionality of the judgment analyzed, with respect to the family issue, specifically in terms of food, it is possible to establish with strict precision the absolute competence and relative discretion of the judges, who seek that the parties find a midpoint through conciliation when it comes to securities owed; since, this favors the debtors of alimony, in this case considering that in merit of the principle of good faith they look for way to achieve the cancellation of unpaid assets, thus treating the judge to protect the effective judicial protection in proportion to equal justice.

The shareholders requested that the relevance of unconstitutionality be declared through Public Action of Unconstitutionality, Mr. Arturo Alberto Zelaya Gamboa, in the case signed with No. 0026-10-IN; Marcel René Ramírez Rhor, who represents the Parents Foundation forever, in the case signed with No. 0026-10-N; and, Javier Renán Donoso Saldarriaga, in the case signed with No. 0052-16-IN (Sentencia No.012-17—SIN-CC 2017) [3].

It is imperative to carry out a general analysis of the tradition and scope of human rights, including the right to freedom, since their application in society to maintain their supremacy is complicated, because people have a tendency to contravene the law and the norm.

The application of alternative measures to people who are immersed in judicial problems, gives the possibility to respect their right to freedom. The Specialized Chambers of the National Court of Justice through the issuance of triple repetition rulings on norms accused of unconstitutional protect this right.

References

- 1. Asamblea: Ley Reformatoria Al Título V Del Libro Segundo Del Código De La Niñez Y Adolescencia. Quito (2015)
- 2. Ecuador, C.C.: Causa No. 0026-10-IN (2015)

- 3. Benavides Ordoñez, J.: Los derechos humanos como norma y decisión: una lectura desde la filosofía política. Quito (2012)
- 4. Causa No. 0026-10-IN y acumuladas, Sentencia No. 012-17–SIN-CC 19 de mayo de 2017 (Corte Constitucional del Ecuador 19 de mayo de 2017)
- 5. https://www.monografias.com/trabajos58/historia-constitucional-ecuador/historia-constitucional-ecuador.shtml (s.f.)
- 6. Mouchet, C., Zorraquin Becu, R.: Introducción al Derecho (Sexta ed.). Perrot, Buenos Aires (1967)
- 7. Nacional, A.: https://www.epn.edu.ec/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/COGEP.pdf, 22 May 2015

Social and Occupational Ergonomics



Is Sick Building Syndrome Existing in Thailand?

Manutchanok Jongprasithporn^{1(⊠)}, Nantakrit Yodpijit², Tipawan Reangchadchai¹, and Latthidech Srimuen¹

¹ Department of Industrial Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, King Mongkut's Institute of Technology Ladkrabang, Bangkok, Thailand manutchanok.jo@kmitl.ac.th, tipawan-tip@hotmail.com, garfieldgx@gmail.com
² Center for Innovation in Human Factors Engineering and Ergonomics, Bangkok, Thailand nantakrit.y@eng.kmutnb.ac.th

Abstract. Sick building syndrome (SBS) is a group of illnesses associated with the building. From the standard comparison, all standards are aware of Carbon Monoxide, Nitrogen dioxide, and Ozone. The Ministry of Public Health of Thailand has established the air quality standards in Thailand based on Singapore. But after that, Singapore standards adjusted PM 2.5 down, but Thailand still uses Singapore's old standard. So, the PM 2.5 value of Thailand is higher than every standard. There are many studies, which study the prevalence, factors, and symptoms of sick building syndrome. They have different results because of different environments. Thai people are not aware of the sick building syndrome, although it is very close to them. Because in the past, Thai people lived in houses with space under houses, providing good ventilation. But nowadays, Thai people have changed to live in the building. They are increasingly exposed to sick building syndrome. Sick building syndrome protection can do in various ways.

Keywords: Sick building syndrome · Indoor air quality · Ventilation

1 Introduction

A human spends up to 80% of their life inside the workplace or home [1]. The progress of science and technology makes the lifestyle of Thai people has changed. In particular, the design of buildings built in a modern western style. These buildings are designed to prevent pollution from the outside. These buildings have many facilities such as computers, photocopiers, and air conditioners. So, employees are comfortable but at the same time, these buildings may cause Sick Building Syndrome.

The research of the International Labour Organization (ILO) found that 20% of respondents had symptoms related to air quality and these symptoms are defined as Sick Building Syndrome (SBS) [1]. In recent years it has become apparent that occupants of buildings suffer illnesses in which there is no apparent cause, yet it has been established that these are caused in some way by the building [2]. World Health

Organization (WHO) reported that 30% of new, remodeled or renovated buildings had occupants with SBS. SBS may occur in most kinds of building: offices, apartment houses, and schools. It causes reduced work performance and increased absenteeism [3]. Therefore, the researcher is interested in studying sick building syndrome. This research covers the definition, causes, effect, and prevention of the disease. The main objective is to compare certified standards and researches of other countries about sick building syndrome.

2 Sick Building Syndrome Review

2.1 Definition of Sick Building Syndrome

A building is constructed to protect people and/or objects from the outdoor climate. Buildings cannot have ill health, but the indoor environment enclosed space can have airborne contaminants that cause ill health to the people who live in the building [4]. The term "Sick Building Syndrome" was coined by WHO in 1982 [2]. It has been used to describe the situation in which building occupants express their dissatisfaction with the building environment. The symptoms tend to increase with the time people spend in the building and disappear when people are away from the building [4].

2.2 Cause of Sick Building Syndrome

NIOSH research [5] broke down sources of sick building syndrome as follows, inadequate ventilation 52%, contamination from inside building 16%, contamination from outside building 10%, microbial contamination 5%, contamination from building materials and equipment 4%, unknown sources 13%.

Poor ventilation causes carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide or other gasses and pollutants that were circulated by the air conditioning system [5]. Most contamination comes from sources inside the building [4]. For example, adhesives, cleaning agents, pesticides. The outdoor air that enters a building can be a source of indoor air pollution. For example, pollutants from motor vehicle exhausts [3]. The biological contaminants include bacteria, viruses, fungi, etc. These contaminants can breed in stagnant water that has accumulated in drainpipes and ceiling tiles, carpets, and upholstery. Insect and bird droppings can also be a source of biological contamination [4]. A variety of materials and equipment used in the work environment have been implicated as potential risk factors for illness symptoms [4]. More research focused on floor coverings, particularly textile materials, and their potential for contributing to Sick Building Syndrome [5]. Other inappropriate environments include light, temperature, humidity, building odors, and noise in the building.

2.3 Effects of Sick Building Syndrome

Sick building syndrome causes many symptoms. Symptoms of sick building syndrome are shown in Table 1.
System	Symptom
Respiratory	Runny nose [1, 2, 5], sneezing [1], sore throat [2, 5], nose bleeds [2, 5], rhinitis [4], colds [4], throat irritation [3, 5]
Eye	Eye dryness [2, 5], itching of the eyes [1], tearing of the eyes [2], burning of the eyes [2, 5], visual disturbances and light sensitivity [4]
Skin	Skin rashes [1, 5], itchy skin [2, 3], dry skin [2, 5], redness [5], irritation [2], and dryness of the lips and urticaria [4]
Nervous	Dizziness [5], headache [1, 2, 3], migraine headache [4], mental confusion [4], lethargy [2, 5], irritability and poor concentration [1, 2]
Another	Gastrointestinal symptoms [4, 5], exacerbation of pre-existing illnesses such
symptom	as asthma [1], sinusitis or eczema [4]

Table 1. Health effects of sick building syndrome

2.4 Prevention of Sick Building Syndrome

Ventilation, if you have equipment that releases air contaminants, you must install air cleaners or filters [4, 6]. Open windows to provide natural ventilation but do not open windows that face high-traffic areas or areas that leave them vulnerable to wet weather [6]. If you have a large area, installing high-volume low-speed fans will provide more effective ventilation [4]. If the ventilation system is turned off during weekends, ensure that the system is on so that contaminant concentrations are sufficiently diluted prior to occupancy [4]. Material, choose facilities that are easy to clean [4]. Choose furniture made from natural materials or that do not have noxious chemicals [6]. Look for paints with low VOC ratings [4]. Cleaning, people should follow the guidelines for cleaning operations such as clean ventilation systems, grills, humidifiers annually, clean windows and light fittings every month or 3 months, clean the floor, carpet, and furniture including desks and chairs daily [6]. Cleaning should do in the evening rather than in the early morning, it will prevent odors from bins which can cause a continuing problem the following day [4]. Other, the light should utilize natural light [4]. Planting plants to absorb toxins [4]. Good communication and good relationships between management and staff will be important ingredients in helping to know staff concerns [4]. Standards, international organizations use IAQ standards to prevent the prevalence of SBS. Indoor Air Quality (IAQ) is a function of many parameters, including outdoor air quality in the vicinity of the building [7]. The summary of international standards is shown in Table 2.

3 Discussion

Indoor air quality standards of many countries specify indoor air pollutants that affect health, the initial symptoms caused by these pollutants relate with symptoms of sick building syndrome as follows: Carbon dioxide (CO2) indicates the efficiency of the building's ventilation [1]. When people received in large quantities will cause head-aches, confusion, dizziness [7]. Poor ventilation will cause the accumulation of carbon

			-		•	-	~			
List	NAAQS ^a	OSHA ^b	ASHRAE ^c	NIOSH ^d	ACGIH ^e	WHO ^f	Hong Kong ^g	Singapore ^h	Thai ⁱ	Unit
CO_2	I	5,000	1000	5,000	5,000	1	800-1,000	700	700	ppm
CO	6	50	6	35	6	10	1.7-8.7	6	6	bpm
Formaldehyde	I	0.75	0.08 [30 min]	0.016	0.3 [C]	0.081 [30 min]	$(0.3-1) \times 10^{-4}$	0.1	0.1	ppm
NO_2	0.05 [1 year]	5 [C]	$1 imes 10^{-4}$	1 [15 min]	3	0.1 [1 h]	0.021-0.080	1×10^{-4}	$1 imes 10^{-4}$	ppm
03	0.08	0.1	0.05	0.1 [C]	0.05	0.064	0.025-0.061	0.1	0.1	bpm
PM 2.5	35 [24 h]	5,000	15	1	3,000 [C]	25 [24 h]	1	37.5 [24 h]	50 [24 h]	µg/m ³
PM 10	150 [24 h]	1	150 [24 h]	1	10,000 [C]	1	20-180	50	50 [1 h]	µg/m³
Radon	148 [1 year]	I	148 [1 h]	I	I	100 [1 year]	150-200	150	150	Bq/m ³
SO_2	0.14 [24 h]	5	8 x 10 ⁻⁵	2	2	0.048 [24 h]	1	1	I	ppm
Total particles	0.26 [24 h]	15	I	I	I	1	1	1	I	mg/m ³
Total VOCs	I	I	I	I	I	1	$(2-6) \times 10^{-4}$	3	3	ppm
Air movement	I	I	I	I	I	1	0.2-0.3	0.1-0.3	0.1-0.3	m/s
Temperature	I	I	I	I	I	1	20-25.5	24–26	24–26	°C
Relative Humidity	I	1	30-60	1	1	1	40–70	65-70	65-70	%
Total Bacteria	I	1	1	I	I	500	500-1000	500	500	CFU/m ³
Total Fungal	I	Ι	I	I	I	500	I	500	500	CFU/m ³
Decomption 11 meter to	vommene with tim		Movimum cailing	no – No de	to If not enough	it is a limit of the second	m = 0 min $- M$	finite br - Uon	r nom – Dort v	ac illion

Table 2. Comparison of international standards (acceptable/recommended value)

 $mg/m^3 = Milligram$ per cubic meter. $\mu g/m^3 = Micrograms$ per cubic meter. $Bq/m^3 = Becquerels$ per cubic meter. $\circ C = Celsius$. m/s = Meter per second. $CFU/m^3 = Colony$ Forming Units Description. [] refer to compare with time in []. C = Maximum ceiling value. - = No data. If not specified, it will be compared to 8 h. min = Minute. hr = Hour. ppm = Part per million. per cubic meter

^aNational Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) [8]

^bOccupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) [7]

^cAmerican Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) [9]

^dNational Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) [10]

^eAssociation advancing occupational and environmental health (ACGIH) [11]

World Health Organization (WHO) [4]

^gHong Kong standard [12]

^hSingapore standard [13]

Thailand standard [14]

monoxide (CO) in the air. When it accumulates in the body, it will bind to hemoglobin in the blood and will impact on important organs of the body. These effects will result in drowsiness, nausea, vomiting, fatigue, confusion.

Parking in the building [7], building near the road with heavy traffic, buildings near the industrial area [1] will have a high risk of carbon monoxide. Formaldehyde (CH2O) often found in wooden furniture, office equipment, paints, wallpapers. It is released when high temperatures and high humidity [15]. It causes irritation to the respiratory system, skin and nervous system [5]. Upon people's exposure to nitrogen dioxide (NO2), this will cause irritation to the area of exposure such as skin, mucous membranes, nose, neck and will have chest pain, cough, and decreased respiratory diseases' immunity [4]. Ozone caused by the reaction between oxide of nitrogen and volatile organic compounds with sunlight as a catalyst. Ozone causes irritating to eyes and the respiratory system [12]. PM2.5 refers to atmospheric particulate matter (PM) that has a diameter smaller than 2.5 µm. PM10 is particulate matter 10 µm or fewer in diameter [12]. PM2.5 and PM10 affect the respiratory system and stimulate asthma [4]. Radon causes dizziness and directly affect tissues within the respiratory system. Radon gas often enters the building while the pressure has a difference. When the indoor air pressure is lower than the external pressure, air from outside and air from the underground will be pulled to the building The low indoor air pressure is caused by many reasons such as walls that are thicker cause temperature differences between inside and outside the building. In addition, it can enter the building via leak holes and cracks of the building [16]. Sulfur dioxide can combine with other pollutants and form small dust particles. It causes irritation to the lining of the eyes, skin and respiratory system [4]. Total particles have main sources such as a heater, fireplace, and contamination from outside the building. They cause irritation to the respiratory system and stimulate allergies and asthma [6]. Total volatile organic compounds (VOC) are a chemical that is in the cleaning agent for house [11], paint, and dry-cleaning solution. When entering the body will cause problems to the immune system, nervous system and will cause dizziness, burning eyes, difficulty breathing [12]. Air movement, temperature, and relative humidity is a factor that affects the feeling of comfort in the building. If the humidity is high, people will feel uncomfortable. If the humidity is low, it will make eyes, the respiratory, skin dryness, and irritation [5, 12]. Bacteria and fungi are associated with temperature, humidity, and ventilation [1]. They are originated from building materials, walls, ceilings, carpets, and air conditioners. The illness appears to correlate with the type of bacteria and fungi [4]. The mentioned symptoms are only the initial symptoms associated with sick building syndrome. Some pollution may cause cancer or death if people receive high amounts. So, we should control these pollutants base on the standard.

NAAQS standards can be used both inside and outside the building. It is created for people who are sensitive to air quality such as children. OSHA sets standards covering the general and industrial environment. WHO standard is the European standard base on Denmark. It can be used both inside and outside the building but does not cover the industrial environment. NIOSH standard has recommended values for occupational exposure. ACGIH is the recommended value for the industrial environment. Hong Kong standard has two levels that can apply in office and public places. Table 2 shows that all standards emphasize with Carbon Monoxide, Nitrogen dioxide, and Ozone.

They are basic air pollutants released directly from the source and effect of human health. NAAQS, OSHA, and ACGIH clearly identify air quality values but don't specify details about bacteria and fungi. WHO, Hong Kong and Singapore standards clearly specify temperature, humidity, air movement, VOCs and the number of bacteria and fungi. Due to these standards were created for their country directly and considered specific climate, unlike other standards that were created to be an overall standard. In the part of Thailand, the Ministry of Public Health of Thailand has established the air quality standards in Thailand based on Singapore. But after that, Singapore standards adjusted PM2.5 microns down. Singapore is trying to adjust standard again in the future, but Thailand still uses Singapore's old standard. So, the PM2.5 value of Thailand is higher than every standard.

In China [17], there is a study of sick building syndrome in crowded buildings. It was found that 98.7% of the respondents had sick building syndrome. Most symptoms were dizziness. Symptoms occurred in the afternoon more than the morning. Measuring the amount of carbon dioxide and radon was found that the daytime more over the morning as well. In Canada [4], the prevalence of sick building syndrome of office workers before improving the ventilation system (1991) and after 6 months (1992) and 3 years (1995) of improvement, They concluded that carbon dioxide concentration and humidity are associated with the prevalence of sick building syndrome. For Thailand, there are studies about sick building syndrome in a hospital and office building. The comparison of prevalence, the most symptom group, and the factor of sick building syndrome in hospitals and offices in Thailand show in Table 3.

List	In hospital [18]	In-office [19]
Prevalence	26.01%	37.4%
The most symptom	Eyes (17.94%)	Nervous (24.9%)
Factor	 Dust more than 1 mg/m Work more than 5 days/week Using a printer Poor ventilation Noise Dirt 	 Severe stress Using a computer at more than 8 h/day PVC or plastic floor Volatile substances such as glue, correcting fluid

Table 3. The comparison of researches in Thailand

Many Thai people don't know about sick building syndrome, although it is very close to them. In the past, Thai people lived in houses with space under houses, providing good ventilation. But nowadays, Thai people have changed to live in the building. They are increasingly exposed to sick building syndrome.

4 Conclusion

Sick building syndrome is a group of symptoms. It occurs when people stay in the building for a long time and disappear when leaving the building. Thai people are not aware of the sick building syndrome, although it is very close to them. Sick building syndrome protection can do in various ways such as manage air ventilation, choose facilities that are easy to clean, regularly clean the inside of the building, and choose to use appropriate standards and control the indoor air quality to meet the standards.

References

- Norhidayah, A., Chia-Kuang, L., Azhar, M.K., Nurulwahida, S.: Indoor air quality and sick building syndrome in three selected buildings. Procedia Eng. 53, 93–98 (2013)
- 2. World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe: Sick Building Syndrome
- 3. EPA.: Indoor Air Facts No. 4 Sick Building Syndrome. Air and Radiation (6609 J) (1991)
- 4. Abdul-Wahab, S.A. (ed.): Sick Building Syndrome in Public Buildings and Workplaces. Springer, Heidelberg (2011)
- Mahawong, J.: Awareness of Sick Building Syndrome (SBS): A Case Study of the Office Workers in Silom Area, p. 67 (2009)
- 6. de Robles, D., Kramer, S.W.: Improving indoor air quality through the use of ultraviolet technology in commercial buildings. Procedia Eng. **196**, 888–894 (2017)
- 7. Occupational Safety and Health Administration.: Indoor Air Quality in Commercial and Institutional Buildings, OSHA (2011)
- 8. Laemun, N.: The Prevalence Rate and Associated Factors of Sick Building Syndrome. Faculty of Medicine (2548)
- 9. American Society of Heating, Refrigerating: Ventilation for Acceptable Indoor Air Quality. ASHRAE Standard, p. 62 (2007)
- Hawley, B., Martin, S., Mugford, C., Boylstein, R.: Evaluation of Indoor Air Quality Concerns at an Outpatient Medical 24 Clinic in a Shared-Use Building – West Virginia, p. 28 (2016)
- 11. Charles, K., Magee, R.J., Won, D., Lusztyk, E.: Indoor Air Quality Guidelines. National Research Council Canada (2005)
- 12. The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Indoor Air Quality Management Group, Guidance Notes for the Management of Indoor Air Quality in Offices and Public Places (2003)
- 13. SPRING Singapore and Standard Department.: Code of practice for Indoor Air Quality for Air-Conditioned Buildings. Singapore: SPRING (2009)
- 14. Department of health ministry of public health, Operating guide for Indoor Air Quality Assessment, Bangkok (2016)
- 15. Suradmanee, T.: Hazard of formaldehyde in office and residential buildings. faculty of public health. Eastern Asia University, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 130–136 (2018)
- Srisuwan, T.: Radon: the hidden hazard in buildings. J. Archi. Plann. Res. Stud. 4, 24–37 (2006)
- 17. Wang, J., Li, J., Zhao, C.: A case of sick building syndrome caused by incorrect ventilation design of the tight building. Indoor Air, p. 4 (2002)
- Chow, J.C., et al.: Will the circle be unbroken: a history of the U.S. national ambient air quality standards. J. Air Waste Manage. Assoc. 57(10), 1151–1163 (2007)
- Ritwichai, A., Buathong, N.: Sick building syndrome and stress among office workers. Chula Med. J. 61(4), 526–538 (2017)



Proposal for Integration of Urban Planning with the Environment in Daule - Ecuador

Dalys Castro^(\boxtimes), Gabriela Vega^(\boxtimes), and Jesús Rafael Hechavarría Hernández^(\boxtimes)

Faculty of Architecture and Urbanism, University of Guayaquil, Cdla. Salvador Allende Av. Delta y Av. Kennedy, Guayaquil, Ecuador {dalys.castrobu,gabriela.vegag, jesus.hechavarriah}@ug.edu.ec

Abstract. Since the 1990s, the extension of urban land in Latin America and the Caribbean has increased considerably, in Ecuador it has doubled, due to a migration from the countryside to the city that generates disorderly settlements causing the use of fruitful soils; consumption of natural resources; environmental damage and alteration of ecosystems. The canton Daule is considered the fourth largest and most populous city in the province of Guayas with an uncontrolled growth of the urban area. Next, we develop the Territorial Economic Development methodology applied to one of the sectors of the Daule canton, where several articulated analyzes are carried out with the actors involved and landscape improvement plans conceived under a systemic approach are proposed. The objective of the work is to preserve the natural heritage of the city, improve the image of the landscape with inclusive designs oriented towards sustainable urban development.

Keywords: Daule \cdot Ecological corridor \cdot Human factors \cdot Sustainable urban planning \cdot Infrastructure

1 Introduction

Several investigations argue that Latin America and the Caribbean are the most urbanized regions in the world and also the most unequal [1]. Since the 90s, the extension of urban land in Ecuador has doubled with respect to the population [2], the canton Daule is considered the fourth largest and most populated city in the province of Guayas and its cantonal head is no exception, since its growth in the urban area presents a rural – urban inequality, a persistent migration to the city from the countryside, which causes disorderly settlements, consuming fruitful soil, accelerating resource consumption, affecting the environment and altering ecosystems [3].

In addition, the lack of democratic governance in the city has hindered the planning and decision - making on strategic issues such as land use and management, mobility and trade. This is a reflection on the need to plan, avoiding uncontrolled urban expansion, promoting sustainable urban development in natural areas in an orderly manner, making the city more equitable, productive and sustainable, emphasizing governance including the participation of all main actors of territorial development [4]. From the social point of view, an increase in green areas and spaces in general allow several actions, facilitating the grouping of children, adults and young people, using public spaces in different ways [5].

Natural spaces should not be isolated, must be integrated as a system to generate urban comfort, where all scales interact, using Green infraestructure (IV) as a comprehensive planning strategy in which land can be managed natural with the landscape and open spaces, to conserve the values and functions of the ecosystems providing better quality of life to the population [6]. This is a reflection on the need to plan, avoiding uncontrolled urban expansion, promoting sustainable urban development in natural areas in an orderly manner, making the city more equitable, productive and sustainable, and emphasizing governance including the participation of all the main actors of territorial development [7].

The benefit that motivates this article is to change it would be the proposal of a system to improve the urban image, preserve the architectural heritage and the free movement of citizens in the Cantonal Headquarters of Daule, adjusting in a process organized in a spatial, inclusive and functional way within a territory, eliminating barriers that prevent personal autonomy, to potentiate it with various zones of use, accessibility and land use; with a focus on environmental comfort guidelines oriented to the visual quality of the urban landscape; identifying the main components that make it up, with factors inherent to the ecological, aesthetic and cultural dimensions, and thus improving the visual quality of the informal urban landscape, results of results that help to preserve or improve it, creating capacities from designs with inclusive systems. Using the DET (Territorial Economic Development) methodology; This constant twophase methodology: First phase, Mapping and identification of productive systems, which establishes a convenient articulation between positive participation with a commitment of consensual responses from the actors involved, stories such as public or private institutions, social or cultural groups or movements. and inclusive, and the effectiveness of the technical developments that support the proposal; and as the second phase the Plans for landscape improvement and competitive inclusiveness, identifying it in three dimensions; the ecological and territorial scope, the aesthetic and visual dimension oriented towards the capacity of perception of the observer and the culture of the landscape.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Delimitation of the Study Area

Daule is located at -1.8667 South latitude, -79.9833 West longitude at the foot of the Andes, between 15 and 58 m above sea level. It is the rice capital of the country, with a population of 120326 inhabitants (INEC, 2010) and in the cantonal head 65145 inhabitants (INEC, 2010) and an average density of 253.32 inhabitants/ km². It is divided into 6 parishes [8].

It is characterized by a warm and dry climate, which corresponds to the climatic subtype of tropical savanna., With winter rainfall and prolonged dry season. The annual average precipitation is 1007 mm, with marked interannual oscillations [9]. These

climatic characteristics are extraordinarily relevant for the design and maintenance of green areas and urban parks. An area located northwest of the urban area of the cantonal capital. See Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Map of Daule. Source: Google Maps. Own elaboration.

Daule is within the analysis of the Urban Green Index with a rate of 1.49 m^2 per inhabitant. Considered as low, although 80% of its area is agricultural, this area is not considered in the IVU. Source (Census of Economic Environmental Information in Autonomous Municipal Decentralized Governments - 2012 INEC) For this category, parks, plazas, gardens, flower beds, banks, stadiums, sports fields, green areas (cemeteries, vacant lots, etc.) were considered. According to WHO, the amount of green spaces in a city should be between 9 and 15 square meters per person [10].

2.2 Methodology

According to Vásquez et al. (2010), the urban riverbanks in Santiago have failed to escape the urbanization process and are often found occupied by residential sectors. In the case of the urban waterfront of the Daule River in the sector of the cantonal headland, although it is true there is something more than 50% of the area occupied by residential sectors, and urban avenues, there are still similar proportions of green and open spaces along the river corridor, but these sections do not reach high levels of spatial connectivity. It is important to mention that the collaboration and participation of the population, as well as other stakeholders, the main actors, is a decisive factor for the success of the Sustainable Urban Planning Process [8].

In order to obtain an inventory of existing assets in the study sector, the qualitative, quantitative and participatory exploratory method will be used. For the inventory with specific characteristics there are three tables (Tables 1, 2 and 3):

- Urban sets
- Public spaces
- Funeral equipment

Name	Construction time	Assessment	State
Farmhouse of the century of the 20th century Opposite banks	1930	Antiquity, Historical - Testimonial - Symbolic	Bad
Traditional style house of the 20th century Padre Aguirre	1940	Antiquity, Historical - Testimonial - Symbolic	Regular
Coastal style house Padre Aguirre	1940	Antiquity, Historical - Testimonial - Symbolic	Regular

 Table 1. Inventory of assets (Urban sets) Source: Own elaboration.

Table 2. Inventory of assets (Public spaces) Source: Own elaboration.

Name	Construction time	State	Construction (m ²)
River Daule – canoe ride	N/A	Moderately contaminates	N/A
Lord of miracles church	1650	Good	3356.16
Santa Clara church	1621	Regular	956.48
Palace municipal	1820	Good	4504.10
Santa Clara park	2004	In makeover	2838.26
Mother of park	2005	Regular	2133.06
November 26 boardwalk	2017	In makeover	82496.91
Triumph park	2018	Good	9341.74
San Francisco park	2019	Good	2496.95
Water park	2019	Good	2571.14

Table 3. Inventory of assets (Funeral equipment) Source: Own elaboration.

Name	Construction time	State	Construction (m ²)
General cemetery	1862	Regular	58955.55

In addition, a survey was carried out in the sector with the following questions: What is your gender?, What age range are you in?, How to mobilize daily?, Why do you think the migration from rural to urban areas in generated?, What is the advantage of living in the urban area?, What problems do you face daily living in the city?, Would you like to live in an ecological sustainable city? It is the one that offers quality of life to its inhabitants without putting natural resources at risk, because it ensures the welfare of future humanity and seeks social justice., Which of the natural and cultural heritage that exists in the city, visits more frequently?, If you have a recreation or cultural area near your home, If you had an acological corridor to guide you to recreation and culture points (Ecological corridor: road or connectivity between several areas, spaces with

landscape, ecosystem and natural or cultural habitats) How often would you use it?, With the implementation of the new projects of the Decentralized Autonomous Government Daule; boardwalk, pedestrian bridge and water park, You would like the environment of the riverside to stop having a rural environment and increase the urban environment?.

The survey was conducted by 388 people, shows that it was obtained through the QuestionPro page using a 95% confidence level, margin of error of 5 and a population of 37,000 inhabitants (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Current map of the cantonal header of Daule. Source: Own elaboration.

3 Proposal

The proposal for the integration of urban planning with the environment in Daule – Ecuador is composed of an ecological corridor, with which it is desired to obtain connectivity between the areas of cultural and natural heritage, to counteract the fragmentation of green areas, and the heritage houses.

Ecological corridors and buffer zones were designed according to location. It should be noted that an ecological corridor is defined as an elongated connector that fulfills the functions of restoring terri-torial couplings to increase access to resources. Ecological corridors can be of various types: linear, landscape corrridors or step corridors. So we will achieve some buffer zones, areas designed by strips of vegetation that are incorporated into the surrounding landscape, and fulfill the functions of increasing habitat; intervene in ecological terms; provide services to more population [11]. For

which it was necessary to design an urban regeneration on the sidewalks of the central avenues, implementing gardens and access for pedestrians in addition to designing linear park. Contemplating an intervention of 5567.50 linear meters (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Proposed map of the ecological corridor in the cantonal header of Daule. Source: Own elaboration.

4 Results

With the proposal of the integration of urban planning with the environment in Daule – Ecuador through a corridor ecologic, results in the implementation of 5567.50 linear meters of green areas and access to pedestrians. The presence of trees in the area is minimal and its variety depends on the location, in the parks they are mostly shrubs and near the riverbank they are mainly fruit trees, fruits that are used by the community for sale. The flora in the parks is in good condition. With respect to the heritage houses, these are in a regular state, and talking with the current owners wish to make an intervention through an agreement between the public – private.

With the results obtained through the survey, it was determined that the inhabitants of this sector agree with the implementation of an ecological corridor that guides them to recreation and culture points.

5 Conclusions

With the implementation of the ecological corridor, the urban green index increases from 1.49 m^2 / room to 2.44 m^2 / room, a value that is below the recommendation of the World Health Organization (WHO) of 9 m^2 /room.

When planting trees of different species, the necessary connectivity is made, to obtain the ecological corridor and pedestrian access, improving the habitat.

References

- 1. Fuchs, J., Riffo, R., Pérez, L., Prado, A.: Desarrollo sostenible, urbanización y desigualdad en América Latina y el Caribe: dinámicas y desafíos para el cambio estructural. (2017). https://repositorio.cepal.org/handle/11362/42141
- Habitat, E.: III+3 para el proceso de construcción colectiva de la Agenda Hábitat Sostenible del Ecuador 2036; llevada a cabo en la ciudad de Quito, noviembre (2019). http:// habitatsostenible.miduvi.gob.ec/
- Plan de Desarrollo y Plan de Ordenamiento Territorial del cantón Daule 2015–2025. http:// app.sni.gob.ec/sni-link/sni/PORTAL_SNI/data_sigad_plus/sigadplusdiagnostico/096000049 0001_PDyOT%20DAULE%20-%202015-2025%20FASE%20DIAGN%C3%93STICO_13-03-2015_11-30-32.pdf
- Cepal, N.: Plan de acción regional para la implementación de la nueva agenda urbana en América Latina y el Caribe, 2016–2036. (2018). https://repositorio.cepal.org/handle/11362/ 42144
- Reyes Päcke, P.S., Figueroa, A.I.M.: Distribución, superficie y accesibilidad de las áreas verdes en Santiago de Chile. EURE (Santiago), 36(109), 89–110. (2010). https://scielo. conicyt.cl/scielo.php?pid=S0250-71612010000300004&script=sci_arttext
- 6. Valdés, P., Foulkes, M.D.: La infraestructura verde y su papel en el desarrollo regional aplicación a los ejes recreativos y culturales de resistencia y su área metropolitana. CUADERNO URBANO. Espacio, cultura, sociedad, 20(20), 45–70 (2016). https://www.redalyc.org/pdf/3692/369246715003.pdf
- Del Pueblo, E. D., & Alemana, C.: Derechos, ciudad y políticas públicas urbanas. Reflexiones del Foro Internacional Derechos y Ciudad. (2019). In: http://repositorio.dpe.gob. ec:8080/handle/39000/2357
- 8. https://es.wikipedia.org/wiki/Daule
- Rodríguez, R.R., Muñoz, A.I.: Estudio del impacto generado por las radiaciones electromagnéticas debido a la operación de la radiobase Daule 2 ubicado en el cantón Daule de la provincia del Guayas (2011). http://192.188.52.94:8080/bitstream/3317/8560/1/T-UCSG-PRE-TEC-ITEL-227.pdf
- https://www.ecuadorencifras.gob.ec/documentos/web-inec/Encuestas_Ambientales/Verde_ Urbano/Presentacion_Indice%20Verde%20Urbano%20-%202012.pdf
- Cartaya, S., Zurita, S., Eduarte, R.M.: Propuesta de corredores ecológicos y zonas de amortiguamiento como medidas para restaurar la conectividad del habitad de la especie Cuniculus paca en Ecuador. Ambiente y Desarrollo, 20(39), 69–82 (2016). https://revistas. javeriana.edu.co/index.php/ambienteydesarrollo/article/view/17974



Corporate Mental Health Program

Manoela de Assis Lahoz Trindade^(\boxtimes) and Carlos Eduardo Martini de Lolo

Samsung Eletronics Ltda, Thomas Nielsen Street, 150, Pq. Imperador, Campinas, São Paulo, Brazil {manoela.l,c.martini}@samsung.com

Abstract. This study presents a proposal for a Mental Health Program, as part of ergonomic management within an organization. The program has three stages of intervention. The primary consists of Assessments, both in Ergonomic Analyzes and in Occupational Medical Examinations, of aspects related to mental health. From the data found in this first phase, it is possible to preventively identify possible psychosocial factors. As a result, we can instruct to participate in the secondary intervention stage, called "Mental Health Tips", which consists of actions of orientation and awareness of aspects focused on mental or emotional aspects. Finally, there is the tertiary intervention, if worrying psychosocial factors are identified, a multidisciplinary committee will act as support. The program is contributing to the emotional well-being of its employees, who are able to deal with emotions better, focus their attention on the present moment and report feeling much happier and lighter.

Keywords: Cognitive ergonomics · Mental Health · Mindfullness

1 Introduction

According to the International Ergonomics Association, IEA, ergonomics (or human factors) is the scientific discipline concerned with understanding the interactions between human beings and other elements of a system, being a multidisciplinary, usercentered integrating science. This science takes into account physical, cognitive, sociotechnical, organizational, environmental and other relevant factors, as well as the complex interactions between humans and other humans, the environment, tools, products, equipment and technology [1].

Among these factors considered relevant in the man - work interaction, there are the psychosocial factors, which according to the International Labor Organization (ILO) definition, constitute the interactions between and among work environment, job content, organizational conditions and workers' capacities, needs, culture, personal extra-job considerations that may, through perceptions and experience, influence health, work performance and job satisfaction [2].

In the 1980s, the ILO mentions the growing concern about these psychosocial factors, warning about their intensification. Thereby, the ILO addresses the importance of prevention and highlights the need for interventions not only at the individual, but also at the collective level. In this sense, it recommends actions to employers that

W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 475–480, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_63

include improving work conditions and organization (ergonomics measures and improvements, job redesign), information on work processes, workers' participation as regards organizational measures, appropriate training and education, helping workers to cope with stress; provision of psychological first aid, among others [2].

All of these recommendations remain valid and relevant, since the psychosocial aspects at work have assumed relevance and are identified as the main emerging risks in European Union countries, according to Lucca and Sobral [3]. In their research, they states that the number of studies on the negative impact of psychosocial factors in triggering occupational stress on the health and well-being of workers is increasing in the scientific literature.

Given this scenario, the interest in quality of life programs in organizations is growing. Corporations are beginning to take an active role in building the well-being of their employees, seeking to keep them healthy, motivated and productive. As a result, they have sought to implement quality of life actions and programs [4].

1.1 Objective

The objective of this work is to present the structure of a mental health program that has been developed by the company Samsung, in Campinas (Brazil). The company has an Ergonomics Management System, one of the pillars of which is quality of life at work.

The "FullMind Program" appeared at the end of 2019 to complement the management system and has as its main objective, to promote actions in mental health, from the evaluation stage (both in ergonomic analysis, as in medical examinations), to the stage of practical actions, such as campaigns, classes with meditation techniques, relaxation, breathing and, in more specific cases, care with a multidisciplinary committee.

2 Samsung Mental Health Program

Since 2009, Samsung Campinas started an Ergonomics Program, the main actions of which were to carry out Ergonomic Work Analysis, training and partnership with the medical clinic to monitor employees who had any difficulty with their work activity. At that time, the company already had labor gymnastic services in all sectors of the factory, every day. Over the years, the ergonomics program became robust, until it became a Management System, even certified by the national certification body (ABNT), being the first Brazilian company to have this certification.

In 2016, Samsung Campinas has a space dedicated to Quality of Life at Work, called Ergonomics Center, in which activities are carried out so that employees can take care of their health. At the beginning, the focus of activities was physical health, with activities such as stretching, strengthening, postural education and Pilates. However, in September 2019, we started activities focused on mental health, with breathing, relaxation and mindfulness techniques.

The objective of the classes focused on mental health was to present techniques that help people to:

- Be well with yourself and with others;
- Knowing how to deal with emotions, whether they are good or unpleasant;
- Recognize your limits and seek help when needed;
- Turn your attention to the present moment.

Seeing the importance of the subject and having a good return from the participants of the classes, we decided to create a program called "PlenaMente Program", in English, "FullMind Program", focused on mental health and structure it, in a way that helps the well-being of our employees even more.

The program has three stages of intervention, the primary, secondary and tertiary. The primary consists of Assessments, both in Ergonomic Analyzes and in occupational medical examinations, of aspects related to mental health. From the data found in this first phase, it is possible to preventively identify possible psychosocial factors. As a result, we can instruct to participate in the secondary intervention stage, called "Mental Health Tips", which consists in some actions, like:

- Classes on Ergonomics Center, twice a week in that space focused on Quality of Life at Work. These meetings are held with health professionals who address topics focused on mental or emotional aspects, such as meditation (body scanning, mindfulness of breath, mindfulness of sounds, breathing by counting), self love; pillars of pleasant personality; techniques of dealing with problems; remembering a happy childhood moment; remembering a loved one who hasn't spoken for a long time; Image and Action Game - Non-Verbal Communication and the power of the word (Fig. 1);



Fig. 1. Relaxation and Mindfullness classes at the Ergonomics Center.

- Auriculotherapy and Quick Massage on Ergonomics Center, interspersed every 15 days, which consist of techniques that act on the central nervous system, bringing relaxation and acting in a positive way in reactions and emotional memories (Fig. 2);
- Lectures/Training/Informative: sporadically information, tips and texts are released on the subject of mental and emotional health;



Fig. 2. Quick Massage.

– Campaigns: in January 2020, the "White January" is celebrated, a Ministry of Health campaign on mental health. For this event, we did a campaign and special action at the factory, with an external relaxation class and with employees wearing white (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. External Mindfullness class in the "White January" campaign.

And finally, there is the tertiary intervention, if worrying psychosocial factors are identified, a multidisciplinary group will act as support. This group is made up of company professionals from different sectors such as occupational doctor, occupational nurse, ergonomist, social worker and human resources.

3 Results

After 2 months of the program's start, a perception questionnaire was applied to participants in the ergonomics center classes who attend the room more frequently. There were 22 people who answered a brief questionnaire, with some personal data such as time in the company, administrative or operational position, age and sex. Next, there were 5 questions about the classes (types of classes, contributions of classes to people's health) and space for comments and suggestions (Table 1).



Table 1. Perception Questionnaire Results about people's opinion.

In view of the results presented, it is possible to observe that mental health classes are in second place in the preferences of participants in the ergonomics center. In addition, 100% of the participants affirm that these classes have contributed to their mental health, with 18% stating that they contribute a little and 82% stating that they contribute a lot.

The program is contributing to the emotional well-being of its employees, who are able to deal with emotions better, focus their attention on the present moment and report feeling much happier and lighter.

4 Conclusion

Psychosocial factors have been increasingly present in work processes and relevant to workers' health. It is interesting that organizations seek programs that aim at the early detection of the factors that can be considered at risk and act to mitigate these factors.

The program presented in this work has shown only positive results and has brought greater employee satisfaction. and the employer only receives good results from motivated workers.

References

- 1. International Ergonomics Association. https://www.iea.cc/whats/index.html
- International Labour Organisation. http://www.ilo.org/public/libdoc/ilo/1986/86B09_301_ engl.pdf
- Lucca, S.R., Sobral, R.C.: Application of an instrument for diagnosis of psychosocial risk factors in organizations. Rev. Bras. Med. Trab. 15(1), 63–72 (2017)
- 4. Ogata, A., Simurro, S.: Practical quality of life guide: how to plan and manage the best program for your company. (eds.) Alta books, p. 178. Rio de Janeiro (2018)



Looking Toward the Future of Mental Workload Research Through the Past: A Bibliometric Analysis of 1990–2020

Yi Ding^{1,2}, Yaqin Cao^{1,2(\Box)}, and Vincent G. Duffy²

¹ School of Management Engineering, Anhui Polythechnic University, Wuhu 241000, People's Republic of China emiledy@sina.com, caoyaqin.2007@163.com ² School of Industrial Engineering, Purdue University, West Lafayette 47906, USA duffy@purdue.edu

Abstract. This article aims to conduct a bibliometric analysis of mental workload from 1990 to 2020. Publication source, publication organization, authors, country, citation of articles, citation of country and organization were recorded and analyzed. Bibliometric maps of authorship, citation, co-citation and network of co-occurrence of keywords are drawn. 11,157 articles and 461,366 cited references were analyzed. The USA dominates the publications (4748, 42.56%) and citations (159434 times). George Mason University (36) is the most productive organization. Murai (59) is the most productive author. *Ergonomics* is the top journal with the most papers about mental workload. Hart and Staveland's paper (1988) is the most co-cited. The latest burst keyword analysis shows that "machine learning", "classification", "automation", "physiology" and "mental health" have and burst end time of 2020. As for researchers and practitioners, this paper suggests an analysis of integrated visualization based on the area of mental workload in human factors and ergonomics.

Keywords: Mental workload · Task load · Bibliometric analysis · Citespace

1 Introduction

Mental workload has become a popular topic for ergonomics, psychology, safety, human computer interaction, and organizational behavior-related studies since its birth [1, 2]. Two representative publications of [3] and [4] during the 1980s proclaimed the study of mental workload as a topic within ergonomics. At its origins, mental workload (otherwise referred to as cognitive workload or mental effort is grounded in Baddeley's well-established model of working memory [5]. According to this theory and Limited Resource Model [6], the mental workload is defined as "the rare at which information is processed by the human operators, and the rare at which decisions are made and the difficulty of making the decisions" [4]. Different definitions of mental workload are promoted based on Cognitive Load Theory [7], Multiple Resource Model [8], etc. Now with the rapidly evolving electronic display-control system in this Intelligent era, we face some interesting and exciting but broad and difficult challenges. As the nature of

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 481–490, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_64 work has changed dramatically shifting the focus from physical to cognitive demands [2, 9], how human cognitive systems interact with computer systems has become a matter of concern.

In the last half-century, there have been hundreds of studies of mental workload. There are mainly three issues in this area from the general evolution of research in mental workload: how to measure it, how to define and model it, and how to apply it [2]. Firstly, although mental workload is a peculiar, it is also one of the most nebulous concepts, and remains surprisingly difficult to define [2, 9]. Secondly, the measurement methods of mental workload can be divided into three categories: operator's performance, subjective experience, and physiological consequences [2, 3, 10]. However, there appears no consensus on their validity of measuring mental workload, especially for physiological measures [11, 12], even multimodal measurement is encouraged but some of these methods can provide diverging information [9]. Thirdly, the application of mental workload has spread from job design to driving, system monitoring, teaching, military, user experience, etc. [2]. The studies always conducted in a simulated environment, which is far away from the real condition.

Since mental workload has attracted the attention of many disciplines, this field has accumulated numerous research outcomes. Therefore, it is important and timely to make a systematic and comprehensive evaluation of the research output of mental workload over the last decades. There are many review articles in this field, such as [11–15]. Although these reviews have been proposed on mental workload, they mainly focus on one aspect of mental workload and separately analyzed with other disciplines. In our review, to characterize the mental workload specialty, it is important to determine the forces that have shaped its evolution over the years. [16] has suggested that these forces include impactful research trends, influential researchers, publications, and research outlets.

Therefore, we use the bibliometric analysis method to achieve this objective. The bibliometric analysis method can be used to investigate the quantity and quality of a research discipline [17] and to indicate the frontiers of scientific research, and has advantages on handling a large number of articles compared to traditional literature review method. Hence, it serves as an ideal method in comprehending the status quo of a research discipline [18]. Albeit two studies have bibliometrically evaluated the discipline of mental workload, these studies have some limitations, such as with limited publications and out of date (i.e., published 30 years ago). Thus, this article aims to delve into providing a comprehensive and objective analysis of mental workload under different perspectives in the past three decades.

2 Methodology

As our search result of WoS returned a smaller sample (3834 publications), we decided to adopt the database from Scopus. Cognitive load is different from mental workload, the former mainly represents the load that performing a particular task imposes on the learner's cognitive system, while the latter mainly originates from the interaction between task and subject characteristics [7]. Therefore, the search code used was "(TITLE-ABS-

KEY (mental AND workload) OR TITLE-ABS-KEY (mental AND load) OR TITLE-ABS-KEY (mental AND task AND load) OR TITLE-ABS-KEY (mental AND effort)) AND PUBYEAR > 1989". All data is available online from January 1990 to February 2020. Journal articles, reviews, book reviews as well as conference proceedings have already been recorded. In the period from 1990 to 2020, there were 11,157 articles downloaded and recorded from the databases.

There are many methods to conduct a bibliometric analysis. Co-occurring subject words/keywords and citation analysis are two most frequently used methods [19, 20]. Co-occurring subject words/keywords analysis can be used to obtain the internal relations and scientific structure of works of literature and reflect the current research hotspots [20]. We can objectively find the current research hotspots for mental workload by co-occurring cluster analysis of high-frequency words. Citations can reflect the citation of journals, authors, papers, organizations, and countries, and reveal quantitative characteristics and internal laws [19]. The direct citation and co-citation were used to find the impactful journals, papers, authors, and organizations, and reveal the hotspots and major research trends by co-occurrence keywords. There are many bibliometric mapping software tools to conduct the above questions, such as Citespace, VOSViewer, CiteSpace, HistCite, SciMAT, Sci2, etc, which have pros and cons (Van Eck and Waltman, 2014). Here, Citespace and VOSViewer were used to conduct the bibliometric analysis.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Number of Publications and Journal Source

Figure 1 shows the descriptive statistics of annual publications related to mental workload in Scopus during 1990–2020. Psychology (38.4%), social sciences (35.6%), computer sciences (20.9%), engineering (15.9%), and neuroscience (14.1%) consist of the top 5 disciplines with the highest application of mental workload. By contrast, environmental science (0.8%), multidisciplinary sciences (0.8%), decision science (0.9%), economics (0.9%), and business, management and accounting (2.6%) form the bottom 5 disciplines. The count of publications in this field has increased constantly.



Fig. 1. The numbers of annual publications in mental workload during 1990–2020.

Lecture Note in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics) (338 publications) ranks the top one, which is a distinguish conference proceeding published the latest research developments in all areas of computer science. Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society (224) ranks the second, which is the annual meeting of human factors and ergonomics. Ergonomics ranked the top one among the journals with 162 publications, it is a journal with a strong focus on work, leisure and other aspects of our daily lives, with a 60-year tradition of publishing high-quality research in physical, cognitive, organizational and environmental ergonomics. Then Social Science and Medicine (144 publications) and Human Factors (138 publications) occupy the next two pistons. Social Science and Medicine publishes material relevant to any aspect of health. Human Factors published its first issue in 1958 and publishes studies in human factors/ergonomics.

3.2 Co-authorship Analysis

We then investigated the most productive countries. USA (4748), UK (912), Germany (777), Canada (648), and Netherlands (501) are the top 5 productive countries, followed by Japan (498), Australia (494), China (471), France (297), and Italy (282). USA dominant this field, and the publication count far exceeds the sum of other countries. The citation of countries can show the quality of publications of each country. And the results show that the top 5 cited countries are USA (159434 times), UK (33772 times), Netherlands (24442 times), Germany (20698 times), and Canada (14666 times), which are the sources of high-quality publications. In summary, the geographical distribution of the literature is uneven.

More than 6000 institutions have done research related to mental workload. The most productive organization is George Mason University with 36 publications, followed by UCLA (32 publications), University of Central (29 publications), University of Cincinnati (26 publications), University of Michigan (21 publications), etc. UCLA ranked first with citation frequency of papers for 4591 times, followed by University of New South Wales (2273 times), UCLA (1944 times), University of Cincinnati (1273 times), UCSB (1182 times), etc, which means that high-quality papers were mostly from these organizations. Among these organizations, the air force research laboratory of Wright-Patterson Air Force Base is the only non-institutional research organization and only two organizations are not from the USA.

We have further analyzed the co-authorship at the author level. Figure 2 displays the co-authorship network of productive authors by using VOSviewer. The minimum number of documents of an author was set 5, of the 27994 authors, 249 met the threshold. The 249 points represent the 249 authors. Different colors of points divided the authors into different clusters. The size of a point represents the number of publications. The line between two points represents that there exists co-authorship between each author. The distance between two circles is conversely corresponding to the collaboration between each author. Table 1 gives the top twenty most productive authors. Murai is the most productive author with 59 publications, who mainly investigate mental workload measurement of navigators, students, athletes and so on by using physiological signals. Among Murai's cooperative relationships, Hayashi,

Kitamura, Wakida, Fukushi, Mitomo et al. are the core authors. Paas is the core authors in another research cluster, who mainly studies cognitive load theory and measurement, the relationship between mental effort and performance of students, and instruction design. Parasuraman is the core authors in the third large cluster, who researches mental workload in automation from psychophysiological measurement, especially neuroergonomics. More than one thousand journals accept and publish articles or conference papers related to mental workload, and we find that the authors are from 95 countries, which indicates that the study of mental workload has enough worldwide popularization. Certainly, the count of publication cannot indicate the influence of each author. Also, some names' frequencies are virtual because of the abbreviation phenomenon [20]. Therefore, we will reveal key authors and their work by co-citation analysis in the following section.



Fig. 2. Mapping on co-authorship of studies related to mental workload.

Total publications	Author	Total publications	Institutes
59	Murai, K.	20	Wilson, G.F.
43	Hayashi, Y.	20	Zhang, J.
32	Paas, F.	19	Wickens, C.D.
32	Parasuraman, R.	18	Longo, L.
27	Stanton, N.A.	17	Sweller, J.
25	Matthews, G.	16	Kitamura, K.
25	Warm, J.S.	16	Liu, Y.
24	Young, M.S.	15	Ayaz, H.
21	Hancock, P.A.	15	Sourina, O.
20	Gendolla, G.H.E.	15	Tremblay, S.

Table 1. The top 20 most productive authors.

3.3 Co-citation Network

9177 articles, 363210 references in Scopus. We analyzed a co-citation network (Fig. 3) of mental workload by retrieving records between 1990 and 2020 from Scopus. After selecting the top 50 cited articles each year, we got a total number of 11,157 publications with 461,366 references. Citespace was used to generate the co-citation network. The valid reference is 363,210 (78.725%), and the other 98,156 references are invalid for repeated or incomplete information. We constructed the network by using time-slicing and give a systematic review of relevant documents. The first paper with the strongest frequency was written by Hart in 1988. The second and third papers were [8] and [21], respectively.



Fig. 3. Co-citation and cluster analysis.

The top-ranked paper by co-citation count is written by [22], a chapter in "human mental workload" [3], this article promoted one of the most outstanding subjective measures, i.e., NASA-TLX (Task Load Index). [21] gave a computational rendering of multiple resource model. [8] summarized the discoveries and developments of multiple resource theory in mental workload. [6] elaborated the capacity theory and identified attention with a general pool of limited capacity. [23] testified the reliability of the psychophysiological measures of mental workload in pilots. [25] addressed the four aspects of human use of automation and factors associated with them. [25] proposed a dynamic model addressing the effects of stress on vigilance and performance tasks. [26] summarized the studies using NASA-TLX. [27] proved the effectiveness of subjective measures of mental workload. [28] tested the sensitivity of physiological measures to mental workload in a flight simulator. [29] proposed the malleable attentional resources theory and suggested designers should pay attention to the driver support system.

3.4 Research Trends Analysis

Burst detection is adapted to identify emergent research-front concepts [30]. Table 2 shows the top 20 papers with the strongest burst of the 90 references with burst. Six articles have the strongest burst and with the ending year of 2020. Young et al.

Author	Burst	Begin	End	1990-2020
Ryu	7.5611	2007	2013	
Young	7.4702	2017	2020	
Wickens	7.2998	2005	2010	
Brouwer	6.479	2016	2017	
Wickens	6.4142	2004	2008	
Rubio	6.1611	2006	2010	
Matthews	6.0382	2015	2020	
Berka	5.9965	2011	2015	_
Hart	5.9572	2012	2014	
Wickens	5.4597	2012	2016	_
Hart	5.3546	1992	1994	_
Miyake	5.1641	2007	2009	
Hogervorst	4.6892	2017	2020	
Miller	4.6152	2014	2017	
Herff	4.5664	2016	2017	
Borghini	4.5639	2017	2020	_
Horrey	4.4316	2010	2011	
Wang	4.0989	2017	2020	
Fallahi	4.0989	2017	2020	
Wilson	4.0137	2014	2015	

Table 2. Top 20 references with the strongest citation burst.

(2015) reviewed the definition, measurement, and application of mental workload, which also indicate that this review was highly rated by peers. [10] tested the sensitivity of multiple workload indices to differing mental workload. [31] found that EEG performs best followed by eye related measures and peripheral physiology in workload assessment. [32] used neurophysiological measures to detect mental state of aircraft pilots and car drivers. [33] used Wireless EEG Signals and pattern recognition techniques to identify mental workload. [34] used multiple measurements to evaluate operators' mental workload in real traffic density monitoring condition. Also, the latest burst keywords showed that "machine learning", "classification", "automation", "physiology", and "mental health" may be the new research hotspot in this field, which have an ending year of 2020.

4 Conclusion

This study uses a quantitative and visual method to evaluate the history, current, and future of publications regarding mental. Although relatively objective and comprehensive, there are some limitations in this study. First, extensive databases containing other languages should be considered. Second, predefined terms are used which may make some publications ruled out. Third, bibliometric data are dynamic, but this analysis is based on a static data. Hence, some newly published and outstanding articles may not be cited many times but with a rapid increase. In this condition, a bibliometric analysis may not reflect the truth. This bibliometric analysis showed a visual and scientometrics review of false information in detail by collecting every related paper from Scopus from 1990 to 2020. The USA dominates the publications (4748, 42.56%) and citations (159434 times). George Mason University (36) is the most productive organization. Murai (59) is the most productive author. Ergonomics is the top journal with the most papers about mental workload. Hart and Staveland's paper (1988) is the most co-cited. "Machine learning", "classification", "automation", "physiology" and "mental health" may be the new research hotspot in this field. All the summarization of this study mainly depends on databases from Scopus, extensive literature should be collected. Few conclusions may be one-sided. Hence, the study should be updated in the future.

Acknowledgments. This work is supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 71801002, 71701003, 71802002), the Humanities and Social Sciences of Ministry of Education of China (No. 18YJC630023), and the Natural Science Foundation of Anhui Province (No. 1808085QG228).

References

 Akca, M., Küçükoğlu, M.T.: Relationships between mental workload, burnout, and job performance: a research among academicians. In: Evaluating Mental Workload for Improved Workplace Performance, pp. 49–68. IGI Global (2020)

- Young, M.S., Brookhuis, K.A., Wickens, C.D., Hancock, P.A.: State of science: mental workload in ergonomics. Ergonomics 58(1), 1–17 (2015)
- 3. Hancock, P.A., Meshkati, N. (eds.): Human Mental Workload. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1988)
- 4. Moray, N.: Mental workload since 1979. In: Oborne, D. (Ed.) International Reviews of Ergonomics, vol. 2, pp. 123–150 (1989)
- 5. Baddeley, A.D., Logie, R.H.: Working memory: The multiple-component model (1999)
- 6. Kahneman, D.: Attention and Effort, vol. 1063. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs (1973)
- 8. Wickens, C.D.: Multiple resources and mental workload. Hum. Factors **50**(3), 449–455 (2008)
- 9. Hancock, P.A., Matthews, G.: Workload and performance: associations, insensitivities, and dissociations. Hum. Factors **61**(3), 374–392 (2019)
- Matthews, G., Reinerman-Jones, L.E., Barber, D.J., Abich IV, J.: The psychometrics of mental workload: multiple measures are sensitive but divergent. Hum. Factors 57(1), 125– 143 (2015)
- 11. Charles, R.L., Nixon, J.: Measuring mental workload using physiological measures: a systematic review. Appl. Ergon. **74**, 221–232 (2019)
- Tao, D., Tan, H., Wang, H., Zhang, X., Qu, X., Zhang, T.: A systematic review of physiological measures of mental workload. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 16(15), 2716 (2019)
- 13. Jorna, P.G.: Spectral analysis of heart rate and psychological state: a review of its validity as a workload index. Biol. Psychol. **34**(2–3), 237–257 (1992)
- Kramer, A.F.: Physiological metrics of mental workload: a review of recent progress. Multiple-task Perform. 279–328 (1991)
- Lean, Y., Shan, F.: Brief review on physiological and biochemical evaluations of human mental workload. Hum. Factors Ergon. Manuf. Serv. Ind. 22(3), 177–187 (2012)
- Chen, C.: Grand challenges in measuring and characterizing scholarly impact. Front. Res. Metrics Anal. 1, 4 (2016). https://doi.org/10.3389/frma.2016.00004
- Lee, V.H., Hew, J.J.: Is TQM fading away? a bibliometric analysis of a decade (2006–2015). Int. J. Serv. Econ. Manage. 8(4), 227–249 (2018)
- Ellegaard, O., Wallin, J.A.: The bibliometric analysis of scholarly production: how great is the impact? Scientometrics 105(3), 1809–1831 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-015-1645-z
- Chen, C.: Eugene Garfield's scholarly impact: a scientometric review. Scientometrics 114 (2), 489–516 (2018)
- Pan, W., Jian, L., Liu, T.: Grey system theory trends from 1991 to 2018: a bibliometric analysis and visualization. Scientometrics 121(3), 1407–1434 (2019). https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11192-019-03256-z
- Wickens, C.D.: Multiple resources and performance prediction. Theor. Issues Ergon. Sci. 3(2), 159–177 (2002)
- 22. Hart, S.G., Staveland, L.E.: Development of NASA-TLX (Task Load Index): results of empirical and theoretical research. In: Hancock, P.A., Meshkati, N. (eds.) Human Mental Workload. North Holland Press, Amsterdam (1988)
- 23. Wilson, G.F.: An analysis of mental workload in pilots during flight using multiple psychophysiological measures. Int. J. Aviation Psychol. **12**(1), 3–18 (2002)
- Parasuraman, R., Riley, V.: Humans and automation: use, misuse, disuse, abuse. Hum. Factors 39(2), 230–253 (1997)

- Hancock, P.A.: A dynamic model of stress and sustained attention. Hum. Factors 31(5), 519–537 (1989)
- Hart, S.G.: NASA-task load index (NASA-TLX); 20 years later. In: Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, vol. 50, no. 9, pp. 904–908. CA: Sage Publications, Los Angeles, October 2006
- 27. Gopher, D., Braune, R.: On the psychophysics of workload: why bother with subjective measures? Hum. Factors **26**(5), 519–532 (1984)
- Veltman, J.A., Gaillard, A.W.K.: Physiological workload reactions to increasing levels of task difficulty. Ergonomics 41(5), 656–669 (1998)
- 29. Young, M.S., Stanton, N.A.: Malleable attentional resources theory: a new explanation for the effects of mental underload on performance. Hum. Factors **44**(3), 365–375 (2002)
- Kleinberg, J.: Bursty and hierarchical structure in streams. In: Proceedings of the 8th ACM SIGKDD Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, pp. 91–101. ACM Press, Edmonton (2002)
- Hogervorst, M.A., Brouwer, A.M., Van Erp, J.B.: Combining and comparing EEG, peripheral physiology and eye-related measures for the assessment of mental workload. Front. Neurosci. 8, 322 (2014)
- Borghini, G., Astolfi, L., Vecchiato, G., Mattia, D., Babiloni, F.: Measuring neurophysiological signals in aircraft pilots and car drivers for the assessment of mental workload, fatigue and drowsiness. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 44, 58–75 (2014)
- Wang, S., Gwizdka, J., Chaovalitwongse, W.A.: Using wireless EEG signals to assess memory workload in the n-back task. IEEE Trans. Hum. Machine Syst. 46(3), 424–435 (2015)
- Fallahi, M., Motamedzade, M., Heidarimoghadam, R., Soltanian, A.R., Miyake, S.: Effects of mental workload on physiological and subjective responses during traffic density monitoring: a field study. Appl. Ergon. 52, 95–103 (2016)



Quality of Work Life and Burnout in Workers of a Health Institution in Guadalajara, México

Raquel González-Baltazar^(⊠), Manuel Pando-Moreno, Silvia G. León-Cortés, Mónica I. Contreras-Estrada, and M. Liliana Hidalgo-González

University of Guadalajara, Health Sciences University Center, Guadalajara, Jalisco, Mexico {raquel_gh, silvia_leonl, dra.liliana79}@hotmail.com, {manolop777,mocel0}@yahoo.com.mx

Abstract. The aim of the present study was to establish the relationship between Quality of Work Life (QWL) and Burnout Syndrome in workers of a health institution in Guadalajara, Mexico. Analytical study was carried out; the study population consisted of 5351 workers. All workers in grassroots positions who answered the questionnaire voluntarily were included.

For this study three questionnaires were considered: the first one collected sociodemographic and labor data; the second was the "CVT-GOHISALO" for the identification of the level of QWL in seven dimensions and finally the "Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI-HSS)" scale for the evaluation of Burnout Syndrome in three dimensions.

The analyzes were descriptive and inferential. The descriptive analysis was used both in the socio-demographic and labor data, satisfaction of QWL and Burnout Syndrome. The association between them was established with Chi square, considering the association if p was lesser than 0.05. For the calculation of Odds Ratio (OR), the low and medium levels of the QWL dimensions were grouped as non-satisfaction and the high level was considered as satisfaction and, for the dimensions of Burnout were handled as absent (low-null) and present (medium and high).

Of 5351 workers included in the study, 68.2% were female; the average age being 38.6 years, 31.2% were graduated with a degree. The seniority in the position varied from less than a year to 37 years, being 11.7 years old average.

Regarding the evaluation of perceived QWL, 27.6% described as "low", 43.8% as "average" and 28.5% as "high". As for the dimensions of Burnout, we found that 30.3% presented "lack of personal realization" 16.5% presented "emotional exhaustion" and 13.5% presented "depersonalization".

Unsatisfaction with QWL in all its dimensions, showed a consistent association with the dimensions of Burnout Syndrome, showing values of risk factor in all cases. As can be seen, the non-satisfaction with the QWL is consistently a risk factor for Burnout Syndrome, being especially high in the dimension of emotional exhaustion.

Keywords: Quality of work life \cdot Burnout Syndrome \cdot Health institution workers

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 491–497, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_65

1 Introduction

The concept of QWL is not new, but it is a term that has peculiar characteristics such as subjectivity and multidimensionality; besides being tinged in great part of the values and beliefs of the individuals in their determined historical moment, and implies the objective and subjective valuation of the different dimensions of the human needs. It has also been coined as a product of the evolution of the concept of quality of life (QL), which has gradually been related to health and work [1].

Thus, the QWL "explains the way in which work experience is produced, both in its objective conditions (safety, hygiene, salary, etc.) and subjective (the way in which it is lived by the worker). It is, therefore, a multidimensional concept formed by objective and subjective indicators that consider the individual and the context in which it develops" [2].

The objectives of the QWL are to achieve a greater humanization of work, focusing on numerous elements such as the development of the worker, high motivation, adequate performance of their functions, greater satisfaction, better use of free time, better social support systems, etc.

On the other hand, it is important to recognize that the health context has very particular characteristics, different from those of other types of organizations; they are highly complex and demanding environments, on a physical, psychological and social level [3].

To the above we must add characteristics of health care work, which further complicate the environment; professionals in health centers must face pain, death, terminal illness, as a high content of psychic burden of their work [4]. Aggregating an all that health institutions are usually bureaucratized organizations, highly hierarchical and very departmentalized [5].

The development of QWL indicators in health institutions is expected to lead to workers' health benefits ranging from accident prevention to stress reduction or the presence of Burnout Syndrome.

This syndrome, which in recent decades has been the subject of numerous studies because of the effects it has on both the mental health of the worker and the environment of the company.

The concept was mentioned for the first time since the work of the psychiatrist Herbert Freudenberger in 1974 [6], to refer to the lack of motivation and lack of interest they had after 2 or 3 years of work, those volunteers working in their Free Clinic.

Later, Maslach's conceptions are presented as a response to chronic labor stress, and manifested in a three-dimensional way with: emotional exhaustion, depersonalization and lack of personal fulfillment at work [7].

In previous studies, the presence of Burnout Syndrome in health workers is widely recognized [8-10].

However, prevalence seems to vary significantly according to different working conditions, the prevalence of Burnout Syndrome seems to be more frequent and intense in emergency departments [11], the educational level of workers seems being associated with the high levels of Burnout dimensions, as well as the monotony of activities,

reduced responsibility and lack of decision-making possibilities, which occurs in public health centers [12].

And there have been approximations to support a relationship between the QWL and the presence of the syndrome [2].

2 Aim

The aim of the present study was to establish the relationship between the QWL and Burnout Syndrome in workers of a health institution in Guadalajara, Mexico.

3 Methodology

A descriptive, analytical and comparative study was carried out. The study population consisted of 5351 workers from the Mexican Social Security Institute in the State of Jalisco, Mexico. All workers in grassroots positions who answered the questionnaire voluntarily were included.

For this study three questionnaires were considered: the first one collected sociodemographic and labor data with items such as gender, marital status, age, educational level, presence or not of children, current position, work shift, seniority in the current position and in the institution, as well as weekly hours; the second was the "CVT-GOHISALO" for the identification of the level of QWL and finally the "Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI-HSS)" scale for the evaluation of Burnout Syndrome.

The CVT-GOHISALO, consisting of 74 items with Likert responses of 5 options, was elaborated and validated in the Mexican population and has validation of content, criteria and construct [14], has a reliability of 0.9523 with Alpha de Crombach and measures the QWL in seven dimensions: (1) Institutional work support, (2) Job reliability, (3) Integration to the job, (4) Satisfaction with the work, (5) Well-being obtained through the job, (6) Worker's personal development and (7) Free time administration.

The "Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI-HSS)" rating scale, used to evaluate Burnout or Burnout Syndrome, consists of 22 items with three dimensions, using a Likert scale with options ranging from "never" to "every day". It evaluates the three dimensions already mentioned: 1) Emotional exhaustion, 2) Depersonalization and 3) Lack of personal realization. Each of the items is added according to the dimension and the scores are placed at a high, medium or low-grade level.

The instrument has shown alpha values of Cronbach $\alpha = .90$ for emotional exhaustion, $\alpha = .79$ for depersonalization and $\alpha = .71$ for lack of personal fulfillment in the work [15].

The analyzes were descriptive and inferential. The descriptive analysis (frequencies and averages) was used both in the socio-demographic and labor data for the knowledge of the population and in each one of the instruments applied to obtain the prevalence of both psychosocial factors and social support and Burnout.

For the inferential analysis of data the low-null, medium and high levels were established for each of the dimensions of Burnout Syndrome and those of QWL, establishing the association between them with Chi square, considering significant the association if p was less than 0.05, and for the calculation of OR, the levels of Burnout dimensions were grouped into absent (low-null) and present (medium and high) and the values of the dimensions of QLW, considering the valid OR when it is greater than 1, reliability levels do not include the unit and there is an association value according to the established (p < 0.05).

4 Results

The study involved 5351 workers from the Jalisco Delegation of the Mexican Social Security Institute, of which 68.2% were female; the age ranged from 18 to 66 years, with the average age being 38.6 years.

In terms of marital status, 30.4% are singles and 55.9% are married, the rest are divided among widows, separated and divorced.

In terms of schooling, 31.2% graduated with a degree, followed by 30.8% with a technical career and 18.2% with some form of postgraduate studies.

The type of basic recruitment predominated with 94%; that work 45.4% in morning shift, 30.7% in evening, 12.8% in night and the rest in different forms of continuous hours or accumulated days. The seniority in the position varied from less than a year to 37 years, being 11.7 years old average.

Regarding the evaluation of perceived QWL, 27.6% described as "low", 43.8% as "average" and 28.5% as "high".

The dimensions or scales with the worst qualifications were "Well-being obtained through the job " with 67.1% rated "low" and "Satisfaction with the work" with 54.8% also in the "low" level. While the best qualified would be the "Institutional work support" with 57.5% in "high" level and "Job reliability" with 56.3% in the same level (see Table 1).

Dimensions	Levels		
	Low	Medium	High
Institutional work support	21.3%	21.2%	57.5%
Job reliability	9.7%	34%	56.3%
Integration to the job	43.7%	36.7%	19.6%
Satisfaction with the work	54.8%	24.2%	21%
Well-being obtained through the job	67.1%	13.6%	19.3%
Worker's personal development	26.9%	48.5%	24.6%
Free time administration	44%	37.3%	18.7%

Table 1. Percentage of satisfaction with the Quality of work life by dimensions

As for the dimensions of Burnout, we found that 30.3% presented "Lack of personal realization" (18.6% at high level and 11.7% at medium level), 16.5% presented "Emotional exhaustion" (5.4% at high level and 11.1% in the middle level) and 13.5% presented "Depersonalization" (5.4% high level and 9.1% average level) (see Table 2).

Dimensions	Levels			
	Low	Medium	High	
Emotional exhaustion	21.3	21.2	57.5	
Lack of personal realization	9.7	34	56.3	
Depersonalization	43.7	36.7	19.6	

Table 2. Presence of Burnout Syndrome by dimensions (percentages)

QWL, as well as all its dimensions, showed a consistent association with the dimensions of Burnout Syndrome, showing values of risk factor in all cases.

The values of risk of the QWL in global were of OR = 4.41 for the emotional exhaustion, OR = 2.04 for the depersonalization and of OR = 1.62 for the lack of personal fulfillment.

Analyzed by dimensions, the highest risk factors for Emotional exhaustion were "Integration to the job" with an OR = 4.04 and "Worker's personal development" with an OR = 4.03; while for the Lack of personal realization, the highest risk factors were "Well-being obtained through the job" with OR = 1.95 and "Satisfaction with the work" with OR = 1.89; For the dimension of Depersonalization, the highest were "Integration to the job" with OR = 2.22 and "Free time administration" with OR = 2.20 (see Table 3).

Quality of Work Life	Burnout Syndrome	Dimensions	
Dimensions	Emotional	Lack of personal	Depersonalization
	exhaustion	realization	
Institutional work support	OR = 3.35	OR= 1.42	OR = 1.85
	I.C. = $2.87 - 3.92$	I.C. = 1.23–1.63	I.C. = 1.56–2.19
	p = .000	p = .000	p = .000
Job reliability	OR = 4.67	OR = 1.50	OR = 2.02
	I.C. = 3.85–5.66	I.C. = 1.24–1.81	I.C. = 1.62–2.51
	p = .000	p = .000	p = .000
Integration to the job	OR = 4.04	OR = 1.77	OR = 2.22
	I.C. = 3.45–4.73	I.C. = 1.57–1.99	I.C. = 1.90–2.59
	p = .000	p = .000	p = .000
Satisfaction with the work	OR = 2.89	OR = 1.89	OR = 1.53
	I.C. = 2.45 - 3.40	I.C. = 1.67—2.13	I.C. = 1.30–1.79
	p = .000	p = .000	p = .000
Well-being obtained	OR = 2.48	OR = 1.95	OR = 1.62
through the job	I.C. = 2.07–2.97	I.C. = 1.71–2.23	I.C. = 1.36–1.94
	p = .000	p = .000	p = .000
Worker's personal	OR = 4.03	OR = 1.84	OR = 2.07
development	I.C. = 3.47–4.68	I.C. = 1.62 - 2.09	I.C. = 1.76–2.42
	p = .000	p = .000	p = .000
Free time administration	OR = 2.62	OR = 1.38	OR = 2.20
	I.C. = 2.26–3.04	I.C. = 1.23–1.56	I.C. = 1.88–2.57
	p = .000	p = .000	p = .000

Table 3. Association between the Quality of Work Life and Burnout Syndrome by dimensions

5 Discussion

In the last 10 years there are many studies of Burnout Syndrome in health workers, the prevalence of the three dimensions show a great variety, but all higher than those reported in our study. Some studies show prevalence of emotional exhaustion ranging from 42.3%, where 16.5% is at high level and 25.8% at medium level, found in specialist doctors throughout the Spanish State (n = 1021) [16]; up to 83.2% (40.6% in high level and 42.6% in medium level) reported in nursing professionals in Gran Canaria (n = 101) [3]. Our study showed a prevalence of 16.5% (5.4% in high level and 11.1 in middle level) to consider that our study is in Mexican population, with all types of health workers, not only nurses or specialist doctors and a large population (n = 5351) from a single public health institution.

The values found for Lack of personal realization vary from 31.3% (14.1% high level and 17.2% average level) reported by Ávila [17] in a population of health professionals from two private clinics in the city of Montería, Colombia (N = 99) to 61.4% (29.7% high and 31.7%) in the study by Farrerons [3] with nursing professionals in Gran Canaria (n = 101). While our data show 30.3% (18.6% and 11.7% in high and medium respectively), drawing attention to the closeness with the Colombian population, although Ávila's study [17] refers to private clinic workers and ours to a public institution.

On the other hand, data related to depersonalization in different studies tend to be the highest prevalences [18, 17, 2], contrary to what was found in our study, which were the lowest. Prevalences may exceed 70%, as in studies of Flores [2], which report 74.9%, Scribe [16] with 73.0% and Farrerons [3] with 71.3%; while the workers in our study reported only 14.5% (5.4% in high level and 9.1% in medium level).

The dimensions of Burnout Syndrome have been associated with various organizational and/or psychosocial factors of work; the type of contract, satisfaction and monotonous work [3], with the performance of guards [19], with contact with suffering and death, work overload, and professional seniority [16]. For our part, the seven dimensions of QWL showed a solid consistency in their relation with the Burnout Syndrome, since all of them qualified as risk factor for the three dimensions of Burnout.

6 Conclusions

As can be seen, QWL is consistently a risk factor for Burnout Syndrome, being especially high in the dimension of emotional exhaustion.

References

 González Baltazar, R., Hidalgo Santacruz, G., Salazar Estrada, J.G.: Calidad de vida en el trabajo: un término de moda con problemas de conceptuación. Psicología y Salud, 17(1), 115–123, enero-junio (2007)

- Flores, N., Jenaro, C., Cruz, M., Vega, V., Pérez, M.C.: Síndrome de burnout y calidad de vida laboral en profesionales de servicios sanitarios. Pensando Psicología, 9(16), 7–21 (2013)
- Farrerons Noguera, L., Calvo Francés, F.: Estudio descriptivo del síndrome de burnout en una muestra de profesionales de enfermería en el área sur de Gran Canaria. Ansiedad y Estrés, 14(1), 101–113 (2008)
- 4. Rout, U.: Estrés laboral en profesionales de la salud. Empleo, estrés y salud 5, 93-108 (2002)
- Korzeniewska-Eksterowicz, A., Przysło, L., Grzelewski1, T., Stolarska, M., Młynarski, W., Stelmach, I., Krakowiak, J., Stelmach, W.: Job satisfaction among health professionals of home hospice for children of lodz region. Adv. Palliative Med. 9(3), 67–72 (2010)
- 6. Freudenberger, H.J.: Staff burnout. J. Soc. Issues 30, 159–165 (1974)
- Maslach, C., Jacks, S.E.: Burnout in health professions: a social psychological analysis. In: Sanders, G., Suls, J. (eds.) Social Psychology of Health and Illness, pp. 227–251. Lawrence Erlbaum, Hillsdale (1982)
- Aranda, B.C., González, B.R., Pando, M.M., Hidalgo, S.G.: Factores de riesgo psicosocial laborales, apoyo social y síndrome de Burnout en médicos de familia de tres instituciones públicas de salud de Guadalajara (México). Salud Uninorte. Barranquilla 29(3), 487–500 (2013)
- Hunsaker, S., Chen, H.-C., Maughan, D., Heaston, S.: Factors that influence the development of compassion fatigue, burnout, and compassion satisfaction in emergency department nurses. J. Nurs. Scholarship 47(2), 186–194 (2015)
- 10. Ifediora, C.O.: Burnout among after-hours home visit doctors in Australia. BMC Family Practice **17**, 2 (2016)
- Adriaenssens, J., De Gucht, V., Maes, S.: Determinants and prevalence of Burnout in emergency nurses: a systematic review of 25 years of research. Int. J. Nurs. Stud. 52(2), 649–661 (2015)
- Patlán, J.: Efecto del Burnout y la sobrecarga en la calidad de vida en el trabajo. Estudios Gerenciales 29, 445–455 (2013)
- González Baltazar, R., Hidalgo Santacruz, G., Salazar Estrada, J.G., Preciado Serrano, M.L.: "Elaboración y validez del instrumento para medir calidad de vida en el trabajo "CVT-GOHISALO" Ciencia & Trabajo, vol. 12(36) (2010)
- 14. Gil-Monte, P.R., Peiro, J.M.: Desgaste Psíquico en el Trabajo: El Síndrome de Quemarse. Editorial Síntesis, Madrid (1997)
- Escribà-Agüira, V., Artazcoza, L., Pérez-Hoyosa, L.: Efecto del ambiente psicosocial y de la satisfacción laboral en el síndrome de burnout en médicos especialistas. Gaceta Sanitaria, 22 (4), 300–308 (2008)
- Ávila Toscano, J.H., Gómez Hernández, L.T., Montiel Salgado, M.M.: Características demográficas y laborales asociadas al Síndrome de Burnout en profesionales de la salud. Pensamiento Psicológico 8(15), 39–52 (2010)
- 17. Gutiérrez Alanis, M.T., Martínez Alcántara, S.: Burnout en enfermeras oncológicas mexicanas. Salud de los Trabajadores. vol. 14 No. 1/ Enero-junio (2006)
- Betancur, A., Guzmán, C., Lema, C., Pérez, C., Pizarro, M.C., Salazar, S., Uribe, L., Vásquez, E.M.: Síndrome de Burnout en trabajadores del sector salud. Rev CES Salud Pública 3(2), 184–192 (2012)

Cross-Cultural Decision Making Focus


Comparative Analysis of Website Usability Between United States and Japan

Toshihisa Doi^(运) and Atsuo Murata

Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology, Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka, Kita-ward, Okayama, Japan tdoi@okayama-u.ac.jp, murata@iims.sys.okayama-u.ac.jp

Abstract. The aim of this study is to reveal differences of web design from the viewpoint of usability between United States and Japan that have different cultures and design preferences. Nine companies that had websites for their local offices in both United States and Japan were selected for the survey of this study. To compare the usability between United States and Japanese websites, heuristics evaluation was performed by the authors. The authors attempted to find the usability drawbacks from four to six pages including the top page in each company's website. The total number of usability drawbacks that was identified in the United States and Japanese websites was compared. As the result of the *t*-test, the usability drawbacks that were observed in the Japanese websites were more than those in the United States websites. The ratio of each of the ten usability heuristics was compared between the United States and Japanese websites had more "aesthetic and minimalist design" drawbacks.

Keywords: Web design \cdot Cultural difference \cdot Web usability \cdot Usability heuristics \cdot Heuristics evaluation

1 Introduction

Because the number of global internet users is large and they have diverse cultures, web design localization has been accelerated to adapt to specific languages, cultures, and preferences. In such circumstances, web designers must consider cultural aspects to enhance website usability and user satisfaction. According to Petrie et al. [1], the approach to develop accessible and usable designs will be different based on different cultural contexts. With respect to web design, the cultural viewpoint of web usability has been discussed by several researchers.

With respect to design characteristics in different cultures, Cyr and Trevor-Smith [2] and Doi and Murata [3] investigated the differences of web design characteristics among several countries to examine the design direction considered for the localized websites. They reported that the websites of these countries had statistically significant different characteristics from several viewpoints. Barber and Badre [4] and Marcus and Gould [5] reported that several different characteristics of the user-interface design existed among countries that had different cultural characteristics. Alexander et al. [6, 7] tried to

develop cross-cultural web design guidelines based on the findings of cultural differences among some countries.

Several studies exist with respect to the usability assessment considering the cultural differences. Becker and Mottay [8] summarized the global perspective on websites usability. Zhou and DeSantis [9] and Fang and Rau [10] performed usability evaluations of websites associated with countries that had different cultural backgrounds and compared the results. They showed that usability drawbacks associated with cultural differences existed.

As described above, different countries have different design preferences as well as characteristics of web designs. However, the findings, from the viewpoint of usability to design websites, have been limited. To expand on the previous studies, a survey was conducted to grasp the cultural differences of website usability. The aim of this study is to reveal differences of web design from the viewpoint of usability between United States and Japan that have different cultures and design preferences. This study will contribute to understanding characteristics of web designs associated with countries that have different cultural background and enhance usability by taking into account cultural differences.

2 Cultural Differences Associated with Web Designs Between United States and Japan

2.1 High-Context and Low-Context Cultures

High-context and low-context cultures were proposed by E.T. Hall as classifications for linguistic communication [11]. These classifications help to understand the communication style of different countries and regions. High-context cultures are communication cultures that frequently use non-linguistic communication and do not require strict linguistic expression in their communication. In contrast, low-context cultures are communication cultures that use strict and concrete linguistic expression and emphasize linguistic communication. United States is classified as a low-context culture, while Japan is classified as a high-context culture.

2.2 Color

The meaning of and/or preference for colors are different among countries that have different cultures and customs. Therefore, the color designs of websites tend to differ between United States and Japan. Russo and Boor [12] showed some of the different meanings among several countries. Table 1 shows the differences between Japan and United States based on their findings.

With respect to the trend of web design, according to Doi and Murata [3], United States websites tend to use deep colors compared with Japanese websites. Moreover, Japanese websites tend to use white as a background color.

	Red	Blue	Green	Yellow	White
Japan	Anger, Danger	Villainy	Future, Youth, Energy	Grace, Nobility	Death
United States	Danger, Stop	Masculine	Safety, Go	Cowardice, Temporary	Purity

Table 1. Cultural differences in the meaning of colors between Japan and United States [12].

2.3 Appearance

The visual characteristics of both United States and Japanese websites can be summarized as follows based on the findings of Cyr and Trevor-Smith [2] and Doi and Murata [3]. Japanese sites tend to use considerable text and have few blank spaces. Additionally, the point form is frequently used to list many items. Moreover, in Japanese sites, the 3 columns layout is frequently used, while the footer navigation is not frequently used in Japanese site. Moreover, many banners feature on the top page. The frequent use of the banners is considered a unique feature of Japanese sites.

The United States sites typically tend to have less information per page. Because the amount of text is small, headings and the point form are not frequently used to organize text information. Moreover, the United States sites used the 1 column grid layout and a large photograph features as a headline image in many web sites.

3 Method

3.1 Analyzed Websites

Nine companies that had websites of their local offices in both the United States and Japan were selected for the survey; therefore, 18 websites were investigated (9 companies \times 2 countries). Table 2 shows the list of the analyzed websites.

Company	Japan	United States
Yahoo!	https://www.yahoo.co.jp/	https://www.yahoo.com/
Godiva	https://www.godiva.co.jp/	https://www.godiva.com/
Uniqlo	https://www.uniqlo.com/jp/	https://www.uniqlo.com/us/en/home/
P&G	https://jp.pg.com/	https://us.pg.com/
Diseny	https://www.disney.co.jp/	https://www.disney.com/?intoverride=true
Coca cola	https://www.cocacola.jp/	https://us.coca-cola.com/
Caterpillar	https://www.nipponcat.co.jp/	https://www.cat.com/en_US/products/new/parts/reman.html
Starbucks	https://www.starbacks.co.jp/	https://www.starbucks.com/
Toyota	https://toyota.jp/index.html	https://www.toyota.com/

Table 2. List of the analyzed websites.

3.2 Usability Evaluation

To compare the usability between the United States and Japanese websites, heuristics evaluation [13] was performed by the authors. Heuristics evaluation is the one of the

methods of usability inspection to find usability drawbacks in each page and/or task through the reviews from the viewpoint of Nielsen's ten usability heuristics: (#1) visibility of system status, (#2) match between system and the real world, (#3) user control and freedom, (#4) consistency and standards, (#5) error prevention, (#6) recognition rather than recall, (#7) flexibility and efficiency of use, (#8) aesthetic and minimalist design, (#9) help users recognize, diagnose, and recover from errors, and (#10) help and documentation. The authors attempted to find the usability drawbacks from four to six pages including the top page in each company's website. Each usability drawback was associated with the ten usability heuristics.

3.3 Analysis

The total number of the usability drawbacks that was identified in the United States and Japanese websites was compared. The paired *t*-test was performed to statistically compare the total number of the usability drawbacks. Moreover, the usability drawbacks were broken down to the ten usability heuristics, and the ratio of each of the ten usability heuristics was compared between the United States and Japanese websites. To compare the ratio of each item for all the usability drawbacks identified for the websites of each country, the two-proportions *Z*-test was performed for each of the ten usability heuristics between the United States and Japanese websites.

4 Results

The mean number of usability drawbacks in each country is shown in Fig. 1. As the results of the *t*-test indicate, the usability drawbacks that were observed in the Japanese websites were more than those in United States websites (t(8) = 2.45, p < 0.05).



Fig. 1. Mean number of usability drawbacks in each country's website (Error bar shows the standard deviation. *: p < 0.05).

The ratio of the drawbacks for each of the ten usability heuristics is shown in Fig. 2 (top: Japan, bottom: United States). As per the results of the two-proportions Z-test, the "aesthetic and minimalist design (#8 of 10 usability heuristics)" drawbacks of the Japanese websites are significantly more than those of the United States websites (Z = 1.89, p < 0.05). For the other ten usability heuristics, no significant differences were observed between the Japanese and the United States websites.



Fig. 2. Composition ratio of the ten usability heuristics (top: Japan, bottom: United States).

5 Discussion

As shown in Fig. 1, the number of usability drawbacks in the Japanese websites was significantly more than that in the United States websites. This means that even if the contents of a website are nearly identical, the usability of Japanese websites is poorer than that that of the Unites States websites.

To understand the features of the usability drawbacks in greater detail, the usability drawbacks were categorized using the ten usability heuristics, as shown in Fig. 2. In both the countries, the drawbacks with "match between system and the real world (#2)" were the most frequent. In contrast, there were few drawbacks with "error prevention (#5)," "help users recognize, diagnose, and recover from errors (#9)," and "help and documentation (#10)" in this survey. These characteristics seem to be common usability drawbacks in the both the countries.

As per the results of the two-proportions Z-test that was used to statistically compare the ratio of the usability drawbacks of the ten usability heuristics between both the countries, the "aesthetic and minimalist design (#8)" drawbacks in the Japanese websites were significantly more than those in United States websites. The Japanese websites tend to include considerable information per page and have few blank spaces. Because users cannot understand where to look first, they may face difficulties in searching for specific information. In contrast, the United States websites tend to have less information per page and are organized well.

The above-mentioned characteristic of website usability in both Japan and United States matches the differences of web designs associated with cultural differences that were reported by Doi and Murata [3]. The previous study also showed that Japanese websites had a tendency to include considerable information (text, banners, etc.) with few blank spaces. The consideration can be made that the design characteristics affect the above-mentioned usability drawbacks. On the other hand, the previous study showed the United States websites had a tendency to adopt simpler layouts with less information. Therefore, information could be organized in a much easier manner in the United States websites.

One of the causes of the above-mentioned difference between the United States and Japanese websites may be the high- and low-context cultures. As previously mentioned, Japan is classified as a high-context culture and the United States is classified as a low-context culture. High-context cultures do not depend on linguistic communication and can guess the message of a speaker (or writer) well. Therefore, the consideration can be made that because Japan has a high-context culture, even though considerable information is included per page on Japanese websites and it not organized well, readers of the websites can still guess the contents.

The future work related to this study that needs to be undertaken is discussed. In this study, only heuristics evaluation, which is one of the expert review methods, was adopted. However, user testing was not performed. To obtain even more detailed findings, user testing comprising users from several countries should be performed. Subsequently, user preference and performance associated with each website can be discussed to understand how cultural differences influence web designs.

References

- Petrie, H., Weber, G., Darzentas, J.S., Jadhav, C., Liu, Z.: Cross cultural differences in designing for accessibility and universal design. In: Bernhaupt, R., et al. (eds.) INTERACT 2017, Part IV, LNCS 10516, pp. 518–520 (2017)
- Cyr, D., Trevor-Smith, H.: Localization of web design: an empirical comparison of German, Japanese, and United States web site characteristics. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci. Technol. 55(13), 1199–1208 (2004)
- Doi, T., Murata, A.: Cross-cultural analysis of top page design among Brazilian, Chinese, Japanese and United States web sites. In: Goosens, R.H.M., Murata, A. (eds.) Advances in Social and Occupational Ergonomics. AHFE2019. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 970, pp. 609–620 (2019)
- 4. Barber, W., Badre, A.N.: Culturability: the merging of culture and usability. In: Proceedings of 4th Conference on Human Factors and the Web (1998)
- Marcus, A., Gould, E.W.: Cultural dimensions and global web user-interface design. Interactions 7(4), 33–46 (2000)
- Alexander, R., Murray, D., Thompson, N.: Cross-cultural web usability model. In: Bouguettaya, A., et al. (eds.) WISE 2017, Part II, LNCS 10570, pp. 75–89, Springer, Cham (2017)
- Alexander, R., Murray, D., Thompson, N.: Cross-cultural web design guidelines. In: Proceedings of the 14th International Web for All Conference on The Future of Accessible Work, p. 10, ACM (2017)
- 8. Becker, S.A., Mottay, F.E.: A global perspective on web site usability. IEEE Softw. **18**(1), 54–61 (2001)
- Zhou, Q., DeSantis, R.: Usability issues in city tourism website design: a content analysis. In: 2005 IEEE International Professional Communication Conference Proceedings, pp. 789– 796 (2005)
- Fang, X., Rau, P.P.: Culture differences in design of portal sites. Ergonomics 46(1–3), 242– 254 (2003)
- 11. Hall, E.T.: Beyond Culture. Doubleday, New York (1976)
- 12. Russo, P., Boor, S.: How fluent is your interface? designing for international users. In: Proceedings of INTERCHI 1993, pp. 342–347 (1993)
- 13. Nielsen, J.: Usability Engineering. Academic Press, Massachusetts (1993)



Attitude Toward Long Working Hours from the Perspectives of Cross-Cultural Difference of Viewing Things and Scarcity-Slack Relation

Atsuo Murata^(EC) and Toshihisa Doi

Department of Intelligent Mechanical Systems, Okayama University, 3-1-1 Tsushimanaka, Kita-Ward, Okayama, Japan murata@iims.sys.okayama-u.ac.jp, tdoi@okayama-u.ac.jp

Abstract. Cross-cultural differences between Japan and US contributed to the attitude toward long working hours, that is, the acceptance of the reduction of working hours. US people seem to be more acceptable to the reduction of long working hours than Japanese people, although both countries have gradually accepted and recognized that the reduction of working hours will eventually lead to high efficiency. Based on scarcity and slack relation, it is reasonable to think that scarce state with less slack in workplaces is not necessarily resolved by increasing manpower or working hour of each worker. This scarcity and slack relationship is more acceptable to US people who tend to be more tolerant to the reduction of working hours.

Keywords: Long working hours \cdot Cross-cultural difference \cdot Way of thinking \cdot Scarcity-slack relation \cdot Productivity \cdot Working hours-productivity relation \cdot Harmony

1 Introduction

The problem of long working hours is an important ergonomics issue, because long working hours affect the productivity (efficiency) [1] and the safety measures such as human errors or the number of defective products manufactured. According to Nisbett [2], the way of thinking of Western people is characterized by the following properties. Western people cannot see the forests for the trees. This generally means that they cannot review the overall situation before discussing the details. Western people also seem to infer causes based on effects. They are good at purpose-oriented inferences, prefer simplicity, are apt to ignore the role of context, tend to over evaluate the competence of humans' predictability of behavior, and are vulnerable to fundamental attribution error. Contrary to the properties of Western people, Eastern people are said that they cannot see the trees for the forests, assume more complexity than Western people, and tend to have comprehensive belief (therefore, judge that we cannot know trees without seeing forests). This study based on such a difference of way of thinking, and compared and discussed the attitude toward long working hours among US and Japan.

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 508–514, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_67 As well as the different way of thinking between US and Japan, long working hours based on scarcity and slack relation [3] are discussed as follows. Mullainathan and Shafir [3] assumed that the waste of time and fund should be viewed as not scarcity but slack for creative activity. Although taking extra time and learning knowledge that is seemingly unrelated to the task that we engage in at present seems to be wasteful, this is helpful for us someday. However, it must be noted that this waste of time or fund might create nothing. Such a case, in particular, must be dominantly observed for routine works. We must, therefore, wisely differentiate the two types of waste, that is, the waste that works for creating slack and the waste that doesn't. The concept of scarcity and slack relation must be more and more useful even in addressing the issue on the relationship between working hour and humans' performance such as productivity.

In case of Ford motors, stopping long hours of work and shortening hours of work led to the increase of production efficiency and the decrease of workers' human errors. This must mean that long hours of work do not necessarily increase the slack (or compensate for scarcity) for enhancing competence and efficiency of workers and consequently increase the processing capacity of each worker. In short, hours of work are not proportionally related to processing capacity and do not increase slack and make it possible to resolve scarcity issues of workplaces. There are many cases where longer working hours to compensate for scarcity do not work for achieving a goal or objective. Therefore, we always need to quest for the condition to increase slack (decrease scarcity) for effective work performance.

Japanese companies or organizations are in particular apt to misunderstand that longer working or training hours lead to enhanced achievements. This must be attributed to Japanese way of thinking to see the forests (organization as a whole) for the trees (individual workers), assume more complexity than Western people, and have comprehensive belief that leads to judging that trees (individual workers) cannot be understood without seeing forests (company or organization as a whole). It is reasonable to ponder that such properties to prefer an organization to an individual are based on the spirit of "Wa" widespread among Japanese people [4-7]. Such a way of thinking does not make an organization or company notice that optimum workload of each individual supported by shorter working hours works for the compensation of scarcity that hinders work efficiency and increase slack to increase work efficiency. On the other hand, Western style to pay more importance on the trees (individual workers) than on the forests (organizations or companies) enable people to recognize that achieving moderate workload for each workers at the sacrifice of longer working hours eventually leads to the elimination of scarcity to attain a goal or aim and the increase of slack. Therefore, it is speculated that Ford motors succeeded in shortening hours of work and increasing the production efficiency and workplace safety.

The aim of this study is to discuss the difference of working hours between US and Japan from the following viewpoints of cross-cultural difference, mindset of Japanese people who base their behavior on harmony "Wa", and the relationship between scarcity and slack.

2 Cross-Cultural Difference of Viewing Things or Way of Thinking Between West and East

2.1 How Western and Eastern People Think Differently [2]

The way of thinking of Western people are characterized by the following properties. They cannot see the forests for the trees. This generally means that Western people cannot review the overall situation before discussing the details. Western people also seem to infer causes based on effects. They are good at purpose-oriented inferences, prefer simplicity, are apt to ignore the role of context, tend to over-evaluate the competence of humans' predictability of behavior, and are vulnerable to fundamental attribution error.

Contrary to this, it is said that Eastern people cannot see the trees for the forests, assume more complexity to interpret or view things than Western people, and tend to judge that we cannot know trees without seeing forests. This study is based on such a different way of thinking or viewing things, and compared and discussed the attitude toward long working hours between US and Japan.

2.2 Group Harmony ("Wa") Peculiar to Japanese

Whiting [6, 7] discussed group harmony in Japanese baseball including high school and professional baseball league, which emphasizes the importance of group harmony and is opposite to MLB that gives priority to concentration and individualism. Such a cultural difference is reflected in the difference of training hours and spiritualism toward baseball. Japanese high school baseball players don't mind at all to play at a stadium under poor environment such as severe heat. US baseball coaches never make their players play under such fierce heat. Comparing training hours in spring training between MLB and NPB, long training duration is apparently more dominant in Japan. Long training hours must come from the harmony-based way of thinking. There are a lot of NPB players from US who feel that such long training hours do not fit them.

In US, throwing restriction of a pitcher is strictly enforced. The number of pitches, for high school students of 17–18 years old is restricted to 105 pitches. Moreover, they are forbidden to pitch for four days after they pitch more than 80. On the other hand, Japanese high school baseball players frequently pitch more than 300 (at the worst case, pitches more than 500) for four or five days without throwing restriction. Japanese baseball is rather non-scientific and players are required to pitch with spirit and grit even if they are exhausted and feel pain in their shoulder. In Whiting [6, 7], he sounded a warning to no restriction of pitches. Although there is some trend to restrict the number of pitches recently in Japan, the strict throwing restriction system has not been established especially in Japanese high school baseball. The tendency of long working hours is also reflected in such a tendency of long training hours and no restriction of pitches.

The properties mentioned above are all based on Japanese spiritualism "Wa", and a mindset not to complain even if players feel that the playing environment is very tough. Such a complaint is regarded as a behavior that is not based on harmony "Wa" which Japanese people traditionally cherish and value. Thus, Japanese people are more

tolerable to long training or working hours than people in US. They can pitch more than 300 for four days without complaints even if they feel a pain in their shoulder.

3 Scarcity-Slack Relation

In order to understand scarcity-slack relation, it is necessary to differentiate between waste and slack. Waste is interpreted as follows. Even if the blank is compensated for by the increase of work hours, this never leads to the increase of processing competence. The longer work hours are never helpful for enhancing the processing competence individually or as a whole organization. The concept of slack regards the blank not as waste but as absolutely essential for enhancing processing competence of jobs at workplaces.

Forcing workers to work for long hours to meet the deadline of delivering products give rise to more errors, and adversely reduce efficiency. This corresponds to tunneling in the concept of scarcity and slack relationship. Reducing working hours per day or week seems on the surface to decrease productivity. However, this does not necessary reduce productivity. Rather, the reduction of work hours per day or week leads to high efficiency and fewer errors, and eventually increases productivity.

Under multi-tasking or scarce states, concentration on one thing induces tunneling for other things. Cognitive processing ability of not only a concentrated task but also other tasks is degraded. All tasks cannot be appropriately executed due to the limitation of cognitive resources (bandwidth). Therefore, we cannot help making a tradeoff among tasks, and we tend to prioritize things to be done immediately. Therefore, we cannot worry about and plan the future, and we cannot afford to take into account the occurrence of errors or mistakes and worry about the future without discounting. Slack makes it possible to recover readily from an error or mistake, and makes us more creative. Slack does not make scarce states, and makes us afford to concentrate on a task under a moderate feeling of tension, stress, or workload.

Less slack due to scarcity (too low and too high workload) leads to a lack of motivation for making effective use of cognitive resources necessary for effective work or problem solving. The motivation to exerting cognitive efforts and solve a problem is low and the slack to heighten motivation is less when we are faced with scarcity. As the adaptability cannot be increased under low and high workload, the task cannot be processed with flexibility. Therefore, it is impossible to cope with an error caused by less or excessive concentration. It is speculated that slack by means of moderate working hours contributes to increased flexibility and adaptability, and eventually enhances workers' efficiency.

4 Difference of Attitude Toward Long Working Hours Between Japan and US

4.1 How Different Way of Thinking Lead to Different Recognition of Working Hours and Productivity Relation

Comparing training hours in spring training between MLB and NPB, long training duration is apparently dominant in Japan. As mentioned above, the number of pitches for 17–18 years old high school students in US is strictly forbidden to pitch more than 105 over four days. After they pitch more than 80, they cannot pitch in the competition for four days. Contrary to this, Japanese high school baseball pitchers sometimes pitch more than 500 during a week. The tendency of traditionally-accepted long working hours is also reflected in such a tendency in baseball. In other words, it seems that the tendency of long work hours in Japan seems to be traditionally reflected in activities other than those in workplaces. Long working hours seem to be inherited even in longer training hours of NPB players and unrestricted number of pitches of high school baseball pitchers.

In Japan, there are following proverbs related to "Wa" (harmony). These proverbs include: selfless devotion, self-sacrifice for an organization, self-annihilation for the sake of an organization, and cherish the harmony among the people. While Japanese NPB players never attend childbirth of their wives during the year's baseball season, NPB players from US never fail to prioritize childbirth of their wives and return back to their home country and be absent from the game for a while. It is said that Japanese players are unable to witness to their parents' death if they are during the year's baseball season. They are encouraged to prioritize their job (play baseball in the game). Such a way of thinking is never applicable to NPB players from US or other countries. Such characteristics of Japanese players reflect Japanese culture to think and view not the trees but the forests.

There is also a famous word "joint responsibility" in Japanese high school baseball. If some players of high school baseball team commit anti-social acts (for example, caught and admonished by a police), the baseball team must be collectively responsible for the undesirable act taken by a few members of the team. Consequently, the team is forbidden to match other teams and to participate in a variety of competitions for a predetermined period. In US, only players who committed anti-social acts are forbidden to participate in the competition. This vividly represents the cultural difference between Japan and US.

The difference above leads to different way of thinking about working hours and productivity and different recognition of the importance of reducing working hours for increasing productivity between US and Japan.

4.2 How Recognition of Scarcity and Slack Relation Affects Attitude Toward Long Working Hours

The strategy of long work hours is frequently widespread so that the delay of schedule is recovered or the achievements are enhanced and the achievement goals are satisfied. On the basis of the discussion in Sect. 4.1, this study definitely demonstrates that

investing more time by increasing the number of workers or forcing workers to concentrate on a long-hour work does not increase efficiency and concentration on each work. Rather, shorter work hour works for increasing cognitive processing competence and efficiency and accuracy of job or work.

The scarcity and slack relation is applicable even to the issue of reducing work hours per day or week. Even if work hours increase, the scared state cannot be compensated for. To address this issue and reach a solution to scarcity in workplaces, we should attempt to increase slack of each worker without increasing work hour per day or week with the purpose of enhancing creativity necessary for problem solving in workplaces.

5 Discussion

It seems that the difference of way of thinking or viewing things between US and Japan apparently affect training hours or the strategy of restriction of pitches in baseball societies, the work hours per day or week, and the tolerance to the reduction of work hours. The way of viewing things that emphasized not the forests but the trees and the simplicity readily leads to the recognition of the importance of slack and enhancing slack with moderate work hours that does not impair creativity of workers and maintain the workload at a moderate level. Japanese management should be more actively recognize the importance of workers' performance enhancement by a full understanding of scarcity and slack relation. The increase of work hours to compensate for the scarcity in a variety of workplaces such as the necessity to meat a imminent deadline never works, and we should recognize the importance of increasing slack to resolve a variety of scarcity issues in workplaces with more creativity (slack).

As have already mentioned, harmony-based way of thinking (see not the trees (individuals) but the forests (organization)) peculiar to Japanese is represented by selfannihilation for an organization, cherish harmony among the people, selfless devotion, self-sacrifice for an organization.

These properties might make Japanese tend to think that longer work hours lead to resolve the issue of scarcity (low efficiency). Moreover, Japanese will not pay attention to slack-scarcity relation and will not manage processing competence of each worker to increase the efficiency of workplace or organization as a whole.

6 Conclusions

From (i) the perspective of cross-cultural difference of way of thinking or viewing things between US and Japan and (ii) scarcity and slack relationship, the difference of attitudes toward long working hours between US and Japan was discussed. The cross-cultural difference (whether "Wa"-based culture is dominant or not) between US and Japan affected the recognition that the reduction of work hours leads to the enhanced efficiency.

It is speculated that US people tend to be more acceptable to the effectiveness of reduction of work hours on the basis of the accurate understanding of scarcity-slack

relation. These results indicate that the reduction of work hours must be practiced taking into account cross-cultural differences, that is, how things are interpreted and viewed (which is emphasized, the forests (organization) or the trees (individuals)).

References

- 1. Robinson, S.: Bring back the 40-hour work week. Slate, 14 March 2012
- Nisbett, R.: The Geography of Thought: How Asians and Westerners Think Differently... and Why. Simon and Schuster, New York (2004)
- 3. Mullainathan, S., Shafir, E.: Scarcity: The New Science of Having Less and How It Defines Our Lives. Picador, New York (2014)
- Murata, A.: Cross-cultural difference of Free Agency (FA) system between MLB and NPB (Nippon Professional Baseball). In: Kantola, J., Nazir, S., Barath, T. (eds.) AHFE 2018. AISC, vol. 783, pp. 668–680. Springer, Cham (2018)
- Murata, A.: Cognitive biases and distorted decision making that prevent rational and efficient sports management - cross-cultural difference between MLB and NPB. In: Goossens, R.H.M., Murata, A. (eds.) AHFE 2019. AISC, vol. 970, pp. 561–571. Springer, Cham (2018)
- 6. Whiting, R.: The Chrysanthemum and the Bat: The Game Japanese Play. Japanime Co. Ltd., Kawaguchi (1977)
- 7. Whiting, R.: You Gotta Have Wa. Vintage, New York (1989)



A Mixed Methods Case Study: Japanese Sojourners' Intercultural Awareness

Chihiro Tajima^(⊠)

Faculty of Intercultural Communication, Gakushuin Women's College, 3-20-1 Toyama, Shinjyuku-ku, Tokyo, Japan chihiro.tajima@gakushuin.ac.jp

Abstract. Ministry of Education in Japan is promoting Japanese students to develop English communication competence and intercultural communication competence. One way that they do this is by encouraging students to study abroad. English communication skills have been reported to improve during study abroad, as short as even one-month study abroad. However, intercultural communication competence is under researched, and intercultural competence has not been reported to develop during short-term study abroad, nor mediumterm study abroad. In addition, there has not been any report of clear relationship between English proficiency and intercultural communication competence. This study focuses on investigating the cases of Japanese students studying abroad for one month in Canada. The purpose of this study is to describe cultural learning. The participants of this study are 29 students. Two research questions were generated: Q1) What cultural awareness took place during study abroad? Q2) Did sojourners' cultural awareness differ depending on the proficiency levels? This case study is a mixed methods case study, in which cases for qualitative analysis are identified by the quantitative study, which was previously reported.

Keywords: Study abroad \cdot Intercultural communication \cdot Case study \cdot Qualitative analysis \cdot Mixed methods study

1 Introduction

1.1 Short-Term Study Abroad and Intercultural Awareness

The present study defines short-term Study Abroad (SA) as four-week-long SA programs. However, in general, short-term SA can mean a semester or less time abroad. Short-term SA programs can attract sojourners who cannot afford the time and money to be away for long, and also those who want to participate in multiple SA programs [1].

Intercultural awareness refers to "how people become aware of other ways of thinking, living or behaving and how they perceive their experiences with others" (p.285) [2]. Intercultural awareness is referred to as a "prerequisite" for Intercultural Communication Competence [2]. One of the shortcomings of short-term SA is the limitation in intercultural development as the amount of processing time for intercultural tural experience is short so that sojourners do not reflect on what they have seen or

W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 515–521, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_68

experienced [3]. For short-term SA pro-grams, intercultural learning has to be deliberate with course assignments or debriefing exercises. Research studies show the need for facilitation to enhance development of intercultural skills and awareness at pre-departure for any SA program length [4, 5].

2 Methods

2.1 Research Purpose and Research Questions

The purposes of the present study are to document intercultural awareness of sojourners who did not have any pre-departure support for developing intercultural skills and awareness, and to explore the differences in their intercultural awareness depending on the proficiency levels. For these purposes, the present study employs a mixed methods case study approach. In case studies "researchers develop in-depth analysis of the case, often a programme, event, activity, process or, one or more individuals. Cases are bounded by time and activity, and researchers collect detailed information using a variety of data collection procedures over a sustained period of time" (p. 14) [6]. A mixed methods case study is "a type of mixed methods study in which the quantitative and qualitative data collection, results, and integration are used to provide indepth evidence for a case(s) or develop cases for comparative analysis" (p. 116) [7]. The research project follows a sequential explanatory design of mixed methods [7], which starts with a quantitative "first phase", followed by a qualitative "second phase". The quantitative "first phase" was reported by Tajima [8]. Tajima reported on improvement in English proficiency and affective factors, such as Willingness to Communicate, Motivation, and Language Anxiety after short-term SA. The present study is a qualitative "second phase", in which qualitative findings are reported on the same participants. Further, the present study will report on four multiple cases identified by the quantitative "first phase" (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Diagram of procedure for the research project. Indication of the current study within the research project.

Two research questions were generated: Q1) What cultural awareness took place during study abroad? Q2) Did sojourners' cultural awareness differ depending on the proficiency levels?

2.2 Sojourners' Time Abroad

Sojourners for this study were 29 Japanese female students from two universities in Tokyo, Japan. Sojourners participated in two different SA programs in Canada. The two SA programs were situated in the Province of British Columbia and in the Province of Alberta. For program details in terms of English instruction, homestay, and extracurricular activities, as well as linguistic proficiency gain measured by CASEC [11], and affective factor outcomes of the sojourners, see Tajima [8].

2.3 Qualitative Data

The qualitative data consist of pre-departure and post-return individual interviews, and while-abroad focus group interviews. All participants were given semi-structured interviews for 15 to 30 min each at pre-departure and at post-return, and multiple focus group interviews were conducted while-abroad. All interview sessions were conducted using learners' native language, which is Japanese, then the interview data were submitted to NVivo qualitative data analysis software [10]. The results were translated into English for dissemination by the researcher (Tables 1 and 2).

Table 1. Pre-departure (about two weeks prior to departure) data

Semi-structured interview question samples about intercultural communication What are the images of your host country? Do you know anything about your host country's culture? How would you cope with cultural differences in communication? Do you think you will experience homesickness or culture shock and why?

Table 2. Post-return (one week to four weeks after returning) data

Semi-structured interview question samples about intercultural communication
How did you cope with cultural differences in communication?
Did you experience homesickness or culture shock and why?
How did you cope with cultural issues at your homestay?

3 Results

3.1 Word Frequency Counts

All 29 students' interview responses from pre-departure and at post-return were submitted to NVivo for frequency counts. The differences in the number of utterances in Tables 3 and 4 indicate that sojourners were more expressive after they came back

Positive	Frequency	Neutral	Frequency	Negative	Frequency
Up	59	Canada	158	Homesick	37
Improve	52	Communication	77	Shock	34
Try hard	40	Japanese people	52		
Come true	37	Homestay	51		
Can do it	34	Host family	50		
		Speaking	41		
		First time	36		
		Listening	34		
		Program	32		
		Culture	31		

Table 3. Pre-departure frequency counts results (more than 30 counts) (N = 29)

Table 4. Post-return frequency counts with minimum length of 3 words (more than 30 counts) (N = 29)

Positive	Frequency	Neutral	Frequency	Negative	Frequency
Understand	102	Canada	112	Shock	37
Up	63	Homestay	98	Homesickness	36
Fun	48	Communication	78		
Change	44	Image	53		
Got used to	34	Eat	53		
Start talking	34	Properly	45		
Improve	32	Japanese people	44		
		Host family	40		
		Listening	39		
		Culture	35		
		Others	35		
		Everyone	31		

from SA in general. This is not surprising as sojourners had experiences to talk about after SA. In addition, Tables 3 and 4 indicate that sojourners were using more positive words after SA. For instance, "understand", "up" and "fun" were the top three positive words that sojourners used in post-return interviews, suggesting that sojourners had positive experiences during SA in general.

3.2 Cases of Sojourners

The following section describes case study. Sojourners were divided into 4 groups (cases) as shown in Table 5 depending on the English proficiency test results. The detailed quantitative analysis and the results are reported by previously mentioned study by Tajima [8].

4 English proficiency cases	English proficiency score bands	N
Case 1 (Advanced)	1200 and higher	7
Case 2 (High-intermediate)	1100 and higher	11
Case 3 (Intermediate)	1000 and higher	5
Case 4 (Low-intermediate)	999 and below	6

Table 5. Cases based on the English proficiency results at post-return (N = 29)

3.3 Tendencies of Cases

Research question two was to explore whether sojourners' intercultural awareness differ depending on the proficiency levels. All interview responses were bounded into four cases as shown in Table 5. This section illustrates typical responses of each case.

3.3.1 Case 1: Intercultural Awareness of Advanced Proficiency Sojourners

Limited Understanding and Awareness of Host Country and Its Culture Before SA: Semi-structured interview responses at pre-departure of 7 sojourners from Case 1 (Advanced) revealed their very limited knowledge and images about the host country and its people. Most of them had short utterances when asked about the host country's culture. Common responses were very brief, and included simple selection of vocabulary such as, "more friendly", "cheerful", "use more gestures", and "direct in their speaking".

No Greater Improvement in Their Cultural Awareness of Host Culture After SA: Sojourners continued to express and describe host culture and the people in a limited way, such as "very kind". However, some sojourners were able to elaborate and explain with real experiences.

3.3.2 Case 2: Intercultural Awareness of High-Intermediate Proficiency Sojourners

Limited Understanding of Host Country and Cultural Awareness Before SA: Predeparture responses of 11 sojourners in total from Case 2 indicate that the understanding varies, but mostly limited. Some sojourners talked about the images from the media. For instance, sojourner 3 responded as follows. "I don't even know which westerner from which country, but on TV, I saw them being really nice to foreign visitors. They are nice to anyone, not depending on age or anything." (pre-departure interview response, Sojourner 3)

No Greater Improvement on the Understanding of Host Culture After SA: Most of sojourners were not able to express anything more than nice and kind about the people in the host culture. This is a typical response by sojourner 4. "I didn't have any negative images of Canadians before going there. My impression is that there were very kind people there." (Post-return interview response, Sojourner 4)

3.3.3 Case 3: Intercultural Awareness of Intermediate Proficiency Sojourners

Limited knowledge of Host Country and Cultural Awareness before SA: Similar to Case 1 and Case 2, Case 3 sojourners gave short utterances. For example, Sojourner 20 gave this response: "I haven't researched about Canadians so I do not know anything about them." (Pre-departure interview response, Sojourner 20)

Limited Improvement of Cultural Awareness, but Sojourners were able to Elaborate their Impressions with Examples: Here is an example based on real experience from Sojourner 13: "Foreigners are not indecisive so we need to decide yes or no. So if I cannot make up my mind and say "hmm...", then I think I might get scolded, so I tried to reply quickly. If I am indecisive, I might make them annoyed." (Post-return interview response, Sojourner 13)

3.3.4 Case 4: Intercultural Awareness of Low-Intermediate Proficiency Sojourners

Limited Understanding, but Some with Previous Cultural Exposures Before SA: Semistructured interview response at pre-departure of 6 sojourners mostly had stereotypical images about the host culture. They used words such as "very calm", "cheerful", and "nice". Some had previous exposure to Canadians who were willing to express more. For instance, Sojourner 16 talked about her Junior high school teacher from Canada as follows. "Their social distancing is smaller, so, distance between bodies are closer. Also, the conversation is frank. Even when conversing with people for the first time, the conversation is frank." (pre-departure interview response, Sojourner 16)

Miscommunication Triggered Cultural Understanding: Having some difficulties and miscommunication at homestay due to low English proficiency triggered some awareness of cultural differences. For example, Learner 7 described understanding the different communication styles, though it was supported by the researcher who was consulted by the sojourner.

"I still think that Canadians are calm (as I imagined before coming). But, when I had a little problem at my homestay, and consulted you (researcher), you told me that I must tell the family (what I want), because people don't understand if you don't say, so, I realized. I also stopped smiling too much if I don't mean it. In the end, I tried to say what I wanted or thought about." (post-return interview response, Sojourner 7)

4 Conclusion

This study reports findings from the qualitative phase of a mixed methods case study. First, it was found that sojourners had positive short-term study abroad experience, in general, and were more expressive when they came back This was seen by predeparture and post-return semi-structured interview responses. Post-return interview responses tended to be longer with more positive words. Second, sojourners' intercultural awareness did not differ depending on the proficiency levels. Rather, the amount of intercultural awareness depended more on previous exposure to non-Japanese and culture. This was seen by drawing on typical semi-structured interview responses in each case.

As previously noted in the Introduction section, the time to process intercultural experience is short, so intercultural awareness needs to be facilitated and deliberate. The current study confirms this and concludes that short-term SA experience is not enough to make sojourners become culturally sensitive, whether the learners are high English proficiency sojourners or low English proficiency sojourners. The implication is to suggest the need for facilitation at pre-departure to raise intercultural awareness while abroad.

Acknowledgments. This study is a part of a bigger research project, which compares and contrasts the short-term SA programs in both traditional SA destination and non-English speaking SA context, and the research project is funded by the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology Japan, Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research, Research (C), Grant number: 16K02984.

References

- 1. Kauffmann, N.L., Martin, J.N., Weaver, H.D.: Students Abroad, Strangers at Home: Education for a Global Society. Intercultural Press, Yarmouth (1992)
- Merino, E., Avello. P.: Contrasting intercultural awareness at home and abroad. In Pé-rez-Vi, C. (ed.) Language Acquisition in Study Abroad and Formal Instruction Contexts, p. 285. John Benjamins, Philadelphia (2014)
- Spencer, S.E., Murray, T., Tuma, K.: Short-Term Programs Abroad. In: Brockington, J.L., Hoffa, W.W., Martin, P.C. (eds.) NAFSA's Guide to Education Abroad: For Advisers and Administrators, pp. 373–387. Mobility International, Washington, DC (2005)
- McBride, A., Bellamy, E., Knoester. M.: The theory and practice of developing intercultural competence with pre-service teachers on-campus and abroad. Theor. Pract., 1–10 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2020.1739957
- Shannon-Baker, P.: "Those who can't hear must feel": Confronting racism, privilege, and self with pre-service teachers. Theor. Pract., 1–10 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841. 2020.1740020
- 6. Creswell, J.: Educational Research: Planning, Conducting, and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Research, p. 14. Pearson, New York (2014)
- 7. Creswell, J., Plano Clark, V.: Research Design: Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research, p. 116. Sage, Thousand Oaks (2018)
- Tajima, C.: Language and cultural learning in a short-term study abroad: an investigation of Japanese sojourners in Canada. In: Goossens, R., Murata, A. (eds.) Advances in Social and Occupational Ergonomics, pp. 572–577. Springer, Cham (2019)
- Cook, L., Kamalodeen, V.: An introduction to mixed methods case study research. In: MMIRA Webinar, 25 September (2019)
- 10. QSR International Pty Ltd.: NVivo software for Windows Version 11 (2015)
- CASEC: Computerized Assessment System of English Communication, Computer Adaptive Test (CAT). Japan Institute of Educational Measurement, Tokyo (2009)



Effects of Spectral Distribution in Light Sources and Physical Properties of Discrimination Samples on Discrimination of Depth

Toshiyuki Wakimizu¹⁽¹²⁾, Atsuo Murata², and Toshihisa Doi²

 ¹ West Japan Railway Company, Safety Research Institute, 4-24 Shibata 2-Chome, Kita-Ku Osaka 530-8341, Japan toshiyuki-wakimizu@westjr.co.jp
 ² Department of Intelligent Mechanical Systems, Graduate School of Natural

Science and Technology, Okayama University, 3-1-1, Tsushimanaka, Kita-Ward Okayama 700-8530, Japan

murata@iims.sys.okayama-u.ac.jp, tdoi@okayama-u.ac.jp

Abstract. It has been reported that visibility has been reduced as a result of changes in light sources used for inspecting and repairing railway stock from incandescent lamps to LED lights. Notably, workers in their 50s have reported that objects look flat under LED lights. This study examined the effects of the wavelength and illumination levels of lighting on fine depth discrimination ability. The results indicated that appropriate illumination levels and the wavelength of light that result in high visibility might not be different depending on the age.

Keywords: Visual inspection · Working environment · Safety · Handy-light · Age · LED lights · Illuminance · Color temperature · Depth discrimination ability

1 Introduction

Inspection and repair of railway stock are conducted daily in railway yards to ensure the safety and the comfort of railways. Japan is a country with a rapidly aging population, and as a result, many people are reemployed after 60 years of age, which is the average retirement age. Therefore, developing working environments in which people can work safely and comfortably until 65 years of age is a priority in Japan.

Many types of visual inspections are conducted for detecting minute abnormalities for repairing railway stock. Even today, these inspections are conducted by the naked eye. Specific parts of vehicles such as the underbody of railway carriages and the inside of equipment boxes are dark. Lighting such as handy-lights is used to inspect these places. Recently, the lighting used in workplaces has changed from incandescent lamps to LED lights, which have dramatically changed the working environment. As a result, some workers in their 50s have reported reduced visibility because objects look flat under LED lights. Most visual inspections require excellent depth discrimination to judge defects, such as loose screws and dented equipment. Therefore, maintaining the safety and the quality of railway stock requires identifying the lighting conditions of handy-lights that can maintain the visual discrimination ability of railway workers regardless of their age.

It has been reported that the relative lamination sensitivity to short-wavelengths of light declines because of the yellowing of the crystalline lens with aging [1, 2]. It has also been reported that color perception shifts in the direction of yellow on chromaticity coordinates because of the yellowing of the crystalline lens [3]. Moreover, there is a report that the tolerable borderline luminance of glare discomfort declines with aging or by the increase in the correlated color temperature [4].

Binocular parallax and shadows cast by local lighting are considered to be fine depth clues. The contrast ratio between the irradiated area and the shaded area is an essential factor in shadow perception. It has been reported that contrast sensitivity declines with aging, especially in high spatial frequency bands [5]. Therefore, it might be possible that people tend to miss fine abnormalities because of aging.

In this study, we examined changes in lighting conditions caused by the introduction of LED lighting, especially the characteristics of lighting using white LED as the light source, and the effects of changes in visual functions with aging on the fine depth discrimination ability of inspection workers. Furthermore, a safe lighting environment, regardless of age, was examined.

2 Method

2.1 Participants

Participants in their 20s–30s (n = 13) and in their 50s–60s (n = 14) without a history of eye diseases such as cataract or glaucoma, and with normal or corrected vision over 1.0 (N = 27), took part in the study. All the participants were men because there are very few women inspecting trains and conducting repairs.

2.2 Materials

Two types of metal plates with two grooves with a diameter of 0.1° that were cut using end milling were prepared. The depth of the two grooves of each plate was identical, 1 mm (Plate 1), whereas the depth of the two grooves of the other plate was different, such that the left grove was 1 mm and the right grove was 0.6 mm (Plate 2). The surfaces of the metal plates were matte anodized to reduce reflected light.

2.3 Lighting Condition

The experiment was conducted in a dark room. The local lighting was set between the participant and the target. Spectra Tune Lab (produced by LED Motive) was used as the lighting source. Spectra Tune Lab is a wavelength-tunable light source on which 10 types of LED with different wavelengths that can be individually adjusted. Four types of lights that simulated an incandescent light bulb, fluorescent light, white LED, and

sunlight, having three levels of illuminance (50, 1000, and 5000Lx) were prepared such that there was a total of 12 (4 \times 3) conditions. The irradiation angle was set at 10°, and the irradiation distance was set at 25 cm.

2.4 Task

Participants were requested to judge any differences in the depth of the right and the left grooves when observing the metal plate placed 1 m away from the participant to estimate the fine depth discrimination ability. One set of tasks consisted of 50 trials. The two plates were presented randomly; Plate 1 was presented 10 times, and Plate 2 was presented 40 times.

2.5 Design and Procedure

The experiment was conducted from September 13 to October 25 of 2019, for 25 days in the laboratory of JR West Safety Research Institute. The content and purpose of the experiment were explained to the participants in advance. Moreover, their written informed consent for participation was obtained. Furthermore, we assessed differences between right and left eyesight, the presence of astigmatism, and the degree of presbyopia in the participants. After taking these measurements, the laboratory was darkened, and participants were made to wait for dark adaptation before practicing the task. After mastering the task, the participants conducted a one-set task under 12 conditions. To prevent any order effect; the 12 conditions were randomized for each participant. The visual angle was fixed using the chin rest so that the head position would not change based on the condition. Participants' responses were classified as follows; those responding "there is a difference" for Plate 1 were classified as "false alarm," those responding "there is no difference" for Plate 1 were classified as "correct rejection," those responding "there is a difference" for Plate 2 were classified as "hit," those responding "there is no difference" for Plate 2 were classified as "miss." Moreover, participants were required to evaluate subjective visibility in each task set using a fivepoint scale ranging from 1 (Not at all visible) to 5(Highly visible).

3 Results

Figures 1, 2, 3 and 4 shows changes in miss rates and the evaluation scores for subjective visibility when the illumination levels and light wavelengths were changed. Regarding Figs. 1 and 3, the bars for 50Lx, 1000Lx, and 5000Lx indicate the mean values of the miss rate and the subjective evaluation scores under the 50Lx, 1000Lx, and 5000Lx conditions in four wavelength conditions. Regarding Figs. 2 and 4, the bars of the incandescent light bulb indicate the mean values of the miss rate and the subjective evaluation scores under the 50Lx, 1000Lx conditions using the incandescent light bulb. The other three bars also show the mean values of the miss rate and the subjective evaluation scores under the 50Lx, 1000Lx, and 5000Lx conditions using the incandescent light, white LED, and natural light. The error bars show the standard

deviations. A two-way mixed analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted using one between-subjects factor (two age levels) and two within-subject factors (three illumination levels and four wavelength levels). The results indicated that the main effect of light wavelength was significant for the miss rate (F(3,75) = 3.384, p = .031). Multiple comparisons conducted using the Holm method indicated a significant difference between the incandescent light bulb and fluorescent light, as well as between the incandescent light for all the participants. Moreover, a significant difference was shown in the miss rate between the incandescent light bulb and fluorescent light bulb and fluorescent light bulb and fluorescent light bulb and so fluorescent light bulb and fluorescent light for participants in their 50s or 60s. The Friedman test for differences in subjective visibility scores indicated no significant differences.



Fig. 1. Illumination levels and miss rates



Fig. 2. Light wavelengths and miss rates



Fig. 3. Illumination levels and subjective evaluation scores



Fig. 4. Light wavelengths and subjective evaluation scores

4 Discussion

No differences were shown in the fine depth discrimination ability between participants in their 20s or 30s and those in their 50s or 60s. Moreover, there were no significant between right and left eyes, the presence or absence of astigmatism, or the degree of presbyopia on task achievement. However, there was a decline in the miss rate when the wavelength of the light was similar to an incandescent light bulb, although this effect was rather small. The effects of lighting conditions and changes in visual functions with aging on the fine depth discrimination ability were rather small, and the possibility that characteristics of LED lighting might affect fine depth discrimination ability was not demonstrated in this study.

It is possible that the ANOVA did not demonstrate significant differences between lighting conditions and age groups because of large individual differences regardless of age. Another reason for the lack of significant differences in the ANOVA might be the constant contrast, which is a major depth clue between lighted and shaded areas. Measuring the contrast between lighted and shaded areas using a luminance meter indicated a high, nearly constant contrast of approximately 0.99, when the target was irradiated by local lighting in the darkroom, regardless of the illumination levels or the wavelength of the light. Although this experiment was conducted in a darkroom, the actual inspection of railway stock is conducted using handy lights under dim lighting conditions. The contrast between the irradiated area and the shaded area using local lighting under dim lighting conditions change considerably depending on the illumination level. Therefore, it is necessary to conduct an experiment under conditions that are similar to the actual working environment of railway stock inspectors. Nevertheless, the reasons for large individual differences in task performance regardless of age cannot be explained by this experiment.

5 Conclusions

Changes in the fine depth discrimination ability based on lighting conditions and the effects of changes in visual functions with age were examined because it had been reported that visibility of workers especially in their 50s is reduced when the lighting source that is used for the inspection and repair railway stock was changed from incandescent bulbs to LED lights. Nevertheless, the results of an ANOVA did not show a significant effect of illumination or age differences on depth discrimination ability, although there was a large individual difference. It is suggested that future experiments should be conducted under conditions that are closer to the actual environment of inspection. Moreover, visual functions should be investigated in detail to develop a safer working environment.

References

- Pokorny, J., Smith, V.C., Lutze, M.: Aging of the human lens. Appl. Opt. 26(8), 1937–1940 (1987)
- International Commission on Illumination (CIE). A Computerized Approach to Transmission and Absorption Characteristics of the Human Eye. CIE 203:2012 incl. Erratum 1, Vienna, Austria (2012)
- Yano, T., Kanaya, S., Ichikawa, K.: The effect of correlated color temperature on discomfort glare for the aged. J. Illum. Eng. Inst. Jpn. 77(6), 296–303 (1993). (in Japanese)
- Okajima, K., Iwata, M.: Simulation of light efficiency for aged people and data-analysis of an optimal illuminance with aging models of the human lens. J. Illum. Eng. Inst. Jpn. 82(8), 564– 572 (1998). (in Japanese)
- Iwata, M., Okajima, K.: Change in visual contrast sensitivity with age depends on illuminance level. J. Illum. Eng. Inst. Jpn. 85(5), 352–359 (2001). (in Japanese)



Investigating the Differences in Privacy News Based on Grounded Theory

Qingxiao Zheng and Masooda Bashir^(⊠)

School of Information Sciences, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Champaign, IL, USA {qzhengl4,mnb}@illinois.edu

Abstract. The current study explores how privacy is covered in the news in two different cultural contexts, by summarizing both an issue framework and a subject diagram utilizing privacy dialogues in the news coverages. Data was collected through Google and Baidu, most commonly used engines in the US and China through 2016 to 2019. Adopting a qualitative method based on the Grounded Theory, 400 news samples were coded following theoretical sampling procedure and reached a theoretical saturation. Our analyses yielded three main topics namely technology, data collection and use, and privacy law making and eight subtopics in the US and China that were framed differently in distrust aspect, and significantly different in reporting perspectives. We also found that subjects covered in privacy news were mainly related to legal topics. And a common ground was identified in the data protecting aspect for both users and data collectors.

Keywords: Privacy \cdot News \cdot Cultural differences \cdot Topic framing \cdot Qualitative method

1 Introduction

The whole world is engaged in an ongoing dialogue around privacy. In recent years, the intensive use of technology in various aspects of human social activities as well as the easy accessibility to data collection and user information have both heighten people's awareness and concern for privacy issues [1]. The emergence of smart devices mostly depends on people to provide their personal data. Studies showed that people are concerned more about their privacy and are aware of their associated risks with data collection [2].

Since the application of the new European General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in May 2018, the debate about online privacy has increased. Although many countries around the world have a common understanding on protecting personal privacy, the interpretation and legal applicability of privacy vary. Some countries have chosen to make privacy a fundamental right, while others have chosen to incorporate it into other constitutional doctrines. There are still some countries that have yet to adopt any privacy protections. Those differences' implications for organizations, individuals and international business are enormous, and these differences significantly add complexity to privacy protection. Under such a context, questions arise as what could be perceived as privacy when privacy is perceived differently across countries [3, 4].

An established way to assess the above-mentioned dialogue around privacy issues as well as the proposed different context of understanding privacy is by analyzing the media coverage. The coverage of media content could be seemed as both "reflecting" and "shaping" the public discourse [5, 6]. News reporting could influence the public understanding and attitude in mainly two aspects. On one hand, by reporting on specific topics, it shapes the audiences what issues should be viewed as important and relevant to them, which is Agenda Setting. On the other hand, by highlighting certain aspects of a topic, the media could reflect the understanding or value behind the discussed social problem, which is Issue Framing. The outlet of media could represent the general public by integrating voices and standpoints of people from all trades: policy makers, citizens, the majority and the minority, groups and organizations, key opinion leaders and whoever that are engaged in a specific topic or issue.

Previous studies on privacy issues between cultures largely emphasized on perceptions and behaviors [7, 8] and scholars discussed privacy conflicts caused under different cultural contexts mostly at individual level. Some scholars studied privacy between different cultural contexts in a higher governmental level. For example, among them are Binbin Chen [9] and Taewoo Nam [10] who examined the relationships between surveillance acceptability and various factors. Some researchers looked deeper into the law and regulation domain, to see whether people's understanding is in accordance with what are being recorded in law and regulation and thus further enhance the law, regulation and policy making [11, 12]. A few of the researchers looked into the fundamental aspect of differences of privacy understandings caused by cultural values [13], but few of them reads into empirical cases in evaluating the understand and values.

To explore understandings on privacy in different cultural contexts, by adopting a qualitative method, the current study analyzes the issue framing outline between two different countries: The U.S and China, by studying the media coverage during the time period of the year 2016 to the year 2019. The dominant research question guiding the current study is as followed:

RQ: Does different cultural contexts, such as the U.S. and China, influence what people read about privacy issues through their respective popular media coverage?

2 Background

Grounded Theory (GT) originated in sociology studies and is now being adopted as a common alternative method to qualitative method to study social topics. It is a systematic methodology in the social sciences involving the construction of theories through methodical gathering and analysis of data [16]. The use of grounded theory offers an enriching way to think about a proposed social context, e.g., it was used to discover the meaning of spirituality in cancer patient to show how their beliefs influence their attitude towards cancer treatments. Such qualitative analysis presented by the grounded theory is known by looking at the phenomena following the procedures of "codification process" and "theoretical sampling", and it is deemed to be examine method to think about the "social realities" [17]. The research guiding by GT often presents some well-built categories to form a theoretical structure that could explain some relevant phenomena. Thus,

GT categorization method provides more than descriptive research because it involves the extraction of concepts, the building of categories, the extraction of dimensions and properties as well as their inter-relationships.

The media coverage of any topic can both "reflecting" and "shaping" the public discourse [5, 6]. News content is an important asset to understand what stories are happening and what topics the public is looking at. In recent years, privacy news was reported with stories in many scenarios. For instances, big data makes people aware of privacy, Chinese enterprises overseas businesses failed because of privacy, current law and regulation system could not provide sufficient support for privacy protections in China. Analysis of news data could help to understand what privacy news were reported and what topics of privacy news tend to capture people's attention.

Though privacy has been proposed as one of the most fundamental human right worldwide, the development of privacy protection in China is at least 10 years behind that of the western countries such as the U.S [14]. In western society, the academic discussed about the right of privacy since Warren and Brandeis identifies privacy as "right to be left alone" in 1890 and the definitions about privacy have been interpreted in different perspectives [15]. The western dialogue of privacy has significantly affected the discourse of privacy related topics in China. From 1990s, a few scholars in China in began such discussion of that in western country 100 years ago, and those Chinese scholars developed some definitions of privacy based on the discussions outside of China [14]. To look back into the history of privacy, it is not difficult to foresee some challenges brought along with the localization of both privacy and privacy laws for China. Previous Chinese scholar pointed out that differences between China and the West in privacy lies in (a) legal aspect, that China recognize privacy as a right related to civil code instead of constitutional right; and (b) Chinese concepts of privacy are articulated on the purpose of "promoting social harmony" which is significantly from the western system that is based on "human rights and freedoms" [12]. As noted by previous researcher, "there are ways of protecting personal data that might not be fully applicable in China and we have new cases, new scenarios but we don't have all the answers yet" [14].

3 Method

The current study adopted random sampling method. Data of privacy news pieces were collected from google.com (for the U.S. news) and baidu.com (for the Chinese news). Keywords "privacy" and "yinsi" were used. Date period were set from 1st Jan 2016–31th Nov 2019. The selection was based on the "relevance" result from the search engine. For each search results, sort by relevance and select the top 10 pieces of news in the front page. If there by any chance have repeated news, delete them and keep one piece of news with same content only.

In total, 469 samples were collected from Google for the U.S news pieces and 470 were collected from Baidu for the Chinese new from 2016–2019. Traditional U.S media includes such as Financial Times, Forbes, Chicago tribune, The Wall Street Journal, The Washington Post, The New York Times; while the online media covers sources of ABC News, CNN, CBS, USA Today, NPR, NBC News, Business Insider and so on. For Traditional Chinese news media, sources cover Renmin Daily, Beijing

Daily, Jurisprudence Daily, The Procuratorate Daily, China Education Newspaper and such; while the online sources contain Caijing.com, 21CN tech, IT168.com, global daily, cctv.com and such.

Based on the grounded theory theoretical sampling procedures, the authors started conceptualization and extracted key concepts from the news and summarize each piece of news into a short sentence or phrase. According to "theoretical saturation appearance" and the evidences building framework, the samples will become more and more selective along with the coding process [16]. Theoretical integration was conducted by categorizing concepts into sub-topics through further coding and topics through theoretical sampling, see Table 1. During the final validation processes, the authors conducted validation analysis to see whether there remains conflicting points, unnecessary categories or instauration. The theoretical sampling stops when it reaches to saturation, which means no more new concepts appeared in this process.

Representative sentences from news	Concepts	Semi-topics	Topics
"Have sadly fallen behind the law s of	Privacy anxiety on	Expectation	Privacy
many other countries" in the face of	technological	of privacy	laws
rapid technological advancements	advancements	laws	
Privacy legislation has hit some	Hard to make	Establishing	
speed bumps and whether	consensus on	privacy laws	
individuals should be allowed to sue	legislation		
companies for alleged violations			
proposed legislation he said	New bill with		
would bring meaningful punishments	meaningful		
for companies that violate people's	punishment		
data privacy, including larger fines			
and potential jail time for CEOs			
People can't trust companies—	Distrust of	Distrust of	Data
whether it's a private or public	companies	data	collection
company or a government		collectors	and use
This also means keeping only the	Collecting only	Proper data	
data that your organization needs	the data needed	collection	
and deleting the rest			
Canadians have growing concerns	Distrust on corps	Distrust on	
about the use and exploitation of their	and govs data use	data	
personal information by both		collectors	
government and private businesses			
Amazon is cracking down on third-	Third-party apps	Data misuse	
party apps that accessed customer	data misuse		
information and are in violation of its			
policies			
Google has released a compilation of	Operating system	Privacy risks	Technology
in-depth research on vulnerabilities in	flaw	of technology	
Apple's iPhone operating system			

Table 1. Samples of coding results from the U.S news.

4 Results

Our results show that there are three main topics that were being covered by news media as shown in Fig. 1 - the triangle diagram of privacy involving subjects: (1) legislators protect the privacy of users by restricting data collectors (including companies, third-parties, and government and etc.) through legal processes, this overall shows the relationship between lawmaker and user and data collectors; (2) data collectors provide users with technical services while collecting users' data, showing the relationship between data collectors and users. Based on this, this article constructs a structure diagram of subjects and relationships through privacy news.

Figure 2 illustrates the framework for privacy news topics in two countries. Technology, Privacy Laws and Data Collection and Use are the three common topics in both the two countries. In sub-topics, while Chinese coverage reveals distrust for companies, the U.S dialogue involves distrust both for companies and the government, it could be an evidence of the America's "libertarian press traditions" contrasting to China's "paternalistic approach" [11]. In general, the overall coverage is not significantly different, but many differences can still be found in the concept forming process. Whether it is future technology development, economic globalization, or better communication between countries, understanding of the three privacy-related subjects (user, lawmakers, data collectors) in different regions can play an important role.



Fig. 1. Interconnections between subjects in news coverages

Technology protects privacy	Technology	Technology protects privacy Privacy risks of technology
Distrust of companies	Data Collection & Use	Distrust of data collecton Proper data collection Data misuse
Information disclosure Creating privacy laws Expectation of privacy laws CN	Privacy Laws	Information disclosure Creating privacy laws Expectation of privacy laws US

Fig. 2. Framework for Privacy Topics and Sub-topics in the U.S and China

5 Discussion

Data Protection Awareness and Public Trust. The perspectives chosen in the news converging vary: (1) The U.S news reports pays more attention to corporates' misuse of information, information leakage, and unnecessary information acquisition and storage. Meanwhile Chinese reports reflect the weaker awareness of privacy protection among the public, and when it comes to law making, most articles reposting from overseas media. (2) In a physical domain, Chinese media pay heavy attention to both the invasion of privacy about data and about individuals' personal lives; while the majority

of U.S reports emphasizing on the online privacy data protection. For online data protection, US users seem to be using Encryption software, Anonymizers, System Cleaners and such system as an opt-out to help them avoid online privacy violations. Since China does not have an organization to conduct privacy education, most people do not know how to protect their online privacy [11]. (3) When it comes to legislation level, the U.S media's report on regulations is triple than that of the Chinese media and seeing from the media content, the legislation process being discussed show relatively weak completeness in China to that of the U.S. However, the speed of legislation is relatively faster and more direct in China, contrasting to the U.S which needs to balance the interests of all parties and is difficult to reach an agreement. A key difference is that in the U.S, the judiciary is an independent entity, while in China, the courts are subsidiary bodies of the ruling government [11]. (4) The tendency of showing distrust to data collectors is more significant in the U.S than that of China, which also shows that people pay more attention to privacy protection.

Common Ground for Data Legislation and Regulations. (1) Users call for data protection. Semi-topics in Fig. 2 further shows the relationship between privacy topics. Users use data collector's technology but at the same time they are worried about the privacy risks caused by the technology. Especially in US news reports, many users have revealed *distrust feelings* for data collectors, sometimes the destruct feeling comes from the government, and the US users look forward to enhancing Law and regulation to protect privacy. In China, the privacy law is relatively inadequate, contents show privacy-related policies and regulations are being gradually introduced, while US privacy laws are relatively more developed, but the interests of multiple parties need to be balanced in the process of law formulation, so it often appears circumstances in which opinions are not unified and laws cannot be passed. (2) Data collectors call for clear data policy. Data collectors are also advocating for the enhancements of privacy laws. They are both subject being restricted by regulations meanwhile beneficiaries from policies and regulations. With clear legal regulations, they could avoid high fines caused by violations and could also clarify the future business direction of development. Data collectors in the U.S also seem to have a certain influence in the process of law making and strive to campaign for policy trends that are beneficial to their own interests.

Cultural Shocks in Different Privacy Spheres. The public interpretation of the concept of privacy is different in the two countries, relating to different cultural contexts. The specific requirements of privacy laws and policies in different countries are different; data collectors have different implementation of privacy protections and related regulations. (1) *Culture-Shock in Physical Sphere.* The need for privacy is different from one culture to another and some culture need more or different kinds of privacy than the other [18]. For example, when Chinese tourists were taking pictures in Australia, and enjoying the scenery abroad while taking pictures of foreign kids in a beach, the local people got annoyed because they consider it as a privacy invasion to their children. (2) *Culture-Shock in Digital Sphere.* Another example of this phoneme is the case of Tick Tik which is a very popular app in China. When the company was expanding its overseas business landscapes, it failed dramatically, it was sued for

privacy infringement in overseas markets and got banned in Australia, EU. In such a case, the privacy concerns played a crucial role.

6 Conclusion

This study is a cornerstone in providing an in-depth analysis to the privacy values due to cultural differences by creating both an issue framework and a subject diagram in the news coverages from two different countries. It would help people in the legislative sectors, business, researcher and individual to form a basic logic flow in seeking information for privacy through the news media content. For example, what kinds of perspectives people could have under different cultural contexts? When legislative department are making future policies learning from a different culture, they could refer to the perspectives that need to scrutinize; industry businessman could equip with basic knowledge even from online outline to avoid making further mistakes and expanding overseas business in a way fitting the cultural contexts. Researchers could refer to this ground-based study to further amplified the result while individuals could seek changes based on the proposed topic framework. It is suggested for future researchers to look at the topics being proposed with the progress with the legislation process, to consider the influence of media dialogue on the policy making process and evaluate the in influence of agenda setting in such cross-cultural context-for example, are there any unnecessary or misleading policy making emphasis that is being caused by the media coverage which might have cost time and energy but have little influence?

References

- 1. Mamonov, S., Benbunan-Fich, R.: An empirical investigation of privacy breach perceptions among smartphone application users. Comput. Hum. Behav. 49, 427 (2015)
- European Commission: Data protection report. https://ec.europa.eu/commfrontoffice/ publicopinion/archives/ebs/ebs_431_en.pdf
- 3. Krasnova, H., Veltri, N.F., Günther, O.: Self-disclosure and privacy calculus on social networking sites: the role of culture. Bus. Inf. Syst. Eng. 4(3), 127–135 (2012)
- Markos, E., Milne, G.R., Peltier, J.W.: Information sensitivity and willingness to provide continua: a comparative privacy study of the United States and Brazil. J. Public Policy Mark. 36(1), 79–96 (2017)
- 5. McCombs, M.: Agenda setting function of mass media. Public Rel. Rev. 3(4), 89–95 (1977)
- Scheufele, D.A., Tewksbury, D.: Framing, agenda setting, and priming: the evolution of three media effects models. J. Commun. 57(1), 9–20 (2007)
- Bellman, S., Johnson, E.J., Kobrin, S.J., Lohse, G.L.: International differences in information privacy concerns: a global survey of consumers. Inf. Soc. 20(5), 313–324 (2004)
- Nemati, H., Wall, J.D., Chow, A.: Privacy coping and information-sharing behaviors in social media: a comparison of Chinese and US users. J. Global Inf. Technol. Manag. 17(4), 228–249 (2014)
- 9. Chen, B.: The international comparison and reference of privacy protection and the legislations on credit-investigation. J. Bus. Tech. (2009)

- 10. Nam, T.: What determines the acceptance of government surveillance? Examining the influence of information privacy correlates. Soc. Sci. J. **56**(4), 530 (2019)
- 11. Wu, Y., Lau, T., Atkin, D.J., Lin, C.A.: A comparative study of online privacy regulations in the US and China. Telecommun. Policy **35**(7), 603–616 (2011)
- 12. Wang, T.: China and US students' agreement on what's sensitive data, contribute to the law and regulations adjustment. Int. J. Commun. (2011)
- Farrall, K.N.: Global privacy in flux: illuminating privacy across cultures in China and the US. Int. J. Commun. 2, 38 (2008)
- 14. Jing, C.: Protecting the right to privacy in China. Victoria U. Wellington Rev. 36 (2005)
- 15. Brandeis, L., Warren, S.: The right to privacy. Harvard Law Rev. 4(5), 193-220 (1890)
- Acun, V., Yilmazer, S.: A grounded theory approach to investigate the perceived soundscape of open-plan offices. Appl. Acoust. 131, 28–37 (2018)
- Roman, D.J., Osinski, M., Erdmann, R.H.: The construction process of grounded theory in administration. Account. Administ. 62(3), 985–1000 (2017)
- Gharaei, F.M.N., Rafieian, M., Jalalkamali, N.: Investigating cross-cultural differences in the privacy regulation and perception of crowding: Northern and Yazdi women in Iran. Procedia-Soc. Behav. Sci. 50, 69–78 (2012)



Creating a Design-Led Guideline on Cultural Heritage for a New Concept of Korean Tea House in Overseas Market

Yujin Joung^(🖂)

Shanghai Jiao Tong University, 800 Dongchuan Road, Shanghai, China maytel@naver.com

Abstract. Unlike the strong global café culture, the tea industry still suffers from an ageing user base and has failed to engage younger consumers due to a lack of experience and differentiation of tea products or services. However, considering the current trend of 'health and wellness', tea could have a good market opportunity to overcome its lack of strong penetration, by promoting its health benefits. Korean tea and its associated culture can in particular provide both physical and mental health benefits. Therefore, it is necessary to consider how tea houses can create the right strategies to satisfy customers. This research paper identifies the value of 'experience' design and cultural heritage as well as customers' demands regarding the experience of a tea house.

Keywords: Experience design \cdot Cultural heritage \cdot Korean tea house \cdot Healthy lifestyle trends \cdot Food service category \cdot Branding

1 Introduction

Coffee shops are bringing almost all generations, including younger consumers, into the coffee category, and inducing them to choose quality coffee rather than instant. Sitting down in a coffee shop, trendily decorated and surrounded by other brandconscious people, is not just about the coffee, it is an experience. On the other hand, despite the health benefits, tea in particular suffers from an ageing user base and failed to engage consumers, especially younger consumers due to lack of experience, differentiation and clear concept of tea products or services. Although British afternoon tea has gained popularity, the average users are business people, wealthy people or tourists, as popular afternoon teas are normally served in expensive hotels. This trend shows that today's consumers are increasingly willing to pay more for new, interesting, quality beverages and desserts for a pleasurable experience. And a good experience, something that is memorable, meaningful or pleasurable, can increase the value of a company in people's minds and enable the customer to personally appreciate their relationship with a company, even beyond their expectations [1].

In addition to the general health benefits of tea, Korean teas have been used largely for medicinal purposes before they have gained popularity as a daily beverage. There are four types of traditional teas in Korea: green tea, medicinal herb tea, fruit-based tea, and grain-based tea. Each type of tea has its own characteristics, including a different
taste and differing health benefits. The warmth and pleasant aromas of traditional Korean tea is more than just a beverage to Koreans and it give people feelings of contentment and happiness, in part by clearing the mind. This explains why Korean tea history is uniquely based on profound philosophy [2]. Stewart-Allen asserted that when a company's brand is infused with heritage, it can provide leverage for that brand, especially in the global market [3]. Therefore, branding and design will be very important, as they can transform problems into opportunities and translate routines and procedures into value-adding creative processes [4]. To improve the current situation with a new strategy efficiently, I believe that there is potential to take better advantage of the niche of Korean tea and culture in a way that can provide both physical and mental health benefits, considering the consumer needs. Therefore, the idea of Korean tea houses will be analysed and compared with other tea houses that have strong brand identity in order to create a healthier lifestyle as well as to improve awareness of the health benefits of tea and Korean culture.

2 Literature Review

2.1 Experiential Design, Cultural Heritage and Branding

Great experiences are the result of deep thought and deliberation, not just an accident. Customer experience is influenced by all of the touchpoints within a company; most touchpoints are designed for products, environments, communications and services. Physical objects are considered the most tangible outcomes of design, but their primary function is to engage people in an experience [2]. In this sense, aesthetic is very important as it provides an emotional experience based on form, style or sculptural content: these characteristics have led designers to design products that are more appropriate to the experiences demanded of consumers [5].

The word "cultural heritage" can be defined as the entire corpus of material signs either artistic or symbolic - handed on by the past to each culture and, therefore, to the whole of humankind. As a constituent part of the affirmation and enrichment of cultural identities, and as a legacy belonging to all humankind, cultural heritage gives each particular culture its recognizable features and is the storehouse of human experience. [6]. From a strategic point of view relating to branding, Stewart-Allen observed that when a company's brand is infused with heritage, it can provide leverage for that brand, especially in the global market. Brand heritage is one of major elements that can help clarify, enrich, and differentiate an identity [7].

2.2 Han Style (Korean Style) and Design-Led Branding Model

The Han style refers to the source of Korean culture representing and symbolizing Korea, encompassing the branding of Korean traditional cultures which can be commercialised, globalised, and used in everyday life [8]. By nurturing Korean products and providing a deeper understanding of Korean language, lifestyle and traditional culture, the Korean government also expects Han style to add value and enhance the national image.



Fig. 1. Han style: design-led branding model from design research 2

In order to create a design-led branding model based on Korean heritage for strengthening brand identity of Korean restaurants in overseas market, the 'Hanstyle' design-led branding model (Fig. 1) was developed by Yujin Joung (2011) during Design Research Project 2 in London. The model combines the development of the Korean restaurant brand strategy and touchpoints based on the 'Han style' concept. The new Korean restaurant experience is divided into five categories and each closely connected to the others. This model has demonstrated that Korean restaurants in overseas market could build a strong brand identity and image through better experience design and Korean heritage. By designing each experience area, Korean restaurants in overseas market can differentiate themselves from others and build strong identity by providing higher emotional satisfaction to customers.

3 Research Methods and Analysis of Findings

3.1 Observation

Observation was conducted as a direct way to explore the best Korean tea houses in South Korea, and to investigate a potential strategy regarding Korean food/beverage and Han style. As a structure observation, the 2019 Korean food/beverage & tourism expo and the three tea houses were observed with design measurement criteria. The three tea houses: Osulloc, Tea Therapy and The Lounge, were selected because they have a great reputation amongst Koreans and foreign visitors for their tea and dessert, service, communication and environment, which are some of the most important factors in tea house business success (Table 1).

The famous Korean tea houses in Korea	Segment	Location	Design audit
2019 Korean food/beverage & Tourism Expo Visited on 9 th May 2019	Korean food, beverage Korean tea/tableware Korean style packaging	AT Centre, Seoul, South Korea	'Design Audit' (wheeler 2006)
Osulloc Visited on 14 th June & 25 st June 2019 Tea Therapy	Korean tea house Korean tea shop Korean tea museum Korean tea house	Seoul & Jeju island, South Korea Seoul, South	-
Visited on 24 th June 2019	Oriental medical clinic	Korea	
The Lounge Visited on 2 nd July 2019	Hotel lounge/bar which serves stylish Korean dessert and tea	Park Hyatt Seoul, South Korea	

Table 1. Details of observation.

Key Points from Observations of the Three Korean Tea Houses

- 1. Creative menus and healthy ingredients: the menus and menu items of the three Korean tea places reflect the current trends to gain the competitive edge in the tea house industry. They highlight the quality and healthy aspects of Korean tea and dessert and provide a certain type of specialised Korean tea and dessert with a creative modern flair, rather than just traditional teas.
- 2. Design and Korean heritage: the tea houses provide a fashionable tea drinking experience based on Korean heritage. All three tea places focused on creating unique environments and experiences with memorable and unique colour, texture, scale, light, sound, smell, and comfort, as these elements manage consumers' perception and inspire them to come back again.
- 3. Consistent communication: since the target group of the three Korean tea places is both Koreans and foreigners, they put great attention in delivering consistent and clear communication of their brand message through menu design and content, logos, pamphlets, packaging and narratives on the website.

3.2 Case Studies

Five case studies were used. Three case studies: Jugetsudo, The Tao of Tea and Café Mo, were chosen based on the results of the literature review, in order to investigate good practices in tea house branding. The other two case studies, Chuan Spa and Chaum, were conducted to investigate good use of therapy treatments in modern society. Detailed information was gathered from published electronic data, newspapers, websites and magazines (Table 2).

Successful tea house	Segment	Location	Analysis	
Jegetsudo The Tao of Tea Café Mo	jetsudo Japanese tea house, Tea shop Paris, F e Tao of Tea Chinese tea house, Tea shop Portlan fé Mo Moroccan tea house Londor		Brand descrip- tion and Design	
Therapy places Chuan Spa Chaum	Segment Chinese spa & medicine treatments Stem cell therapy, Spa, Food & Tea therapy and fitness	Location London, UK Seoul, Korea	strategy by applying Han style design- branding model (Yujin 2011)	

 Table 2.
 Details of case studies.

Key Points from Three Case Studies - Tea Houses

- 1. From the development stage, these three tea houses have worked closely with design professionals and aimed for design, quality and atmosphere for long-term success. Their efforts in design proved that design with an edge provides more PR value than advertisements can buy.
- 2. Each tea house used its own cultural heritage when designing brand identity and creating touchpoints in order to provide unique experiences.
- 3. Each tea house provides various authentic menu options for targeting a local audience. Teas/desserts are served with a modern and traditional flair and have maintained authentic taste.
- 4. The tea houses have built an emotional connection with customers by providing an impressive and authentic experience through consistent and clear communication and the multi-sensory aspects of each tea house's environment.

Key Points from Two Case Studies - Therapy Centres

- 1. From the first development stage, design professionals have been involved closely to build a strong brand identity and to engage all five senses of the customers. Both places have created aesthetically pleasing spaces that foster relaxation through design elements in order to provide a unique experience to customers and make emotional connections with them.
- 2. By providing various and customised therapy programs, both therapy places help today's hectic and time-pressured customers to sooth their minds, restore vitality and adopt healthier lifestyles.
- 3. The facilities offered include personalised consultation and customised treatments by qualified experts such as medical professionals, spa specialists and nutritionists.
- 4. With the purpose of boosting the immune system, both places provide tea therapy programmes designed by experts.

4 Discussion

From the case studies and observations, it has been seen that those tea houses and therapy places gained the popularity by designing overall experiences based on the effective use of visual and verbal expression as well as sensory appeals. Today's consumers take functional features, benefits, and product quality as a given. They want products, communications and campaigns that fascinate their senses, touch their hearts and stimulate their minds [9]. Therefore, to truly influence consumers' purchasedecision making, emotion needs to be situated at the heart of the strategy by appealing to consumers' five senses. Since eating and drinking is a sensual experience and is imbued with special meanings in many cultures [10]. Korean tea houses should go beyond basic functionality and provide higher level of emotional consumer satisfaction. With regard to this aspect, design can be the basis for energising consumers' hearts, minds, and souls [11]. Therefore, every customer contact needs to be designed from the customer's perspective in order to give customers a sense of discovery, a memorable experience and a clearly defined brand story [12]. During the research, it has been discovered that the stages of the relationship and buying interaction between a customer and a tea house brand can be divided into three: pre-experience, experience and post-experience. The matching or even exceeding of customers' expectations along their customer journey is significant in how that customer satisfaction and needs are met needs to be constantly designed and measured. While keeping in touch with the increasing demands of customers, and harmonising the spirit of the brand, brand details need to be designed with differentiation and individuality [5]. Therefore, the experience at a Korean tea house should be designed by harmonising all the elements of brand identity throughout all experiences in order to resonate with customers, differentiate itself from competitors and provide memorable experiences. In addition, it is identified that the successful tea houses from the case studies and observations leveraged the culture, history and identity of their homelands to create distinctive brand experiences that are contemporary as well as uniquely inspired by their own culture [13]. Therefore, using cultural heritage can play a crucial role for Korean tea houses in creating a unique and specific identity of a brand and making a memorable experience.

5 Conclusion and Recommendation

The findings have demonstrated that Korean tea houses in overseas market could achieve a high level of consumer awareness and perception through better experience design and a strong brand identity based on Korean heritage. The research has shown that experience design needs to be used more actively in each experience category: product, environment, communication, and service in order to create a better tea house experience. While closely connecting the core four categories of experience as shown on the Fig. 2, it is crucial to understand customers first, as experiences should be designed based on their lifestyles and demands. Allen & Simmons emphasised that any company, product or service will make little progress if it cannot show what it is about and how it is different [14]. The use of cultural heritage can help the brand to differentiate itself from others, with its own unique brand story based on Korean culture,

history and identity. In this regard, the Korean tea house brand strategy model was created as a 'total chain of experience' – by developing a visual and verbal identity with coherency and consistency in order to add distinctive value at every stage of the experience, and by leveraging the five senses across every possible touchpoint from the pre-tea experience to the post-tea experience, in order to provide higher emotional satisfaction for customers.

By integrating all the findings, the Korean tea therapy house design-led branding model was created based on the brand strategy model, in order to establish a new vision of a Korean tea house for the twenty-first century and to provide a new guideline for a new concept of Korean tea houses in overseas market. The tea house is reinvented from the typical tea house to a multi-purpose place where people want to visit as part of their healthier lives. The new tea house would adopt a tea therapeutic area and offer various quality options from the tea room and store, tea ceremony and meditation, tea classes and exhibitions, tea clinic and tea spa. All these five spaces provide customer-centric services by qualified professionals and deliver a desirable customer experience in an emotionally profound way with rich sensory pleasure through experience design and 'Han style' (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. The korean tea therapy house design-led branding model (left) based on the korean tea house brand strategy model (right)

References

- 1. LaSalle, D., Britton, T.A.: Priceless: Turning Ordinary Products into Extraordinary Experiences. Harvard Business School Press, Boston (2003)
- Kim, Y.H.: Tea Renaissance. Invest Korean Journal (2008). http://www.investkorea.org/ InvestKoreaWar/work/journal/content/content_main.jsp?code=4570408. Accessed 04 Nov 2019
- 3. Stewart, A.: Heritage branding helps in global markets. Mark. News 36(16), 6 (2002)
- 4. Best, K.: The Fundamentals of Design Management. Ava, London (2006)

- 5. Buxton, B.: Experience Design vs Interface Design, pp. 47–49. Rotman Magazine, Toronto (2005)
- UNESCO: Draft Medium Term Plan 1990–1995 (1989). http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/ 0008/000840/084095eo.pdf. Accessed 04 Sept 2019
- 7. Aaker, D.A., Joachimsthaler, E.: Brand Leadership. Simon & Schuster, New York (2007)
- 8. The Ministry of Culture Sports and Tourism: Hanstyle (2010) http://www.han-style.com/ english/hanstyle/strategy.jsp. Accessed 03 Dec 2019
- 9. Schmitt, B.H.: Experiential Marketing. Free Press, New York (1999)
- 10. Murray, G., Peyton, H.: Fabulous Food Shops. Wiley, Chichester (2005)
- 11. Gobe, M.: Emotional Branding. Allworth Press, New York (2001)
- 12. Reed, C.: Feelings You Can't Ignore. Brandhouse (2011) http://www.brandhouse.co.uk/ article/feelings-you-can-039t-ignore-0. Accessed 06 Aug 2019
- 13. Clifton, R., Simmons, J.: Brands and Branding. Profile, London (2003)
- 14. Allen, T., Simmons, J.: Visual and Verbal Identity in Brands and Branding. Bloomberg Press, New York (2003)



Positive Emotions of Human Service Employees

Noriko Okabe⁽⁾

Center for Economic Growth Strategy, Graduate School of International Social Science, Yokohama National University, 79-4, Tokiwadai, Hodogaya-Ku, Yokohama 240-8501, Japan okabenoriko9@gmail.com

Abstract. While the role of customer service employees is important as they can add value to the products and services in an organization, information technology (IT), artificial intelligence (AI), and automated machines may be more productive than employees. Thus, employees may perceive role conflict. According to previous studies, the perception of role conflict by employees reduces trust in organizations and task performance. This study shows that positive emotion, such as the affective delivery of customer service employees, serves a buffering function and provides a useful antidote in the workplace. Conversely, negative emotion, such as emotional exhaustion due to role conflict, devastates the intrinsic motivation of employees.

Keywords: Positive emotion \cdot Airline \cdot Human service employees \cdot Trust role conflict

1 Introduction

The service sector accounted for over 70% of total employment and value added in OECD economies (OECD, 2005). In the United States, 108.5 million people (71% of all nonfarm payroll employees) worked in the private service-providing industries as of December 2019, according to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Among the major service-industry sectors, the largest number of people were employed in trade, transportation, and utilities (27.9 million workers), followed by education and health service (24.5 million), professional and business service (21.6 million), and leisure and hospitality (16.9 million).

In recent years, there has been a tendency for information technology (IT), artificial intelligence (AI), and automated machines to substitute jobs previously performed by human service employees in airlines. While the role of customer service employees is very important as they can add value to the products and services of airlines, IT, AI, and automated machines may be perceived to outperform and be more productive than human service employees. Therefore, employees might perceive role conflict in the workplace.

In this article, the author explores how positive emotion and negative emotion of customer service employees play the role of mediator or moderator, and, whether mediate or moderate the decreasing propensity of trust due to role conflict in the workplace.

2 Literature Review and Hypotheses Construction

2.1 Role Theory

Role theory indicates that when expected employee behaviors are inconsistent, the employee will experience stress, dissatisfaction, and perform less effectively than if employee expectations did not conflict [1]. For example, when an organization changes its employment policy, reduces social welfare, or increases working hours, the employees perceive a role conflict. The employees may also lose trust in the organization. Ross [2] argues that the combination of corporate-driven globalization, deregulation, subcontracting, and outsourcing leads to an increase in the number of hours worked and flexible work hours, and a decline in job security and worker autonomy in a broad range of occupations and professions. Therefore, the author proposes the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 1: Role conflict is negatively associated with organizational trust.

2.2 Positive Emotion and Negative Emotion

The role of emotion in the workplace, often an implicit theme in an organization, has been a constant research objective. The interactive effects of the work context and employees' emotional state were frequently discussed as job satisfaction, intrinsic motivation, stress, and mood. Hochschild [3] argued that common expectations exist concerning the appropriate emotional reactions of individuals involved in service interactions.

"Affective delivery" is an aspect of emotional labor that is particularly required for human service employees. Service-industry professionals are required to express positive emotions, for example, a friendly attitude and a warm reception. Empirical evidence has indicated that employees' practice of affective delivery can be beneficial to an organization. These benefits include a higher level of customer satisfaction [4], better service quality evaluation [5], and improvement in customer willingness to return and recommend [6]. In this study, the affective delivery practice of human service employees was used as a positive emotional variable.

Hypothesis 2: The role conflict perceived by human service employees has a negative relationship with affective delivery.

2.3 Trust in Organizations

While trust has been widely hailed for its central role in establishing and maintaining close, cooperative, and productive relationships, damage to trust through defection and betrayal can have a devastating consequence on relationships [7].

In today's fast-paced global business environment, the effect of building trust in organizations may be easily forgotten. Conversely, trust in organizations should be fundamental in uncertain and complex environment. As reorganization and downsizing increases, employees are more likely to perceive a violation of psychological contracts. Thus, employees may have a distrust of the organization [8].

In the service organization, the affective delivery practice of human service employees provides better service to customers [9]; thus, customers are more likely to become loyal customers. The practice of affective delivery might not only improve customer buying behavior but also increase employees' confidence in the organization. Thus, the author proposes the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 3: Affective delivery practiced by service employees has a positive relationship with trust in the service organization.

2.4 Emotional Exhaustion

Emotional exhaustion refers to chronic mental and physical exhaustion due to excessive work and stress. Emotional exhaustion describes feelings of being emotionally overextended and exhausted by one's work [9]. Thus, emotional exhaustion is the affective state of the individual and the result of continuous circumstances of mental and physical effort that can occur among individuals who do "people-work" or human service employees. Human service employees who perceive role conflicts may also experience emotional exhaustion. In this study, emotional exhaustion was used as a negative emotional variable. The author proposes the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 4: Role conflict perceived by service employees has a positive relationship with emotional exhaustion.

2.5 Distrust in Organization

According to previous research focusing on personality, distrust is caused by psychological confusion [7]. For service employees who perceive emotional exhaustion at work due to excessive stress and unreasonable physical effort, the experience of emotional exhaustion might lead to a decrease in trust towards the organization. Thus, the author proposes the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 5: Emotional exhaustion perceived by service employees has a negative relationship with trust.

2.6 Moderating Effect of Affective Delivery

According to the behavioral decision theory that examines trust and distrust from the viewpoint of rational choice, in a game situation where various motivations are mixed, "trust" is a cooperative act, and "have distrust" is an uncoordinated act [7].

Furthermore, affective delivery is an employee's behavior that expresses positive emotions by facial expressions and attitudes when dealing with customers and is therefore considered to be cooperative behavior with the company. Therefore, affective delivery might moderate the tendency of role conflicts to reduce trust in an organization (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Hypothesis construction of multi mediation model

Hypothesis 6: Affective delivery moderates or mediates the negative relationship between role conflict and trust.

2.7 Moderating Effect of Emotional Exhaustion

The importance of trust in an organization is that shareholders in companies can effectively work together to achieve their goals [7]. On the other hand, employees experiencing emotional exhaustion from excessive mental and physical stress at work may have reduced trust in the company. Therefore, emotional exhaustion experienced by the employees might not moderate.

Hypothesis 7: Emotional exhaustion does not moderate or mediate the negative relationship between role conflict and trust.

3 Method

Participants. The final sample consisted of 414 flight attendants (78% female and 22% male) working for a European airline. Participants ranged in age from less than 20 years to more than 60 years, with an average of 39.9 years. Participants also ranged in tenure from less than 1 year to more than 30 years, with an average of 16.6 years.

Measures. A 5-point Likert-type questionnaire was used to test the hypotheses. The questionnaire was distributed to 500 flight attendants working for a European airline and valid responses were received from 414 (82.8%) respondents. Table 1 shows the descriptive statistics of the variables used in this study, the correlation analysis, and the reliability results by Cronbach's alpha coefficient. Then, the direct and mediating effects between variables were verified by path analysis using covariance structure analysis (SEM). In addition, the multiple hierarchical regression analysis (Table 2)

shows an interaction effect between role conflict and affective delivery (positive emotions) and other interaction effects between role conflict and emotional exhaustion (negative emotions).

4 Result

4.1 Multiple Mediation Model

As a result of correlation analysis, a negative correlation (r = -.19, p < .001) was observed between role conflict and trust. In the results of covariance structure analysis (SEM), a negative path coefficient (r = -.12, p < .001) was also observed between role conflict and trust, and hypothesis 1 that predicted the negative relation between role conflict and trust in the organization was supported. The goodness-of-fit summary of the SEM model shows CMIN/DF = 1.935, CFI = .953, GFI = .930, TLI = .945, RMSEA = .048.

	Variable	Mean	S.	α^{d}	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
			D.								
1	Gender ^a	.74	.44								
2	Tenure ^b	4.11	1.51		.12**						
3	Age ^c	3.98	.79		.02	.76***					
4	Trust	3.13	.74	.94	.21***	.21***	.12**				
5	Role Conflict	3.40	.74	.93	14***	05	02	19***			
6	Emotional Exhaustion	3.43	.87	.93	16***	03	.01	26***	.48***	.25***	
7	Affective Delivery	4.50	.53	.82	10**	.14***	.22***	04	20***	2.0***	06

Table 1. Descriptive statistics and correlations

Note: *** p < .01, **p < .05, *p < .10. N = 414.

^aGender: coded as Male = 0, Female = 1.

^bTenure: coded as = 0-5 years, 2 = 6-10 year, 3 = 11-15 years, 4 = 16-20 years, 5 = 21-25 years, 6 = 26-30 years, 7 = more than 30 years.

^cAge; coded as 1 = less than 20, 2 = 21-30, 3 = 31-40, 4 = 41-50, 5 = 51-60, 6 = more than 60 ^dReliability represents Cronbach Alpha coefficients.

Regarding hypothesis 2, the correlation analysis showed a negative correlation (r = -.20, p < .01) between role conflict and affective delivery. The results of path analysis also showed a negative path coefficient (r = -.22, p < .01), which supports the prediction of Hypothesis 2 that there is a negative relationship between role conflict and affective delivery.

For hypothesis 3, contrary to the predicted hypothesis, the correlation analysis revealed no significant correlation between affective delivery and trust. The result of the path analysis also showed no positive coefficient between affective delivery and trust (r = -.10, p < .01). Therefore, the positive direct effect between affective delivery and trust of hypothesis 3 was rejected. On the other hand, affective delivery was found to have a mediating effect between role conflict and trust.



CMIN/DF=1.935, CFI=.966, GFI=.914, TLI=.960, RMSEA=.058 Pass coefficients are described as standardized coefficients

Fig. 2. Result of the multi mediation model

Variables	В	В	В
1. Gender	.13**	.11**	.14**
2. Tenure	.20**	.18**	.10**
3. Akc	02	02	01
4. Role eunfliet	08	04	22
5. Emotional Exhaustion	20***	17***	.15
6. Affective Delivery	08*	.15	09
7. Interaction (I) : Role Conflict * Affective Delivery		55***	
8. Interaction (2) : Rule Cunflict x Emotion Exhaustion			56*
F	10.90***	36.59***	9.91***
Adjusted R ²	.126	.376	.131
ΔR^2		.250	.005

Table 2. Multiple hierarchical regression analysis for testing the effects on trust

Note: n = 414. Standardized regression coefficients are reported. ***p < .01, **p < .05, *p < .10.

As for hypothesis 4, the correlation analysis showed a significant positive correlation (r = .48, p < .01) between role conflict and emotional exhaustion. Path analysis also showed a significant positive relation (r = .52, p < .01) between role conflicts and emotional exhaustion. Therefore, hypothesis 4 was supported (Fig. 2).

As for hypothesis 5, the correlation analysis showed a significant negative correlation (r = -.26, p < .01) is observed between emotional exhaustion and trust. Path analysis also showed a significant negative relation (r = .23, p < .01) between emotional exhaustion and trust. Therefore, hypothesis 5 was supported.

4.2 Multiple Hierarchical Regression Analysis

Table 2 shows the results of the multiple hierarchical multiple regression analysis. The results indicate, when the interaction between role conflict and affective delivery was included in the multiple regression equation, an interaction was significantly observed (B = -.55, p < .01) [F (7, 406) = 36.592, p < .01, $\Delta R^2 = .250$].

Thus, regarding hypothesis 6, the interaction between affective delivery and role conflict is considered moderating the decreasing tendency of trust to a certain extent, when the perception of role conflict is low. On the other hand, if the role conflict perceived by the employees is high, the group of employees who normally use affective delivery might not be able to moderate the decreasing trend of trust. Therefore, hypothesis 6 was partially supported. Figure 3 shows two plot graphs. One shows the interaction between role conflict and affective delivery (left) and the other shows the interaction between role conflict and emotional exhaustion (right). As a result of multiple hierarchical regression analysis, when the interaction between role conflict and emotional exhaustion, a significant interaction was observed (B = -.56, p < .01) [F (1, 406) = 9.913, p < .01, $\Delta R^2 = .005$].



Fig. 3. Interaction of role conflict and affective delivery (left) and Interaction of role conflict and emotional exhaustion (right)

Regarding hypothesis 7, it is considered that an employee group with low emotional exhaustion will moderate the decreasing tendency of trust to some extent. On the other hand, the employee groups with high emotional exhaustion tended to have lower levels of trust in the organization than those with lower emotional exhaustion. If role conflict is high, it may be very difficult to repair a damaged trust in the organization. Therefore, hypothesis 7 that predicted emotional exhaustion cannot repair the decreasing trend of trust due to role conflicts was supported.

5 Discussion and Implication

IT, AI, and automated machines have been substituting jobs previously performed by employees. Employees might ask what the role of human service employees is in the organization. In this study, the author used affective delivery as a positive emotion and emotional exhaustion as a negative emotion of employees. The author examined the mechanisms by which these emotional variables mediate or moderate the decreasing trend of trust due to role conflicts in the organization.

The results of this study suggest that the human service employees' practice of affective delivery or showing positive emotion in interactions with customers can repair the decreasing trend of trust when the level of role conflicts is low. Thus, the positive emotion of employees serves a buffering function and provides a useful antidote in the organization. Conversely, it is difficult for the employees who perceived emotional exhaustion to repair the decreasing trend of trust in organizations when the level of role conflicts is high.

Those results imply that negative emotion due to role conflict devastates the intrinsic motivation of employees. Though the advances of technology can make aspects of human life more efficient, it also creates a contradictory situation of employment.

Acknowledgment. This work is supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number JP19K13800.

References

- 1. Rizzo, J.R., House, R.J., Lirtzman, S.I.: Role conflict and ambiguity in complex organizations. Adm. Sci. Q. 15(2), 150–163 (1970)
- Ross, A.: Nice Work If You Can Get It: Life and Labor in Precarious Times, vol. 8. NYU Press, New York (2009)
- Hochschild, A.R. The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling. University of California Press, Ltd., London (2012)
- 4. Shaw Brown, C., Sulzer-Azaroff, B.: An assessment of the relationship between customer satisfaction and service friendliness. J. Organ. Behav. Manag. 14(2), 55–76 (1994)
- Pugh, S.D.: Service with a smile: emotional contagion in the service encounter. Acad. Manag. J. 44(5), 1018–1027 (2001)
- Tsai, W.C., Huang, Y.M.: Mechanisms linking employee affective delivery and customer behavioral intentions. J. Appl. Psychol. 87(5), 1001 (2002)
- Lewicki, R.J., McAllister, D.J., Bies, R.J.: Trust and distrust: new relationships and realities. Acad. Manag. Rev. 23(3), 438–458 (1998)
- Robinson, S.L., Wolfe Morrison, E.: The development of psychological contract breach and violation: a longitudinal study. J. Organ. Behav. 21(5), 525–546 (2000)
- 9. Wright, T.A., Bonett, D.G.: The contribution of burnout to work performance. J. Organ. Behav. **18**(5), 491–499 (1997)



Analysis of the Dissemination of Chinese New Village Culture Based on "Operation Hammer" – Taking Siburan Village as an Example

Yeeman $Lau^{(\boxtimes)}$ and Zongying Tang

Journalism and Communication, School of Jinan University, Guangzhou, China lqwww@hotmial.com, zying.950415@gmail.com

Abstract. Most of the research objects are based on the new village in the West Malaysia peninsula. In order to understand the new village of East Malaysia, this article takes the village of East Malaysia as an example. It analyzes the dissemination of the village in Siburan in the background of the "Operation Hammer". This paper examines the problems that exist in the development of new villages in Sarawak, puts forward the countermeasures to solve the problem, and has a robust research significance media form facing challenges in the future development road. It is necessary to reflect and innovate this development constantly.

Keywords: Chinese new village \cdot Operation Hammer \cdot Siburan \cdot The aspect of communication

1 Introduction

This study, from the perspective of local facts, analyzes how the Chinese new village in Sarawak was born under the background of "operation hammer" to understand its history and culture, and analyzes Malaysians' cognition of the new village culture and its communication status. The Chinese new village is a place where the Chinese in Malaysia live together and has a unique meaning. These special settlements are not built by the residents themselves, but the products of special culture generated by historical events. As a new generation of Chinese Americans, they should have some understanding of the history of the new village and know how the ancestors experienced this evolution, so as to carry forward the new village culture.

1.1 New Village

"New village", as the name implies, is "new village". The new village was formed in the 1950s and is now 70 years old. It was founded in the period before Malaysia became independent. After the Malaysian communist party started its armed struggle, the British colonial government of Malaya issued a "state of emergency", restricting the contact between the Chinese in the suburbs and the Malayan communist guerrillas in the forest, bringing together the Chinese who had been scattered in the suburbs, and restricting their freedom. They had to work from 7 morning to 6 evening and return as soon as the time came. These concentrated sites later became the new Chinese village, which is now the new Chinese village. According to statistics, there are now 450 new villages in Malaysia, covering all corners, with a population of more than 1.2 million, or 20% of the total Chinese population, while Malaysians and Indians live in kampong.

1.2 Operation Hammer

Operation hammer took place in 1965 after an attack on a police station 18 miles down jing-lian road in Kuching. Hakkas living between 17 and 22 miles along Kuching jin lian road in sarawak have been affected. To deal with the communists, the government resorted to a strategy of enforced isolation – the famous "operation hammer" in Sarawak history – similar to the cage policy used in the German colonies. The villagers were herded into three new villages, initially under 48 h of martial law, then extended to 10 days, and finally permanent new villages. The villagers were confined to a restricted area surrounded by two layers of barbed wire and had to pass through a gate while being examined and questioned. Every household in the village has a household registration and is subject to population checks at anytime.

After more than ten years of control life, with the late opening of the new village control area, its economic status gradually improved and the new village began to develop. However, most of the researches on new villages in the past were focused on the historical studies during the period of new village control, and most of the research objects were also new villages in the west ma peninsula. Sarawak new village took place in the historical background of "operation hammer", gathering a large number of Chinese called Chinese new village, has its unique historical significance. It is helpful in understand the degree of Malaysians to the new village culture and the problems and solutions in the inheritance of the unique historical culture

2 Literature Review

Studies related to the new village of Sarawak are currently being carried out by Vernon I. Porritt and Yong Kee Howe. Each of them made a detailed arrangement and exploration of the "hammer action" which broke out in Sarawak in 1965 under the context of the cold war, and both of them placed the research subject in the historical context of the period before and after the control of the new village. Porritt studies to the Hammer action: 1965 sand pull the colonial force "(Operation Hammer: Enforced Resettlement in Sarawak in 1965) to discuss. The book from the second world war communism to Malaysia for the influence of the content of the core, and as the sand was founded in 1963, the federation of Malaysia, the more local the historical trace of the federation of Malaysia and Indonesia was close connection between left Sukarno regime, and then extended to the "iron hammer" ultimately in the sand, the more reasons, and later in new countryside scheme of control under local conditions [1]. Yong's research involves three new villages, focusing on the historical memory of the

events in 1965 and the subsequent period of new villages' control. In Yong's article, he mentioned the process of his interview in new village. He found that people in new village did not like to mention the memories under the different and official discussions with him, and even felt that it was sad and sad to mention that period of the past, so that the period of the past that should be hard to remember and familiar was like "silence" in new village [2]. Yong believes that the people of new village are reluctant to talk much. In addition to the improvement of the situation of new village, they choose to face the new life instead of confining themselves to the shadow of the past, but they are also limited by the fact that the people of new village still haven't come out of that period of history, but they are forced to temporarily forget it in the historical memory [3].

In recent years, Taiwanese researchers from Malaysia also selected two new villages in the Malay peninsula as case studies, and completed studies on the changes of cultural landscape in new villages [4] and social changes in new villages [5]. In GuYanqiu study, although she mentioned the new countryside in the past because of martial law relationship to form a space field monitoring and isolation, but later along with the time, when the change of social gradually moving towards industrialization, commercialization, commercial or industrial zone of the new countryside nearby, also gradually changed, and this kind of change not only exists in the new village side landscape changes, also includes population after into the impact new village. Although both of them leave behind all previous seemingly or historical studies and focus on individual new villages through in-depth interviews, they still focus on the social changes of individual new villages in their public domain.

Cai jingfen, a local researcher in Sarawak, took Dafu village, one of the three new villages in Sarawak, as a field case. Her study is also the first case study on the Chinese new village in Sarawak. In her research, she skipped the previous studies on new villages in Sarawak and considered them in the context of the left-wing movement. Instead, she began to focus on the inheritance and ritual of women's marriage in the contemporary society of Dafu village, a hakka village [6].

3 Dissemination of Chinese New Village

In previous studies, the research on Chinese new villages has mainly focused on historical reviews and economics of new villages, emphasizing how new villages are established and developed. However, the awareness and dissemination of the new village culture has rarely been mentioned and paid much attention. For the Malaysia people's cultural awareness and specific communication, I used a questionnaire survey to analyze and study. At the same time, the author uses professional data analysis software SPSS as auxiliary software to ensure the authenticity and relevance of the data obtained by the author.

This study was distributed to Malaysian Malaysians in various regions of Malaysia by filling out a questionnaire online and conducted a sample survey. A total of 438 questionnaires were received for this questionnaire, and 438 valid questionnaires.

Statistical analysis	Kind	Percentage
Sex	Female	44.29%
	Male	55.71%
Age	Under 18	8.45%
	19-28	49.54%
	29-38	10.96%
	39-48	11.64%
	49-58	12.56%
	Above 59	6.85%
Ethnic group	Chinese	97.95%
	Bidayu person	1.14%
	Iban person	0.23%
	Another	0.68%
Hometown	Mingnan	13.01%
	Chaozhou	6.39%
	Hakka	31.05%
	Guangdong	8.68%
	Others (e.g. Fuzhou, Hainan)	40.87%

 Table 1. Demographic profile of study participants.

3.1 Transmission

In order to understand the communication effect of Malaysia new village culture, the first step is to investigate the knowledge of interviewees about the new village culture and its history. The survey found that the high proportion of 84.02% indicated that Malaysians generally had no understanding of the new village culture, while the low proportion of other options indicated that their cognition and understanding of the new village culture were not comprehensive enough, and there was a bias. In addition, the survey results show that except for the elderly, a large proportion of respondents do not know about new village. Visible, Malaysia still did not pay attention to the new village, the degree of knowledge is very low. Among the 15.98% of the respondents, most of them learned about the history of "operation hammer" from the Internet and their elders or parents. From this, we can see that the oral transmission of the history from generation to generation through the elders and the Internet can be better passed on, so that the residents of the new village can have a better understanding of the history and meaning of their place of residence.

3.2 Correlation Analysis

In order to explore the relevance of the questionnaire and make the survey data more targeted, the following assumptions are made, and the results are explored through cross-analysis of independent variable dependent variables and correlation analysis of SPSS.

H1: Age is related to whether you have heard of Operation Hammer

H2: Ethnic groups are related to the degree of understanding of the origin of the new village culture

H1: Compare age to whether you've heard of operation hammer

As can be seen from Table 1, the proportion of Malaysians over 59 years old who have heard of "operation hammer" is much higher than that of other age groups, while there is still a difference between ages in other options. For example, Malaysians aged 19–28 have not heard of "operation hammer". But in order to prove the correlation between the two factors, SPSS was used. It can be seen from the table that the corresponding correlation coefficient is -0.361 and the p value is 0.00, which is less than 0.05, indicating that the data contains statistical significance and indicates that there is a negative correlation.

H2: Compare the understanding of ethnic groups and the origin of new village culture.

From Table 1, we can see that compared with other ethnic groups, Chinese got a larger proportion, which is also the only ethnic group that has a very good understanding of the new village culture. Therefore, it can be seen from the table that the corresponding correlation coefficient is 0.091 and the p value is 0.058, which is almost equal to 0.05. Therefore, it has statistical significance. That means there's a little of a positive correlation.

As the product of national history, the status and existence value of new village are unquestionable. It is very necessary to make new positioning and planning for it so that it can keep up with the pace of the times. In addition, the author believes that new village culture as a unique Chinese culture should not be forgotten by the Chinese. The new village is a product of history, so its cultural value is obvious. The establishment of the new village enriched the Chinese culture of Malaysia while promoting the spirit of unity and self-improvement. These spirits have become the cultural identity of the new village. Although the ancestors of the residents of new village also came from different places, the disasters and bad luck they experienced together prompted them to trust each other and help each other in the same boat. Therefore, the new village is a cultural symbol for the Malaysian Chinese and deserves their continued support. In today's rapidly developing society, if we want to spread the spirit of the new village culture, appropriate use of multimedia equipment, combined with the older generation to tell the history, there will be a certain effect.

4 Conclusion

This study is based on the historical background of the new village, and mainly discusses the cultural development and communication status of the new Chinese village in Malaysia through this event and region. From this study, we found that the Malaysian Chinese did not have the concept or understanding regarding the new village, let alone the culture of the new village. The author believes that the new village is the historical product of Malaysian Chinese, which needs more attention and to develop its culture.

By the time flies, the significant changes have taken place in the new village, which is not the old one. The reason for its initial establishment is gradually forgotten by the contemporary Malaysian Chinese, and the suffering of the former new village life is gradually not understood by the contemporary Malaysian Chinese. Even the residents living in the new village do not understand the cultural history of the new village, let alone the Malaysian Chinese living in the urban area. For many reasons, the new generation of Malaysian Chinese can only get historical information about the new village through history textbooks and literature books.

In Sarawak's new village, there are differences in their native places and customs, but they do not have a generation gap in language. Instead, they have cultural integration. From the initial difficulties to the present, the new village has become a unique historical product of Malaysia. Its existence is of particular significance. Its emergence is conducive to the unity of Chinese identity in Malaysia and strengthens their cohesion. With the coming of the 21st century, Malaysia is also moving towards the goal of advanced countries in 2020. Therefore, how to make good use of the existing assets of the new village is very important.

References

- 1. Porritt, V.L.: Operation Hammer: Enforced Resettlement in Sarawak in 1965, pp. 20–25. Centre for South-East Asian Studies, University of Hull (2001)
- 2. Yong, K.-H.: Silence in history and nation-state:reluctant accounts of the Cold War in Sarawak. Am. Ethnol. **33**(3), 462–473 (2006)
- Yong, K.-H.: The Hakkas of Sarawak Sacrificial Gifts in Cold War Era Malaysia, pp. 12–16. University of Toronto, Canada (2013)
- Zhou, Y.-H.: Changes in the cultural landscape of Chinese new villages in Malaysia: A study on ZengJiang new villages. Master's thesis, pp. 28–32. Department of Geography, Taiwan Normal University (2007)
- Gu, Y.-Q.: Research on the Social and Spatial Changes of Chinese Villages in Malaysia A Case Study of Gongqiao Village, pp. 4–20. Diplomatic Paper Institute of Architecture and Urban-Rural Studies. Taiwan University (2011)
- Cai, J.: "Old" Mother? "New" Mother Marriage Ceremony and Women in Hakka Community in Sarawak, Malaysia, pp. 25–28. Yuanliu Publishing, Taipei (2013)



The Reality of the Globalizing World and Shaping the Professional Identity of an Individual in the World of "Boundaryless" Careers

Agnieszka Cybal-Michalska^(⊠)

Adam Mickiewicz University, ul. Wieniawskiego 1, 61-712 Poznan, Poland agnieszka-cm@wp.pl

Abstract. Global transformations of the contemporary world, to which almost all aspects of social existence are subject, seem to be inevitable and their complexity difficult to grasp. On a micro and macro scale, new opportunities and prospects emerge, but also fears and anxieties, which are the contours of the society of the future. The qualitative specificity of new transformations in the relationship between the global and the local, society and the individual, and the links between them, is not without significance for the multi-contextual changes in the world of work, which place new demands upon employees. This vision implies definitely new ways of interpreting the world and the quality of judgments on the condition of contemporary man - including man as a "manager" of his own career. In a knowledge-based economy, which in turn makes the orientation of modern society towards knowledge a reality, the key element is the development of the careers of its members and investing in a career "portfolio". Commitment to career development is characterized by the development of personal career goals, attachment to, identification with and involvement in these goals. Changes in the world of "borderless" careers update the problem of proactive behavior of individuals pursuing their careers. The distinguishing feature of proactive career planning, management and management is the awareness of being a subject who performs actions in the desired direction and influences the surrounding reality by initiating changes. Involvement in an internally defined career may be an important source of the crystallization of the (professional) identity of a subject, which seems necessary for the development of his or her career in the world of "borderless" careers in the reality of the globalizing world. Identity is formed in the context of social and cultural influences undergoing a permanent change in reality. Identity styles determined by social-cognitive processes refer to individual preferences in the processing of information about the subjective self, in decision making, in the choice of strategy for constructing or avoiding crystallization of one's identity and the quality of career decisions in the world of "borderless careers". In a situation where no a priori career scenario guarantees success, an investment in a career identified as "owned" by an entity becomes a necessity and forces its proactive planning and management.

Keywords: Globalization \cdot Career \cdot Professional identity \cdot Boundaryless career

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 558–567, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2_74

1 Introduction

Multi-contextual social transformations, expressed in the permanent creation of contemporary society, contribute to the difficulty of grasping and unambiguously defining the factors determining it. Responsible discourse requires that attention be paid to the temporal and spatial dimension. Typically, "global" theoretical consideration refers to the complexity, heterogeneity, progressive interdependence of the world's societies and the awareness of its holistic nature. The complexity and temporal multidimensionality of the contemporary globalizing society (its ambiguity, ambivalence, transience, diversity) and the transformation of the socio-cultural reality subjected to constant fluctuations make it difficult to describe and standardize the heterogeneity of the society objectifying itself in its actions. Consequently, the nature of global connections and interdependencies contributes to the integration and disintegration of the world economy at the same time, which is not without significance for the formation of a new configuration of global politics and market structures. Contemporary processes of globalization of the world economy, its reorganization and restructuring, make us reflect on the specificity and dominance of global economic transformation. Undoubtedly, a fundamental element of the phenomenon of economic globalization, and in particular of the development of a free market economy, are changes in the work environment, work structure, perception of work, as well as in the sphere of characteristics, meanings and values attributed to work. It is hard to overestimate the significance of these changes for the quality of career formation, development and modification of its individualized paths. The multifaceted and multilevel structure of social reality, understood by K. Dąbrowski as "the entirety of phenomena that take place in the external and internal environment of man and are perceived captured and experienced by him/her through the senses and mental, emotional, imaginative and intuitive activities, which are mutually connected" [1], points to the particular topicality of the questions about the meaning and scope of the concept of "identity" and, in this context, raises the need to seek answers about the possibilities and abilities of an individual to plan and form a career path and shape his/her (career) identity. This theme becomes particularly crucial in the context of young people pursuing their career.

2 Formation of (Professional) Identity as Reflective Activity

The problem of identity crystallizes the problem of the individual trajectories in the career and construction of the professional identity of an individual. In this sense, like "any other formalized narrative, it is something that has to be worked out and that naturally requires a creative contribution" [2] and reflective approach to one's own biography. Identity is a "reflective loop in which one returns to oneself when one departs from oneself" [3]. In the context of the transformation of the modern world, it seems particularly important to seek and specify the answer to the question: "Who am I in this rapidly changing world?" (a dynamic question). An individual, in response to the complex question of a dynamic nature, in his or her view of the world and planning of career prospects, perceiving the pace and intensity of changes, tries to determine to

what extent he or she is an active subject of prospective changes taking place in cultural and social contexts [4].

In a situation when social life is perceived to be organized around a multitude and variety of alternatives (a feeling that is not only observed but also experienced), the individual is faced with the task of determining his or her relationship with this world, which is not without significance for the quality of career planning and management and the modification of his or her individualized paths. It is a kind of internal exploration and an element of searching for an answer to a complex and recurring question: Am I a subject of prospective changes and if yes, to what extent? The significance and dynamics of changes implies changes in the identity aspects of social life in which a person seeks and defines him/herself. In particular, for young people participating in the fluctuating reality, who are in the period of double transit: from youth to adulthood and education at the academic level to the labor market, finding an answer to the question: "Who am I becoming?" becomes particularly important, but also turns out to be more and more difficult to specify in the "multitude of worlds".

The formation of identity is a reflective activity. As J. Rainwater puts it, "we are not what we are, but what we will make of ourselves" [5]. Identity decisions made by young people at the threshold of adulthood determine their further development, namely the development of their potential. Awareness, feeling and adjudication of an individual about "who am I?", "who am I becoming?" enables them to formulate a vision of the desired state. In the sense we are considering, crystallization of one's own identity determines the direction of development of a career perspective and bestows a meaning on it. Unprecedented diversity of individualized lifestyles, understood as a "culturally conditioned way of pursuing needs, habits and norms" [6], causes that one can and should experience a change through which everyone "must become a model for the epoch which we are trying to introduce" [7]. In this sense, the loss and permanent change of individual points of reference updates the problem of identity styles and the issue of "how identity is formed and changed" [8] depending on the social context and quality of young people's involvement in the exploration process. Recognizing and understanding oneself helps to develop a sense of agency and to take responsibility for causality - to make a commitment. Undoubtedly, these processes are important when planning one's own career path.

The modern type of career in the days of "careers without borders" has its consequences for the psychosocial and behavioral attitudes of individuals "whose life goal is professional activity (the basic indicator of mental health) rather than professional inactivity (the basic indicator of social exclusion)" [9]. A common thought, as Amundsen puts it, is that "people make sense of the world of work by subjectively interpreting their own career experience" [10]. In the situation where no career scenario adopted *a priori* brings any guarantee of success, investing in a career identified as "owned" by an individual ("in their own cause") becomes a necessity. The dynamics of contemporary careers called "careers without borders" (*boundaryless careers*), enforces, as A. Bańka emphasizes, proactive planning, steering and managing careers not only among young people or people in early adulthood (i.e. "newcomers" in the period of transition from the education market to the labor market), but also among people from other age groups [11]. This is what the inseparability of career and life is all about, as Wolfe and Kolb pointed out. Although this view was expressed in the 1980s, there are no grounds, given the dynamics and pace of change, for not considering the definition of career development presented by the authors to be out of line with the times when "a career makes a career" (Z. Bauman). They concluded that "career development is connected with life, not only with work. In this way, it refers to the whole life of an individual (...) in constantly changing contexts (...) of life. The pressures of the environment and the constraints, the obligations that attach him/her to other important people, the responsibility towards children and aging parents, the overall structure (...) of the circumstances – these are all factors that must be understood and reckoned with. In this respect, career development, professional identity formation and personal development are combined. Self and circumstances - evolving, changing, revealing themselves in mutual interaction - create the concentration and drama of career development" [12]. The distinguished definition of a dynamic nature (individual vs. environment, continuity and change) sheds additional light on the problem in question. It allows for the recognition that the construction of a career is focused on the lifelong development of an individual, it is a process of crystallizing the identity of an individual in relation not only to the world of work, but to "the world in man and man in the world" (I. Wojnar).

Exploration is one of the basic dimensions in the process of crystallization of identity, which is emphasized on the basis of psychology by J. Marcia, Erikson, A. Brzezińska, among others. The essence is "looking back at oneself, contemplating oneself, trying to understand who one has been, who one is and who one might be in the future, (...) which enables realization of who one is and one's relationship with the external world and with the surrounding environment" [13]. Young people entering adulthood face the necessity of permanent self-determination (in a situation of dominant change and ambivalence) and individualization (forced by the lost "connection" with the community) of their own biography. In the course of one's own life a special place is reserved for the course of an individual career, which is made meaningful by an individual, and this happens, as E. Gurba puts it: "by taking personal initiative in developing professional activity and social relations in managing one's own education and professional career and in planning the future" [14]. We find the development of this idea in the concept of M. Berzonsky's identity styles. It can be considered to be an important addition to the theory of identity statuses of J. Marcia, who refers to the structure of identity as a stable disposition of an individual, an identity conceived as a state (and not a process), resulting from its development [15-17]. And yet, identity is formed in the context of social and cultural influences undergoing a permanent change of reality. M. Berzonsky's model provides an opportunity to dynamically capture the way identity crystallizes.

3 Cognitive Orientations Involved in the Process of Crystallizing (Professional) Identity

Identity styles determined by social and cognitive processes refer to individual preferences in processing information about the subjective self, making decisions, choosing strategies for constructing or avoiding crystallization of one's identity. Identity style is understood by the author as "a way for an individual to deal with solving problems of identity nature" [18]. The model of identity style, proposed by M. Berzonsky, refers to differences in the individual processing of information relevant to identity and differences in the content of the self-concept of the subject. For example, an individual can focus on acquiring information, deliberately process it and evaluate it before he or she decides to commit and define himself or herself, or he or she can automatically adapt and internalize the normative recommendations of significant individuals or groups and communities to which he or she belongs [19]. M. Berzonsky argued that values influence how individuals engage in the process of shaping their identity and dealing with identity conflicts. Values motivate the individual and give direction to his or her life. The conscious, rational, typically information style approach to identity is combined with values that indicate independence and autonomy of an individual while at the same time being able to go beyond personal pleasure and self-indulgence. The normative approach to the aspect of identity is associated with the values of conformity, institutional commitment and responsibility. The diffuse/avoidant approach "full of procrastination and avoidance" is combined with an attitude of personal pleasure and avoidance [20].

Cognitive orientations involved in the process of crystallization of identity may indicate, as M. Berzonsky puts it, different styles of identity, namely: the information style, the normative style, the diffuse/avoidant style, and the commitment, also known as an identity engagement factor or engagement force. In the direct effects model, the effects of processing the identity style and the commitment contribute directly and independently to the diversity of research results. An alternative, indicated by the author, is to classify the effect of identity style participation by the level of engagement [21]. However, as the author of the identity style model emphasizes, "identity formation is a long, dynamic process in which the setting of commitments can provide new information and reactions, which may result in a change of priorities" [22]. The concept of identity style refers to beliefs, attitudes, ways of dealing with different situations and making important life and identity decisions. Differences in identity styles are the result of different preferences in choosing social-cognitive strategies to engage (or not engage) in tasks of constructing, maintaining and/or reconstructing a sense of identity [23]. The scale of engagement reflects the strength of motivation, readiness, stability in the realization of the internalized value system, in making decisions related to identity and pursuing the chosen goals. Identity engagement gives the subject a sense of meaning and goal-orientation. Externalized standards and criteria serve as a point of reference when evaluating feedback from problem solving. Commitment can be cognitive, information-based and reflecting the extent to which views and beliefs have been developed and justified by an individual within a framework of rational ideas and evidence, or emotional, reflecting unreasonable but persistent feelings of subjective certainty [24].

Identity engagement is a carrier of a sense of purpose and direction for an individual and provides a "framework" of reference for a value system that serves to monitor, evaluate, regulate behavior and interpret feedback. The power of commitment is positively correlated with careful decision making and problem-solving skills and inversely correlated with the tendency to delay or panic when making decisions [25]. The strength of commitment is positively correlated with careful decision-making and problemsolving skills and inversely correlated with the tendency to delay or panic when making decisions. In Mr. Brickman's approach, commitment "stabilizes the behavior of an individual, which under the given conditions would be exposed to a change" [26]. In this context, it is worth referring to K. Lee's reflection on the need to take into account the emotional aspect of decision making in research on individual's causality in the career, as well as the cognitive aspect. According to K. Lee's research, even those students who can be said to be determined to develop their career path report difficulties in making decisions. They wonder whether the chosen career path will satisfy them and meet their needs and expectations. In order to determine the status of career decision, to anticipate the effectiveness of dealing with career construction, it is important to identify the emotional states of individual subjects. Such an analysis can be used, among other things, to better understand the experience of career indecision [27].

The information style is characteristic for individuals who seek information in the process of identity formation, or more precisely, before making any binding identity decisions. The ways of exploration in the process of crystallization of identity are based on autonomous and active search and reworking of a multitude of different informational data. The essence is to refer to the elements of Self such as: personal standards, goals or value system [28]. Individuals with the information identity style act in a thoughtful way, intentionally seek, evaluate and refer to information that is useful to them. The information style is typical for individuals who reflect on their own views and evaluate them multiple times, especially in contradictory feedback situations. The information identity style is positively correlated with the need for cognition, with cognitive complexity, self-reflection, with rational thought in dealing with problems, with careful decision making, openness to new experiences and conscientiousness. The information style of identity is combined with the subject's activity and causative competence E. L. Deci and R. M. Ryan distinguished integration among regulatory processes. Activities requiring awareness of objectives, values and standards are the result of integrated self-regulation and subject's choices from the options, which by the act of choice determine the subject to the perpetration resulting from their own preferences [29]. Internal exploration is carried out by means of information search, looking into oneself, taking personal values and internalized standards as a reference point. Active exploration of alternatives, information search and flexibility in making commitments [30] belong to the assets of the style represented by this group of young people. The information style is linked to "self-insight, open-mindedness, problemsolving strategies, careful decision making, cognitive complexity, emotional autonomy, empathy, adaptive self-regulation, high levels of commitment and achieved identity status" [31]. The research by D. Czyżowska, E. Gurba and A. Białek shows that there is a connection between the information style of identity and orientation towards collectivism. It is also typical that people who can be attributed equality based collectivism do not easily to submit to authorities [32].

The normative style refers to the way in which an individual can deal with decisions that are important for the Self by accepting and internalizing the expectations of those who are important for the individual or the applicable social norms. Settlement of identity conflicts takes place by referring to such components of Self, as: family, nation, religion [33]. "Normatively oriented individuals show little readiness for internal exploration, have a clear direction of action, have limited tolerance to informational contradictions, and display closure to information that may threaten their personal beliefs and value system. The normative process that, in the view of E. L. Deci and R. M. Ryan (1991), is associated with the internalization of standards, goals and values of significant individuals, makes the commitment not perceived by the entity as fully their own. His or her actions are accompanied by anxiety caused by a sense of possible guilt, approval or duty [34]. According to M. Berzonsky's, the normative style is characterized by a small exploration of alternatives, servitude, a tendency to respect power, attachment to norms and dogmas, conformism towards social and family expectations and rigidity of attitudes when making commitments [35]. Normative commitment is more rooted in emotions than information. Furthermore, normative orientation can reinforce what Langer (1989) calls "immature cognitive commitment". Emotion-based commitment ("cognitively immature") occurs without critical reflection and evaluation of information. However, emotion-based commitment with little evidence that can be confirmed or justified (in contexts where problems, requirements and standards are rather stable), the power of engagement itself promotes the effective functioning of an individual, regardless of the degree of rationality in attitudes. Thus, commitment supported by emotions can materialize the commitment, which is an exemplification of the subject's activity and his/her causative competence [36].

The scale of the diffuse/avoidant style reflects the attitude of procrastination and postponement of the solutions important for the formation of identity, the resolution of identity conflicts. Individuals with the diffuse/avoidant style avoid confrontation with personal problems as long as possible and postpone making important decisions, and their behavior is determined mainly by situational factors. Important, central components of the Self structure are popularity, impressions and reputation [37]. In individuals classified as representing the diffuse/avoidant style, the requirements associated with and determined by the situational context usually dictate or limit their behavioral responses. The diffuse/avoidant style of identity is positively correlated with emotional coping strategies, with situational variability, with neuroticism and depressive reactions, and with meticulousness and cognitive inquisitiveness [38]. In M. Berzonsky's model of identity styles, the diffuse/avoidant one is something more than a dispersed, "lost" Self. This style "involves strategic attempts to bypass or hide potentially negative, relevant feedback (...) with little commitment, with the external location of control and impulsiveness". The results of D. Czyżowska, E. Gurba and A. Białek describe the problem of the diffuse/avoidant style. In studies on young adults gender differences reveal that it is men who are the group with the dominant diffuse/avoidant style of identity, and women are more likely to resolve identity conflicts in a manner characteristic of the normative identity style. Moreover, what is cognitively interesting, there is a link between the diffuse/avoidant style of identity and an orientation towards hierarchical collectivism. Thus, one may risk a claim that the group of women examined will also be characterized by an emphasis on intra-group integrity, a tendency to submit to the will of authorities and an inclination to inter-group competition [39]. It is characteristic of this style to delay facing conflicts and identity problems for as long as possible, and their actions, decisions and choices will be accompanied by behavior that reflects above all a response to the external context and a consideration of consequences. However, the moment of compliance (behavior-context) is a short-term rather than a long-term modification that may affect self-identification [40].

4 Summary

To sum up, it should be emphasized after E. C. Hughes, that "moving perspective" in a career means developing one's own career through personal involvement of an individual. The subjective outlook on a career highlights personal experiences in a career (in the development and planning of its perspective) and takes into account the subjective meanings given to a career. The meanings given to a career are valuable primarily subjectively and not necessarily objectively. "Subjective careers", as Stebbins points out, reflect the individual's own sense of his or her own career and the perception of how it goes [41]. The career domain is dynamic. The needs, objectives, orientations, possibilities and strategies of the subject change, as an individual's life evolves in response to changing personal and social contexts. As M. Piorunek puts it, "educational and professional orientations oscillate between subjective and social contexts of human functioning, being additionally conditioned by the course of an individual's life, and in turn conditioning this course of biography" [42]. Professional orientation, as emphasized by the author, is usually the final sequence of school orientation. Career planning, which in the most general sense is regarded as an initiative taken by an individual, requires, among other things, making an informed choice about the profession. The styles of identity and their relation to ideas regarding the career domain are an interesting construct.

Recognizing the need for a multidirectional approach to career issues and recognizing the quality of ideas and views on the career, the reference to its identity styles sheds a new light on the peculiarities of the subject's approach to the career domain. Reflecting on identity styles when referring to the factor of identity commitment, reveals the differences in processing information, negotiating identity issues and making personal decisions [43], which makes them, from a cognitive point of view, analytically important, because they also serve to clarify the relationships that can be grasped between identity processing styles and opinions, views or perceptions of the career.

References

- Tylikowska, A.: Teoria dezintegracji pozytywnej Kazimierza Dąbrowskiego. Trud rozwoju ku tożsamości i osobowości. In: Gałdowa, A. (ed.) Tożsamość człowieka, Kraków, p. 233 (2000)
- 2. Giddens, A.: Nowoczesność i tożsamość, Warszawa, p. 107 (2001)
- Zawadzki, P.: Czas i tożsamość. Paradoks odnowienia problemu tożsamości. Kultura i Społeczeństwo (3), p. 5 (2003)
- 4. Misztal, B.: Teoria socjologiczna a praktyka społeczna, Kraków, pp. 158-160 (2000)
- 5. Giddens, A.: Nowoczesność i tożsamość, Warszawa, p. 102 (2001)
- Fatyga, B., Rogala-Obłękowska, J.: Style życia a narkotyki. Wyniki badań empirycznych, Warszawa, p. 24 (2002)
- Illich, I., Kwieciński, Z.: Tropy, ślady, próby. Studia i szkice z pedagogiki pogranicza, Poznań-Olsztyn, p. 269 (2000)
- Jawłowska, A.: Tożsamość na sprzedaż. In: Jawłowska, A. (ed.) Wokół Problemów Tożsamości, Warszawa, p. 54 (2001)

- 9. Bańka, A.: Proaktywność a tryby samoregulacji, Poznań-Warszawa, p. 35 (2005)
- 10. Patton, W., McMahon, M.: Career Development and Systems Theory. Connecting Theory and Practice, Rotterdam, p. 6 (2006)
- 11. Bańka, A.: Proaktywność a tryby samoregulacji, Poznań-Warszawa, p. 35 (2005)
- 12. Patton, W., McMahon, M.: Career Development and Systems Theory. Connecting Theory and Practice, Rotterdam, p. 7 (2006)
- 13. Stanišauskienė, V., Adomaitiene, J., Zubrickiene, I.: Career competences and importance of their development in planning of career perspective. Tiltai (4), 90 (2010)
- Czyżowska, D., Gurba, E., Białek, A.: Typ orientacji społecznej a sposób konstruowania własnej tożsamości przez młodych dorosłych. In: Kubicka, D. Psychologia Rozwojowa (3), p. 58 (2012)
- Berzonsky, M.D., Cieciuch, J., Duriez, B., Soenens, B.: The how and what of identity formation: associations between identity styles and value orientations. Personality Individ. Differ. 50 (2011)
- 16. Czyżowska, D., Gurba, E., Białek, A.: Typ orientacji społecznej a sposób konstruowania własnej tożsamości przez młodych dorosłych. Psychologia Rozwojowa (3) (2012)
- Berzonsky, M.: Identity style and well-being: does commitment matter? Identity: Int. J. Theory Res. (3) (2003)
- 18. Czyżowska, D., Gurba, E., Białek, A.: Typ orientacji społecznej a sposób konstruowania własnej tożsamości przez młodych dorosłych. Psychologia Rozwojowa (3), 60 (2012)
- Berzonsky, M.D., Cieciuch, J., Duriez, B., Soenens, B.: The how and what of identity formation: Associations between identity styles and value orientations. Pers. Individ. Differ. 50, 295 (2011)
- Berzonsky, M.D., Cieciuch, J., Duriez, B., Soenens, B.: The how and what of identity formation: associations between identity styles and value orientations. Pers. Individ. Differ. 50, 297–299 (2011)
- Berzonsky, M.: Identity style and well-being: does commitment matter? Identity: Int. J. Theory Res. (3), 133–134 (2003)
- Berzonsky, M.D., Cieciuch, J., Duriez, B., Soenens, B.: The how and what of identity formation: associations between identity styles and value orientations. Pers. Individ. Differ. 50, 299 (2011)
- Berzonsky, M.D., Cieciuch, J., Duriez, B., Soenens, B.: The how and what of identity formation: associations between identity styles and value orientations. Pers. Individ. Differ. 50, 295 (2011)
- Berzonsky, M.: Identity style and well-being: does commitment matter? Identity: Int. J. Theory Res. (3), 138–139 (2003)
- Berzonsky, M.: Identity style and well-being: does commitment matter? Identity: Int. J. Theory Res. (3), 132–133 (2003)
- Berzonsky, M.: Identity style and well-being: does commitment matter? Identity: Int. J. Theory Res. (3), 133 (2003)
- Lee K.: Coping with career indecision: differences between four career choice type. J. Career Dev. (4), 280–281 (2005)
- 28. Czyżowska, D., Gurba, E., Białek, A.: Typ orientacji społecznej a sposób konstruowania własnej tożsamości przez młodych dorosłych. Psychologia Rozwojowa (3), 61 (2012)
- Berzonsky, M.: Identity style and well-being: does commitment matter? Identity: Int. J. Theory Res. (3), 132, 139 (2003)
- Berman, A.M., Schwartz, P.J., Kurtines, W.M., Berman, P.L.: The process of exploration in identity formation: the role of style and competence. J. Adolescence 24, 514 (2001)

- Berzonsky, M.D., Cieciuch, J., Duriez, B., Soenens, B.: The how and what of identity formation: associations between identity styles and value orientations. Pers. Individ. Differ. 50, 296 (2011)
- See: Czyżowska D., Gurba, E., Białek, A.: Typ orientacji społecznej a sposób konstruowania własnej tożsamości przez młodych dorosłych. Psychologia Rozwojowa (3), 60, 64 (2012)
- 33. Czyżowska, D., Gurba, E., Białek, A.: Typ orientacji społecznej a sposób konstruowania własnej tożsamości przez młodych dorosłych. Psychologia Rozwojowa (3), 60–61 (2012)
- Berzonsky, M.: Identity style and well-being: does commitment matter? Identity: Int. J. Theory Res. (3), 132, 139 (2003)
- 35. Berman, A.M., Schwartz, P.J., Kurtines, W.M., Berman, P.L.: The process of exploration in identity formation: the role of style and competence. J. Adolescence 24, 514 (2001)
- Berzonsky, M.: Identity style and well-being: does commitment matter? Identity: Int. J. Theory Res. (3), 139 (2003)
- 37. Czyżowska, D., Gurba, E., Białek, A.: Typ orientacji społecznej a sposób konstruowania własnej tożsamości przez młodych dorosłych. Psychologia Rozwojowa (3), 61 (2012)
- Berzonsky, M.: Identity style and well-being: does commitment matter? Identity: Int. J. Theory Res. (3), 131–132 (2003)
- 39. Czyżowska, D., Gurba, E., Białek, A.: Typ orientacji społecznej a sposób konstruowania własnej tożsamości przez młodych dorosłych. Psychologia Rozwojowa (3), 63–64 (2012)
- Berzonsky, M.D., Cieciuch, J., Duriez, B., Soenens, B.: The how and what of identity formation: associations between identity styles and value orientations. Pers. Individ. Differ. 50, 296 (2011)
- 41. Arthur, M.B., Khapova, P.N., Wilderom, C.P.: Career success in a boundaryless career world. J. Organ. Behav. (26), 179 (2005)
- Piorunek, M.: Orientacje edukacyjne i zawodowe młodzieży współczesnej. In: Piorunek, M. (ed.) Młodzież w świecie współczesnym. Z badań orientacji biograficznych młodych okresu transformacji, Poznań, p. 33 (2004)
- Berzonsky, M.: Identity style and well-being: does commitment matter? Identity: Int. J. Theory Res. (3), 131 (2003)



Fashion Design Based on Cross-Cultural Communication

Yixin Zou¹⁽⁽⁾ and Eakachat Joneurairatana²

 ¹ Design Arts Program, Decorative Arts Faculty, Silpakorn University, Bangkok, Thailand zouyxluna@gmail.com
 ² Fujian Clothing Industry Technology Development Base, Fuzhou 350108, Fujian, China

Abstract. The purpose of this research is to explore the cross-cultural communication perspective with fashion design as the method and China and Thailand as real examples. The design objects are: take Chinese LONG (Dragon in Chinese) and Thai NAGA as cases to study how fashions, as a medium for spreading culture, are able to do crosscultural communication. This study will adopt qualitative research methods which are specifically: (1) Collect the tangible and intangible values of Long and Naga; (2) Design a workshop combining research methodology: focus group and in-depth interview. (3) Apply qualitative analysis to analyze the results; (4) Incorporate the conclusions into the concept of fashion design. The completed tasks include: (1) Research objective cognition of stakeholders in referent cultural backgrounds; (2) Extraction of design concepts on Long and Naga based on stakeholders' cognition; (3) A demonstration of the new methodology which can be used for fashion designers to effectively extract code in the background of cross-cultural communication. The conclusions can be used to explain: how to extract the design concepts of fashions in the background of crosscultural communication; and how fashions can help reduce misunderstandings in cross-cultural communication. The research can be established as a model for other related disciplines and fields.

Keywords: Cross-cultural communication \cdot Fashion design \cdot China Long (Dragon) \cdot Thailand Naga

1 Significance of the Problem

Cross-cultural communication has become a very common phenomenon in the life of contemporary people and society. It involves not only the life level of the "individual" in the world, but also the widely level of the country, such as national relationship and globalization. Cross-cultural communication or intercultural emphasizes the "cross" and "leapfrogging" between different cultures.

Cross-cultural Communication Discipline refers to the activities of communication between individuals, groups or organizations of different cultural backgrounds [1]. Many scholars have pointed out that research on intercultural communication disciplines is still being established and formed. In recent years, some cross studies on cross-cultural communication and other disciplines, such as international relations, linguistics, sociology, culture, anthropology, literature, etc. However, there is very little cross-disciplinary research on fashion design and cross-cultural communication. Announce the research question being addressed in research paper, which is use fashion design to do cross-cultural communication, promote mutual understanding and harmony between different cultures, and carry out cultural communication and effective transmission of code.

In order to prove the research question, two symbols are selected in this research, which are very similar in appearance, one is Long, which represents Chinese culture. And the other is Naga, which represents one of Thai cultures, as the design objectives. Figure 1 is showing picture of Long and Naga.



Fig. 1. Picture of Long and Naga (Picture from: http://www.cxtuku.com/pic_844127.html https://www.shutterstock.com/zh/search/Naga+snake)

2 Analysis of the Current Research and Development

The existing researches on cross-cultural communication is the peripheral researches which introduce disciplines relating to cross-cultural communication, including three aspects:

Gudykunst, W. B. [2] interpreted the significance and importance of and the problems in cross-cultural communication disciplines, and pointed out in his research that both verbal communication and nonverbal communication are the two ways of communication. Stuart Hall proposed the theory of encoding and decoding in cultural communication [3], which became one of the important theories supporting cross-cultural communication disciplines, and has been applying even nowadays.

The contents of this paragraph are actually the background knowledge accumulation on researchers on cross-cultural researches. No detailed stipulation is to be made herein because the contents are not closely correlated with this research subject.

After did the literature review, so the research contents in this research are:

1. Carry out on-site investigation by using combined qualitative and quantitative research approaches, based on which, two cultural elements of Long ("Dragon" in Chinese) and Naga are figured out as research objects, to study their cultural

significance and connotation in existing works of art, and integrate them into the fashion design.

2. Apply fashion design methodology that are commonly used in cross-cultural communication study in fashion design.

3 Methodology

The study of fashion design methods based on cross-cultural communication can be regarded as a process of "encoding and decoding". First, the designer has to decode the "cultural code". The decoding is divided into two aspects. One is "decode" from the existing literature and artistic works. The research methods used are: literature review, field trip and observation. Another step of "decode" is a survey of audience awareness. In this research, fashion design is to serve cross-cultural communication. In order to understand the stakeholders' awareness, researcher need to conduct surveys with stakeholders before do design. The method used is: workshop (combination interview and focus group).

3.1 Site Visiting and Observation

Researcher has learned a lot of literature review before did site visiting research. A large amount of data has been known from text or historical descriptions. The analysis of Long and Naga artworks is based on the following aspects: the creative approach, the depiction of Long and Naga features, related stories, and interviews with relevant artists and historians. This study will analyze and interpret the data through content analysis. The results of the study will be presented by descriptive text. The research framework is showing in Table 1.





3.2 Workshop

Data collecting based on analyses the information which get from audiences. The survey of audience perception is divided into the following aspects:

- (1) Knowledge about design, including: Symbol information, semantic information;
- (2) Explicit knowledge: Pictures, Appearance, Color and so on;
- (3) Implicit knowledge: Judgment, Intuition, Experiences, Visual effect, Cognition and so on;
- (4) Experiment ways;
- (5) Users' Knowledge: Users description about the design objectives;
- (6) Cognitive match.

4 Results Analysis Design Thinking

Due to the contents here is limited, the research didn't show the process details, the research process will not be presented here, the following is an analysis of the results.

Finding 1: The answers that participants use for describe Naga, which is "Similar with Long". It means actually Long and Naga are pretty similar.

Finding 2: The words that participants to describe Long and Naga are "adjective", it can find that the audiences lose the cognition about Long and Naga, just know the little information about traditional culture.

Finding 3: What knowledge that audiences want to acquire from fashion designmore cultural contents and philosophical spirit about Long and Naga.

4.1 Design Concepts

The design concept of first set is "S curve line". The worship of Long and Naga originated in the worship of snakes, because ancient humans had awe of nature. Moreover, human fantasy about nature is based on human cognition of themselves, which is why the body of Long and Naga are snake, is from "naked local people" as well.

The design concept of second set is "water": The common point of the Myth about Long and Naga: they have the ability to control water and rainfall. Besides, Naga is the symbol of Mekong River. And Long is the symbol if the sea. Snake born the human and tribes. In philosophy, it is even think that snake is the "tree of life", mean snake is the water to breed life. The deeper culture is that people began to think about the relationship between life and nature, so ancient humans linked animal worship to imaging about life and gave Long and Naga supernatural abilities.

The 3rd set, the concept design is "Harmonious between human and nature": Both of Long and Naga have ability of control water and fire, and they are a symbol of good agriculture harvest. Beyond that, they are the medium which human can communicate with heaven. Water, fire, air, earth (planting) are shown on the Long and Naga. In philosophy, these four elements make up the world. The ancients gave the Long and Naga more myths. The original fantasy of nature gradually evolved into thinking about

the relationship between human, nature, life, and the universe. Human beings hope to live in harmony with nature. Opposition is balance, contradiction is harmonious.

Some design sketches based on the design concept are showing Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. The symbol of 4 elements, picture from https://tattify.com/product/alchemy/)



5 Conclusion

The outcome of this research will be presented in the form of clothing, extraction of research example using in costume design to do further cultural integration. And will hold a fashion show to show the story about Long and Naga, and will do the further research about audiences' ideas through by fashion show. This research will the subjects to be more fashionable and then combine with modern technology in order to spread-out the ideal to wider range of people. Use different costume design techniques to show the design under cross-cultural background. Such as, Application of fabric reflects Naga and Long's physical characteristics. New image and cultural context of Thai Naga and Chinese Long will be a good example about combine cross-cultural communication with modern fashion design. A mature fashion design research methodology can help fashion designers use clothing to deliver hidden culture and meet the aesthetic needs of the audience. This research is a new paradigm that combines theory, practice and methodology exploration. It not only proposes new models,
but also reflects them in the research process. This research wills filly the gap of interdisciplinary learning between the cross-cultural communication and fashion design.

Acknowledgments. The authors acknowledge the 2019 Open Project Program of Fujian Clothing Industry Technology Development Base, Minjiang University, China (No. MJXY-KF-201909).

References

- 1. Davis F.: Fashion, Culture, and Identity, pp. 10–13. University of Chicago Press, London (2013)
- 2. Gudykunst, W.B.: Cross-Cultural and Intercultural Communication. SAGE Publication, Thousand Oaks (2003)
- 3. Giroux, H.A.: Public pedagogy as cultural politics: Stuart Hall and the crisis of culture. Cult. Stud. **14**(2), 341–360 (2000)

Author Index

A

Abbasi, Elahe, 102 Abbattista, Angelo, 26 Abou Khaled, Omar, 19 Almazan, Shella Marie, 135 Anastian, Aqo, 177 Andza, Kristine, 48 Angeles-Herrera, Daniel, 357 Angulo, Manuel, 445 Antonio, Thalia San, 266 Apostol Jr., Jose Raymund Z., 109 Arias, Oscar, 455 Atoche, Wilmer, 341, 437 Avila-Lopez, Luis Alfredo, 421

B

Bara, Anugrah Engras, 365 Bashir, Masooda, 528 Bevilacqua, Vitoantonio, 26 Bouabdallah, Lahcen, 282 Brandl, Christopher, 319, 327 Brunetti, Antonio, 26 Buchmeister, Borut, 127 Buongiorno, Domenico, 26

С

Campagna, Marcello, 12 Cao, Yaqin, 481 Caon, Maurizio, 19 Caporusso, Nicholas, 415 Cascarano, Giacomo Donato, 26 Castro, Dalys, 468 Chang, Hsin-Ting, 56 Chen, I-Lung, 230 Chen, Jian-Ping, 259 Cheng, Hsu-Tang, 177 Chiu, Yuan-Shyi Peter, 230 Ciaccia, Marco, 266, 348 Clemente, Jerika Danielle F., 109 Clery, Arturo, 450 Contreras-Estrada, Mónica I., 491 Contreras-Valenzuela, Martha Roselia, 373 Corrales, Cesar, 341, 437 Coutul, Marie-France, 95 Craig, Brian, 102, 185 Cruz-Rivero, Lidilia, 357 Custodio, Benette P., 109 Cybal-Michalska, Agnieszka, 558

D

Darus, Azlan, 149 Dasso, Jose, 407 de Almeida, Laís Benevides, 401 de Assis Lahoz Trindade, Manoela, 475 De Feudis, Irio, 26 de Lolo, Carlos Eduardo Martini, 475 de Rivera, Adrienne Camille R. Diaz, 109 Dhar, Debayan, 79 Ding, Yi, 481 Doi, Toshihisa, 501, 508, 522 Domínguez, Rodrigo, 407 dos Reis, Diogo Cunha, 87, 244 dos Santos, João Eduardo Guarnetti, 192 dos Santos, João Victor Gomes, 192 dos Santos, Rosangela Monteiro, 192 Draicchio, Francesco, 237 Drøivoldsmo, Asgeir, 119 Dubé, Jessica, 95 Duffy, Vincent G., 481 Dumont, Georges, 32

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 W. Karwowski et al. (Eds.): AHFE 2020, AISC 1215, pp. 575–578, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51549-2

F

Fantozzi, Fabio, 223 Fedele, Giuseppe, 19 Feng, Si, 213 Fiori, Lorenzo, 237

G

Gascon, Dan Joshua, 135 Gaspard, Sarah, 95 Gomes, Valéria Barbosa, 401 González, Milton, 445 González, Otilia, 455 González-Baltazar, Raquel, 491 Gubbala, Sesha Saikrishna, 102 Guo, Liangjie, 159 Gutiérrez Bernal, Luis Gabriel, 289

H

Haj Mahmoud, Olfa, 32 Hechavarría Hernández, Jesús Rafael, 468 Hendradi, Rimuljo, 56 Hernández Duarte, Wilder Alfonso, 289 Hidalgo-González, M. Liliana, 491 Hsieh, Chang-Wei, 177 Hsu, Yi-Chuan, 56 Huang, Chunxi, 3

I

Isip, John Paolo A., 135 Iwaasa, Takumi, 309

J

Jamaluddin, Nizam, 149 Jan, Yih-Kuen, 56, 177 Javier, Joaquin Miguel A., 109 Johnen, Laura, 319 Joneurairatana, Eakachat, 568 Jongprasithporn, Manutchanok, 461 Jose, Jairah Heidilene, 135 Joung, Yujin, 536 Junior, Ademir Marques, 192

K

Kalkis, Henrijs, 48, 63 Kaneko, Yuto, 168 Kapur, Sachin, 252 Kaswan, Mahender Singh, 252 Kim, Woojoo, 3 Kou, Junhui, 159 Kovatch, Pedro Yuri, 192 Kubo, Tomohide, 309

L

Lamberti, Giulia, 223 Landayan, Peren, 135 Laroza, Karen E., 135 Larrea, Anita, 266 Lascano, Alejandra, 266 Lau, Yeeman, 552 Leccese, Francesco, 223 León-Cortés, Silvia G., 491 Leon-Hernandez, Viridiana Aydeé, 373 Li, Wei, 213 Li, Yao, 197 Li, Yueqing, 102, 185 Liao, Yin-Yin, 177 Liau, Ben-Yi, 56, 177 Lin, Chih-Yang, 56 Lin, Quanxin, 56 Lin, Zhi-Ruo, 259 Linzán, Soraya, 450 Liu, Xinxin, 309 Liu, Xinxiong, 197 Liu, Yi, 185 Liu, Yung-Ping, 230 Losavio, Giacomo, 26 Lothe, Vaibhav, 294 Lung, Chi-Wen, 56, 177

M

Madrid-Mendoza, Victor Hugo, 373 Mallampalli, Krishna Chaitanya, 79 Mar-Orozco, Carlos Eusebio, 357 Marzo, Sergio, 455 Matsuo, Tomoaki, 309 Mebarki, Bouhafs, 282 Medola, Fausto Orsi, 192 Mejía, Cosme, 348 Méndez-Hernández, María Leonor, 357 Mertens, Alexander, 319, 327 Mohamed, Zuraida, 149 Mohammed, Mohammed Azman A., 149 Mokdad, Ibrahim, 282 Mokdad, Mohamed, 282 Molina, Susana, 450 Morbale, Pruthvirai, 102 Moro, Antônio Renato Pereira, 87, 244 Mugellini, Elena, 19

Author Index

Muirragui, Viena, 450 Multon, Franck, 32 Mura, Giovanni Marco, 12 Murata, Atsuo, 501, 508, 522

N

Nastasia, Iuliana, 95 Navas, Yonaiker, 445, 455 Nelson, Josh, 386 Nitsch, Verena, 319, 327 Nugble, Juliet, 142

0

Ochiai, Yuko, 309 Okabe, Noriko, 544 Orrala, Lilibeth, 445

P

Padilla, Andrés, 450 Pal, Swati, 79 Pando-Moreno, Manuel, 491 Paschoarelli, Luís Carlos, 192 Pau, Massimiliano, 12 Peaslee, Megan, 386 Peixoto, Beatriz Carvalho, 401 Peralta, Angel, 415 Pérez, Maritza, 450 Poli, Stéphane, 32 Pontonnier, Charles, 32 Porta, Micaela, 12

Q

Qi, Jingtian, 213 Qiu, Jing, 207

R

Ranavolo, Alberto, 237 Reangchadchai, Tipawan, 461 Reed, Ellen, 386 Reegård, Kine, 119 Reyes, Angela, 455 Rivera-Toscano, César David, 357 Rives, Romain, 95 Rizo-Aguilar, Areli, 373 Roja, Inara, 63 Roja, Zenija, 48, 63 Rojas, Jonatán, 341, 437 Ruiz, Janeth, 445

S

Saakes, Daniel, 3 Salvadori, Giacomo, 223 San Antonio, Thalia, 348 Sanchez-Matute, Mario Raul, 421 Sanda, Mohammed-Aminu, 142 Sasaki, Takeshi, 309 Schulze, Lawrence John Henry, 334 Sexton, Lukas, 386 Sharma, Pappu, 365 Shen, Wei-Cheng, 177 Silacci, Alessandro, 19 Silvetti, Alessio, 237 Smallwood, John, 71, 394 Solis-Quinteros, Marcela, 421 Srimuen, Latthidech, 461 Subiakto, Raden Bagus Reinaldy, 56 Sun, Guilei, 274 Sung, Peng-Cheng, 230 Szabó, Gyula, 41

Т

Tajima, Chihiro, 515 Takahashi, Masaya, 309 Tam, Jenn Zhueng, 149 Tamma, Bernadette, 26 Tanaka, Takayuki, 168 Tang, Zongying, 552 Tapia, Ana, 445, 450 Tatarelli, Antonella, 237 Tatò, Ilaria Sabina, 26 Tigrero, Félix, 450 Tirloni, Adriana Seára, 87, 244 Torres-Salazar, Maria Carmen, 373 Tsai, Jen-Yung, 56 Tsuchiya, Yoshio, 168

V

Vaisla, Gunta, 63 Vallat, Matthieu, 19 Vallejo, Patricia, 455 Vásquez, Christian, 348 Vega, Gabriela, 468 Ventura, Flavio Cardoso, 192 Vicente, Paula A., 135 Vujica Herzog, Natasa, 127

W

Wakimizu, Toshiyuki, 522 Wang, Huabin, 207 Wang, Jin, 259 Wang, Xiangchuan, 380

Х

Xiong, Shuping, 3, 159 Xu, Mengqian, 301 Xu, Xinran, 380

Y

Yang, Yi, 213 Yodpijit, Nantakrit, 461 Yoshida, Michihiro, 168 Yoshikawa, Toru, 309 Yu, Jin, 213 Yu, Ruifeng, 380 Yun, Donghyeok, 3

Z

Zayas-Marquez, Carolina, 421 Zhang, Li-Li, 259 Zhang, Yunhong, 213 Zheng, Qingxiao, 528 Zhi, Jin-Yi, 259 Zou, Yixin, 568